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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT 

Docket Nos. 10-1926, 10-1951 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Appellee, 

- against -

RODNEY MORRISON, 

Defendant-Appellee-Cross-Appellant. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATES 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The United States appeals from an order entered on April 

16, 2010 in the United States District Court for the Eastern 

District of New York (Hurley, J.), which granted the motion of the 

Defendant-Appellee-Cross-Appellant Rodney Morrison for dismissal of 

Count Two of the superseding indictment, following his conviction 

at a jury trial of racketeering conspiracy, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1962 (d) . 

Morrison was also convicted of being a felon in 

possession of a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g). In a 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 8    09/17/2010    108283    314



2 

judgment entered on May 13, 2010 (which is the subject of 

Morrison's cross-appeal), the district court sentenced Morrison to 

a ten-year term of imprisonment, three years of supervised release, 

a $75,000 fine and a $100 special assessment for that offense. 

Morrison is currently incarcerated. 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. § 3731. The district court had jurisdiction pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. § 3231. Timely notice of appeal was filed on May 7, 2010. 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

Whether the district court erred in dismissing Count Two 

on grounds of unconstitutional vagueness, after having rej ected the 

identical argument three times previously, on the basis of this 

Court's now-withdrawn certification to the New York State Court of 

Appeals of questions regarding the applicability of the New York 

State Tax Law in City of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, 

Inc., 597 F.3d 115 (2d Cir. 2010). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On July 11, 2006, a grand jury in the Eastern District of 

New York returned a superseding indictment charging Morrison with, 

among other counts, racketeering ("RICO") and RICO conspiracy 

arising from his operation of a cigarette retail business called 

Peace Pipe Smoke Shop and an accompanying Internet website known as 

smokersden.com, (collectively "Peace Pipe") from within the 

Poospatuck-Unkechauge Indian Reservation, located in Mastic, New 

York.' The RICO charges included, inter alia, 76 predicate acts of 

sales and distribution of untaxed cigarettes in violation of the 

Contraband Cigarette Trafficking Act ("CCTA"), 18 U.S.C. § 2341 et 

§..§.g. 

Trial began with jury selection on October 29, 2007 and 

lasted approximately six months. At the conclusion of the 

government's case, the district court dismissed the substantive 

RICO charge. On May 1, 2008, the jury found Morrison guilty of the 

RICO conspiracy and found that he had committed 75 of the CCTA 

Racketeering Acts alleged.' The jury also found Morrison guilty of 

illegal possession of a firearm as alleged in Count Eight. It 

1 The Superseding Indictment also charged Morrison with 
arson and arson conspiracy, the extortionate collection of credit, 
a second illegal possession of a firearm, and murder-for-hire, in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 844, 894(a) (2), 922(g) and 1958. Morrison 
was acquitted on all but Count Two and one of the two felon-in
possession counts (Count Eight) . 

2 Act 4 was dismissed by the government prior to submission 
to the jury. 
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acquitted him of the other charges. 

In several written and bench decisions issued before and 

after trial, the district court rejected claims by Morrison that 

the CCTA, as applied to his conduct, was unconstitutionally vague 

and denied dismissal of those predicate acts and later affirmed the 

RICO conspiracy conviction. See United States v. Morrison, 521 F. 

Supp. 2d 246 (E.D.N.Y. 2007) ("Morrison I") (GA 146-58); United 

States v. Morrison, 596 F. Supp. 2d 661, 679 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) 

("Morrison II") (GA 159-217).3 

Following post-trial hearings, Judge Hurley also found 

that the government had established that approximately $6.3 million 

in proceeds derived from Morrison's CCTA offenses was forfeitable 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1963{a). United States v. Morrison, 656 F. 

Supp. 2d 338 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) ("Morrison III"). 

On March 17, 2010, Morrison renewed his motion for 

dismissal of Count Two relying upon this Court's order sUbmitting 

certified questions regarding New York Tax Law §§ 471 and 471-e to 

the New York State Court of Appeals in City of New York v. Golden 

Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 597 F.3d 115 (2d Cir. 2010) ("Golden 

Feather" ) 

On April 16, 2010, the district court reversed itself 

and, characterizing this Court's certification in Golden Feather as 

3 "GA," "T I" "ST," and "GX" refer to 
appendix, the trial transcript, the sentencing 
government's trial exhibits, respectively. 

the government's 
transcript, and the 
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a decision necessitating a re-evaluation of previous rulings 

regarding Morrison's vagueness claims, held that the CCTApredicate 

acts, as applied to Morrison, were void for vagueness and dismissed 

the RICO conspiracy count. United States v. Morrison, __ F. Supp. 

2d ,2010 WL 1539756 (E.D.N.Y. April 16, 2010) ("Morrison IV") 

(GA 228-37) . 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. The RICO Conspiracy andCCTA 

The Superseding Indictment charged that Morrison was the 

leader of a RICO enterprise (the "Enterprise") over a period of 

approximately eight years, beginning in or about October 1996, when 

he and others commenced operation of Peace Pipe, and continuing 

until his arrest in September 2004.4 The Superseding Indictment 

4 The Superseding Indictment defined the Enterprise as 
follows: 

1. Peace Pipe Smoke Shop ("Peace Pipe") was a 
partnership formed under the laws of the State of New 
York, with a principal place of business located at 9 
Squaw Lane, Mastic, New York. Peace Pipe sold cartons 
and cases of cigarettes that bore no evidence of the 
payment of applicable New York State excise or local 
sales taxes. Peace Pipe also operated over the Internet 
under the name smokersden.com. 

2. The defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON was a 
managing partner and owner of Peace Pipe and its Internet 
business. MORRISON hired employees of Peace Pipe, as 
well as associates whose identities are known to the 
Grand Jury, to carry out criminal acts for the benefit of 
Peace Pipe. 

3. Peace Pipe and smokersden.com, including its 
employees and associates, and the defendant RODNEY 
ARNOLDO MORRISON (hereinafter the "Enterprise") 
constituted an "enterprise" as that term is defined in 
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961(4), that is, 
a group of individuals and entities associated in fact. 
The Enterprise, which operated in the Eastern District of 
New York and elsewhere, was engaged in, and its 
activities affected, interstate and foreign commerce. The 
Enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose 
members and associates functioned as a continuing unit 
for the common purpose of achieving the objectives of the 
Enterprise. 
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alleged that Morrison acted in concert with others over the life of 

the conspiracy to profit from criminal activity.5 

As to the predicate acts that the jury found proved in 

support of Count Two, the Superseding Indictment charged Morrison 

with the sale and distribution of millions of cigarettes "lacking 

valid New York State tax stamps," in violation of the CCTA, 18 

U.S.C. § 2342(a). The CCTA incorporated state law through its 

definition of "contraband cigarettes," which consisted of a certain 

quantity of cigarettes: 

which bear no evidence of the payment of 
applicable State. . cigarette taxes in the 
State . where such cigarettes are found, 
if the State requires a stamp, 
impression, or other indication to be placed 
on packages or other containers of cigarettes 
to evidence payment of cigarette taxes, ... 

18 U.S.C. § 2341(2). 

Accordingly, a violation of the CCTA depends upon the 

existence of state law imposing a tax and requiring the affixation 

(GA 92-93) . 

5 The Superseding Indictment identified the purposes, 
methods and means of the Enterprise as follows: 

4. The principal purpose of the Enterprise was to 
generate money for the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON 
and his associates. This purpose was implemented by the 
defendant and associates of the Enterprise through 
various legal and illegal activities, including murder, 
assault, abduction, arson, robbery, extortion, and tax 
evasion. 

(GA 93) . 
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of a stamp or other proof of payment of the tax. During the entire 

period of the charged RICO conspiracy, Article 20 of the New York 

State Tax Law imposed "a tax on all cigarettes possessed in the 

state by any person for sale, except that no tax shall be imposed 

on cigarettes sold under such circumstances that this state is 

without power to impose such tax" or on certain sales to the United 

States. N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1). The tax is borne by the consumer 

as part of the purchase price and collected by the seller. Id. 

§ 471 (2) . Stamps demonstrating the payment of the tax are 

purchased by licensed wholesalers and are to be affixed on 

cigarette packages. N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1); T 4355-56. New York 

Tax Law § 1814 makes it a state crime to evade payment of cigarette 

taxes. 

II. Evidence at Trial 

A. The CCTA Violations 

Peace Pipe was formed as a partnership between Morrison 

and his wife on June 22, 1994. (T 7243-44; GX 159a, 

principally sold untaxed cigarettes. (T 1320, 1703). 

29a). It 

Despite the 

existence of a partnership agreement, Morrison was the principal, 

if not sole, decision-maker for the enterprise during the period 

covered by the indictment. A Peace Pipe employee handbook written 

by Morrison stated that the company "was founded in January of 1994 

by Rodney A. Morrison, Sr." (T 3337; GX 29a). 

Morrison hired Peace Pipe's employees and managers. 
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(T 1025, 1263, 1315-16, 3363). He created an organizational 

structure in which managers were assigned different alpha-numeric 

designations that corresponded to their pay and level of authority 

within the enterprise. (T 3366-67) Morrison regularly called and 

led manager and staff meetings, some lasting hours, and even 

conducted such meetings via telephone conference when he was 

traveling. (T 3435-37). Morrison maintained close supervision on 

every facet of Peace Pipe's operations by using Peace Pipe internal 

surveillance cameras, listening to his employees' telephone calls 

and directing managers to act as spies on fellow employees. 

(T 7586-88) . 

Morrison also directed the transfer and personal re

investment of millions of dollars in Peace Pipe profits to other 

accounts. (See, ~, GX 153, l55a, l55b, l56a, 200-222, 346dd, 

346ee, 346hh, 346kk, 346nn, 346rr). In fact, Morrison used Peace 

pipe's credit card and company checking accounts to withdraw 

hundreds of thousands of dollars to pay for personal expenses. 

(See, ~, T 7265, 7269-75, 7287-7342; GX l5A-C, l6A-F and H, 

(defendant's cellular phone bills) l8A-B, (defendant's personal 

purchases on company Citibank credit card); 200-222 (wire transfers 

and orders)). Meanwhile, Morrison's wife, a member of the 

Unkechauge tribe through whom Morrison gained tribal permission to 

open Peace Pipe, worked only briefly as a cashier and had no role 

in the management of the business. (T 1027, 1314-15). In later 
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years, although Morrison appointed additional managers, he remained 

the only active partner as his wife spent most of her time out of 

the country. (T 7244-45) . 

Former Peace Pipe manager Tony Phillips testified that in 

addition to over-the-counter and Internet sales, the Enterprise 

also conducted "wholesale" transactions with so-called "Big 

Customers. II (T 1319, 1706). Phillips explained that, as defined 

by Morrison himself, a "Big Customer" was one who purchased three 

or four cases of cigarettes at a time. (T 1711-13) Each case 

consisted of 60 cartons with ten packs of cigarettes to a carton. 

(T 1711). Morrison also told Phillips that "big customers bought 

from [Peace Pipe] and resold" to others. (T 1724). Phillips 

received special instructions from Morrison on "how to treat a big 

customer. And to keep them happy." (T 1714, 1723 - 24). Morrison 

instructed Phillips that once a "Big Customer's" order was ready to 

be loaded onto a customer's vehicle, the cases of cigarettes were 

to be packaged in black plastic trash bags to conceal from view 

what the customer had purchased. (T 1744; GX 74a). If a "Big 

Customer" stopped coming to Peace Pipe, Morrison instructed 

Phillips to make a courtesy call to the customer, if necessary 

renegotiate prices, and try to lure his business back. 

40) . 

(T 1738-

Morrison also directed Phillips to distribute Peace Pipe 

fliers, among other means of advertising, in the City of New York. 
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(T 1746). Morrison told Phillips the city was a "prime location" 

for distribution because, at the time, the city imposed a $3 per 

pack tax on cigarettes. (T 1746-47). 

One New York City customer, known to Phillips as "Jeff," 

purchased 50 cases of untaxed cigarettes from Peace Pipe every day 

for approximately two years. (T 1726-27, 1735). At one point, 

Phillips discussed "Jeff" with Morrison because the customer, the 

owner of a warehouse in Queens, New York, wanted to purchase 

cigarettes from Peace Pipe at a lower price. (T 1728, 1734-35). 

This led to numerous meetings between Morrison and "Jeff" about 

pricing. (Id. ) . Phillips testified that between 1998 and 2001, 

Peace Pipe sold multiple cases of untaxed cigarettes to individual 

customers every day. (T 1736, 1740) 

Allison Stewart, another former Peace Pipe employee, 

testified that Morrison "dealt with both the regular customers that 

would come in and big customers." (T 3328). She recalled 

processing orders of four to five cases in a single transaction at 

a rate of once or twice a week. (Id. ) . 

Testimony about the sales of large numbers of untaxed 

cigarettes and Morrison's direct involvement in such trafficking 

was corroborated by Peace Pipe's own business records. The 

government introduced Peace Pipe sales receipts and other records 

documenting each of the proven racketeering acts involving the sale 

of more than 60,000 cigarettes at a time. (GX 30-73b). These 
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receipts represented a fraction of such sales in contraband 

quantities of untaxed cigarettes as documented by records seized by 

the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") pursuant to a search warrant 

executed on August 4, 2004. (T 1894, 1932-33). 

Wynette Randall, another Peace Pipe manager who was also 

Morrison's live-in mistress and personal assistant, was documented 

as having personally conducted three of the sales that constituted 

Racketeering Acts 62, 63 and 70. (GX 30, 32, 68a, 68b, 72b). She 

testified that she handled "dozens" of additional such transactions 

to customers during her tenure at Peace Pipe. (T 7309-10) . 

Through IRS Revenue Agent Robert Wanderer, the government 

introduced a Peace Pipe computer file that revealed some 50,000 

"Big Customers" and their purchases from Peace Pipe. (T 4544-56; 

GX 272, 272a and 272b). The transactions recorded in GX 272 

established that "Big Customers" accounted for more than $138 

million in Peace Pipe sales between 1999 and August 2004, when the 

"Big Customer" record was seized. (T 4580-82; GX 272e). The two 

smallest transactions for which register receipts were seized 

reflected that 310 cartons, or 62,000 cigarettes, were sold in 

single transactions on two consecutive days in June 2004 to one 

customer identified by Peace Pipe records under the pseudonym "Alz 

Alz." (GX 52, 53a; GA 144). "Alz Alz" paid $6,270 in cash for the 

first 62,000 cigarettes and $6,455 on the second transaction of 

62,000. (GX 52, 53a). These sales were charged as Racketeering 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 19    09/17/2010    108283    314



13 

Acts 36 and 37 of the superseding indictment. (GA 144). Peace 

Pipe sales records from between July 14, 2004 and August 2, 2004 

showed that the Enterprise sold that one customer quantities of 

untaxed cigarettes in violation of the CCTA on 18 out of 20 

consecutive days. (GX 272). These transactions formed the basis 

of Racketeering Acts 55 through 56 and 60 through 80. Such 

details, among others, tended to corroborate Phillips's 

recollection of having seen such transactions "every day" during 

his tenure at Peace Pipe. (T 1736, 1740). 

As to other specific racketeering acts charged, Peace 

Pipe's "Big Customer" file enabled Wanderer to identify specific 

transactions of 60,000 or more cigarettes at a time to other 

customers using the pseudonyms "Ms. Tiny" and "Chike Ramsay." 

(GX 30, 31, 32). The "Big Customer" file (GX 272), together with 

cash register receipts seized from the Peace Pipe (GX 33 to 73a), 

established that, besides Randall, the majority of the predicate 

acts in support of Count Two were sales conducted by Morrison's 

hand-picked supervisors, many of whom were also family relatives. 

For example, register receipts and summary charts received into 

evidence as GX 33 and GX 32 and 31, respectively, established that, 

as charged in Racketeering Acts 11 and 75, supervisor Joe Rombola 

sold 93,600 and 125,000 untaxed cigarettes to Peace Pipe customers 

Chike Ramsay and Alz Alz on December 1, 2003 and July 30, 2004 

respectively. (T 4563-80; see also GA 144-45 (summarizing exhibits 
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and racketeering acts); GX 30, 31, 32). 

Using the account numbers and other data from the "Big 

Customer" file, Wanderer analyzed the account detail corresponding 

to the sample "Big Customers" and compared those summaries to cash 

register receipts seized from Peace Pipe. The documentary evidence 

showed that 30 of the charged CCTA racketeering acts (Racketeering 

Acts 5, 14, 16-32, 35, 37-44 and 51) were sales of 60,000 or more 

cigaret tes by Morrison's brother, Carlos Pascal. (GX 30-32). 

Allison stewart identified Pascal as Morrison's brother and a Peace 

Pipe "head manager." (T 3363-64) . 

Morrison's cousins, Alex, Ulises and Elicer Pascal 

(T 3329, 3364-65, 3375-76), were the cashiers listed on receipts 

involving contraband quantities of untaxed cigarettes in 18 of the 

CCTA racketeering acts (Acts 13, 33, 34, 52, 54-56, 58, 59, 61, 67, 

69, 72, 76 - 79 and 80) . (GX 30-32, 34b). Alex, Ulises and Eliecer 

Pascal were all Peace Pipe managers. (T 3329, 3365, 3376). 

Counsel for New York state's Division of Taxation and 

Finance, Jennifer Hink, testified that the state imposed a $1.50 

per pack tax on cigarettes and that an additional $1.50 tax was 

levied on cigarettes sold within New York City. (T 4357) Proof 

of the payment of tax required stamps to be affixed to cigarette 

packs and cartons. (T 4355, 4357; GX 313). To prec 1 ude the 

argument that Morrison might have believed that Peace Pipe 

customers remitted taxes to the state at a later time, Hink 
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explained that no mechanism existed for either a seller or buyer to 

remit taxes after a retail sale to the State for any transaction 

involving more than 400 cigarettes (two cartons) by means of the 

"use tax" provisions of the State's Tax Law. (See T 4472-74, 4490-

91, 4517-23; GX 320 (NYS Cigarette Use Tax Return, Form CG-15». 

B. Morrison's Illegal Possession of Firearms 

Count Eight of the Superseding Indictment, the second 

count of conviction, charged that Morrison knowingly and 

intentionally possessed a 9 millimeter Glock semi-automatic handgun 

as a convicted felon in violation of 18 U. S. C. § 922 (g) . At 

trial, the only two issues with respect to the felon-in-possession 

charges were (1) whether Morrison possessed the firearms and 

(2) whether he was a convicted felon at the time he possessed 

them. 6 

The registered owner of the two Glock handguns, Allison 

Stewart, testified that she had known Morrison for many years and 

that, at different points in their relationship, she had been 

6 Morrison stipulated (see GX- 310, , 3 (McKenna 
Stipulation» that Glock pistols that were the subject of Counts 
Eight and Nine were "firearms" as that term is defined in 18 U.S.C. 
§ 921(a) (3), that is, "weapon[s] which will or [are] designed to or 
may readily be converted to expel a projectile by the action of an 
explosive." 18 U.S. C. § 921 (a) (3). Additionally, Morrison did not 
dispute that those Glocks were possessed "in or affecting 
interstate commerce," as that was also stipulated to by the 
parties. (Id. at " 4-5). Furthermore, the purchase records for 
each of the Glocks, GXs 284a and 284b, respectively, and the Glocks 
themselves clearly indicate that the firearms were manufactured in 
Austria and imported into the united States by a Glock subsidiary 
based in Smyrna, Georgia. 
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Morrison's Peace Pipe employee, personal assistant and girlfriend. 

(T 3226-33). She also testified that she purchased two Glock semi

automatic handguns for Morrison in September 1999 as a straw buyer. 

(T 3244-89, 3317-20). Specifically, the government established 

through Stewart's testimony and the applicable purchase records 

that she purchased the first of the two Glocks on September 2, 1999 

at Tee-Dee Gun Shop, Inc., located in Medford, New York. (T 3245, 

3248; GX 284a, 284b). Stewart testified that she gave this handgun 

to Morrison at the Peace Pipe office and that he kept it there in 

his desk drawer, where she saw it "many times" over the next few 

years. (T 3282). 

Additionally, Stewart testified that she returned to the 

Tee-Dee Gun Shop two weeks later and purchased a second, identical 

Glock handgun at Morrison's direction, which handgun she brought to 

Morrison's home, gave to him and saw him put in the nightstand next 

to his bed. (T 3269, 3285-87). Again, Stewart's testimony was 

corroborated by the relevant purchase records. (GX-284b). Stewart 

testified that she saw this gun in Morrison's nightstand several 

other times over the next few years. (T 3284-89). Significantly, 

in both cases, Stewart testified that she purchased the Glock 

handguns at Morrison's direction and that he not only paid for the 

guns but also picked out the particular make, model and caliber. 

(T 3259-61, 3268-69). 

Stewart was not the only witness to place a Glock in 
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Morrison's possession at the Peace Pipe. Her testimony was 

corroborated by that of Tony Phillips, who testified that, on one 

occasion, Morrison showed him a black 9 millimeter Glock firearm at 

the Peace Pipe office and then put it back in a desk drawer. 

(T 1616-18) . 

The testimony of Stewart and Phillips concerning 

Morrison's possession of the firearms was corroborated by the 

testimony of Wynette Randall. Randall testified that Morrison told 

her to retrieve two guns, one from the safe and the other from a 

desk drawer, and put them in a UPS box. (T 7499-7501). Further, 

Randall testified that Morrison dictated to her a letter to Stewart 

returning the guns, which she typed. (T 4598-99) . After typing 

the letter, Randall put it in an envelope with a UPS box and the 

two guns. 

9, 2003. 

(T 7498-7503; GX 306-B-1, 306-B-2, 307). 

The letter from Morrison to Stewart was dated September 

Special Agent Joseph Ponzio of the Internal Revenue 

Service and Detective George Herring of the Suffolk County Police 

Department testified about the execution of a search warrant at the 

Peace Pipe office on August 4, 2004, during which the two Glock 

handguns, GX 306 and GX 308, were seized from a safe in the office. 

While Ponzio did not recover the firearms himself, the government 

introduced certain evidence from the search warrant through him, 

including a floor plan and photographs of the Peace Pipe office. 

(T 1894-98, 1930-32, 4261-92; see also GX 139-142, 274). Herring 
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testified that, during that search, he took custody of two 

handguns, which were enclosed in two black gun boxes. (Id). The 

serial numbers from the two weapons seized on August 4, 2004 by 

Herring and others matched the serial numbers from the two Glock 

semi-automatic handguns purchased by Stewart from the Tee-Dee Gun 

Shop on September 2 and 16, 1999. 

Finally, the government introduced evidence of Morrison's 

own admissions, both written and audio-recorded. As set forth 

above, Randall testified about a September 9, 2003 letter to 

Stewart dictated by Morrison regarding the return of the two Glock 

handguns. (See GX 306 B-1). Morrison's statements in the letter 

were direct admissions of possession. Specifically, Morrison's 

letter stated, "I am returning these items to you, I have made 

other pr [oj visions and I am no longer in need of them." 

(emphasis added). 

(Id. ) 

Further, in a consensually-recorded conversation between 

Morrison and Stewart, which took place on September 18, 2003, 

Morrison again admitted to possessing the two Glocks. (GX-309a-b). 

In fact, Morrison's language was almost identical to that in the 

letter he had sent approximately a week earlier. Specifically, 

Morrison again admitted, "I'm trying to return these two black 

things back to you, I've made other provisions if you could just 

get these as soon as possible." (GX-309a-b) . 
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During the bifurcated portion of the trial,7 the 

government introduced evidence of Morrison's prior felony 

convictions, and the district court instructed the jury that the 

government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that, prior to the 

time he was charged with possession of a firearm, Morrison had been 

convicted of Criminally Negligent Homicide or Criminal Possession 

of a Controlled Substance. (T 13847-48). The government 

introduced a variety of evidence to establish that Morrison was a 

prior convicted felon, including certificates of conviction from 

Suffolk County Court, Morrison's arrest photographs, the testimony 

of his mother, and the testimony of law enforcement officers 

regarding Morrison's prior arrests. (T 13580-666, 13683-817). 

C. Other Charges 

The RICO conspiracy in Count Two also charged a number of 

violent predicate acts committed in support of the Enterprise. 

These included: the robbery of Monique's Variety Store and Smoke 

Shop and beating of its owner, Jesse Watkins, a competing untaxed 

cigarette retailer on the Poospatuck reservation; the arson of a 

motor vehicle purchased through a loan obtained from Morrison by a 

former Peace Pipe employee, Thomassina Mack; and the murder-for-

hire of former peace Pipe employee Shirwin Henry in November 2003, 

7 Evidence of Morrison's prior convictions was introduced 
following the jury's return of verdicts as to Count Two and Eight 
pursuant to the government's pretrial motion in favor of 
bifurcation of this evidence to avoid spillover prejudice. See 
united States v. Jones, 16 F.3d 487 (2d Cir. 1994). 
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shortly after Henry helped open the Golden Feather Smoke Shop' in 

direct competition with Peace Pipe. Although the jury acquitted 

Morrison of these acts and substantive charges, in sentencing 

hearings prior to the dismissal of Count Two, Judge Hurley 

concluded by a preponderance of the evidence that Morrison had 

ordered the murder and robbery and that such conduct was relevant 

to sentencing on Count Two as both relevant conduct within the 

meaning of U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3 and the sentencing factors set forth in 

18 U.S.C. §§ 3553 and 3661. (ST 110-11; GA 79, Docket No. 881). 

As to the robbery, Jesse Watkins testified that, in the 

early morning hours of March 10, 1999, while sleeping in a room in 

the back of his store, several masked individuals broke into the 

shop. (T 747-48). Watkins was pistol-whipped and then tied up as 

the robbers removed approximately $5,000 to $6,000 in cash from his 

registers and an additional $35,000 in cash as well as a checkbook 

from a briefcase and approximately $30,000 to $40,000 in cigarette 

inventory from the shelves of the store. (T 749-55, 754-55, 759). 

In the period before the robbery, Watkins had had disputes with 

Morrison over a number of issues, including Watkins's contract with 

Phillip Morris which reimbursed Monique's in exchange for being 

guaranteed a certain amount of display space wi thin the store. 

8 Following Henry's murder, Golden Feather continued to 
operate and became the lead named defendant in the injunctive 
action discussed below in City of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke 
Shop et al., No. 08-CV-3966 (CBA) . 
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Before the robbery, the defendant told Watkins 

that he wanted Monique's and other reservation cigarettes sellers 

to terminate their contracts with Phillip Morris. (T 740, 745 -46) . 

Peace Pipe's inventory manager, Tony Phillips, testified that he 

and at least one other person he knew to be an associate of the 

defendant's were ordered by the defendant to commit the break-in, 

theft and assault at Monique's. (T 1419-20, 1424-25) 

Phillips also testified that in February 2000, again 

acting at Morrison's direction, he set fire to a Nissan 300ZX owned 

by Thomasina Mack. (T 1479, 1482, 1558). Mack had originally 

borrowed the money to purchase the vehicle when she was still a 

Peace Pipe employee but subsequently stopped making payments on the 

loan. (T 1482) . 

As to the murder of Henry, several Peace Pipe employees 

testified that Morrison asked questions about Henry's opening a 

competing cigarette shop shortly after being fired by Morrison at 

Peace Pipe. (T 4932, 7191-92; GX 87f-57). In early November 2003, 

Morrison summoned an old family acquiantance, Arturo Kerr, to meet 

him at a Long Island catering business, where Morrison offered Kerr 

$5,000 to "eliminate" Henry. (T 5154-93, 5213-14, 5836). Morrison 

wanted the murder to take place wi thin a week of the meeting. 

(T 5229) . 

Two of the co-conspirators in the plot, Thurmond Davis 

and Dwight Carter, testified that they carried out the murder after 
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being offered $2,500 by Kerr. (T 5246-47, 5994-95, 5998). Although 

they never met Morrison, Davis and Carter were told by Kerr that 

the killing had been ordered by "a rich guy on Long Island" who 

wanted the murder committed "yesterday." (T 5993, 6004-05, 6833). 

Carter and Davis placed a phony cigarette order using a phone 

number on a Golden Feather flier that Morrison had given to Kerr 

and lured Henry to a Brooklyn housing project, where he was led to 

the rooftop and then shot once in the back of the head. (T 6323-

25, 6826-27, 6850-51, 6862-80) . The government introduced 

telephone toll records showing that Morrison had been in telephone 

contact with Kerr in the days and hours immediately before and 

after Henry's murder on the evening of November 13, 2003 even 

though Morrison was then on vacation in Japan and the Philippines 

and had not spoken to Kerr for years prior to the meeting at which 

Morrison contracted Henry's killing. (GX 350). Finally, 

Morrison's then-mistress, Wynette Randall, testified that, at 

Morrison's direction by phone from the Philippines, she met Kerr in 

a parking lot not far from the Peace Pipe office shortly after 

Henry had been killed and delivered to Kerr $5,000 in cash. 

(T 7622-31) . 

III. Dismissal of Count One 

Prior to trial, the government moved in limine to 

preclude Morrison from offering evidence or arguing at trial that 

he was affirmatively misled by New York State officials into 
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believing that the conduct charged in CCTA Racketeering Acts was 

lawful by virtue of a so-called New York State "forbearance policy" 

against the enforcement of the state tax law governing the on-

reservation sales of untaxed cigarettes by Native American 

retailers. The government's motion also noted that the anticipated 

evidence would show: 

that the defendant aided and abetted others in 
the sale and distribution of contraband 
cigarettes as then defined by 18 U.S.C. 
§ 2341(2). Witnesses will say that the 
purchasers in question returned sometimes on a 
daily or weekly basis to purchase such large 
quantities of un-stamped cigarettes that they 
could not have been used for personal 
consumption. Purchasers were known to re-sell 
the un-stamped cigarettes bought from Peace 
pipe to retail stores in New York City and 
elsewhere. In fact, a witness will testify 
that at the defendant's direction, he 
distributed fliers to store owners and others 
in New York City to solicit their business to 
Peace pipe. 

* * * 

In sum, the evidence will show that the 
defendant knew that the large purchases 
involved in Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 
made no economic sense absent the purchasers' 
desire to evade taxes due and owing to the 
state. The defendant aided an [d] abetted 
these unlawful transactions in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §2. 

(GA 124-25) . 

The defense countered that the forbearance policy would 

have been "eviscerated" if sales in violation of the CCTA could be 

prosecuted "the moment a purchaser steps off the reservation" and 
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argued that the state's repeal of regulations relating to sales by 

on-reservation retailers rendered those retailers, even those 

engaged in massive selling to bootleggers, effectively immune from 

prosecution. (GA 133 -34) . Morrison also argued that the 

forbearance policy had entrapped him into reasonably believing that 

he had "carte blanche to sell unlimited quantities of cigarettes on 

the reservation without violating the state tax laws." (GA 138).' 

The government replied to the entrapment theory by noting 

that, while the repeal of regulations limiting the number of 

untaxed cigarettes that could be shipped onto an Indian reservation 

made it problematic to prosecute solely on a theory of possession 

or receipt, 

The sale and aiding and abetting in the 
distribution of such cigarettes outside of an 
Indian reservation is unaffected by the repeal 
of 22 NYCRR §§ 336 et §ll.g and forbearance 
policy. 

* * * 

There is no authority [for the defendant's 
proposition] that would limit section 2341(2) 
and the aiding and abetting statute in 18 
U.S.C. § 2, only to persons who actually drive 
contraband cigarettes off an Indian 
reservation or personally [] re-sell those 
untaxed cigarettes. 

, At trial, the district court permitted the defense wide 
lati tude to develop this theory, including by presenting the 
testimony of a lobbyist on Native American sovereignty issues, Eric 
Facer, to try to establish the reasonableness of this estoppel 
defense. (T 11220-25). Judge Hurley later characterized this 
defense as invoking the concept of desuetude. See Morrison II, 596 
F. Supp. 2d at 702 (GA 198-99) . 
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(GA 142) . 

At the conclusion of the government's case-in-chief, the 

district court ruled that proof of the CCTA predicate acts required 

not only evidence of Morrison's sale of untaxed cigarettes to "Big 

Customers" but also those customers' sale of untaxed cigarettes to 

others. (See.~, T 9493-95, 9923-26). The court then dismissed 

Count One, the substantive RICO count, pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 

29. (T 9569). However, the court reserved judgment on the motion 

to dismiss Count Two, the RICO conspiracy count. 

In arguing against dismissal of the predicate acts in 

Count Two, and for reconsideration of the dismissal of the acts as 

to Count One, the government summarized pretrial statements 

regarding aiding and abetting in the context of opposing the 

defendant's suggestion that only otf-reservation sales were 

prosecutable in light of the forbearance policy. (GA 239-48; 

GA 55, Docket No. 565) The district court characterized this as 

a change of theory but nonetheless denied the motion to dismiss as 

to Count Two in Morrison II, finding that the indictment fairly 

charged that Morrison violated the CCTA through on-reservation 

sales and that Morrison had not shown any prejudice from the change 

in the government's theory regarding off-reservation sales. See 

5.96 F. Supp. 2d at 683-94 (GA 181-91) . 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The district court erred in concluding that the CCTA and 

New York Tax Law § 471 were unconstitutionally vague as applied to 

Morrison's conduct. While the collection of taxes for on

reservation retail sales of cigarettes to non-Native Americans has 

been a source of great controversy in New York, the obligation to 

collect taxes clearly extends to bootleggers like Morrison who sell 

massive wholesale quantities of cigarettes to off-reservation 

purchasers. 

The district court erred in Morrison IV in concluding 

that this Court's certification of questions about the New York Tax 

Law to the New York Court of Appeals in Golden Feather establishes 

that the law is unconstitutionally vague. The Court in Golden 

Feather did not base its certification of these questions on a 

finding that the statutes at issue were so unclear as to implicate 

the doctrine of unconstitutional vagueness. Morever, to treat this 

Court's certification of questions to the New York Court of Appeals 

as a precedential decision concerning the interpretation of a 

statute would be inconsistent with the purpose of the certification 

process. 
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ARGUMENT 

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING COUNT TWO 

I. Standard of Review 

Whether a statute is unconstitutionally vague as applied 

to the defendant is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. See 

United States v. Duran, 596 F.3d 1283, 1290 (11th Cir. 2010); 

Arriaga v. Mukasey, 521 F.3d 219, 222 (2d Cir. 2008). 

II. Background 

A. New York's Cigarette Sales Tax 

Since 1939, New York State has imposed a sales tax on 

cigarettes under N.Y. Tax Law § 471. During the period at issue in 

this case, § 471(1) provided: 

There is hereby imposed and shall be paid a 
tax on all cigarettes possessed in the state 
by any person for sale on and after June 
first, nineteen hundred ninety-three, except 
that no tax shall be imposed on cigarettes 
sold under such circumstances that this state 
is without power to impose such tax or sold to 
the United States or sold to or by a vOluntary 
unincorporated organization of the armed 
forces of the United States operating a place 
for the sale of goods pursuant to regulations 
promulgated by the appropriate executive 
agency of the United States, to the extent 
provided in such regulations and policy 
statements of such an agency applicable to 
such sales. 

While the tax is ultimately to be paid by the consumer, 

§ 471(2) sets up a mechanism for state-licensed stamping agents, 

including wholesalers, to prepay the amount of tax by purchasing 

tax stamps from the state and affixing them to each package of 
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. shall purchase 

stamps and affix such stamps in the manner prescribed to packages 

of cigarettes to be sold within the state . ."). The statute 

explicitly sets forth the rate of taxation, and N.Y. Tax Law § 1814 

provides for felony and misdemeanor penalties for the possession or 

distribution of untaxed cigarettes by any person other than a 

licensed stamping agent. 

Application of the tax to sales of cigarettes on Native 

American reservations has provided a continuing source of 

controversy in New York. Under principles of tribal sovereignty, 

a state may not tax on-reservation sales to Native Americans; 

however, it may tax on-reservation sales to non-Native Americans. 

See Moe v. Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes of Flathead 

Reservation, 425 U.S. 463, 481-83 (1976). 

Since 1988, the New York State Legislature, Department of 

Taxation and Finance ( "DTF" ) and successive gubernatorial 

administrations have engaged in litigation, rulemaking, legislative 

amendments, and negotiation with tribal groups in an effort to halt 

the increasing diversion of untaxed cigarettes from reservations to 

non-Native American consumers, while at the same time accommodating 

Native Americans' ability to purchase and consume untaxed 

cigarettes for themselves consistent with tribal sovereignty. In 

1994, the Supreme Court upheld New York's efforts in this regard. 

Department of Taxation and Finance of N. Y. v. Milhelm Attea & 
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Bros., Inc., 512 U.S. 61, 64-65 (1994). 

Notwithstanding this affirmation of the state's taxing 

authori ty, subsequent efforts to enforce the state's taxation 

powers were met with incidents of "civil unrest and legislative 

frustration." Morrison II, .596 F. Supp. 2d at 703 (GA 199); see 

id. at 670-80 (GA 171-79). To quell such unrest, the Governor and 

DTF made public statements of support for tribal sovereignty and 

legislative proposals, which were never adopted, that would have 

exempted Native Americans from their tax obligations and finally 

adopted a practice of non-enforcement that eventually came to be 

called the state's "forbearance policy." See Morrison I, 521 F. 

Supp. 2d at 254-255 (GA 154-55); New York Association of 

Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 275 A.D.2d 520, 522 (3rd Dept. 2000). 

In 2005, the New York legislature amended § 471-e of the 

Tax Law to require the collection of taxes for on-reservation 

cigarette sales to non-Native Americans. 'o The amendment directed 

the DTF to adopt a coupon system based on the reasonable demand for 

cigarettes by Native American reservation residents that would 

limit the amount of untaxed cigarettes that could be sold by 

reservation retailers. The amendments to § 471-e were to become 

effective on March 1, 2006, provided that the implementing 

10 

district 
bearing 
1539756 
n.9 (GA 

§ 471-e was originally enacted in 2003, although, as the 
court noted, the pre-2005 version of the statute has no 

on the issues in this case. See Morrison IV, 2010 WL 
at *8 n.4 (GA 237); Morrison II, 596 F. Supp. 2d at 675 & 
174-75) . 
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regulations had been promulgated by the DTF. However, again to 

avoid a violent backlash, the DTF never promulgated implementing 

regulations. 

B. Morrison I and II 

Prior to trial, Morrison moved for the dismissal of the 

CCTA allegations in the superseding indictment, arguing pursuant to 

Urbach that the State had never required tax stamps on cigarettes 

sold on an Indian reservation or collected taxes on those sales. 

Morrison also argued that the DTF's failure to promulgate the 

regulations contemplated by the 2005 amendment to § 471-e precluded 

his prosecution. Morrison argued that, because such regulations 

were a condition precedent to the amendment's becoming effective, 

§ 471-ehas been deemed not to be "in effect." See Day Wholesale, 

Inc. v. State of N.Y., 51 A.D.3d 383, 389 (4th Dept. 2008). 

Morrison further argued that, without such implementing 

regulations, § 471 alone was insufficient as a predicate to the 

enforcement of the CCTA. 

In a bench decision rendered on October 9, 2007, Judge 

Hurley denied Morrison's motion to dismiss the CCTA violations in 

the superseding indictment on vagueness grounds based upon the 

forbearance policy. (GA 40). One month later, the district court 

denied Morrison's motion for reconsideration in Morrison I. After 

a careful summary of the state's efforts to control bootlegging of 

untaxed cigarettes through Native American retailers, Judge Hurley 
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Morrison's interpretation of the forbearance policy, the 

court reasoned, would "essentially nullif[y]" the requirements of 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471, 

as that term is commonly understood and read[] 
the legislature right out of the picture. 
Simply stated, states "require" certain 
conduct via duly enacted laws; the failure of 
the executive branch to enforce the law is not 
the same as saying that the legislative branch 
has repealed it. 

Id. (citations omitted) . 

As for public statements from the Governor's office and 

DTF in support of legislative amendments that would have reversed 

the state's then-recent victory in Milhelm Attea, the court noted 

that "far from communicating that Native-American retailers such as 

defendant were exempt from the State Tax Law," such pronouncements 

were acknowledgments "that the executive's policy of forbearance 

could not repeal the state law; only the legislature could do that, 

and it did not." Id. at 255 (GA 155). 

The district court also considered the plain language of 

the CCTA in rejecting Morrison's contention that the state's non-
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enforcement policy meant there was no "applicable" state cigarette 

tax to violate. As the court concluded: 

in drafting the CCTA, Congress chose the term 
"applicable" taxes, not an "enforced" tax or a 
"collected" tax, to trigger a violation. The 
term "applicable" means "capable of being 
applied." Defendant's attempt to equate 
applicability and enforceability belies the 
plain meaning of the former term and, thus, 
what an ordinary person would understand the 
statute to mean. 

Id. at 254 (citation omitted) (GA 154) . 

The district court also noted that Morrison's 

construction conflicted with a decision of this Court in United 

States v. Kaid, 241 Fed. Appx. 747, 750 (2d Cir. 2007), which 

involved the criminal prosecution of a similar large-scale 

bootlegging operation. Morrison I, 521 F. Supp. 2d at 254 n.6 

(GA 155) . 

The court also rejected Morrison's argument that his 

prosecution was precluded by the New York DTF's failure to 

promulgate the regulations contemplated by the 2005 amendment to 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e, thereby precluding the amended statute from 

taking effect. See Day Wholesale, Inc., 51 A.D.3d at 389. The 

district court noted that the 2005 amendment to § 471-e "post-dates 

the acts in the superseding indictment and, accordingly, is not 

relevant for present purposes." Morrison I, 521 F. Supp. 2d at 250 

n.2 (GA 150). 

All these factors led the district court to conclude that 
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the CCTA, read together with the New York Tax Law, "provide[dl an 

ordinary person with sufficient notice of what conduct is 

proscribed." Accordingly, the court denied the void-for-vagueness 

claim." Id. at 256 (GA 155) . 

Following trial, on February 26, 2009, Judge Hurley again 

denied Morrison's renewed motion to dismiss on vagueness grounds in 

Morrison II. In affirming the RICO conviction, Judge Hurley 

likened Morrison's arguments about the forbearance police to the 

defense of "desuetude [,1 the 'obscure doctrine by which a 

legislative enactment is judicially abrogated following a long 

period of nonenforcement.'" Morrison II, 596 F. Supp. 2d at 702 

(citations omitted) (GA 198-99). Rejecting the notion that the 

forbearance policy sufficiently "muddied the waters so that a 

typical retailer on the reservation who had read the subject law 

would not have understood that selling unstamped cigarettes 

on-reservation was a violation of the CCTA," id., at 697 (GA 194) , 

the district court reasserted its previous findings that 

nonenforcement had not abrogated the clear applicability of N.Y. 

Tax Law § 471 to the defendant, and rej ected the defendant's 

" The district court reached that conclusion with the 
understanding that the government had "limited its theory of 
prosecution to one of aiding and abetting off-reservation sales." 
Morrison I, 521 F. Supp. 2d at 257 (GA 156). However, as noted in 
the Statement of Facts, the court reached the same conclusion after 
trial notwithstanding its finding that the government had changed 
its theory to one of on-reservation sales. See Morrison II, 596 F. 
Supp. 2d at 687-94 (GA 185-91) . 
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unsupported factual assertion that the Governor's press statements 

amounted to a declaration that retailers such as the defendant 

"would not be prosecuted for" selling unstamped cigarettes on the 

reservation. Id. at 698 (GA 195). As to this claim, purportedly 

grounded in the trial record, Judge Hurley wrote, "The Court's 

independent recollection of the over 10,000 page trial transcript 

does not point to any evidence consistent with this assertion." Id. 

Indeed, the court found that nothing had abrogated the 

state and city's tax collection structure as to Native Americans, 

especially those engaged in the type of large-scale bootlegging 

operation for which the defendant had been convicted. 

[T]he CCTA was enacted in 1978 to combat 
large-scale cigarette bootlegging. It cannot 
be said that the original basis for enacting 
the statute has ceased to apply or that the 
statute is otherwise out of date. In fact, 
tax evasion by Native American retailers 
continues to be a significant problem, 
resulting in a tremendous loss of income for 
New York. See Milhelm Attea, 512 U.S. at 65 
(noting that in 1988 "unlawful purchases of 
unstamped cigarettes [by non-Native Americans 
from reservation retailers] deprived New York 
of substantial tax revenues .. estimated at 
$65 million per year") 

Moreover, New York's failure to 
enforce its tax laws is not due to neglect; 
rather, it is due in large part to the ability 
of Native Americans to thwart enforcement. 
Attempts to enforce the New York tax law have 
been met with civil unrest and legislative 
frustration. 

Id. at 703 (GA 199) . 
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Ultimately, the district court concluded: 

[Ilt cannot be said that the law at issue here 
is so vague that it accords law enforcement 
and juries unfettered discretion. The CCTA 
makes it a crime to sell or distribute 
"contraband cigarettes," 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a), 
which are defined as "a quantity in excess of 
60,000 cigarettes, which bear no evidence of 
the payment of applicable State or local 
cigarette taxes in the State or locality where 
such cigarettes are found, if the State or 
local government requires a stamp. ." Id. 
§ 2341 (2) . The CCTA' s standards are 
sufficiently clear because a state requires 
that cigarettes be stamped if state law so 
provides. Here, as discussed above, New York 
Tax Law § 471 provides that all cigarettes 
sold on-reservation to non-Native Americans 
are taxable under subdivision (1) and must be 
stamped under subdivision (2). The fact that 
the executive branch of New York State is not 
enforcing § 471 to on-reservation sales does 
not mean that it is unclear when a violation 
of that statute occurs. 

C. The Cayuga and Golden Feather Cases 

35 

In 2008, shortly after Morrison's conviction, the City of 

New York moved in federal court for a preliminary inj unction 

against Morrison, Peace Pipe, and several other retailers on the 

Poospatuck-Unkechauge reservation, alleging violations of the CCTA. 

See City of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, No. 08-CV-3966, 

2009 WL 705815 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 16, 2009) (denying defendant's motion 

to dismiss on the basis of arguments identical to the vagueness 

claims raised in Morrison I and II). Highlighting how the 

forbearance policy and paralysis over the coupon system mandated by 
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N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e had led to massive abuse, the city alleged 

that collectively the civil defendants purchased approximately 9.7 

million cartons of unstamped cigarettes in one year, which, given 

the Poospatuck-Unkechauge's population of only 279 tribal members, 

worked out to approximately 960 packs of cigarettes per tribal 

member per day. Id. at *2. 

Following a four-day civil trial, the Honorable Carol 

Bagley Amon concluded in Golden Feather that the city had proven 

the defendants had engaged in a long pattern of CCTA violations and 

had caused irreparable harm in the form of lost tax revenue and 

greater incidence of health threats to city residents arising from 

the evasion of cigarette taxes. City of New York v. Golden Feather 

Smoke Shop, 2009 WL 2612345 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2009) (granting 

preliminary injunction) The defendants appealed Judge Amon's 

order to this Court. City of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke 

Shop, Inc., No. 09-3942-cv(L), 09-3997-cv(con). 

Meanwhile, during the pendency of Morrison and Golden 

Feather, the Cayuga Indian Nation near Buffalo, New York, sought a 

declaratory judgment in state court as to the enforceability of 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e in the absence of implementing regulations. 

Cayuga Indian Nation of New York v. Gould, 21 Misc. 3d 1142(A), 

(Sup. Ct. Monroe County Dec. 9, 2008). The matter arose from the 

execution of a search warrant and seizure of untaxed cigarette 

inventory from a retailer operating on a qualified Indian 
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Although the state Supreme Court justice 

denied the plaintiff's motion seeking a declaratory judgment that 

the lack of implementing regulations for N. Y. Tax Law § 471-e 

rendered retailers immune from prosecution, see Cayuga Indian 

Nation of N.Y. v. Gould, 21 Misc.3d 1142 (A) at *5, that decision 

was reversed in a split decision by the Appellate Division. Cayuga 

Indian Nation of New York v. Gould, 66 A.D.3d 100 (4th Dept. 2009). 

On August 11, 2009, in an oral bench decision, Judge 

Hurley rejected a renewed motion for dismissal of Count Two and the 

CCTA predicate acts in light of the Appellate Division's Cayuga 

decision. Morrison then moved for reconsideration of that 

decision, and Judge Hurley denied that motion in a written order 

dated December 4, 2009. (GA 218) . 

Judge Amon issued a written opinion rejecting a similar 

motion for reconsideration of her denial of the civil defendants' 

motion to dismiss. Golden Feather, 2009 WL 2612345 at **29-32. 

Defendants in Golden Feather then moved before this Court for a 

stay of Judge Amon's decision pending appeal and for an interim 

stay pending resolution of their application for a permanent stay. 

After an emergency hearing, this Court denied the defendants' 

motion, expedited the appeal and directed the parties to address 

whether questions should be certified to the New York Court of 

Appeals regarding Tax Law §§ 471 and 471-e and the liability those 

provisions impose upon Native American vendors to collect taxes on 
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sales to non-Native Americans. See City of New York v. Golden 

Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., Nos. 09-3942-CV, 09-3997-CV (2d Cir. Oct. 

14, 2009) 

After the state appealed the Cayuga decision to the New 

York Court of Appeals, on March 4, 2010, this Court, noting that 

oral argument had already been scheduled in Cayuga, certified the 

following questions to the New York Court of Appeals: 

(1) Does N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e, either by. 
itself or in combination with the provisions 
of § 471, impose a tax on cigarettes sold on 
Native American reservations when some or all 
of those cigarettes may be sold to persons 
other than members of the reservation's nation 
or tribe? 

(2) If the answer to Question 1 is "no," does 
N. Y . Tax Law § 471 alone impose a tax on 
cigarettes sold on Native American 
reservations when some or all of those 
cigarettes may be sold to persons other than 
members of the reservation's nation or tribe? 

City of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 597 F.3d 115, 

127-28 (2d Cir. 2010), certified question accepted, City of New 

York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 14 N.Y.3d 880 (2010). 

D. Morrison IV 

On the basis of this Court's certification of the 

questions in Golden Feather, Morrison filed yet another motion for 

reconsideration, arguing that the certification implicitly 

undermined the district court's previous rulings that the CCTA and 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471, as applied, were not unconstitutionally vague. 

On April 16, 2010, Judge Hurley granted the motion, reversed his 
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prior rulings and dismissed Count Two. Morrison IV, _ F. Supp. 2d 

, 2010 WL 1539756 (GA 228-37) . In doing so, Judge Hurley relied 

solely on this Court's certification of questions to the New York 

Court of Appeals in Golden Feather. 

The Second Circuit's decision requires 
that I revisit my prior due process 
determinations. In saying that, I am mindful 
that (1) the Circuit declined to stay the 
preliminary injunction granted to the City of 
New York, (2) in certifying the two 
aforementioned questions to the New York Court 
of Appeal s , the Ci rcui t was asking, rather 
than endeavoring to answer those questions, 
(3) the decision to certify those questiops-as 
requested by the appellants in that case, one 
of whom, Morrison, is the defendant in the 
criminal case under discussion-is readily 
understandable given that the core issues 
relate solely to state law, and (4) the 
statutory scheme involved in Golden Feather 
significantly differs from the one in the 
instant case given the post-indictment 
enactment of the current § 471-e in 2006. 
Nonetheless, the detailed analysis provided by 
the Circuit in Golden Feather is at odds with 
my conclusion that a fair reading of § 471, 
unencumbered by the confusion arguably 
interj ected into the analysis via the 
enactment of § 471-e, provided more than 
adequate notice that on-reservation sales of 
unstamped cigarettes to non-Native Americans 
is illegal. . Given that the Circuit has 
found a sufficient lack of clarity in the 
statutory scheme to call for certification in 
a civil context, my conclusion that the text 
of § 471 satisfies constitutional notice 
requirements in a criminal context may not 
stand. Accordingly, defendant's conviction 
under Count Two is vacated and the Count 
dismissed. 

Morrison IV, 2010 WL 1539756 at **7-8 (GA 235-36) . 
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E. post-Dismissal Developments 

Since the dismissal, the New York Court of Appeals has 

rendered its decision in Cayuga granting a declaratory judgment in 

favor of the tribal sovereign. See Cayuga Indian Nation of New 

York v. Gould, 14 N.Y.3d 614 (2010). The court held that, while 

"§ 471 generally imposes a sales tax on cigarettes sold in New 

York," id. at 647, the plaintiffs could not be prosecuted for 

failing to collect such taxes "in the unique retail context 

presented here, " id. , because the implementing regulations 

contemplated by the 2005 amendment to N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e had not 

been enacted. The court reasoned that, in light of the unique 

practical difficulties in implementing a tax that applied only to 

sales to non-Native American consumers, a "specialized mechanism is 

needed to apply a general tax stamping scheme to sales by Indian 

retailers." Id. at 650. 

In reaching that conclusion, however, the court 

specifically distinguished Morrison's own case as well as Judge 

Amon's opinion in Golden Feather and this Court's opinion in Kaid. 

See id. at 653 (citing, inter alia, 

explained, Morrison, Golden Feather 

Morrison II). As the court 

and were 

because they "do not involve on-reservation retail 

inapposite 

sales of 

cigarettes to consumers for their personal use but arose from 

large-scale cigarette bootlegging activities engaged in by Indian 

and non-Indian traders." Id. at 652. The court continued: 
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[T]he complex calculation and collection 
issues raised when a state attempts to collect 
sales taxes from Indian retailers (such as 
determining which cigarettes possessed for 
potential sale must contain tax stamps and 
which need not, and which sales are exempt 
from taxation because they involve Indian 
consumers and which are not) are not present 
when a wholesaler or distributor, whether 
Indian or otherwise, makes a bulk sale of 
cigarettes to a party that intends to resell 
them off the reservation. The federal tax 
exemption applies only to on-reservation sales 
to Indians for their personal use-there is no 
exemption allowing Indians to engage in the 
wholesale distribution of untaxed cigarettes 
destined for off-reservation sales. Thus, the 
exemption is not implicated when conduct of 
the type at issue in Kaid is alleged and no 
special calculation or collection mechanism 
like the system set forth in Tax Law § 471-e 
is necessary because not a single pack of 
cigarettes involved in such a transfer would 
be tax exempt. 

Id. at 653. 
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In light of this decision, as well as recent legislative 

amendments to § 471,12 by order dated August 20, 2010, this Court 

withdrew as moot the certified questions submitted in Golden 

Feather and remanded the case to the district court for such 

proceedings as the district court might determine necessary. 

12 Effective July 1, 2010, New York amended Section 471(1) 
to impose taxes "on all cigarettes sold on an Indian reservation to 
non-members of the Indian nation or tribe and to non-Indians and 
evidence of such tax shall be by means of an affixed cigarette tax 
stamp." Alternatively, the amended statute allows Indian tribes or 
other sovereign authorities to voluntarily participate in a tax 
exemption coupon system that had been provided under N.Y. Tax Law 
§471-e. N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1), as amended. 
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III. Discussion 

A. The Vagueness Doctrine 

The vagueness doctrine, which is rooted in the Due 

Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment, has two functions. First, 

"because we assume that man is free to steer between lawful and 

unlawful conduct, we insist that laws give the person of ordinary 

intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, 

so that he may act accordingly." Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 

U.S. 104, 108 (1972). Laws that fail to provide that kind of 

notice "may trap the innocent by not providing fair warning," id., 

and they therefore fail to satisfy due process standards. See 

Skilling v. United States, 130 S. Ct. 2896, 2928 (2010). 

Second, a statute may be unconstitutionally vague if it 

fails to "'establish minimal guidelines to govern law 

enforcement. '" Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 358 (1983) 

(quoting Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 574 (1974)). A statute 

runs afoul of due process on this ground "if it authorizes or even 

encourages arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." Hill v. 

Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 732 (2000); see Skilling, 130 S. Ct. at 

2927-28. 

That a criminal statute's application is not free from 

doubt in a particular case, however, is not sufficient to render it 

unconstitutional. 

doctrine notes: 

An authoritative treatment of the vagueness 
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[Tlhere has never been dissent from Mr. 
Justice Holmes' observation that "the law is 
full of instances where a man's fate depends 
on his estimating rightly, that is, as the 
jury subsequently estimates it, some matter of 
degree. If his judgment is wrong, not only 
may he incur a fine or a short imprisonment 

.; he may incur the penalty of .death." 
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Anthony Amsterdam, Note, The void-for-Vagueness Doctrine in the 

Supreme Court, 109 U. Pa. L. Rev. 67, 69 (1960) (quoting Nash v. 

United States, 229 U.S. 373, 377 (1913)). The vagueness doctrine 

"does not invalidate every statute which a reviewing court believes 

could have been drafted with greater precision." Rose v. Locke, 

423 U.S. 48, 49 (1975) (per curiam). Nor is a statute void for 

vagueness simply because "trained lawyers" must "consult legal 

dictionaries, treatises, and judicial opinions before they may say 

with any certainty" what the statute forbids. Id. at 50. Indeed, 

disagreement among courts as to the meaning of a criminal statute 

does not show that a statute is unconstitutionally vague. See 

United States v. Rybicki, 354 F.3d 124, 143 (2d Cir. 2003) (en 

banc) (noting that if "circuit divisions" rendered "a statute . 

unconstitutionally vague," there would be "a frightful number of 

fatally vague statutes lurking about"); United,States v. Jackson, 

968 F.2d 158, 163 (2d Cir. 1992) ("Just because other courts of 

appeals differ in their definitions of a term does not mean that 

the term is void for vagueness."). Constitutional vagueness 

concerns "rest on . lack of notice, and hence may be overcome 

in any specific case where reasonable persons would know that their 
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conduct is at risk." Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 361 

(1988) . 

B. The CCTA and New York Tax Law § 471 
Clearly Applied to Morrison's Conduct 

As noted, the CCTA prohibits the knowing "ship ling] , 

transport [ing] , receiv[ing] , possess ling] , sell ling] , 

distribut[ing], or purchas[ing]" of "contraband cigarettes." 18 

U.S.C. § 2342 (a). During the period relevant to this case, 

"contraband cigarettes" were defined as 

a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, 
which bear no evidence of the payment of 
applicable State or local cigarette taxes in 
the State or locality where such cigarettes 
are found, if the State or local government 
requires a stamp, impression, or other 
indication to be placed on packages or other 
containers of cigarettes to evidence payment 
of cigarette taxes . 

18 U.S.C. § 2341(2) (eff. prior to March, 2006). 

As the district court observed in Morrison I, N.Y. Tax 

Law § 471 constituted the applicable state tax law undergirding 

application of the CCTA in this case. See 521 F. Supp. 2d at 249 

(GA 149-50). On its face, § 471 imposes a tax on sale of 

cigarettes except in circumstances where the state was without 

power to impose such a tax. The only limitation on the state's 

taxing authority relevant to this case was that recognized by the 

Supreme Court in the Milhelm Attea case, i.e., that New York could 

not tax cigarettes sold on Native American reservations "to tribal 

members for their own consumption." 512 U.S. at 64-65. However, 
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the Supreme Court expressly held that that limitation did not apply 

to cigarettes sold on reservations to non-members of the tribe: 

"on-reservation cigarette sales to persons other than reservation 

Indians . . are legitimately subject to state taxation." Id.; 

see also Moe, 425 U.S. at 481-83 (state may require Native American 

retailer on reservation to add taxes on sales of cigarettes to non

members of the tribe) . 

The New York Court of Appeals recognized in Cayuga that 

§ 471 "generally imposes a sales tax on cigarettes sold in New 

York," see 14 N. Y. 3d at 647, but held that Native American 

retailers could not be prosecuted for failing to collect a tax for 

on-reservation retail cigarette sales to consumers because of the 

absence of an authorized method for calculating and collecting the 

tax resulting from the failure of the New York DTF to promulgate 

regulations in response to the 2005 amendment of § 471-e. However, 

that decision provides no support for Morrison's claim. First, as 

the district court recognized in Morrison I, nothing about the 2005 

amendment to § 471-e or the subsequent failure to promulgate 

regulations could have misled Morrison into believing that he was 

not required to collect a tax, since the amendment post-dated the 

charged conduct in this case. See 521 F. Supp. 2d at 250 n.2 

(GA 150). Second, the Court of Appeals in Cayuga distinguished 

cases, including specifically Morrison's own case, that involved 

"large-scale cigarette bootlegging activities" in which Native 
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Americans "engage in the wholesale distribution of untaxed 

cigarettes destined for off-reservation sales." 14 N.Y.3d at 652, 

653 (citing Morrison II) . Thus, as to such sales, § 471 clearly 

requires the collection of a tax. Moreover, it is debatable that 

collection of tax under state law should not even be required, 

since, as the district court observed in Morrison I, the CCTA 

refers to "'applicable' taxes, not an 'enforced' tax or a 

'collected' tax, to trigger a violation." 521 F. Supp. 2d at 254 

(GA 154) . 

The evidence in this case amply supported the Court of 

Appeals' description of Morrison as a "large-scale bootlegg[er]." 

While Peace Pipe conducted some on-reservation retail sales, the 

CCTA racketeering acts were all based upon wholesale transactions 

involving quantities in excess of 60,000 cigarettes. Indeed, the 

evidence showed that Morrison heavily targeted wholesale 

transactions with "Big Customers," who were customers from outside 

the reservation who purchased tens of thousands of cigarettes at a 

time. Peace Pipe's records reflected that it had some 50,000 "Big 

Customers" who accounted for more than $138 million in sales 

between 1999 and August 2004. 

272b, 272e). 

(T 4544-56, 4580-82; GX 272, 272a, 

Nor was Morrison's obligation to collect taxes rendered 

unconstitutionally vague by New York's so-called forbearance 

policy, as the district court correctly held in Morrison I, 521 F. 
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Supp. 2d at 254-58 (GA 154-58), and Morrison II, 596 F. Supp. 2d at 

697-705 (GA 194-201). The forbearance policy was exactly what the 

term "forbearance" implies: a policy of refraining from enforcing 

legal obligations whose existence is necessarily assumed (or else 

there would be nothing for the state to "forbear" from doing). At 

most, the forbearance policy could have affected Morrison's 

assessment of the likelihood that he would be prosecuted, not of 

whether his conduct was lawful. The enforcement policies of the 

executive branch, at least when as here based on concerns of policy 

and practicality, cannot render the terms of statutes enacted by 

the legislative branch to be unconstitutionally vague. There is no 

indication that the New York State executive branch ever suggested 

that its forbearance policy was based upon a conclusion concerning 

the limited scope of the applicable statutes. To the contrary, as 

the district court noted, executive pronouncements on the 

forbearance policy suggested exactly the opposite. See Morrison I, 

521 F. Supp. 2d at 255 (GA 155) . 

Moreover, like the limitation on prosecution for non

collection of taxes recognized by the Court of Appeals in Cayuga, 

the forbearance policy was never intended to apply to large-scale 

cigarette bootleggers like Morrison. Jennifer Rink, counsel for 

New York DTF, testified that the forbearance policy was never 

"meant for the Indians to turn around and sell [untaxed cigarettes] 

to others off the reservation. [Forbearance] was simply a respect 
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for sovereignty to allow the product to get to the reservation." 

(T 4472-73). This testimony was consistent with this Court's 

decision in Kaid, which rejected the argument that the forbearance 

policy had "'effectively "de-taxed" sales of cigarettes to non-

Native Americans on reservation land,' thereby negating the element 

of 'contraband' necessary to a conviction for trafficking in 

contraband cigarettes under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2341-42." 241 Fed. Appx. 

at 750. '3 As the Court explained: 

While it appears that New York does not 
enforce its taxes on small quantities of 
cigarettes purchased on reservations for 
personal use by non-native Americans, nothing 
in the record supports the conclusion that the 
state does not demand that taxes be paid when, 
as in this case, massive quantities of 
cigarettes were purchased on reservations by 
non-Native Americans for resale. 

Id. Notably, the New York Court of Appeals in Cayuga quoted this 

language with approval. See 14 N.Y.3d at 652-53; see also New York 

Associate of Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 92 N.Y.2d 204, 214 

(1998) ("[Tlhe repeal [of the regulations promulgated after Milhem 

Atteal does not eliminate the statutory liability for taxes as they 

relate to sales on Indian reservations to nonexempt individuals.") 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted) . 

13 While the summary orders of this Court are not binding 
precedent, see 2d Cir. R. 32.1.1(a), the Court has also made clear 
that "' [dlenying summary orders precedential effect does not mean 
that the court considers itself free to rule differently in similar 
cases.'" United States v. Payne, 591 F.3d46, 58 (2d Cir. 2010) 
(quoting this Court's Order dated June 26, 2007 adopting Local Rule 
32.1) . 
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Finally, there was circumstantial evidence of Morrison's 

own awareness of the illegality of his conduct. 

• Morrison took extraordinary security measures in the 

operation of his business, such as monitoring his 

employees' acti vi ties wi th internal surveillance cameras, 

listening to their telephone calls and directing managers 

to act as spies on fellow employees. (T 7586-88) . 

• The overwhelming maj ori ty of "Big Customers" were 

identified in Peace Pipe's records only by pseudonyms. 

• Only Morrison's most loyal' and trusted employees 

(such as his brother, cousins, and Tony Phillips, who had 

proven his loyalty by participating in the robbery of 

Monique's and the firebombing of Thomasina Mack's car) 

were allowed to deal with the "Big Customers." 

• Morrison also instructed Phillips that cases of 

cigarettes delivered to "Big Customers" were to be 

packaged in black plastic trash bags to conceal them from 

view. (T 1744; GX 74a). 

For all these reasons, the CCTA and § 471 were not 

unconstitutionally vague as applied to Morrison's conduct. 

C. The District Court Erred in Dismissing Count 
Two Based upon this Court's Certification 
of Ouestions in Golden Feather 

After having correctly rejected Morrison's vagueness 

claim five times (in Morrison I, Morrison II, the December 4, 2009 
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written order (GA 218) and two oral decisions from the bench), the 

district court erred in Morrison IV in concluding that § 471 was 

unconstitutionally vague based upon this Court's certification of 

questions to the New York Court of Appeals in Golden Feather, 597 

F.3d at 115. 

Specifically, the court erred in concluding that the 

certification "compels the conclusion that the Circuit perceives 

the applicability of § 471 to on-reservation sales as unsettled and 

ambiguous." Morrison IV, 2010 WL 1539756 at *7 (emphasis added) 

(GA 236). While the Golden Feather Court did recognize that the 

parties had advanced competing interpretations of § 471 and § 471-

e that were both "supported by cogent arguments and prior judicial 

analysis," 597 F.3d at 125, it does not follow that the statutes 

themselves are "ambiguous," let alone that § 471 was so vague that 

its application in this case would violate due process principles. 

Rather, Golden Feather primarily shows a federal court's 

institutional reluctance to rule on an unsettled issue of state 

law, especially when the issue is at the same time pending before 

the state's highest court. See Arizonans for Official English v. 

Arizona, 520 U.S. 43, 77 (1997) (through certification, "a federal 

court may save 'time, energy, and resources and hel[p] build a 

cooperative judicial federalism.''') (quoting Lehman Bros. v. 

Schein, 416 U.S. 386, 391 (1974)). Thus, the certification in 

Golden Feather was based principally upon prudential considerations 
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rather than a definitive determination about the "lack of clarity 

in the statutory scheme." Morrison IV, 2010 WL 1539756 at *8 

(GA 236) . 

Indeed, the Golden Feather Court expressly relied upon 

criteria that are significantly different than those that determine 

whether a statute is unconstitutionally vague. Specifically, as 

noted before, the test for unconstitutional vagueness is whether 

the statute defines "the criminal offense with sufficient 

definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is 

prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and 

discriminatory enforcement." Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. at 357-

58. By contrast, the Golden Feather Court described the principal 

criteria for certifying a state law question as "' (1) the absence 

of authoritative state court decisions; (2) the importance of the 

issue to the state; and (3) the capacity of certification to 

resolve the litigation. '" 597 F.3d at 126 (quoting O'Mara v. Town 

of Wappinger, 485 F.3d 693, 698 (2d Cir. 2007)) .'4 The only one of 

14 It is true that other cases of this Court have said that 
certification of a question of state law is appropriate where the 
statute's "plain language does not answer the question" and "state 
law is not clear." In re Peaslee, 547 F.3d 177, 183 (2d Cir. 2008) 
(quoting City of New York v. Smokes-Spirits.Com, Inc., 541 F.3d 
425, 456 (2d Cir. 2008), and State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. 
Mallela, 372 F.3d 500, 505 (2d Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks 
and alterations omitted) ). However, Golden Feather did not rely on 
those criteria, which are not required for certification in all 
instances. See Tunick v. Safir, 209 F.3d 67, 73 (2d Cir. 2000) 
(opinion of Calabresi, J.) (under Arizonans, 520 U.S. at 43, 
certification may be appropriate "even when the federal courts 
might think that the meaning of a state law is 'plain.'''); see also 
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these criteria that is even arguably relevant to Morrison's 

vagueness challenge is the first, but a statute cannot be 

unconstitutionally vague merely because of the absence of an 

authoritative judicial decision construing it. Indeed, as noted 

before, even conflicting judicial opinions as to the meaning of a 

statute are insufficient to establish vagueness. See Rybicki, 354 

F.3d at 143; Jackson, .968 F.2d at 163. 

Likewise, describing the defendants' construction of the 

New York Tax Law in Golden Feather as "cogent" does not imply that 

the law was unconstitutionally vague. A finding of 

unconstitutional vagueness requires a more compelling showing than 

cogency of differing interpretations. Moreover, part of the force 

of the defendants' argument in Golden Feather derived from 

circumstances that were inapplicable to Morrison. First, the 

Golden Feather defendants relied upon "the use of § 471-e to 

address the need for a special taxing mechanism for reservation 

vendors, and the Day Wholesale Court's determination that § 471-e 

is no longer 'in effect,' thus leaving no applicable mechanism 

where one is required." 597 F.3d at 125. However, because the 

2005 amendment to § 471-e and the subsequent failure to promulgate 

McGrath v. Tovs "R" Us, Inc., 356 F.3d 246, 250 (2d Cir. 2004) 
(noting that "one circumstance" where certification is 
appropriate is where the '" statute's plain language does not 
indicate the answer' to the question pending before the court") 
(quoting Riordan v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 977 F.2d 47, 51 
(2d Cir. 1992)). 
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regulations occurred after the charged conduct in this case, those 

developments do not support Morrison's claim. Second, as the New 

York Court of Appeals subsequently recognized in Cayuga, the 

plausible limiting interpretation of Native American cigarette 

sellers' obligation to collect sales tax pertained only to on-

reservation retail sales to consumers. There was no plausible 

argument that large-scale bootleggers like Morrison were immune 

from collecting tax. 

Finally, this Court should reject the proposition 

implicitly adopted by the district court that the certification of 

a question to a state court, by itself, can have a precedential 

effect on the construction of a state statute. Indeed, one 

essential purpose of the certification procedure is to avoid having 

a federal court create a precedent concerning a question of state 

law before the state's highest court has had an opportunity to 

address the issue. See, ~, Arizonans, 520 U.S. at 78 ("[T[he 

federal tribunal risks friction-generating error when it endeavors 

to construe a novel state Act not yet reviewed by the State's 

highest court."); Israel v. Chabra, 537 F.3d 86,101 (2d Cir. 2008) 

(certifying question "out of respect for the autonomous development 

of state law and the recognition that our addressing this question 

would make any precedent that of a federal court rather than the 

State of New York"). That purpose would be disserved if the mere 

fact that a federal court certified a question concerning the 
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interpretation of state statute provided precedential support for 

the argument that the state statute was unconstitutionally vague. 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 61    09/17/2010    108283    314



55 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the district court's order of 

April 16, 2010 should be reversed, the jury's verdict reinstated, 

and the case remanded for sentencing. 

Dated: Brooklyn, New York 
September 17, 2010 

DAVID C. JAMES, 
JAMES M. MISKIEWICZ, 
JOHN J. DURHAM, 
DIANE LEONARDO BECKMANN, 

By: 

Assistant United States Attorneys, 
(Of Counsel). 

Respectfully submitted, 

LORETTA E. LYNCH, 
United States Attorney, 
Eastern District of New York. 

lsi 
James M. Miskiewicz 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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USED IN COMMISSION OF FELONY 
(4ss) 

18:894(a) (2) and 3551 et seq. 
COLLECTION OF CREDIT BY 
EXTORTION 
(5ss) 

18:894(a) (2),2 and 3551 et seq. 
COLLECTION OF CREDIT BY 
EXTORTION 
(6ss) 

18:844(h)(l), 2 and 3551 et seq. 
EXPLOSIVES USED IN COMMISSION OF 
FELONY 
(7ss) 

18:922(g) (1), 924(a) (2) and 3551 et seq. 
UNLAWFUL TRANSPORT OF 
FIREARMS, ETC.; 18:924(d) Forfeiture 
Allegation 
(9ss) 

18:1958 and 3551 et seq. RACKETEERlNG
MURDER 
(lOss) 

18:1958,2 and 3551 et seq. 
RACKETEERlNG - MURDER 
(11ss) 

Highest Offense Level (Terminated) 

Felony 

Complaints 

None 

In rerested Party 

Mauro Pennisi, Inc. 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Dismissed by the Court 

Disposition 

represented by James Simermeyer 
Law Offices of James F Simermeyer, P.C. 
148 Madison Avenue 
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Interested Party 

Suffolk County Police Department 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

In teres ted Party 

Shawn Morrisou 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

16th Floor 
New York, NY 10016 
212-691-7070 
Fax: 212-691-7097 
Email: james@simermeyer.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Chris P. Termini 
Office of the Suffolk County Attorney 
H. Lee Dennison Building 
P.O. Box 6100 
100 Veterans Memorial Highway 
Hauppauge, NY 11788-0099 
631-853-8312 
Fax: 631-853-5833 
Email: chris.termini@suffolkcountyny.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Sanford Talkiu 
Talkin, Muccigrosso & Roberts LLP 
40 Exchange Place 
18th Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
212-482-0007 
Fax: 212-482-1303 
Email: samt@talkinlaw.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
Talkin, Muccigrosso & Roberts, L.L.P. 
40 Exchange Place 
18th Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
212-482-0007 
Fax: 212-482-1303 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 
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Interested Party 

Suffolk County Police Department 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

In teres ted Party 

Shawn Morrisou 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

16th Floor 
New York, NY 10016 
212-691-7070 
Fax: 212-691-7097 
Email: james@simermeyer.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Chris P. Termini 
Office of the Suffolk County Attorney 
H. Lee Dennison Building 
P.O. Box 6100 
100 Veterans Memorial Highway 
Hauppauge, NY 11788-0099 
631-853-8312 
Fax: 631-853-5833 
Email: chris.termini@suffolkcountyny.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Sanford Talkiu 
Talkin, Muccigrosso & Roberts LLP 
40 Exchange Place 
18th Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
212-482-0007 
Fax: 212-482-1303 
Email: samt@talkinlaw.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
Talkin, Muccigrosso & Roberts, L.L.P. 
40 Exchange Place 
18th Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
212-482-0007 
Fax: 212-482-1303 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 
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Kiana Morrison 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

Golden Feather, Inc. 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

Golden Feather Cigarette Express 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

Charolette Morrison 
TERMINATED: 05112/2010 

represented by Sanford Talkin 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
(See above for address) 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Sanford Talkin 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
(See above for address) 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Sanford Talkin 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
(See above for address) 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Gerald B. Lefcourt 
148 East 78th Street 
New York, NY 10075 
212-737-0400 
Fax: 212-988-6192 
Email: lefcourt@lefcourtlaw.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Faith A. Friedman 
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Kiana Morrison 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

Golden Feather, Inc. 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

Golden Feather Cigarette Express 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

Charolette Morrison 
TERMINATED: 05112/2010 

represented by Sanford Talkin 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
(See above for address) 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Sanford Talkin 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
(See above for address) 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Sanford Talkin 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Zoe Jayde Dolan 
(See above for address) 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Gerald B. Lefcourt 
148 East 78th Street 
New York, NY 10075 
212-737-0400 
Fax: 212-988-6192 
Email: lefcourt@lefcourtlaw.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

Faith A. Friedman 
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Interested Party 

New York State Department Of Taxation 
& Finance 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

City Of New York 
TERMINATED: 05112/2010 

Plaintiff 

Gerald B. Lefcourt, P.C. 
148 East 78th Street 
New York, NY 10075 
212-737-0400 x327 
Fax: 212-988-6192 
Email: ffriedman@lefcourtlaw.com 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by David L; Paldy 
State of New York Department of Taxation & 
Finance 
Investigations And Criminal Enforcement 
Division 
1740 Broadway - Room 1707 
New York, NY 10019 
212-459-7876 
Fax: 212-459-7950 
Email: david---.paldy@tax.state.ny.us 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Eric Proshansky 
Corporation Counsel of the City of NY 
100 Church Street 
Room 20-99 
New York, NY 10007 
(212) 788-1324 
Email: eproshan@law.nyc.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

William H. Miller, III 
New York City Law Department 
100 Church Street 
Rm 20-102 
New York, NY 10007 
212-788-1006 
Fax: 212-788-1633 
Email: wmiller@law.nyc.gov 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 
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Interested Party 

New York State Department Of Taxation 
& Finance 
TERMINATED: 0511212010 

Interested Party 

City Of New York 
TERMINATED: 05112/2010 

Plaintiff 

Gerald B. Lefcourt, P.C. 
148 East 78th Street 
New York, NY 10075 
212-737-0400 x327 
Fax: 212-988-6192 
Email: ffriedman@lefcourtlaw.com 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by David L; Paldy 
State of New York Department of Taxation & 
Finance 
Investigations And Criminal Enforcement 
Division 
1740 Broadway - Room 1707 
New York, NY 10019 
212-459-7876 
Fax: 212-459-7950 
Email: david---.paldy@tax.state.ny.us 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

represented by Eric Proshansky 
Corporation Counsel of the City of NY 
100 Church Street 
Room 20-99 
New York, NY 10007 
(212) 788-1324 
Email: eproshan@law.nyc.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

William H. Miller, III 
New York City Law Department 
100 Church Street 
Rm 20-102 
New York, NY 10007 
212-788-1006 
Fax: 212-788-1633 
Email: wmiller@law.nyc.gov 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 
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USA represented by Bonnie S. Klapper 
United States Attorneys Office 
271 Cadman Plaza East 
Brooklyn, NY 11201 
(718) 254-6426 
Email: bonnie.klapper@usdoj.gov 
TERMINATED: 1011112005 
LEAD ATTORNEY 

James M. Miskiewicz 
United States Attorneys Office 
Eastern District of New York 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7841 
Fax: 631-715-7920 
Email: james.miskiewicz@usdoj.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

John Joseph Durham 
United States Attorneys Office 
Long Island Courthouse 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7851 
Fax: 631-715-7922 
Email: john.durham2@usdoj.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

Richard Thomas Lunger, Jr. 
United States Attorneys Office 
Eastern District of New York 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7867 
Email: Richard.Lunger@usdoj.gov 
TERMINATED: 1010912007 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

Diane C. Leonardo-Beckmann 
United States Attorneys Office, EDNY 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7854 
Fax: 631-715-7920 
Email: diane.beckmann@usdoj.gov 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

Wayne L. Baker 
United States Attorneys Office 
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USA represented by Bonnie S. Klapper 
United States Attorneys Office 
271 Cadman Plaza East 
Brooklyn, NY 11201 
(718) 254-6426 
Email: bonnie.klapper@usdoj.gov 
TERMINATED: 1011112005 
LEAD ATTORNEY 

James M. Miskiewicz 
United States Attorneys Office 
Eastern District of New York 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7841 
Fax: 631-715-7920 
Email: james.miskiewicz@usdoj.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Retained 

John Joseph Durham 
United States Attorneys Office 
Long Island Courthouse 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7851 
Fax: 631-715-7922 
Email: john.durham2@usdoj.gov 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

Richard Thomas Lunger, Jr. 
United States Attorneys Office 
Eastern District of New York 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7867 
Email: Richard.Lunger@usdoj.gov 
TERMINATED: 1010912007 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

Diane C. Leonardo-Beckmann 
United States Attorneys Office, EDNY 
610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 
631-715-7854 
Fax: 631-715-7920 
Email: diane.beckmann@usdoj.gov 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

Wayne L. Baker 
United States Attorneys Office 
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Date Filed # 

08/03/2004 1 

08/0312004 2 

08/04/2004 .3. 

08/0412004 d 

08/0412004 5. 

08/06/2004 fi 

08/06/2004 11 

08/06/2004 12 

08/06/2004 1.3. 

08/23/2004 1 

08/23/2004 

08/3112004 .2 

09/0112004 £ 

Docket Text 

Criminal Division 
Eastern District of New York 
271 Cadman Plaza East 
Brooklyn, NY 11201-1820 
(718) 254-6290 
TERMINATED: 0412112006 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

SEALED INDICTMENT as to Rodney Morrison (1) count(s) 1,2,3. (Attachments: # 1 
Information Sheet) (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 08/04/2004) 

Arrest Warrant Issued by William D. Wall as to Rodney Morrison. (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 
08/04/2004) 

Order to Unseal Indictment as to Rodney Morrison. Signed by Judge James Orenstein on 
814/04. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/06/2004) 

Minute Entry for proceedings held before James Orenstein: Deft present in custody with pda 
counsel, Randi Chavis. Govt: Bonnie KlapperlWayne BakerArraignment as to Rodney 
Morrison (I) Count 1,2,3 held on 8/4/2004. Initial Appearance as to Rodney Morrison held on 
8/4/2004. Plea entered by Rodney Morrison (I), Not Guilty on counts Counts 1-3. Temporary 
Order of Detention entered for deft. Detention Hearing set for 8/6/2004 at 11 :30 AM before 
Mag. Judge James Orenstein. Status Conference set for 8/20/2004 at 11 :30 AM before Judge 
Denis R. Hurley. (Tape #04-08 (2458-3137).) (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/06/2004) 

ORDER OF TEMPORARY DETENTION PENDING HEARING as to Rodney Morrison. 
Detention Hearing set for 816/2004 at 11 :30 AM before Magistrate-Judge James Orenstein. 
Signed by Judge James Orenstein on 8/4/04. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/06/2004) 

Calendar Entry for proceedings held before James Orenstein on 816104 at 12:00 p.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Detention Hearing; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, present, in 
custody, with Retained Counsel: Henry E. Mazurek and Robert Y. AJchiler; For Govt.: 
Bonnie Klapper and Wayne Baker; ESR (Tape/CD): 04-10 (0-409); Courtroom Deputy: 
Michele Desaro. Permanent Order of Detention entered for deft Rodney Morrison without 
prejudice. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/0912004) 

ORDER OF DETENTION Pending Trial as to Rodney Morrison. ( Signed by Judge James 
Orenstein on 816104.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09102/2004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Henry E. Mazurek appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/0212004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Robert Y. Altchiler appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/02/2004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Steven M. Cohen appearing for Rodney 
Morrison (Cohen, Steven) (Entered: 0812312004) 

Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Steven M. Cohen for Rodney 
Morrison added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0812412004) 

INDICTMENT as to Rodney Morrison (1) count(s) Is, 2s, 3s, 4s-5s. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 09/0112004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Alan Levine appearing for Rodney Morrison 
(Levine, Alan) (Entered: 09/0112004) 
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Date Filed # 

08/03/2004 1 

08/0312004 2 

08/04/2004 .3. 

08/0412004 d 

08/0412004 5. 

08/06/2004 fi 

08/06/2004 11 

08/06/2004 12 

08/06/2004 1.3. 

08/23/2004 1 

08/23/2004 

08/3112004 .2 

09/0112004 £ 

Docket Text 

Criminal Division 
Eastern District of New York 
271 Cadman Plaza East 
Brooklyn, NY 11201-1820 
(718) 254-6290 
TERMINATED: 0412112006 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

SEALED INDICTMENT as to Rodney Morrison (1) count(s) 1,2,3. (Attachments: # 1 
Information Sheet) (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 08/04/2004) 

Arrest Warrant Issued by William D. Wall as to Rodney Morrison. (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 
08/04/2004) 

Order to Unseal Indictment as to Rodney Morrison. Signed by Judge James Orenstein on 
814/04. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/06/2004) 

Minute Entry for proceedings held before James Orenstein: Deft present in custody with pda 
counsel, Randi Chavis. Govt: Bonnie KlapperlWayne BakerArraignment as to Rodney 
Morrison (I) Count 1,2,3 held on 8/4/2004. Initial Appearance as to Rodney Morrison held on 
8/4/2004. Plea entered by Rodney Morrison (I), Not Guilty on counts Counts 1-3. Temporary 
Order of Detention entered for deft. Detention Hearing set for 8/6/2004 at 11 :30 AM before 
Mag. Judge James Orenstein. Status Conference set for 8/20/2004 at 11 :30 AM before Judge 
Denis R. Hurley. (Tape #04-08 (2458-3137).) (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/06/2004) 

ORDER OF TEMPORARY DETENTION PENDING HEARING as to Rodney Morrison. 
Detention Hearing set for 816/2004 at 11 :30 AM before Magistrate-Judge James Orenstein. 
Signed by Judge James Orenstein on 8/4/04. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/06/2004) 

Calendar Entry for proceedings held before James Orenstein on 816104 at 12:00 p.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Detention Hearing; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, present, in 
custody, with Retained Counsel: Henry E. Mazurek and Robert Y. AJchiler; For Govt.: 
Bonnie Klapper and Wayne Baker; ESR (Tape/CD): 04-10 (0-409); Courtroom Deputy: 
Michele Desaro. Permanent Order of Detention entered for deft Rodney Morrison without 
prejudice. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/0912004) 

ORDER OF DETENTION Pending Trial as to Rodney Morrison. ( Signed by Judge James 
Orenstein on 816104.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09102/2004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Henry E. Mazurek appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/0212004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Robert Y. Altchiler appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/02/2004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Steven M. Cohen appearing for Rodney 
Morrison (Cohen, Steven) (Entered: 0812312004) 

Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Steven M. Cohen for Rodney 
Morrison added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0812412004) 

INDICTMENT as to Rodney Morrison (1) count(s) Is, 2s, 3s, 4s-5s. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 09/0112004) 

NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Alan Levine appearing for Rodney Morrison 
(Levine, Alan) (Entered: 09/0112004) 
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09/0112004 ll.l Letter from Alan Levine to Judge Hurley Regarding Support of Motion for Order Granting 
Bail Pending Trial (Levine, Alan) (Entered: 09/0112004) . 

09/0112004 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Alan Levine for Rodney Morrison 
added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/02/2004) 

09/02/2004 lA PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM in opposition to bail motion (Note - Exhibits will be provided 
by hand delivery) by Rodney Morrison (Klapper, Bonnie) (Entered: 09/02/2004) 

09/02/2004 1fi Calendar Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley on 912/04 at II :30 a.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Arraignment (s-I) Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:1, 
present in custody, with Retained Counsel: Alan Levine; For Govt.: AU.S.A.: Bonnie 
Klapper, Wayne Baker; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best; Court Reporter: Perry Auerbach. Case 
called. KCE. Deft sworn, advised of rights and is arraigned. Superseding Indictment filed. 
Deft enters plea of NOT GUILTY to all charges. Bail applicaiton made by defense counsel. 
Hearing scheduled for I :30 p.m. on 9/3/04. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0912112004) 

09/03/2004 l5. PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM in opposition to bail motion 2 by Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit)(Klapper, Bonnie) (Entered: 09/03/2004) 

09/03/2004 11 Calendar Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley on 913/04 at I :30 p.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Bail Hearing; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in 
custody, with Retained Counsel: Alan Levine, present, Henry Mazurek, present; For govt.: 
A.U.S.A.'s: Wayne Baker, present, Bonnie Klapper, present; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best; Court 
Reporter: Perry Auerbach. Case called. KCE. Status conference set for 9/24/04 at II :00 a.m. 
Deft remains in custody. Bail continued from 9/2104. Argument heard regarding foreign 
accounts and family ties. The court enters its decision on the record. The Court finds the 
goernment has not met its burden by clear & convincing evidence that deft is a danger to the 
Community. The court finds the government has met its burden by a preponderance of the 
evidence that deft is a risk of flight and that no conbination of cinditions can be met to 
sercure his appearance. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 7/25/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
09/27/2004) 

09/03/2004 SetlReset DeadlineslHearings as to Rodney Morrison: Status Conference set for 9/24/2004 
II :00 AM before Judge Denis R. Hurley. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/27/2004) 

09/03/2004 .l.2. ORDER OF DETENTION PENDING TRIAL as to Rodney Morrison. (Signed by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 913/04) (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 09/28/2004) 

09/22/2004 2J2 WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 9/22104 until 10/29/04. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
9/22/04.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10106/2004) 

09/22/2004 Zl Calendar Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley on 9122104 at 10:15 a.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Status Conference; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:1, 
present, in custody, with Retained Counsel: Henry Mazurek, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A: 
BOimie Klapper; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best; Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. Case is deemed 
to be a complex case. Speedy Trial Information: Code Type: X-T; Start date: 9/22/04; Stop 
date: 10/29/04. Status conference set for 10/29/04 at I :30 p.m. Deft Morrison remains in 
custody. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10107/2004) 

09/23/2004 18. ORDER OF DETENTION Pending Trial as to Rodney Morrison ( Signed by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 913/04.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09127/2004) 

10104/2004 24 TRANSCRIPT of Bail Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/4/04 before The Honorable 
James Orenstein, United States Magistrate Judge. Court Reporter: Writer's Cramp, Inc. 6 
Norton Rd. Monmouth Jet., NJ 08852, (732)-329-0191. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/15/2004) 
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09/0112004 ll.l Letter from Alan Levine to Judge Hurley Regarding Support of Motion for Order Granting 
Bail Pending Trial (Levine, Alan) (Entered: 09/0112004) . 

09/0112004 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Alan Levine for Rodney Morrison 
added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/02/2004) 

09/02/2004 lA PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM in opposition to bail motion (Note - Exhibits will be provided 
by hand delivery) by Rodney Morrison (Klapper, Bonnie) (Entered: 09/02/2004) 

09/02/2004 1fi Calendar Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley on 912/04 at II :30 a.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Arraignment (s-I) Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:1, 
present in custody, with Retained Counsel: Alan Levine; For Govt.: AU.S.A.: Bonnie 
Klapper, Wayne Baker; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best; Court Reporter: Perry Auerbach. Case 
called. KCE. Deft sworn, advised of rights and is arraigned. Superseding Indictment filed. 
Deft enters plea of NOT GUILTY to all charges. Bail applicaiton made by defense counsel. 
Hearing scheduled for I :30 p.m. on 9/3/04. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0912112004) 

09/03/2004 l5. PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM in opposition to bail motion 2 by Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit)(Klapper, Bonnie) (Entered: 09/03/2004) 

09/03/2004 11 Calendar Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley on 913/04 at I :30 p.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Bail Hearing; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in 
custody, with Retained Counsel: Alan Levine, present, Henry Mazurek, present; For govt.: 
A.U.S.A.'s: Wayne Baker, present, Bonnie Klapper, present; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best; Court 
Reporter: Perry Auerbach. Case called. KCE. Status conference set for 9/24/04 at II :00 a.m. 
Deft remains in custody. Bail continued from 9/2104. Argument heard regarding foreign 
accounts and family ties. The court enters its decision on the record. The Court finds the 
goernment has not met its burden by clear & convincing evidence that deft is a danger to the 
Community. The court finds the government has met its burden by a preponderance of the 
evidence that deft is a risk of flight and that no conbination of cinditions can be met to 
sercure his appearance. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 7/25/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
09/27/2004) 

09/03/2004 SetlReset DeadlineslHearings as to Rodney Morrison: Status Conference set for 9/24/2004 
II :00 AM before Judge Denis R. Hurley. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/27/2004) 

09/03/2004 .l.2. ORDER OF DETENTION PENDING TRIAL as to Rodney Morrison. (Signed by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 913/04) (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 09/28/2004) 

09/22/2004 2J2 WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 9/22104 until 10/29/04. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
9/22/04.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10106/2004) 

09/22/2004 Zl Calendar Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley on 9122104 at 10:15 a.m. for 
Criminal Cause for Status Conference; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:1, 
present, in custody, with Retained Counsel: Henry Mazurek, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A: 
BOimie Klapper; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best; Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. Case is deemed 
to be a complex case. Speedy Trial Information: Code Type: X-T; Start date: 9/22/04; Stop 
date: 10/29/04. Status conference set for 10/29/04 at I :30 p.m. Deft Morrison remains in 
custody. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10107/2004) 

09/23/2004 18. ORDER OF DETENTION Pending Trial as to Rodney Morrison ( Signed by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 913/04.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09127/2004) 

10104/2004 24 TRANSCRIPT of Bail Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/4/04 before The Honorable 
James Orenstein, United States Magistrate Judge. Court Reporter: Writer's Cramp, Inc. 6 
Norton Rd. Monmouth Jet., NJ 08852, (732)-329-0191. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/15/2004) 
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10112/2004 22 TRANSCRlPT of Detention Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 8/6/04 before The 
Honorable J. Orenstein, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Rochelle Grant, Typing 
At Your Doorstep (516) 643-3483, Email: TAYDS@optonline.net. (Fagan, Linda) Modified 
on 10114/2004 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10/14/2004) 

1011212004 23 TRANSCRIPT of An Arraignment Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 8/4104 before The 
Honorable J. Orenstein, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Rochelle Grant, Typing 
At our Doorstep 51 Sterling Place Amityville, New York 11701-2923, (516) 643-3483. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10115/2004) 

1011312004 22 Letter from Bonnie S. Klapper to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 10112/04 re: To 
request the Court's permission to delay the productio to deft Rodney Morrison of certain 
recorded statements that are discoverable under Rule 16 of the F.R.Crim.Proc. (Fagan, Linda) 
Additional attachment(s) added on 10118/2004 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10118/2004) 

10113/2004 Sealed document placed in vault. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/1812004) 

10116/2004 Endorsed ORDER as to Rodney Morrison on 22 Letter. Application granted. ( Signed by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10116/04.) eod #25 (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10118/2004) 

10/25/2004 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Alan Levine; Robert Y. Altchiler 
and Steven M. Cohen terminated. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 10/25/2004) 

10/25/2004 2.fi NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE Wayne L. Baker appearing for USA. (Baker, 
Wayne) (Entered: 10/2512004) 

IlIio/2004 21 Letter from U.S. Attorney's Office to Henry Mazurek Regarding citizenship of Rodney 
Morrison (Klapper, Bonnie) (Entered: IlIl 0/2004) 

11112/2004 2Jl Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1111212004 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
11112/2004) 

11112/2004 22- WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRlAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 11112/04 until 1107/05. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
11/12/04). (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11/15/2004) 

11117/2004 3..Q Letter from Bonnie S. Klapper to Henry E. Mazurek, Esq., dated I III 8/04 re: To advise 
counsel that as per his request regarding Morrison's citizenship, Rodney Morrison's recent 
travel outside the United States, enclosed is a chart that the Govt. has prepared based on 

. information available to them. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/0112004) 

12/07/2004 11 SEALED MOTION - Requesting that teh Court order the Warden to release the dft into the 
custody of agents of the FBI and Detectives of Suffolk County Police Department. Filed by 
USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Lopez, Adriana) Modified on 12/2712004 (Lopez, Adriana). 
Additional attachment(s) added on 12127/2004 (Lopez, Adriana). (Entered: 12/27/2004) 

12/07/2004 .12. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison - Motion Granted. Signed by Magistrate Judge Arlene R . 
Lindsay on 1217104. (Lopez, Adriana) (Entered: 12/27/2004) 

12/07/2004 SEALED DOCUMENT PLACED IN V AUL T. (Lopez, Adriana) (Entered: 12/27/2004) 

01/04/2005 31 MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an order that the Warden of the Metropolitan 
Detention Center release Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of Prison # 68858-053, into the 
custody of agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigations and/or the Detectives of the Suffolk 
County Police Department, on Friday, 117105,for the purpose of transporting him to the 
United States Federal Courthouse, Central Islip, New York, for a scheduled court 
appearance, by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 111112005 (Fagan, 
Linda). Additional attachment(s) added on 111112005 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0111112005) 
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10112/2004 22 TRANSCRlPT of Detention Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 8/6/04 before The 
Honorable J. Orenstein, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Rochelle Grant, Typing 
At Your Doorstep (516) 643-3483, Email: TAYDS@optonline.net. (Fagan, Linda) Modified 
on 10114/2004 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10/14/2004) 

1011212004 23 TRANSCRIPT of An Arraignment Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 8/4104 before The 
Honorable J. Orenstein, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Rochelle Grant, Typing 
At our Doorstep 51 Sterling Place Amityville, New York 11701-2923, (516) 643-3483. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10115/2004) 

1011312004 22 Letter from Bonnie S. Klapper to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 10112/04 re: To 
request the Court's permission to delay the productio to deft Rodney Morrison of certain 
recorded statements that are discoverable under Rule 16 of the F.R.Crim.Proc. (Fagan, Linda) 
Additional attachment(s) added on 10118/2004 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10118/2004) 

10113/2004 Sealed document placed in vault. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/1812004) 

10116/2004 Endorsed ORDER as to Rodney Morrison on 22 Letter. Application granted. ( Signed by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10116/04.) eod #25 (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10118/2004) 

10/25/2004 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Alan Levine; Robert Y. Altchiler 
and Steven M. Cohen terminated. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 10/25/2004) 

10/25/2004 2.fi NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE Wayne L. Baker appearing for USA. (Baker, 
Wayne) (Entered: 10/2512004) 

IlIio/2004 21 Letter from U.S. Attorney's Office to Henry Mazurek Regarding citizenship of Rodney 
Morrison (Klapper, Bonnie) (Entered: IlIl 0/2004) 

11112/2004 2Jl Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1111212004 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
11112/2004) 

11112/2004 22- WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRlAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 11112/04 until 1107/05. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
11/12/04). (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11/15/2004) 

11117/2004 3..Q Letter from Bonnie S. Klapper to Henry E. Mazurek, Esq., dated I III 8/04 re: To advise 
counsel that as per his request regarding Morrison's citizenship, Rodney Morrison's recent 
travel outside the United States, enclosed is a chart that the Govt. has prepared based on 

. information available to them. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/0112004) 

12/07/2004 11 SEALED MOTION - Requesting that teh Court order the Warden to release the dft into the 
custody of agents of the FBI and Detectives of Suffolk County Police Department. Filed by 
USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Lopez, Adriana) Modified on 12/2712004 (Lopez, Adriana). 
Additional attachment(s) added on 12127/2004 (Lopez, Adriana). (Entered: 12/27/2004) 

12/07/2004 .12. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison - Motion Granted. Signed by Magistrate Judge Arlene R . 
Lindsay on 1217104. (Lopez, Adriana) (Entered: 12/27/2004) 

12/07/2004 SEALED DOCUMENT PLACED IN V AUL T. (Lopez, Adriana) (Entered: 12/27/2004) 

01/04/2005 31 MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an order that the Warden of the Metropolitan 
Detention Center release Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of Prison # 68858-053, into the 
custody of agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigations and/or the Detectives of the Suffolk 
County Police Department, on Friday, 117105,for the purpose of transporting him to the 
United States Federal Courthouse, Central Islip, New York, for a scheduled court 
appearance, by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 111112005 (Fagan, 
Linda). Additional attachment(s) added on 111112005 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0111112005) 
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01104/2005 .l5. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; granting .14 Motion to compel; That Special Agents of the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation and/or Detectives of the New York City Police Department 
and/or Detectives of the Suffolk County Police Department be allowed to take custody of 
Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of Prisons #68858 from the Warden of the Metropolitan 
Detention Center on Friday, 1/7/05, and to transport Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of 
Prisons #68858-053 to the United States Courthouse, Central Islip, New York and return him 
to the Metropolitan Detention Center that same day by 8:00 p.m.( Signed by Judge James 
Orenstein on 114/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0111112005) 

01107/2005 3..3. Letter MOTION for Discovery by Rodney Morrison. (Shargel, Gerald) (Entered: 01107/2005) 

01120/2005 3J.. Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued as to Rodney Morrison for 2/4/05 in case as 
to Rodney Morrison (Talbott, Thomas) (Entered: 02/0112005) 

01128/2005 .3..Q Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1128/2005. Next conference set for April 8,2005 at 1 :30 pm (Court 
Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01128/2005) 

01128/2005 18. WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 1128/05 until 4/8/05. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
1128/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/02/2005) 

04/08/2005 12. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 4/8/2005 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/08/2005) 

04/08/2005 An WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 4/8/05 until 5/6/05. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
4/8/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0411112005) 

0511112005 11 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Ephraim Savitt appearing for Rodney Morrison. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0511112005) 

0511112005 42 MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an order permitting the aforementioned law 
enforcement personnel to take custody of Rodney Morrison, Us. Bureau of Prisons # 68858-
053, from the custody of the Warden of the Metropolitan Dentention Center on Thursday, 
5/J9/05,jor the purpose of transporting him to the United States Federal Courthouse, Central 
Islip, New York, for a scheduled court appearance, by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05116/2005) 

05113/2005 4.3. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Special Agents of the Federal Bureau ofInvestigation 
and/or Detectives of the Suffolk County Police Department be allowed to take custody of 
Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of Prisons # 68858-053 from the Warden of the Metropolitan 
Detention Center on Thursday, 5119/05, and to transport Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of 
Prisons #68858-053 to the United States Courthouse, Central Islip, New York and return him 
to the Metropolitan Detention Center by 8:00 p.m. that same day.( Signed by: James 
Orenstein, U.S.M.J., on 5/13/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05116/2005) 

05119/2005 44 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 5119/2005 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
05119/2005) 

05119/2005 4.5. WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 5/19/05 until 7/8/05. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5119/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: OS/23/2005) 

07/08/2005 4ll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 7/8/2005 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
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01104/2005 .l5. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; granting .14 Motion to compel; That Special Agents of the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation and/or Detectives of the New York City Police Department 
and/or Detectives of the Suffolk County Police Department be allowed to take custody of 
Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of Prisons #68858 from the Warden of the Metropolitan 
Detention Center on Friday, 1/7/05, and to transport Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of 
Prisons #68858-053 to the United States Courthouse, Central Islip, New York and return him 
to the Metropolitan Detention Center that same day by 8:00 p.m.( Signed by Judge James 
Orenstein on 114/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0111112005) 

01107/2005 3..3. Letter MOTION for Discovery by Rodney Morrison. (Shargel, Gerald) (Entered: 01107/2005) 

01120/2005 3J.. Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued as to Rodney Morrison for 2/4/05 in case as 
to Rodney Morrison (Talbott, Thomas) (Entered: 02/0112005) 

01128/2005 .3..Q Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1128/2005. Next conference set for April 8,2005 at 1 :30 pm (Court 
Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01128/2005) 

01128/2005 18. WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 1128/05 until 4/8/05. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
1128/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/02/2005) 

04/08/2005 12. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 4/8/2005 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/08/2005) 

04/08/2005 An WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 4/8/05 until 5/6/05. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
4/8/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0411112005) 

0511112005 11 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Ephraim Savitt appearing for Rodney Morrison. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0511112005) 

0511112005 42 MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an order permitting the aforementioned law 
enforcement personnel to take custody of Rodney Morrison, Us. Bureau of Prisons # 68858-
053, from the custody of the Warden of the Metropolitan Dentention Center on Thursday, 
5/J9/05,jor the purpose of transporting him to the United States Federal Courthouse, Central 
Islip, New York, for a scheduled court appearance, by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05116/2005) 

05113/2005 4.3. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Special Agents of the Federal Bureau ofInvestigation 
and/or Detectives of the Suffolk County Police Department be allowed to take custody of 
Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of Prisons # 68858-053 from the Warden of the Metropolitan 
Detention Center on Thursday, 5119/05, and to transport Rodney Morrison, U.S. Bureau of 
Prisons #68858-053 to the United States Courthouse, Central Islip, New York and return him 
to the Metropolitan Detention Center by 8:00 p.m. that same day.( Signed by: James 
Orenstein, U.S.M.J., on 5/13/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05116/2005) 

05119/2005 44 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 5119/2005 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
05119/2005) 

05119/2005 4.5. WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 5/19/05 until 7/8/05. ( Signed by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5119/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: OS/23/2005) 

07/08/2005 4ll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 7/8/2005 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
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07/08/2005) 

07/08/2005 11 WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 7/8/05 until 1017/95. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
7/8/95.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered:07!l2/2005) 

10107/2005 4..8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1017/2005. Next conferece set for November 18, 2005 at I :30 pm. (Court 
Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10107/2005) 

10107/2005 4.2 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony John Colleluori appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/11/2005) 

10107/2005 2ll WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 1017105 until I III 8/05. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 1017105.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: lOll 112005) . 

I Oil 7/2005 Email Notification Test - DO NOT REPLY (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 101l7/2005) 

11118/2005 52 WAIVER OF SPEEDTY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 11118/05 until 1120106. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on I III 8/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1l!2112005) 

11118/2005 .5.1 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Raymond L. Colon appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1112112005) 

1112112005 .il Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1112112005. Next status conference set for January 20, 2006 at 12:00. 
Raymond Colon enters appearance as co-counsel for defendant. (Court Reporter harry 
Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 1112112005) 

01118/2006 5.4 Letter Advising Court of Defendant'S Intention to Renew Bail Package as to Rodney Morrison 
(Colon, Raymond) (Entered: 01118/2006) 

01120/2006 5..5. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1120/2006. next status confernce set for March 17, 2006 at II :00 am (Court 
Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01120/2006) 

01120/2006 Motions terminated as to Rodney Morrison: 3.1 Letter MOTION for Discovery filed by 
Rodney Morrison. (Motion decided, as per chambers).( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
1120106.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01123/2006) 

01120/2006 .i6. WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 1120106 until 31l7/06. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
1120106.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01123/2006) 

02/07/2006 s:L Letter requesting adjournment as to bail hearing as to Rodney Morrison (Colon, Raymond) 
(Entered: 02/07/2006) 

02115/2006 .5..8. Second MOTION for Bond (Proposed Bail Package and Memorandum of Law in Support of 
Rodney Morrison's Renewed Application for Bond Pending Trial) by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Exhibit I-Transcript of 09.03.2004 Proceedings# 2. Exhibit Exhibit 
2-Appraisals of Sureties# 3. Exhibit Exhibit 3-Rigoberto Morrison's School and Medical 
Records)(Colon, Raymond) (Entered: 021l5/2006) 

02117/2006 .22 Calendar Entry for proceedings held before James Orenstein, United States Magistrate Judge, 
for Criminal Cause for Bail Hearing; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, present, in 
custody, with Retained Counsel: Raymond Colon, present, and Retained Counsel: Anthony 
John Colleluori, present; For Govt.: Wayne Baker; Court Reporter: Owen Wicker; Courtroom 
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07/08/2005) 

07/08/2005 11 WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 7/8/05 until 1017/95. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
7/8/95.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered:07!l2/2005) 

10107/2005 4..8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1017/2005. Next conferece set for November 18, 2005 at I :30 pm. (Court 
Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10107/2005) 

10107/2005 4.2 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony John Colleluori appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/11/2005) 

10107/2005 2ll WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 1017105 until I III 8/05. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 1017105.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: lOll 112005) . 

I Oil 7/2005 Email Notification Test - DO NOT REPLY (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 101l7/2005) 

11118/2005 52 WAIVER OF SPEEDTY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 11118/05 until 1120106. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on I III 8/05.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1l!2112005) 

11118/2005 .5.1 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Raymond L. Colon appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1112112005) 

1112112005 .il Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1112112005. Next status conference set for January 20, 2006 at 12:00. 
Raymond Colon enters appearance as co-counsel for defendant. (Court Reporter harry 
Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 1112112005) 

01118/2006 5.4 Letter Advising Court of Defendant'S Intention to Renew Bail Package as to Rodney Morrison 
(Colon, Raymond) (Entered: 01118/2006) 

01120/2006 5..5. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1120/2006. next status confernce set for March 17, 2006 at II :00 am (Court 
Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01120/2006) 

01120/2006 Motions terminated as to Rodney Morrison: 3.1 Letter MOTION for Discovery filed by 
Rodney Morrison. (Motion decided, as per chambers).( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
1120106.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01123/2006) 

01120/2006 .i6. WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 1120106 until 31l7/06. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
1120106.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01123/2006) 

02/07/2006 s:L Letter requesting adjournment as to bail hearing as to Rodney Morrison (Colon, Raymond) 
(Entered: 02/07/2006) 

02115/2006 .5..8. Second MOTION for Bond (Proposed Bail Package and Memorandum of Law in Support of 
Rodney Morrison's Renewed Application for Bond Pending Trial) by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Exhibit I-Transcript of 09.03.2004 Proceedings# 2. Exhibit Exhibit 
2-Appraisals of Sureties# 3. Exhibit Exhibit 3-Rigoberto Morrison's School and Medical 
Records)(Colon, Raymond) (Entered: 021l5/2006) 

02117/2006 .22 Calendar Entry for proceedings held before James Orenstein, United States Magistrate Judge, 
for Criminal Cause for Bail Hearing; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, present, in 
custody, with Retained Counsel: Raymond Colon, present, and Retained Counsel: Anthony 
John Colleluori, present; For Govt.: Wayne Baker; Court Reporter: Owen Wicker; Courtroom 

file:lllNl/jrniskiewicz/Rodney%20Morrison/ Appealslram%20dkt%20sheethtm[9/8/20 1 0 5 :03: 13 PM] 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 80    09/17/2010    108283    314



Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

Deputy: Dan Romano. Mr. Colon and Mr. Baker speak, victims speak; court declines to 
reconsider risk of flight, package previously proposed is essentially the same. Application is 
denied. Deft remains in custody, (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 021l7/2006) 

02/27/2006 QQ Letter to Honorable Dennis Hurley to be relieved as counsel of record as to Rodney 
Morrison (Savitt, Ephraim) (Entered: 02/27/2006) 

03110/2006 lil Letter Requesting Adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Colleluori, Anthony) (Entered: 
031l 0/2006) 

03114/2006 .62 Letter Requesting to be Relieved as Counsel as to Rodney Morrison (Colon, Raymond) 
(Entered: 031l4/2006) 

03114/2006 Q1 Endorsed ORDER as to Rodney Morrison on copy of lil Letter request. March 17th 
conference cancelled as per deft's request. Case rescheduled for 4/28/06 at 2:00 p.m. ( 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 31l4/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 031l5/2006) 

03116/2006 M NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony P. Gallo appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 031l6/2006) 

04/2112006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney James M. Miskiewicz for USA 
added. Attorney Wayne L. Baker terminated. (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 04/2112006) 

05/02/2006 fi2 Amended MOTION for Bond by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/02/2006) 

05/02/2006 !ifi Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/02/2006) 

05/02/2006 Motions terminated; as to Rodney Morrison: 5£ Second MOTION for Bond (Proposed Bail 
Package and Memorandum of Law in Support of Rodney Morrison's Renewed Application for 
Bond Pending Trial) filed by Rodney Morrison. (See fi2 Amended MOTION.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 05/03/2006) 

05/03/2006 fil MOTION for Bond by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/03/2006) 

05/03/2006 Q£ MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 05/03/2006) 

05/04/2006 .6.2 Letter to Judge Tomlinson as to Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/04/2006) 

05/05/2006 7Jl NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Thomas P. Cleere appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/05/2006) 

05/08/2006 11 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re fi1. MOTION for Bond innopposition to third 
bail application (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 05/08/2006) 

05/08/2006 72. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 5/8/2006. next status conference set for June 23, 2006 at 2:00 pm before 
Judge Hurley. (Court Reporter Stephanie Drexler.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05/08/2006) 

05/08/2006 TI WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 5/8/06 until 6/23/06. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5/8106.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05109/2006) 

051l 112006 l± Letter To Hon. Judge Tomlinson as to Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
05/1112006) 

05/15/2006 15.. ORDER granting Q£ Motion for Leave to Appear--Attorney Peter Sweitzer Smith is 
permitted to argue or try this case in whole or in part as counselor advocate. By May 22, 
2006, Mr. Smith shall register for ECF. Registration is available online at the EDNY's 
homepage. Once registered, Mr. Smith shall file a notice of appearance and ensure that he 
receives electronic notification of activity in this case. Mr. Smith shall also ensure that the 

file,// INlljmiskiewiczlRodney%20Morrison/ Appeals/ram%20dkt%20sheet.htm[9/8/20 1 0 5,03,13 PM] 

GA016Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

Deputy: Dan Romano. Mr. Colon and Mr. Baker speak, victims speak; court declines to 
reconsider risk of flight, package previously proposed is essentially the same. Application is 
denied. Deft remains in custody, (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 021l7/2006) 

02/27/2006 QQ Letter to Honorable Dennis Hurley to be relieved as counsel of record as to Rodney 
Morrison (Savitt, Ephraim) (Entered: 02/27/2006) 

03110/2006 lil Letter Requesting Adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Colleluori, Anthony) (Entered: 
031l 0/2006) 

03114/2006 .62 Letter Requesting to be Relieved as Counsel as to Rodney Morrison (Colon, Raymond) 
(Entered: 031l4/2006) 

03114/2006 Q1 Endorsed ORDER as to Rodney Morrison on copy of lil Letter request. March 17th 
conference cancelled as per deft's request. Case rescheduled for 4/28/06 at 2:00 p.m. ( 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 31l4/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 031l5/2006) 

03116/2006 M NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony P. Gallo appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 031l6/2006) 

04/2112006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney James M. Miskiewicz for USA 
added. Attorney Wayne L. Baker terminated. (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 04/2112006) 

05/02/2006 fi2 Amended MOTION for Bond by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/02/2006) 

05/02/2006 !ifi Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/02/2006) 

05/02/2006 Motions terminated; as to Rodney Morrison: 5£ Second MOTION for Bond (Proposed Bail 
Package and Memorandum of Law in Support of Rodney Morrison's Renewed Application for 
Bond Pending Trial) filed by Rodney Morrison. (See fi2 Amended MOTION.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 05/03/2006) 

05/03/2006 fil MOTION for Bond by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/03/2006) 

05/03/2006 Q£ MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 05/03/2006) 

05/04/2006 .6.2 Letter to Judge Tomlinson as to Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05/04/2006) 

05/05/2006 7Jl NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Thomas P. Cleere appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/05/2006) 

05/08/2006 11 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re fi1. MOTION for Bond innopposition to third 
bail application (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 05/08/2006) 

05/08/2006 72. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 5/8/2006. next status conference set for June 23, 2006 at 2:00 pm before 
Judge Hurley. (Court Reporter Stephanie Drexler.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05/08/2006) 

05/08/2006 TI WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 5/8/06 until 6/23/06. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5/8106.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05109/2006) 

051l 112006 l± Letter To Hon. Judge Tomlinson as to Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
05/1112006) 

05/15/2006 15.. ORDER granting Q£ Motion for Leave to Appear--Attorney Peter Sweitzer Smith is 
permitted to argue or try this case in whole or in part as counselor advocate. By May 22, 
2006, Mr. Smith shall register for ECF. Registration is available online at the EDNY's 
homepage. Once registered, Mr. Smith shall file a notice of appearance and ensure that he 
receives electronic notification of activity in this case. Mr. Smith shall also ensure that the 
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$25 admission fee be submitted to the Clerk's Office. (SEE ATTACHED ORDER). Ordered 
by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 5115/06. (Cass, Luke) (Entered: 05115/2006) 

05115/2006 7.fJ. Minute Entry for proceedings held before A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 5115106. Deft present in 
custody with retained counsel, Anthony Gallo, Sr., Anthony Gallo, Jr., Tom Cleere, Adam 
Hoffinger and Peter Smith. Govt: Jim Miskiewicz.Court Reporter Ellen Combs. Bail hearing 
held and will continue on 5116/06 at 2:00 pm. Witness sworn and testified. Arguments heard 
from both sides. Rulings reserved. (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 05116/2006) 

05116/2006 11 Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison Further Support of defendant's Renewed 
Application for Bail (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 0511612006) 

05116/2006 1R Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison In Further Support of defendant's Renewed 
Applicationfor Bail (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05116/2006) 

0511612006 .8.l Minute Entry for proceedings held before A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 5116106 at 2:30 PM . 
Bond Hearing continued from 5115/06 as to Rodney Morrison. Deft. present in custody with 
retained counsel, Anthony Gallo, Sr.; Anthony Gallo, Jr.; Tom Cleere, Adam Hoffinger and 
Peter Smith. Govt: James Miskiewicz. Reporter Ellen Combs. Hearing continued. Other 
evidence presented. Decision placed on the record. After consideratin of all evidence provided 
and testimony, the application for bail is DENIED. (Exhibit and witness list annexed). 
(Montero, Edher) (Entered: 05118/2006) 

05/1712006 7!l Letter to defense counsel regarding request to appeal anticipate tax fraud charges to USDOJ, 
Tax Division as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 05117/2006) 

0511812006 M Letter regarding outstanding discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
05118/2006) 

0511812006 Motions terminated as to Rodney Morrison; fil MOTION for Bond filed by Rodney 
Morrison, Q5. Amended MOTION for Bond filed by Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) 
Modified on 5/2212006 (See doc . .8.l )(Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 05119/2006) 

05/1812006 J!2. MOTION for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum by USA as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0511912006) 

0511812006 .81 Endorsed ORDER as to Rodney Morrison on J!2. Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus; granting 
J!2.Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Ordered by Judge William D. Wall on 5/18/06.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0511912006) 

05/2312006 M NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony P. Gallo appearing for Rodney 
Morrison Peter Smith, appearing Pro Hac Vice for defendant (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
05/23/2006) 

05/23/2006 J!.5. CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE re: M Notice of Attorney Appearance, Anthony P. Gallo 
appearing for Rodney Morrison Peter Smith appearing Pro Hac Vice (Gallo, Anthony) 
Modified on 5/2412006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 05/23/2006) 

05/23/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Peter Sweitzer Smith for Rodney 
Morrison added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/24/2006) 

05/23/2006 Incorrect CaselDocumentlEntry Information. Document J!.5. NOTICE of Attorney Appearance 
has been edited to reflect that it is a Certificate of Service. The document was a duplicate to 
the M NOTICE of Attorney Appearance, except that the J!.5. NOTICE of Appearance had a 
Certificate of Service attached. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
05/24/2006) 

06/0112006 1\2 MEMORANDUM OF LAW in Support Re: Notice of Motion for Reconsideration by Rodney 
Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) Modified on 6/5/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 06/0112006) 
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$25 admission fee be submitted to the Clerk's Office. (SEE ATTACHED ORDER). Ordered 
by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 5115/06. (Cass, Luke) (Entered: 05115/2006) 

05115/2006 7.fJ. Minute Entry for proceedings held before A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 5115106. Deft present in 
custody with retained counsel, Anthony Gallo, Sr., Anthony Gallo, Jr., Tom Cleere, Adam 
Hoffinger and Peter Smith. Govt: Jim Miskiewicz.Court Reporter Ellen Combs. Bail hearing 
held and will continue on 5116/06 at 2:00 pm. Witness sworn and testified. Arguments heard 
from both sides. Rulings reserved. (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 05116/2006) 

05116/2006 11 Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison Further Support of defendant's Renewed 
Application for Bail (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 0511612006) 

05116/2006 1R Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison In Further Support of defendant's Renewed 
Applicationfor Bail (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 05116/2006) 

0511612006 .8.l Minute Entry for proceedings held before A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 5116106 at 2:30 PM . 
Bond Hearing continued from 5115/06 as to Rodney Morrison. Deft. present in custody with 
retained counsel, Anthony Gallo, Sr.; Anthony Gallo, Jr.; Tom Cleere, Adam Hoffinger and 
Peter Smith. Govt: James Miskiewicz. Reporter Ellen Combs. Hearing continued. Other 
evidence presented. Decision placed on the record. After consideratin of all evidence provided 
and testimony, the application for bail is DENIED. (Exhibit and witness list annexed). 
(Montero, Edher) (Entered: 05118/2006) 

05/1712006 7!l Letter to defense counsel regarding request to appeal anticipate tax fraud charges to USDOJ, 
Tax Division as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 05117/2006) 

0511812006 M Letter regarding outstanding discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
05118/2006) 

0511812006 Motions terminated as to Rodney Morrison; fil MOTION for Bond filed by Rodney 
Morrison, Q5. Amended MOTION for Bond filed by Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) 
Modified on 5/2212006 (See doc . .8.l )(Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 05119/2006) 

05/1812006 J!2. MOTION for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum by USA as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0511912006) 

0511812006 .81 Endorsed ORDER as to Rodney Morrison on J!2. Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus; granting 
J!2.Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Ordered by Judge William D. Wall on 5/18/06.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0511912006) 

05/2312006 M NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony P. Gallo appearing for Rodney 
Morrison Peter Smith, appearing Pro Hac Vice for defendant (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
05/23/2006) 

05/23/2006 J!.5. CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE re: M Notice of Attorney Appearance, Anthony P. Gallo 
appearing for Rodney Morrison Peter Smith appearing Pro Hac Vice (Gallo, Anthony) 
Modified on 5/2412006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 05/23/2006) 

05/23/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Peter Sweitzer Smith for Rodney 
Morrison added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/24/2006) 

05/23/2006 Incorrect CaselDocumentlEntry Information. Document J!.5. NOTICE of Attorney Appearance 
has been edited to reflect that it is a Certificate of Service. The document was a duplicate to 
the M NOTICE of Attorney Appearance, except that the J!.5. NOTICE of Appearance had a 
Certificate of Service attached. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
05/24/2006) 

06/0112006 1\2 MEMORANDUM OF LAW in Support Re: Notice of Motion for Reconsideration by Rodney 
Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) Modified on 6/5/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 06/0112006) 
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0610112006 £1 MEMORANDUM in Support re: Motionfor Review by Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) 
Modified on 6/5/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 06101/2006) 

06101/2006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: R6. Notice of MOTION for 
. Reconsideration filed by Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 06105/2006) 

0610112006 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket R6. Motion, filed on 611106 has been 
modified. (The document should have been filed as a Memorandum in Support, and the 
Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 06105/2006) 

0610112006 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket entry £1 Motion, filed on 611106 has 
been modified. The docuement should have been filed as an Memorandum in Support. (All 
corrections have been made.)(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 06105/2006) 

06105/2006 Mail Returned as undeliverable to Raymond L. Colon (order dtd. 5115/06). (Montero, Edher) 
(Entered: 06107/2006) 

06112/2006 .8.8. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re R6. Notice of MOTION for Reconsideration 
of Magistrate Judge Tomlinson's denial of bail (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 06112/2006) 

06/23/2006 .8.2. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 6/23/2006. Bail reconsideration hearing set for July 12,2006 at 10:00 am. 
(Court Reporter Stephanie Drexler.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06/23/2006) 

06/26/2006 2ll First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
06/26/2006) 

06/27/2006 21. Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison re 2ll First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial 
(Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 06/27/2006) 

06/27/2006 22- NOTICE Regarding the Filing of Exhibits in Paper Form by Rodney Morrison re 21. 
Certificate of Service, 2.Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 06/27/2006) 

06/30/2006 Per the 6129106 e-mail from the U.S. Attorney's Office: Attorney update in case as to Rodney 
Morrison. Attorney Richard Thomas Lunger, Jr for USA added. (Vaughn, Terry) (Entered: 
06/30/2006) . 

06/30/2006 21 Letter To A USA Regarding Discovery Materials as to Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 06/30/2006) 

07/1112006 24: RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2.Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial Government's Memorandum of Law In Opposition To Motion to Dismiss (Attachments: 
# 1 Exhibit)(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/1112006) 

07/11/2006 .2.5. SEALED SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT as to Rodney Morrison (1) count(s) Iss, 2ss, 3ss, 
4ss, 5ss, 6ss, 7ss, 8ss, 9ss, lOss, llss. (Attachments: # 1 Blueback# 2. Calendar Minutes on 
Grand Jury Presentment) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 7112/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
07112/2006) 

0711 112006 en DECLARATION Of Revenue Agent Robert Wanderer in Support of Application for Ex Parte 
Restraining Order and Seizure Warrant, by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Fagan, Linda) . 
Modified on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Additional attachment(s) added on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, 
Linda). Modified on 7/19/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07/13/2006) 

07111/2006 .2.8. EX PARTE POST-INDICTMENT RESTRAINING ORDER as to Rod Morrison; That deft, 
as well as all attorneys, agents, employees, nominees and anyone acting for or in concert with 
Deft, having any interest or control over the property described in Attachment A of this 
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0610112006 £1 MEMORANDUM in Support re: Motionfor Review by Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) 
Modified on 6/5/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 06101/2006) 

06101/2006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: R6. Notice of MOTION for 
. Reconsideration filed by Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 06105/2006) 

0610112006 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket R6. Motion, filed on 611106 has been 
modified. (The document should have been filed as a Memorandum in Support, and the 
Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 06105/2006) 

0610112006 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket entry £1 Motion, filed on 611106 has 
been modified. The docuement should have been filed as an Memorandum in Support. (All 
corrections have been made.)(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 06105/2006) 

06105/2006 Mail Returned as undeliverable to Raymond L. Colon (order dtd. 5115/06). (Montero, Edher) 
(Entered: 06107/2006) 

06112/2006 .8.8. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re R6. Notice of MOTION for Reconsideration 
of Magistrate Judge Tomlinson's denial of bail (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 06112/2006) 

06/23/2006 .8.2. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 6/23/2006. Bail reconsideration hearing set for July 12,2006 at 10:00 am. 
(Court Reporter Stephanie Drexler.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06/23/2006) 

06/26/2006 2ll First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial by Rodney Morrison. (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
06/26/2006) 

06/27/2006 21. Certificate of Service by Rodney Morrison re 2ll First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial 
(Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 06/27/2006) 

06/27/2006 22- NOTICE Regarding the Filing of Exhibits in Paper Form by Rodney Morrison re 21. 
Certificate of Service, 2.Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 06/27/2006) 

06/30/2006 Per the 6129106 e-mail from the U.S. Attorney's Office: Attorney update in case as to Rodney 
Morrison. Attorney Richard Thomas Lunger, Jr for USA added. (Vaughn, Terry) (Entered: 
06/30/2006) . 

06/30/2006 21 Letter To A USA Regarding Discovery Materials as to Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 06/30/2006) 

07/1112006 24: RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2.Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial Government's Memorandum of Law In Opposition To Motion to Dismiss (Attachments: 
# 1 Exhibit)(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/1112006) 

07/11/2006 .2.5. SEALED SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT as to Rodney Morrison (1) count(s) Iss, 2ss, 3ss, 
4ss, 5ss, 6ss, 7ss, 8ss, 9ss, lOss, llss. (Attachments: # 1 Blueback# 2. Calendar Minutes on 
Grand Jury Presentment) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 7112/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
07112/2006) 

0711 112006 en DECLARATION Of Revenue Agent Robert Wanderer in Support of Application for Ex Parte 
Restraining Order and Seizure Warrant, by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Fagan, Linda) . 
Modified on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Additional attachment(s) added on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, 
Linda). Modified on 7/19/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07/13/2006) 

07111/2006 .2.8. EX PARTE POST-INDICTMENT RESTRAINING ORDER as to Rod Morrison; That deft, 
as well as all attorneys, agents, employees, nominees and anyone acting for or in concert with 
Deft, having any interest or control over the property described in Attachment A of this 
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Order, and having actual knowledge of this Order shall fully comply with this Order and 
shall not take any action prohibiting by this Order; and that deft, as well as his agents, 
nominees, servants, employees, attorneys, family members, and those persons with actual 
knowledge of this Order having any interest or control over the property described in 
Attachment A or being in active concert or participation with Deft shall not a. directly or 
indirectly alienate, dissipate, transfer, sell, assign, lease, pledge, encumber, or dispose of 
property described in Attachment A in an manner; b. b. cause property described in 
Attachment A to be alienated, dissipated, transferred, sold, assigned, leased, pledged, 
encumbered, or disposed of in any manner; or c. take, or cause to be taken, any action which 
could have the effect of concealing or moving property described in Attachment A from the 
jurisdiction of this Court; or take or cause to be taken, any action that would have the effect 
of depreciating, damaging, or in any way diminishing the value of property .described in 
Attachment A; and as further set forth herein. Modified on 7113/2006 (Fagan, Linda). 
Additional attachment(s) added on 7113/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 7119/2006 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 07113/2006) 

07/1112006 22 ORDER FOR ISSUANCE OF Seizure WARRANT as to Rodney Morrison; ( Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7111106.) (Fagan, Linda) . Modified on 7113/2006 (Fagan, Linda). 
Additional attachmerit(s) added on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 7114/2006 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 07113/2006) 

0711112006 Seizure Warrant Issued by Denis R. Hurley in case as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) 
Modified on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 7119/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
07/13/2006) 

07112/2006 2.6. UNSEALING ORDER as to Rodney Arnoldo Morrison; That the above captioned 
superseding indictment, returned on 7111106, is hereby Ordered unsealed. ( Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 7112/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07112/2006) 

0711212006 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 7112106 at 10:30 a.m. before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Arraignment on S-2 Indictment; 
Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:13, present, in custody, with Counsel: Anthony 
Gallo, Peter Smith; Adam Hoffinger; Thomas Cleere, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewic; Richard Lunger; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best. Court Reporter: Paul Lombardi. Case 
called. Deft enters plea of NOT GUILTY to all charges in the S-2 Indictment. Bail hearing 
held. Hearing is continued to 7113/06 at 2:00 p.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07113/2006 .lilll Letter supplement to the government's submissions at the bail hearing July 12, 2006 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 4)(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07113/2006) 

07/13/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Detention Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 7113/2006 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
07/14/2006) 

07114/2006 102 TRANSCRIPT of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 2116106 before The Honorable 
James Orenstein, United States Magistrate Judge. Court Reporter: Owen M. Wicker, R.P.R. 
100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, NY 11722 (631) 712-6102. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07114/2006) 

07114/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Henry E. Mazurek; Ephraim Savitt; 
Anthony John Colleluori and Raymond L. Colon terminated. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07114/2006) 

07/14/2006 lQ4 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Thomas P. Cleere appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0711412006) 

07114/2006 ill UNSEALING ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Ex Parte Post Indictment Restraining 
Order and the Siezure Warrant, both dated 7111/06, in the above-captioned criminal case, be 
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Order, and having actual knowledge of this Order shall fully comply with this Order and 
shall not take any action prohibiting by this Order; and that deft, as well as his agents, 
nominees, servants, employees, attorneys, family members, and those persons with actual 
knowledge of this Order having any interest or control over the property described in 
Attachment A or being in active concert or participation with Deft shall not a. directly or 
indirectly alienate, dissipate, transfer, sell, assign, lease, pledge, encumber, or dispose of 
property described in Attachment A in an manner; b. b. cause property described in 
Attachment A to be alienated, dissipated, transferred, sold, assigned, leased, pledged, 
encumbered, or disposed of in any manner; or c. take, or cause to be taken, any action which 
could have the effect of concealing or moving property described in Attachment A from the 
jurisdiction of this Court; or take or cause to be taken, any action that would have the effect 
of depreciating, damaging, or in any way diminishing the value of property .described in 
Attachment A; and as further set forth herein. Modified on 7113/2006 (Fagan, Linda). 
Additional attachment(s) added on 7113/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 7119/2006 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 07113/2006) 

07/1112006 22 ORDER FOR ISSUANCE OF Seizure WARRANT as to Rodney Morrison; ( Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7111106.) (Fagan, Linda) . Modified on 7113/2006 (Fagan, Linda). 
Additional attachmerit(s) added on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 7114/2006 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 07113/2006) 

0711112006 Seizure Warrant Issued by Denis R. Hurley in case as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) 
Modified on 7/13/2006 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 7119/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
07/13/2006) 

07112/2006 2.6. UNSEALING ORDER as to Rodney Arnoldo Morrison; That the above captioned 
superseding indictment, returned on 7111106, is hereby Ordered unsealed. ( Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 7112/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07112/2006) 

0711212006 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 7112106 at 10:30 a.m. before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Arraignment on S-2 Indictment; 
Appearances: Deft.: Rodney Morrison, Deft. #:13, present, in custody, with Counsel: Anthony 
Gallo, Peter Smith; Adam Hoffinger; Thomas Cleere, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewic; Richard Lunger; Deputy Clerk: Trish Best. Court Reporter: Paul Lombardi. Case 
called. Deft enters plea of NOT GUILTY to all charges in the S-2 Indictment. Bail hearing 
held. Hearing is continued to 7113/06 at 2:00 p.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07113/2006 .lilll Letter supplement to the government's submissions at the bail hearing July 12, 2006 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 4)(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07113/2006) 

07/13/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Detention Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 7113/2006 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
07/14/2006) 

07114/2006 102 TRANSCRIPT of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 2116106 before The Honorable 
James Orenstein, United States Magistrate Judge. Court Reporter: Owen M. Wicker, R.P.R. 
100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, NY 11722 (631) 712-6102. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07114/2006) 

07114/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Henry E. Mazurek; Ephraim Savitt; 
Anthony John Colleluori and Raymond L. Colon terminated. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07114/2006) 

07/14/2006 lQ4 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Thomas P. Cleere appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0711412006) 

07114/2006 ill UNSEALING ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Ex Parte Post Indictment Restraining 
Order and the Siezure Warrant, both dated 7111/06, in the above-captioned criminal case, be 
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unsealed. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7114/06.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 
7117/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07114/2006 .ill6. NOTICE OF PENDENCY; regarding the real property and premises commonly known as St 
Johns Phase I LLC, clo American Land Housing Group, Inc., Parcel Number: 080311-0015 
Legal Description: Multiple Lots, includinga portion of one or more Lots; Lot: 1 & 2; Blocks: 
1& 2; SUBDIVISION: Gulf Life Center; Recorders Map Reference: MB34 PG28&28A. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07114/2006 lQ1 Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that Jerry 
Sorocki personally served Citibank Personal Banker Agha Ali on July 12, 2006 with copies of 
the Ex-Parte Post Indictment Restraining Order. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07114/2006 .ill8. Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that FSA 
Paralegal Specialist faxed copies of the Restraining Order to Melinda Mendoza on July 11, 
2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07/14/2006) 

07/14/2006 lQ2. Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that FSA Asset 
For! Paralegal Brian Gappafaxed and Fed Ex the Restraining Order and Seizure Warrant 
to Sandy Allin of Bank of America on July 11, 12 & 14, 2006 (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 
07114/2006) 

07114/2006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that FSA Asset 
For! Paralegal Brian Gappa faxed and Fed Ex copies of the Restraining Order and Seizure 
Warrant to Linda Lewis of J.P. Morgan Chase on July 11, 12 & 14, 2006. (Lunger, Richard) 
(Entered: 07/14/2006) 

07114/2006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that S. C.P.D. 
Detective Rob Trotta served the Seizure Warrant on Mrs. Morrison on July 11, 2006 and 
execute the Warrant on July 13, 2006 on North Fork Bank safe deposit box 00090311. (See 
attachedfor inventory) (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

0711412006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that copies of 
the Restraining Order, Seizure Warrant and Decl. of Robert Wanderer were sent by Federal 
Express to Peter Smith, Esq., attorney for defendant Rodney Morrison on July 14, 2006. 
(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

0711412006 Document unsealed as to Rodney Morrison. II Affidavit. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07119/2006) 

0711712006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Peter Sweitzer Smith appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07117/2006) 

0711712006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial And Motions For Disclosure and Suppresion of Evidence (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
07117/2006) 

07118/2006 Email Notification Test - DO NOT REPLY (McMahon, Carol) (Entered: 07/18/2006) 

0711812006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial letter supplementing government's brief in opposition (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit copy of 
proffer agreement)(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07118/2006) 

07/18/2006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2Q First MOTION to Dismiss on 
Speedy Trial Defense Reply to Government's Opposition (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
07118/2006) 

0711912006 111 TRANSCRIPT of ArraignmentIMotions as to Rodney Morrison held on 7112/06 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
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unsealed. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7114/06.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 
7117/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07114/2006 .ill6. NOTICE OF PENDENCY; regarding the real property and premises commonly known as St 
Johns Phase I LLC, clo American Land Housing Group, Inc., Parcel Number: 080311-0015 
Legal Description: Multiple Lots, includinga portion of one or more Lots; Lot: 1 & 2; Blocks: 
1& 2; SUBDIVISION: Gulf Life Center; Recorders Map Reference: MB34 PG28&28A. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07114/2006 lQ1 Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that Jerry 
Sorocki personally served Citibank Personal Banker Agha Ali on July 12, 2006 with copies of 
the Ex-Parte Post Indictment Restraining Order. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

07114/2006 .ill8. Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that FSA 
Paralegal Specialist faxed copies of the Restraining Order to Melinda Mendoza on July 11, 
2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07/14/2006) 

07/14/2006 lQ2. Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that FSA Asset 
For! Paralegal Brian Gappafaxed and Fed Ex the Restraining Order and Seizure Warrant 
to Sandy Allin of Bank of America on July 11, 12 & 14, 2006 (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 
07114/2006) 

07114/2006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that FSA Asset 
For! Paralegal Brian Gappa faxed and Fed Ex copies of the Restraining Order and Seizure 
Warrant to Linda Lewis of J.P. Morgan Chase on July 11, 12 & 14, 2006. (Lunger, Richard) 
(Entered: 07/14/2006) 

07114/2006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that S. C.P.D. 
Detective Rob Trotta served the Seizure Warrant on Mrs. Morrison on July 11, 2006 and 
execute the Warrant on July 13, 2006 on North Fork Bank safe deposit box 00090311. (See 
attachedfor inventory) (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

0711412006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, representing that copies of 
the Restraining Order, Seizure Warrant and Decl. of Robert Wanderer were sent by Federal 
Express to Peter Smith, Esq., attorney for defendant Rodney Morrison on July 14, 2006. 
(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 07114/2006) 

0711412006 Document unsealed as to Rodney Morrison. II Affidavit. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07119/2006) 

0711712006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Peter Sweitzer Smith appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07117/2006) 

0711712006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial And Motions For Disclosure and Suppresion of Evidence (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
07117/2006) 

07118/2006 Email Notification Test - DO NOT REPLY (McMahon, Carol) (Entered: 07/18/2006) 

0711812006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2Q First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial letter supplementing government's brief in opposition (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit copy of 
proffer agreement)(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07118/2006) 

07/18/2006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2Q First MOTION to Dismiss on 
Speedy Trial Defense Reply to Government's Opposition (Gallo, Anthony) (Entered: 
07118/2006) 

0711912006 111 TRANSCRIPT of ArraignmentIMotions as to Rodney Morrison held on 7112/06 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
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RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Attachments: # 1 
part II# 2 part III# 3. part IV# 4 part V# .5. part VI) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07119/2006) 

07119/2006 11.8. TRANSCRIPT of ArraignmentIMotions as to Rodney Morrison held on 7/13/06 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Centrial Islip, New York 11722. (Attachments: # 
1 part II# 2 part III#.3. part IV) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07119/2006) 

07/20/2006 ill NOTICE OP PENDENCY; regarding the real property and premises commonly known as 
Condominium Unit 31207, in Oceanside Pompano Beach, a Condominium located at One 
North Ocean Boulevard, Pompano Beach, Florida 33062. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07/20/2006) 

07/2112006 .l2.Q MEMORANDUM OPINION as to Rodney Morrison denying defenant's motion to reconsider 
bail (Doc #86) and defendant's due process claim (doc # 87). A conference will be held , 
before Mag. Tomlinson on Wednesday, July 26, 2006 at II :00 AM. See attached opinion .. 

. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7/2112006. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 0712112006) 

07/24/2006 ill Letter Supplementing discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
07/24/2006) 

07/25/2006 122 Letter regarding applicability of Section 3005 and effect of death penalty protocol on 
scheduled trial date as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/25/2006) 

07/26/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 7126106 at II :00 am. 
Case called. Deft present in custody with retained counsel, Peter Smith and Thomas P. 
Cleere. Govt: James Miskiewicz. Court Reporter: Ellen Combs. Status Conference as to 
Rodney Morrison held. Partial rulings placed on the record. Remaining issues addressed at 
today's conf will be dealt with in a separate Report & Recommendation to Judge Hurley. 
(Montero, Edher) (Entered: 07/26/2006) 

07/27/2006 124 Letter regarding defendant's requested postponement of discovery meeting as to Rodney 
Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/27/2006) 

07/27/2006 125 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial raising additional point in opposition to dismissal of any count with prejudice 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/27/2006) 

07/28/2006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on 
Speedy Trial (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 07/28/2006) 

07/28/2006 121 REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on 
Speedy Trial (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 07/28/2006) 

07/28/2006 ill NOTICE of Termination of Attorney Representation by Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 07/28/2006) 

07/28/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Anthony P. Gallo terminated. (See 
[128 NOTICE.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 8/112006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07/3112006) 

07/28/2006 140 TRANSCRIPT of Status Conference as to Rodney Morrison held on July 26, 2006 before 
Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson. Court Reporter: Ellen Combs. (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 
08/07/2006) 

07/3112006 129 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison's Reply to Response 121 (re: ill Response in Opposition, 
and 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial). Defendant's letter request (dated July 28, 
2006) for persmission to respond to the Government's July 27, 2006, letter is granted. 
Response is due by August 4, 2006. So Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 07/31106. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 07/3112006) 
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RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Attachments: # 1 
part II# 2 part III# 3. part IV# 4 part V# .5. part VI) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07119/2006) 

07119/2006 11.8. TRANSCRIPT of ArraignmentIMotions as to Rodney Morrison held on 7/13/06 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Centrial Islip, New York 11722. (Attachments: # 
1 part II# 2 part III#.3. part IV) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 07119/2006) 

07/20/2006 ill NOTICE OP PENDENCY; regarding the real property and premises commonly known as 
Condominium Unit 31207, in Oceanside Pompano Beach, a Condominium located at One 
North Ocean Boulevard, Pompano Beach, Florida 33062. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
07/20/2006) 

07/2112006 .l2.Q MEMORANDUM OPINION as to Rodney Morrison denying defenant's motion to reconsider 
bail (Doc #86) and defendant's due process claim (doc # 87). A conference will be held , 
before Mag. Tomlinson on Wednesday, July 26, 2006 at II :00 AM. See attached opinion .. 

. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7/2112006. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 0712112006) 

07/24/2006 ill Letter Supplementing discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
07/24/2006) 

07/25/2006 122 Letter regarding applicability of Section 3005 and effect of death penalty protocol on 
scheduled trial date as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/25/2006) 

07/26/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 7126106 at II :00 am. 
Case called. Deft present in custody with retained counsel, Peter Smith and Thomas P. 
Cleere. Govt: James Miskiewicz. Court Reporter: Ellen Combs. Status Conference as to 
Rodney Morrison held. Partial rulings placed on the record. Remaining issues addressed at 
today's conf will be dealt with in a separate Report & Recommendation to Judge Hurley. 
(Montero, Edher) (Entered: 07/26/2006) 

07/27/2006 124 Letter regarding defendant's requested postponement of discovery meeting as to Rodney 
Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/27/2006) 

07/27/2006 125 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy 
Trial raising additional point in opposition to dismissal of any count with prejudice 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07/27/2006) 

07/28/2006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on 
Speedy Trial (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 07/28/2006) 

07/28/2006 121 REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on 
Speedy Trial (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 07/28/2006) 

07/28/2006 ill NOTICE of Termination of Attorney Representation by Rodney Morrison (Gallo, Anthony) 
(Entered: 07/28/2006) 

07/28/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Anthony P. Gallo terminated. (See 
[128 NOTICE.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 8/112006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07/3112006) 

07/28/2006 140 TRANSCRIPT of Status Conference as to Rodney Morrison held on July 26, 2006 before 
Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson. Court Reporter: Ellen Combs. (Montero, Edher) (Entered: 
08/07/2006) 

07/3112006 129 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison's Reply to Response 121 (re: ill Response in Opposition, 
and 2J2 First MOTION to Dismiss on Speedy Trial). Defendant's letter request (dated July 28, 
2006) for persmission to respond to the Government's July 27, 2006, letter is granted. 
Response is due by August 4, 2006. So Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 07/31106. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 07/3112006) 
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07/3112006 ill Letter summarizing restrained assets as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit A# 2. 
Exhibit B# 1 Exhibit C# 4 Exhibit D) (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 0713112006) 

08/0112006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer Fed Ex copies of the Restraining Order and Seizure Warrant to Legal Processing 
Operations at North Fork Bank on July 20, 2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/0112006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer faxed copiesofthe Restraining Order to North Fork Bank on July 11 & 12, 2006. 
(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/0112006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer Federal Express copies to Patrick G. Farenga, Senior v.P. of Fidelity National 
Title Group on July 20, 2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/0112006 114 Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer faxed copies of the Restraining Order to Mark Schiffinan at Fidelity on July 11, 
2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/02/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re: Speedy Trial as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 
08/02/2006) 

08/02/2006 ill Letter to Judge Tomlinson re Restraining Order as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 08/02/2006) 

08/02/2006 ill NOTICE OF APPEAL of Conditions of Release by Rodney Morrison Filing fee $ 455, 
receipt number 1931316. (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 08/02/2006) 

08/03/2006 Electronic Index to Record on Appeal as to Rodney Morrison sent to US Court of Appeals re 
ill Certificate of Service, 4.2 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, .5..Q Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, .2.6. Order to Unseal Indictment, Jll Order on Motion for Writ of 
Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, Ql Letter, 42 MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an 
order permitting the aforementioned law enforcement personnel to take custody of Rodney 
Morrison, u.s. Bureau of Prisons # 68858-053,from the custody of the Warden of the 
Metropolitan Dentention Center 0, ill Reply to Response, 21 Affidavit" 2.1 Certificate of 
Service, il Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.5. Indictment (Sealed), Indictment (Sealed), 
lZ Status Conference"" 1111 Transcript" 82 MOTION for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 
testificandum, ill Response in Opposition, 3fi Status Conference, lfl Letter" II Letter, llfi 
Reply to Response, 1f)Jl Letter, lJll. Certificate of Service, 31i Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, M Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, lfi Bond Hearing" ill 
Notice of Appeal - Conditions of Release, 62 Letter, {il Order, is. Second MOTION for Bond 
(Proposed Bail Package and Memorandum of Law in Support of Rodney Morrison's Renewed 
Applicationfor Bond Pending Trial), 2.2. Notice (Other), SA Letter, liPretrial Memorandum, 
Add and Terminate Attorneys, 111 Status Conference, 33 Letter MOTIONfor Discovery, !i2. 
Letter, 51. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 21i Order",,,,, 4fi Status Conference, 
l!1. Letter, 81 Notice (Other), llJl Memorandum Opinion" tiIi MOTION for Leave to Appear 
Pro Hac Vice, ill Certificate of Service" Z2. Status Conference, 12 Pretrial Memorandum, !& 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, Ii2. Status Conference, 8Jl Letter, ill Reply to 
Response, 1 Order to Unseal Indictment, ill Transcript" ill Letter, 2. Indictment, 112 
Certificate of Service" 5Ji Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.4 Response in OppOSition, 4. 
Arraignment", Initial Appearance", Plea Entered", Set Hearings", Z Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, l!12. Certificate of Service" ill Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, 11 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 8f{ Response in Opposition, {iQ Letter, 122 
Letter, 21i Status Conference, 12 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Response in 
Opposition, il Order on Motion for Leave to Appear", l.Jlfi. Notice (Other), Notice (Other), ti 
Detention Hearing" 12. Order on Sealed Motion, 112 Certificate of Service, 11 Order of 
Detention, l1i Order of Detention, ill Notice (Other), Terminate Motions, Incorrect Case-
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07/3112006 ill Letter summarizing restrained assets as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit A# 2. 
Exhibit B# 1 Exhibit C# 4 Exhibit D) (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 0713112006) 

08/0112006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer Fed Ex copies of the Restraining Order and Seizure Warrant to Legal Processing 
Operations at North Fork Bank on July 20, 2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/0112006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer faxed copiesofthe Restraining Order to North Fork Bank on July 11 & 12, 2006. 
(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/0112006 ill Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer Federal Express copies to Patrick G. Farenga, Senior v.P. of Fidelity National 
Title Group on July 20, 2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/0112006 114 Certificate of Service by USA as to Rodney Morrison RETURN, Revenue Agent Bob 
Wanderer faxed copies of the Restraining Order to Mark Schiffinan at Fidelity on July 11, 
2006. (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/0112006) 

08/02/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re: Speedy Trial as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 
08/02/2006) 

08/02/2006 ill Letter to Judge Tomlinson re Restraining Order as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 08/02/2006) 

08/02/2006 ill NOTICE OF APPEAL of Conditions of Release by Rodney Morrison Filing fee $ 455, 
receipt number 1931316. (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 08/02/2006) 

08/03/2006 Electronic Index to Record on Appeal as to Rodney Morrison sent to US Court of Appeals re 
ill Certificate of Service, 4.2 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, .5..Q Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, .2.6. Order to Unseal Indictment, Jll Order on Motion for Writ of 
Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, Ql Letter, 42 MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an 
order permitting the aforementioned law enforcement personnel to take custody of Rodney 
Morrison, u.s. Bureau of Prisons # 68858-053,from the custody of the Warden of the 
Metropolitan Dentention Center 0, ill Reply to Response, 21 Affidavit" 2.1 Certificate of 
Service, il Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.5. Indictment (Sealed), Indictment (Sealed), 
lZ Status Conference"" 1111 Transcript" 82 MOTION for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 
testificandum, ill Response in Opposition, 3fi Status Conference, lfl Letter" II Letter, llfi 
Reply to Response, 1f)Jl Letter, lJll. Certificate of Service, 31i Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, M Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, lfi Bond Hearing" ill 
Notice of Appeal - Conditions of Release, 62 Letter, {il Order, is. Second MOTION for Bond 
(Proposed Bail Package and Memorandum of Law in Support of Rodney Morrison's Renewed 
Applicationfor Bond Pending Trial), 2.2. Notice (Other), SA Letter, liPretrial Memorandum, 
Add and Terminate Attorneys, 111 Status Conference, 33 Letter MOTIONfor Discovery, !i2. 
Letter, 51. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 21i Order",,,,, 4fi Status Conference, 
l!1. Letter, 81 Notice (Other), llJl Memorandum Opinion" tiIi MOTION for Leave to Appear 
Pro Hac Vice, ill Certificate of Service" Z2. Status Conference, 12 Pretrial Memorandum, !& 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, Ii2. Status Conference, 8Jl Letter, ill Reply to 
Response, 1 Order to Unseal Indictment, ill Transcript" ill Letter, 2. Indictment, 112 
Certificate of Service" 5Ji Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.4 Response in OppOSition, 4. 
Arraignment", Initial Appearance", Plea Entered", Set Hearings", Z Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, l!12. Certificate of Service" ill Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, 11 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 8f{ Response in Opposition, {iQ Letter, 122 
Letter, 21i Status Conference, 12 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Response in 
Opposition, il Order on Motion for Leave to Appear", l.Jlfi. Notice (Other), Notice (Other), ti 
Detention Hearing" 12. Order on Sealed Motion, 112 Certificate of Service, 11 Order of 
Detention, l1i Order of Detention, ill Notice (Other), Terminate Motions, Incorrect Case-
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Document Information" 5.l Status Conference" !i6. Certificate of Service, 61 MOTION for 
Bond, :11 Order on Motion to Compel", U Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, .23. Letter, 2.Q 
Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, l1. MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an order that 
the Warden of the Metropolitan Detention Center release Rodney Morrison, Us. Bureau of 
Prison # 68858-053, into the custody of agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigations and/or 
the Detecti, ill Letter, 25 Letter" 41 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, lJJ. Letter, 12 
Order of Detention, 123 Status Conference" 71 Response in Opposition, II Letter, !i1. Notice 
of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, lJJ.1i Certificate of Service, 22 Transcript" ill 
Arraignment", Initial Appearance", Plea Entered,,, ill Letter, 111 Certificate of Service" 22. 
Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 3..2 Status Conference, 21 Transcript" 2Q Notice of 
Attorney Appearance - USA, 8J5. Notice of MOTION for Reconsideration, lJi Arraignment", 
Initial Appearance", Plea Entered,,, Set Deadlines/Hearings", .2 Warrant Issued, ill 
Certificate of Service, 1.l Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, l1!1. Certificate of 
Service, ill Order to Unseal Document" 11 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 22. 
Order for Warrant" 1JM Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, Ii Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 11 Certificate of Service, Add and Terminate Attorneys, lJ11 
Detention Hearing, 3.1 SEALED MOTION, 12Ji Notice (Other), ill Response in Opposition, 
Z2. Letter, Z11 Notice of Attorney Appearance - D~fendant, II Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 
Testificandum Issued, 1Jl Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, i Order of Detention, fi1 Bond 
Hearing", ii Status Conference, 12 Status Conference", 121 Letter, 2Jl First MOTION to 
Dismiss on Speedy Trial, l!i Certificate of Service, 1!1 Status Conference, .21 Status 
Conference", 1.2 Order on Motion to Compel", iii Amended MOTION for Bond For docket 
entries without a hyperlink, contact the court and we'll arrange for the document(s) to be 
made available to you. (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 08/0312006) 

08/04/2006 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison - setting briefing schedule for Motion for Reconsideration of 
the Court's July 21,2006 decision. The government is directed to serve and file a response by 
August 11, 2006; Defendant's reply shall be served and filed by August 16, 2006 .. Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/4/2006. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 08104/2006) 

08/04/2006 1..12 REPORT AND RECOMMENDA nONS as to Rodney Morrison (see R&R for details). 
Objections to R&R due by 81l8/2006. (Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 8/4/06). 
(Montero, Edher) Additional attachment(s) added on 8/22/2006 (Montero, Edher). Modified 
on 8/22/2006 (Montero, Edher). (Entered: 08/04/2006) 

08/08/2006 ill Letter to Magistrate Tomlinson re: Report and Recommendation as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 08/08/2006) 

08/09/2006 ill Letter regarding appointment of counsel as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 08/09/2006) 

081l1l2006 143 Letter filed pursuant tothe Court's Order of 8/9/06 construing defendant'S submissions of 
8/2/06 as a motion for reconsideration of denial of bail as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 081l1l2006) 

08114/2006 144 ORDER ADOPTING REPORT AND RECOMMENDA nONS 1..12 on Defendant's Oral 
Motion for Appointment of Counsel pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 3005. Upon consideration of 
Magistrate Judge Tomlinson's Report and Recommendation, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED 
that: (1) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 3005, learned counsel is appointed; (2)pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. sec. 3005, second counsel is appointed; (3) Defendant shall bear the fees and costs of 
said counsel. See attached Memorandum and Order for further details. IT IS FURTHER 
ORDERED that this case will be ready to proceed to trial on Sept. 18, 2006. So Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 08114/06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/14/2006) 

08/14/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Colleen Quinn Brady for Rodney 
Morrison, Kevin James Keating for Rodney Morrison added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
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Document Information" 5.l Status Conference" !i6. Certificate of Service, 61 MOTION for 
Bond, :11 Order on Motion to Compel", U Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, .23. Letter, 2.Q 
Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, l1. MOTION to Compel the Court to issue an order that 
the Warden of the Metropolitan Detention Center release Rodney Morrison, Us. Bureau of 
Prison # 68858-053, into the custody of agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigations and/or 
the Detecti, ill Letter, 25 Letter" 41 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, lJJ. Letter, 12 
Order of Detention, 123 Status Conference" 71 Response in Opposition, II Letter, !i1. Notice 
of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, lJJ.1i Certificate of Service, 22 Transcript" ill 
Arraignment", Initial Appearance", Plea Entered,,, ill Letter, 111 Certificate of Service" 22. 
Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 3..2 Status Conference, 21 Transcript" 2Q Notice of 
Attorney Appearance - USA, 8J5. Notice of MOTION for Reconsideration, lJi Arraignment", 
Initial Appearance", Plea Entered,,, Set Deadlines/Hearings", .2 Warrant Issued, ill 
Certificate of Service, 1.l Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, l1!1. Certificate of 
Service, ill Order to Unseal Document" 11 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 22. 
Order for Warrant" 1JM Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, Ii Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 11 Certificate of Service, Add and Terminate Attorneys, lJ11 
Detention Hearing, 3.1 SEALED MOTION, 12Ji Notice (Other), ill Response in Opposition, 
Z2. Letter, Z11 Notice of Attorney Appearance - D~fendant, II Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 
Testificandum Issued, 1Jl Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, i Order of Detention, fi1 Bond 
Hearing", ii Status Conference, 12 Status Conference", 121 Letter, 2Jl First MOTION to 
Dismiss on Speedy Trial, l!i Certificate of Service, 1!1 Status Conference, .21 Status 
Conference", 1.2 Order on Motion to Compel", iii Amended MOTION for Bond For docket 
entries without a hyperlink, contact the court and we'll arrange for the document(s) to be 
made available to you. (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 08/0312006) 

08/04/2006 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison - setting briefing schedule for Motion for Reconsideration of 
the Court's July 21,2006 decision. The government is directed to serve and file a response by 
August 11, 2006; Defendant's reply shall be served and filed by August 16, 2006 .. Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/4/2006. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 08104/2006) 

08/04/2006 1..12 REPORT AND RECOMMENDA nONS as to Rodney Morrison (see R&R for details). 
Objections to R&R due by 81l8/2006. (Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 8/4/06). 
(Montero, Edher) Additional attachment(s) added on 8/22/2006 (Montero, Edher). Modified 
on 8/22/2006 (Montero, Edher). (Entered: 08/04/2006) 

08/08/2006 ill Letter to Magistrate Tomlinson re: Report and Recommendation as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 08/08/2006) 

08/09/2006 ill Letter regarding appointment of counsel as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 08/09/2006) 

081l1l2006 143 Letter filed pursuant tothe Court's Order of 8/9/06 construing defendant'S submissions of 
8/2/06 as a motion for reconsideration of denial of bail as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 081l1l2006) 

08114/2006 144 ORDER ADOPTING REPORT AND RECOMMENDA nONS 1..12 on Defendant's Oral 
Motion for Appointment of Counsel pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 3005. Upon consideration of 
Magistrate Judge Tomlinson's Report and Recommendation, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED 
that: (1) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 3005, learned counsel is appointed; (2)pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. sec. 3005, second counsel is appointed; (3) Defendant shall bear the fees and costs of 
said counsel. See attached Memorandum and Order for further details. IT IS FURTHER 
ORDERED that this case will be ready to proceed to trial on Sept. 18, 2006. So Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 08114/06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/14/2006) 

08/14/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Colleen Quinn Brady for Rodney 
Morrison, Kevin James Keating for Rodney Morrison added. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
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08/15/2006) 

08/1512006 ill Letter to Peter S. Smith regarding meeting on August 11, 2006 at the United States Attorney's 
Office in Central Islip, NY as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/15/2006) 

08/17/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Reply to Government August 11 letter as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 0811712006) 

08/17/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Retention of Daniel Nobel as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 0811712006) 

08118/2006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Daniel Nobel appearing for Rodney Morrison 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 08/18/2006) 

08/2112006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Pre-Motion conference as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 08/2112006) 

08/2112006 .l.iQ Letter A USA Miskiewicz requesting Rule 16 information as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 0812112006) 

0812112006 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: ill Letter regarding retention of Attorney Daniel Nobel 
(see also ill (Notice of Attorney Appearance)), Defendant is directed to file further 
documents for the Court's consideration; see attached Order for details. So Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 08/21106. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 0812112006) 

08/2112006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Colleen Quinn Brady appearing for Rodney 
Morrison (Brady, Colleen) (Entered: 0812112006) 

08/2112006 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: ill Letter requesting permission to file a motion 
regarding the Ex Parte Post-Indictment Restraining Order: Request GRANTED; see attached 
Order for further details. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 08/21106. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 08/2112006) 

08/23/2006 154 Letter responding to July 21,2006 demandfor immediate disclosure of Giglio material as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/23/2006) 

08/25/2006 ill ORDER denying in part and granting in part defendant's omnibus motion 2.Q. -- see attached 
Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8-25-06. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 08125/2006) 

08/2512006 ill SECOND ORDER re 2ll : Defendant's motion to Dismiss on Speedy Trial grounds is denied -
- see attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8-25-06. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/25/2006) 

0812812006 ill Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz requesting Discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 08/28/2006) 

08/28/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley reSpeedy Trial as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 # ;mSmith, 
Peter) (Entered: 08128/2006) 

08/2812006 ill Letter scheduling discovery inspection session for 8/31/06 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/28/2006) 

08/2812006 l6.Q Letter to Judge Hurley re Scheduling and Discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 0812812006) 

08/29/2006 ill Ex Parte MOTION for Forfeiture of Property Granting Temporary Stay by Rodney Morrison. 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 08/2912006) 

08/29/2006 ill Letter OPPOSING POSTPONEMENT OF DISCOVERY SESSION SCHEDULED FOR 
8/31/06 as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/29/2006) 
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08/15/2006) 

08/1512006 ill Letter to Peter S. Smith regarding meeting on August 11, 2006 at the United States Attorney's 
Office in Central Islip, NY as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 08/15/2006) 

08/17/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Reply to Government August 11 letter as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 0811712006) 

08/17/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Retention of Daniel Nobel as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 0811712006) 

08118/2006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Daniel Nobel appearing for Rodney Morrison 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 08/18/2006) 

08/2112006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Pre-Motion conference as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 08/2112006) 

08/2112006 .l.iQ Letter A USA Miskiewicz requesting Rule 16 information as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 0812112006) 

0812112006 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: ill Letter regarding retention of Attorney Daniel Nobel 
(see also ill (Notice of Attorney Appearance)), Defendant is directed to file further 
documents for the Court's consideration; see attached Order for details. So Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 08/21106. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 0812112006) 

08/2112006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Colleen Quinn Brady appearing for Rodney 
Morrison (Brady, Colleen) (Entered: 0812112006) 

08/2112006 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: ill Letter requesting permission to file a motion 
regarding the Ex Parte Post-Indictment Restraining Order: Request GRANTED; see attached 
Order for further details. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 08/21106. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 08/2112006) 

08/23/2006 154 Letter responding to July 21,2006 demandfor immediate disclosure of Giglio material as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/23/2006) 

08/25/2006 ill ORDER denying in part and granting in part defendant's omnibus motion 2.Q. -- see attached 
Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8-25-06. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 08125/2006) 

08/2512006 ill SECOND ORDER re 2ll : Defendant's motion to Dismiss on Speedy Trial grounds is denied -
- see attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8-25-06. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/25/2006) 

0812812006 ill Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz requesting Discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 08/28/2006) 

08/28/2006 ill Letter to Judge Hurley reSpeedy Trial as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 # ;mSmith, 
Peter) (Entered: 08128/2006) 

08/2812006 ill Letter scheduling discovery inspection session for 8/31/06 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/28/2006) 

08/2812006 l6.Q Letter to Judge Hurley re Scheduling and Discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 0812812006) 

08/29/2006 ill Ex Parte MOTION for Forfeiture of Property Granting Temporary Stay by Rodney Morrison. 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 08/2912006) 

08/29/2006 ill Letter OPPOSING POSTPONEMENT OF DISCOVERY SESSION SCHEDULED FOR 
8/31/06 as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/29/2006) 
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08/30/2006 ill Letter regarding defendant's requested postponement of trial and discovery as to Rodney 
Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/30/2006) 

08/30/2006 1M ORDER re the parties' discovery session -- see attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 8-30-06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/30/2006) 

09/06/2006 ill ORDER Of Excludable Delay as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 9/6/06 until 
9/15/06. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/6/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
09/12/2006) 

09/07/2006 ill Letter opposing defendant's 8/28/06 letter requesting reconsideration of the Court's 8/25/06 
denial of motion to dismiss on Speedy Trial Act grounds as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 09/07/2006) 

09/09/2006 .l6.6 Letter Reply to Court Re: Speedy Trial as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 
09/09/2006) 

09/1112006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Ex Parte MOTION for Forfeiture of 
Property Granting Temporary Stay by United States (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09/1112006) 

09/13/2006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Ex Parte MOTION for Forfeiture of 
Property Granting Temporary Stay by United States (revised to correct grammatical error) 
(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09113/2006) 

09/13/2006 ill Letter Providing professional background per order of the Court as to Rodney Morrison 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 09/13/2006) 

09115/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 9115/2006. Next status confemce set for September 25,2006 at I :30 pm. 
(Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 09115/2006) 

09/15/2006 ill WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 9115/06 until 9/25/06. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
9115/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09118/2006) 

09/2112006 ill Letter advising that the government will not consent to second adjournment for filing of reply 
papers as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09/2112006) 

09/2112006 ill Letter regarding discovery of certain CD's as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 09/2112006) 

09/22/2006 ill Letter notifYing counsel of government's intent to schedule Death Penalty Committee review 
meeting as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09/22/2006) 

09/25/2006 11.6. REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Ex Parte MOTION for 
Forfeiture of Property Granting Temporary Stay (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # ;l.)(Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 09/25/2006) 

09/25/2006 ill ORDER Regarding Reconsideration of Court's Prior Order .l2.6. (See also ill , ill , and .l6.6 
). See attached for details. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 09/25/06. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 09/25/2006) 

09/25/2006 ill AFFIDAVIT by Rodney Morrison (Senft, Anthony) (Entered: 09/25/2006) 

09/25/2006 .l12 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 9/25/2006. Next conference set for October 27, 2006 at I :30 pm. (Court 
Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 09/2612006) 

09/25/2006 l8.Q ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 9125/06 
until 10/27/06. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/25/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
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08/30/2006 ill Letter regarding defendant's requested postponement of trial and discovery as to Rodney 
Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 08/30/2006) 

08/30/2006 1M ORDER re the parties' discovery session -- see attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 8-30-06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/30/2006) 

09/06/2006 ill ORDER Of Excludable Delay as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 9/6/06 until 
9/15/06. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/6/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
09/12/2006) 

09/07/2006 ill Letter opposing defendant's 8/28/06 letter requesting reconsideration of the Court's 8/25/06 
denial of motion to dismiss on Speedy Trial Act grounds as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 09/07/2006) 

09/09/2006 .l6.6 Letter Reply to Court Re: Speedy Trial as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 
09/09/2006) 

09/1112006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Ex Parte MOTION for Forfeiture of 
Property Granting Temporary Stay by United States (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09/1112006) 

09/13/2006 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Ex Parte MOTION for Forfeiture of 
Property Granting Temporary Stay by United States (revised to correct grammatical error) 
(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09113/2006) 

09/13/2006 ill Letter Providing professional background per order of the Court as to Rodney Morrison 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 09/13/2006) 

09115/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 9115/2006. Next status confemce set for September 25,2006 at I :30 pm. 
(Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 09115/2006) 

09/15/2006 ill WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 9115/06 until 9/25/06. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
9115/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09118/2006) 

09/2112006 ill Letter advising that the government will not consent to second adjournment for filing of reply 
papers as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09/2112006) 

09/2112006 ill Letter regarding discovery of certain CD's as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 09/2112006) 

09/22/2006 ill Letter notifYing counsel of government's intent to schedule Death Penalty Committee review 
meeting as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09/22/2006) 

09/25/2006 11.6. REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Ex Parte MOTION for 
Forfeiture of Property Granting Temporary Stay (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # ;l.)(Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 09/25/2006) 

09/25/2006 ill ORDER Regarding Reconsideration of Court's Prior Order .l2.6. (See also ill , ill , and .l6.6 
). See attached for details. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 09/25/06. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 09/25/2006) 

09/25/2006 ill AFFIDAVIT by Rodney Morrison (Senft, Anthony) (Entered: 09/25/2006) 

09/25/2006 .l12 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 9/25/2006. Next conference set for October 27, 2006 at I :30 pm. (Court 
Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 09/2612006) 

09/25/2006 l8.Q ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 9125/06 
until 10/27/06. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/25/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
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09/26/2006) 

09/28/2006 ill Letter requesting additional time to submit motion as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 0912812006) 

0912912006 ORDER ill : The Defendant's application for a one week extension to submit his motion, 
which is not opposed by the Government, is granted. Defendant's papers shall be served and 
filed by October 6, 2006; the Government's response shall be served and filed by October 18, 
2006; and Defendant's reply shall be served and filed by October 25, 2006. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 9-29-06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 09129/2006) 

09129/2006 m Letter Sur-Reply in Response to Rodney Morrison's letter dated Septemer 25, 2006 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit A)(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09129/2006) 

1010612006 ill Second MOTION to Dismiss by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # .3. # ;1 # i)(Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 1010712006) 

1010712006 1M EXHIBITS to ill Second Motion to Dismiss by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # .3. 
# ;1 # 5. # 6. # l)(Smith, Peter) Modified on 10/10/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10107/2006) 

10107/2006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: 1M Second MOTION to 
Dismiss filed by Rodney Morrison. (The documents should have been filed as Exhibits to the 
ill Motion. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: I Oil 0/2006) 

10110/2006 ill Letter Pursuant to Rule 16 of the Federal Criminal Rules as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 1011 0/2006) 

10113/2006 1.&.6. RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss, 1M Second 
MOTION to Dismiss SEEKING ADDITIONAL TIME TO RESPOND IN OPPOSITION 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/13/2006) 

10116/2006 ORDER re: Government's Letter Request 1.&.6. : Upon consideration of the Government's 
letter request for an extension until Nov. 9,2006, within which to respond in opposition to 
the Defendant's motion seeking dismissal (see ill ,1M), including the Government's 
representation of the Defendant's consent to said extension, such request is GRANTED. So 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10116106. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10116/2006) 

10119/2006 ill ORDER: Defendant's Motion for a Temporary Stay (doc. #161) is DENIED. Ifthe Defendant 
does not repatriate the subject foreign assets within ten (10) days of this Order, the 
Government may renew its request for an order of contempt. See attached decision. Ordered 
by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-19-06.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10119/2006) 

10/23/2006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Richard Ware Levitt appearing for Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 10/23/2006) 

10/25/2006 l.a.2. Letter re: Request for continuance of conference scheduled for October 27, 2006 by Rodney 
Morrison. (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 10/26/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10/25/2006) 

10/25/2006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: l.a.2. Letter MOTION for 
continuance of conference scheduled for October 27, 2006 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The 
document should have been filed as a Letter request and the Court will address the document 
as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/26/2006) 

10/26/2006 l.2.O. Letter to Han. Denis R. Hurley seeking clarification of Court's Order of October 19, 2006 
(#187) as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 10/26/2006) 

10127/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/27/2006 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
10/27/2006) 
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09/26/2006) 

09/28/2006 ill Letter requesting additional time to submit motion as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 0912812006) 

0912912006 ORDER ill : The Defendant's application for a one week extension to submit his motion, 
which is not opposed by the Government, is granted. Defendant's papers shall be served and 
filed by October 6, 2006; the Government's response shall be served and filed by October 18, 
2006; and Defendant's reply shall be served and filed by October 25, 2006. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 9-29-06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 09129/2006) 

09129/2006 m Letter Sur-Reply in Response to Rodney Morrison's letter dated Septemer 25, 2006 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit A)(Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 09129/2006) 

1010612006 ill Second MOTION to Dismiss by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # .3. # ;1 # i)(Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 1010712006) 

1010712006 1M EXHIBITS to ill Second Motion to Dismiss by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # .3. 
# ;1 # 5. # 6. # l)(Smith, Peter) Modified on 10/10/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10107/2006) 

10107/2006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: 1M Second MOTION to 
Dismiss filed by Rodney Morrison. (The documents should have been filed as Exhibits to the 
ill Motion. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: I Oil 0/2006) 

10110/2006 ill Letter Pursuant to Rule 16 of the Federal Criminal Rules as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 1011 0/2006) 

10113/2006 1.&.6. RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss, 1M Second 
MOTION to Dismiss SEEKING ADDITIONAL TIME TO RESPOND IN OPPOSITION 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/13/2006) 

10116/2006 ORDER re: Government's Letter Request 1.&.6. : Upon consideration of the Government's 
letter request for an extension until Nov. 9,2006, within which to respond in opposition to 
the Defendant's motion seeking dismissal (see ill ,1M), including the Government's 
representation of the Defendant's consent to said extension, such request is GRANTED. So 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10116106. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10116/2006) 

10119/2006 ill ORDER: Defendant's Motion for a Temporary Stay (doc. #161) is DENIED. Ifthe Defendant 
does not repatriate the subject foreign assets within ten (10) days of this Order, the 
Government may renew its request for an order of contempt. See attached decision. Ordered 
by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-19-06.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10119/2006) 

10/23/2006 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Richard Ware Levitt appearing for Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 10/23/2006) 

10/25/2006 l.a.2. Letter re: Request for continuance of conference scheduled for October 27, 2006 by Rodney 
Morrison. (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 10/26/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10/25/2006) 

10/25/2006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: l.a.2. Letter MOTION for 
continuance of conference scheduled for October 27, 2006 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The 
document should have been filed as a Letter request and the Court will address the document 
as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/26/2006) 

10/26/2006 l.2.O. Letter to Han. Denis R. Hurley seeking clarification of Court's Order of October 19, 2006 
(#187) as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 10/26/2006) 

10127/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/27/2006 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
10/27/2006) 
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10/27/2006 l24 ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 10/27/06 
until 12/8106. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/27/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
10/3112006) 

10130/2006 .l.22 Letter The government writes in opposition to defendant Rodney Morrison's letter dated 
October 26, 2006 (Doc #190) requesting, that the Court "clarifY or modifY" its Order of 
October 19,2006 and its Ex-Parte Post-Indictment Restraining Order dated July 11,2006. as 
to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 10/30/2006) 

10/30/2006 ill Letter To all Counselors, In accordance with the court's Ex-Parte Post-Indictment 
Restraining Order of July 11, 2006, please have your client Rodney Arnoldo Morrison, Sr. 
execute before a notary both duplicate originals of the enclosed leiter directed to the 
custodian ofCreidt Suisse account number 0835-645186-72, held in the name of Rodney 
Arnoldo Morrison, Sr., directing that all assets in such account be liquidated and forwarded 
by wire to the U.S. Marshals Service. as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # l)(Lunger, 
Richard) (Entered: 10/30/2006) 

1110112006 ill MANDATE of USCA (certified copy): It is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED and 
DECREED that order of the District Court is AFFIRMED, as to Rodney Morrison re ill 
Notice of Appeal - Conditions of Release. Copy of mandate sent to Chambers. USCA# 06-
3621-cr. (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 11102/2006) 

11102/2006 .l.2fi Letter Response to Government's October 30, 2006 Letter in Opposition to Defense Request 
to ClarifY and ModifY Pre- Trial Restraint of Monies as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 11102/2006) 

11/07/2006 121 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss SEEKING 
EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE, WITH CONSENT OF THE 
DEFENSE (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11107/2006) 

11108/2006 ill Letter Government's Response to Defense Letter of November 2, 2006 Seeking Clarification 
of Restraining Order as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger,Richard) (Entered: 11108/2006) 

11109/2006 l22 Letter in Reply to Government's November 8, 2006 Letter Regarding Pretrial Restraint of 
Assets as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 11109/2006) 

11109/2006 ORDER re 121 : The government's request for an extension to November 20, 2006 to file 
opposition papers, on consent, is granted. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11-9-06. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11109/2006) 

11109/2006 ENDORSED ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: doc #197. The Government's application for 
an extention of time to file the response to the motion to dismiss is Granted. The response 
shall be filed by November 20, 2006 .. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1110912006. 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11109/2006) 

1112012006 2illl Letter requesting inspection of boxes of the handguns as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 11120/2006) 

1112012006 2ill Letter requesting copy of videotape and pictures of August 5, 2004 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 11120/2006) 

1112012006 2Q2 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss, 1M 
Second MOTION to Dismiss (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Revised transcript# 2 
Exhibit)(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11120/2006) 

1112112006 2lll ORDER re .l.2Jl. (Letter Request for Clarification): Defendant's Letter Request for Clarification 
is DENIED. See attached Memorandum and Order for details. So Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 11121106. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 1112112006) 
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10/27/2006 l24 ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 10/27/06 
until 12/8106. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/27/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
10/3112006) 

10130/2006 .l.22 Letter The government writes in opposition to defendant Rodney Morrison's letter dated 
October 26, 2006 (Doc #190) requesting, that the Court "clarifY or modifY" its Order of 
October 19,2006 and its Ex-Parte Post-Indictment Restraining Order dated July 11,2006. as 
to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) (Entered: 10/30/2006) 

10/30/2006 ill Letter To all Counselors, In accordance with the court's Ex-Parte Post-Indictment 
Restraining Order of July 11, 2006, please have your client Rodney Arnoldo Morrison, Sr. 
execute before a notary both duplicate originals of the enclosed leiter directed to the 
custodian ofCreidt Suisse account number 0835-645186-72, held in the name of Rodney 
Arnoldo Morrison, Sr., directing that all assets in such account be liquidated and forwarded 
by wire to the U.S. Marshals Service. as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # l)(Lunger, 
Richard) (Entered: 10/30/2006) 

1110112006 ill MANDATE of USCA (certified copy): It is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED and 
DECREED that order of the District Court is AFFIRMED, as to Rodney Morrison re ill 
Notice of Appeal - Conditions of Release. Copy of mandate sent to Chambers. USCA# 06-
3621-cr. (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 11102/2006) 

11102/2006 .l.2fi Letter Response to Government's October 30, 2006 Letter in Opposition to Defense Request 
to ClarifY and ModifY Pre- Trial Restraint of Monies as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 11102/2006) 

11/07/2006 121 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss SEEKING 
EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE, WITH CONSENT OF THE 
DEFENSE (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11107/2006) 

11108/2006 ill Letter Government's Response to Defense Letter of November 2, 2006 Seeking Clarification 
of Restraining Order as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger,Richard) (Entered: 11108/2006) 

11109/2006 l22 Letter in Reply to Government's November 8, 2006 Letter Regarding Pretrial Restraint of 
Assets as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 11109/2006) 

11109/2006 ORDER re 121 : The government's request for an extension to November 20, 2006 to file 
opposition papers, on consent, is granted. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11-9-06. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11109/2006) 

11109/2006 ENDORSED ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: doc #197. The Government's application for 
an extention of time to file the response to the motion to dismiss is Granted. The response 
shall be filed by November 20, 2006 .. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1110912006. 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11109/2006) 

1112012006 2illl Letter requesting inspection of boxes of the handguns as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 11120/2006) 

1112012006 2ill Letter requesting copy of videotape and pictures of August 5, 2004 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 11120/2006) 

1112012006 2Q2 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss, 1M 
Second MOTION to Dismiss (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Revised transcript# 2 
Exhibit)(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11120/2006) 

1112112006 2lll ORDER re .l.2Jl. (Letter Request for Clarification): Defendant's Letter Request for Clarification 
is DENIED. See attached Memorandum and Order for details. So Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 11121106. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 1112112006) 
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1112112006 2M Letter responding to 11120106 requests of Peter Smith for discovery as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 1112112006) 

11122/2006 ill Letter to Hon. Denis R. Hurley re: proposed motion schedule as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 11122/2006) 

11127/2006 2llii Letter termination as attorney of record as to Rodney Morrison (Cleere, Thomas) (Entered: 
11127/2006) 

11127/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Thomas P. Cleere terminated. (See 
2llii Letter.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11128/2006) 

11129/2006 2111 Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz re:Document Boxes to picked and scanned as to Rodney 
Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 11129/2006) 

12/0112006 2QB. LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply by Rodney Morrison. 
(Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 12/4/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 12/0112006) 

12/0112006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: 2QB. MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should 
have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections 
have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/04/2006) 

12/04/2006 ORDER re 2QB. (LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply by 
Rodney Morrison): Upon consideration of Defendant's Letter Request and Attorney Nobel's 
representation that AUSA Miskiewicz does not oppose Defendant's requested extension, said 
extension is GRANTED; Defendant shall have until December II, 2006 to file his reply to 
the Government's response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. So Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 12/04/06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 12/04/2006) 

12/05/2006 W Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz requesting that he advise FBI agent Troyd to provide 
documents as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/05/2006) 

12/05/2006 2lD. Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz requesting recorder Jailhouse conversation between Mr. 
Morrison and John Pedersen as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/05/2006) 

12/06/2006 ill Letter to Court re: agenda for December 8, 2006 court appearance as to Rodney Morrison 
(Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 12/06/2006) 

12/06/2006 ill Letter (Corrected) to Court re: agenda for December 8, 2006 court appearance as to Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 12/06/2006) 

12/07/2006 ill Letter In accordance with the Memorandum and Order dated November 21,2006 issued by 
the Honorable Denis R. Hurley, please advise the undersigned Asistant Us. Attorney of the 
actions the defendant Rodney Morrison has taken to comply with the Court's Ex-Parte Post 
Indictment Restraining Order of July 11, 2006. as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) 
(Entered: 12/07/2006) 

12/08/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 12/8/2006. Next status set for 115/2007 AT 1 :30 PM. (Court Reporter Mary 
Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 12/08/2006) 

12/08/2006 2l.(i WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRJALIORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 12/8/06 until 115/07. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
12/8/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12111/2006) 

1211112006 ill Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz re:Defense Discovery Request as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/1112006) 

12112/2006 ill Letter by USA regarding recordings of the defendant as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
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1112112006 2M Letter responding to 11120106 requests of Peter Smith for discovery as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 1112112006) 

11122/2006 ill Letter to Hon. Denis R. Hurley re: proposed motion schedule as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 11122/2006) 

11127/2006 2llii Letter termination as attorney of record as to Rodney Morrison (Cleere, Thomas) (Entered: 
11127/2006) 

11127/2006 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Thomas P. Cleere terminated. (See 
2llii Letter.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11128/2006) 

11129/2006 2111 Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz re:Document Boxes to picked and scanned as to Rodney 
Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 11129/2006) 

12/0112006 2QB. LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply by Rodney Morrison. 
(Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 12/4/2006 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 12/0112006) 

12/0112006 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly as to Rodney Morrison: 2QB. MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should 
have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections 
have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/04/2006) 

12/04/2006 ORDER re 2QB. (LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply by 
Rodney Morrison): Upon consideration of Defendant's Letter Request and Attorney Nobel's 
representation that AUSA Miskiewicz does not oppose Defendant's requested extension, said 
extension is GRANTED; Defendant shall have until December II, 2006 to file his reply to 
the Government's response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. So Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 12/04/06. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 12/04/2006) 

12/05/2006 W Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz requesting that he advise FBI agent Troyd to provide 
documents as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/05/2006) 

12/05/2006 2lD. Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz requesting recorder Jailhouse conversation between Mr. 
Morrison and John Pedersen as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/05/2006) 

12/06/2006 ill Letter to Court re: agenda for December 8, 2006 court appearance as to Rodney Morrison 
(Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 12/06/2006) 

12/06/2006 ill Letter (Corrected) to Court re: agenda for December 8, 2006 court appearance as to Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 12/06/2006) 

12/07/2006 ill Letter In accordance with the Memorandum and Order dated November 21,2006 issued by 
the Honorable Denis R. Hurley, please advise the undersigned Asistant Us. Attorney of the 
actions the defendant Rodney Morrison has taken to comply with the Court's Ex-Parte Post 
Indictment Restraining Order of July 11, 2006. as to Rodney Morrison (Lunger, Richard) 
(Entered: 12/07/2006) 

12/08/2006 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 12/8/2006. Next status set for 115/2007 AT 1 :30 PM. (Court Reporter Mary 
Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 12/08/2006) 

12/08/2006 2l.(i WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRJALIORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 12/8/06 until 115/07. ( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
12/8/06.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12111/2006) 

1211112006 ill Letter to A USA James Miskiewicz re:Defense Discovery Request as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/1112006) 

12112/2006 ill Letter by USA regarding recordings of the defendant as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
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James) (Entered: 12/12/2006) 

1211612006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss 
(Attachments: # 1 Rule 26(a) Disclosure # 2. # 3. # 4.)(Smitn, Peter) (Entered: 12116/2006) 

12/18/2006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss or 
Preclusion (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 1211812006) 

12118/2006 22.Q Letter with missed Exhibit "B"from 12115106 Defendant's Reply as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12118/2006) 

12/20/2006 221 Letter requesting copies of videotapes and photos as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 12/20/2006) 

12/20/2006 m Letter requesting micro-cassette of recorded call by Tony Phillips to the Peace Pipe Smoke 
Shop as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/20/2006) 

12/29/2006 223. Letter requesting on week extension on pre-trial motion as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 12/29/2006) 

0110312007 2M MOTION for Discovery, MOTION for Hearing and other pretrial motions by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Affirmation) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01103/2007) 

01103/2007 22.5. PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM in Support of Pretrial Motions (docket # 224) by Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1# 2. Exhibit 2 (part one)# 3. Exhibit 2 (part two)# 4. 
Exhibit 3#.5. Exhibit 4# .6. Exhibit 5# 1 Exhibit 6# .8. Exhibit 7# 2 Exhibit 8# l.Q Exhibit 9) 
(Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01103/2007) 

01103/2007 ORDER re 223. : Defendant's request for a one week extension to submit his pretrial motion 
is granted. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1-3-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
01103/2007) . 

01104/2007 2.2..6. Letter Regarding Status Conference set for January 5, 2006 as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 01104/2007) 

01105/2007 228 ORDEROF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 115107 
until 1118/07.( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 115107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01109/2007) 

01108/2007 m Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 115/2007 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
01108/2007) 

01112/2007 2.2.2 Letter regarding consideration of defendant's proffer statements in connection with the 
hearing scheduled for January 18, 2007 as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 01112/2007) 

01ll7l2007 2.lQ Letter to Judge Hurley re: A USA Miskiewicz 1112107 Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 01117/2007) 

0111712007 ill Letter to A USA Miskiewicz re: Request 3500 material for all witnesses to presented by the 
Government as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 01117/2007) 

01118/2007 ill Letter regarding 3500 material for today's hearing as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 01118/2007) 

01118/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1118/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
01119/2007) 

01118/2007 ORDER; as to Rodney Morrison; terminating 224 Motion. See ill Minute Entry. ( Ordered 
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James) (Entered: 12/12/2006) 

1211612006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss 
(Attachments: # 1 Rule 26(a) Disclosure # 2. # 3. # 4.)(Smitn, Peter) (Entered: 12116/2006) 

12/18/2006 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss or 
Preclusion (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 1211812006) 

12118/2006 22.Q Letter with missed Exhibit "B"from 12115106 Defendant's Reply as to Rodney Morrison 
(Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12118/2006) 

12/20/2006 221 Letter requesting copies of videotapes and photos as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 12/20/2006) 

12/20/2006 m Letter requesting micro-cassette of recorded call by Tony Phillips to the Peace Pipe Smoke 
Shop as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 12/20/2006) 

12/29/2006 223. Letter requesting on week extension on pre-trial motion as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) 
(Entered: 12/29/2006) 

0110312007 2M MOTION for Discovery, MOTION for Hearing and other pretrial motions by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Affirmation) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01103/2007) 

01103/2007 22.5. PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM in Support of Pretrial Motions (docket # 224) by Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1# 2. Exhibit 2 (part one)# 3. Exhibit 2 (part two)# 4. 
Exhibit 3#.5. Exhibit 4# .6. Exhibit 5# 1 Exhibit 6# .8. Exhibit 7# 2 Exhibit 8# l.Q Exhibit 9) 
(Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01103/2007) 

01103/2007 ORDER re 223. : Defendant's request for a one week extension to submit his pretrial motion 
is granted. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1-3-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
01103/2007) . 

01104/2007 2.2..6. Letter Regarding Status Conference set for January 5, 2006 as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 01104/2007) 

01105/2007 228 ORDEROF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney Morrison; Time excluded from 115107 
until 1118/07.( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 115107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01109/2007) 

01108/2007 m Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 115/2007 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
01108/2007) 

01112/2007 2.2.2 Letter regarding consideration of defendant's proffer statements in connection with the 
hearing scheduled for January 18, 2007 as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 01112/2007) 

01ll7l2007 2.lQ Letter to Judge Hurley re: A USA Miskiewicz 1112107 Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, 
Peter) (Entered: 01117/2007) 

0111712007 ill Letter to A USA Miskiewicz re: Request 3500 material for all witnesses to presented by the 
Government as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 01117/2007) 

01118/2007 ill Letter regarding 3500 material for today's hearing as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 01118/2007) 

01118/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1118/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
01119/2007) 

01118/2007 ORDER; as to Rodney Morrison; terminating 224 Motion. See ill Minute Entry. ( Ordered 
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by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 04-699.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2007) 

01119/2007 234 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1119/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) Modified on 
112212007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 01119/2007) 

01119/2007 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: William T. Martin appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2007) 

01123/2007 236 Letter requesting one week extension of time to file responses to defendant'S latest motion and 
Rule 404(b) notice as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01123/2007) 

01123/2007 231. Letter re: Request to Unseal Document Ltr. Han. Denis R. Hurley by Rodney Morrison. 
(Brady, Colleen) Modified on 112412007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 01123/2007) 

01123/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 231. Letter MOTION to 
Unseal Document Ltr. Han. Denis R. Hurley filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document 
should have been filed as a Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. 
All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01124/2007) 

01124/2007 23.8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Clerk of the Supreme Court of the State of New 
York for Kings County, unseal, release and provide copies of the following items in the 
sealed criminal court files: (a) plea, sentence, and conviction minutes, (b) felony complaint, 
(c), indictment, and (d) criminal record, documents pertaining to each ofthe following 
individuals: Dwight Carter, Docket Number SCI 05861, Thurmond Davis, Docket Number 
SCI 05862, Arturo Kerr, Docket Number SCI 05863, Lamont Wright, Docket Number SCI 
05864. All documents should be mailed to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States 
District Judge, Eastern District of New York, 100 Federal Plaa, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, no 
later than 2115107. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1124/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01125/2007) 

01125/2007 ORDER Granting the government's m Letter requesting an extention to Februry 2, 2007 to 
respond to the defendant's motion to dismiss and to file a 404(b) notice. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1125/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01125/2007) 

01129/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley with Defendant'S appended Affidavit to defendant'S motion for 
preclusion or dismissal as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 01129/2007) 

0210112007 2.4Q Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 2/112007 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02/0112007) 

02/0212007 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 224 MOTION for Discovery MOTION for 
Hearing and other pretrial motions by USA (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # 3. # '" # .5. # 6. # 1) 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/02/2007) 

02/02/2007 ill LETTER re: To request that the evidence described herein, be admitted at the deft's trial by 
USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 2/5/2007 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 0210212007) 

02/02/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION in 
Limine to admit evidence filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a Letter 
request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/05/2007) 

02/06/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley with attachments as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 
02/06/2007) 

02/06/2007 ill Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Senft, Anthony) (Entered: 02/06/2007) 
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by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 04-699.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2007) 

01119/2007 234 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1119/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) Modified on 
112212007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 01119/2007) 

01119/2007 ill NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: William T. Martin appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2007) 

01123/2007 236 Letter requesting one week extension of time to file responses to defendant'S latest motion and 
Rule 404(b) notice as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01123/2007) 

01123/2007 231. Letter re: Request to Unseal Document Ltr. Han. Denis R. Hurley by Rodney Morrison. 
(Brady, Colleen) Modified on 112412007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 01123/2007) 

01123/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 231. Letter MOTION to 
Unseal Document Ltr. Han. Denis R. Hurley filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document 
should have been filed as a Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. 
All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01124/2007) 

01124/2007 23.8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Clerk of the Supreme Court of the State of New 
York for Kings County, unseal, release and provide copies of the following items in the 
sealed criminal court files: (a) plea, sentence, and conviction minutes, (b) felony complaint, 
(c), indictment, and (d) criminal record, documents pertaining to each ofthe following 
individuals: Dwight Carter, Docket Number SCI 05861, Thurmond Davis, Docket Number 
SCI 05862, Arturo Kerr, Docket Number SCI 05863, Lamont Wright, Docket Number SCI 
05864. All documents should be mailed to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States 
District Judge, Eastern District of New York, 100 Federal Plaa, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, no 
later than 2115107. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1124/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01125/2007) 

01125/2007 ORDER Granting the government's m Letter requesting an extention to Februry 2, 2007 to 
respond to the defendant's motion to dismiss and to file a 404(b) notice. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1125/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01125/2007) 

01129/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley with Defendant'S appended Affidavit to defendant'S motion for 
preclusion or dismissal as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 01129/2007) 

0210112007 2.4Q Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 2/112007 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02/0112007) 

02/0212007 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 224 MOTION for Discovery MOTION for 
Hearing and other pretrial motions by USA (Attachments: # 1 # 2 # 3. # '" # .5. # 6. # 1) 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/02/2007) 

02/02/2007 ill LETTER re: To request that the evidence described herein, be admitted at the deft's trial by 
USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 2/5/2007 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 0210212007) 

02/02/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION in 
Limine to admit evidence filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a Letter 
request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/05/2007) 

02/06/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley with attachments as to Rodney Morrison (Smith, Peter) (Entered: 
02/06/2007) 

02/06/2007 ill Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Senft, Anthony) (Entered: 02/06/2007) 
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02/0612007 . ill Letter renewing government's application to preclude exmaination of Phillips and response to 
defense letter of 2/6/07 as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/06/2007) 

02/07/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 21712007 (Court Reporter Auerbach/Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02/07/2007) 

02/09/2007 241 Letter per F.R.Cr.P. 16 transmitting Henry autopsy report and digitial photos regarding 
arson as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/0912007) 

02/15/2007 248 Letter transmitting supplemental discovery pursuant to FRCrP 16 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02115/2007) 

02115/2007 W Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 2115/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02116/2007) 

02116/2007 2iQ REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2M MOTION for Discovery 
MOTION for Hearing and other pretrial motions (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 02116/2007) 

02/16/2007 ill Letter to Hon. Denis R. Hurley in response to government's letter of 2/2/07 as to Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 02116/2007) 

02/22/2007 ill Letter REGARDING DEATH PENALTY PROTOCOL as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 02/22/2007) 

02/2212007 ill Letter regarding discovery in possession of SK, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 02/22/2007) 

·02/26/2007 li4 Letter re burden of proof as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 02/26/2007) 

02/26/2007 255 Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Brady, Colleen) (Entered: 02/26/2007) 

02/28/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 2/28/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport! Owen Wicker.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/0112007) 

03/0112007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 3/112007 (Court Reporter Stephanie Picozzi 1 Owen Wicker.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 03/0112007) 

03/09/2007 ill Letter transmitting Rule 16 discovery obtained via MLAT to Japan as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit # 2. # 3. #:1) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03/09/2007) 

0311512007 2QQ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 3115/2007 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03119/2007) 

03116/2007 259 Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03116/2007) 

03/22/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 3/2112007 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/22/2007) 

03/26/2007 262 Letter Confirming Adjournment until April 9, 2007 as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 03/26/2007) 

04/05/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 224 Motion to reveal identities of confidential informants 
is DENIED. The alternate request that confidential informants be produced in open court for 
possible interview with the defense is also DENIED .. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
4/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04105/2007) 
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02/0612007 . ill Letter renewing government's application to preclude exmaination of Phillips and response to 
defense letter of 2/6/07 as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/06/2007) 

02/07/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 21712007 (Court Reporter Auerbach/Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02/07/2007) 

02/09/2007 241 Letter per F.R.Cr.P. 16 transmitting Henry autopsy report and digitial photos regarding 
arson as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/0912007) 

02/15/2007 248 Letter transmitting supplemental discovery pursuant to FRCrP 16 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02115/2007) 

02115/2007 W Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 2115/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02116/2007) 

02116/2007 2iQ REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2M MOTION for Discovery 
MOTION for Hearing and other pretrial motions (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 02116/2007) 

02/16/2007 ill Letter to Hon. Denis R. Hurley in response to government's letter of 2/2/07 as to Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 02116/2007) 

02/22/2007 ill Letter REGARDING DEATH PENALTY PROTOCOL as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 02/22/2007) 

02/2212007 ill Letter regarding discovery in possession of SK, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 02/22/2007) 

·02/26/2007 li4 Letter re burden of proof as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 02/26/2007) 

02/26/2007 255 Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Brady, Colleen) (Entered: 02/26/2007) 

02/28/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 2/28/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport! Owen Wicker.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/0112007) 

03/0112007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 3/112007 (Court Reporter Stephanie Picozzi 1 Owen Wicker.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 03/0112007) 

03/09/2007 ill Letter transmitting Rule 16 discovery obtained via MLAT to Japan as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit # 2. # 3. #:1) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03/09/2007) 

0311512007 2QQ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 3115/2007 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03119/2007) 

03116/2007 259 Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03116/2007) 

03/22/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 3/2112007 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/22/2007) 

03/26/2007 262 Letter Confirming Adjournment until April 9, 2007 as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 03/26/2007) 

04/05/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 224 Motion to reveal identities of confidential informants 
is DENIED. The alternate request that confidential informants be produced in open court for 
possible interview with the defense is also DENIED .. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
4/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04105/2007) 
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04/05/2007 2M ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 224 MOTION for Discovery. The Government is directed 
to furnish defendant, by May 3, 2007, with a list of items that it intends to offer as part of its 
case-in-chiefregarding Racketeering Acts 4-80 of count one with sufficient detail to permit 
the defendseto readily locate those items from the documents already furnished, or 
alternatively, prepare such list with the responsive documents attached. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 4/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04105/2007) 

04/05/2007 ill ORDER as to ill First MOTION in Limine to admit evidence. The Court denies the 
government's Rule 404(b) application as to the 1987 Criminally Negligent Homicide indicent; 
Grants the Narcotics Distribution application regarding the relationship oftrust between 
Morrison and Phillips, however the court defers decision as to "others" said to be earlier 
confiderates of Morrison. The Court defers decision on the Statutory Rape, On-going 
Criminal Activity and the Assault of Chief Harry Wallace applications. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 4/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) Additional attachment(s) added on 411012007 
(Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 04105/2007) 

0411 I12007 2.6fi Letter regarding AG's decision to not seek the death penalty as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0411112007) 

04113/2007 ill ORDER denying defendant's application for a conflicts hearing 224 -- see attached decision. 
. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4-13-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 04/1312007) 

04116/2007 26.8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 411612007. Briefing schedules set. May 21, 2007 trial date is adjourned to 
October 22, 2007 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04116/2007) 

0411612007 2Q2 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: William H. Murphy, Jr appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0411612007) 

04/16/2007 Z1ll. NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony A. Capetola appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0411612007) 

04116/2007 ill WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 4116107 until 10/22107.( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
4116/07.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 4117/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0411712007) 

04/2612007 ill Letter from Peter S. Smith to Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 4126/07 as to Rodney 
Morrison re: re: To request an Order authorizing the Nassau County Correctional Facility to 
schedule a special Sunday attorney client visit. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04126/2007) 

04/26/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter; That Jail personnel accommodate this request 
and schedule a special attorney client visit on Sunday, 4129107 at a time to be determined by 
Jail personnel. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/26/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/26/2007) 

04/27/2007 m MEMORANDUM in support of motion to preclude or dismiss by Rodney Morrison. (Nobel, 
Daniel) Modified on 413012007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 04127/2007) 

04/27/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: m MOTION to Dismiss 
Post hearing memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss filed by Rodney 
Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Memorandum in Support, and the 
Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 04/30/2007) 

05/02/2007 ill Letter re: Request for Extension of Time to File post hearing memorandum re microcassette 
hearing by Rodney Morrison. (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 5/312007 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 05102/2007) 
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04/05/2007 2M ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 224 MOTION for Discovery. The Government is directed 
to furnish defendant, by May 3, 2007, with a list of items that it intends to offer as part of its 
case-in-chiefregarding Racketeering Acts 4-80 of count one with sufficient detail to permit 
the defendseto readily locate those items from the documents already furnished, or 
alternatively, prepare such list with the responsive documents attached. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 4/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04105/2007) 

04/05/2007 ill ORDER as to ill First MOTION in Limine to admit evidence. The Court denies the 
government's Rule 404(b) application as to the 1987 Criminally Negligent Homicide indicent; 
Grants the Narcotics Distribution application regarding the relationship oftrust between 
Morrison and Phillips, however the court defers decision as to "others" said to be earlier 
confiderates of Morrison. The Court defers decision on the Statutory Rape, On-going 
Criminal Activity and the Assault of Chief Harry Wallace applications. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 4/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) Additional attachment(s) added on 411012007 
(Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 04105/2007) 

0411 I12007 2.6fi Letter regarding AG's decision to not seek the death penalty as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0411112007) 

04113/2007 ill ORDER denying defendant's application for a conflicts hearing 224 -- see attached decision. 
. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4-13-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 04/1312007) 

04116/2007 26.8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Evidentiary Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 411612007. Briefing schedules set. May 21, 2007 trial date is adjourned to 
October 22, 2007 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04116/2007) 

0411612007 2Q2 NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: William H. Murphy, Jr appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0411612007) 

04/16/2007 Z1ll. NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Anthony A. Capetola appearing for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0411612007) 

04116/2007 ill WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL/ORDER OF EXCLUDABLE DELAY as to Rodney 
Morrison; Time excluded from 4116107 until 10/22107.( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
4116/07.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 4117/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0411712007) 

04/2612007 ill Letter from Peter S. Smith to Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 4126/07 as to Rodney 
Morrison re: re: To request an Order authorizing the Nassau County Correctional Facility to 
schedule a special Sunday attorney client visit. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04126/2007) 

04/26/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter; That Jail personnel accommodate this request 
and schedule a special attorney client visit on Sunday, 4129107 at a time to be determined by 
Jail personnel. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/26/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/26/2007) 

04/27/2007 m MEMORANDUM in support of motion to preclude or dismiss by Rodney Morrison. (Nobel, 
Daniel) Modified on 413012007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 04127/2007) 

04/27/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: m MOTION to Dismiss 
Post hearing memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss filed by Rodney 
Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Memorandum in Support, and the 
Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 04/30/2007) 

05/02/2007 ill Letter re: Request for Extension of Time to File post hearing memorandum re microcassette 
hearing by Rodney Morrison. (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 5/312007 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 05102/2007) 
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05/02/2007 Motions tenninated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill Letter MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File post hearing memorandum re microcassette hearing filed by 
Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Letter request, and the Court 
will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
05/03/2007) 

05/03/2007 ORDER re 275 : Defendant's request for an extension of time to file his brief regarding the 
microcassette hearing is granted. Accordingly, Defendant's brief shall be served and filed by 
May 7,2007; the Government's response shall be served and filed by May 21, 2007; and 
Defendant's reply brief shall be served and filed by May 25, 2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 5-3-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05/03/2007) 

05/07/2007 ill PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM Post hearing memorandum in support of motion to preclude 
testimony by Rodney Morrison (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2007) 

05/08/2007 2l8. Letter re: Request to Quash Defendant's Subpoena by USA as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachment #1: Letter Motion with Redacted Copy of Subpoenas without address and social 
security number of Robert Trotta) (Lesko, Mark) Additional attachment added on 5/8/2007 
(Mahon, Cinthia). Modified on 5/8/2007 (Mahon, Cinthia). Modified on 5/9/2007 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 05108/2007) 

05/08/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 2l8. Letter MOTION to Quash Defendant's Subpoena filed 
by USA: Defendant shall serve opposing papers on or before 5 p.m. on May 11, 2007; the 
Government shall serve reply papers on or before 4:30 on May 14,2007; oral argument on the 
motion shall be held on May 15,2007 at 11 :30 a.m.; Defendant, his attorneys, agents or 
anyone acting on his behalf are temporarily enjoined from receiving, reviewing or taking 
custody of any documents produced or offered for production in reponse to subpoena at issue 
or any subpoena served seeking personal banking or other personal records of any prosecutor, 
investigator and/or detective involved in this case. See attached Order.Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 5/8/07.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05108/2007) 

05/08/2007 2£Q Letter re: Request to Quash Defendant's North Fork Bank and Chase Subpoenas by USA as 
to Rodney Morrison. (Lesko, Mark) Modified on 5/9/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
05108/2007) 

05/08/2007 Motions tenninated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 2l8. Letter MOTION to 
Quash Defendant's Subpoena filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/09/2007) 

05/08/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 2£Q Letter MOTION to 
Quash Defendant's North Fork Bank and Chase Subpoenas filed by USA. (The document 
should have been filed as Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. 
All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/09/2007) 

05/09/2007 ill Letter Requesting List of Entities Served with Defendant's Subpoenas as to Rodney Morrison 
(Lesko, Mark) (Entered: 05/09/2007) 

0511112007 2£2 RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2l8. Letter MOTION to Quash Defendant's 
Subpoena (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1 # 2 Exhibit 2# 3 Exhibit 3# 4 Exhibit 4# 5 Exhibit 5# 6 
Exhibit 6# 7 Exhibit 7# 8 Exhibit 8# 9 Exhibit 9# 10 Exhibit 10# 11 Exhibit 11# 12 Exhibit 
12# II Exhibit 13) (Johnson, Robert) Modified on 5114/2007 to delete the exhibits per the 
instructions of Judge Hurley's chambers. (Mahon, Cinthia). (Entered: 0511112007) 

0511112007 2.8.3. Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 05111/2007) 

05114/2007 Incorrect Document Information filed. Exhibits to document # 282 have been deleted per the 
instructions of Trish Best, Case Manager to Judge Hurley. The exhibits contained a social 
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05/02/2007 Motions tenninated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill Letter MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File post hearing memorandum re microcassette hearing filed by 
Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Letter request, and the Court 
will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
05/03/2007) 

05/03/2007 ORDER re 275 : Defendant's request for an extension of time to file his brief regarding the 
microcassette hearing is granted. Accordingly, Defendant's brief shall be served and filed by 
May 7,2007; the Government's response shall be served and filed by May 21, 2007; and 
Defendant's reply brief shall be served and filed by May 25, 2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 5-3-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05/03/2007) 

05/07/2007 ill PRETRIAL MEMORANDUM Post hearing memorandum in support of motion to preclude 
testimony by Rodney Morrison (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2007) 

05/08/2007 2l8. Letter re: Request to Quash Defendant's Subpoena by USA as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachment #1: Letter Motion with Redacted Copy of Subpoenas without address and social 
security number of Robert Trotta) (Lesko, Mark) Additional attachment added on 5/8/2007 
(Mahon, Cinthia). Modified on 5/8/2007 (Mahon, Cinthia). Modified on 5/9/2007 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 05108/2007) 

05/08/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 2l8. Letter MOTION to Quash Defendant's Subpoena filed 
by USA: Defendant shall serve opposing papers on or before 5 p.m. on May 11, 2007; the 
Government shall serve reply papers on or before 4:30 on May 14,2007; oral argument on the 
motion shall be held on May 15,2007 at 11 :30 a.m.; Defendant, his attorneys, agents or 
anyone acting on his behalf are temporarily enjoined from receiving, reviewing or taking 
custody of any documents produced or offered for production in reponse to subpoena at issue 
or any subpoena served seeking personal banking or other personal records of any prosecutor, 
investigator and/or detective involved in this case. See attached Order.Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 5/8/07.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05108/2007) 

05/08/2007 2£Q Letter re: Request to Quash Defendant's North Fork Bank and Chase Subpoenas by USA as 
to Rodney Morrison. (Lesko, Mark) Modified on 5/9/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
05108/2007) 

05/08/2007 Motions tenninated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 2l8. Letter MOTION to 
Quash Defendant's Subpoena filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/09/2007) 

05/08/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 2£Q Letter MOTION to 
Quash Defendant's North Fork Bank and Chase Subpoenas filed by USA. (The document 
should have been filed as Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. 
All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/09/2007) 

05/09/2007 ill Letter Requesting List of Entities Served with Defendant's Subpoenas as to Rodney Morrison 
(Lesko, Mark) (Entered: 05/09/2007) 

0511112007 2£2 RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 2l8. Letter MOTION to Quash Defendant's 
Subpoena (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1 # 2 Exhibit 2# 3 Exhibit 3# 4 Exhibit 4# 5 Exhibit 5# 6 
Exhibit 6# 7 Exhibit 7# 8 Exhibit 8# 9 Exhibit 9# 10 Exhibit 10# 11 Exhibit 11# 12 Exhibit 
12# II Exhibit 13) (Johnson, Robert) Modified on 5114/2007 to delete the exhibits per the 
instructions of Judge Hurley's chambers. (Mahon, Cinthia). (Entered: 0511112007) 

0511112007 2.8.3. Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 05111/2007) 

05114/2007 Incorrect Document Information filed. Exhibits to document # 282 have been deleted per the 
instructions of Trish Best, Case Manager to Judge Hurley. The exhibits contained a social 
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security number which is in violation of the E-Government Act of 2002 and Administrative 
Order 2004-09. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 05114/2007) 

05114/2007 ELECTRONIC ORDER re ill (Defendant's May 11,2007 Letter): Defense counsel is put on 
notice that any request for an extension of time is to be made prior to a Court-ordered 
deadline and that, notwithstanding agreement among the parties, Court approval must be 
sought and received. Moreover, in accordance with this Court's Individual Practice Rule 
(I )(G), "Extensions to motion briefing schedules will not be granted absent extraordinary 
circumstances." In this instance, the Court will construe counsel's letter as a request for an 
extension. Upon consideration of said request, including the Government's consent thereto, 
said request is granted. However, all future requests are to comply with all relevant rules. So 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 05114/07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05114/2007) 

05114/2007 SCHEDULING ORDER: The hearing on the Government's Motion to Quash scheduled for 
Tuesday, May 15,2007, is re-scheduled to Thursday, May, 17,2007, at 10:30 a.m. So 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 05114/07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05114/2007) 

05114/2007 ill Letter reply to defendant's May 11, 2007 response to government's motion to quash defense 
subpoenas as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
05114/2007) 

05114/2007 ill Letter from Anthony A. Capetola to Clerk ofthe Court, as to Rodney Morrison, dated 5111/07 
re: To advise the Court of the enclosed Certificate of Good Standing for filing for filing with 
the Court in connection with the above matter which is before Hon. Denis R. Hurley. 
(Attachments: # 1 Certificate of Good Standing) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05115/2007) 

05115/2007 2.8.6 Letter Anthony A. Capetola as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 05115/2007) 

05116/2007 m Letter Withdrawing Trotta Subpoenas as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
05/16/2007) 

05/25/2007 2££ Letter Requesting Adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
OS/25/2007) 

OS/25/2007 2.8.2 Letter requesting additional time to respond to defendant's motion regarding the "missing 
micro-cassette" as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: OS/25/2007) 

OS/25/2007 ORDER re 2.8.2 : The Government's request for an extension of time to file its brief regarding 
the microcassette hearing, on consent of defendant, is granted. Accordingly, the Government's 
brief shaH be served and filed by June 4, 2007; and Defendant's reply brief shall be served 
and filed by June 8, 2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5-25-07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: OS/25/2007) 

OS/25/2007 ORDER re 2££ : Defendant's request for an extension of time to file his brief regarding the 
"conflicts issue", on consent ofthe Government, is granted. Accordingly, Defendant's brief 
shaH be served and filed by June 15,2007. Defense counsel is hereby put on notice that any 
request for an extension of time is to be made PRIOR to a Court-ordered deadline. Ordered 
by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5-25-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05/25/2007) 

05/31/2007 2212 Letter Requesting Adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
05/31/2007) 

06/01/2007 ORDER granting 2212 Letter to adjourn Morrison hearing. Hearing is rescheduled to June 12, 
2007 at 1 :30 pm. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 61112007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
06/01/2007) 

06/01/2007 m Letter Bail Application as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 06/0112007) 

06/04/2007 m ORDER referring 2.2l Bail application to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson. Ordered by Judge 
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security number which is in violation of the E-Government Act of 2002 and Administrative 
Order 2004-09. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 05114/2007) 

05114/2007 ELECTRONIC ORDER re ill (Defendant's May 11,2007 Letter): Defense counsel is put on 
notice that any request for an extension of time is to be made prior to a Court-ordered 
deadline and that, notwithstanding agreement among the parties, Court approval must be 
sought and received. Moreover, in accordance with this Court's Individual Practice Rule 
(I )(G), "Extensions to motion briefing schedules will not be granted absent extraordinary 
circumstances." In this instance, the Court will construe counsel's letter as a request for an 
extension. Upon consideration of said request, including the Government's consent thereto, 
said request is granted. However, all future requests are to comply with all relevant rules. So 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 05114/07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05114/2007) 

05114/2007 SCHEDULING ORDER: The hearing on the Government's Motion to Quash scheduled for 
Tuesday, May 15,2007, is re-scheduled to Thursday, May, 17,2007, at 10:30 a.m. So 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 05114/07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05114/2007) 

05114/2007 ill Letter reply to defendant's May 11, 2007 response to government's motion to quash defense 
subpoenas as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
05114/2007) 

05114/2007 ill Letter from Anthony A. Capetola to Clerk ofthe Court, as to Rodney Morrison, dated 5111/07 
re: To advise the Court of the enclosed Certificate of Good Standing for filing for filing with 
the Court in connection with the above matter which is before Hon. Denis R. Hurley. 
(Attachments: # 1 Certificate of Good Standing) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05115/2007) 

05115/2007 2.8.6 Letter Anthony A. Capetola as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 05115/2007) 

05116/2007 m Letter Withdrawing Trotta Subpoenas as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
05/16/2007) 

05/25/2007 2££ Letter Requesting Adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
OS/25/2007) 

OS/25/2007 2.8.2 Letter requesting additional time to respond to defendant's motion regarding the "missing 
micro-cassette" as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: OS/25/2007) 

OS/25/2007 ORDER re 2.8.2 : The Government's request for an extension of time to file its brief regarding 
the microcassette hearing, on consent of defendant, is granted. Accordingly, the Government's 
brief shaH be served and filed by June 4, 2007; and Defendant's reply brief shall be served 
and filed by June 8, 2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5-25-07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: OS/25/2007) 

OS/25/2007 ORDER re 2££ : Defendant's request for an extension of time to file his brief regarding the 
"conflicts issue", on consent ofthe Government, is granted. Accordingly, Defendant's brief 
shaH be served and filed by June 15,2007. Defense counsel is hereby put on notice that any 
request for an extension of time is to be made PRIOR to a Court-ordered deadline. Ordered 
by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5-25-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05/25/2007) 

05/31/2007 2212 Letter Requesting Adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
05/31/2007) 

06/01/2007 ORDER granting 2212 Letter to adjourn Morrison hearing. Hearing is rescheduled to June 12, 
2007 at 1 :30 pm. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 61112007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
06/01/2007) 

06/01/2007 m Letter Bail Application as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 06/0112007) 

06/04/2007 m ORDER referring 2.2l Bail application to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson. Ordered by Judge 
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Denis R. Hurley on 6/4/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06104/2007) 

06/04/2007 SCHEDULING ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Judge Hurley has referred this case to me 
for a bail hearing. The bail hearing will be held on June 12, 2007 at 11 :30 am before 
MaglJudge A. Kathleen Tomlinson. (Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 6/4/07) 
(Montero, Edher) (Entered: 06/04/2007) 

06/04/2007 221 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re m MOTION to Dismiss Post hearing 
memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
06/04/2007) 

06/04/2007 224. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re m MOTION to Dismiss Post hearing 
memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss based on apparent loss of a micro-
cassette seized by the IRS (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 06/04/2007) 

06/06/2007 Judge update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson added. 
(McMahon, Carol) (Entered: 06/06/2007) 

06/07/2007 ill Letter from Richard Levitt requesting consideration of bail application before Judge Hurley 
as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 06/0712007) 

06/07/2007 2.2.Q Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 06/07/2007) 

06/08/2007 2!JJ.. Letter from Richard Levitt dated June 8, 2007 re bail assignment as to Rodney Morrison 
(Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 06/08/2007) 

06/0812007 2.2B. ORDER denying defendant's application for Judge Hurley to hear defendant's bail application 
and issuing an amended order of referral to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson .. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 618/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06108/2007) 

06/08/2007 2.2.2. Amended ORDER of referral as to Rodney Morrison. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
618/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06108/2007) 

06/08/2007 .NQ Letter opposing renewed application for bail as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 06/08/2007) 

0611112007 ill Letter withrawing bail application as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
06/1112007) 

06112/2007 .1Q2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 6112/2007 re 21£ Letter MOTION to Quash filed by USA, 2ffi Letter 
MOTION to Quash North Fork Bank and Chase Subpoenas filed by USA. Motions denied as 
moot as defendant has withdrawn subpoenas. Next conference set for July 25, 2007 at 11:00 
am. (Court Reporter Owen Wicker.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06/12/2007) 

0611312007 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re m MOTION to Dismiss Post 
hearing memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 
06113/2007) 

0611912007 3M REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss 
Reply to government's Memorandum in Opposition of 614107 re micro cassette hearing 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 06119/2007) 

06/22/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re subpoena issues as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 06/22/2007) 

07/24/2007 3.ilii Letter requesting adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
07/24/2007) 

07/24/2007 ORDER GRANTING adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (#306 Letter). Case is adjourned 
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Denis R. Hurley on 6/4/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06104/2007) 

06/04/2007 SCHEDULING ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Judge Hurley has referred this case to me 
for a bail hearing. The bail hearing will be held on June 12, 2007 at 11 :30 am before 
MaglJudge A. Kathleen Tomlinson. (Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 6/4/07) 
(Montero, Edher) (Entered: 06/04/2007) 

06/04/2007 221 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re m MOTION to Dismiss Post hearing 
memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
06/04/2007) 

06/04/2007 224. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re m MOTION to Dismiss Post hearing 
memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss based on apparent loss of a micro-
cassette seized by the IRS (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 06/04/2007) 

06/06/2007 Judge update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson added. 
(McMahon, Carol) (Entered: 06/06/2007) 

06/07/2007 ill Letter from Richard Levitt requesting consideration of bail application before Judge Hurley 
as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 06/0712007) 

06/07/2007 2.2.Q Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 06/07/2007) 

06/08/2007 2!JJ.. Letter from Richard Levitt dated June 8, 2007 re bail assignment as to Rodney Morrison 
(Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 06/08/2007) 

06/0812007 2.2B. ORDER denying defendant's application for Judge Hurley to hear defendant's bail application 
and issuing an amended order of referral to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson .. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 618/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06108/2007) 

06/08/2007 2.2.2. Amended ORDER of referral as to Rodney Morrison. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
618/2007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06108/2007) 

06/08/2007 .NQ Letter opposing renewed application for bail as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 06/08/2007) 

0611112007 ill Letter withrawing bail application as to Rodney Morrison (Johnson, Robert) (Entered: 
06/1112007) 

06112/2007 .1Q2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 6112/2007 re 21£ Letter MOTION to Quash filed by USA, 2ffi Letter 
MOTION to Quash North Fork Bank and Chase Subpoenas filed by USA. Motions denied as 
moot as defendant has withdrawn subpoenas. Next conference set for July 25, 2007 at 11:00 
am. (Court Reporter Owen Wicker.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 06/12/2007) 

0611312007 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re m MOTION to Dismiss Post 
hearing memorandum in support of motion to preclude or dismiss (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 
06113/2007) 

0611912007 3M REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss 
Reply to government's Memorandum in Opposition of 614107 re micro cassette hearing 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 06119/2007) 

06/22/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re subpoena issues as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 06/22/2007) 

07/24/2007 3.ilii Letter requesting adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
07/24/2007) 

07/24/2007 ORDER GRANTING adjournment as to Rodney Morrison (#306 Letter). Case is adjourned 
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to August 10, 2007 at II :00 am. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7/24/2007. (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 07/24/2007) 

07/3112007 .3..Q1 Letter re: Request for a pre-motion conference with respect to the filing of a Motion for Bill 
of Particulars pursuant to Individual Rules, seeking leave to file by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Letter to AUSA pursuant to Local Rules# 2 Exhibit Spreadsheet 
provided in discovery) (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 8/112007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
07/3112007) 

08/0112007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: .3..Q1 Letter MOTION for 
Bill of Particulars pursuant to Individual Rules, seeking leave to file filed by Rodney 
Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Letter request for a pre-motion 
conference, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/0112007) 

08/02/2007 .10.2. Letter from William T. Martin, Esq. to Honorable Denis R. Hurley, as to Rodney Morrison, 
dated 812/07 re: To advise the Court of the attached fourteen (14) subpoenas concerning the 
case of Rodney Morrison for its review and approval. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08107/2007) 

08/06/2007 ill Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, as to Rodney 
Morrison, dated 813/07 re: To advise the Court ofthe attached three (3) subpoenas concerning 
the case of Rodney Morrison for its review and approval. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
08/07/2007) 

08/07/2007 .3..0..8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Defendant's applications, dated August 2, 2007 and August 
3, 2007, for the so-ordering of certain subpoenas is denied. The Clerk of Court is directed to 
docket said letter applications with the accompanying subpoenas to be filed under seal. See 
attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/7107. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 
08/07/2007) 

08/07/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re topics for status conference as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 08/07/2007) 

08/09/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Severance as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
08/09/2007) 

0811012007 .ll.6. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 8110/2007. Briefing schedule set for pretrial motions. Next status 
conference set for October 5, 2007 at II :00 am (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 08/13/2007) 

0811712007 ill ORDER: Defendant's motion for an order precluding the government from calling Phillips as 
a witness during its direct case is denied. To the extent the defendant seeks dismissal of the 
indictment on the same ground, that application is also denied. See attached Memorandum 
and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8117107. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
08117/2007) 

08/2112007 ill LETTER re: Request to Quash Subpoena by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Simermeyer, James) Modified on 8/22/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney James Simermeyer for Mauro 
Pennisi, Inc. added. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 Email Notification Test - DO NOT REPLY (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 1l..2. Certificate of Service by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison re ill First MOTION to 
Quash Subpoena all attorneys (Simermeyer, James) (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION to 
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to August 10, 2007 at II :00 am. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 7/24/2007. (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 07/24/2007) 

07/3112007 .3..Q1 Letter re: Request for a pre-motion conference with respect to the filing of a Motion for Bill 
of Particulars pursuant to Individual Rules, seeking leave to file by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Letter to AUSA pursuant to Local Rules# 2 Exhibit Spreadsheet 
provided in discovery) (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 8/112007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
07/3112007) 

08/0112007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: .3..Q1 Letter MOTION for 
Bill of Particulars pursuant to Individual Rules, seeking leave to file filed by Rodney 
Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Letter request for a pre-motion 
conference, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/0112007) 

08/02/2007 .10.2. Letter from William T. Martin, Esq. to Honorable Denis R. Hurley, as to Rodney Morrison, 
dated 812/07 re: To advise the Court of the attached fourteen (14) subpoenas concerning the 
case of Rodney Morrison for its review and approval. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08107/2007) 

08/06/2007 ill Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, as to Rodney 
Morrison, dated 813/07 re: To advise the Court ofthe attached three (3) subpoenas concerning 
the case of Rodney Morrison for its review and approval. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
08/07/2007) 

08/07/2007 .3..0..8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Defendant's applications, dated August 2, 2007 and August 
3, 2007, for the so-ordering of certain subpoenas is denied. The Clerk of Court is directed to 
docket said letter applications with the accompanying subpoenas to be filed under seal. See 
attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/7107. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 
08/07/2007) 

08/07/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re topics for status conference as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 08/07/2007) 

08/09/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re Severance as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
08/09/2007) 

0811012007 .ll.6. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 8110/2007. Briefing schedule set for pretrial motions. Next status 
conference set for October 5, 2007 at II :00 am (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 08/13/2007) 

0811712007 ill ORDER: Defendant's motion for an order precluding the government from calling Phillips as 
a witness during its direct case is denied. To the extent the defendant seeks dismissal of the 
indictment on the same ground, that application is also denied. See attached Memorandum 
and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8117107. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
08117/2007) 

08/2112007 ill LETTER re: Request to Quash Subpoena by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Simermeyer, James) Modified on 8/22/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney James Simermeyer for Mauro 
Pennisi, Inc. added. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 Email Notification Test - DO NOT REPLY (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 1l..2. Certificate of Service by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison re ill First MOTION to 
Quash Subpoena all attorneys (Simermeyer, James) (Entered: 08/2112007) 

08/2112007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION to 
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Quash Subpoena filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/22/2007) 

08/2312007 .32.Q ORDER re ill : See attached Order regarding briefing schedule on Mauro Pennisi, Inc.'s 
motion to quash a third-party subpoena. The parties are directed to appear before the 
undersigned for oral argument on Friday, October 5, 2007 at 11 :00 a.m. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 8-23-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/23/2007) 

08/27/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The Court declines to "so order" the subpoenas submitted 
under cover of letters dated August 22, 2007 in the absence of a clear explanation of how the 
materials sought are actually, as opposed to potentially, relevant and admissible. The Clerk of 
Court is directed to file, under seal, the letters of August 22, 2007 and accompanying 
subpoenas. See attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8127/07.(Hurley, 
Denis) (Entered: 08127/2007) 

09/06/2007 .32.5. Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Planned Motions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 09/06/2007) 

09/06/2007 ill Letter re Correction to Earlier Correspondence as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 09/06/2007) 

09/07/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 325 Letter: The Court hereby sets the following briefing 
schedule for Defendant's proposed motions: Defendant shall serve and file his moving papers 
on or before September 11, 2007; the government shall serve and file its opposing papers on 
or before September 12,2007; Defendant shall serve and file reply papers, if any, on or 
before September 18,2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 917107.(Gapinski, Michele) 
(Entered: 09/07/2007) 

09/07/2007 ORDER modifying briefing schedule as to Rodney Morrison: The briefing schedule for 
Defendant's proposed motions is hereby modified to the extent that the government's 
opposing papers shall be served and filed on or before September 18, 2007 and reply papers 
shall be served and filed on or before September 24, 2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 917107. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 09/07/2007) 

09/0712007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Bail as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
09/07/2007) 

09/07/2007 .12..8. MOTION for Bill of Particulars by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memo of Law in 
Support of Defendant's Motion for a Bill of Particulars# 2 Attachment A to Memorandum of 
Law# 1 Affidavit Regarding Good Faith Effort) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/0712007) 

09/07/2007 329 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indicment by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant's Motion to Sever or 
Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indictment# 2 Affidavit Regarding Good Faith Effort) 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/07/2007) 

09/08/2007 .llQ First MOTION to Quash subpoena by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison. 
, (Simermeyer, James) (Entered: 09/08/2007) 

0911112007 ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding Indictment by 
Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0911112007) 

0911112007 ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts Four Through Eighty of the Superseding Indictment by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 0911112007) 

09/1112007 ill MOTION to Suppress Pretrial and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of LaW# 2 Request for Hearing) (Murphy, William) 
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Quash Subpoena filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/22/2007) 

08/2312007 .32.Q ORDER re ill : See attached Order regarding briefing schedule on Mauro Pennisi, Inc.'s 
motion to quash a third-party subpoena. The parties are directed to appear before the 
undersigned for oral argument on Friday, October 5, 2007 at 11 :00 a.m. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 8-23-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/23/2007) 

08/27/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The Court declines to "so order" the subpoenas submitted 
under cover of letters dated August 22, 2007 in the absence of a clear explanation of how the 
materials sought are actually, as opposed to potentially, relevant and admissible. The Clerk of 
Court is directed to file, under seal, the letters of August 22, 2007 and accompanying 
subpoenas. See attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8127/07.(Hurley, 
Denis) (Entered: 08127/2007) 

09/06/2007 .32.5. Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Planned Motions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 09/06/2007) 

09/06/2007 ill Letter re Correction to Earlier Correspondence as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 09/06/2007) 

09/07/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 325 Letter: The Court hereby sets the following briefing 
schedule for Defendant's proposed motions: Defendant shall serve and file his moving papers 
on or before September 11, 2007; the government shall serve and file its opposing papers on 
or before September 12,2007; Defendant shall serve and file reply papers, if any, on or 
before September 18,2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 917107.(Gapinski, Michele) 
(Entered: 09/07/2007) 

09/07/2007 ORDER modifying briefing schedule as to Rodney Morrison: The briefing schedule for 
Defendant's proposed motions is hereby modified to the extent that the government's 
opposing papers shall be served and filed on or before September 18, 2007 and reply papers 
shall be served and filed on or before September 24, 2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 917107. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 09/07/2007) 

09/0712007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Bail as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
09/07/2007) 

09/07/2007 .12..8. MOTION for Bill of Particulars by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memo of Law in 
Support of Defendant's Motion for a Bill of Particulars# 2 Attachment A to Memorandum of 
Law# 1 Affidavit Regarding Good Faith Effort) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/0712007) 

09/07/2007 329 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indicment by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant's Motion to Sever or 
Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indictment# 2 Affidavit Regarding Good Faith Effort) 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/07/2007) 

09/08/2007 .llQ First MOTION to Quash subpoena by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison. 
, (Simermeyer, James) (Entered: 09/08/2007) 

0911112007 ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding Indictment by 
Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0911112007) 

0911112007 ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts Four Through Eighty of the Superseding Indictment by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 0911112007) 

09/1112007 ill MOTION to Suppress Pretrial and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr by Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of LaW# 2 Request for Hearing) (Murphy, William) 
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(Entered: 0911112007) 

0911112007 ill MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by Rodney Morrison to the Police Following 
Arrest by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 0911112007) 

0911112007 335 MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in the alternative, to Preclude the Testimony of Tony 
Phillips and Other Similarly Situated Witnesses and Request for Hearing by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law# 2 Request for Hearing# 3. Exhibits to 
Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 0911112007) 

09/18/2007 3.16. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in 
the alternative, to Preclude the Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated 
Witnesses and Request for Hearing, ill MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by 

. 

Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest, ill MOTION to Suppress Pretrial and 
Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr, 322 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the 
Indicment, ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding 
Indictment, 332 MOTION to Dismiss Counts Four Through Eighty of the Superseding 
Indictment (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09/18/2007) 

0911912007 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION for Bill of Particulars 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09119/2007) 

09/20/2007 ill NOTICE of Change of attorneys address by Rodney Morrison (Simerrneyer, James) (Entered: 
09/20/2007) 

09/2112007 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 33ll First MOTION to Quash subpoena by 
Mauro Pennisi, Inc. (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/2112007) 

09/24/2007 :HQ AFFIDA VITI AFFIRMATION by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison (Simermeyer, 
James) (Entered: 09/24/2007) 

09/24/2007 3.±l REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 335 MOTION to Dismiss Indictment 
or, in the alternative, to Preclude the Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated 
Witnesses and Requestfor Hearing (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/24/2007) 

09/24/2007 3.42. REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Suppress Pretrial 
and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/24/2007) 

09/28/2007 ELECTRONIC ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 33ll First MOTION to Quash subpoena 
filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. : Counsel for Mauro Pennisi, Inc. is directed to file, on or before 
October 1,2007, a copy of the subpoena that is the subject of the motion to quash. Ordered 
by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/28107. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 09/28/2007) 

09/28/2007 ID First MOTION to Quash by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 
Reply memorandum) (Simerrneyer, James) (Entered: 09/28/2007) 

10102/2007 3.M Letter to Assistant Us. Attorney Miskiewicz Regarding Notice of Defenses and Other Matters 
as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10102/2007) 

1010312007 :Hi ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss filed by Rodney 
Morrison. For the reasons stated in the attached memorandum and order, the defendant's 
motion to preclude the government from using incriminating statements made by the 
defendant during the May 19,2005 proffer session is GRANTED. The motion to dismiss in 
the alternative is denied. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1.0/3/2007. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 10103/2007) 

10103/2007 .llQ ORDER setting October 22, 2007 as date for potential evidentiary hearing on pending 
motions and advising counsel of items to be discussed at conference on October 5, 2007. See 
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(Entered: 0911112007) 

0911112007 ill MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by Rodney Morrison to the Police Following 
Arrest by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 0911112007) 

0911112007 335 MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in the alternative, to Preclude the Testimony of Tony 
Phillips and Other Similarly Situated Witnesses and Request for Hearing by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum of Law# 2 Request for Hearing# 3. Exhibits to 
Memorandum of Law) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 0911112007) 

09/18/2007 3.16. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in 
the alternative, to Preclude the Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated 
Witnesses and Request for Hearing, ill MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by 

. 

Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest, ill MOTION to Suppress Pretrial and 
Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr, 322 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the 
Indicment, ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding 
Indictment, 332 MOTION to Dismiss Counts Four Through Eighty of the Superseding 
Indictment (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09/18/2007) 

0911912007 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION for Bill of Particulars 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09119/2007) 

09/20/2007 ill NOTICE of Change of attorneys address by Rodney Morrison (Simerrneyer, James) (Entered: 
09/20/2007) 

09/2112007 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re 33ll First MOTION to Quash subpoena by 
Mauro Pennisi, Inc. (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/2112007) 

09/24/2007 :HQ AFFIDA VITI AFFIRMATION by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison (Simermeyer, 
James) (Entered: 09/24/2007) 

09/24/2007 3.±l REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 335 MOTION to Dismiss Indictment 
or, in the alternative, to Preclude the Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated 
Witnesses and Requestfor Hearing (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/24/2007) 

09/24/2007 3.42. REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Suppress Pretrial 
and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr (Murphy, William) (Entered: 09/24/2007) 

09/28/2007 ELECTRONIC ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 33ll First MOTION to Quash subpoena 
filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. : Counsel for Mauro Pennisi, Inc. is directed to file, on or before 
October 1,2007, a copy of the subpoena that is the subject of the motion to quash. Ordered 
by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/28107. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 09/28/2007) 

09/28/2007 ID First MOTION to Quash by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. as to Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 
Reply memorandum) (Simerrneyer, James) (Entered: 09/28/2007) 

10102/2007 3.M Letter to Assistant Us. Attorney Miskiewicz Regarding Notice of Defenses and Other Matters 
as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10102/2007) 

1010312007 :Hi ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Second MOTION to Dismiss filed by Rodney 
Morrison. For the reasons stated in the attached memorandum and order, the defendant's 
motion to preclude the government from using incriminating statements made by the 
defendant during the May 19,2005 proffer session is GRANTED. The motion to dismiss in 
the alternative is denied. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1.0/3/2007. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 10103/2007) 

10103/2007 .llQ ORDER setting October 22, 2007 as date for potential evidentiary hearing on pending 
motions and advising counsel of items to be discussed at conference on October 5, 2007. See 
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attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10103/07. (Gapinski, Michele) 
(Entered: 10103/2007) 

10104/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding New Mattersfor Pending Motions as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10104/2007) 

10105/2007 3!l8. Letter Responding to Defense Counsel's 1013107 letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 10105/2007) 

10105/2007 .ll2 Letter revised response to counsel's 1013107 letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 10105/2007) 

10105/2007 l2ll NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE Diane C. Leonardo-Beckmann appearing for 
USA. NOTICE OF APPEARANCE as to Assistant Us. Attorney Diane Leonardo Beckmann 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 10105/2007) 

10105/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/5/2007 re ill MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in the alternative, to 
Preclude the Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated Witnesses and Request 
for Hearing filed by Rodney Morrison, 330 First MOTION to Quash subpoena filed by 
Mauro Pennisi, Inc., 334 MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by Rodney Morrison 
to the Police Following Arrest filed by Rodney Morrison, 333 MOTION to Suppress Pretrial 
and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr filed by Rodney Morrison, 328 MOTION for Bill of 
Particulars filed by Rodney Morrison, 1tl First MOTION to Quash filed by Mauro Pennisi, 
Inc., 32.2 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indicment filed by Rodney 
Morrison, ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding 
Indictment filed by Rodney Morrison (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 10109/2007) 

10105/2007 ORAL ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 334 MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements 
by Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest - Heaing is scheduled for October 22, 
2007.322 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indicment is Granted. ill 
MOTION to Suppress Pretrial and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr is Denied. 11Q First 
MOTION to Quash subpoena filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. is Granted. 328 MOTION for Bill 
of Particulars is Granted . .3.4.3. First MOTION to Quash filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. is 
Granted., ill MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in the alternative, to Preclude the 
Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated Witnesses and Request for Hearing 
is Denied. ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding 
Indictment is Denied .. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 10109/2007) 

10106/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley transmitting government's mark-up of defendant's proposed juror 
questions as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Supplement Government's Mark-up of 
Defendant's Juror Questions) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10106/2007) 

10109/2007 ill First MOTION in Limine by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
10109/2007) 

10109/2007 Per the 10/5/07 e-mail from AUSA Lunger: Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. 
Attorney Richard Thomas Lunger, Jr terminated. (Vaughn, Terry) (Entered: 10109/2007) 

10109/2007 ill ORDER referring 321 Bail application to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 10/912007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10109/2007) 

10109/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/9/2007 re ill MOTION to Dismiss Acts Four Through Eighty of Count 
one of the Superseding Indictment Morrison. For the reasons stated on the record, the motion 
is denied. (Court Reporter Dom TursL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10109/2007) 
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attached Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10103/07. (Gapinski, Michele) 
(Entered: 10103/2007) 

10104/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding New Mattersfor Pending Motions as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10104/2007) 

10105/2007 3!l8. Letter Responding to Defense Counsel's 1013107 letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 10105/2007) 

10105/2007 .ll2 Letter revised response to counsel's 1013107 letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 10105/2007) 

10105/2007 l2ll NOTICE OF ATTORNEY APPEARANCE Diane C. Leonardo-Beckmann appearing for 
USA. NOTICE OF APPEARANCE as to Assistant Us. Attorney Diane Leonardo Beckmann 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 10105/2007) 

10105/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/5/2007 re ill MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in the alternative, to 
Preclude the Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated Witnesses and Request 
for Hearing filed by Rodney Morrison, 330 First MOTION to Quash subpoena filed by 
Mauro Pennisi, Inc., 334 MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by Rodney Morrison 
to the Police Following Arrest filed by Rodney Morrison, 333 MOTION to Suppress Pretrial 
and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr filed by Rodney Morrison, 328 MOTION for Bill of 
Particulars filed by Rodney Morrison, 1tl First MOTION to Quash filed by Mauro Pennisi, 
Inc., 32.2 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indicment filed by Rodney 
Morrison, ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding 
Indictment filed by Rodney Morrison (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 10109/2007) 

10105/2007 ORAL ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 334 MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements 
by Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest - Heaing is scheduled for October 22, 
2007.322 MOTION to Bifurcate Counts Eight and Nine of the Indicment is Granted. ill 
MOTION to Suppress Pretrial and Trial Identification of Arturo Kerr is Denied. 11Q First 
MOTION to Quash subpoena filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. is Granted. 328 MOTION for Bill 
of Particulars is Granted . .3.4.3. First MOTION to Quash filed by Mauro Pennisi, Inc. is 
Granted., ill MOTION to Dismiss Indictment or, in the alternative, to Preclude the 
Testimony of Tony Phillips and Other Similarly Situated Witnesses and Request for Hearing 
is Denied. ill MOTION to Dismiss Racketeering Act One of Count One of the Superseding 
Indictment is Denied .. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/5/2007. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 10109/2007) 

10106/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley transmitting government's mark-up of defendant's proposed juror 
questions as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Supplement Government's Mark-up of 
Defendant's Juror Questions) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10106/2007) 

10109/2007 ill First MOTION in Limine by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
10109/2007) 

10109/2007 Per the 10/5/07 e-mail from AUSA Lunger: Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. 
Attorney Richard Thomas Lunger, Jr terminated. (Vaughn, Terry) (Entered: 10109/2007) 

10109/2007 ill ORDER referring 321 Bail application to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 10/912007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10109/2007) 

10109/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/9/2007 re ill MOTION to Dismiss Acts Four Through Eighty of Count 
one of the Superseding Indictment Morrison. For the reasons stated on the record, the motion 
is denied. (Court Reporter Dom TursL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10109/2007) 
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10109/2007 ORAL ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Acts Four Through 
Eighty of Count one of the Superseding Indictment is denied. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 10/912007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10109/2007) 

I Oil 012007 lli ORDER directing defendant to submit to the Court a letter regarding latest set of subpoenas 
submitted for "so ordering." See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on I Oil 0107. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: lOll 012007) 

I Oil 0/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceeding held before Denis R. Hurley :Telephone Conference as to 
Rodney Morrison held on lOll 0/2007 regarding jury questionnaire. (Court Reporter Dom 
Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: lOll 112007) 

I Oil 212007 1i2 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill. On October 9, 2007, District Judge Hurley referred 
this matter to me to conduct a hearing regarding Defendant's September 7, 2007 letter DE 321 
seeking to renew his bail application. It is hereby ORDERED, that the bail hearing regarding 
Defendant's September 7, 2007 application will be held on October 17,2007 in Courtroom 
910; and it is further ORDERED, that if the parties choose to file any further written 
submissions on the issue of bail, they must be filed on ECF no later than noon on October 16, 
2007. SEE ATTACHED ORDER. Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 101l2/07. 
(Cass, Luke) (Entered: 101l2/2007) 

I Oil 2/2007 ill MOTION to Suppress Derivative Evidence Based On Defendant'S Proffer and Motion to 
Dismiss the Arson and Firearm Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due 
Process Grounds by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) (Entered: I Oil 2/2007) 

I Oil 312007 ill LETTER re: Request to permit the government to use proffer statements to cross-examine the 
defendant if he testifies in a manner inconsistent with his proffor statements by USA as to 
Rodney Morrison. (Gatz, Lara) Modified on I Oil 5/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
101l312007) 

I Oil 512007 Per the I Oil 3/07 e-mail from AUSA Durham: Attorney update in case as to Rodney 
Morrison. Attorney John Joseph Durham for USA added. (Vaughn, Terry) (Entered: 
I Oil 512007) 

lOll 5/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 352 First MOTION in 
Limine filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will 
address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Pagan, Linda) (Entered: 
I Oil 5/2007) 

I Oil 512007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION in 
Limine to permit the government to use proffer statements to cross-examine the defendant if 
he testifies in a manner inconsistent with his proffer statements filed by USA. (The document 
should have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All 
corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: lOll 512007) 

lOll 5/2007 ORDER: The government shall serve and file opposition papers to defendant's motion to 
dismiss the arson and firearm counts of the Indictment based on speedy trial and due process 
grounds 362 on or before October 18,2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-15-07. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 101l5/2007) 

I Oil 512007 164. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill First MOTION in Limine (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: I Oil 512007) 

I Oil 6/2007 16.5. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison. My Chambers has received an informal communication 
from the offices of defense counsel that Defendant is withdrawing his bail application. 
Defense counsel was directed to file a letter on ECF confirming the withdrawal of the motion, 
which, to date, has not been filed. Further, the United States Attorney's Office has conveyed 
to the Court its understanding that the bail hearing will go forward tomorrow as scheduled. 
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10109/2007 ORAL ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Acts Four Through 
Eighty of Count one of the Superseding Indictment is denied. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 10/912007. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10109/2007) 

I Oil 012007 lli ORDER directing defendant to submit to the Court a letter regarding latest set of subpoenas 
submitted for "so ordering." See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on I Oil 0107. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: lOll 012007) 

I Oil 0/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceeding held before Denis R. Hurley :Telephone Conference as to 
Rodney Morrison held on lOll 0/2007 regarding jury questionnaire. (Court Reporter Dom 
Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: lOll 112007) 

I Oil 212007 1i2 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill. On October 9, 2007, District Judge Hurley referred 
this matter to me to conduct a hearing regarding Defendant's September 7, 2007 letter DE 321 
seeking to renew his bail application. It is hereby ORDERED, that the bail hearing regarding 
Defendant's September 7, 2007 application will be held on October 17,2007 in Courtroom 
910; and it is further ORDERED, that if the parties choose to file any further written 
submissions on the issue of bail, they must be filed on ECF no later than noon on October 16, 
2007. SEE ATTACHED ORDER. Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 101l2/07. 
(Cass, Luke) (Entered: 101l2/2007) 

I Oil 2/2007 ill MOTION to Suppress Derivative Evidence Based On Defendant'S Proffer and Motion to 
Dismiss the Arson and Firearm Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due 
Process Grounds by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) (Entered: I Oil 2/2007) 

I Oil 312007 ill LETTER re: Request to permit the government to use proffer statements to cross-examine the 
defendant if he testifies in a manner inconsistent with his proffor statements by USA as to 
Rodney Morrison. (Gatz, Lara) Modified on I Oil 5/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
101l312007) 

I Oil 512007 Per the I Oil 3/07 e-mail from AUSA Durham: Attorney update in case as to Rodney 
Morrison. Attorney John Joseph Durham for USA added. (Vaughn, Terry) (Entered: 
I Oil 512007) 

lOll 5/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 352 First MOTION in 
Limine filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will 
address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Pagan, Linda) (Entered: 
I Oil 5/2007) 

I Oil 512007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION in 
Limine to permit the government to use proffer statements to cross-examine the defendant if 
he testifies in a manner inconsistent with his proffer statements filed by USA. (The document 
should have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All 
corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: lOll 512007) 

lOll 5/2007 ORDER: The government shall serve and file opposition papers to defendant's motion to 
dismiss the arson and firearm counts of the Indictment based on speedy trial and due process 
grounds 362 on or before October 18,2007. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-15-07. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 101l5/2007) 

I Oil 512007 164. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill First MOTION in Limine (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: I Oil 512007) 

I Oil 6/2007 16.5. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison. My Chambers has received an informal communication 
from the offices of defense counsel that Defendant is withdrawing his bail application. 
Defense counsel was directed to file a letter on ECF confirming the withdrawal of the motion, 
which, to date, has not been filed. Further, the United States Attorney's Office has conveyed 
to the Court its understanding that the bail hearing will go forward tomorrow as scheduled. 
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Therefore, it is hereby ORDERED, that the parties are directed to appear before me 
tomorrow, October 17,2007, at 10:30 a.m. in Courtroom 910 as scheduled. SEE 
ATTACHED ORDER. Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 10/16107. (Cass, Luke) 
(Entered: 10116/2007) 

10/16/2007 .llii Letter to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson regarding bail application as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10116/2007) 

10116/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley requesting reconsideration of Court's denial of defendant's Motion to 
Dismiss Racketeering Acts 4-80 of the Indictment as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10116/2007) 

10117/2007 .l6.8. Letter supplementing government's early disclosure of 3500 material as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10117/2007) 

10/1712007 ORDER: The following briefing schedule shall apply with regard to the parties pending 
motions: (1) the government shall file reply papers with regard to its in limine motion ill to 
preclude the defense of entrapment by estoppel by 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, October 18,2007; 
(2) the government shall file opposition papers with regard to defendant's motion to suppress 
derivative evidence based on defendant's proffer and to dismiss the arson and firearm counts 
based on speedy trial and due process grounds JQ by 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, October 18, 
2007; (3) defendant shall file opposition papers to the government's motion to use the proffer 
statements to cross-examine defendant ifhe takes the stand 3..63. by 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 
October 18,2007; (4) defendant shall file his proposed questions for the jury questionnaire by 
noon on Thursday, October 18,2007; and (5) the government shall file opposition papers to 
defendant's motion for reconsideration of this Court's Order denying defendant's motion to 
dismiss the CCTA counts of the indictment ill by 4:00 p.m. on Friday, October 19,2007. 
NO FURTHER EXTENSIONS WILL BE GRANTED as the trial on this matter is 
impending. The parties are hereby put on notice that extensions to these or any briefing 
schedules may not be permitted upon consent of the parties and may only be granted upon 
Order of Court. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-17-07. (Hurley, Denis). Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-17-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10117/2007) 

10118/2007 JQ2 Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Jury Questions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10118/2007) 

10118/2007 .llll RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Suppress Derivative 
Evidence Based On Defendant's Proffer and Motion to Dismiss the Arson and Firearm 
Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due Process Grounds (Attachments: # 1 
Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10118/2007) 

10/18/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Government's Motion to Use Proffer Statements to Cross-
Examine Defendant as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/18/2007) 

1011812007 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 352 First MOTION in Limine 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 1011812007) 

10118/2007 .ill. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re JQ MOTION to Suppress Derivative 
Evidence Based On D~rendant's Proffer and Motion to Dismiss the Arson and Firearm 
Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due Process Grounds transmitting 
additional exhibit (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10118/2007) 

10118/2007 ill Proposed Voir Dire by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/1812007) 

10118/2007 ill Letter to US.Atty's Office re: Questions to Judge Hurley and Questionnaire Changes as to 
Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10118/2007) 

10/18/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re JQ2 Letter: Order ruling on proposed questions for jury 
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Therefore, it is hereby ORDERED, that the parties are directed to appear before me 
tomorrow, October 17,2007, at 10:30 a.m. in Courtroom 910 as scheduled. SEE 
ATTACHED ORDER. Ordered by Judge A. Kathleen Tomlinson on 10/16107. (Cass, Luke) 
(Entered: 10116/2007) 

10/16/2007 .llii Letter to Magistrate Judge Tomlinson regarding bail application as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10116/2007) 

10116/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley requesting reconsideration of Court's denial of defendant's Motion to 
Dismiss Racketeering Acts 4-80 of the Indictment as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10116/2007) 

10117/2007 .l6.8. Letter supplementing government's early disclosure of 3500 material as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10117/2007) 

10/1712007 ORDER: The following briefing schedule shall apply with regard to the parties pending 
motions: (1) the government shall file reply papers with regard to its in limine motion ill to 
preclude the defense of entrapment by estoppel by 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, October 18,2007; 
(2) the government shall file opposition papers with regard to defendant's motion to suppress 
derivative evidence based on defendant's proffer and to dismiss the arson and firearm counts 
based on speedy trial and due process grounds JQ by 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, October 18, 
2007; (3) defendant shall file opposition papers to the government's motion to use the proffer 
statements to cross-examine defendant ifhe takes the stand 3..63. by 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 
October 18,2007; (4) defendant shall file his proposed questions for the jury questionnaire by 
noon on Thursday, October 18,2007; and (5) the government shall file opposition papers to 
defendant's motion for reconsideration of this Court's Order denying defendant's motion to 
dismiss the CCTA counts of the indictment ill by 4:00 p.m. on Friday, October 19,2007. 
NO FURTHER EXTENSIONS WILL BE GRANTED as the trial on this matter is 
impending. The parties are hereby put on notice that extensions to these or any briefing 
schedules may not be permitted upon consent of the parties and may only be granted upon 
Order of Court. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-17-07. (Hurley, Denis). Ordered by 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10-17-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10117/2007) 

10118/2007 JQ2 Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Jury Questions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10118/2007) 

10118/2007 .llll RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Suppress Derivative 
Evidence Based On Defendant's Proffer and Motion to Dismiss the Arson and Firearm 
Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due Process Grounds (Attachments: # 1 
Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10118/2007) 

10/18/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley Regarding Government's Motion to Use Proffer Statements to Cross-
Examine Defendant as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/18/2007) 

1011812007 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 352 First MOTION in Limine 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 1011812007) 

10118/2007 .ill. RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re JQ MOTION to Suppress Derivative 
Evidence Based On D~rendant's Proffer and Motion to Dismiss the Arson and Firearm 
Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due Process Grounds transmitting 
additional exhibit (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10118/2007) 

10118/2007 ill Proposed Voir Dire by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/1812007) 

10118/2007 ill Letter to US.Atty's Office re: Questions to Judge Hurley and Questionnaire Changes as to 
Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10118/2007) 

10/18/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re JQ2 Letter: Order ruling on proposed questions for jury 
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questionnaire. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10118/07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 10118/2007) 

10119/2007 ill MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice Pro Hac Vice Kenneth Ravenell Filing fee $ 25, 
receipt number 2612834. by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/19/2007) 

1011912007 ill Letter to A USA Miskiewicz regarding return of seized computers as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10119/2007) 

10119/2007 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 3..Q2 MOTION to Suppress 
Derivative Evidence Based On Defendant's Proffer and Motion to Dismiss the Arson and 
Firearm Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due Process Grounds (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 10119/2007) 

10119/2007 ill Interim MOTION for Forfeiture of Property by Rodney Morrison. (Senft, Anthony) (Entered: 
10119/2007) 

10120/2007 ill Proposed Voir Dire by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/20/2007) 

10/2212007 182 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Interim MOTION for Forfeiture of 
Property (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/22/2007) 

10/22/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order denying "so ordering" of subpoenas. See attached. 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/22/07.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10/22/2007) 

10/23/2007 3..8.4 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order regarding application for return of certain computers 
and servers. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/23/07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/2312007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/22/2007 re .114. MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by 
Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest. Hearing continued to 10/24/2007 at 10:00 
am. (Court Reporter Picozzi, Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/2312007 }£Ii ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order regarding October 24, 2007 suppression hearing and 
defendant's motion to suppress derivative evidence. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 10/23/07. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 ELECTRONIC ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re }£Ii Order on Motion to Suppress: The 
hearing on October 24, 2007 shall commence at 10:00 a.m. (and not 9:30). Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 10/23/07. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley in opposition to defendant's motion to suppress his 
post arrest statements as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/2312007 ill Letter responding in opposition to October 16, 2007 letter by Wm. Murphy to reconsider 
Court's denied of the motion to dismiss Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 as to Rodney 
Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 ~ Letter Regarding Rule 16 Disclosure Requirements as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 .12il AFFlDA VITI AFFIRMATION by Rodney Morrison .114. MOTION to Suppress Any and All 
Statements by Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest filed by Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10123/2007 ill Letter to Miskiewicz regarding exculpatory material as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 m Letter to Judge Hurley re CCTA and Due Process as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
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questionnaire. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10118/07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 10118/2007) 

10119/2007 ill MOTION for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice Pro Hac Vice Kenneth Ravenell Filing fee $ 25, 
receipt number 2612834. by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/19/2007) 

1011912007 ill Letter to A USA Miskiewicz regarding return of seized computers as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10119/2007) 

10119/2007 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re 3..Q2 MOTION to Suppress 
Derivative Evidence Based On Defendant's Proffer and Motion to Dismiss the Arson and 
Firearm Counts of the Indictment Based on Speedy Trial and Due Process Grounds (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 10119/2007) 

10119/2007 ill Interim MOTION for Forfeiture of Property by Rodney Morrison. (Senft, Anthony) (Entered: 
10119/2007) 

10120/2007 ill Proposed Voir Dire by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/20/2007) 

10/2212007 182 RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill Interim MOTION for Forfeiture of 
Property (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/22/2007) 

10/22/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order denying "so ordering" of subpoenas. See attached. 
Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/22/07.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 10/22/2007) 

10/23/2007 3..8.4 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order regarding application for return of certain computers 
and servers. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/23/07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/2312007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/22/2007 re .114. MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by 
Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest. Hearing continued to 10/24/2007 at 10:00 
am. (Court Reporter Picozzi, Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/2312007 }£Ii ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order regarding October 24, 2007 suppression hearing and 
defendant's motion to suppress derivative evidence. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 10/23/07. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 ELECTRONIC ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re }£Ii Order on Motion to Suppress: The 
hearing on October 24, 2007 shall commence at 10:00 a.m. (and not 9:30). Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 10/23/07. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley in opposition to defendant's motion to suppress his 
post arrest statements as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/2312007 ill Letter responding in opposition to October 16, 2007 letter by Wm. Murphy to reconsider 
Court's denied of the motion to dismiss Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 as to Rodney 
Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 ~ Letter Regarding Rule 16 Disclosure Requirements as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 .12il AFFlDA VITI AFFIRMATION by Rodney Morrison .114. MOTION to Suppress Any and All 
Statements by Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest filed by Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10123/2007 ill Letter to Miskiewicz regarding exculpatory material as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 10/23/2007) 

10/23/2007 m Letter to Judge Hurley re CCTA and Due Process as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
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Exhibit # 2 Exhibit) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/24/2007) 

10/24/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The motion of Kenneth W. Ravenell, Esq. to be admitted 
pro hac vice is hereby granted. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/24/07. (Hurley, 
Denis) (Entered: 10/24/2007) 

10/24/2007 ill Letter responding to October 23, 2007 letter by the government (doc. # 388) re Racketeering 
Acts 4-80 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/24/2007) 

10/24/2007 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Kenneth Ravenell for Rodney 
Morrison added. (See 10/24/07 Order.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/25/2007) 

10/25/2007 124 Letter to Judge Hurley re Speedy Trial Motion as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10/25/2007) 

10/25/2007 .3..2.5. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/24/2007 re :lH MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by 
Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest. Hearng continued to October 25, 2007 at 
II :00 am (Court Reporter Rapaport, Picozzi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10/25/2007) 

10/25/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; terminating ill Motion to Suppress. (See 403 Minute 
Entry.) ( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/25/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
I 112612007) 

1012612007 }2Q Letter regarding problems with juror questionnaires as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order setting briefing schedule and hearing date for motion 
by New York City Police Department to quash subpoena. See attached. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 10/26/07. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 ill Letter re Proposed Order for use of cell phones as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 12.2. Letter dtd. 10/22/07 from Police Department, Legal Dept. to Hon. Denis R. Hurley, to quash 
the subpoena dtd. 10118/07 requiring the production of documents to the defendant Rodney 
Morrison. (Barhome, Sydelle) Modified on 10/29/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4QQ Letter regarding the government's proposed juror exclusions as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 .4ill. Letter re Proposed Order directing compliance of Mauro Pennisi, Inc. with subpoena as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed Order) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4Q2 Letter raising the issue of the necessity of a Curcio Hearing concerning the conduct of Peter 
Smith, Warren Flagg and other defense investigators as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, Lara) 
(Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 403 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/26/2007 re :lH MOTION to Suppress. rulings placed on the record. 
(Court Reporter Stephanie Picozzi) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4Q4 Letter to William Murphy, Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4il5. WITNESS LIST by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/2612007) 

10/27/2007 4ilii Letter to William Murphy, Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/27/2007) 

10/27/2007 4.Q1 Letter responding in opposition to defendant'S motion to dismiss CeTA acts on vagueness 
grounds as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Appendix # 2 Appendix) (Miskiewicz, 
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Exhibit # 2 Exhibit) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/24/2007) 

10/24/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The motion of Kenneth W. Ravenell, Esq. to be admitted 
pro hac vice is hereby granted. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/24/07. (Hurley, 
Denis) (Entered: 10/24/2007) 

10/24/2007 ill Letter responding to October 23, 2007 letter by the government (doc. # 388) re Racketeering 
Acts 4-80 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/24/2007) 

10/24/2007 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Kenneth Ravenell for Rodney 
Morrison added. (See 10/24/07 Order.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 10/25/2007) 

10/25/2007 124 Letter to Judge Hurley re Speedy Trial Motion as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10/25/2007) 

10/25/2007 .3..2.5. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/24/2007 re :lH MOTION to Suppress Any and All Statements by 
Rodney Morrison to the Police Following Arrest. Hearng continued to October 25, 2007 at 
II :00 am (Court Reporter Rapaport, Picozzi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10/25/2007) 

10/25/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; terminating ill Motion to Suppress. (See 403 Minute 
Entry.) ( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/25/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
I 112612007) 

1012612007 }2Q Letter regarding problems with juror questionnaires as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order setting briefing schedule and hearing date for motion 
by New York City Police Department to quash subpoena. See attached. Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 10/26/07. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 ill Letter re Proposed Order for use of cell phones as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 12.2. Letter dtd. 10/22/07 from Police Department, Legal Dept. to Hon. Denis R. Hurley, to quash 
the subpoena dtd. 10118/07 requiring the production of documents to the defendant Rodney 
Morrison. (Barhome, Sydelle) Modified on 10/29/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4QQ Letter regarding the government's proposed juror exclusions as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 .4ill. Letter re Proposed Order directing compliance of Mauro Pennisi, Inc. with subpoena as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Text of Proposed Order) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4Q2 Letter raising the issue of the necessity of a Curcio Hearing concerning the conduct of Peter 
Smith, Warren Flagg and other defense investigators as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, Lara) 
(Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 403 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Motion Hearing as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 10/26/2007 re :lH MOTION to Suppress. rulings placed on the record. 
(Court Reporter Stephanie Picozzi) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4Q4 Letter to William Murphy, Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/26/2007) 

10/26/2007 4il5. WITNESS LIST by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/2612007) 

10/27/2007 4ilii Letter to William Murphy, Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 10/27/2007) 

10/27/2007 4.Q1 Letter responding in opposition to defendant'S motion to dismiss CeTA acts on vagueness 
grounds as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Appendix # 2 Appendix) (Miskiewicz, 
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James) (Entered: 10/27/2007) 

10/27/2007 .4Q.8. Letter supplementing government's opposition to suppression of the testimony of Wayne 
Harris as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/27/2007) 

10/29/2007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 10/29107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Counsel: William Murphy, Daniel Nobel, Peter 
Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James Miskiewicz, 
John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, Ellen Combs. 
Case called. Jury selection begun. Jury selection continued to 10/30107 at 9:30 a.m. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 11/01/2007) 

10/30/2007 4.Q2 Letter in response to government's letter of October 27, 2007 (Doc #407) regarding 
defendant's motion to dismiss CCTA Acts as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 ill Letter in response to government request for Curcio hearing (Doc #402) as to Rodney 
Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 ill Letter in opposition to NYPD motion to quash subpoena (Doc #399) as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 !ll2 Letter (Revised) in response to government's letter of October 27, 2007 (Doc #407) regarding 
defendant'S motion to dismiss CCTA Acts as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 10/30107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Counsel for Deft.: William Murphy, Daniel 
Nobel, Peter Smith Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, 
Ellen Combs. Case called. Jury selection continued. Jury selection continued to 10/31/07 at 
9:30 a.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1110112007) 

10/3112007 ill Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to Honorable Denis r. Hurley, dated 10/31107 as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To request that the Court execute the attached proposed order directing 
the New York City Police Department to bring the homicide file to the hearing scheduled for 
1112/07. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1110112007) 

10/3112007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter; That the New York City Police Department 
(NYPD) is hereby directed to bring its entire file regarding the Sherwin Henry homicide to 
the hearing scheduled in this case on Friday, 1112/07, at 2:00 p.m.; and that said file is the 
subject matter of deft's subpoena dated 10/18/07, addressed to the NYPD, and the motion to 
quash. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/31107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
1110112007) . 

10/3112007 415 Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to Honorable Denis R. Hurley dated 10/31107 as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To request that the Court of execute the attached proposed order 
permitting the defense to arrange for the placement of a photocopier in the attorney 
conference room adjacent to Room 930 for the duration of trial. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 
1112/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 11/01/2007) 

10/3112007 .4l.6. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter; That the legal team defending Rodney 
Morrison in this case is hereby permitted to have a photocopier transported into the 
courthouse and placed in the attorney conference room adjacent to Room 930 for the duration 
of trial in the above-captioned matter; and that it is expected that trial will be in session from 
10/29107 to 211108.( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/31/07.) (Fagan, Linda) 
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James) (Entered: 10/27/2007) 

10/27/2007 .4Q.8. Letter supplementing government's opposition to suppression of the testimony of Wayne 
Harris as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 10/27/2007) 

10/29/2007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 10/29107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Counsel: William Murphy, Daniel Nobel, Peter 
Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James Miskiewicz, 
John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, Ellen Combs. 
Case called. Jury selection begun. Jury selection continued to 10/30107 at 9:30 a.m. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 11/01/2007) 

10/30/2007 4.Q2 Letter in response to government's letter of October 27, 2007 (Doc #407) regarding 
defendant's motion to dismiss CCTA Acts as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 ill Letter in response to government request for Curcio hearing (Doc #402) as to Rodney 
Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 ill Letter in opposition to NYPD motion to quash subpoena (Doc #399) as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 !ll2 Letter (Revised) in response to government's letter of October 27, 2007 (Doc #407) regarding 
defendant'S motion to dismiss CCTA Acts as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 10/30/2007) 

10/30/2007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 10/30107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Counsel for Deft.: William Murphy, Daniel 
Nobel, Peter Smith Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, 
Ellen Combs. Case called. Jury selection continued. Jury selection continued to 10/31/07 at 
9:30 a.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1110112007) 

10/3112007 ill Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to Honorable Denis r. Hurley, dated 10/31107 as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To request that the Court execute the attached proposed order directing 
the New York City Police Department to bring the homicide file to the hearing scheduled for 
1112/07. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1110112007) 

10/3112007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter; That the New York City Police Department 
(NYPD) is hereby directed to bring its entire file regarding the Sherwin Henry homicide to 
the hearing scheduled in this case on Friday, 1112/07, at 2:00 p.m.; and that said file is the 
subject matter of deft's subpoena dated 10/18/07, addressed to the NYPD, and the motion to 
quash. (Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/31107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
1110112007) . 

10/3112007 415 Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to Honorable Denis R. Hurley dated 10/31107 as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To request that the Court of execute the attached proposed order 
permitting the defense to arrange for the placement of a photocopier in the attorney 
conference room adjacent to Room 930 for the duration of trial. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 
1112/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 11/01/2007) 

10/3112007 .4l.6. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter; That the legal team defending Rodney 
Morrison in this case is hereby permitted to have a photocopier transported into the 
courthouse and placed in the attorney conference room adjacent to Room 930 for the duration 
of trial in the above-captioned matter; and that it is expected that trial will be in session from 
10/29107 to 211108.( Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 10/31/07.) (Fagan, Linda) 
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(Entered: 1110112007) 

10/3112007 .4l.2. Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 10131107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Counsel for Deft.: William Murphy, Daniel 
Nobel, Peter Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, 
Ellen Combs. Case called. Jury selection continued. Jury selection continued to 1111107 at 
9:30 a.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1110112007) 

1110112007 ~ Letter replying to defendant's letter objecting to a Curcio hearing regarding the conduct of 
Peter Smith, Warren Flagg and other defense investigators as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, 
Lara) (Entered: 1110112007) 

1110112007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 1111107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for· Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Attorney for Deft.: William Murphy, Danie 
Nobel, Peter Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Piccozzi, 
Ellen Combs. Case called. Jury selection continued. Jury selection continued to 1112/07 at 
9:30 a.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11102/2007 421 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/29107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen s. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Stephanie Piccozzi, RPR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, 
New York 11722, Phone (631)712-6107, Fax (6310 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11102/2007) 

11102/2007 422 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/30107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Stephanie Piccozzi, RPR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, 
New York 11722 Phone (631) 712-6107; Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11102/2007) 

11102/2007 423 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1013 I107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central 
Islip, New York 11722, Phone (631) 712-6017, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11102/2007) 

11102/2007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 1112107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Attorney for Deft.: William Murphy, Daniel 
Nobel, Peter Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best. Case called. Jury Selection completed. 
Trial to begin on Tuesday, 1116107 at 9:30 a.m. Motion hearing held on motion by NYPD to 
quash subpoenas. NYPD to provide files by Monday, 1115/07 for in camera review. Motion 
for curcio hearing as to Peter Smith and investigator Flagg. Deft waives his right to 
independent counsel. The Court finds deft's waiver to be voluntary and knowledgeable. 
(Entered: 11105/2007) 

11102/2007 434 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1112/07 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United states District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central 
Islip, New York 11722 Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11106/2007) 
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(Entered: 1110112007) 

10/3112007 .4l.2. Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 10131107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Counsel for Deft.: William Murphy, Daniel 
Nobel, Peter Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, 
Ellen Combs. Case called. Jury selection continued. Jury selection continued to 1111107 at 
9:30 a.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1110112007) 

1110112007 ~ Letter replying to defendant's letter objecting to a Curcio hearing regarding the conduct of 
Peter Smith, Warren Flagg and other defense investigators as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, 
Lara) (Entered: 1110112007) 

1110112007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 1111107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for· Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Attorney for Deft.: William Murphy, Danie 
Nobel, Peter Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For Govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: Stephanie Piccozzi, 
Ellen Combs. Case called. Jury selection continued. Jury selection continued to 1112/07 at 
9:30 a.m. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11102/2007 421 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/29107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen s. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Stephanie Piccozzi, RPR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, 
New York 11722, Phone (631)712-6107, Fax (6310 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11102/2007) 

11102/2007 422 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/30107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Stephanie Piccozzi, RPR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, 
New York 11722 Phone (631) 712-6107; Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11102/2007) 

11102/2007 423 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1013 I107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central 
Islip, New York 11722, Phone (631) 712-6017, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11102/2007) 

11102/2007 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on 1112107 at 9:30 a.m. before Denis R. Hurley, United 
States District Judge, for Criminal Cause for Jury Selection; Appearances: Deft.: Rodney 
Morrison, Deft. #:1, present, in custody, with Attorney for Deft.: William Murphy, Daniel 
Nobel, Peter Smith, Kenneth Ravenell, Richard Levitt, present; For govt.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz, John Durham; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best. Case called. Jury Selection completed. 
Trial to begin on Tuesday, 1116107 at 9:30 a.m. Motion hearing held on motion by NYPD to 
quash subpoenas. NYPD to provide files by Monday, 1115/07 for in camera review. Motion 
for curcio hearing as to Peter Smith and investigator Flagg. Deft waives his right to 
independent counsel. The Court finds deft's waiver to be voluntary and knowledgeable. 
(Entered: 11105/2007) 

11102/2007 434 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1112/07 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United states District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Perry Auerbach, CSR, Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central 
Islip, New York 11722 Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11106/2007) 
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11102/2007 435 TRANSCRIPT of Motion Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 1112107 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, 
CSR, Perry Auerbach, CSR, Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 
Central Islip, New York 11722 Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 11106/2007) 

11105/2007 426 TRANSCRIPT of Motion hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/25/07 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, 
RPR United States District Court 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 1115/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 427 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1111107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722 
Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 42.8. Letter requesting that the Court contact the jurors today to advise them to refrain from 
reviewing news reports concerning this matter as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, Lara) (Entered: 
11105/2007) 

11105/2007 429 Letter Requesting Permission to Redact Personal Informationfrom NYPD Report as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11105/2007) . 

11105/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order setting briefing schedule re: redaction of information 
in NYPD report of interview. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11105/07. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 lli ORDER re ill : The government's motion to preclude Defendant from offering any evidence 
at trial that Morrison was affirmatively misled by government actors into believing that the 
conduct charged in racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the superseding indictment was legal is 
DENIED. The Defendant may present such evidence at trial but may not assert the defense of 
entrapment by estoppel. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 11-5-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 432 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging and transportation to jurors Yolanda Casco and Jay Belinsky empaneled in the above 
case, during the trial and deliberations; and transportation as needed. ( Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1115107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11106/2007) 

11106/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1116/2007. Jury trial adjourned to November 14,2007 at 9:45 AM (Court 
Reporter Paul LombardL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11106/2007) 

11106/2007 ill Letter From Murphy to Miskiewicz Re Discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 11106/2007) 

11107/2007 ill Letter responding to defendant's discovery letter of November 7, 2007 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11107/2007) 

11109/2007 ill ORDER: Defendant's motions for reconsideration of my October 9, 2007 bench decision 
(docket no. 367) and to dismiss racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the superseding indictment 
on substantive due process grounds (docket no. 392) are DENIED. See attached 
Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11-9-07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 11109/2007) 

11109/2007 ill MOTION for Order to Show Cause by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memo of Law# 2 
Exhibit A# 3. Exhibit B#:1 Exhibit C# i Exhibit D) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11109/2007) 

11109/2007 440 Letter to Judge Hurley re reconsideration of speedy trial motion as to Rodney Morrison 
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11102/2007 435 TRANSCRIPT of Motion Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 1112107 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, 
CSR, Perry Auerbach, CSR, Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 
Central Islip, New York 11722 Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 11106/2007) 

11105/2007 426 TRANSCRIPT of Motion hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 10/25/07 before The 
Honorable Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Stephanie Picozzi, 
RPR United States District Court 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 1115/2007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 427 TRANSCRIPT of Jury Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1111107 before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR, 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722 
Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 42.8. Letter requesting that the Court contact the jurors today to advise them to refrain from 
reviewing news reports concerning this matter as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, Lara) (Entered: 
11105/2007) 

11105/2007 429 Letter Requesting Permission to Redact Personal Informationfrom NYPD Report as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11105/2007) . 

11105/2007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order setting briefing schedule re: redaction of information 
in NYPD report of interview. See attached. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11105/07. 
(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 lli ORDER re ill : The government's motion to preclude Defendant from offering any evidence 
at trial that Morrison was affirmatively misled by government actors into believing that the 
conduct charged in racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the superseding indictment was legal is 
DENIED. The Defendant may present such evidence at trial but may not assert the defense of 
entrapment by estoppel. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 11-5-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11105/2007) 

11105/2007 432 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging and transportation to jurors Yolanda Casco and Jay Belinsky empaneled in the above 
case, during the trial and deliberations; and transportation as needed. ( Ordered by Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1115107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11106/2007) 

11106/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Denis R. Hurley :Status Conference as to Rodney 
Morrison held on 1116/2007. Jury trial adjourned to November 14,2007 at 9:45 AM (Court 
Reporter Paul LombardL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11106/2007) 

11106/2007 ill Letter From Murphy to Miskiewicz Re Discovery as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 11106/2007) 

11107/2007 ill Letter responding to defendant's discovery letter of November 7, 2007 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11107/2007) 

11109/2007 ill ORDER: Defendant's motions for reconsideration of my October 9, 2007 bench decision 
(docket no. 367) and to dismiss racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the superseding indictment 
on substantive due process grounds (docket no. 392) are DENIED. See attached 
Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11-9-07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 11109/2007) 

11109/2007 ill MOTION for Order to Show Cause by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memo of Law# 2 
Exhibit A# 3. Exhibit B#:1 Exhibit C# i Exhibit D) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11109/2007) 

11109/2007 440 Letter to Judge Hurley re reconsideration of speedy trial motion as to Rodney Morrison 
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(Murphy, William) (Entered: 11109/2007) 

11109/2007 ill ORDER re 43..2 : The Court will conduct a hearing on this matter on November 16, 2007 at 
10:00 a.m. See attached Order for further details. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11-9-
07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11109/2007) 

1111312007 442 Letter requesting a hearing as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 143. Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to William H. Murphy, Jr., Esq., dated 11112/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To advise counsel that the government has been provided with Sherwin 
Henry's desktop computer by the New York City Police Department; and to provide counsel 
with instructions on how to have the information contained on that computer copied to the 
defenses hard drive. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 414 Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 11112/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To request that the Court preclude the defendant from cross-examining 
Jesse Watkins regarding the subjects set forth herein. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 445 Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 11112/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To advise the Court and counsel of certain evidence that it intends to 
introduce at the above-referenced deft's trial. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 446 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 442 Letter.The parties are directed to appear at 9:15 am on 
11114/2007. Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11/1312007. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11/13/2007) 

11113/2007 .44l Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 11113/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To oppose the deft's renewed motion to dismiss certain counts of the 
indictment on speedy trial grounds. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

11114/2007 4d.8. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
transportation to the jurors in this case as set forth herein. ( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 11114/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

1lI14/2007 :!42 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That counsel and support staff for Rodney Morrison may 
bring into court a video camera and tape playerlrecorder and related cables. ( Ordered by 
Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11114/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

1lI14/2007 420. AFFIDA VITI AFFIRMATION by Suffolk County Police Department as to Rodney Morrison 
(Termini, Chris) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

1lI15/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial opens as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 11114/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11115/2007) 

11115/2007 ill Letter urging the Court to permit Pauline McCammon, mother of the murder victim, to be 
present at the trial pursuant to the Crime Victim's Right Act as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, 
Lara) (Entered: 11115/2007) 

1lI15/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11115/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11115/2007) 

1lI16/2007 ill; Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Show Cause 
Hearing on defendant's # 439 application as to Rodney Morrison held on 11116/2007. Hearing 
adjourned to Tuesday, November 20, 2007 at 6:00 pm. (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: I III 6/2007) 

1lI16/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
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(Murphy, William) (Entered: 11109/2007) 

11109/2007 ill ORDER re 43..2 : The Court will conduct a hearing on this matter on November 16, 2007 at 
10:00 a.m. See attached Order for further details. Ordered by Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11-9-
07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11109/2007) 

1111312007 442 Letter requesting a hearing as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 143. Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to William H. Murphy, Jr., Esq., dated 11112/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To advise counsel that the government has been provided with Sherwin 
Henry's desktop computer by the New York City Police Department; and to provide counsel 
with instructions on how to have the information contained on that computer copied to the 
defenses hard drive. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 414 Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 11112/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To request that the Court preclude the defendant from cross-examining 
Jesse Watkins regarding the subjects set forth herein. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 445 Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 11112/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To advise the Court and counsel of certain evidence that it intends to 
introduce at the above-referenced deft's trial. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11113/2007) 

11113/2007 446 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re 442 Letter.The parties are directed to appear at 9:15 am on 
11114/2007. Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11/1312007. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11/13/2007) 

11113/2007 .44l Letter from James M. Miskiewicz to The Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 11113/07, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To oppose the deft's renewed motion to dismiss certain counts of the 
indictment on speedy trial grounds. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

11114/2007 4d.8. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
transportation to the jurors in this case as set forth herein. ( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 11114/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

1lI14/2007 :!42 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That counsel and support staff for Rodney Morrison may 
bring into court a video camera and tape playerlrecorder and related cables. ( Ordered by 
Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11114/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

1lI14/2007 420. AFFIDA VITI AFFIRMATION by Suffolk County Police Department as to Rodney Morrison 
(Termini, Chris) (Entered: 11114/2007) 

1lI15/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial opens as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 11114/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11115/2007) 

11115/2007 ill Letter urging the Court to permit Pauline McCammon, mother of the murder victim, to be 
present at the trial pursuant to the Crime Victim's Right Act as to Rodney Morrison (Gatz, 
Lara) (Entered: 11115/2007) 

1lI15/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11115/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11115/2007) 

1lI16/2007 ill; Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Show Cause 
Hearing on defendant's # 439 application as to Rodney Morrison held on 11116/2007. Hearing 
adjourned to Tuesday, November 20, 2007 at 6:00 pm. (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: I III 6/2007) 

1lI16/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
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sustenance to jurors, Yolanda Ramos and Jay Belinsky, for the dates of November 14 and 15, 
2007.( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11116107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11116/2007) 

11/17/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley in response to the government's letter-motion regarding Tony Phillips 
as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11117/2007) 

11119/2007 ill LETTER re: Request to Quash Defense Subpoenas to FBI by USA as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 11120/2007 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 11119/2007) 

11119/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11119/2007 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach 1 Mary Ann Steiger.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11120/2007) 

11/19/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION to 
Quash Defense Subpoenas to FBI filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11120/2007) 

11120/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley: Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11120/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11120/2007) 

11120/2007 4@ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Show Cause 
Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 11120/2007 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Steiger, 
Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11120/2007) 

11120/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; terminating ill Motion for Order to Show Cause. (See 4@ 
Minute Entry. )( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11120107.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 11126/2007) 

1112112007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison regarding subpoena served on Suffolk County Police 
Department ("SCPD")regarding file concerning Leroy M Carroll and SCPD's response 
thereto. See attached. Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11121107. (Gapinski, 
Michele) (Entered: 1112112007) 

11125/2007 4.62. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
11125/2007) 

1112512007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11125/2007) 

11126/2007 .4M Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11126/2007) 

11126/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11126/2007 (Court Reporter Auerbach, Steiger, Lombardi.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 11126/2007) 

11126/2007 4QQ Letter requesting reconsideration of the Court's ruling as to Phillip's testimony as to 
uncharged CCTA acts as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11126/2007) 

11/2712007 lli Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11127/2007) 

11/27/2007 .4.6.8. Proposed Jury Instructions by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11127/2007) 

11127/2007 462 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11127/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11127/2007) 

1112812007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
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sustenance to jurors, Yolanda Ramos and Jay Belinsky, for the dates of November 14 and 15, 
2007.( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11116107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
11116/2007) 

11/17/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley in response to the government's letter-motion regarding Tony Phillips 
as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11117/2007) 

11119/2007 ill LETTER re: Request to Quash Defense Subpoenas to FBI by USA as to Rodney Morrison. 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 11120/2007 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 11119/2007) 

11119/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11119/2007 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach 1 Mary Ann Steiger.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11120/2007) 

11/19/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill First MOTION to 
Quash Defense Subpoenas to FBI filed by USA. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11120/2007) 

11120/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley: Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11120/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11120/2007) 

11120/2007 4@ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley:Show Cause 
Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 11120/2007 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Steiger, 
Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 11120/2007) 

11120/2007 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; terminating ill Motion for Order to Show Cause. (See 4@ 
Minute Entry. )( Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11120107.) (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 11126/2007) 

1112112007 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison regarding subpoena served on Suffolk County Police 
Department ("SCPD")regarding file concerning Leroy M Carroll and SCPD's response 
thereto. See attached. Ordered by Senior-Judge Denis R. Hurley on 11121107. (Gapinski, 
Michele) (Entered: 1112112007) 

11125/2007 4.62. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
11125/2007) 

1112512007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11125/2007) 

11126/2007 .4M Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11126/2007) 

11126/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11126/2007 (Court Reporter Auerbach, Steiger, Lombardi.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 11126/2007) 

11126/2007 4QQ Letter requesting reconsideration of the Court's ruling as to Phillip's testimony as to 
uncharged CCTA acts as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 11126/2007) 

11/2712007 lli Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11127/2007) 

11/27/2007 .4.6.8. Proposed Jury Instructions by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11127/2007) 

11127/2007 462 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11127/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11127/2007) 

1112812007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
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Rodney Morrison held on 11128/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 41Q Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 472 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11115/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) (712-6122 (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 473 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11119107 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Perry Auerbach, Mary 
Ann Steiger 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-6103. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 474 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11120107 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 475 TRANSCRIPT of Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 11120107 before the Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal·Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631)712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11129/2007 (Court Reporter Paul LombardL) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 ill Letter regarding expert witness qualifications as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) 
(Entered: 11129/2007) 

11130/2007 478 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11126/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Perry Auerbach, Mary 
Ann Steiger, Paul Lombardo 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6103. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 479 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11127/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722 Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 480 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11128/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1113012007) 

11130/2007 481 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11129107 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 4.82 Letter To Judge Hurley Re 801 Issue as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
11130/2007) 

11130/2007 m Letter to Judge Hurley re Phillips Transcript as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 4.8.2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Audibility Hearing 
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Rodney Morrison held on 11128/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 41Q Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 472 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11115/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) (712-6122 (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 473 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11119107 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Perry Auerbach, Mary 
Ann Steiger 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-6103. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 474 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11120107 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 475 TRANSCRIPT of Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 11120107 before the Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal·Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631)712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 11129/2007 (Court Reporter Paul LombardL) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 11129/2007) 

11129/2007 ill Letter regarding expert witness qualifications as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) 
(Entered: 11129/2007) 

11130/2007 478 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11126/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Perry Auerbach, Mary 
Ann Steiger, Paul Lombardo 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6103. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 479 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11127/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722 Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 480 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11128/07 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 1113012007) 

11130/2007 481 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 11129107 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 4.82 Letter To Judge Hurley Re 801 Issue as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
11130/2007) 

11130/2007 m Letter to Judge Hurley re Phillips Transcript as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 11130/2007) 

11130/2007 4.8.2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Audibility Hearing 
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as to Rodney Morrison held on 11130/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/0112007 ill Letter transmitting revised transcript as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Supplement 
Transcript) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 12/0112007) 

12/0112007 485 Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
12/0112007) 

12/0112007 .4£6. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
12/01/2007) 

12/02/2007 m Letter from William H Murphy, Jr. to John Durham regarding the government's expert 
witnesses as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12/02/2007) 

12/03/2007 4R8. Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/03/2007 d2Q Letter regarding Phillips recording transcript notes as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/03/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/3/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/04/2007 492 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/4/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/04/2007) 

12/05/2007 m Letter regarding defendant's request for jury instruction as to Phillip's transcript notes as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 12/05/2007) 

12/05/2007 494 Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
12/05/2007) 

12/05/2007 42ll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/5/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/06/2007) 

12/06/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12/06/2007) 

12/06/2007 121 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/6/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/06/2007) 

12/06/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to Jurors, Yolanda Ramos, Jay Belinsky, and Donald Pau Pau for the dates of 
December 3, 4, and 5,2007. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/6107.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 1211112007) 

12/06/2007 512 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging to the Juror, Donald Pau Pau, during the jury trial, as necessary. ( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/6107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/1112007) 

12/07/2007 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Sanford Talkin for Shawn 
Morrison, Kiana Morrison, Golden Feather, Inc. and Golden Feather Cigarette Express added. 
(Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 12/07/2007) 

12/0712007 42..8. ORDER: Defendant's application to renew his motion to dismiss the arson and felon-in-
possession counts for violation of defendant's rights to a speedy trial based on the delay in the 
start of trial44.U is DENIED. See attached decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
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as to Rodney Morrison held on 11130/2007 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/0112007 ill Letter transmitting revised transcript as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Supplement 
Transcript) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 12/0112007) 

12/0112007 485 Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
12/0112007) 

12/0112007 .4£6. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
12/01/2007) 

12/02/2007 m Letter from William H Murphy, Jr. to John Durham regarding the government's expert 
witnesses as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12/02/2007) 

12/03/2007 4R8. Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/03/2007 d2Q Letter regarding Phillips recording transcript notes as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, 
James) (Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/03/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/3/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/03/2007) 

12/04/2007 492 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/4/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/04/2007) 

12/05/2007 m Letter regarding defendant's request for jury instruction as to Phillip's transcript notes as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 12/05/2007) 

12/05/2007 494 Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
12/05/2007) 

12/05/2007 42ll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/5/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/06/2007) 

12/06/2007 ill Letter to Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12/06/2007) 

12/06/2007 121 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/6/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/06/2007) 

12/06/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to Jurors, Yolanda Ramos, Jay Belinsky, and Donald Pau Pau for the dates of 
December 3, 4, and 5,2007. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/6107.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 1211112007) 

12/06/2007 512 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging to the Juror, Donald Pau Pau, during the jury trial, as necessary. ( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/6107.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/1112007) 

12/07/2007 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Sanford Talkin for Shawn 
Morrison, Kiana Morrison, Golden Feather, Inc. and Golden Feather Cigarette Express added. 
(Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 12/07/2007) 

12/0712007 42..8. ORDER: Defendant's application to renew his motion to dismiss the arson and felon-in-
possession counts for violation of defendant's rights to a speedy trial based on the delay in the 
start of trial44.U is DENIED. See attached decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
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Hurley on 12-7-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 12/07/2007) 

12/07/2007 422 ORDER: Defendant's motion ill for reconsideration of my earlier decision denying his 
motion for claimed pre-June 2006 violations of the Speedy Trial Act is DENIED. See 
attached decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12-7-07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 12/07/2007) 

12/07/2007 Jill! LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply to Subpoena by Shawn 
Morrison, Kiana Morrison, Golden Feather, Inc., Golden Feather Cigarette Express as to 
Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Supplement Subpoena) (Talkin, Sanford) Modified on 
12/1112007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 1210712007) 

12/07/2007 ill Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued as to Lamont Wright for 12/12107 in case as 
to Rodney Morrison (Imrie, Robert) (Entered: 12/1 0/2007) 

12/07/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: iQQ First MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply to Subpoena filed by Golden Feather, Inc., Kiana 
Morrison, Golden Feather Cigarette Express, Shawn Morrison. (The document should have 
been filed as a Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All 
corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/1112007) 

12/10/2007 501 TRANSCRIPT of Audibility Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on November 30, 2007 @ 
II :15 a.m. before Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi. (Mahon, 
Cinthia) (Entered: 12/10/2007) 

12/10/2007 502 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/3/07 @9:30 a.m. 
before Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 
12/1 0/2007) 

12/10/2007 503 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/4/07 @9:30 a.m. 
before Judge Denis R. Hurley and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Mahon, Cinthia) 
(Entered: 1211 0/2007) 

12/10/2007 504 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/5107 at 10 a.m. before 
Judge Denis R. Hurley and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. Sealed portions pgs 
2551-2575 and 2655-2666 removed and filed under seal. Original Document not electronic. 
(Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 1211 0/2007) 

12110/2007 506 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/6/07 at 9:10 a.m. 
before Judge Denis R. Hurley and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. Sealed portion 
pages 2795-2826 removed from this transcript. Original Document not electronic. (Mahon, 
Cinthia) (Entered: 1211 0/2007) 

12/10/2007 2m Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/10/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 012007) 

1211112007 ill Letter to Defendant as to proposed testimony of witness Jennifer Hink as to Rodney Morrison 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 12/1112007) 

1211112007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1211112007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211112007) 

1211112007 ill Letter in support of cross-examination of Allison Stewart as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 1211112007) 

12/12/2007 ill Letterfrom Willaim H Murphy, Jr. to Judge Denis Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 12/12/2007) 
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Hurley on 12-7-07. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 12/07/2007) 

12/07/2007 422 ORDER: Defendant's motion ill for reconsideration of my earlier decision denying his 
motion for claimed pre-June 2006 violations of the Speedy Trial Act is DENIED. See 
attached decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12-7-07. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 12/07/2007) 

12/07/2007 Jill! LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply to Subpoena by Shawn 
Morrison, Kiana Morrison, Golden Feather, Inc., Golden Feather Cigarette Express as to 
Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Supplement Subpoena) (Talkin, Sanford) Modified on 
12/1112007 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 1210712007) 

12/07/2007 ill Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued as to Lamont Wright for 12/12107 in case as 
to Rodney Morrison (Imrie, Robert) (Entered: 12/1 0/2007) 

12/07/2007 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: iQQ First MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply to Subpoena filed by Golden Feather, Inc., Kiana 
Morrison, Golden Feather Cigarette Express, Shawn Morrison. (The document should have 
been filed as a Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All 
corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/1112007) 

12/10/2007 501 TRANSCRIPT of Audibility Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on November 30, 2007 @ 
II :15 a.m. before Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi. (Mahon, 
Cinthia) (Entered: 12/10/2007) 

12/10/2007 502 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/3/07 @9:30 a.m. 
before Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 
12/1 0/2007) 

12/10/2007 503 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/4/07 @9:30 a.m. 
before Judge Denis R. Hurley and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Mahon, Cinthia) 
(Entered: 1211 0/2007) 

12/10/2007 504 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/5107 at 10 a.m. before 
Judge Denis R. Hurley and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. Sealed portions pgs 
2551-2575 and 2655-2666 removed and filed under seal. Original Document not electronic. 
(Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 1211 0/2007) 

12110/2007 506 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/6/07 at 9:10 a.m. 
before Judge Denis R. Hurley and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. Sealed portion 
pages 2795-2826 removed from this transcript. Original Document not electronic. (Mahon, 
Cinthia) (Entered: 1211 0/2007) 

12/10/2007 2m Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/10/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 012007) 

1211112007 ill Letter to Defendant as to proposed testimony of witness Jennifer Hink as to Rodney Morrison 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 12/1112007) 

1211112007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1211112007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211112007) 

1211112007 ill Letter in support of cross-examination of Allison Stewart as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 1211112007) 

12/12/2007 ill Letterfrom Willaim H Murphy, Jr. to Judge Denis Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 12/12/2007) 
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12112/2007 ill Letter to Defendant to supplement the government's prior submission of 12111107 as to 
proposed testimony of witness Jennifer Hink as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, 
Diane) (Entered: 12112/2007) 

12112/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12112/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 212007) 

12112/2007 520 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to jurors, Jay Belinsky, and Donald Pau Pau for the dates of December 10, 11, and 
12,2007.( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/12/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
1211 4/2007) 

1211312007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/13/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12113/2007) 

12114/2007 ill Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to Judge Denis Hurley re Jennifer Hink as to Rodney 
Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12114/2007) 

12114/2007 521 PAYMENT ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk issue payment to those 
jurors present for jury selection in the above case on the dates of October 29,30,31 and 
November 1, and 2, 2007; and to the jurors selected on the case for the dates of November 6, 
14,15,19,20,26,27,28,29,2007 and December 3, 4, 5, 6,10,11,12, and 13,2007; and that 
the Jury Clerk issue payment on a weekly basis to those the jurors sitting on trial. ( Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12114/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12114/2007) 

12115/2007 ill Letter to the. Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
12115/2007) 

12115/2007 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
1211 5/2007) 

12117/2007 ill Letter from the government to Honorable Denis R. Hurley in reply to Defendant's submission 
regarding Jennifer Hink as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
12/17/2007) 

1211712007 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket entry filed by William Murphy on 
12117/07, numbered 524 was to be filed under seal. The Clerk's Office has sealed the entry at 
the direction of Judge Hurley's chambers. (McMahon, Carol) (Entered: 12/17/2007) 

1211 7/2007 52.6. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1211 7/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 7/2007) 

12118/2007 ill. Letter Regarding Response To Subpoena filed by Kiana Morrison, Shawn Morrison, Golden 
Feather, Inc., and Golden Feather Cigarette Express. (Talkin, Sanford) Modified on 
1211 8/2007 to correct docket text pursuant to request of Zoe Dolan. (Brienza, Lauren). 
(Entered: 1211 8/2007) 

12118/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12118/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 8/2007) 

12119/2007 22 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12119/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12119/2007) . 

12119/2007 ill Letter regarding stipulation as to Government's Exhibit 5 as to Rodney Morrison 
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12112/2007 ill Letter to Defendant to supplement the government's prior submission of 12111107 as to 
proposed testimony of witness Jennifer Hink as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, 
Diane) (Entered: 12112/2007) 

12112/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12112/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 212007) 

12112/2007 520 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to jurors, Jay Belinsky, and Donald Pau Pau for the dates of December 10, 11, and 
12,2007.( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/12/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
1211 4/2007) 

1211312007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/13/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12113/2007) 

12114/2007 ill Letter from William H. Murphy, Jr. to Judge Denis Hurley re Jennifer Hink as to Rodney 
Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 12114/2007) 

12114/2007 521 PAYMENT ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk issue payment to those 
jurors present for jury selection in the above case on the dates of October 29,30,31 and 
November 1, and 2, 2007; and to the jurors selected on the case for the dates of November 6, 
14,15,19,20,26,27,28,29,2007 and December 3, 4, 5, 6,10,11,12, and 13,2007; and that 
the Jury Clerk issue payment on a weekly basis to those the jurors sitting on trial. ( Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12114/07.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12114/2007) 

12115/2007 ill Letter to the. Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
12115/2007) 

12115/2007 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
1211 5/2007) 

12117/2007 ill Letter from the government to Honorable Denis R. Hurley in reply to Defendant's submission 
regarding Jennifer Hink as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
12/17/2007) 

1211712007 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket entry filed by William Murphy on 
12117/07, numbered 524 was to be filed under seal. The Clerk's Office has sealed the entry at 
the direction of Judge Hurley's chambers. (McMahon, Carol) (Entered: 12/17/2007) 

1211 7/2007 52.6. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1211 7/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 7/2007) 

12118/2007 ill. Letter Regarding Response To Subpoena filed by Kiana Morrison, Shawn Morrison, Golden 
Feather, Inc., and Golden Feather Cigarette Express. (Talkin, Sanford) Modified on 
1211 8/2007 to correct docket text pursuant to request of Zoe Dolan. (Brienza, Lauren). 
(Entered: 1211 8/2007) 

12118/2007 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12118/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 1211 8/2007) 

12119/2007 22 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12119/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12119/2007) . 

12119/2007 ill Letter regarding stipulation as to Government's Exhibit 5 as to Rodney Morrison 
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(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Stipulation, # 2, Exhibit Japanese Ministry Certification, # 1 Exhibit 
Business Record Certification, # 4 Exhibit GOvernment's Exhibit 5) (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 12/19/2007) 

12/19/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to 18 jurors on 12/5107. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12119/07. 
(Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/20/2007) 

12119/2007 532 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to 16 jurors on 12112/07. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12119/07. 
(Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/2012007) 

12119/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to 14 jurors on 12/13/07. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12119/07. 
(Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/20/2007) 

12/20/2007 5.l4 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/20/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/20/2007) 

12/20/2007 543 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, for 12117/07 to 12/29107. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 12/20107. (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/27/2007) 

12/20/2007 .i44 Letter from Paula Kash, Sr. Process Specialistto Tom Brennan, dated 12119/07 as to Rodney 
Morrison re: To advise advise Mr. Brennan of the return of the "Facsimile Coversheet (2 
sets), Subpoena (2 sets); and that GE Money is not listed on their records or on the records of 
the State of N.Y. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01/03/2008) 

12/21/2007 535 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/10/07 @9:10 am 
before Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/21/2007) 

12/21/2007 536 TRANSCRIPT of TrialProceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 1211 1/07@9:20am before 
Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 1212 1/2007) 

12/21/2007 537 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/12/07 @9:30am 
before Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/21/2007) 

12/21/2007 538 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12113/07@9:10am before 
Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 12/21/2007) 

12/26/2007 539 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12117 107@9:15am before 
Judge Denis Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12126/2007) . 

12/26/2007 540 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12118/07@9:15am before 
Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/26/2007) 

12/26/2007 541 TRANSCRIPT oftrial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12119107@9:40am before 
Judge Denis. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/26/2007) 

12/26/2007 542 TRANSCRIPT of trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12120107@9:35am before 
Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/26/2007) 
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(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Stipulation, # 2, Exhibit Japanese Ministry Certification, # 1 Exhibit 
Business Record Certification, # 4 Exhibit GOvernment's Exhibit 5) (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 12/19/2007) 

12/19/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to 18 jurors on 12/5107. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12119/07. 
(Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/20/2007) 

12119/2007 532 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to 16 jurors on 12112/07. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12119/07. 
(Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/2012007) 

12119/2007 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance to 14 jurors on 12/13/07. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12119/07. 
(Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/20/2007) 

12/20/2007 5.l4 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 12/20/2007 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 12/20/2007) 

12/20/2007 543 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison: That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, for 12117/07 to 12/29107. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 12/20107. (Duong, Susan) (Entered: 12/27/2007) 

12/20/2007 .i44 Letter from Paula Kash, Sr. Process Specialistto Tom Brennan, dated 12119/07 as to Rodney 
Morrison re: To advise advise Mr. Brennan of the return of the "Facsimile Coversheet (2 
sets), Subpoena (2 sets); and that GE Money is not listed on their records or on the records of 
the State of N.Y. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01/03/2008) 

12/21/2007 535 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/10/07 @9:10 am 
before Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/21/2007) 

12/21/2007 536 TRANSCRIPT of TrialProceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 1211 1/07@9:20am before 
Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 1212 1/2007) 

12/21/2007 537 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12/12/07 @9:30am 
before Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/21/2007) 

12/21/2007 538 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12113/07@9:10am before 
Judge Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 12/21/2007) 

12/26/2007 539 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12117 107@9:15am before 
Judge Denis Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12126/2007) . 

12/26/2007 540 TRANSCRIPT of Trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12118/07@9:15am before 
Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/26/2007) 

12/26/2007 541 TRANSCRIPT oftrial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12119107@9:40am before 
Judge Denis. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/26/2007) 

12/26/2007 542 TRANSCRIPT of trial Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 12120107@9:35am before 
Judge Denis R. Hurley. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
12/26/2007) 
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01/04/2008 545 Letter regarding NYPD Henry file as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
01/04/2008) 

01/09/2008 .24ll Letter to William Murphy, Esq. regarding stipulation as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) 
(Entered: 01/09/2008) 

01109/2008 547 Letter to William Murphy, Esq. regarding defense exhibits as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, 
John) (Entered: 01/09/2008) 

0111112008 54.8. Letter to Judge Hurley re homicide file as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0111112008) 

0111112008 512 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance from Paradise Cafe for 17 jurors on 12/11107. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 1111108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0111112008) 

01114/2008 .i5.ll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1114/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01114/2008) 

01115/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1115/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01115/2008) 

01115/2008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; that Juror Mark Moglia, be permitted to bring into the 
building, the following items - Blackberry, Laptop - Citrix Card ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1/15/08.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 1/18/2008 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 01/17/2008) 

01116/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1116/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01/16/2008) 

01117/2008 ii4. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1117/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 0111712008) 

01/17/2008 5llll ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: Subpoena In A Criminal Case issued to Nassau County 
Jail 100 Carmen Avenue East Meadow, N.Y. 11554.( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 1117/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2008) 

01118/2008 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
01118/2008) 

01118/2008 556 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1114108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, Ellen Combs, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New 
York 11722 (631) 712-6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01118/2008) 

01118/2008 557 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1115108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States DistTict Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6108, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01118/2008) 

01118/2008 558 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1116108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01118/2008) 
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01/04/2008 545 Letter regarding NYPD Henry file as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
01/04/2008) 

01/09/2008 .24ll Letter to William Murphy, Esq. regarding stipulation as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) 
(Entered: 01/09/2008) 

01109/2008 547 Letter to William Murphy, Esq. regarding defense exhibits as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, 
John) (Entered: 01/09/2008) 

0111112008 54.8. Letter to Judge Hurley re homicide file as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0111112008) 

0111112008 512 ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance from Paradise Cafe for 17 jurors on 12/11107. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 1111108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0111112008) 

01114/2008 .i5.ll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1114/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01114/2008) 

01115/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1115/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01115/2008) 

01115/2008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; that Juror Mark Moglia, be permitted to bring into the 
building, the following items - Blackberry, Laptop - Citrix Card ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1/15/08.) (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 1/18/2008 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 01/17/2008) 

01116/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1116/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01/16/2008) 

01117/2008 ii4. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1117/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 0111712008) 

01/17/2008 5llll ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re: Subpoena In A Criminal Case issued to Nassau County 
Jail 100 Carmen Avenue East Meadow, N.Y. 11554.( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 1117/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2008) 

01118/2008 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
01118/2008) 

01118/2008 556 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1114108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, Ellen Combs, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New 
York 11722 (631) 712-6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01118/2008) 

01118/2008 557 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1115108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States DistTict Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6108, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01118/2008) 

01118/2008 558 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1116108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01118/2008) 
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01118/2008 5.6l ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Joror, Jay Belinsky, from January 14 to January 17,2008.( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1118/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2008) 

0112112008 5..5..2. Letter Requesting Homicide Test Results as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 
0112112008) 

01122/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1122/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01122/2008) 

01122/2008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror Keith Anstead, is permitted to bring a cell phone 
into the Courthouse. So Ordered. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1122108.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01123/2008) 

01123/2008 ~ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1123/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01123/2008) 

01124/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1124/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 0 I 124/2008) 

01124/2008 .5..6.6. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from January 22 to January 23 2008. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 01125/2008) 

01125/2008 ill Letter to William Murphy. Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 01125/2008) 

01127/2008 .5..6.8. Letter to A USA Jim Miskiewicz re Randall as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Subpoena) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 01127/2008) 

01128/2008 2m. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1128/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01128/2008) 

01128/2008 i1D. ORDER FOR TRANSPORTATION for juror to home - during trial. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1128108. (Bollbach, Jean) (Entered: 01129/2008) 

01129/2008 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. docket entry--571 572 and 573 --filed on 1125/08 
- has been deleted. Docketed on wrong case (Bollbach, Jean) (Entered: 01129/2008) 

01129/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1129/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01129/2008) 

01129/2008 m Letter supplementing proffer regarding Randall testimony as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01129/2008) 

01130/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1130/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01130/2008) . 

01130/2008 ill ORDER that the jury clerk pay all jurors and credit attendance for 112912008. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1130/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01130/2008) 

01130/2008 ill Letter in Support of Preclusion as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 
113112008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 01130/2008) 

0113012008 ill AFFIDAVITIAFFIRMATION by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
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01118/2008 5.6l ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Joror, Jay Belinsky, from January 14 to January 17,2008.( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1118/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01122/2008) 

0112112008 5..5..2. Letter Requesting Homicide Test Results as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 
0112112008) 

01122/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1122/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01122/2008) 

01122/2008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror Keith Anstead, is permitted to bring a cell phone 
into the Courthouse. So Ordered. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1122108.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 01123/2008) 

01123/2008 ~ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1123/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 01123/2008) 

01124/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1124/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi, Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 0 I 124/2008) 

01124/2008 .5..6.6. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from January 22 to January 23 2008. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 01125/2008) 

01125/2008 ill Letter to William Murphy. Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 01125/2008) 

01127/2008 .5..6.8. Letter to A USA Jim Miskiewicz re Randall as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Subpoena) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 01127/2008) 

01128/2008 2m. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1128/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01128/2008) 

01128/2008 i1D. ORDER FOR TRANSPORTATION for juror to home - during trial. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1128108. (Bollbach, Jean) (Entered: 01129/2008) 

01129/2008 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. docket entry--571 572 and 573 --filed on 1125/08 
- has been deleted. Docketed on wrong case (Bollbach, Jean) (Entered: 01129/2008) 

01129/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1129/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01129/2008) 

01129/2008 m Letter supplementing proffer regarding Randall testimony as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01129/2008) 

01130/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 1130/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01130/2008) . 

01130/2008 ill ORDER that the jury clerk pay all jurors and credit attendance for 112912008. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1130/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01130/2008) 

01130/2008 ill Letter in Support of Preclusion as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 
113112008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 01130/2008) 

0113012008 ill AFFIDAVITIAFFIRMATION by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
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01130/2008) 

0113112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 113112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0113112008) 

0113112008 ill AFFIDAVITIAFFIRMATION by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0113112008) 

0113112008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from January 28 to January 31 2008.( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1131108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/0112008) 

02/04/2008 lli Letter to William Murphy, Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 02/04/2008) 

02/0512008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/5/2008 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs, Perry Auerbach.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02105/2008) 

02/05/2008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Donald Wolfe, be permitted to bring his cell 
phone into the courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 215/07.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02106/2008) 

02/06/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/6/2008 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs, Perry Auerbach.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02106/2008) 

02/07/2008 ill ORDER that the jury clerk issue credit for attencance and payment to all jurors on the case 
for the date February 7, 2008. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 21712008. (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02/07/2008) 

02/08/2008 586 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1117/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United Sttes District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, Ellen Combs, CSR, U.S.District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New 
York 11722 (631) 712-6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 587 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1122/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S.District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York II 722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 588 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1123/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S.District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 589 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on [/24/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S.District Courthouse II 80 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 1I722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 590 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1128/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York II 722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 ill First MOTION to Compel Production of Defendant'S Passport by USA as to Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memo In Support of Application, # 1 Exhibit Defendant's PSR 
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01130/2008) 

0113112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 113112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0113112008) 

0113112008 ill AFFIDAVITIAFFIRMATION by Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0113112008) 

0113112008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from January 28 to January 31 2008.( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1131108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/0112008) 

02/04/2008 lli Letter to William Murphy, Esq. as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 02/04/2008) 

02/0512008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/5/2008 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs, Perry Auerbach.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02105/2008) 

02/05/2008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Donald Wolfe, be permitted to bring his cell 
phone into the courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 215/07.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02106/2008) 

02/06/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/6/2008 (Court Reporter Ellen Combs, Perry Auerbach.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02106/2008) 

02/07/2008 ill ORDER that the jury clerk issue credit for attencance and payment to all jurors on the case 
for the date February 7, 2008. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 21712008. (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02/07/2008) 

02/08/2008 586 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1117/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United Sttes District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, Ellen Combs, CSR, U.S.District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New 
York 11722 (631) 712-6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 587 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1122/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S.District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York II 722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 588 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1123/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S.District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 589 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on [/24/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Dominick M. Tursi, CM, 
CSR, U.S.District Courthouse II 80 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 1I722 (631) 712-
6108, Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 590 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1128/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York II 722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 ill First MOTION to Compel Production of Defendant'S Passport by USA as to Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Memo In Support of Application, # 1 Exhibit Defendant's PSR 
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Report, # 1 Exhibit Transcript excerpt of 9/2/04, # :1 Exhibit Colon bail memo, #.i Exhibit 
Photocopy of defendant passport, #.6. Proposed subpoena duces tecum) (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 592 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1130108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/0812008) 

02/08/2008 593 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1131108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/0812008) 

02/08/2008 594 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/5108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, C.S.R., 
'Perry Auerbach, CSR, RPR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, 
Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123, ellencombs@hotmail.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 02/0812008) 

02/08/2008 595 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/6108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR., 
'Perry Auerbach, CSR, RPR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, 
Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123, ellencombs@hotmail.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 02/08/2008) 

0211112008 ill PAYMENT ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk issue payment to juror, Jay 
Belinsky, for expenses incurred on February 5th and 6th, 2008 ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 2/11108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0211112008) 

0211112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/1112008 (Court Reporter Lombardil Auerbach! Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 0211112008) 

02112/2008 ELECTRONIC ORDER: The New York Police Department having moved to quash a 
subpoena served by Defendant with respect to records concerning Lamont Wright and Iysha . 
Buckner, a hearing on said motion to quash shall be held on Thursday, February 14,2008 at 
3:00 p.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2112/08.(Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 
02112/2008) 

02112/2008 ELECTRONIC ORDER: The New York City Police Department having moved by letter 
dated February 12,2008 to quash subpoenas, dated February 9, 2008, served by Defendant 
regarding (l)a certain Smith & Wesson revolver and (2) certain records for the period 
January 14 to 18,2004, a hearing on said motion to quash shall be held on Thursday February 
14,2008 at 3:00 p.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2112/08. (Gapinski, 
Michele) (Entered: 02112/2008) 

02/12/2008 22.8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 211212008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi, Mary Ann Steiger.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 0211212008) 

02112/2008 .i22 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the following additional member of the legal team 
defending Rodney Morrison in this case is hereby permitted to bring a cell phone into the 
courthouse during the duration oftrial in the above-captioned matter: Jennifer Hisky, Esq.; 
and that it is expected that trial will be in session every Monday to Thursday from the present 
until approximately March 13,2008 (excluding holidays). ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 2112/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0211312008) 
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Report, # 1 Exhibit Transcript excerpt of 9/2/04, # :1 Exhibit Colon bail memo, #.i Exhibit 
Photocopy of defendant passport, #.6. Proposed subpoena duces tecum) (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 02/08/2008) 

02/08/2008 592 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1130108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/0812008) 

02/08/2008 593 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 1131108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/0812008) 

02/08/2008 594 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/5108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, C.S.R., 
'Perry Auerbach, CSR, RPR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, 
Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123, ellencombs@hotmail.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 02/0812008) 

02/08/2008 595 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/6108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Ellen S. Combs, CSR., 
'Perry Auerbach, CSR, RPR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, 
Phone (631) 712-6107, Fax (631) 712-6123, ellencombs@hotmail.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 02/08/2008) 

0211112008 ill PAYMENT ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk issue payment to juror, Jay 
Belinsky, for expenses incurred on February 5th and 6th, 2008 ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 2/11108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0211112008) 

0211112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/1112008 (Court Reporter Lombardil Auerbach! Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 0211112008) 

02112/2008 ELECTRONIC ORDER: The New York Police Department having moved to quash a 
subpoena served by Defendant with respect to records concerning Lamont Wright and Iysha . 
Buckner, a hearing on said motion to quash shall be held on Thursday, February 14,2008 at 
3:00 p.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2112/08.(Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 
02112/2008) 

02112/2008 ELECTRONIC ORDER: The New York City Police Department having moved by letter 
dated February 12,2008 to quash subpoenas, dated February 9, 2008, served by Defendant 
regarding (l)a certain Smith & Wesson revolver and (2) certain records for the period 
January 14 to 18,2004, a hearing on said motion to quash shall be held on Thursday February 
14,2008 at 3:00 p.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2112/08. (Gapinski, 
Michele) (Entered: 02112/2008) 

02/12/2008 22.8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 211212008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi, Mary Ann Steiger.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 0211212008) 

02112/2008 .i22 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the following additional member of the legal team 
defending Rodney Morrison in this case is hereby permitted to bring a cell phone into the 
courthouse during the duration oftrial in the above-captioned matter: Jennifer Hisky, Esq.; 
and that it is expected that trial will be in session every Monday to Thursday from the present 
until approximately March 13,2008 (excluding holidays). ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 2112/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0211312008) 

file:lllNl/jmiskiewic7JRodncy%20Morrison/ Appea!slrnm%20dkt''1020shccthtm[918120 1 0 5 :03: 13 PM] 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 122    09/17/2010    108283    314



Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

02112/2008 fulll Letter from Frederick W. Vasselman, Esq. to The Hon. Judge Denis R. Hurley, dated 217108, 
as to Rodney Morrison re: To move this Court to quash its subpoenas that were dated 2/5108 
(attached as Exhibit A), entered in the above-captioned matter requiring the production of 
documents to the deft. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit "A") (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

02112/2008 .fi.Q2. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the following additional member of the legal team 
defending Rodney Morrison in this case is hereby pennitted to bring a cell phone into the 
courthouse during the duration of trial in the above-captioned matter: Ted Dardaris; and that 
it is expected that trial will be in session every Monday to Thursday from the present until 
approximately March 13, 2008 (excluding holidays.). Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 2112/08. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

0211312008 .6.Ql Letter from Frederick W. Vasselman, Esq. to The Hon. Denis R. Hurley, dated 2112/08, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To move this Court to quash its subpoenas that were dated 2/9/08 and 
received on 2112/08 at approximately 1430 (attached as Exhibit A), entered in the above-
captioned matter requiring the production of documents to the deft. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 
"A") (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

02113/2008 QQ3. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/13/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Steiger, Auerbach.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

02114/2008 ORDER: The Government is directed to submit a memorandum of law addressing the 
following issues on or before February 22, 2008: (1) What items does the Government seek to 
forfeit; (2) For each item, specify under which sub-section of 18 U.S.C. § 1963(a) the 
government is seeking forfeiture; (3) For each item, specify what type of nexus the 
government is required to prove, ifany; (4) What is the government's burden with regard to 
items defendant purchased with both legitimate and illegitimate proceeds; (5) How long the 
Government anticipates its direct case will take; and (6) What is the procedure regarding 
third-party rights. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2-14-08. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 02114/2008) 

02114/2008 .6ll4. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2114/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Auerbach, Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02114/2008) 

02115/2008 ORDER: In addition to the items set forth in the February 15,2008 Order, the Government 
shall address whether the Court is required to have the same jury hear the forfeiture. 
proceeding or may empanel a new one. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2-15-
08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02115/2008) 

02115/2008 Qilii ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re fulll Letter, .6.Ql Letter: Order modifying subpoenas served 
on NYPD and directing submission of documents in camera. See attached. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/15108. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 02115/2008) 

02119/2008 W ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Winifred Morgan, is hereby pennitted to bring a 
cell phone in to the Courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119/08.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 .6.0..8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Jason Spatz, is hereby permitted to bring a cell 
phone in to the Courthouse. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119108.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 @2. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Bernard Finn, is hereby pennitted to bring a cell 
phone in to the Courthouse. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119/08.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 .6.JJ2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
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02112/2008 fulll Letter from Frederick W. Vasselman, Esq. to The Hon. Judge Denis R. Hurley, dated 217108, 
as to Rodney Morrison re: To move this Court to quash its subpoenas that were dated 2/5108 
(attached as Exhibit A), entered in the above-captioned matter requiring the production of 
documents to the deft. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit "A") (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

02112/2008 .fi.Q2. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the following additional member of the legal team 
defending Rodney Morrison in this case is hereby pennitted to bring a cell phone into the 
courthouse during the duration of trial in the above-captioned matter: Ted Dardaris; and that 
it is expected that trial will be in session every Monday to Thursday from the present until 
approximately March 13, 2008 (excluding holidays.). Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 2112/08. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

0211312008 .6.Ql Letter from Frederick W. Vasselman, Esq. to The Hon. Denis R. Hurley, dated 2112/08, as to 
Rodney Morrison re: To move this Court to quash its subpoenas that were dated 2/9/08 and 
received on 2112/08 at approximately 1430 (attached as Exhibit A), entered in the above-
captioned matter requiring the production of documents to the deft. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 
"A") (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

02113/2008 QQ3. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/13/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Steiger, Auerbach.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02113/2008) 

02114/2008 ORDER: The Government is directed to submit a memorandum of law addressing the 
following issues on or before February 22, 2008: (1) What items does the Government seek to 
forfeit; (2) For each item, specify under which sub-section of 18 U.S.C. § 1963(a) the 
government is seeking forfeiture; (3) For each item, specify what type of nexus the 
government is required to prove, ifany; (4) What is the government's burden with regard to 
items defendant purchased with both legitimate and illegitimate proceeds; (5) How long the 
Government anticipates its direct case will take; and (6) What is the procedure regarding 
third-party rights. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2-14-08. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 02114/2008) 

02114/2008 .6ll4. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2114/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Auerbach, Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02114/2008) 

02115/2008 ORDER: In addition to the items set forth in the February 15,2008 Order, the Government 
shall address whether the Court is required to have the same jury hear the forfeiture. 
proceeding or may empanel a new one. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2-15-
08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02115/2008) 

02115/2008 Qilii ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re fulll Letter, .6.Ql Letter: Order modifying subpoenas served 
on NYPD and directing submission of documents in camera. See attached. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/15108. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 02115/2008) 

02119/2008 W ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Winifred Morgan, is hereby pennitted to bring a 
cell phone in to the Courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119/08.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 .6.0..8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Jason Spatz, is hereby permitted to bring a cell 
phone in to the Courthouse. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119108.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 @2. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Bernard Finn, is hereby pennitted to bring a cell 
phone in to the Courthouse. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119/08.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 .6.JJ2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
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Rodney Morrison held on 2119/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Steiger, Auerbach.) (Best, 
. Patricia) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 . ill Letter regarding availability of Lamont Wright as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 ill LETTER re: request to Quash Defendant's Subpoena for Recordings by USA as to Rodney 
Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 2/2012008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0211912008) 

02119/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill MOTION to Quash 
Defendant's Subpoena for Recordings filed by USA. (The document should have been filed 
as a Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have 
been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02120/2008) 

02119/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from February 11th to 14th, 2008.( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02120/2008) 

02/20/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/20/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Auerbach, Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02/2012008) 

02/2112008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Jay Belinsky,is hereby permitted to bring a cell 
phone in to the Courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/21108.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02/2112008) 

02/2112008 ELECTRONIC ORDER: The NYPD having moved by letter dated February 21, 2008, to 
quash a certain subpoena dated February 20, 2008, defendant is directed to serve and file its 
opposition to said motion on or before 9:00 am on February 25, 2008. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/21108. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 02/2112008) 

02/2112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 212112008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Auerbach, Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02/2112008) 

02/2112008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Michelle Carratu, is hereby permitted to bring a 
cell phone in to the Courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/21108.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/28/2008) 

02/22/2008 .6.1.1 Letter from Frederick W. Vasselman, Esq. to The Hon. Judge Denis R. Hurley, dated 2121107 
as to Rodney Morrison re: To request that this court notify the NYPD of the date and time 
when it may be heard in regard to the subpoena that was dated on 2/20108 (attached as 
Exhibit A), entered in the above-captioned matter requiring the production of documents to 
the deft. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/22/2008 618 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2111108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

0212212008 619 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2112108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/22/2008 620 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/13/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 
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Rodney Morrison held on 2119/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Steiger, Auerbach.) (Best, 
. Patricia) (Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 . ill Letter regarding availability of Lamont Wright as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 02119/2008) 

02119/2008 ill LETTER re: request to Quash Defendant's Subpoena for Recordings by USA as to Rodney 
Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 2/2012008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0211912008) 

02119/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill MOTION to Quash 
Defendant's Subpoena for Recordings filed by USA. (The document should have been filed 
as a Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have 
been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02120/2008) 

02119/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from February 11th to 14th, 2008.( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2119108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02120/2008) 

02/20/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/20/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Auerbach, Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02/2012008) 

02/2112008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Jay Belinsky,is hereby permitted to bring a cell 
phone in to the Courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/21108.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 02/2112008) 

02/2112008 ELECTRONIC ORDER: The NYPD having moved by letter dated February 21, 2008, to 
quash a certain subpoena dated February 20, 2008, defendant is directed to serve and file its 
opposition to said motion on or before 9:00 am on February 25, 2008. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/21108. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 02/2112008) 

02/2112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 212112008 (Court Reporter Lombardi, Auerbach, Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02/2112008) 

02/2112008 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That Juror, Michelle Carratu, is hereby permitted to bring a 
cell phone in to the Courthouse. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/21108.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/28/2008) 

02/22/2008 .6.1.1 Letter from Frederick W. Vasselman, Esq. to The Hon. Judge Denis R. Hurley, dated 2121107 
as to Rodney Morrison re: To request that this court notify the NYPD of the date and time 
when it may be heard in regard to the subpoena that was dated on 2/20108 (attached as 
Exhibit A), entered in the above-captioned matter requiring the production of documents to 
the deft. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/22/2008 618 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2111108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

0212212008 619 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2112108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/22/2008 620 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/13/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 
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02/22/2008 621 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2114/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/22/2008 622 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2119108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/2212008 ill TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
02/2212008) 

02122/2008 ill Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) 
(Entered: 02/2212008) . 

02/22/2008 625 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/20108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/2212008) 

02/22/2008 @i Letter Regarding Notice ofNextel Witness pursuant to FR.Cr.P. J6(a)(J)(G) as to Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Phone 4D-I, # 2 Exhibit Phone 4D-2, # 1 Exhibit Phone 
4D-3) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/25/2008 ill Letter Motion to Quash Gun Subpoena as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
02/25/2008) 

02/25/2008 628 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/21/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 110 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 02/25/2008) 

02/25/2008 Q.22. NOTICE PROPOSED ORDER, the government is releasing the Ex-Parte Post Indictment 
Restraining Order with resepct to the St Johns Phase J LLC property only. by Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Declaration of Assistant U.S. Attorney Diane Leonardo 
Beckmann) (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 02/2512008) 

02/2512008 QlQ ORDER: See attached Order pertaining to the parties' proposed jury charges. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2-25-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/25/2008) 

02/25/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2125/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi I Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02126/2008) 

02126/2008 ill Letter to Honorable Denis R. Hurley in response to defendant'S subpoena dated Febraury 25, 
2008 directed to the Department of Justice as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 02/26/2008) 

02/26/2008 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter: Defendant shall serve and file a response to 
the government's motion to quash the subpoena (relating to the Sharing Agreement) on or 
before 10:00 a.m. on February 28, 2008. Ordered by SeniorJudge Denis R. Hurley on 
2/26108.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/26/2008) 

0212612008 ill ORDER for jury clerk to credit all jurors for attendance on February 26, 2008 .. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/26/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 02/2612008) 

0212612008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from February 19th to 21st, 2008. ( Ordered by Senior 
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02/22/2008 621 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2114/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/22/2008 622 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2119108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/2212008 ill TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
02/2212008) 

02122/2008 ill Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) 
(Entered: 02/2212008) . 

02/22/2008 625 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/20108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, RMR, 
CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, N.Y. 11722, Ph. (631) 712-6106, Fax 
(631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/2212008) 

02/22/2008 @i Letter Regarding Notice ofNextel Witness pursuant to FR.Cr.P. J6(a)(J)(G) as to Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Phone 4D-I, # 2 Exhibit Phone 4D-2, # 1 Exhibit Phone 
4D-3) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/22/2008) 

02/25/2008 ill Letter Motion to Quash Gun Subpoena as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
02/25/2008) 

02/25/2008 628 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/21/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 110 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 02/25/2008) 

02/25/2008 Q.22. NOTICE PROPOSED ORDER, the government is releasing the Ex-Parte Post Indictment 
Restraining Order with resepct to the St Johns Phase J LLC property only. by Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Declaration of Assistant U.S. Attorney Diane Leonardo 
Beckmann) (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 02/2512008) 

02/2512008 QlQ ORDER: See attached Order pertaining to the parties' proposed jury charges. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2-25-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/25/2008) 

02/25/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2125/2008 (Court Reporter Lombardi I Auerbach.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02126/2008) 

02126/2008 ill Letter to Honorable Denis R. Hurley in response to defendant'S subpoena dated Febraury 25, 
2008 directed to the Department of Justice as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 02/26/2008) 

02/26/2008 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter: Defendant shall serve and file a response to 
the government's motion to quash the subpoena (relating to the Sharing Agreement) on or 
before 10:00 a.m. on February 28, 2008. Ordered by SeniorJudge Denis R. Hurley on 
2/26108.(Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/26/2008) 

0212612008 ill ORDER for jury clerk to credit all jurors for attendance on February 26, 2008 .. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/26/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 02/2612008) 

0212612008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from February 19th to 21st, 2008. ( Ordered by Senior 
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Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/26108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/28/2008) 

02/27/2008 .6.14 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter: The motion of the New York City Police 
Department to quash the subpoena dated February 20, 2008 is granted. See attached Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/27/08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/27/2008) 

02/27/2008 ORDER on the recordgranting ill Motion to Compel production of passport as to Rodney 
Morrison (l). Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/27/2008. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02/27/2008) 

02/27/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/27/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02127/2008) 

02/28/2008 .63.6. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0212812008) 

02/28/2008 .63..2 ORDER that the Jury Clerk issue credit for attencance for all juror on the case for February 
28,2008. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/28/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02/28/2008) 

02/28/2008 M.l ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE as to Rodney Morrison; Let the New York City Police 
Department (NYPD) show cause by way of a submission, why an Order should not be made 
that the NYPD be held in civil contempt purs. to Rule 45( e) of the F .R.C.P. and herein 
entered: Why the NYPD should not be held in civil contempt for not complying with the 
Order of this Court and subpoenas regarding the records pertaining to the investigation of the 
homicide of Sherwin Henry. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/28/08.) 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit of Thomas Brennan, # 2 Memorandum of Law, # 1 Exhibits A-
C) (Fagan, Linda) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/29/2008) 

02/28/2008 643 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/28/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02/29/2008) 

02/29/2008 Mfl ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Notice (Other), Notice (Other) That the Ex Parte 
Post-Complaint Restraining Order dated 711 1106 that restrains the real property and premises 
identified herein, is hereby vacated; and that the Clerk of the County of Duval is hereby 
directed to file this Order in its appropriate land records with respect to the property 
describeed herein. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2129108.) (Attachments: # 1 
Declaration of Diane Leonardo Beckmann in support of the United States' Order, filed this 
day with the Clerk, County of Duval, State of Florida, and relates to the premises identified 
herein) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02129/2008) 

02/2912008 @ RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re .!ilii MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/29/2008) 

02/29/2008 .642. Letter from Peter S. Smith to Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 2129108 as to Rodney 
Morrison re: To request that the Clerk of the Court provide the defense with the tapes 
received from the New York City Fire Department purs. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
03/03/2008) 

02/29/2008 ll.6.3. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Clerk of the Court provide the defense with the 
tapes received from the New York City Fire Department purs. to Defense Subpoenas #58. ( 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/29108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03112/2008) 

03/03/2008 M4 REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re .63.6. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 M2 ORDER permitting juror, Steven Bloom, to bring a cell phone in to the Courthouse .. Ordered 
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Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/26108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/28/2008) 

02/27/2008 .6.14 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Letter: The motion of the New York City Police 
Department to quash the subpoena dated February 20, 2008 is granted. See attached Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/27/08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/27/2008) 

02/27/2008 ORDER on the recordgranting ill Motion to Compel production of passport as to Rodney 
Morrison (l). Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/27/2008. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02/27/2008) 

02/27/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/27/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02127/2008) 

02/28/2008 .63.6. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
0212812008) 

02/28/2008 .63..2 ORDER that the Jury Clerk issue credit for attencance for all juror on the case for February 
28,2008. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/28/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
02/28/2008) 

02/28/2008 M.l ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE as to Rodney Morrison; Let the New York City Police 
Department (NYPD) show cause by way of a submission, why an Order should not be made 
that the NYPD be held in civil contempt purs. to Rule 45( e) of the F .R.C.P. and herein 
entered: Why the NYPD should not be held in civil contempt for not complying with the 
Order of this Court and subpoenas regarding the records pertaining to the investigation of the 
homicide of Sherwin Henry. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/28/08.) 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit of Thomas Brennan, # 2 Memorandum of Law, # 1 Exhibits A-
C) (Fagan, Linda) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02/29/2008) 

02/28/2008 643 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 2/28/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 02/29/2008) 

02/29/2008 Mfl ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re ill Notice (Other), Notice (Other) That the Ex Parte 
Post-Complaint Restraining Order dated 711 1106 that restrains the real property and premises 
identified herein, is hereby vacated; and that the Clerk of the County of Duval is hereby 
directed to file this Order in its appropriate land records with respect to the property 
describeed herein. ( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2129108.) (Attachments: # 1 
Declaration of Diane Leonardo Beckmann in support of the United States' Order, filed this 
day with the Clerk, County of Duval, State of Florida, and relates to the premises identified 
herein) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 02129/2008) 

02/2912008 @ RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re .!ilii MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 02/29/2008) 

02/29/2008 .642. Letter from Peter S. Smith to Honorable Denis R. Hurley, dated 2129108 as to Rodney 
Morrison re: To request that the Clerk of the Court provide the defense with the tapes 
received from the New York City Fire Department purs. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
03/03/2008) 

02/29/2008 ll.6.3. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison; That the Clerk of the Court provide the defense with the 
tapes received from the New York City Fire Department purs. to Defense Subpoenas #58. ( 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/29108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03112/2008) 

03/03/2008 M4 REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re .63.6. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 M2 ORDER permitting juror, Steven Bloom, to bring a cell phone in to the Courthouse .. Ordered 
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by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/3/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 646 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/25/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 647 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/27/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 648 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/28/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/04/2008 fiiQ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/4/2008, Motion Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/4/2008 
re ill MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 filed by Rodney Morrison (Court Reporter Paul 
Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/05/2008) 

03/05/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/5/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/05/2008) 

03/06/2008 ill LETTER re: Request to Dismiss Rule 29 as to Count 2 by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, 
William) Modified on 31712008 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 31712008 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 03/06/2008) 

03/06/2008 653 LETTER re: Request to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) 
Modified on 31712008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03/06/2008) 

03/06/2008 ~ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/6/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/07/2008) 

03/06/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill MOTION to Dismiss 
Rule 29 as to Count 2 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/07/2008) 

03/06/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill MOTION to Dismiss 
Counts 1 and 2 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Letter 
request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/07/2008) 

03/07/2008 ORDER: In preparing their submissions to the Court regarding the effect of the Court's 
decision granting defendant's Rule 29 motion as to racketeering acts 4 through 80 under count 
one, the parties shall specifically address what the double jeopardy implications are, if any, 
stemming from the fact that the Court dismissed racketeering acts only, as opposed to a count 
of the indictment. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3-7-08. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 03/0712008) 

03/10/2008 ill Letter re Jonathan Arden enclosing CVas to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
03/1 0/2008) 

03/10/2008 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as to 
Count 2, 653 MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
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by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/3/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 646 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/25/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 647 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/27/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/03/2008 648 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 2/28/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR, 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/03/2008) 

03/04/2008 fiiQ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/4/2008, Motion Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/4/2008 
re ill MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 filed by Rodney Morrison (Court Reporter Paul 
Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/05/2008) 

03/05/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/5/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/05/2008) 

03/06/2008 ill LETTER re: Request to Dismiss Rule 29 as to Count 2 by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, 
William) Modified on 31712008 (Fagan, Linda). Modified on 31712008 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 03/06/2008) 

03/06/2008 653 LETTER re: Request to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) 
Modified on 31712008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03/06/2008) 

03/06/2008 ~ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/6/2008 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/07/2008) 

03/06/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill MOTION to Dismiss 
Rule 29 as to Count 2 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a 
Letter request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been 
made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/07/2008) 

03/06/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: ill MOTION to Dismiss 
Counts 1 and 2 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a Letter 
request, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have been made.) 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/07/2008) 

03/07/2008 ORDER: In preparing their submissions to the Court regarding the effect of the Court's 
decision granting defendant's Rule 29 motion as to racketeering acts 4 through 80 under count 
one, the parties shall specifically address what the double jeopardy implications are, if any, 
stemming from the fact that the Court dismissed racketeering acts only, as opposed to a count 
of the indictment. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3-7-08. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 03/0712008) 

03/10/2008 ill Letter re Jonathan Arden enclosing CVas to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
03/1 0/2008) 

03/10/2008 ill RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as to 
Count 2, 653 MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
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0311 0/2008) 

03110/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 4th to 6th, 2008 ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 3110108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03110/2008) 

0311112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 311112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0311112008) 

0311112008 .6..5..2 ORDER that the Jury Clerk issue credit for attendance and payment to all jurors for March 
11, 2008. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 311112008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
0311112008) 

0311112008 llllO. Letter Supplemental Letter in Support of Rule 29 Motion as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 0311112008) 

0311112008 llM Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hlirley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 311112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03114/2008) 

03112/2008 .6.6.l RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re Q1(i MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29, ill 
MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as to Count 2, ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03112/2008) 

03112/2008 .6.62 Letter to Judge Hurley regarding Reconsideration as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 03112/2008) 

03112/2008 .6.62 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3112/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03114/2008) 

03113/2008 .6.6.6. ORDER for payment to jurors for March 13, 2008 as to Rodney Morrison. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1111311 008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03114/2008) . 

03115/2008 QQl Letter regarding witness Eric Facer as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
03115/2008) 

0311712008 .6lili Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3117/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03117/2008) 

0311712008 .6.6.2 Letter to Judge Hurley Re Forfeiture Agreement as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 03117/2008) 

0311712008 .61Q Letter to Judge Hurley to Dismiss CCTA as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
Modified on 3118/2008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03117/2008) 

0311712008 ill Letter supplementing the government's motion to preclude the testimony of Eric Facer as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03117/2008) 

03117/2008 672 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/5108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 03/18/2008) 

0311712008 673 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/6108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 03118/2008) 
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0311 0/2008) 

03110/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 4th to 6th, 2008 ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 3110108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03110/2008) 

0311112008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 311112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0311112008) 

0311112008 .6..5..2 ORDER that the Jury Clerk issue credit for attendance and payment to all jurors for March 
11, 2008. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 311112008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
0311112008) 

0311112008 llllO. Letter Supplemental Letter in Support of Rule 29 Motion as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 0311112008) 

0311112008 llM Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hlirley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 311112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03114/2008) 

03112/2008 .6.6.l RESPONSE in Opposition Rodney Morrison re Q1(i MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29, ill 
MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as to Count 2, ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03112/2008) 

03112/2008 .6.62 Letter to Judge Hurley regarding Reconsideration as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 03112/2008) 

03112/2008 .6.62 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3112/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03114/2008) 

03113/2008 .6.6.6. ORDER for payment to jurors for March 13, 2008 as to Rodney Morrison. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 1111311 008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03114/2008) . 

03115/2008 QQl Letter regarding witness Eric Facer as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
03115/2008) 

0311712008 .6lili Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3117/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03117/2008) 

0311712008 .6.6.2 Letter to Judge Hurley Re Forfeiture Agreement as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 03117/2008) 

0311712008 .61Q Letter to Judge Hurley to Dismiss CCTA as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
Modified on 3118/2008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03117/2008) 

0311712008 ill Letter supplementing the government's motion to preclude the testimony of Eric Facer as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 03117/2008) 

03117/2008 672 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/5108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 03/18/2008) 

0311712008 673 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/6108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180 Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 03118/2008) 
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0311712008 674 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3111108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105y. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03118/2008) 

0311712008 675 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3112/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03118/2008) 

03118/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/18/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/18/2008) 

0311912008 fl11. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3119/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03119/2008) 

03/20/2008 .61.8. ORDER that jurors to be credited for attendance and paid for March 20, 2008. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/2012008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/2012008) 

03/20/2008 f2l'l Letter re Defense Jury Instructions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
03/20/2008) 

03/20/2008 .6RO. Letter in Support of Dismissing Robbery/Racketeering Act as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 03/20/2008) 

03/2112008 .6.8l Letter to Judge Hurley re instructions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
03/2112008) 

03/2112008 fi£2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/20/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/2112008) 

03/2112008 .6.83. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/2112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/2112008) 

03/24/2008 ii8.4 Letter to Judge Hurley addressing remaining issues as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 ill Letter Proposed Verdict Sheet as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 2.81i ORDER that the jury clerk pay all jurors and credit their attendance for March 24, 2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/2412008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 Qll1 Letter responding to defendant's 3/24/08 letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 .6.8..8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Defendant's request to charge concerning possession or 
constructive possession of weapon(s) is denied. With respect to RlCO relatedness language 
found on page 620f the draft charge, the Court declines to delete the last sentence of the sole 
full paragraph as requested by the defense. The other unresolved issues, including those 
outlined in defense counsel's March 23, 2008 letter, will be resolved via bench decisions. See 
attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/24/08. (Gapinski, Michele) 
(Entered: 03124/2008) 

03/2512008 ill. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
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0311712008 674 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3111108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105y. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03118/2008) 

0311712008 675 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3112/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03118/2008) 

03118/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/18/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/18/2008) 

0311912008 fl11. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3119/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03119/2008) 

03/20/2008 .61.8. ORDER that jurors to be credited for attendance and paid for March 20, 2008. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/2012008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/2012008) 

03/20/2008 f2l'l Letter re Defense Jury Instructions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
03/20/2008) 

03/20/2008 .6RO. Letter in Support of Dismissing Robbery/Racketeering Act as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 03/20/2008) 

03/2112008 .6.8l Letter to Judge Hurley re instructions as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
03/2112008) 

03/2112008 fi£2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/20/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/2112008) 

03/2112008 .6.83. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/2112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/2112008) 

03/24/2008 ii8.4 Letter to Judge Hurley addressing remaining issues as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 ill Letter Proposed Verdict Sheet as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 2.81i ORDER that the jury clerk pay all jurors and credit their attendance for March 24, 2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/2412008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 Qll1 Letter responding to defendant's 3/24/08 letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 03/24/2008) 

03/24/2008 .6.8..8. ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Defendant's request to charge concerning possession or 
constructive possession of weapon(s) is denied. With respect to RlCO relatedness language 
found on page 620f the draft charge, the Court declines to delete the last sentence of the sole 
full paragraph as requested by the defense. The other unresolved issues, including those 
outlined in defense counsel's March 23, 2008 letter, will be resolved via bench decisions. See 
attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/24/08. (Gapinski, Michele) 
(Entered: 03124/2008) 

03/2512008 ill. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
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sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 17th to 19th, 2008. ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 3/25/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

0312612008 .6..8.2. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. HUrley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/25/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/26/2008) 

03/26/2008 .Q2.Q. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. HUrley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/26/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/26/2008) 

03/27/2008 ill Verdict Sheet as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 312812008 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 03/27/2008) 

03/27/2008 .6.22 Letter Forefeiture Jury Instructions- Objections to Gov Letter as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 03/27/2008) 

03/27/2008 ill Defendant's Forfeiture Instruction as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 
312812008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03/27/2008) 

03/27/2008 .6.2!!. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/27/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 696 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/4/08 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 697 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/1 0108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 698 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/17/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 699 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/18/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 700 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/19/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/2812008 701 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3120108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.C., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 702 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/21108 Judge The Honorable Denis I 

R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.C., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 
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sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 17th to 19th, 2008. ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 3/25/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

0312612008 .6..8.2. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. HUrley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/25/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/26/2008) 

03/26/2008 .Q2.Q. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. HUrley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/26/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/26/2008) 

03/27/2008 ill Verdict Sheet as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 312812008 (Fagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 03/27/2008) 

03/27/2008 .6.22 Letter Forefeiture Jury Instructions- Objections to Gov Letter as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 03/27/2008) 

03/27/2008 ill Defendant's Forfeiture Instruction as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 
312812008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03/27/2008) 

03/27/2008 .6.2!!. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/27/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 696 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/4/08 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Paul J. Lombardi, 
RMR, CRR 100 Federal Plaza - Suite 1180, Central Islip, New York 11722, Ph. (631) 712-
6106, Fax (631) 712-6122. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 697 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/1 0108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 698 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/17/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 699 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/18/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 700 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/19/08 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/2812008 701 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3120108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.C., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 702 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/21108 Judge The Honorable Denis I 

R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.C., 
United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-
6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 
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03/28/2008 703 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/25108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 704 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/26108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 705 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/27108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/3112008 .1.Qfi Minute Entry for p;C;ceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/3112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0410112008) 

03/3112008 JJJ1. ORDER permitting juror, Joseph Dinaram, to bring a cell phone into the Courthouse .. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/31/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/0112008) 

03/3112008 1D.8. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 25th to 27th, 2008. ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 3/31108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0410112008) 

04/0112008 1lQ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/1/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/02/2008) 

04/02/2008 1122 Letter Supplemental jury instruction regarding interstate commerce as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 04/02/2008) 

04/02/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/2/2008 (Court RepoJ1er Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/02/2008) 

04/03/2008 112. Letter Defendant's Request Response to Juror # 20 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 04/03/2008) 

04/03/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/3/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04103/2008) 

04/04/2008 ill Letter regarding proposed read-back of Phillips testimony as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 04/04/2008) 

04/06/2008 ill Letter Defendant's Requested Response re Court Exhibit 23 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 04/06/2008) 

04/06/2008 llii Letter Defendant's Amended Requested Response re Court Exhibit 23 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 04/06/2008) 

04/07/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/7/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/07/2008) 

04/0712008 m ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
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03/28/2008 703 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/25108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 704 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/26108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/28/2008 705 TRANSCRIPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/27108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, 
C.S.C., United States District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 
712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03/28/2008) 

03/3112008 .1.Qfi Minute Entry for p;C;ceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 3/3112008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0410112008) 

03/3112008 JJJ1. ORDER permitting juror, Joseph Dinaram, to bring a cell phone into the Courthouse .. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/31/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/0112008) 

03/3112008 1D.8. ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 25th to 27th, 2008. ( Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 3/31108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 0410112008) 

04/0112008 1lQ Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/1/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/02/2008) 

04/02/2008 1122 Letter Supplemental jury instruction regarding interstate commerce as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 04/02/2008) 

04/02/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/2/2008 (Court RepoJ1er Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/02/2008) 

04/03/2008 112. Letter Defendant's Request Response to Juror # 20 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 04/03/2008) 

04/03/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/3/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04103/2008) 

04/04/2008 ill Letter regarding proposed read-back of Phillips testimony as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 04/04/2008) 

04/06/2008 ill Letter Defendant's Requested Response re Court Exhibit 23 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, 
William) (Entered: 04/06/2008) 

04/06/2008 llii Letter Defendant's Amended Requested Response re Court Exhibit 23 as to Rodney Morrison 
(Murphy, William) (Entered: 04/06/2008) 

04/07/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/7/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/07/2008) 

04/0712008 m ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
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sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 31 st to April 3rd, 2008 ( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 417108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/09/2008) 

04/08/2008 718 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/31108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, U.S.DJ., and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States 
District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 719 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 411108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, U.S.D.l, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States District 
Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda)C (Entered: 
04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 720 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/2/08 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, U.S.D.J., and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States District 
Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 721 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/3/08 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, U.S.DJ., and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States District 
Court 100 federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 m Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/8/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04108/2008) 

04/08/2008 121 Letter regardingjury's request for clarification as to Count Two as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 04/08/2008) 

04/09/2008 724 Memorandum in Support of Suggested Instruction in Response to Court Exhibit 27 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 411012008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
04/09/2008) 

04/09/2008 ill Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) 
(Entered: 04/09/2008) 

04/09/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/9/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04109/2008) 

0411012008 12.8 Letter Defendant's Proposed Response to Court Exhibit 37 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, . 
William) (Entered: 0411 0/2008) 

04110/2008 'llll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 411 0/2008 (Court Reporter MaryAnn Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0411 0/2008) 

04110/2008 .llQ ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express, and sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 7th to 
10th, 2008 (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/10108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
0411112008) 

04/14/2008 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Durham, John) (Entered: 0411412008) 

04/15/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4114/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04115/2008) 
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sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from March 31 st to April 3rd, 2008 ( Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 417108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/09/2008) 

04/08/2008 718 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 3/31108 before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, U.S.DJ., and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States 
District Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 719 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 411108 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, U.S.D.l, and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States District 
Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda)C (Entered: 
04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 720 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/2/08 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, U.S.D.J., and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States District 
Court, 100 Federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 721 TRANSCRlPT of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/3/08 before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, U.S.DJ., and a jury. Court Reporter: Harry Rapaport, C.S.R., United States District 
Court 100 federal Plaza, Central Islip, New York 11722 (631) 712-6105. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 04/08/2008) 

04/08/2008 m Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/8/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04108/2008) 

04/08/2008 121 Letter regardingjury's request for clarification as to Count Two as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 04/08/2008) 

04/09/2008 724 Memorandum in Support of Suggested Instruction in Response to Court Exhibit 27 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) Modified on 411012008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
04/09/2008) 

04/09/2008 ill Proposed Jury Instructions by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) 
(Entered: 04/09/2008) 

04/09/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/9/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04109/2008) 

0411012008 12.8 Letter Defendant's Proposed Response to Court Exhibit 37 as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, . 
William) (Entered: 0411 0/2008) 

04110/2008 'llll Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 411 0/2008 (Court Reporter MaryAnn Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 0411 0/2008) 

04110/2008 .llQ ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express, and sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 7th to 
10th, 2008 (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/10108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
0411112008) 

04/14/2008 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Durham, John) (Entered: 0411412008) 

04/15/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4114/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04115/2008) 
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04/16/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/15/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04116/2008) 

04116/2008 114 ORDER permitting juror, Deborah Shehigian, to bring a cell phone in to the Courthouse. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4115/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04116/2008) 

04116/2008 735 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/8108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/16/2008) 

04/16/2008 736 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/9/08, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 041l6/2008) 

0411612008 737 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 411 0108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter/Transcriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

0411612008 738 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4114108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

04/16/2008 739 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4115/08, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

0411612008 14.Q Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4116/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04116/2008) 

04/16/2008 ORDER: The Court set a schedule today with regard to defendant's letter brief on an alleged 
Sixth Amendment violation with regard to Mr. Ravenell's absence. Upon further review, and 
given that time is of the essence, the Court hereby directs that defendant file his letter brief on 
or before Thursday, April 17, 2008 at 4:00 p.m. The government's response, if any, shall be 
filed on or before Friday, Apri118, 2008, at 10:00 a.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 4-16-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

04116/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express and sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 14th to 
15th, 2008. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/16108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/21/2008) 

04117/2008 ill ORDER directing that all jurors be credited for attendance and paid for April 17, 2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4117/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04117/2008) 

04117/2008 742 Letter in Support of Kenneth Ravenell as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
04/17/2008) 

04/18/2008 ill ORDER re 142 : Mr. Ravenell is hereby ordered to appear in my courtroom on Monday, 
April 21, 2008, and remain here until the trial is concluded. See attached Order. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4-18-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 041l8/2008) 

04/18/2008 744 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley: Telephone 
conference as to Rodney Morrison held on 4118/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 04118/2008) 
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04/16/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/15/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04116/2008) 

04116/2008 114 ORDER permitting juror, Deborah Shehigian, to bring a cell phone in to the Courthouse. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4115/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04116/2008) 

04116/2008 735 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/8108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/16/2008) 

04/16/2008 736 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/9/08, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 041l6/2008) 

0411612008 737 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 411 0108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court Reporter/Transcriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

0411612008 738 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4114108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

04/16/2008 739 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4115/08, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR, Telephone number (631) 712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

0411612008 14.Q Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4116/2008 (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04116/2008) 

04/16/2008 ORDER: The Court set a schedule today with regard to defendant's letter brief on an alleged 
Sixth Amendment violation with regard to Mr. Ravenell's absence. Upon further review, and 
given that time is of the essence, the Court hereby directs that defendant file his letter brief on 
or before Thursday, April 17, 2008 at 4:00 p.m. The government's response, if any, shall be 
filed on or before Friday, Apri118, 2008, at 10:00 a.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 4-16-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 04116/2008) 

04116/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express and sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 14th to 
15th, 2008. (Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/16108.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/21/2008) 

04117/2008 ill ORDER directing that all jurors be credited for attendance and paid for April 17, 2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4117/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04117/2008) 

04117/2008 742 Letter in Support of Kenneth Ravenell as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 
04/17/2008) 

04/18/2008 ill ORDER re 142 : Mr. Ravenell is hereby ordered to appear in my courtroom on Monday, 
April 21, 2008, and remain here until the trial is concluded. See attached Order. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4-18-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 041l8/2008) 

04/18/2008 744 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley: Telephone 
conference as to Rodney Morrison held on 4118/2008 (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 04118/2008) 
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04/2112008 1% Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 412112008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04121/2008) 

04/21/2008 141 AMENDED ORDER as to Rodney Morrison. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
412112008. (Best, Patricia) Modified on 4/22/2008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0412112008) 

04/22/2008 14.8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/22/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/22/2008) 

04/2212008 142. ORDER directing the Clerk to pay all jurors and credit attendance for April 23, and 24, 
2008.0rdered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/22/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04122/2008) 

04/22/2008 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Anthony A. Capetola and William 
T. Martin terminated. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 04/2912008) 

04/22/2008 ill MOTION to Correct, remove attorneys Capetola and Martin from case (representing Rodney 
Morrison. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 04/29/2008) 

0412212008 ill ORDER granting ill Motion to Correct (delete attorneys) as to Rodney Morrison (I). 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4128/08. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
04/29/2008) 

04/28/2008 l.iQ ORDER that all jurors be paid and credited for attendance on April 28, 2008. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2812008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04/28/2008) 

04/28/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express and sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 21st, 2008. 
( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/28/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

04/29/2008 753 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/16108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722, Telephone number (631) 
712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/2912008) 

04/29/2008 754 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/21108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, SCR U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722, Telephone number (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124 DomTursi@email.com. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/29/2008) 

04/29/2008 755 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/22108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, SCR U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722, Telephone nurriber (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124 DomTursi@email.com. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/29/2008) 

04/29/2008 15..8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/29/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

04/30/2008 ill ORDER that the Clerk cerdit attendance for all jurors and issue payment for April 28, 2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/30/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

04/30/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
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04/2112008 1% Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 412112008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04121/2008) 

04/21/2008 141 AMENDED ORDER as to Rodney Morrison. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
412112008. (Best, Patricia) Modified on 4/22/2008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0412112008) 

04/22/2008 14.8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/22/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/22/2008) 

04/2212008 142. ORDER directing the Clerk to pay all jurors and credit attendance for April 23, and 24, 
2008.0rdered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/22/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04122/2008) 

04/22/2008 Attorney update in case as to Rodney Morrison. Attorney Anthony A. Capetola and William 
T. Martin terminated. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 04/2912008) 

04/22/2008 ill MOTION to Correct, remove attorneys Capetola and Martin from case (representing Rodney 
Morrison. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 04/29/2008) 

0412212008 ill ORDER granting ill Motion to Correct (delete attorneys) as to Rodney Morrison (I). 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4128/08. (Barhome, Sydelle) (Entered: 
04/29/2008) 

04/28/2008 l.iQ ORDER that all jurors be paid and credited for attendance on April 28, 2008. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2812008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 04/28/2008) 

04/28/2008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express and sustenance for Juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 21st, 2008. 
( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/28/08.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

04/29/2008 753 Transcript of Trial as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/16108, before The Honorable Denis R. 
Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Mary Ann 
Steiger, CSR 100 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722, Telephone number (631) 
712-6101. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/2912008) 

04/29/2008 754 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/21108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, SCR U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722, Telephone number (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124 DomTursi@email.com. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/29/2008) 

04/29/2008 755 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/22108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Court Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, SCR U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722, Telephone nurriber (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124 DomTursi@email.com. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/29/2008) 

04/29/2008 15..8. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 4/29/2008 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

04/30/2008 ill ORDER that the Clerk cerdit attendance for all jurors and issue payment for April 28, 2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/30/2008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

04/30/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
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Rodney Morrison held on 4/30/2008 (Court Reporter Dom TursL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

05/0112008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express and sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 21st, 22nd, 
30th and May 1st, 2008.( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5/1108.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/0512008) 

05/02/2008 lllQ ORDER: With respect to the portion of the trial presently underway, any party who 
anticipates introducing a document into evidence should be prepared to cite to the Court the 
particular Federal Rule(s) of Evidence implicated, together with supporting case law, if any 
exists, supporting the position advanced. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5-2-
08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05/0212008) 

05/02/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 5/112008 (Court Reporter Dom TursL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
05/02/2008) 

05/05/2008 763 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/29108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722 (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 05/0512008) 

05/05/2008 764 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/30108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722 (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 05/05/2008) 

05/05/2008 765 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 5/1108, before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Dominick M. 
Tursi, CM, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 
(631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/05/2008) 

05/05/2008 1M Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 5/5/2008. Jury verdict rendered and trial ends. Briefing schedule 
entered for post trial motions. (Court Reporter Stephanie Drexler I Harry Rapaport.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 05106/2008) 

05/06/2008 ill JURY VERDICT (Court Exhibit 70) as to Rodney Morrison (I) Guilty on Count 2ss,8ss; 
Rodney Morrison (I) Not Guilty on Count Iss,3ss,4ss,5ss,6ss,7ss,9ss,10ss,llss. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/06/2008) 

05/06/2008 12li SUPPLEMENTAL JURY VERDICT (Court Exhibit 72) as to Rodney Morrison (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/06/2008) 

05/06/2008 7ffl JURY CHARGE (Court Exhibit 73) as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Jury Charge -
Part II, # 2 Jury Charge - Part III) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/06/2008) 

05/06/2008 llJ1 SUPPLEMENTAL JURY CHARGE (Court Exhibit 74) as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/0612008) 

05/30/2008 m Letter Requesting Permission for Extension of Number of Pages of Brief as to Rodney 
Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 05/30/2008) 

06102/2008 m LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File Memorandum in Support of Post-Trial 
Motions by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) Modified on 6/3/2008 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 06102/2008) 
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Rodney Morrison held on 4/30/2008 (Court Reporter Dom TursL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
04/30/2008) 

05/0112008 ill ORDER OF SUSTENANCE as to Rodney Morrison; That the Jury Clerk supply proper 
lodging at Holiday Inn Express and sustenance for juror, Jay Belinsky, from April 21st, 22nd, 
30th and May 1st, 2008.( Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5/1108.) (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/0512008) 

05/02/2008 lllQ ORDER: With respect to the portion of the trial presently underway, any party who 
anticipates introducing a document into evidence should be prepared to cite to the Court the 
particular Federal Rule(s) of Evidence implicated, together with supporting case law, if any 
exists, supporting the position advanced. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5-2-
08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 05/0212008) 

05/02/2008 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 5/112008 (Court Reporter Dom TursL) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
05/02/2008) 

05/05/2008 763 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/29108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722 (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 05/0512008) 

05/05/2008 764 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 4/30108, before The Honorable 
Denis R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber 
Dominick M. Tursi, CM, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, 
New York 11722 (631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) 
(Entered: 05/05/2008) 

05/05/2008 765 Transcript of Proceedings as to Rodney Morrison held on 5/1108, before The Honorable Denis 
R. Hurley, United States District Judge, and a jury. Court ReporterlTranscriber Dominick M. 
Tursi, CM, CSR, U.S. District Courthouse 1180 Federal Plaza Central Islip, New York 11722 
(631) 712-6108 Fax: 712-6124, DomTursi@email.com. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/05/2008) 

05/05/2008 1M Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Jury Trial as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 5/5/2008. Jury verdict rendered and trial ends. Briefing schedule 
entered for post trial motions. (Court Reporter Stephanie Drexler I Harry Rapaport.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 05106/2008) 

05/06/2008 ill JURY VERDICT (Court Exhibit 70) as to Rodney Morrison (I) Guilty on Count 2ss,8ss; 
Rodney Morrison (I) Not Guilty on Count Iss,3ss,4ss,5ss,6ss,7ss,9ss,10ss,llss. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/06/2008) 

05/06/2008 12li SUPPLEMENTAL JURY VERDICT (Court Exhibit 72) as to Rodney Morrison (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/06/2008) 

05/06/2008 7ffl JURY CHARGE (Court Exhibit 73) as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Jury Charge -
Part II, # 2 Jury Charge - Part III) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/06/2008) 

05/06/2008 llJ1 SUPPLEMENTAL JURY CHARGE (Court Exhibit 74) as to Rodney Morrison. (Fagan, 
Linda) (Entered: 05/0612008) 

05/30/2008 m Letter Requesting Permission for Extension of Number of Pages of Brief as to Rodney 
Morrison (Murphy, William) (Entered: 05/30/2008) 

06102/2008 m LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File Memorandum in Support of Post-Trial 
Motions by Rodney Morrison. (Murphy, William) Modified on 6/3/2008 (Fagan, Linda). 
(Entered: 06102/2008) 
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06/02/2008 ORDER: Defendant's request to file a brief up to 70 pages ill is GRANTED. Defendant's 
motion for a two-day extension until June 4, 2008 at 5:00 p.m. to file his brief m is also 
GRANTED. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 6-2-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
06/02/2008) 

06/04/2008 m MEMORANDUM in Support Rodney Morrison re !i16. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 
Counts 2 and 8 Under FED.R.CRIMP 29 or for a New Trial Under FED.R. CRIMP. 33 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Bill of Jackets) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 06/04/2008) 

06/20/2008 m LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply To Defendant's Rule 29 
and 33 Motions to Dismiss by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 
6/30/2008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 06/2012008) 

0612012008 ORDER: The government's request for an extension to July 18,2008 to serve and file 
opposition papers to defendant's post-trial motion m is GRANTED. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 6-20-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 06/20/2008) 

0711 7/2008 m Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0711 7/2008) 

0711712008 m Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0711 712008) 

0711 7/2008 ORDER GRANTING m Letter. The government's response shall be filed by Monday, July 
28, 2008 .. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 711 712008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
0711712008) 

07/28/2008 ill MEMORANDUM in Opposition Rodney Morrison re m MOTION for Extension of Time to 
File Memorandum in Support of Post-Trial Motions,!i16. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29, ill 
MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as to Count 2, ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 and 
Z13.Memorandum in Support of Rule 29/33 Motion (Durham, John) (Entered: 07128/2008) 

07/3112008 m LETTER re: First Application for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to ill 
Memorandum in Opposition, to Motions Pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P. 29 and 33 by Rodney 
Morrison. (Levitt, Richard) Modified on 81112008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07/3112008) 

07/3112008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: m First MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to ill Memorandum in Opposition, to Motions 
Pursuant to Fed.R. Crim.P. 29 and 33 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have 
been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have 
been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/0112008) 

08/0112008 ORDER re m : Defendant's request for a two-week extension to file a reply memorandum is 
GRANTED. Defendant shall serve and file his reply on or before August 18,2008. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8-1-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/0112008) 

08/0712008 ill Letter requesting unsealing portion of record as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) 
(Entered: 08/07/2008) 

08/08/2008 ORDER granting ill Letter. The sealed portion of the transcript of November 14,2007 is 
hereby unsealed .. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/8/2008. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 08108/2008) 

08/1112008 l8.Q REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as 
to Count 2, ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 
0811 112008) 

09/26/2008 1.82 Supplemental Application for New Trial Citing Recent Second Circuit Decision by Rodney 
Morrison. (Levitt, Richard) Modified on 912912008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 09126/2008) 

09/26/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 1.82 Supplemental 
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06/02/2008 ORDER: Defendant's request to file a brief up to 70 pages ill is GRANTED. Defendant's 
motion for a two-day extension until June 4, 2008 at 5:00 p.m. to file his brief m is also 
GRANTED. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 6-2-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
06/02/2008) 

06/04/2008 m MEMORANDUM in Support Rodney Morrison re !i16. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29 
Counts 2 and 8 Under FED.R.CRIMP 29 or for a New Trial Under FED.R. CRIMP. 33 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Bill of Jackets) (Murphy, William) (Entered: 06/04/2008) 

06/20/2008 m LETTER re: Request for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply To Defendant's Rule 29 
and 33 Motions to Dismiss by USA as to Rodney Morrison. (Miskiewicz, James) Modified on 
6/30/2008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 06/2012008) 

0612012008 ORDER: The government's request for an extension to July 18,2008 to serve and file 
opposition papers to defendant's post-trial motion m is GRANTED. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 6-20-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 06/20/2008) 

0711 7/2008 m Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0711 7/2008) 

0711712008 m Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0711 712008) 

0711 7/2008 ORDER GRANTING m Letter. The government's response shall be filed by Monday, July 
28, 2008 .. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 711 712008. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 
0711712008) 

07/28/2008 ill MEMORANDUM in Opposition Rodney Morrison re m MOTION for Extension of Time to 
File Memorandum in Support of Post-Trial Motions,!i16. MOTION to Dismiss - Rule 29, ill 
MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as to Count 2, ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 and 
Z13.Memorandum in Support of Rule 29/33 Motion (Durham, John) (Entered: 07128/2008) 

07/3112008 m LETTER re: First Application for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to ill 
Memorandum in Opposition, to Motions Pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P. 29 and 33 by Rodney 
Morrison. (Levitt, Richard) Modified on 81112008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07/3112008) 

07/3112008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: m First MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to ill Memorandum in Opposition, to Motions 
Pursuant to Fed.R. Crim.P. 29 and 33 filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have 
been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document as such. All corrections have 
been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 08/0112008) 

08/0112008 ORDER re m : Defendant's request for a two-week extension to file a reply memorandum is 
GRANTED. Defendant shall serve and file his reply on or before August 18,2008. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8-1-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 08/0112008) 

08/0712008 ill Letter requesting unsealing portion of record as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) 
(Entered: 08/07/2008) 

08/08/2008 ORDER granting ill Letter. The sealed portion of the transcript of November 14,2007 is 
hereby unsealed .. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/8/2008. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 08108/2008) 

08/1112008 l8.Q REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re ill MOTION to Dismiss Rule 29 as 
to Count 2, ill MOTION to Dismiss Counts 1 and 2 (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 
0811 112008) 

09/26/2008 1.82 Supplemental Application for New Trial Citing Recent Second Circuit Decision by Rodney 
Morrison. (Levitt, Richard) Modified on 912912008 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 09126/2008) 

09/26/2008 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 1.82 Supplemental 
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MOTION for New Trial Citing Recent Second Circuit Decision filed by Rodney Morrison. 
(The document should have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document 
as such. all Corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/29/2008) 

09/30/2008 ORDER re m : The Government is directed to serve and file opposition papers on or before 
October 10,2008; Defendant shall serve and file reply papers on or before October 17,2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9-30-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 09/30/2008) 

lOll 012008 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
1011 0/2008) 

10/13/2008 1M REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re m Supplemental MOTION for 
New Trial Citing Recent Second Circuit Decision (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 10113/2008) 

11119/2008 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re: scheduling issues as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 11119/2008) 

11119/2008 ORDER re ill: The Court is in receipt of defendant's letter filed November 19,2008, 
regarding the status of his post-trial motion, which was fully briefed as of October 13, 2008. 
The Court has reviewed all ofthe papers and the positions of the parties are well-framed. 
Accordingly, the Court will not hold oral argument on defendant's post-trial motion. Although 
the Court will address the motion in an expedited manner, the Court does not anticipate the 
need for any appearances prior to the fifth of January 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 11-19-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11119/2008) 

01121/2009 18.6. Letter Regarding Scheduling as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 0112112009) 

02/06/2009 m ORDER re ill : Defendant's motion to dismiss Counts Two and Eight of the Second 
Superseding Indictment under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure ("Rule") 29 or for a new 
trial pursuant to Rule 33 is DENIED. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 216/2009. 
(Attachments: # 1 Table of Contents) (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02106/2009) 

0211012009 ill Letter Requesting that Rodney Morrison be excusedfrom status conference on 2/12 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 02110/2009) 

0211212009 1Jl..2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R Hurley:Status Conference as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 2112/2009. Briefing schedule as to the forfeiture allegations set. 
Forfeiture hearing is set for April 14, 2009 at 10:30 am (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02112/2009) 

02118/2009 12.0. Letter Order clarification as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Newsday Article) 
(Simermeyer, James) (Entered: 02118/2009) 

02119/2009 12.l ORDER re 12.0. : The Court declines to correct its February 6, 2009 Memorandum and Order. 
See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211912009. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 02119/2009) 

02/26/2009 ill ORDER: The Court hereby issues an Amended Memorandum and Order amending its 
February 6,2009 Memorandum and Order to make the following three changes only: (I) the 
phrase ", such as Morrison," on page 29 of the original decision has been deleted; (2) the 
phrase "such as Morrison" on page 72 of the original decision has been deleted; and (3) the 
phrase "Native American" on page 81 of the original decision has been deleted. This 
Amended Memorandum and Order supersedes my Order dated February 19,2009. See 
attached decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/26/2009. (Attachments: # 1 
Table of Contents) (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/26/2009) 

03/0612009 12.3. TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
03/06/2009) 
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MOTION for New Trial Citing Recent Second Circuit Decision filed by Rodney Morrison. 
(The document should have been filed as a Letter, and the Court will address the document 
as such. all Corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 09/29/2008) 

09/30/2008 ORDER re m : The Government is directed to serve and file opposition papers on or before 
October 10,2008; Defendant shall serve and file reply papers on or before October 17,2008. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9-30-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 09/30/2008) 

lOll 012008 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Durham, John) (Entered: 
1011 0/2008) 

10/13/2008 1M REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion Rodney Morrison re m Supplemental MOTION for 
New Trial Citing Recent Second Circuit Decision (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 10113/2008) 

11119/2008 ill Letter to Judge Hurley re: scheduling issues as to Rodney Morrison (Murphy, William) 
(Entered: 11119/2008) 

11119/2008 ORDER re ill: The Court is in receipt of defendant's letter filed November 19,2008, 
regarding the status of his post-trial motion, which was fully briefed as of October 13, 2008. 
The Court has reviewed all ofthe papers and the positions of the parties are well-framed. 
Accordingly, the Court will not hold oral argument on defendant's post-trial motion. Although 
the Court will address the motion in an expedited manner, the Court does not anticipate the 
need for any appearances prior to the fifth of January 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley on 11-19-08. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 11119/2008) 

01121/2009 18.6. Letter Regarding Scheduling as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 0112112009) 

02/06/2009 m ORDER re ill : Defendant's motion to dismiss Counts Two and Eight of the Second 
Superseding Indictment under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure ("Rule") 29 or for a new 
trial pursuant to Rule 33 is DENIED. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 216/2009. 
(Attachments: # 1 Table of Contents) (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02106/2009) 

0211012009 ill Letter Requesting that Rodney Morrison be excusedfrom status conference on 2/12 as to 
Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 02110/2009) 

0211212009 1Jl..2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R Hurley:Status Conference as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 2112/2009. Briefing schedule as to the forfeiture allegations set. 
Forfeiture hearing is set for April 14, 2009 at 10:30 am (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 02112/2009) 

02118/2009 12.0. Letter Order clarification as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Newsday Article) 
(Simermeyer, James) (Entered: 02118/2009) 

02119/2009 12.l ORDER re 12.0. : The Court declines to correct its February 6, 2009 Memorandum and Order. 
See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211912009. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 02119/2009) 

02/26/2009 ill ORDER: The Court hereby issues an Amended Memorandum and Order amending its 
February 6,2009 Memorandum and Order to make the following three changes only: (I) the 
phrase ", such as Morrison," on page 29 of the original decision has been deleted; (2) the 
phrase "such as Morrison" on page 72 of the original decision has been deleted; and (3) the 
phrase "Native American" on page 81 of the original decision has been deleted. This 
Amended Memorandum and Order supersedes my Order dated February 19,2009. See 
attached decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/26/2009. (Attachments: # 1 
Table of Contents) (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 02/26/2009) 

03/0612009 12.3. TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
03/06/2009) 
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03/1212009 124 Letter requesting amended forfeiture brief.from government as to Rodney Morrison (Wild, 
Matthew) (Entered: 03/12/2009) 

0311312009 ORDER re 124 : If the government intends to respond to defendant's letter, it shall do so by 
March 18,2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/13/2009. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 03/1312009) 

0311312009 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley in response to defendant's letter filed March 12, 
2009 as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 February 12,2009 Transcript) (Leonardo-
Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 03/1312009) 

03/18/2009 1Slfi LETTER Application for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to m Trial Brief by 
Rodney Morrison. (Wild, Matthew) Modified on 3/19/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
03118/2009) 

03/18/2009 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 1Slfi First MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to m Trial Brief filed by Rodney Morrison. 
(The document should have been filed as a LETTER Application, and the Court will address 
the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
03/19/2009) 

03/19/2009 ORDER re 1Slfi : The defendant's application for an extension of the briefing schedule and an 
adjournment of the forfeiture hearing is GRANTED. Defendant shall serve and file 
opposition papers by April 10, 2009; the Government shall serve and file reply papers by 
April 17,2009. The hearing is scheduled for May 4 and 5,2009, beginning on May 4th at at 
10:30 am. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/19/2009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
03/1912009) 

04/10/2009 m TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 04/10/2009) 

04/10/2009 12.8. TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 04/10/2009) 

04/17/2009 l22. TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
0411712009) 

04/1712009 .8.QQ Letter to the Honorable Denis R Hurley with regard to the Defendant's forfeiture brief 
(Docket #798) as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 04/17/2009) 

04/24/2009 .8.Ql Letter requesting the govt. to provide copies of exhibits as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 04/2412009) 

0412412009 ORDER: Defendant's application to defer decision on the parameters of the forfeiture hearing 
or, alternatively, defer final decision on the amount of forfeiture, pending the Fourth 
Department's decision in Cayuga Indian Nation of N.Y. v. Gould, 2009 WL 138582 (4th Dep't 
Jan. 21, 2009) is denied. Defendant's related application to certify "appropriate questions" to 
the New York Court of Appeals regarding the applicability of N.Y. Tax Law § 471 to on-
reservation cigarette sales is also denied. Finally, Defendant's application for an Order 
directing the government to provide certain disclosures prior to the forfeiture hearing 
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 16 is denied. Defendant has provided no 
authority for the proposition that Rule 16 applies to the government's request for a 
preliminary order of forfeiture which is governed by Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 
32.2(b)(I). The parties are directed to be present and proceed on May 4, 2009 at 10:30 a.m. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4124/2009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
04124/2009) 

04/24/2009 ORDER re .8.Ql : The government is directed to file a letter in response to defendant's April 
24,2009 letter request by 2:00 p.m. on April 27, 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 4/24/2009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 04/24/2009) 
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03/1212009 124 Letter requesting amended forfeiture brief.from government as to Rodney Morrison (Wild, 
Matthew) (Entered: 03/12/2009) 

0311312009 ORDER re 124 : If the government intends to respond to defendant's letter, it shall do so by 
March 18,2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/13/2009. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 03/1312009) 

0311312009 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley in response to defendant's letter filed March 12, 
2009 as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 February 12,2009 Transcript) (Leonardo-
Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 03/1312009) 

03/18/2009 1Slfi LETTER Application for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to m Trial Brief by 
Rodney Morrison. (Wild, Matthew) Modified on 3/19/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
03118/2009) 

03/18/2009 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: 1Slfi First MOTION for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to m Trial Brief filed by Rodney Morrison. 
(The document should have been filed as a LETTER Application, and the Court will address 
the document as such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
03/19/2009) 

03/19/2009 ORDER re 1Slfi : The defendant's application for an extension of the briefing schedule and an 
adjournment of the forfeiture hearing is GRANTED. Defendant shall serve and file 
opposition papers by April 10, 2009; the Government shall serve and file reply papers by 
April 17,2009. The hearing is scheduled for May 4 and 5,2009, beginning on May 4th at at 
10:30 am. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3/19/2009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
03/1912009) 

04/10/2009 m TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 04/10/2009) 

04/10/2009 12.8. TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 04/10/2009) 

04/17/2009 l22. TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
0411712009) 

04/1712009 .8.QQ Letter to the Honorable Denis R Hurley with regard to the Defendant's forfeiture brief 
(Docket #798) as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 04/17/2009) 

04/24/2009 .8.Ql Letter requesting the govt. to provide copies of exhibits as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 04/2412009) 

0412412009 ORDER: Defendant's application to defer decision on the parameters of the forfeiture hearing 
or, alternatively, defer final decision on the amount of forfeiture, pending the Fourth 
Department's decision in Cayuga Indian Nation of N.Y. v. Gould, 2009 WL 138582 (4th Dep't 
Jan. 21, 2009) is denied. Defendant's related application to certify "appropriate questions" to 
the New York Court of Appeals regarding the applicability of N.Y. Tax Law § 471 to on-
reservation cigarette sales is also denied. Finally, Defendant's application for an Order 
directing the government to provide certain disclosures prior to the forfeiture hearing 
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 16 is denied. Defendant has provided no 
authority for the proposition that Rule 16 applies to the government's request for a 
preliminary order of forfeiture which is governed by Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 
32.2(b)(I). The parties are directed to be present and proceed on May 4, 2009 at 10:30 a.m. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4124/2009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 
04124/2009) 

04/24/2009 ORDER re .8.Ql : The government is directed to file a letter in response to defendant's April 
24,2009 letter request by 2:00 p.m. on April 27, 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 4/24/2009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 04/24/2009) 
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04/24/2009 ORDER: The Court's April 24, 2009 Order is hereby amended to read as follows: Defendant's 
application to defer decision on the parameters of the forfeiture hearing or, alternatively, defer 
final decision on the amount of forfeiture, pending the Fourth Department's decision in 
Cayuga Indian Nation of N.Y. v. Gould, 2009 WL 138582 (4th Dep't Jan. 21, 2009) is denied. 
Defendant's related application to certify "appropriate questions" to the New York Court of 
Appeals regarding the applicability of N.Y. Tax Law § 471 to on-reservation cigarette sales is 
also denied. Finally, Defendant's application for an Order directing the government to provide 
certain disclosures prior to the forfeiture hearing pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
16 is denied. Defendant has provided no authority for the proposition that Rule 16 applies to 
the government's request for an order of forfeiture which is governed by Federal Rule of 
Criminal Procedure 32.2(b)(1). The parties are directed to be present and proceed on May 4, 
2009 at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/24/2009. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 04/24/2009) 

04/27/2009 .8..Q2 Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley in response to the Court's order dated April 24, 
2009 as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 04/27/2009) 

05/0112009 £Q3. NOTICE OF APPEARANCE by Gerald B. Lefcourt and Faith A. Friedman as counsel to 
interested party, Charolette Morrison. (Attachments: #(1) Notice of Appearance· for Faith A. 
Friedman) Attorneys added manually through editor. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 05/0112009) 

05/0112009 £M Letter as to rights and interests of Charolette Morrrison as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit) (Lefcourt, Gerald) (Entered: 05/0112009) 

05/06/2009 .8.ll.5. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Telephone 
Conference as to Rodney Morrison held on 5/6/2009, ( Forfeiture Hearing set for 5/28/2009 
10:30 AM before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley.) (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 05/06/2009) 

05/2112009 .8ilii LETTER Application for Release from Custody Bail Application by Rodney Morrison. (Wild, 
Matthew) Modified on 5122/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0512112009) 

05/2112009 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: .8ilii MOTION for Release 
from Custody Bail Application filed by Rodney Morrison(The document should have been 
filed as a LETTER application, and the Court will address the document as such. All 
corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/22/2009) 

05/22/2009 ORDER re .8ilii : The Government is directed to serve and file a response by noon on May 28, 
2009. The Court will conduct a bail hearing on May 29, 2009 at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5/22/2009. (Entered: 05122/2009) 

05/28/2009 RQ1 RESPONSE in Opposition re .8ilii MOTION for Release from Custody Bail Application 
(Attachments: # 1 Supplement) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 05/28/2009) 

05/28/2009 £ill!. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Forfeiture Hearing as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 5/28/2009 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi 1 Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Mahon, Cinthia). (Mahon, Cinthia). (Entered: 05/28/2009) 

05/29/2009 Jill2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Forfeiture Hearing as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 5/29/2009, Bond Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 
5/29/2009. (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05/29/2009) 

06108/2009 .8lQ TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
06108/2009) 

06108/2009 ill TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 06108/2009) 

0611212009 ill Letter Seeking Enlargement of Time to File Forfeiture Reply Memorandum as to Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 06112/2009) 
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04/24/2009 ORDER: The Court's April 24, 2009 Order is hereby amended to read as follows: Defendant's 
application to defer decision on the parameters of the forfeiture hearing or, alternatively, defer 
final decision on the amount of forfeiture, pending the Fourth Department's decision in 
Cayuga Indian Nation of N.Y. v. Gould, 2009 WL 138582 (4th Dep't Jan. 21, 2009) is denied. 
Defendant's related application to certify "appropriate questions" to the New York Court of 
Appeals regarding the applicability of N.Y. Tax Law § 471 to on-reservation cigarette sales is 
also denied. Finally, Defendant's application for an Order directing the government to provide 
certain disclosures prior to the forfeiture hearing pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
16 is denied. Defendant has provided no authority for the proposition that Rule 16 applies to 
the government's request for an order of forfeiture which is governed by Federal Rule of 
Criminal Procedure 32.2(b)(1). The parties are directed to be present and proceed on May 4, 
2009 at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/24/2009. (Hurley, Denis) 
(Entered: 04/24/2009) 

04/27/2009 .8..Q2 Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley in response to the Court's order dated April 24, 
2009 as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 04/27/2009) 

05/0112009 £Q3. NOTICE OF APPEARANCE by Gerald B. Lefcourt and Faith A. Friedman as counsel to 
interested party, Charolette Morrison. (Attachments: #(1) Notice of Appearance· for Faith A. 
Friedman) Attorneys added manually through editor. (Mahon, Cinthia) (Entered: 05/0112009) 

05/0112009 £M Letter as to rights and interests of Charolette Morrrison as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit) (Lefcourt, Gerald) (Entered: 05/0112009) 

05/06/2009 .8.ll.5. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Telephone 
Conference as to Rodney Morrison held on 5/6/2009, ( Forfeiture Hearing set for 5/28/2009 
10:30 AM before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley.) (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 05/06/2009) 

05/2112009 .8ilii LETTER Application for Release from Custody Bail Application by Rodney Morrison. (Wild, 
Matthew) Modified on 5122/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 0512112009) 

05/2112009 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: .8ilii MOTION for Release 
from Custody Bail Application filed by Rodney Morrison(The document should have been 
filed as a LETTER application, and the Court will address the document as such. All 
corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05/22/2009) 

05/22/2009 ORDER re .8ilii : The Government is directed to serve and file a response by noon on May 28, 
2009. The Court will conduct a bail hearing on May 29, 2009 at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5/22/2009. (Entered: 05122/2009) 

05/28/2009 RQ1 RESPONSE in Opposition re .8ilii MOTION for Release from Custody Bail Application 
(Attachments: # 1 Supplement) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 05/28/2009) 

05/28/2009 £ill!. Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Forfeiture Hearing as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 5/28/2009 (Court Reporter Dom Tursi 1 Ellen Combs.) (Best, 
Patricia) (Mahon, Cinthia). (Mahon, Cinthia). (Entered: 05/28/2009) 

05/29/2009 Jill2 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Forfeiture Hearing as 
to Rodney Morrison held on 5/29/2009, Bond Hearing as to Rodney Morrison held on 
5/29/2009. (Court Reporter Dom Tursi.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05/29/2009) 

06108/2009 .8lQ TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
06108/2009) 

06108/2009 ill TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 06108/2009) 

0611212009 ill Letter Seeking Enlargement of Time to File Forfeiture Reply Memorandum as to Rodney 
Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 06112/2009) 
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06112/2009 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to join in the defendant's request for an extension to 
file briefs as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 0611212009) 

06112/2009 ORDER re ill and ill : The applications by the government and defendant for an extension 
to June 15,2009 to file their post-forfeiture reply briefs are GRANTED. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 611212009. (Entered: 06112/2009) 

06115/2009 ill TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
06115/2009) 

06115/2009 ill TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 06115/2009) 

07/06/2009 .8l.6. Letter Dated July 2 2009 as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 07/06/2009) 

07/07/2009 ORDER GRANTING .8l.6. Letter. Copy faxed to Richard Levitt. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 71712009. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 07/07/2009) 

07/1312009 ill Letter new decision: Cayuga Indian Nation v. Gould as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 
1 Exhibit) (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 0711312009) 

07114/2009 ill NOTICE of Change of Address for the Law Firm of Levitt & Kaizer, Attorneys for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 7114/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07114/2009) 

07/14/2009 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The government shall serve and file a response to 
Defendant's July 13, 2009 letter (Docket No. 817) on or before July 21, 2009; Defendant may 
serve and file a reply on or before July 24, 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 7/1412009. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 07114/2009) 

0711512009 lWl Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07115/2009) 

07/16/2009 .a2.Q Letter To Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 0711612009) 

07116/2009 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re .a2.Q Letter, lWl Letter: The government's request for an 
extension of time to file its response is granted on consent. The briefing schedule is hereby 
modified as follows: the government shall serve and file a response to Defendant's July 13, 
2009 letter (Docket No. 817) on or before 12:00 p.m. on July 24, 2009. Defendant may serve 
and file a reply on or before 12:00 p.m. on June 24,2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 711612009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 07116/2009) 

07116/2009 AMENDED ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re .a2.Q Letter, ill Letter: The government's 
request for an extension of time to file its response is granted on consent. The briefing 
schedule is hereby modified as follows: the government shall serve and file a response to 
Defendant's July 13, 2009 letter (Docket No. 817) on or before 12:00 p.m. on July 24, 2009. 
Defendant may serve and file a reply on or before 12:00 p.m. on July 27, 2009. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 711612009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 0711612009) 

07117/2009 ORDER: The government's response to Defendant's July 13, 2009 letter ill shall address the 
Cayuga decision as it relates to both Defendant's argument that N.Y.Tax Law section 471 
does not establish an applicable State or local cigarette tax AND Defendant's argument that 
the Court's earlier due process decisions are no longer viable. The parties are directed to 
appear in Courtroom 930 on August II, 2009 at 10:30 a.m. That parties shall be prepared to 
discuss Defendant's bail application as well as the issues raised in Defendant's July 13, 2009 
letter. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 711712009. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 
07/17/2009) 

07/24/2009 m Letter Government's Brief in Opposition To Defendant's Motion In Light of Cayuga v. Gould 
as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0712412009) 

07127/2009 822 Letter Reply to Government's Opposition (Doc. 821) to Defendant's Renewed Motion to 
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06112/2009 ill Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to join in the defendant's request for an extension to 
file briefs as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 0611212009) 

06112/2009 ORDER re ill and ill : The applications by the government and defendant for an extension 
to June 15,2009 to file their post-forfeiture reply briefs are GRANTED. Ordered by Senior 
Judge Denis R. Hurley on 611212009. (Entered: 06112/2009) 

06115/2009 ill TRIAL BRIEF by USA as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 
06115/2009) 

06115/2009 ill TRIAL BRIEF by Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 06115/2009) 

07/06/2009 .8l.6. Letter Dated July 2 2009 as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 07/06/2009) 

07/07/2009 ORDER GRANTING .8l.6. Letter. Copy faxed to Richard Levitt. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 71712009. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 07/07/2009) 

07/1312009 ill Letter new decision: Cayuga Indian Nation v. Gould as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 
1 Exhibit) (Wild, Matthew) (Entered: 0711312009) 

07114/2009 ill NOTICE of Change of Address for the Law Firm of Levitt & Kaizer, Attorneys for Rodney 
Morrison. (Fagan, Linda) Modified on 7114/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 07114/2009) 

07/14/2009 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The government shall serve and file a response to 
Defendant's July 13, 2009 letter (Docket No. 817) on or before July 21, 2009; Defendant may 
serve and file a reply on or before July 24, 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 7/1412009. (Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 07114/2009) 

0711512009 lWl Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 07115/2009) 

07/16/2009 .a2.Q Letter To Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 0711612009) 

07116/2009 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re .a2.Q Letter, lWl Letter: The government's request for an 
extension of time to file its response is granted on consent. The briefing schedule is hereby 
modified as follows: the government shall serve and file a response to Defendant's July 13, 
2009 letter (Docket No. 817) on or before 12:00 p.m. on July 24, 2009. Defendant may serve 
and file a reply on or before 12:00 p.m. on June 24,2009. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 711612009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 07116/2009) 

07116/2009 AMENDED ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re .a2.Q Letter, ill Letter: The government's 
request for an extension of time to file its response is granted on consent. The briefing 
schedule is hereby modified as follows: the government shall serve and file a response to 
Defendant's July 13, 2009 letter (Docket No. 817) on or before 12:00 p.m. on July 24, 2009. 
Defendant may serve and file a reply on or before 12:00 p.m. on July 27, 2009. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 711612009. (Hurley, Denis) (Entered: 0711612009) 

07117/2009 ORDER: The government's response to Defendant's July 13, 2009 letter ill shall address the 
Cayuga decision as it relates to both Defendant's argument that N.Y.Tax Law section 471 
does not establish an applicable State or local cigarette tax AND Defendant's argument that 
the Court's earlier due process decisions are no longer viable. The parties are directed to 
appear in Courtroom 930 on August II, 2009 at 10:30 a.m. That parties shall be prepared to 
discuss Defendant's bail application as well as the issues raised in Defendant's July 13, 2009 
letter. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 711712009. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 
07/17/2009) 

07/24/2009 m Letter Government's Brief in Opposition To Defendant's Motion In Light of Cayuga v. Gould 
as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 0712412009) 

07127/2009 822 Letter Reply to Government's Opposition (Doc. 821) to Defendant's Renewed Motion to 
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Dismiss (Doc. 817) as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 07/27/2009) 

08/1112009 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Motion Hearing as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 8/1112009 re Jillll MOTION for Release from Custody Bail 
Application filed by Rodney Morrison (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger/ Paul Lombardi.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 08/1112009) 

08/14/2009 ru Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to provide case law with regard to restrained assets 
as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 08/14/2009) 

08/2112009 lli Letter requesting visitation as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 08/2112009) 

08/2112009 ORDER granting .82i Letter permitting Ms. Lange-Cameron of CVA Consulting to visit 
defendant at MDC Brooklyn. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/2112009. (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 08/2112009) 

08/3112009 .82.6 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison : Order directing cooperation with Probation. See attached . 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/3112009. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 08/3112009) 

09/04/2009 Jm LETTER Application for Acquittal motion for partial reconsideration of denial of post trial 
motion for acquittal by Rodney Morrison. (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 9/8/2009 (Pagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 09/04/2009) 

09/04/2009 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: Jm MOTION for 
Acquittal motion for partial reconsideration of denial of post trial motion for acquittal filed 
by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a LETTER application.) 
(Pagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/08/2009) 

09110/2009 .82..8. ORDER re Jm : The Court establishes a briefing schedule with regard to defendant's 
September 4, 2009 letter motion. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 9/10/2009. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 09/10/2009) 

09/10/2009 Jl22. ORDER re 123. : The Court issues its rulings regarding the government's forfeiture motion to 
be incorporated into the judgment of conviction and become effective on the date of sentence. 
See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
9/10/2009. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 09/10/2009) 

09/10/2009 .8lQ ORDER re Jillll : The defendant's application for post-verdict bail is denied. See attached 
Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/10/2009. (Lanin, 
Debbie) (Entered: 09/1 0/2009) 

09/18/2009 Jill Letter Requesting Adjournment of Sentence as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 09/18/2009) 

09/22/2009 ORDER granting # 831 letter. The application is granted and the sentence is rescheduled for 
12/1112009 10:30 AM before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley. The government and defense are 
directed to take all steps necessary so that we may proceed to sentence on that date .. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/22/2009. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 09/22/2009) 

09/23/2009 Jill RESPONSE in Opposition re Jm MOTION for Acquittal motion for partial reconsideration 
of denial of post trial motion for acquittal (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09/23/2009) 

09/30/2009 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion re Jm MOTION for Acquittal motion for partial 
reconsideration of denial of post trial motion for acquittal (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 
09/30/2009) 

10/2112009 .8J1 Letter in support of pending motion for reconsideration and requesting postponement of 
sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 10/2112009) 

file:IIINllirniskiewiczIRodney%20Morrisoni Appea1s/ram%20dkt%20sheet.htm[9/8/20 1 0 5 :03: 13 PM] 

GA076Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

Dismiss (Doc. 817) as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 07/27/2009) 

08/1112009 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Motion Hearing as to 
Rodney Morrison held on 8/1112009 re Jillll MOTION for Release from Custody Bail 
Application filed by Rodney Morrison (Court Reporter Mary Ann Steiger/ Paul Lombardi.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 08/1112009) 

08/14/2009 ru Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to provide case law with regard to restrained assets 
as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 08/14/2009) 

08/2112009 lli Letter requesting visitation as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 08/2112009) 

08/2112009 ORDER granting .82i Letter permitting Ms. Lange-Cameron of CVA Consulting to visit 
defendant at MDC Brooklyn. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/2112009. (Best, 
Patricia) (Entered: 08/2112009) 

08/3112009 .82.6 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison : Order directing cooperation with Probation. See attached . 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/3112009. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) 
(Gapinski, Michele) (Entered: 08/3112009) 

09/04/2009 Jm LETTER Application for Acquittal motion for partial reconsideration of denial of post trial 
motion for acquittal by Rodney Morrison. (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 9/8/2009 (Pagan, 
Linda). (Entered: 09/04/2009) 

09/04/2009 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: Jm MOTION for 
Acquittal motion for partial reconsideration of denial of post trial motion for acquittal filed 
by Rodney Morrison. (The document should have been filed as a LETTER application.) 
(Pagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/08/2009) 

09110/2009 .82..8. ORDER re Jm : The Court establishes a briefing schedule with regard to defendant's 
September 4, 2009 letter motion. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 9/10/2009. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 09/10/2009) 

09/10/2009 Jl22. ORDER re 123. : The Court issues its rulings regarding the government's forfeiture motion to 
be incorporated into the judgment of conviction and become effective on the date of sentence. 
See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
9/10/2009. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 09/10/2009) 

09/10/2009 .8lQ ORDER re Jillll : The defendant's application for post-verdict bail is denied. See attached 
Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/10/2009. (Lanin, 
Debbie) (Entered: 09/1 0/2009) 

09/18/2009 Jill Letter Requesting Adjournment of Sentence as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 09/18/2009) 

09/22/2009 ORDER granting # 831 letter. The application is granted and the sentence is rescheduled for 
12/1112009 10:30 AM before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley. The government and defense are 
directed to take all steps necessary so that we may proceed to sentence on that date .. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 9/22/2009. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 09/22/2009) 

09/23/2009 Jill RESPONSE in Opposition re Jm MOTION for Acquittal motion for partial reconsideration 
of denial of post trial motion for acquittal (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 09/23/2009) 

09/30/2009 ill REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion re Jm MOTION for Acquittal motion for partial 
reconsideration of denial of post trial motion for acquittal (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 
09/30/2009) 

10/2112009 .8J1 Letter in support of pending motion for reconsideration and requesting postponement of 
sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 10/2112009) 
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10/30/2009 ill Letter opposing request for delay of sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 10/30/2009) 

11119/2009 £1ll ORDER re £3.:!. : Defendant's request to postpone the sentencing scheduled for December 11, 
2009 is denied. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 

. Hurley on 11119/2009. (Entered: 11119/2009) 

12/02/2009 ill Letter To Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 12/02/2009) 

12/04/2009 ORDER re ill Letter: The Court is in receipt of the Probation addendum dated 12/212009, 
and served on all parties. Defense counsel's application to reschedule the sentence is denied. 
Sentence will remain scheduled for Friday, December ll, 2009 at 10:30 am. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/4/2009. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 12/04/2009) 

12/04/2009 m ORDER re m : Defendant's LETTER application for reconsideration of the Court's August 
II, 2009 bench decision is DENIED. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/412009. Modified on 12/8/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
12/04/2009) 

12/09/2009 ID Letter by City of New York Concerning Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) 
(Entered: 12/09/2009) 

1211 012009 .842 Letter from NYS Department of Taxation & Finance as to Rodney Morrison (Paldy, David) 
(Entered: 1211 012009) 

1211 012009 .8.4.5. ORDER: The sentencing scheduled for tomorrow is hereby adjourned to January 7, 2010, at 
10:30 a.m. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12110/2009. 
(Entered: 1211 012009) 

12110/2009 .84.6 Letter from Suffolk County concerning restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Termini, Chris) 
(Entered: 1211 012009) 

1211112009 ORDER re .84.6 : The County of Suffolk is hereby directed to file a memorandum of law in 
support of its application on or before December 18,2009. Such memoranda shall address, 
inter alia, which statute(s) it seeks restitution under and, how any restitution order would 
affect the County's civil cases presently pending before Judge Amon. The government may 
file a memorandum stating its position on or before December 18, 2009. Defendant shall file 
a memorandum in opposition on or before December 30, 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1211112009. (Entered: 1211112009) 

1211712009 M1 AFFIDA VITI AFFIRMATION by New York State Department Of Taxation & Finance as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum in Support Memorandum of Law in 
Support of New York State Department of Taxation and Finance's Claim for Restitution) 
(Paldy, David) (Entered: 12117/2009) 

12119/2009 .M8. Letter Memorandum In Support of Restitution Order as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 
1 Exhibit Exhibits 1-2, # Z Exhibit Exhbits 3-6) (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 12119/2009) 

12119/2009 M2 AFFIDAVITIAFFIRMATION by City Of New York as to Rodney Morrison.M8. Letter 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit of Service of City of New York's Memorandum of Law in 
Support of its Application for an Order of Restitution [Main Document is Certificate of 
Attempted Filing of Memorandum of Law on December 18,2009]) (Miller, William) 
(Entered: 12119/2009) . 

12119/2009 .8.5.Q Letter Memorandum In Support of Application for Restitution as to Rodney Morrison 
(Termini, Chris) (Entered: 12119/2009) 

12/2112009 ill Letter to Court enclosing courtesy copy of City of New York's Memorandum in Support of its 
Application for an Order of Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 
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10/30/2009 ill Letter opposing request for delay of sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 10/30/2009) 

11119/2009 £1ll ORDER re £3.:!. : Defendant's request to postpone the sentencing scheduled for December 11, 
2009 is denied. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 

. Hurley on 11119/2009. (Entered: 11119/2009) 

12/02/2009 ill Letter To Judge Hurley as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 12/02/2009) 

12/04/2009 ORDER re ill Letter: The Court is in receipt of the Probation addendum dated 12/212009, 
and served on all parties. Defense counsel's application to reschedule the sentence is denied. 
Sentence will remain scheduled for Friday, December ll, 2009 at 10:30 am. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/4/2009. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 12/04/2009) 

12/04/2009 m ORDER re m : Defendant's LETTER application for reconsideration of the Court's August 
II, 2009 bench decision is DENIED. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12/412009. Modified on 12/8/2009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 
12/04/2009) 

12/09/2009 ID Letter by City of New York Concerning Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) 
(Entered: 12/09/2009) 

1211 012009 .842 Letter from NYS Department of Taxation & Finance as to Rodney Morrison (Paldy, David) 
(Entered: 1211 012009) 

1211 012009 .8.4.5. ORDER: The sentencing scheduled for tomorrow is hereby adjourned to January 7, 2010, at 
10:30 a.m. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 12110/2009. 
(Entered: 1211 012009) 

12110/2009 .84.6 Letter from Suffolk County concerning restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Termini, Chris) 
(Entered: 1211 012009) 

1211112009 ORDER re .84.6 : The County of Suffolk is hereby directed to file a memorandum of law in 
support of its application on or before December 18,2009. Such memoranda shall address, 
inter alia, which statute(s) it seeks restitution under and, how any restitution order would 
affect the County's civil cases presently pending before Judge Amon. The government may 
file a memorandum stating its position on or before December 18, 2009. Defendant shall file 
a memorandum in opposition on or before December 30, 2009. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 1211112009. (Entered: 1211112009) 

1211712009 M1 AFFIDA VITI AFFIRMATION by New York State Department Of Taxation & Finance as to 
Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Memorandum in Support Memorandum of Law in 
Support of New York State Department of Taxation and Finance's Claim for Restitution) 
(Paldy, David) (Entered: 12117/2009) 

12119/2009 .M8. Letter Memorandum In Support of Restitution Order as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 
1 Exhibit Exhibits 1-2, # Z Exhibit Exhbits 3-6) (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 12119/2009) 

12119/2009 M2 AFFIDAVITIAFFIRMATION by City Of New York as to Rodney Morrison.M8. Letter 
(Attachments: # 1 Affidavit of Service of City of New York's Memorandum of Law in 
Support of its Application for an Order of Restitution [Main Document is Certificate of 
Attempted Filing of Memorandum of Law on December 18,2009]) (Miller, William) 
(Entered: 12119/2009) . 

12119/2009 .8.5.Q Letter Memorandum In Support of Application for Restitution as to Rodney Morrison 
(Termini, Chris) (Entered: 12119/2009) 

12/2112009 ill Letter to Court enclosing courtesy copy of City of New York's Memorandum in Support of its 
Application for an Order of Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 
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1212112009) 

12130/2009 ill Memorandum of Law In Opposition to Requests for Restitution by the State of New York, 
The City of New York, Suffolk County and Gristedes Foods as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) Modified on 12/3112009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 12/30/2009) 

12/3112009 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. The 12/30109 Incorrect Case-Document 
Information filed, has been deleted. In light of counsel advising the Court that he was unable 
to file document ill as a MEMORANDUM in opposition, the Court accepts his filing the 
document as a LETTER. The Court has edited the LETTER to MEMORANDUM in 
Opposition. (All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/3112009) 

01104/2010 .8..5..3. NOTICE of proposed order o/forfeiture as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, 
Diane) (Entered: 01104/2010) 

01104/2010 ~ Letter Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of the City of New York's Application for an 
Order of Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 01104/2010) 

OIl04/2010 ill Letter from Julian D. Schreibman to Judge Hurley dated 12/23/09 Re: To request that 
Gristede's be considered a victim in the above referenced criminal action pursuant to the 
Mandatory Victim Restitution Act and the Victim Witness Protection Act as to Defendant 
Rodney Morrison. (Valle, Christine) (Entered: 0110512010) 

01105/2010 £i6 Letter to Court enclosing courtesy copy of City of New York's Reply Memorandum in Support 
of the City's Application for Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 
01105/2010) 

01105/2010 ill Letter and Affidavit Amending Prior Filing as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Affidavit ofJoseph Vanderlinden on behalf of NYS Department of Taxation & Finance, # Z 
Exhibit in Support) (paldy, David) (Entered: 0110512010) 

01105/2010 ill Letter Sur-Reply Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Request for Restitution by the City of 
New York as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01105/2010) 

01105/2010 ill Letter of Gristede's Foods to appear and be heard at sentencing as to Rodney Morrison 
(Zapotocky, Meagan) (Entered: 0110512010) 

01106/2010 .8@ Letter Regarding Schedule for Resolution of Outstanding Sentencing Issues as to Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Letter Dated 12/28/09 to NYS Dep't of Taxation and 
Finance Requesting Documents) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 0110612010) 

01106/2010 ill Letter Corrected Sur Reply Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Request for Restitution By 
The City of New York as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit NYC Dep't of 
Finance Cigarette Tax Schedule) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01106/2010) 

0110612010 £6Z Letter re Unauthorized Sur-Reply as to Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 
01106/2010) 

01106/2010 ill ORDER re .8@ and £6Z : Defendant's request to adjourn the sentence and the City'S objection 
to defendant's sur-reply are denied. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 116/2010. (Entered: 01106/2010) 

01108/2010 BM ORDER: The Court directs the parties to address certain issues related to the restitution 
applications. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 118/2010. 
(Entered: 01108/2010) 

0110812010 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Sentencing Hearing 
as to Rodney Morrison held on 11712010 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01108/2010) 
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1212112009) 

12130/2009 ill Memorandum of Law In Opposition to Requests for Restitution by the State of New York, 
The City of New York, Suffolk County and Gristedes Foods as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, 
Richard) Modified on 12/3112009 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 12/30/2009) 

12/3112009 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. The 12/30109 Incorrect Case-Document 
Information filed, has been deleted. In light of counsel advising the Court that he was unable 
to file document ill as a MEMORANDUM in opposition, the Court accepts his filing the 
document as a LETTER. The Court has edited the LETTER to MEMORANDUM in 
Opposition. (All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 12/3112009) 

01104/2010 .8..5..3. NOTICE of proposed order o/forfeiture as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, 
Diane) (Entered: 01104/2010) 

01104/2010 ~ Letter Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of the City of New York's Application for an 
Order of Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 01104/2010) 

OIl04/2010 ill Letter from Julian D. Schreibman to Judge Hurley dated 12/23/09 Re: To request that 
Gristede's be considered a victim in the above referenced criminal action pursuant to the 
Mandatory Victim Restitution Act and the Victim Witness Protection Act as to Defendant 
Rodney Morrison. (Valle, Christine) (Entered: 0110512010) 

01105/2010 £i6 Letter to Court enclosing courtesy copy of City of New York's Reply Memorandum in Support 
of the City's Application for Restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 
01105/2010) 

01105/2010 ill Letter and Affidavit Amending Prior Filing as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Affidavit ofJoseph Vanderlinden on behalf of NYS Department of Taxation & Finance, # Z 
Exhibit in Support) (paldy, David) (Entered: 0110512010) 

01105/2010 ill Letter Sur-Reply Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Request for Restitution by the City of 
New York as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01105/2010) 

01105/2010 ill Letter of Gristede's Foods to appear and be heard at sentencing as to Rodney Morrison 
(Zapotocky, Meagan) (Entered: 0110512010) 

01106/2010 .8@ Letter Regarding Schedule for Resolution of Outstanding Sentencing Issues as to Rodney 
Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Letter Dated 12/28/09 to NYS Dep't of Taxation and 
Finance Requesting Documents) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 0110612010) 

01106/2010 ill Letter Corrected Sur Reply Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Request for Restitution By 
The City of New York as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit NYC Dep't of 
Finance Cigarette Tax Schedule) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01106/2010) 

0110612010 £6Z Letter re Unauthorized Sur-Reply as to Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 
01106/2010) 

01106/2010 ill ORDER re .8@ and £6Z : Defendant's request to adjourn the sentence and the City'S objection 
to defendant's sur-reply are denied. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. 
Hurley on 116/2010. (Entered: 01106/2010) 

01108/2010 BM ORDER: The Court directs the parties to address certain issues related to the restitution 
applications. See attached Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 118/2010. 
(Entered: 01108/2010) 

0110812010 ill Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Sentencing Hearing 
as to Rodney Morrison held on 11712010 (Court Reporter Paul Lombardi.) (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 01108/2010) 
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0111112010 £6fi Letter to Government Requesting Brady Material as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 01111/2010) 

01112/2010 ill Letter Regarding Striking References in PSR as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 01112/20 I 0) 

01114/2010 Jlli8. NOTICE Memoramdum on behalf of Rodney Morrison in Response to Question #2 of Court's 
January 8,2010 Order as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01114/2010) 

01114/2010 Em Letter by City of New York to Court addressing issue raised by Court in Point One of Court's 
January 8,2010 Order as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 01114/2010) 

01115/2010 .81D. NOTICE OF APPEARANCE of William Miller and Eric Proshansky (attachment # 1) on 
behalf of Interested Party the City of New York as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Notice of Appearance of Eric Proshansky on behalf of Interested Party the City of New York) 
(Miller, William) (Entered: 01115/2010) 

01119/2010 Jill Letter Addressing Issues Raised at January 7, 2010 Conference as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Gutlove & Shirvint, Inc.'s 2003-2004 Cigarette Sales to Peace 
Pipe) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01119/20 I 0) 

01119/2010 m Letter memorandum in response to City's letter-memorandum addressing question one of 
Court's 1/8/10 Order as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01119/20 I 0) 

01119/2010 .811 Letter addressing Court's Order of 1/8/10 regarding restitution as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01119/2010) 

01120/2010 .8.l4. Letter ClarifYing City's Restitution Claim as to Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 
01120/2010) 

01120/2010 Jill Letter in response to Court Order as to Rodney Morrison (Termini, Chris) (Entered: 
01120/2010) 

01122/2010 Jllii Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Evidentiary Hearing 
on restitution as to Rodney Morrison held on I122/2010 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01122/2010) 

01125/2010 ill Letter from Ron Lupski, President of Save The Forge River to Hon. Denis R. Hurley, as to 
Rodney Morrison, dated 1113/2010 re: To request that any restitution or forfeiture money in 
connection with the above referenced case be placed into a dedicated account in the Town of 
Brookhaven for the benefit ofthe community of Mastic and the surrounding communities 
including the people of the Poospatuck Indian Reservation. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01127/2010) 

01127/2010 m Letter regarding recent Supreme Court decision as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Exhibit Hemi Group decision) (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 01127/2010) 

01129/2010 m Letter as to pre and post arrest CCTA sales as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 
6-Sent'g.) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01129/2010) 

0112912010 .8.lill Letter to court with sentencing leniency letter as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) 
(Entered: 01129/2010) 

01129/2010 Jllil Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Evidentiary Hearing 
as to Rodney Morrison held on 1/29/2010Sentence Hearing continued to Friday, February 26, 
2010 at 10:00 AM. (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01129/2010) 

01129/2010 .8..82 Letter by City of New York Responding to Morrison's 1127 Submission on Restitution as to 
Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 01/29/2010) 
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0111112010 £6fi Letter to Government Requesting Brady Material as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 01111/2010) 

01112/2010 ill Letter Regarding Striking References in PSR as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 01112/20 I 0) 

01114/2010 Jlli8. NOTICE Memoramdum on behalf of Rodney Morrison in Response to Question #2 of Court's 
January 8,2010 Order as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01114/2010) 

01114/2010 Em Letter by City of New York to Court addressing issue raised by Court in Point One of Court's 
January 8,2010 Order as to Rodney Morrison (Miller, William) (Entered: 01114/2010) 

01115/2010 .81D. NOTICE OF APPEARANCE of William Miller and Eric Proshansky (attachment # 1) on 
behalf of Interested Party the City of New York as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Notice of Appearance of Eric Proshansky on behalf of Interested Party the City of New York) 
(Miller, William) (Entered: 01115/2010) 

01119/2010 Jill Letter Addressing Issues Raised at January 7, 2010 Conference as to Rodney Morrison 
(Attachments: # 1 Exhibit Gutlove & Shirvint, Inc.'s 2003-2004 Cigarette Sales to Peace 
Pipe) (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01119/20 I 0) 

01119/2010 m Letter memorandum in response to City's letter-memorandum addressing question one of 
Court's 1/8/10 Order as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 01119/20 I 0) 

01119/2010 .811 Letter addressing Court's Order of 1/8/10 regarding restitution as to Rodney Morrison 
(Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01119/2010) 

01120/2010 .8.l4. Letter ClarifYing City's Restitution Claim as to Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 
01120/2010) 

01120/2010 Jill Letter in response to Court Order as to Rodney Morrison (Termini, Chris) (Entered: 
01120/2010) 

01122/2010 Jllii Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Evidentiary Hearing 
on restitution as to Rodney Morrison held on I122/2010 (Court Reporter Perry Auerbach.) 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01122/2010) 

01125/2010 ill Letter from Ron Lupski, President of Save The Forge River to Hon. Denis R. Hurley, as to 
Rodney Morrison, dated 1113/2010 re: To request that any restitution or forfeiture money in 
connection with the above referenced case be placed into a dedicated account in the Town of 
Brookhaven for the benefit ofthe community of Mastic and the surrounding communities 
including the people of the Poospatuck Indian Reservation. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
01127/2010) 

01127/2010 m Letter regarding recent Supreme Court decision as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 
Exhibit Hemi Group decision) (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 01127/2010) 

01129/2010 m Letter as to pre and post arrest CCTA sales as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 
6-Sent'g.) (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 01129/2010) 

0112912010 .8.lill Letter to court with sentencing leniency letter as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) 
(Entered: 01129/2010) 

01129/2010 Jllil Minute Entry for proceedings held before Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley:Evidentiary Hearing 
as to Rodney Morrison held on 1/29/2010Sentence Hearing continued to Friday, February 26, 
2010 at 10:00 AM. (Court Reporter Harry Rapaport.) (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 01129/2010) 

01129/2010 .8..82 Letter by City of New York Responding to Morrison's 1127 Submission on Restitution as to 
Rodney Morrison (Proshansky, Eric) (Entered: 01/29/2010) 
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02/0112010 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The government is directed to file a brief by February 5, 
20 lOin support of their position that the Court determine the tax loss. The defendant shall file 
a response by February 10,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/112010. 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 02/0112010) 

02/08/2010 £84 Letter re tax loss calculation as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
02/08/2010) 

0211 0/201 0 .8..8..5. Letter Responding to Court's February 1, 2010 Order Directing Counsel to Address the 
Necessity of Determining the Tax Loss as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 
0211 0/20 10) 

0211212010 .8..8.6. ORDER re ID and J!42 : The Citys application for restitution is DENIED. The State's 
application for restitution is GRANTED IN PART subject to the limitations set forth in the 
Court's attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
211212010. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Entered: 02112/2010) 

02112/2010 m ORDER re rn : The application of Save The Forge River, Inc. is denied. See attached 
Order. The Clerk is directed to serve Save The Forge River, Inc. with a copy of this Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211212010. (Entered: 02112/2010) 

02112/2010 ORDER: The Sentence is adjourned to March 26, 2010, at 10:30 a.m. See attached Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211212010. (Entered: 02112/2010) 

02112/2010 m ORDER attaching Order adjourning Sentence, which was inadvertently omitted from the 
Court's previous Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211212010. (Entered: 
02112/2010) 

02118/2010 SetlReset Hearings as to Rodney Morrison: Sentencing set for 3/26/201010:30 AM before 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 02118/2010) 

02118/2010 .8.£2. Letter from Peter Bloch to Judge Hurley dated February 18, 2009 in support of State's 
application for restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Declaration of Joseph 
Vanderlinden with Exhibits) (Paldy, David) (Entered: 02118/2010) 

0212512010 £2ll Letterfrom Peter Bloch to Judge Hurley dated February 25,2010 with State's corrected 
interest calculations as to Rodney Morrison (Paldy, David) (Entered: 02/25/2010) 

02/26/2010 .82l Letter requesting extension of time to respond to State's 2125110 corrected response as to 
Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 02/26/2010) 

03/0112010 ORDER granting.82l Letter. Defendant's reply to NYS shall be filed by 311212010. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 31112010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/0112010) 

03/04/2010 .822 MEMORANDUM AND ORDER as to Rodney Morrison to clarify and correct portions of 
the Court's January 29, 2010 bench decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
3/412010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/04/2010) 

0311012010 ill Letter in response to State's restitution demand as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 03110/2010) 

0311712010 .8.24 Third LETTER Application for Reconsideration of motion to dismiss for denial of due 
process based on newly issued decision of the USCOAfor the Second Circuit by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: #1 Decision of USCOA 2d Cir) (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 
3118/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03117/2010) 

03118/2010 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: .8.24 Third MOTION for 
Reconsideration of motion to dismiss for denial of due process based on newly issued 
decision of the USCOA for the Second Circuit filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document 
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02/0112010 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: The government is directed to file a brief by February 5, 
20 lOin support of their position that the Court determine the tax loss. The defendant shall file 
a response by February 10,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 2/112010. 
(Best, Patricia) (Entered: 02/0112010) 

02/08/2010 £84 Letter re tax loss calculation as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 
02/08/2010) 

0211 0/201 0 .8..8..5. Letter Responding to Court's February 1, 2010 Order Directing Counsel to Address the 
Necessity of Determining the Tax Loss as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 
0211 0/20 10) 

0211212010 .8..8.6. ORDER re ID and J!42 : The Citys application for restitution is DENIED. The State's 
application for restitution is GRANTED IN PART subject to the limitations set forth in the 
Court's attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
211212010. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit) (Entered: 02112/2010) 

02112/2010 m ORDER re rn : The application of Save The Forge River, Inc. is denied. See attached 
Order. The Clerk is directed to serve Save The Forge River, Inc. with a copy of this Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211212010. (Entered: 02112/2010) 

02112/2010 ORDER: The Sentence is adjourned to March 26, 2010, at 10:30 a.m. See attached Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211212010. (Entered: 02112/2010) 

02112/2010 m ORDER attaching Order adjourning Sentence, which was inadvertently omitted from the 
Court's previous Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 211212010. (Entered: 
02112/2010) 

02118/2010 SetlReset Hearings as to Rodney Morrison: Sentencing set for 3/26/201010:30 AM before 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 02118/2010) 

02118/2010 .8.£2. Letter from Peter Bloch to Judge Hurley dated February 18, 2009 in support of State's 
application for restitution as to Rodney Morrison (Attachments: # 1 Declaration of Joseph 
Vanderlinden with Exhibits) (Paldy, David) (Entered: 02118/2010) 

0212512010 £2ll Letterfrom Peter Bloch to Judge Hurley dated February 25,2010 with State's corrected 
interest calculations as to Rodney Morrison (Paldy, David) (Entered: 02/25/2010) 

02/26/2010 .82l Letter requesting extension of time to respond to State's 2125110 corrected response as to 
Rodney Morrison (Shivers, Yvonne) (Entered: 02/26/2010) 

03/0112010 ORDER granting.82l Letter. Defendant's reply to NYS shall be filed by 311212010. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 31112010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/0112010) 

03/04/2010 .822 MEMORANDUM AND ORDER as to Rodney Morrison to clarify and correct portions of 
the Court's January 29, 2010 bench decision. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
3/412010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 03/04/2010) 

0311012010 ill Letter in response to State's restitution demand as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 03110/2010) 

0311712010 .8.24 Third LETTER Application for Reconsideration of motion to dismiss for denial of due 
process based on newly issued decision of the USCOAfor the Second Circuit by Rodney 
Morrison. (Attachments: #1 Decision of USCOA 2d Cir) (Nobel, Daniel) Modified on 
3118/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03117/2010) 

03118/2010 Motions terminated, docketed incorrectly. as to Rodney Morrison: .8.24 Third MOTION for 
Reconsideration of motion to dismiss for denial of due process based on newly issued 
decision of the USCOA for the Second Circuit filed by Rodney Morrison. (The document 
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should have been filed as a LETTER application, and the Court will address the document as 
such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03118/2010) 

03119/2010 ORDER re .824 : In light of defendant's third LETTER application for reconsideration, the 
government is directed to submit opposition papers on or before March 26, 2010. Defendant 
may submit a reply on or before April 2, 2010. The sentence is hereby adjourned to April 16, 
2010 at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3119/2010. Modified on 
3/22/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03119/2010) 

03/26/2010 .8.2.5. Letter opposing application for reconsideration as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 03/26/20 I 0) 

04/02/2010 .82.6 Letter in reply to document # 895, government letter in opposition as to Rodney Morrison 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 04/02/2010) 

04/08/2010 ORDER re .824 : Given that defendant has filed a motion for reconsideration regarding Count 
Two, which motion was fully framed upon receipt by this Court of defendant's Reply on 
April 2, 2010, the sentencing is hereby adjourned to April 30, 2010, at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/8/2010. (Entered: 04108/2010) 

0411612010 ill ORDER re.824: Based on the Second Circuits March 4, 2010 decision in City of New York 
v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 597 F.3d 1I5 (2d Cir. 2010), the Court has 
reconsidered, and changed its earlier determinations that defendants motions to dismiss Count 
Two on substantive due process grounds lacked merit. As a result, the conviction under Count 
Two is vacated, and the Count is dismissed. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/16/2010. (Entered: 04/16/2010) 

0411612010 DISMISSAL OF COUNTS on Motion of Rodney Morrison. (See doc. #897 Order) (Mahon, 
Cinthia) (Entered: 05/13/2010) 

04/20/2010 ORDER re 898 : The Court denies the application to move the sentence date from April 30, 
2010 at 10:30 am. The government is directed to respond to the Sentencing Memorandum by 
April 27, 2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/20/2010. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/20/20 I 0) 

04/2312010 .8.22. Letter requesting stay of the April 16, 2010 order and postponement of sentencing as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 04/23/2010) 

04/23/2010 ORDER re .8.22. : Defendant is directed to submit a response by I :00 p.m. on Tuesday April 
27,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2312010. (Entered: 04/2312010) 

04/26/2010 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket entry 2illl Letter, filed on 4123110 has 
been deleted. (The letter was a duplicate to the .8.22. Letter. All corrections have been made. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/27/2010) 

04/27/2010 2illl Letter In response to government application for a stay # 899 as to Rodney Morrison (Nobel, 
Daniel) (Entered: 04/27/20 I 0) 

04/27/2010 2lli Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley regarding sentencing as to Rodney Morrison 
(Durham, John) (Entered: 04/27/2010) 

04/28/2010 ORDER re 2lli : Defendant is directed to submit a response by 1 :00 p.m. on Thursday, April 
29,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2812010. (Entered: 04/28/2010) 

04/29/2010 2J22 ORDER: The sentence is adjourned to Friday, May 7, 2010, at 10:30 a.m. See attached Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2912010. (Entered: 04/29/2010) 

04/29/2010 2m Letter Regarding Sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 04/29/2010) 

04/29/2010 .2ll4. ORDER.8.22.: The government's request that the Court stay its April 16, 2010 decision is 
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should have been filed as a LETTER application, and the Court will address the document as 
such. All corrections have been made.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 03118/2010) 

03119/2010 ORDER re .824 : In light of defendant's third LETTER application for reconsideration, the 
government is directed to submit opposition papers on or before March 26, 2010. Defendant 
may submit a reply on or before April 2, 2010. The sentence is hereby adjourned to April 16, 
2010 at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 3119/2010. Modified on 
3/22/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 03119/2010) 

03/26/2010 .8.2.5. Letter opposing application for reconsideration as to Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) 
(Entered: 03/26/20 I 0) 

04/02/2010 .82.6 Letter in reply to document # 895, government letter in opposition as to Rodney Morrison 
(Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 04/02/2010) 

04/08/2010 ORDER re .824 : Given that defendant has filed a motion for reconsideration regarding Count 
Two, which motion was fully framed upon receipt by this Court of defendant's Reply on 
April 2, 2010, the sentencing is hereby adjourned to April 30, 2010, at 10:30 a.m. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/8/2010. (Entered: 04108/2010) 

0411612010 ill ORDER re.824: Based on the Second Circuits March 4, 2010 decision in City of New York 
v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 597 F.3d 1I5 (2d Cir. 2010), the Court has 
reconsidered, and changed its earlier determinations that defendants motions to dismiss Count 
Two on substantive due process grounds lacked merit. As a result, the conviction under Count 
Two is vacated, and the Count is dismissed. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered 
by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/16/2010. (Entered: 04/16/2010) 

0411612010 DISMISSAL OF COUNTS on Motion of Rodney Morrison. (See doc. #897 Order) (Mahon, 
Cinthia) (Entered: 05/13/2010) 

04/20/2010 ORDER re 898 : The Court denies the application to move the sentence date from April 30, 
2010 at 10:30 am. The government is directed to respond to the Sentencing Memorandum by 
April 27, 2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/20/2010. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 04/20/20 I 0) 

04/2312010 .8.22. Letter requesting stay of the April 16, 2010 order and postponement of sentencing as to 
Rodney Morrison (Miskiewicz, James) (Entered: 04/23/2010) 

04/23/2010 ORDER re .8.22. : Defendant is directed to submit a response by I :00 p.m. on Tuesday April 
27,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2312010. (Entered: 04/2312010) 

04/26/2010 Incorrect Case-Document Information filed. Docket entry 2illl Letter, filed on 4123110 has 
been deleted. (The letter was a duplicate to the .8.22. Letter. All corrections have been made. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 04/27/2010) 

04/27/2010 2illl Letter In response to government application for a stay # 899 as to Rodney Morrison (Nobel, 
Daniel) (Entered: 04/27/20 I 0) 

04/27/2010 2lli Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley regarding sentencing as to Rodney Morrison 
(Durham, John) (Entered: 04/27/2010) 

04/28/2010 ORDER re 2lli : Defendant is directed to submit a response by 1 :00 p.m. on Thursday, April 
29,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2812010. (Entered: 04/28/2010) 

04/29/2010 2J22 ORDER: The sentence is adjourned to Friday, May 7, 2010, at 10:30 a.m. See attached Order. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 4/2912010. (Entered: 04/29/2010) 

04/29/2010 2m Letter Regarding Sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) (Entered: 04/29/2010) 

04/29/2010 .2ll4. ORDER.8.22.: The government's request that the Court stay its April 16, 2010 decision is 
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DENIED. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 4/29/2010. (Entered: 04/29/2010) 

05/06/2010 .2ll.5. Letter regarding order of defense argument at sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, 
Yvonne) (Entered: 05/06/2010) 

05/06/2010 ORDER: After consultation with Judge Seybert, the Rodney Morrison sentence will take 
place tomorrow, May 7, 2010 at II :00 AM .. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5/6/2010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05106/2010) 

05/06/2010 .2llii Letter to the Honorable Denis R.Hurley to request that the restraining order with respect to 
restrained assets remain in effect pending appeal as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-
Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 05/06/2010) 

05/07/2010 .2.Q1 Letter Reply to doc 906 (gov application for partial reconsideration of denial of stay) as to 
Rodney Morrison (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 2illi NOTICE OF APPEAL (Interlocutory) by USA as to Rodney Morrison Filing fee $ 455. 
(James, David) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 2ll.2 NOTICE OF APPEAL (Interlocutory) by USA as to Rodney Morrison re .8.21 Order, 
(Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 Electronic Index to Record on Appeal as to Rodney Morrison sent to US Court of Appeals 
21Q Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 42 Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, ill Voir Dire Begun" ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, m Status Conference, 122 
Proposed Jury Instructions, ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, ill Jury Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, ill Reply to Response, .8Jl5. Telephone 
Conference, Set Hearings" ill Transcript, &l5. Order, :llift Order on Motion to Suppress, Q2 
Letter, 4ll2. Letter, .6.3.8. Order, ill Jury Trial, .l.li Order of Detention, 24.8. Letter, Ml 
Affidavit, 254 Letter, MIl Order" ill Letter, .122. Letter, 362 Motion to Suppress, 421 Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, 4Q2 Letter, .3.J'iQ Letter, 122 Trial Brief, ill Jury Trial, .8.3.6 Order, 2ll.8. 
Motion for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply,!iiQ. Jury Trial, Motion Hearing" ill 
Letter, iJill Order, JJl.6. Notice (Other), Notice (Other), ~ Letter, 454 Show Cause Hearing, 
JlZ4 Letter, ill Letter, 1M Order, 5 J 2 Order, 1±:l Motion to Quash, 130 Letter, ill Jury 
Trial, 1ffl Jury Instructions, 741 Order, ill Voir Dire Held" ill Response in Opposition, 
lli Proposed Jury Instructions, M Status Conference, ill Letter, ill Letter, .821 Motion for 
Acquittal, rn Certificate of Service, 442 Order, .l.!i Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea 
Entered, Set DeadlineslHearings"""" 72fJ. Order, .i62. Jury Trial, ill Letter, 2.l3. Letter, .82. 
Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, ill Order, 1.21 Response in Opposition,.6.Q!i Jury 
Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, 72. Status Conference, ill Letter, 2Q Order to Continue - Ends 
of Justice, ill Letter, 433 Status Conference, ill Certificate of Service, £42 Letter, Q.5. 
Motion for Bond, 1.Ul Jury Trial, .6.21 Letter, 245 Letter, .3.± Motion to Compel" ill Order" 
M.2. Affidavit, 37 Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued,.8ill Letter, .5.2. Status 
Conference" 451 Jury Trial, l2.5. USCA Mandate, JliZ Letter, ill Letter, .1.Q2. Certificate of 
Service,!ill3. Jury Trial, 4.22. Order, 372 Reply to Response, 2.lD. Letter, ill Motion to 
Dismiss, 7.f:il. Jury Verdict, 1M Letter, .616. Jury Trial, 428 Letter, m Reply to Response, ill 
Reply to Response, 2 Indictment, 2Q2 Letter, ill Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, m Trial Brief, .2.82. Order, 21.8. Motion to Quash, m Letter, m Motion for 
Extension of Time to File, ill Letter, 426. Jury Trial; .3..3.6 Response in Opposition" ill 
NOTICE of Change of AddressIFirrnlEmaiJ, ill Jury Trial, Jill1 Response in Opposition, .8.iO. 
Letter, m Letter, lQlJ. Letter, .8.Ql Letter, :'Id2 Letter, .3.±2 Letter, !i1D. Letter, 3.Q5. Letter, 2.8l. 
Letter, 2.12. Letter, 484 Letter, ill Order, fill Jury Trial, 4.8.6. Letter, ill Letter, ill Letter, 
JITQ Notice (Other), Notice (Other), ill Letter, m Order, lli Letter, ill Trial Brief, ill 
Letter, 7f!. Bond Hearing, ill Letter, ill Order, l.82. Letter, .6.£2. Jury Trial, .5.£ Motion for 
Bond, 574 Order, 2illi Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, 12.Q Motion for Extension of Time to 
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DENIED. See attached Memorandum and Order. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley 
on 4/29/2010. (Entered: 04/29/2010) 

05/06/2010 .2ll.5. Letter regarding order of defense argument at sentencing as to Rodney Morrison (Shivers, 
Yvonne) (Entered: 05/06/2010) 

05/06/2010 ORDER: After consultation with Judge Seybert, the Rodney Morrison sentence will take 
place tomorrow, May 7, 2010 at II :00 AM .. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5/6/2010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05106/2010) 

05/06/2010 .2llii Letter to the Honorable Denis R.Hurley to request that the restraining order with respect to 
restrained assets remain in effect pending appeal as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-
Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 05/06/2010) 

05/07/2010 .2.Q1 Letter Reply to doc 906 (gov application for partial reconsideration of denial of stay) as to 
Rodney Morrison (Nobel, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 2illi NOTICE OF APPEAL (Interlocutory) by USA as to Rodney Morrison Filing fee $ 455. 
(James, David) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 2ll.2 NOTICE OF APPEAL (Interlocutory) by USA as to Rodney Morrison re .8.21 Order, 
(Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 Electronic Index to Record on Appeal as to Rodney Morrison sent to US Court of Appeals 
21Q Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 42 Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, ill Voir Dire Begun" ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, m Status Conference, 122 
Proposed Jury Instructions, ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, ill Jury Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, ill Reply to Response, .8Jl5. Telephone 
Conference, Set Hearings" ill Transcript, &l5. Order, :llift Order on Motion to Suppress, Q2 
Letter, 4ll2. Letter, .6.3.8. Order, ill Jury Trial, .l.li Order of Detention, 24.8. Letter, Ml 
Affidavit, 254 Letter, MIl Order" ill Letter, .122. Letter, 362 Motion to Suppress, 421 Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, 4Q2 Letter, .3.J'iQ Letter, 122 Trial Brief, ill Jury Trial, .8.3.6 Order, 2ll.8. 
Motion for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply,!iiQ. Jury Trial, Motion Hearing" ill 
Letter, iJill Order, JJl.6. Notice (Other), Notice (Other), ~ Letter, 454 Show Cause Hearing, 
JlZ4 Letter, ill Letter, 1M Order, 5 J 2 Order, 1±:l Motion to Quash, 130 Letter, ill Jury 
Trial, 1ffl Jury Instructions, 741 Order, ill Voir Dire Held" ill Response in Opposition, 
lli Proposed Jury Instructions, M Status Conference, ill Letter, ill Letter, .821 Motion for 
Acquittal, rn Certificate of Service, 442 Order, .l.!i Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea 
Entered, Set DeadlineslHearings"""" 72fJ. Order, .i62. Jury Trial, ill Letter, 2.l3. Letter, .82. 
Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, ill Order, 1.21 Response in Opposition,.6.Q!i Jury 
Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, 72. Status Conference, ill Letter, 2Q Order to Continue - Ends 
of Justice, ill Letter, 433 Status Conference, ill Certificate of Service, £42 Letter, Q.5. 
Motion for Bond, 1.Ul Jury Trial, .6.21 Letter, 245 Letter, .3.± Motion to Compel" ill Order" 
M.2. Affidavit, 37 Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued,.8ill Letter, .5.2. Status 
Conference" 451 Jury Trial, l2.5. USCA Mandate, JliZ Letter, ill Letter, .1.Q2. Certificate of 
Service,!ill3. Jury Trial, 4.22. Order, 372 Reply to Response, 2.lD. Letter, ill Motion to 
Dismiss, 7.f:il. Jury Verdict, 1M Letter, .616. Jury Trial, 428 Letter, m Reply to Response, ill 
Reply to Response, 2 Indictment, 2Q2 Letter, ill Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, m Trial Brief, .2.82. Order, 21.8. Motion to Quash, m Letter, m Motion for 
Extension of Time to File, ill Letter, 426. Jury Trial; .3..3.6 Response in Opposition" ill 
NOTICE of Change of AddressIFirrnlEmaiJ, ill Jury Trial, Jill1 Response in Opposition, .8.iO. 
Letter, m Letter, lQlJ. Letter, .8.Ql Letter, :'Id2 Letter, .3.±2 Letter, !i1D. Letter, 3.Q5. Letter, 2.8l. 
Letter, 2.12. Letter, 484 Letter, ill Order, fill Jury Trial, 4.8.6. Letter, ill Letter, ill Letter, 
JITQ Notice (Other), Notice (Other), ill Letter, m Order, lli Letter, ill Trial Brief, ill 
Letter, 7f!. Bond Hearing, ill Letter, ill Order, l.82. Letter, .6.£2. Jury Trial, .5.£ Motion for 
Bond, 574 Order, 2illi Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, 12.Q Motion for Extension of Time to 
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File ResponselReply, ill Motion in Limine, 3.41 Letter, 11 Response in Opposition, .6..81 
Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, .l2Q Memorandum Opinion, 644 Reply to Response, 22.Q Letter, 
4.8..8. Letter, 4Qi Witness List, £2 Status Conference, 3..3.1 Response in Opposition, .618. Order, 
2M Jury Trial, ill Order on Motion to Dismiss, ill Response in Opposition, ill Order, ill 
Evidentiary Hearing, ill Jury Trial, 342 Reply to Response, .8..8.6. Order, 1li6. Letter, lll.6. Jury 
Trial, m Letter, 229 Letter, .8l4 Letter, 16.6. Jury Trial, 352 Motion in Limine, ill Letter, 
ill Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued, 447 Letter, ill Evidentiary Hearing, 
ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Order, 2M Letter, liQ Order, ill Response in Opposition, 
lli Evidentiary Hearing, ill Status Conference, lli Order, ill Reply to Response, .82l 
Letter, l4.2. Order, ill Letter, ill Letter, 122 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 42 
Motion to Compel, lQ.3. Reply to Response, 2.0. Motion to Dismiss/Speedy Trial, ill 
Certificate of Service, ill Letter, ID Order, ru Letter, ill Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, l6Q Letter, £23. Letter, .ll2 Notice (Other), ill Detention Hearing, .8..8..8. Order, 14± 
Jury Trial, ill Motion to Amend/Correct, .8.B4 Letter, 3.2fi Letter, 214 Extradition Hearing, ±l! 
Status Conference, ill Letter, ill Notice of Appeal - Conditions of Release, .6.6.8. Jury Trial, 
ID~~~ill~~,~~m~lli~lli~,W~~ 
Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 7SJ1. Order, Q2Q Jury Trial, ill Trial Brief, Jl8B. Order" 2Q2 
Jury Trial, .l12 Response in Opposition, fi2:l Letter, 16.Q Show Cause Hearing, .i2Q Order, 840 
Letter, ill Certificate of Service, ill Jury Trial, 22. Order for Warrant, ill Order on Motion 
to Dismiss for Speedy Trial, 2ilii Letter, 1\.21 Order, JillQ Letter, M Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, ill Notice (Other), ill Jury Trial, J 36 Letter, 21.'i Order", l8.Q 
Letter, M.l Order to Show Cause" 2.6. Notice of Attorney Appearance - USA, m Letter, II 
Letter, £2Q Letter, l5ll Letter, .26.2 Jury Trial, ill Status Conference, m Trial Brief, ID 
Order, ill Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice, fi1!l Letter, ill Proposed Voir Dire, m Motion 
Hearing, ill Letter, ill Status Conference, m Letter, .6l!3. Jury Trial, ill Letter, 1M Reply 
to Response, Jlli6. Letter, f[1 Motion for Bond, 2Q1 Letter, 2!rl Letter, ill Letter, llli 
Certificate of Service, 3.24. Letter, 2J.Q Letter, 3.ilii Letter, 3..4d: Letter, ill Trial Brief, 1.81 
Motion for New Trial, ill Letter, £21 Letter, l2.2 Letter, Jl.62 Letter, fif[1 Letter, 852 Letter, 
624 Proposed Jury Instructions, 527 Letter, 455 Order, 2.2Q Letter, .4Q3. Motion Hearing, ill 
~~,m~ill~~~lli~,~~654~~,m~~ 
Response, QQl Order, ill Order, 2.5.2. Letter, ill Letter, 1l4.6. Letter, m Motion for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, 2.0.2 Order, Tlfi Letter, 2Q1 Letter, 112. Status 
Conference, ill Letter, 392 Letter, 2.8.Q Motion to Quash, ill Notice (Other), 550 Jury Trial, 
.82ll Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Motion to Suppress, 3..Q2. Letter, ill Response in Opposition, 
ill Letter, ill Affidavit, ill Letter, 'll Affidavit, ill Letter, ill Motion to Suppress, ill 
Evidentiary Hearing, .61 Letter, 32.8. Motion for Bill of Particulars, ill Order, 1lQ Certificate 
of Service, 1M Motion to Dismiss, ill Telephone Conference, .8.6.8. Notice (Other), ~ Order 
of Detention, ii4 Jury Trial, ill Letter, .'lll Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, .15..6: Order, 
2.22 Order, 32 Order on Sealed Motion, 2£2 Letter, ill Jury Trial, .!'ii6. Response in 
Opposition, 122 Letter, m Jury Trial, £2i Motion for Reconsideration, ll2.4 Jury Trial, li1± 
Order, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, 3 J 3 Letter, ill Jury Trial, 436 Letter, 12.8. Trial Brief, ill 
Order, .8ilii Motion for Release from Custody, lQ Status Conference, 1 Order to Unseal 
Indictment, fZ6. Jury Trial, 364 Response in Opposition, 346 Order, ill Letter, ill Motion 
for Order to Show Cause, ill Jury Trial, 12 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 523 
Letter, 15.fi Letter, II Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Report and Recommendations, 
ill Order, .6.Q1 Order, ill Motion in Limine, 5.4 Letter, .2.Ql Letter, 4.lQ Letter, :'Iilii Letter, 
1.8..8. Letter, 2l4. Motion to Dismiss, ill Letter, .8lJl Trial Brief, .64l Jury Trial, ill Response 
in Opposition, l8.Q Reply to Response, ill Order, m Jury Trial, l2.O. Affidavit, ill Letter, 
.5Jill Letter, ill Order, ill Motion to Quash, 1fl.8. Order, .6.12 Order, 31.8. Letter, 4illi Letter, 
Jlli3. Order, .8.illl Letter, .81 Notice (Other), .5. Order of Detention, ill Letter, 4.6.8. Proposed 
Jury Instructions, 1£2 Status Conference, l.6l Jury Trial, £3. Order on Motion for Writ of 
Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, ill Letter" ill Motion to Dismiss, l2.l Status Conference, 
ill Letter, 2.Q1 Letter, ill Certificate of Service, l.5.4 Letter, 2£6. Letter, 2.Q2 Response in 
Opposition, 22. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, .812 Letter, ill Letter, l11 Order, 211 
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File ResponselReply, ill Motion in Limine, 3.41 Letter, 11 Response in Opposition, .6..81 
Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, .l2Q Memorandum Opinion, 644 Reply to Response, 22.Q Letter, 
4.8..8. Letter, 4Qi Witness List, £2 Status Conference, 3..3.1 Response in Opposition, .618. Order, 
2M Jury Trial, ill Order on Motion to Dismiss, ill Response in Opposition, ill Order, ill 
Evidentiary Hearing, ill Jury Trial, 342 Reply to Response, .8..8.6. Order, 1li6. Letter, lll.6. Jury 
Trial, m Letter, 229 Letter, .8l4 Letter, 16.6. Jury Trial, 352 Motion in Limine, ill Letter, 
ill Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued, 447 Letter, ill Evidentiary Hearing, 
ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Order, 2M Letter, liQ Order, ill Response in Opposition, 
lli Evidentiary Hearing, ill Status Conference, lli Order, ill Reply to Response, .82l 
Letter, l4.2. Order, ill Letter, ill Letter, 122 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 42 
Motion to Compel, lQ.3. Reply to Response, 2.0. Motion to Dismiss/Speedy Trial, ill 
Certificate of Service, ill Letter, ID Order, ru Letter, ill Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, l6Q Letter, £23. Letter, .ll2 Notice (Other), ill Detention Hearing, .8..8..8. Order, 14± 
Jury Trial, ill Motion to Amend/Correct, .8.B4 Letter, 3.2fi Letter, 214 Extradition Hearing, ±l! 
Status Conference, ill Letter, ill Notice of Appeal - Conditions of Release, .6.6.8. Jury Trial, 
ID~~~ill~~,~~m~lli~lli~,W~~ 
Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 7SJ1. Order, Q2Q Jury Trial, ill Trial Brief, Jl8B. Order" 2Q2 
Jury Trial, .l12 Response in Opposition, fi2:l Letter, 16.Q Show Cause Hearing, .i2Q Order, 840 
Letter, ill Certificate of Service, ill Jury Trial, 22. Order for Warrant, ill Order on Motion 
to Dismiss for Speedy Trial, 2ilii Letter, 1\.21 Order, JillQ Letter, M Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, ill Notice (Other), ill Jury Trial, J 36 Letter, 21.'i Order", l8.Q 
Letter, M.l Order to Show Cause" 2.6. Notice of Attorney Appearance - USA, m Letter, II 
Letter, £2Q Letter, l5ll Letter, .26.2 Jury Trial, ill Status Conference, m Trial Brief, ID 
Order, ill Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice, fi1!l Letter, ill Proposed Voir Dire, m Motion 
Hearing, ill Letter, ill Status Conference, m Letter, .6l!3. Jury Trial, ill Letter, 1M Reply 
to Response, Jlli6. Letter, f[1 Motion for Bond, 2Q1 Letter, 2!rl Letter, ill Letter, llli 
Certificate of Service, 3.24. Letter, 2J.Q Letter, 3.ilii Letter, 3..4d: Letter, ill Trial Brief, 1.81 
Motion for New Trial, ill Letter, £21 Letter, l2.2 Letter, Jl.62 Letter, fif[1 Letter, 852 Letter, 
624 Proposed Jury Instructions, 527 Letter, 455 Order, 2.2Q Letter, .4Q3. Motion Hearing, ill 
~~,m~ill~~~lli~,~~654~~,m~~ 
Response, QQl Order, ill Order, 2.5.2. Letter, ill Letter, 1l4.6. Letter, m Motion for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, 2.0.2 Order, Tlfi Letter, 2Q1 Letter, 112. Status 
Conference, ill Letter, 392 Letter, 2.8.Q Motion to Quash, ill Notice (Other), 550 Jury Trial, 
.82ll Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Motion to Suppress, 3..Q2. Letter, ill Response in Opposition, 
ill Letter, ill Affidavit, ill Letter, 'll Affidavit, ill Letter, ill Motion to Suppress, ill 
Evidentiary Hearing, .61 Letter, 32.8. Motion for Bill of Particulars, ill Order, 1lQ Certificate 
of Service, 1M Motion to Dismiss, ill Telephone Conference, .8.6.8. Notice (Other), ~ Order 
of Detention, ii4 Jury Trial, ill Letter, .'lll Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, .15..6: Order, 
2.22 Order, 32 Order on Sealed Motion, 2£2 Letter, ill Jury Trial, .!'ii6. Response in 
Opposition, 122 Letter, m Jury Trial, £2i Motion for Reconsideration, ll2.4 Jury Trial, li1± 
Order, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, 3 J 3 Letter, ill Jury Trial, 436 Letter, 12.8. Trial Brief, ill 
Order, .8ilii Motion for Release from Custody, lQ Status Conference, 1 Order to Unseal 
Indictment, fZ6. Jury Trial, 364 Response in Opposition, 346 Order, ill Letter, ill Motion 
for Order to Show Cause, ill Jury Trial, 12 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 523 
Letter, 15.fi Letter, II Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Report and Recommendations, 
ill Order, .6.Q1 Order, ill Motion in Limine, 5.4 Letter, .2.Ql Letter, 4.lQ Letter, :'Iilii Letter, 
1.8..8. Letter, 2l4. Motion to Dismiss, ill Letter, .8lJl Trial Brief, .64l Jury Trial, ill Response 
in Opposition, l8.Q Reply to Response, ill Order, m Jury Trial, l2.O. Affidavit, ill Letter, 
.5Jill Letter, ill Order, ill Motion to Quash, 1fl.8. Order, .6.12 Order, 31.8. Letter, 4illi Letter, 
Jlli3. Order, .8.illl Letter, .81 Notice (Other), .5. Order of Detention, ill Letter, 4.6.8. Proposed 
Jury Instructions, 1£2 Status Conference, l.6l Jury Trial, £3. Order on Motion for Writ of 
Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, ill Letter" ill Motion to Dismiss, l2.l Status Conference, 
ill Letter, 2.Q1 Letter, ill Certificate of Service, l.5.4 Letter, 2£6. Letter, 2.Q2 Response in 
Opposition, 22. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, .812 Letter, ill Letter, l11 Order, 211 
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Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ,3.Jl Letter, Z24. Response in Opposition, m Response in 
Opposition, ill Letter, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, :! 
Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea Entered, Set Hearings"""" 21 Status Conference" ill 
Letter, 7.1!l Letter, 218. Order", 1D. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 544 Letter, ii2 
Letter, 440 Letter, 22. Notice (Other), :'!Q Status Conference, 'Xl Letter, 2112 Letter, 2ilil Letter, 
2.5.6. Evidentiary Hearing, 3..Q:! Reply to Response, ill Letter, :!ill Letter, 18.2. Letter, 413 
Letter, 340 Affidavit, :'!2Q Letter, £Jill Letter, .i6.Q Order, ill Order on Motion to 
Amend/Correct, 52.D. Order, m Jury Trial, 2l6. Letter, ill Letter, .8l6. Letter, 545 Letter, ill 
Trial Brief, ~ Order, ID Jury Trial, ill Motion for Bill of Particulars, 2.5. Letter, 222 
Letter, lQ.Q Letter, 1:11 Reply to Response, 2.5.ll Reply to Response, ill Order, .622. Notice 
(Other), Notice (Other), ill Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill NOTICE of 
Change of AddresslFirmlEmail,.822 Letter, 1 Warrant Issued, ll! Status Conference, ill 
Letter, 12 Order on Motion for Leave to Appear" 1 Indictment (Sealed), lU. Bond Hearing" 
ill Letter, J!1Q Order, ill Order Adopting Report and Recommendations" 12!l Order, 2Q2 
Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, llll2. Letter, Order, l£.8. Letter, ill Order, m Letter, ill 
Letter, 112 Letter, ill Letter, £2ll Order, 5.4.8. Letter, :!6.6. Letter, :!5..Q. Affidavit, ill Letter, 
ill Response in Opposition, .3l.6. Letter, .l.21 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, 
Jill.2. Forfeiture Hearing, Bond Hearing, 121 Letter, W Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, ill 
Pretrial Memorandum, 12i Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, 425 Voir Dire Held", 482 
Letter, ill Motion to Dismiss, ill Order, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, 444 
Letter, ill Order, m Letter, .'!ill) Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Jury Trial, m Voir Dire Held" 
ill Order, 161 Letter, 12.8. Letter, 6. Detention Hearing, ill Motion Hearing, .63. Order, ZliQ 
Order, 2.Q;! Order, .6:!.5. Order, ill Jury Trial, 1lSl Jury Instructions, ill Reply to Response, 
ill Motion to Unseal Document, 322. Motion to Bifurcate, ill Letter, .8.5.:! Letter, .'!1. Order 
to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Motion Hearing, :12:! Proposed Jury Instructions, ill 
Order, ill Jury Trial, .6.Q6. Order, d2Q Letter, 41 Order on Motion to Compel" 3..8. Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.6.5. Order" liD. Letter, ill Jury Trial, :!Q1 Letter, m Letter, 'J.!12 
Order" 42..8. Order, ill Letter, JiQl Letter, 11 Status Conference", ill Letter, 649 Letter, m 
Memorandum in Opposition, .8.25. Letter, ill Letter, 1 Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, il.Q Letter, lQ1 Certificate of Service, ill Letter, :!l Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 2llii Letter, ill Letter, ill Evidentiary Hearing, 145 Letter, l2Q 
Letter, ill Memorandum in Support, l6..8. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 443 Letter, 11 
Certificate of Service, 446 Order, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, lill2 
Order, .i1ll. Order, m Letter, ill Order, ill Voir Dire Held" 1li Certificate of Service, ill 
Jury Trial, ID Letter, 21 Certificate of Service, ill Letter, ill Certificate of Service, m 
Letter, m Letter, 6.l6. Letter, .6.lQ Jury Trial, ll4li Letter, l6.6. Letter, 14.0. Jury Trial, ill 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, l2ll Letter, ill Status Conference, ill Order, 
ill Order, ill Letter, ill Affidavit, ~ Letter, li Pretrial Memorandum, lli Jury Trial, 10. 
Letter, 11Q Motion to Quash, .6Ji5. Letter, ill Letter, ill Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 
122L~illL~ill~458fury~lli~ill~~~~~ 
Trial, ill Reply to Response, 546 Letter, lli Affidavit, .5.£4 Order, TIll Response in 
Opposition, .8.l!.3. Order, ill Motion Hearing, m Evidentiary Hearing, lL!:! Letter, m Jury 
Trial, 6.lill Letter, }ill Letter,.8..81 Order, 734 Order, 6.22. Letter, £26. Letter, l22. Order, .1l 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 6.6.:! Jury Trial, :!5. Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, 2d:2 Evidentiary Hearing, ill Order, ill Order, llill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, 
ill Order" ill Letter, lQl Letter, 116. Reply to Response, 15. Order on Motion to Compel" 
ill Letter, .i2 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, lliil Letter, 3..8.1 Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Letter, .all! Order, .13..Q Order, .8lill Letter, ill Motion for Extension of Time to File, .6.6l 
Order, .6.6..l Response in Opposition, ll5. Pretrial Memorandum, 2.8. Order""" ill Letter, ill 
Letter, lQl Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea Entered""" m Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Letter, .8. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 11 Order of 
Detention, 121 Order, 464 Letter, l6..8. Evidentiary Hearing, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, .8.Jll 
Notice (Other), 1M Letter, ill Order, .8.:! Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 1:1 
Letter, ill Order, 3..3. Motion for Discovery, 6.i2 Order, ill Response in Opposition, 1'JJ1 

file:lllNl/jrniskiewicz/Rodney%20Morrison/ Appeals/ram%20dkt%20sheet.htm[9/8/20 1 0 5 :03: 13 PM] 

GA084Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ,3.Jl Letter, Z24. Response in Opposition, m Response in 
Opposition, ill Letter, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, :! 
Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea Entered, Set Hearings"""" 21 Status Conference" ill 
Letter, 7.1!l Letter, 218. Order", 1D. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 544 Letter, ii2 
Letter, 440 Letter, 22. Notice (Other), :'!Q Status Conference, 'Xl Letter, 2112 Letter, 2ilil Letter, 
2.5.6. Evidentiary Hearing, 3..Q:! Reply to Response, ill Letter, :!ill Letter, 18.2. Letter, 413 
Letter, 340 Affidavit, :'!2Q Letter, £Jill Letter, .i6.Q Order, ill Order on Motion to 
Amend/Correct, 52.D. Order, m Jury Trial, 2l6. Letter, ill Letter, .8l6. Letter, 545 Letter, ill 
Trial Brief, ~ Order, ID Jury Trial, ill Motion for Bill of Particulars, 2.5. Letter, 222 
Letter, lQ.Q Letter, 1:11 Reply to Response, 2.5.ll Reply to Response, ill Order, .622. Notice 
(Other), Notice (Other), ill Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill NOTICE of 
Change of AddresslFirmlEmail,.822 Letter, 1 Warrant Issued, ll! Status Conference, ill 
Letter, 12 Order on Motion for Leave to Appear" 1 Indictment (Sealed), lU. Bond Hearing" 
ill Letter, J!1Q Order, ill Order Adopting Report and Recommendations" 12!l Order, 2Q2 
Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, llll2. Letter, Order, l£.8. Letter, ill Order, m Letter, ill 
Letter, 112 Letter, ill Letter, £2ll Order, 5.4.8. Letter, :!6.6. Letter, :!5..Q. Affidavit, ill Letter, 
ill Response in Opposition, .3l.6. Letter, .l.21 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, 
Jill.2. Forfeiture Hearing, Bond Hearing, 121 Letter, W Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, ill 
Pretrial Memorandum, 12i Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, 425 Voir Dire Held", 482 
Letter, ill Motion to Dismiss, ill Order, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, 444 
Letter, ill Order, m Letter, .'!ill) Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Jury Trial, m Voir Dire Held" 
ill Order, 161 Letter, 12.8. Letter, 6. Detention Hearing, ill Motion Hearing, .63. Order, ZliQ 
Order, 2.Q;! Order, .6:!.5. Order, ill Jury Trial, 1lSl Jury Instructions, ill Reply to Response, 
ill Motion to Unseal Document, 322. Motion to Bifurcate, ill Letter, .8.5.:! Letter, .'!1. Order 
to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Motion Hearing, :12:! Proposed Jury Instructions, ill 
Order, ill Jury Trial, .6.Q6. Order, d2Q Letter, 41 Order on Motion to Compel" 3..8. Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.6.5. Order" liD. Letter, ill Jury Trial, :!Q1 Letter, m Letter, 'J.!12 
Order" 42..8. Order, ill Letter, JiQl Letter, 11 Status Conference", ill Letter, 649 Letter, m 
Memorandum in Opposition, .8.25. Letter, ill Letter, 1 Notice of Attorney Appearance -
Defendant, il.Q Letter, lQ1 Certificate of Service, ill Letter, :!l Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 2llii Letter, ill Letter, ill Evidentiary Hearing, 145 Letter, l2Q 
Letter, ill Memorandum in Support, l6..8. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 443 Letter, 11 
Certificate of Service, 446 Order, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, lill2 
Order, .i1ll. Order, m Letter, ill Order, ill Voir Dire Held" 1li Certificate of Service, ill 
Jury Trial, ID Letter, 21 Certificate of Service, ill Letter, ill Certificate of Service, m 
Letter, m Letter, 6.l6. Letter, .6.lQ Jury Trial, ll4li Letter, l6.6. Letter, 14.0. Jury Trial, ill 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, l2ll Letter, ill Status Conference, ill Order, 
ill Order, ill Letter, ill Affidavit, ~ Letter, li Pretrial Memorandum, lli Jury Trial, 10. 
Letter, 11Q Motion to Quash, .6Ji5. Letter, ill Letter, ill Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 
122L~illL~ill~458fury~lli~ill~~~~~ 
Trial, ill Reply to Response, 546 Letter, lli Affidavit, .5.£4 Order, TIll Response in 
Opposition, .8.l!.3. Order, ill Motion Hearing, m Evidentiary Hearing, lL!:! Letter, m Jury 
Trial, 6.lill Letter, }ill Letter,.8..81 Order, 734 Order, 6.22. Letter, £26. Letter, l22. Order, .1l 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 6.6.:! Jury Trial, :!5. Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, 2d:2 Evidentiary Hearing, ill Order, ill Order, llill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, 
ill Order" ill Letter, lQl Letter, 116. Reply to Response, 15. Order on Motion to Compel" 
ill Letter, .i2 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, lliil Letter, 3..8.1 Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Letter, .all! Order, .13..Q Order, .8lill Letter, ill Motion for Extension of Time to File, .6.6l 
Order, .6.6..l Response in Opposition, ll5. Pretrial Memorandum, 2.8. Order""" ill Letter, ill 
Letter, lQl Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea Entered""" m Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Letter, .8. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 11 Order of 
Detention, 121 Order, 464 Letter, l6..8. Evidentiary Hearing, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, .8.Jll 
Notice (Other), 1M Letter, ill Order, .8.:! Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 1:1 
Letter, ill Order, 3..3. Motion for Discovery, 6.i2 Order, ill Response in Opposition, 1'JJ1 
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Letter, ill Motion to Quash, ill Letter, 4!l2 Jury Trial, 132 Jury Trial, .6Jill Letter, 1£2. 
Motion to Continue, Jilll Letter, lliLetter, ll42. Response in Opposition, 2..S2 Response to 
Motion, m Letter, ill Order, .1l.2 Certificate of Service, .8..8. Response in Opposition, lQ2 
Letter, Z4Q Evidentiary Hearing, 4111 Letter, lilll Evidentiary Hearing, 2ill Order, Ri2 Letter, 
.8..8.2 Letter, ill Motion to Compel, 1.6£ Jury Verdict, ill Letter, 1\.22 Order, ill Letter, ill 
Order, 1M Order on Motion for Forfeiture of Property, m Letter, ill Order on Motion for 
Forfeiture of Property, .5ii Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.2.5. Letter, 493 Letter, 898 
Sentencing Memorandum, ill Letter, 3Jl8. Order, l!ill Motion for Forfeiture of Property, ill 
Letter, 404 Letter, ill Order, .5..Q Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 14.6. Jury Trial, ill 
Letter, .i22 Order, Ji6. Motion for Reconsideration, 72'l Jury Trial, ill Letter, 1M Response 
to Motion, 18.1 Proposed Voir Dire, .i22 Letter, ill Order to Unseal Document, .3..21 Letter, 
.aM Order, ill Letter, }5.4 Order, ill Transcript, ill Letter, ill Motion Hearing"" ill 
Order, l8.Q Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, .4.l2 Letter, ill Motion for 
Extension of Time to File Response/Reply, 2ll!l Letter, 2.6.4 Order, .15..Q Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - USA, 11 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, .l.26 Letter, 
ill Certificate of Service, l5fi Order, .61Q Order, ill Motion for Discovery, Motion for 
Hearing, ~ Letter, 302 Motion Hearing, 724 Letter, .6.8. Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice, 
459 Applicable Party, Terminate Deadlines, Terminate Deadlines and Hearings, Terminate 
Hearings, Allocution, Jury Trial, ill Letter, 448 Order, .!ill.8. Order, lA Pretrial Memorandum, 
lill Letter, 228 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 252 Letter, .12..8. Letter, Order, ill Letter, 
12. Status Conference, m Order, lQ2. Letter, 1l6. Status Conference, 321 Order, ill Letter, 
42.5. Letter, il Status Conference, .liM Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, .5.illl 
Motion for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply, 5..5. Status Conference, .822. Order, Jilll! 
Forfeiture Hearing, l42. Letter, .8..5. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 2&1 Order, 
ill Order" l8.ll. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Motion to Quash, 21 
Transcript, ill Letter, 2illl Letter, .24 Response in Opposition, 1!l Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill 
Order, For docket entries without a hyperlink, contact the court and we'll arrange for the 
document(s) to be made available to you. (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on May 7, 2010 at 11 :00 a.m. before Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley; For Criminal Cause for Sentencing; Time: 11 :00 a.m. - 2:00 p.m. - Fatico Hearing 
continued from January 29, 2010, 2:00 p.m. - 3:00 p.m. - Sentencing; Appearances: Deft.: 
Rodney Morrison, Deft. #1, present, in custody, Attny. for Deft.: William Murphy, Kenneth 
Ravenell; Richard Levitt; Daniel Nobel; Peter Smith, present; For Gov't.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz; John Durham, Diane Boeckmann; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: 
Harry Rapaport; Probation Officer: Gregory Giblin. Case called for sentencing hearing. 
Rulings are placed on the record regarding objections to the Guideline calculations. Deft is 
sentenced on count 8 of the Second Superseding Indictment as follows: 120 months 
incarceration. The Court recommends the deft be housed in a facility near the New York 
metropolitan area. Three years Supervised Release with the Special Conditions that deft no 
possess a firearm; that deft comply with the Order to Pay a Fine; full financial disclosure to 
the Probation Department. The deft is fined $75,000.00 to be paid on or before June 18, 2010. 
The $100.00 Special Assessment shall be paid on or before May 14,2010. The Court reserves 
decision on the proposed Order for Release of Restrained Assets. Deft advised of the right to 
appeal. Deft remanded to the U.S. Marshal. The Court dismisses the underlying and the First 
Superseding Indictments. The deft was found not guilty by the Jury on Counts SSI, SS3, SS4, 
SS5, SS6, SS7, SS9, SSlO, SSII and Acts 1-3 of SS2. Act 4 of SS2 was dismissed by the 
Government. Acts 5-80 of SS2 were dismissed by the Court in the April 16, 20 I 0 Decision. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05113/2010) 

05/10/2010 2.l.Q Letter to Honorable Denis R. Hurley with respect to the defendant'S request for the release of 
assets restrained pursuant to the Court's July 11, 2006 restraining order as to Rodney 
Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 05/1012010) 

05110/2010 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order Releasing Retained Assets - See attached. Ordered 
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Letter, ill Motion to Quash, ill Letter, 4!l2 Jury Trial, 132 Jury Trial, .6Jill Letter, 1£2. 
Motion to Continue, Jilll Letter, lliLetter, ll42. Response in Opposition, 2..S2 Response to 
Motion, m Letter, ill Order, .1l.2 Certificate of Service, .8..8. Response in Opposition, lQ2 
Letter, Z4Q Evidentiary Hearing, 4111 Letter, lilll Evidentiary Hearing, 2ill Order, Ri2 Letter, 
.8..8.2 Letter, ill Motion to Compel, 1.6£ Jury Verdict, ill Letter, 1\.22 Order, ill Letter, ill 
Order, 1M Order on Motion for Forfeiture of Property, m Letter, ill Order on Motion for 
Forfeiture of Property, .5ii Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.2.5. Letter, 493 Letter, 898 
Sentencing Memorandum, ill Letter, 3Jl8. Order, l!ill Motion for Forfeiture of Property, ill 
Letter, 404 Letter, ill Order, .5..Q Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 14.6. Jury Trial, ill 
Letter, .i22 Order, Ji6. Motion for Reconsideration, 72'l Jury Trial, ill Letter, 1M Response 
to Motion, 18.1 Proposed Voir Dire, .i22 Letter, ill Order to Unseal Document, .3..21 Letter, 
.aM Order, ill Letter, }5.4 Order, ill Transcript, ill Letter, ill Motion Hearing"" ill 
Order, l8.Q Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, .4.l2 Letter, ill Motion for 
Extension of Time to File Response/Reply, 2ll!l Letter, 2.6.4 Order, .15..Q Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - USA, 11 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, .l.26 Letter, 
ill Certificate of Service, l5fi Order, .61Q Order, ill Motion for Discovery, Motion for 
Hearing, ~ Letter, 302 Motion Hearing, 724 Letter, .6.8. Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice, 
459 Applicable Party, Terminate Deadlines, Terminate Deadlines and Hearings, Terminate 
Hearings, Allocution, Jury Trial, ill Letter, 448 Order, .!ill.8. Order, lA Pretrial Memorandum, 
lill Letter, 228 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 252 Letter, .12..8. Letter, Order, ill Letter, 
12. Status Conference, m Order, lQ2. Letter, 1l6. Status Conference, 321 Order, ill Letter, 
42.5. Letter, il Status Conference, .liM Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, .5.illl 
Motion for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply, 5..5. Status Conference, .822. Order, Jilll! 
Forfeiture Hearing, l42. Letter, .8..5. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 2&1 Order, 
ill Order" l8.ll. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Motion to Quash, 21 
Transcript, ill Letter, 2illl Letter, .24 Response in Opposition, 1!l Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill 
Order, For docket entries without a hyperlink, contact the court and we'll arrange for the 
document(s) to be made available to you. (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 05/07/2010) 

05/07/2010 ill Calendar Entry for proceedings held on May 7, 2010 at 11 :00 a.m. before Senior Judge Denis 
R. Hurley; For Criminal Cause for Sentencing; Time: 11 :00 a.m. - 2:00 p.m. - Fatico Hearing 
continued from January 29, 2010, 2:00 p.m. - 3:00 p.m. - Sentencing; Appearances: Deft.: 
Rodney Morrison, Deft. #1, present, in custody, Attny. for Deft.: William Murphy, Kenneth 
Ravenell; Richard Levitt; Daniel Nobel; Peter Smith, present; For Gov't.: A.U.S.A.: James 
Miskiewicz; John Durham, Diane Boeckmann; Deputy Clerk: Trisha Best; Court Reporter: 
Harry Rapaport; Probation Officer: Gregory Giblin. Case called for sentencing hearing. 
Rulings are placed on the record regarding objections to the Guideline calculations. Deft is 
sentenced on count 8 of the Second Superseding Indictment as follows: 120 months 
incarceration. The Court recommends the deft be housed in a facility near the New York 
metropolitan area. Three years Supervised Release with the Special Conditions that deft no 
possess a firearm; that deft comply with the Order to Pay a Fine; full financial disclosure to 
the Probation Department. The deft is fined $75,000.00 to be paid on or before June 18, 2010. 
The $100.00 Special Assessment shall be paid on or before May 14,2010. The Court reserves 
decision on the proposed Order for Release of Restrained Assets. Deft advised of the right to 
appeal. Deft remanded to the U.S. Marshal. The Court dismisses the underlying and the First 
Superseding Indictments. The deft was found not guilty by the Jury on Counts SSI, SS3, SS4, 
SS5, SS6, SS7, SS9, SSlO, SSII and Acts 1-3 of SS2. Act 4 of SS2 was dismissed by the 
Government. Acts 5-80 of SS2 were dismissed by the Court in the April 16, 20 I 0 Decision. 
(Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 05113/2010) 

05/10/2010 2.l.Q Letter to Honorable Denis R. Hurley with respect to the defendant'S request for the release of 
assets restrained pursuant to the Court's July 11, 2006 restraining order as to Rodney 
Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 05/1012010) 

05110/2010 ill ORDER as to Rodney Morrison: Order Releasing Retained Assets - See attached. Ordered 
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by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5110/2010. (Entered: 05110/2010) 

05112/2010 ill mDGMENT as to Rodney Morrison; The Defendant: was found guilty on count 8 of the 
Second Superseding Indictment. Imprisonment: The deft is hereby committed to the custody 
of the United States Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of: One hundred 
twenty (120) months on count 8 of the Second Superseding Indictment. The Court makes the 
following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: The Court recommends the deft be 
housed at a facility near the New York metropolitan area. The deft is remanded to the custody 
of the United States Marshal. Supervised Release: Upon release from imprisonment, the deft 
shall be on supervised release for a term of: Three (3) years on count 8 of the Second 
Superseding Indictment. The deft shall not possess a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, 
or any other dangerous weapon. Special Conditions of Supervision: The deft shall pay the 
Fine as ordered. The deft shall provide full financial disclosure to the Probation Department. 
Criminal Monetary Penalties: Special Assessment: $100.00; Fine: $75,000.00. Schedule of 

. Payments: Having assessed the deft's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary 
penalties is due as follows: Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary 
penalties: The $100.00 Special Assessment shall be paid on or before May 14,2010. The 
$75,000.00 Fine shall be paid on or before June 18,2010. The deft has been found not guilty 
on counts SSI, SS3, SS4, SS5, SS6, SS7, SS9, SSIO, SSII; Acts 1,2, & 3 of SS2. Count Act 
4 of SS2 was dismissed on the motion of the United States. Acts 5-80 of SS2 were dismissed 
by the Court on April 16, 2010. All underlying Indictments are dismissed by the Court. ( 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5112/2010.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
05113/2010) 

05112/2010 Electronic Index to Record on Appeal for NOTICE OF APPEAL BY RODNEY MORRISON 
DATED 5112110 as to RodneyMorrison sent to US Court of Appeals 21ll Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 4.2 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Voir Dire 
Begun" ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, 221 Status Conference, 125. Proposed Jury Instructions, 
ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Jury Trial, ll3..Q 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Reply to Response, ill Telephone Conference, Set Hearings" ill 
Transcript, 845 Order, 18Q Order on Motion to Suppress, .Q2 Letter, 4.Q2 Letter, Q18. Order, 
.52& Jury Trial, 18. Order of Detention, 248 Letter, .M1 Affidavit, 254 Letter, .Ml! Order" ill 
Letter, 12.2. Letter, ill Motion to Suppress, 4.21 Jury Trial, ill Letter, :'!Q2 Letter, 1fu5. Letter, 
7!l!l Trial Brief, 529 Jury Trial, £l6. Order, 2.Q..8. Motion for Extension of Time to File 
Response/Reply, ill Motion for Forfeiture of Property, .6.5..Q Jury Trial, Motion Hearing" 22.1 
Letter, .26Q Order, .lilli Notice (Other), Notice (Other), .5..41 Letter, 454 Show Cause Hearing, 
lli Letter, ill Letter, 1M Order, ill Order, :H.3. Motion to Quash, ill Letter, ill Jury 
Trial, 1ffl Jury Instructions, ill Order, ill Voir Dire Held" ill Response in Opposition, 
lli Proposed Jury Instructions, 44 Status Conference, ill Letter, 18..5. Letter, l!21 Motion for 
Acquittal, rn Certificate of Service, :!4.2 Order, l6. Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea 
Entered, Set DeadlineslHearings"""" 12fi Order, 562 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Letter, £2. 
Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, ±1Q Order, 121 Response in Opposition, Jill± Jury 
Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, 12 Status Conference, ill Letter, 2ll Order to Continue - Ends 
of Justice, ill Letter, 433 Status Conference, ill Certificate of Service, &!2. Letter, .6i 
Motion for Bond, 1l.Q Jury Trial, ill Letter, 245 Letter, :H Motion to Compel" 3..6i Order" 
.842 Affidavit, II Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued, .8JM Letter, 5..2. Status 
Conference" ill Jury Trial, ill USCA Mandate, ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Judgment""", 
.1Jl2. Certificate of Service, iill1 Jury Trial, 4.22 Order, 312 Reply to Response, ill Letter, ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Jury Verdict, l6.6. Letter, .61Ji Jury Trial, m Letter, ll2. Reply to 
Response, ill Reply to Response, 2. Indictment, 262 Letter, ill Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 1.23. Trial Brief, ill Order, ill Motion to Quash, .8.ll2 Letter, ill 
Motion for Extension of Time to File, JiZ2. Letter, .42.6. Jury Trial, .l16. Response in 
Opposition" JU.8. NOTICE of Change of AddresslFirm/Email, ill Jury Trial, .8..Q1 Response 
in Opposition, J!.5..Q Letter, 4111 Letter, :lilli Letter, RQl Letter, 445 Letter, 34.2. Letter, lW2 
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by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5110/2010. (Entered: 05110/2010) 

05112/2010 ill mDGMENT as to Rodney Morrison; The Defendant: was found guilty on count 8 of the 
Second Superseding Indictment. Imprisonment: The deft is hereby committed to the custody 
of the United States Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of: One hundred 
twenty (120) months on count 8 of the Second Superseding Indictment. The Court makes the 
following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: The Court recommends the deft be 
housed at a facility near the New York metropolitan area. The deft is remanded to the custody 
of the United States Marshal. Supervised Release: Upon release from imprisonment, the deft 
shall be on supervised release for a term of: Three (3) years on count 8 of the Second 
Superseding Indictment. The deft shall not possess a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, 
or any other dangerous weapon. Special Conditions of Supervision: The deft shall pay the 
Fine as ordered. The deft shall provide full financial disclosure to the Probation Department. 
Criminal Monetary Penalties: Special Assessment: $100.00; Fine: $75,000.00. Schedule of 

. Payments: Having assessed the deft's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary 
penalties is due as follows: Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary 
penalties: The $100.00 Special Assessment shall be paid on or before May 14,2010. The 
$75,000.00 Fine shall be paid on or before June 18,2010. The deft has been found not guilty 
on counts SSI, SS3, SS4, SS5, SS6, SS7, SS9, SSIO, SSII; Acts 1,2, & 3 of SS2. Count Act 
4 of SS2 was dismissed on the motion of the United States. Acts 5-80 of SS2 were dismissed 
by the Court on April 16, 2010. All underlying Indictments are dismissed by the Court. ( 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 5112/2010.) (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
05113/2010) 

05112/2010 Electronic Index to Record on Appeal for NOTICE OF APPEAL BY RODNEY MORRISON 
DATED 5112110 as to RodneyMorrison sent to US Court of Appeals 21ll Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 4.2 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Voir Dire 
Begun" ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, 221 Status Conference, 125. Proposed Jury Instructions, 
ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Jury Trial, ll3..Q 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Reply to Response, ill Telephone Conference, Set Hearings" ill 
Transcript, 845 Order, 18Q Order on Motion to Suppress, .Q2 Letter, 4.Q2 Letter, Q18. Order, 
.52& Jury Trial, 18. Order of Detention, 248 Letter, .M1 Affidavit, 254 Letter, .Ml! Order" ill 
Letter, 12.2. Letter, ill Motion to Suppress, 4.21 Jury Trial, ill Letter, :'!Q2 Letter, 1fu5. Letter, 
7!l!l Trial Brief, 529 Jury Trial, £l6. Order, 2.Q..8. Motion for Extension of Time to File 
Response/Reply, ill Motion for Forfeiture of Property, .6.5..Q Jury Trial, Motion Hearing" 22.1 
Letter, .26Q Order, .lilli Notice (Other), Notice (Other), .5..41 Letter, 454 Show Cause Hearing, 
lli Letter, ill Letter, 1M Order, ill Order, :H.3. Motion to Quash, ill Letter, ill Jury 
Trial, 1ffl Jury Instructions, ill Order, ill Voir Dire Held" ill Response in Opposition, 
lli Proposed Jury Instructions, 44 Status Conference, ill Letter, 18..5. Letter, l!21 Motion for 
Acquittal, rn Certificate of Service, :!4.2 Order, l6. Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea 
Entered, Set DeadlineslHearings"""" 12fi Order, 562 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Letter, £2. 
Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, ±1Q Order, 121 Response in Opposition, Jill± Jury 
Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, 12 Status Conference, ill Letter, 2ll Order to Continue - Ends 
of Justice, ill Letter, 433 Status Conference, ill Certificate of Service, &!2. Letter, .6i 
Motion for Bond, 1l.Q Jury Trial, ill Letter, 245 Letter, :H Motion to Compel" 3..6i Order" 
.842 Affidavit, II Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Testificandum Issued, .8JM Letter, 5..2. Status 
Conference" ill Jury Trial, ill USCA Mandate, ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Judgment""", 
.1Jl2. Certificate of Service, iill1 Jury Trial, 4.22 Order, 312 Reply to Response, ill Letter, ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Jury Verdict, l6.6. Letter, .61Ji Jury Trial, m Letter, ll2. Reply to 
Response, ill Reply to Response, 2. Indictment, 262 Letter, ill Notice of Attorney 
Appearance - Defendant, 1.23. Trial Brief, ill Order, ill Motion to Quash, .8.ll2 Letter, ill 
Motion for Extension of Time to File, JiZ2. Letter, .42.6. Jury Trial, .l16. Response in 
Opposition" JU.8. NOTICE of Change of AddresslFirm/Email, ill Jury Trial, .8..Q1 Response 
in Opposition, J!.5..Q Letter, 4111 Letter, :lilli Letter, RQl Letter, 445 Letter, 34.2. Letter, lW2 

file:lllNl/jmiskiewkzIRodney%20Morrisoni Appeals/ram%20dkt%20sheet.htm[9/8/20 1 0 5 :03: 13 PM] 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 151    09/17/2010    108283    314



Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

Letter, 305 Letter, 281 Letter, 239 Letter, 484 Letter, 438 Order, 677 Jury Trial, 486 Letter, 
ill Letter, Jl1l Letter, JWl Notice (Other), Notice (Other), 14.8. Letter, m Order, 1m Letter, 
ill Trial Brief, 5fil Letter, 1fi Bond Hearing, ill Letter, ill Order, 1&2 Letter, li8.2 Jury 
Trial, 2£ Motion for Bond, ill Order, 2illl. Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, 7!lfi Motion for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, ill Motion in Limine, .141 Letter, 11 Response in 
Opposition, .6&t Letter, ill Letter, 431 Order, 120 Memorandum Opinion, 644 Reply to 
Response, 220 Letter, .'l.8.£ Letter, 405 Witness List, .8.2 Status Conference, 331 Response in 
Opposition, ill Order, 564 Jury Trial, ill Order on Motion to Dismiss, ill Response in 
Opposition, 3.1 Sealed Motion, ill Order, ill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Jury Trial, 342 
Reply to Response, l!£6. Order, Ri6. Letter, lJl6. Jury Trial, m Letter, 222. Letter, ru Letter, 
1fi.6 Jury Trial, ill Motion in Limine, ii&1 Letter, ill Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 
Testificandum Issued, 441 Letter, ill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, iill Jury Trial, 142 
Order, Zll1 Letter, ill Order, 311 Response in Opposition, 24fi Evidentiary Hearing, ill 
Status Conference, 3JJi Order, ill Reply to Response, m Letter, 14.2 Order, ill Letter, m 
Letter, :1.22 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 42 Motion to Compel, 3ll3. Reply to 
Response, 2.0. Motion to Dismiss/Speedy Trial, ill Certificate of Service, ill Letter, ID 
Order, ru Letter, 2l6. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, l.lill Letter, m Letter, ll.2. Notice 
(Other), 1..Ql Detention Hearing,.8..8..8. Order, 744 Jury Trial, ill Motion to Amend/Correct, 
llli!i Letter, 12.6 Letter, Zl'!: Extradition Hearing, :'l.8. Status Conference, ill Letter, ill Notice 
of Appeal - Conditions of Release, .6Ji8. Jury Trial, ID Order, llli2. Letter, ill Jury Trial, Q£Q 
Order, .8.22. Letter, ill Jury Trial, 26.2 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, lill 
Order, ll2.O. Jury Trial, ill Trial Brief, ii.8..8. Order" 5..Q2 Jury Trial, ill Response in 
Opposition, ill Letter, 4iill Show Cause Hearing, 5.26. Order, 840 Letter, ill Certificate of 
Service, ill Jury Trial, 22. Order for Warrant, ill Order on Motion to Dismiss for Speedy 
Trial, 2.llii Letter, .8.2l Order, .6ilil Letter, M Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, l2.8. 
Notice (Other), ill Jury Trial, l3li Letter, 21'l Order", ill Letter, M.l Order to Show 
Cause" 21i Notice of Attorney Appearance - USA, ill Letter, 5J. Letter, .8.2Q Letter, ill 
Letter, lli Jury Trial, ill Status Conference, ill Trial Brief, 441 Order, ill Motion to 
Appear Pro Hac Vice, m Letter, 374 Proposed Voir Dire, 823 Motion Hearing, ill Letter, 
ill Status Conference, ill Letter, .6.8.3. Jury Trial, ill Letter, 18.4 Reply to Response, .8..6Q 
Letter, fil. Motion for Bond, 2.Q1 Letter, m Letter, ~ Certificate of Service, 394 Letter, nil 
Letter, .3.llii Letter, 14:4 Letter, ill Trial Brief, 182 Motion for New Trial, ill Letter, .823. 
Letter, 1..2.2 Letter, .8.Q2 Letter, fifi1. Letter, ill Letter, ill Proposed Jury Instructions, ill 
Letter, ill Order, Z.2ll Letter, 4Q3. Motion Hearing, ill Jury Trial, ill Order, ill Letter, .6!i5. 
~~~~~~~m~~~~~~lli~lli 
Letter, ill Letter, E!I1i Letter, 1.l.B. Motion for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply, l1fi 
Letter, 2.Ql Letter, l12. Status Conference, &U Letter, ill Letter, 2lill Motion to Quash, ill 
Notice (Other), i5.Jl Jury Trial, .82.Q Letter, 5J.4 Jury Trial, 3J.4 Motion to Suppress, .1Q2 
Letter, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Affidavit, 253 Letter, 'll Affidavit, ill 
Letter, 333 Motion to Suppress, ill Evidentiary Hearing, hl Letter, 328 Motion for Bill of 
Particulars, ill Order, llQ Certificate of Service, ill Motion to Dismiss, ill Telephone 
Conference, Jlli8. Notice (Other), 12 Order of Detention, 554 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ® Order 
to Continue - Ends of Justice, 356 Order, 222 Order, 32 Order on Sealed Motion, 2..8.2 Letter, 
ill Jury Trial, fii6. Response in Opposition, m Letter, 528 Jury Trial, .8.2± Motion for 
Reconsideration, .6.2± Jury Trial, .hl4 Order, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, 12.8. Trial Brief, ill Order, .8ilii Motion for Release from Custody, 16 Status 
Conference, 3. Order to Unseal Indictment, lli Jury Trial, 1M Response in Opposition, l4li 
Order, ill Letter, ill Motion for Order to Show Cause, .2l.Q Letter, ill Jury Trial, .l2 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, 15..6: Letter, TI Order to Continue -
Ends of Justice, l3..2. Report and Recommendations, ill Order, full Order, 242 Motion in 
Limine, 54 Letter, 2.O.l Letter, .'!lQ Letter, 4ilii Letter, ill Letter, m Motion to Dismiss, ill 
Letter, .8lQ Trial Brief, Ml Jury Trial, ill Response in Opposition, l8.Q Reply to Response, 
ill Order, 722 Jury Trial, ill Letter, .5Jill Letter, ill Order, 457 Motion to Quash, 1llli 
Order, ill Order, 3.1.8. Letter, :!Jlll. Letter, l!.Ql Order, .8.QQ Letter, .81 Notice (Other), i Order 

file:fflNlfjrniskiewiczIRodney%20Morrisoni Appealsfram%20dkt''1020sheet.htm[9f8f20 1 0 5 :03: 13 PM] 

GA087Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

Letter, 305 Letter, 281 Letter, 239 Letter, 484 Letter, 438 Order, 677 Jury Trial, 486 Letter, 
ill Letter, Jl1l Letter, JWl Notice (Other), Notice (Other), 14.8. Letter, m Order, 1m Letter, 
ill Trial Brief, 5fil Letter, 1fi Bond Hearing, ill Letter, ill Order, 1&2 Letter, li8.2 Jury 
Trial, 2£ Motion for Bond, ill Order, 2illl. Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, 7!lfi Motion for 
Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, ill Motion in Limine, .141 Letter, 11 Response in 
Opposition, .6&t Letter, ill Letter, 431 Order, 120 Memorandum Opinion, 644 Reply to 
Response, 220 Letter, .'l.8.£ Letter, 405 Witness List, .8.2 Status Conference, 331 Response in 
Opposition, ill Order, 564 Jury Trial, ill Order on Motion to Dismiss, ill Response in 
Opposition, 3.1 Sealed Motion, ill Order, ill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Jury Trial, 342 
Reply to Response, l!£6. Order, Ri6. Letter, lJl6. Jury Trial, m Letter, 222. Letter, ru Letter, 
1fi.6 Jury Trial, ill Motion in Limine, ii&1 Letter, ill Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 
Testificandum Issued, 441 Letter, ill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, iill Jury Trial, 142 
Order, Zll1 Letter, ill Order, 311 Response in Opposition, 24fi Evidentiary Hearing, ill 
Status Conference, 3JJi Order, ill Reply to Response, m Letter, 14.2 Order, ill Letter, m 
Letter, :1.22 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 42 Motion to Compel, 3ll3. Reply to 
Response, 2.0. Motion to Dismiss/Speedy Trial, ill Certificate of Service, ill Letter, ID 
Order, ru Letter, 2l6. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, l.lill Letter, m Letter, ll.2. Notice 
(Other), 1..Ql Detention Hearing,.8..8..8. Order, 744 Jury Trial, ill Motion to Amend/Correct, 
llli!i Letter, 12.6 Letter, Zl'!: Extradition Hearing, :'l.8. Status Conference, ill Letter, ill Notice 
of Appeal - Conditions of Release, .6Ji8. Jury Trial, ID Order, llli2. Letter, ill Jury Trial, Q£Q 
Order, .8.22. Letter, ill Jury Trial, 26.2 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, lill 
Order, ll2.O. Jury Trial, ill Trial Brief, ii.8..8. Order" 5..Q2 Jury Trial, ill Response in 
Opposition, ill Letter, 4iill Show Cause Hearing, 5.26. Order, 840 Letter, ill Certificate of 
Service, ill Jury Trial, 22. Order for Warrant, ill Order on Motion to Dismiss for Speedy 
Trial, 2.llii Letter, .8.2l Order, .6ilil Letter, M Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, l2.8. 
Notice (Other), ill Jury Trial, l3li Letter, 21'l Order", ill Letter, M.l Order to Show 
Cause" 21i Notice of Attorney Appearance - USA, ill Letter, 5J. Letter, .8.2Q Letter, ill 
Letter, lli Jury Trial, ill Status Conference, ill Trial Brief, 441 Order, ill Motion to 
Appear Pro Hac Vice, m Letter, 374 Proposed Voir Dire, 823 Motion Hearing, ill Letter, 
ill Status Conference, ill Letter, .6.8.3. Jury Trial, ill Letter, 18.4 Reply to Response, .8..6Q 
Letter, fil. Motion for Bond, 2.Q1 Letter, m Letter, ~ Certificate of Service, 394 Letter, nil 
Letter, .3.llii Letter, 14:4 Letter, ill Trial Brief, 182 Motion for New Trial, ill Letter, .823. 
Letter, 1..2.2 Letter, .8.Q2 Letter, fifi1. Letter, ill Letter, ill Proposed Jury Instructions, ill 
Letter, ill Order, Z.2ll Letter, 4Q3. Motion Hearing, ill Jury Trial, ill Order, ill Letter, .6!i5. 
~~~~~~~m~~~~~~lli~lli 
Letter, ill Letter, E!I1i Letter, 1.l.B. Motion for Extension of Time to File Response/Reply, l1fi 
Letter, 2.Ql Letter, l12. Status Conference, &U Letter, ill Letter, 2lill Motion to Quash, ill 
Notice (Other), i5.Jl Jury Trial, .82.Q Letter, 5J.4 Jury Trial, 3J.4 Motion to Suppress, .1Q2 
Letter, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Affidavit, 253 Letter, 'll Affidavit, ill 
Letter, 333 Motion to Suppress, ill Evidentiary Hearing, hl Letter, 328 Motion for Bill of 
Particulars, ill Order, llQ Certificate of Service, ill Motion to Dismiss, ill Telephone 
Conference, Jlli8. Notice (Other), 12 Order of Detention, 554 Jury Trial, ill Letter, ® Order 
to Continue - Ends of Justice, 356 Order, 222 Order, 32 Order on Sealed Motion, 2..8.2 Letter, 
ill Jury Trial, fii6. Response in Opposition, m Letter, 528 Jury Trial, .8.2± Motion for 
Reconsideration, .6.2± Jury Trial, .hl4 Order, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, ill Letter, ill Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, 12.8. Trial Brief, ill Order, .8ilii Motion for Release from Custody, 16 Status 
Conference, 3. Order to Unseal Indictment, lli Jury Trial, 1M Response in Opposition, l4li 
Order, ill Letter, ill Motion for Order to Show Cause, .2l.Q Letter, ill Jury Trial, .l2 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, 15..6: Letter, TI Order to Continue -
Ends of Justice, l3..2. Report and Recommendations, ill Order, full Order, 242 Motion in 
Limine, 54 Letter, 2.O.l Letter, .'!lQ Letter, 4ilii Letter, ill Letter, m Motion to Dismiss, ill 
Letter, .8lQ Trial Brief, Ml Jury Trial, ill Response in Opposition, l8.Q Reply to Response, 
ill Order, 722 Jury Trial, ill Letter, .5Jill Letter, ill Order, 457 Motion to Quash, 1llli 
Order, ill Order, 3.1.8. Letter, :!Jlll. Letter, l!.Ql Order, .8.QQ Letter, .81 Notice (Other), i Order 
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of Detention, ill Letter, ill Proposed Jury Instructions, 18.2 Status Conference, ill Jury 
Trial, R3. Order on Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, l21 Letter" ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Status Conference, 142 Letter, 2il1 Letter, ill Certificate of Service, 
L1:l Letter, 2.8.6: Letter, 2Jl2 Response in Opposition, 22. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 
lli Letter, ru Letter, ill Order, ill Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 10. Letter, 22i 
Response in Opposition, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Response in 
Opposition, 632 Letter, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, ± Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea 
Entered, Set Hearings"""" 21 Status Conference" ill Letter, m Letter, 218. Order", 10. 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 544 Letter, m Letter, 44Q Letter, 22. Notice 
(Other), :!Q Status Conference, 21 Letter, 2Q.5. Letter, 2ll.Q Letter, :li6. Evidentiary Hearing, 
1Q1 Reply to Response, ill Letter, ill Letter, 3..8.2 Letter, ill Letter, 3.4Q Affidavit, ±2.Q 
Letter, £llil Letter, .5.iill Order, ill Order on Motion to Amend/Correct, lli Order, ill Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, ill Letter, .8l6 Letter, 5.4.5. Letter, ill Trial Brief, fi6.6. Order, 265. Jury 
Trial, 3..Q1 Motion for Bill of Particulars, 2.5. Letter, ill Letter, lQl) Letter, .14l Reply to 
Response, 2iQ Reply to Response, ill Order, .622. Notice (Other), Notice (Other), 14.8. Notice 
of Att()rney Appearance - Defendant, ill NOTICE of Change of AddressIFirrnlEmail, .822 
Letter, 2. Warrant Issued, 2.1i Status Conference, 437 Letter, 12 Order on Motion for Leave to 
Appear" il Bond Hearing" ill Letter, Kill Order, 144 Order Adopting Report and 
Recommendations" lli Order, 2Q2 Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, llli2 Letter, 2..8..8. Letter, 
m~m~ill~m~2n~m~548~~~ 
:!2.Q Affidavit, ill Letter, ill Response in Opposition, 12.6 Letter, l21 Order to Continue -
Ends of Justice, ill Letter, ~ Forfeiture Hearing, Bond Hearing, lli Letter, RQ2 Letter, 
ill Letter, ill Order, m Pretrial Memorandum, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 12.8. Letter, lli 
Voir Dire Held", 182. Letter, ill Motion to Dismiss, 1fi2 Order, 2.2.3. Response in Opposition, 
ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Letter, 1QQ. Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Jury Trial, lli 
Voir Dire Held" ill Order, ill Letter, 12..8. Letter, Q Detention Hearing, ill Motion 
Hearing, li3. Order, lQll Order, 21M Order, M.5. Order, ill Jury Trial, 'l1fJ. Jury Instructions, 
ill Reply to Response, ill Motion to Unseal Document, 32..2 Motion to Bifurcate, 255 
Letter, .821: Letter, :l1 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Motion Hearing, 494 Proposed 
Jury Instructions, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, Jill.6. Order, :!:2Q Letter, ±.3. Order on Motion to 
Compel" 3Jl. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.6.5. Order" Jill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 1Q1 
Letter, m Letter, l5l2. Order" ill Order, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Letter, 11 Status 
Conference", ill Letter, Q12 Letter, ill Memorandum in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Letter, 
1 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ilQ Letter, lQ1 Certificate of Service, ill 
Letter, 11. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 2ilii Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, .l.2.Q Letter, ill Memorandum in Support, l6.8. Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, 11 Certificate of Service, 44Q Order, ill Letter, ill 
Jury Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, Jill!t Order, .51.Q Order, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Voir 
Dire Held" l8. Certificate of Service, ill Jury Trial, 442 Letter, 21 Certificate of Service, ill 
Letter, .21 Letter, ill Certificate of Service, 226 Letter, m Letter, Q2.Q Letter, QlQ Jury Trial, 
.8!!:.8. Letter, 2.QQ Letter, :MQ Jury Trial, 2.15. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 2.2ll. 
Letter, ill Status Conference, m Order, ill Order, 12.3. Letter, ill Affidavit, 244 Letter, 
l5. Pretrial Memorandum, 465 Jury Trial, lll. Letter, 11D. Motion to Quash, .6Ji5. Letter, ill 
Letter, ill Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, ID Letter, ill Order, ill Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, ill Letter, l2.O. Order, Q.82. Jury Trial, ill Reply to Response, 5.4fi Letter, 
ill Affidavit, ill Order, 31.Q Response in Opposition, .8..8.3. Order, ill Motion Hearing, ::1..82. 
Evidentiary Hearing, .8.3.4 Letter, m Jury Trial, QJill Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Order, 
ill Letter, £2Q Letter, 2.22. Order, 5.1 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, QQ1 Jury 
Trial, ±5. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2A2. Evidentiary Hearing, ill Order, lli Order, 
2.Jill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, ill Order" ill Letter, ill Letter, llQ Reply to 
Response, .15. Order on Motion to Compel" ill Letter, 52 Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, £62. Letter, ill Letter, ill Letter, 124 Letter, .82.8. Order, 11Q Order, .8Jill Letter, ill 
Motion for Extension of Time to File, QQl Order, .6.6l Response in Opposition, 225 Pretrial 
Memorandum, 2..8. Order""" ill Letter, 2.5. Indictment (Sealed), Indictment (Sealed), 429 
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of Detention, ill Letter, ill Proposed Jury Instructions, 18.2 Status Conference, ill Jury 
Trial, R3. Order on Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad testificandum, l21 Letter" ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ill Status Conference, 142 Letter, 2il1 Letter, ill Certificate of Service, 
L1:l Letter, 2.8.6: Letter, 2Jl2 Response in Opposition, 22. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 
lli Letter, ru Letter, ill Order, ill Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 10. Letter, 22i 
Response in Opposition, ill Response in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Response in 
Opposition, 632 Letter, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, ± Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea 
Entered, Set Hearings"""" 21 Status Conference" ill Letter, m Letter, 218. Order", 10. 
Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 544 Letter, m Letter, 44Q Letter, 22. Notice 
(Other), :!Q Status Conference, 21 Letter, 2Q.5. Letter, 2ll.Q Letter, :li6. Evidentiary Hearing, 
1Q1 Reply to Response, ill Letter, ill Letter, 3..8.2 Letter, ill Letter, 3.4Q Affidavit, ±2.Q 
Letter, £llil Letter, .5.iill Order, ill Order on Motion to Amend/Correct, lli Order, ill Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, ill Letter, .8l6 Letter, 5.4.5. Letter, ill Trial Brief, fi6.6. Order, 265. Jury 
Trial, 3..Q1 Motion for Bill of Particulars, 2.5. Letter, ill Letter, lQl) Letter, .14l Reply to 
Response, 2iQ Reply to Response, ill Order, .622. Notice (Other), Notice (Other), 14.8. Notice 
of Att()rney Appearance - Defendant, ill NOTICE of Change of AddressIFirrnlEmail, .822 
Letter, 2. Warrant Issued, 2.1i Status Conference, 437 Letter, 12 Order on Motion for Leave to 
Appear" il Bond Hearing" ill Letter, Kill Order, 144 Order Adopting Report and 
Recommendations" lli Order, 2Q2 Notice of Appeal - Interlocutory, llli2 Letter, 2..8..8. Letter, 
m~m~ill~m~2n~m~548~~~ 
:!2.Q Affidavit, ill Letter, ill Response in Opposition, 12.6 Letter, l21 Order to Continue -
Ends of Justice, ill Letter, ~ Forfeiture Hearing, Bond Hearing, lli Letter, RQ2 Letter, 
ill Letter, ill Order, m Pretrial Memorandum, ill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 12.8. Letter, lli 
Voir Dire Held", 182. Letter, ill Motion to Dismiss, 1fi2 Order, 2.2.3. Response in Opposition, 
ill Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Letter, 1QQ. Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill Jury Trial, lli 
Voir Dire Held" ill Order, ill Letter, 12..8. Letter, Q Detention Hearing, ill Motion 
Hearing, li3. Order, lQll Order, 21M Order, M.5. Order, ill Jury Trial, 'l1fJ. Jury Instructions, 
ill Reply to Response, ill Motion to Unseal Document, 32..2 Motion to Bifurcate, 255 
Letter, .821: Letter, :l1 Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Motion Hearing, 494 Proposed 
Jury Instructions, ill Order, ill Jury Trial, Jill.6. Order, :!:2Q Letter, ±.3. Order on Motion to 
Compel" 3Jl. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2.6.5. Order" Jill Letter, ill Jury Trial, 1Q1 
Letter, m Letter, l5l2. Order" ill Order, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Letter, 11 Status 
Conference", ill Letter, Q12 Letter, ill Memorandum in Opposition, ill Letter, ill Letter, 
1 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ilQ Letter, lQ1 Certificate of Service, ill 
Letter, 11. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 2ilii Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, .l.2.Q Letter, ill Memorandum in Support, l6.8. Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, 11 Certificate of Service, 44Q Order, ill Letter, ill 
Jury Trial, ill Motion to Dismiss, Jill!t Order, .51.Q Order, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Voir 
Dire Held" l8. Certificate of Service, ill Jury Trial, 442 Letter, 21 Certificate of Service, ill 
Letter, .21 Letter, ill Certificate of Service, 226 Letter, m Letter, Q2.Q Letter, QlQ Jury Trial, 
.8!!:.8. Letter, 2.QQ Letter, :MQ Jury Trial, 2.15. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 2.2ll. 
Letter, ill Status Conference, m Order, ill Order, 12.3. Letter, ill Affidavit, 244 Letter, 
l5. Pretrial Memorandum, 465 Jury Trial, lll. Letter, 11D. Motion to Quash, .6Ji5. Letter, ill 
Letter, ill Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, ill Letter, ID Letter, ill Order, ill Jury 
Trial, ill Letter, ill Letter, l2.O. Order, Q.82. Jury Trial, ill Reply to Response, 5.4fi Letter, 
ill Affidavit, ill Order, 31.Q Response in Opposition, .8..8.3. Order, ill Motion Hearing, ::1..82. 
Evidentiary Hearing, .8.3.4 Letter, m Jury Trial, QJill Letter, ill Letter, ill Order, ill Order, 
ill Letter, £2Q Letter, 2.22. Order, 5.1 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, QQ1 Jury 
Trial, ±5. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 2A2. Evidentiary Hearing, ill Order, lli Order, 
2.Jill Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, ill Order" ill Letter, ill Letter, llQ Reply to 
Response, .15. Order on Motion to Compel" ill Letter, 52 Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, £62. Letter, ill Letter, ill Letter, 124 Letter, .82.8. Order, 11Q Order, .8Jill Letter, ill 
Motion for Extension of Time to File, QQl Order, .6.6l Response in Opposition, 225 Pretrial 
Memorandum, 2..8. Order""" ill Letter, 2.5. Indictment (Sealed), Indictment (Sealed), 429 
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Letter, lQl Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea Entered""" rn Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ::11.Q Letter, .8. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 11 Order of 
Detention, 3..2l Order, .'!:Q4 Letter, .2li.8. Evidentiary Hearing, ±l6. Order, ill Jury Trial, Jilll 
Notice (Other), ill Letter, ill Order, M Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 11 
Letter, 747 Order, n Motion for Discovery, ill Order, ill Response in Opposition, 1.2Q 
Letter, ill Motion to Quash, ill Letter, .'lli2. Jury Trial, l32 Jury Trial, Jili.Q Letter, 1£2 
Motion to Continue, tilll Letter, 1Jii Letter, 642 Response in Opposition, m Response to 
Motion, m Letter, 532 Order, ill Certificate of Service, .8..8. Response in Opposition, 1Q2 
Letter, Z4{l Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, .8.16. Evidentiary Hearing, 2Q1 Order, lli Letter, 
.8l\.2. Letter, ill Motion to Compel, 1Q.8. Jury Verdict, ill Letter, 892 Order, ill Letter, ill 
Order, ill Order on Motion for Forfeiture of Property, Jll.8. Letter, ill Order on Motion for 
Forfeiture of Property, 2li Order to Unseal Indictment, 2fi Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, ill Letter, 42l Letter, 2fi.8. Letter, 3..Q.8. Order, 3..8.Q Motion for Forfeiture of Property, 
m Letter, 4..Q± Letter, .2.J.2 Evidentiary Hearing, Sentencing""""""" ill Order, 2.Q Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, 14Q Jury Trial, ill Letter, .222 Order, .8.6. Motion for 
Reconsideration, 122 Jury Trial, ill Letter, l8.6 Response to Motion, ill Proposed Voir 
Dire, ill Letter, lQ5. Order to Unseal Document, ill Letter,.8.M Order, ill Letter, 781 CJA 
20 - Authorization to Pay, Sealed, 354 Order, ill Transcript, m Letter, 353 Motion 
Hearing"" 12.1 Order, l.8..Q Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, W Letter, 412 Letter, 114 
Motion for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, 204 Letter, 2M Order, 350 Notice of 
Attorney Appearance - USA, II Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, l2fi 
Letter, ill Certificate of Service, 15fJ. Order, ll3..Q Order, 22± Motion for Discovery, Motion 
for Hearing, .5.lll Letter, 3..Q2 Motion Hearing, 12.4 Letter, .6.8. Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice, 
ill Applicable Party, Terminate Deadlines, Terminate Deadlines and Hearings, Terminate 
Hearings, Allocution, Jury Trial, ill Letter, 44.8. Order, 6ll.8. Order, Jill. Letter, H Pretrial 
Memorandum, :u.s. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 252 Letter, 3..2l! Letter, ill Letter, 3..2 
Status Conference, 2.2.8. Order, 2.Q2 Letter, ill Status Conference, ill Order, ill Letter, 4.2.5. 
Letter, 51 Status Conference, lQ4 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, iQQ Motion 
for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, 55 Status Conference, .822 Order, Jill..8. 
Forfeiture Hearing, ill Letter, R5. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Order, 
ill Order" ill Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Motion to Quash, n 
Transcript, ill Letter, 2Jl.Q Letter, !M Response in Opposition, 151 Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill 
Order, For docket entries without a hyperlink, contact the court and we'll arrange for the 
document(s) to be made available to you. (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 05114/2010) 

05112/2010 ill NOTICE OF APPEAL by Rodney Morrison re ill Judgment""", Filing fee $ 455, REC. 
N0.4653014783 (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 0511412010) 

05118/2010 .2.1ii Letter Requesting Designation Recommendation as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 05118/2010) 

05/2412010 ill NOTICE PROPOSED ORDER of FORFEITURE, as to Rodney Morrison and certain 
property the government intends to forfeit. as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, 
Diane) (Entered: 05/2412010) 

05/24/2010 ORDER ill Notice :Preliminary order of forfeiture is So Ordered. 5 certified copies 
forwarded to AUSA Diane Beckmann. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5/24/2010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05124/2010) 

0610112010 ill PROCESS RECEIPT AND RETURN for ill Order Releasing Restrain Assets, returned 
executed by the U.S. Marshals Service for USA by: Benton J. Campbell, United States 
Attorney, as to Rodney Morrison re ill Order; Special Instructions: Please execute the 
attached Order Releasing Restrained Assets: 06-FBI-004270, 06-FBI-004276; 06-FBI-
004277; Date of Service: 5/26/2010, by service upon: L. Tong, IRS Officer; Remarks: Assets 
turned over to IRS Officer L. Tong Per IRS Seizure Order. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
0610112010) 
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Letter, lQl Arraignment, Initial Appearance, Plea Entered""" rn Letter, ill Letter, ill 
Motion to Dismiss, ::11.Q Letter, .8. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 11 Order of 
Detention, 3..2l Order, .'!:Q4 Letter, .2li.8. Evidentiary Hearing, ±l6. Order, ill Jury Trial, Jilll 
Notice (Other), ill Letter, ill Order, M Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, 11 
Letter, 747 Order, n Motion for Discovery, ill Order, ill Response in Opposition, 1.2Q 
Letter, ill Motion to Quash, ill Letter, .'lli2. Jury Trial, l32 Jury Trial, Jili.Q Letter, 1£2 
Motion to Continue, tilll Letter, 1Jii Letter, 642 Response in Opposition, m Response to 
Motion, m Letter, 532 Order, ill Certificate of Service, .8..8. Response in Opposition, 1Q2 
Letter, Z4{l Evidentiary Hearing, ill Letter, .8.16. Evidentiary Hearing, 2Q1 Order, lli Letter, 
.8l\.2. Letter, ill Motion to Compel, 1Q.8. Jury Verdict, ill Letter, 892 Order, ill Letter, ill 
Order, ill Order on Motion for Forfeiture of Property, Jll.8. Letter, ill Order on Motion for 
Forfeiture of Property, 2li Order to Unseal Indictment, 2fi Order to Continue - Ends of 
Justice, ill Letter, 42l Letter, 2fi.8. Letter, 3..Q.8. Order, 3..8.Q Motion for Forfeiture of Property, 
m Letter, 4..Q± Letter, .2.J.2 Evidentiary Hearing, Sentencing""""""" ill Order, 2.Q Order to 
Continue - Ends of Justice, 14Q Jury Trial, ill Letter, .222 Order, .8.6. Motion for 
Reconsideration, 122 Jury Trial, ill Letter, l8.6 Response to Motion, ill Proposed Voir 
Dire, ill Letter, lQ5. Order to Unseal Document, ill Letter,.8.M Order, ill Letter, 781 CJA 
20 - Authorization to Pay, Sealed, 354 Order, ill Transcript, m Letter, 353 Motion 
Hearing"" 12.1 Order, l.8..Q Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, W Letter, 412 Letter, 114 
Motion for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, 204 Letter, 2M Order, 350 Notice of 
Attorney Appearance - USA, II Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Letter, l2fi 
Letter, ill Certificate of Service, 15fJ. Order, ll3..Q Order, 22± Motion for Discovery, Motion 
for Hearing, .5.lll Letter, 3..Q2 Motion Hearing, 12.4 Letter, .6.8. Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice, 
ill Applicable Party, Terminate Deadlines, Terminate Deadlines and Hearings, Terminate 
Hearings, Allocution, Jury Trial, ill Letter, 44.8. Order, 6ll.8. Order, Jill. Letter, H Pretrial 
Memorandum, :u.s. Order to Continue - Ends of Justice, 252 Letter, 3..2l! Letter, ill Letter, 3..2 
Status Conference, 2.2.8. Order, 2.Q2 Letter, ill Status Conference, ill Order, ill Letter, 4.2.5. 
Letter, 51 Status Conference, lQ4 Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, iQQ Motion 
for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply, 55 Status Conference, .822 Order, Jill..8. 
Forfeiture Hearing, ill Letter, R5. Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Order, 
ill Order" ill Notice of Attorney Appearance - Defendant, ill Motion to Quash, n 
Transcript, ill Letter, 2Jl.Q Letter, !M Response in Opposition, 151 Letter, ill Jury Trial, ill 
Order, For docket entries without a hyperlink, contact the court and we'll arrange for the 
document(s) to be made available to you. (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 05114/2010) 

05112/2010 ill NOTICE OF APPEAL by Rodney Morrison re ill Judgment""", Filing fee $ 455, REC. 
N0.4653014783 (Romano, Daniel) (Entered: 0511412010) 

05118/2010 .2.1ii Letter Requesting Designation Recommendation as to Rodney Morrison (Levitt, Richard) 
(Entered: 05118/2010) 

05/2412010 ill NOTICE PROPOSED ORDER of FORFEITURE, as to Rodney Morrison and certain 
property the government intends to forfeit. as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, 
Diane) (Entered: 05/2412010) 

05/24/2010 ORDER ill Notice :Preliminary order of forfeiture is So Ordered. 5 certified copies 
forwarded to AUSA Diane Beckmann. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 
5/24/2010. (Best, Patricia) (Entered: 05124/2010) 

0610112010 ill PROCESS RECEIPT AND RETURN for ill Order Releasing Restrain Assets, returned 
executed by the U.S. Marshals Service for USA by: Benton J. Campbell, United States 
Attorney, as to Rodney Morrison re ill Order; Special Instructions: Please execute the 
attached Order Releasing Restrained Assets: 06-FBI-004270, 06-FBI-004276; 06-FBI-
004277; Date of Service: 5/26/2010, by service upon: L. Tong, IRS Officer; Remarks: Assets 
turned over to IRS Officer L. Tong Per IRS Seizure Order. (Fagan, Linda) (Entered: 
0610112010) 

file:// INlljrniskiewicz/Rodney%20Morrison/ Appeals/ram%20dkt%20sheet.htm[9/8/20 1 0 5 :03: 13 PM] 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 154    09/17/2010    108283    314



Eastern District of New York - Live Database Version 4.0.3 

06/0112010 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re .2.l6. Letter: The Court declines to make the requested 
recommendation. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 61112010. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 06/0112010) 

07/2112010 2.l.2 NOTICE Declaration of Publication for criminal forfeiture as to Rodney Morrison 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 07/2112010) 

08/02/2010 ml MOTION for Release of Funds by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1, Letter 
dated July 8,2010 from DOJ to Swiss Authorities, # 2 Exhibit 2, Letter dated July 13,2010 
from Swiss Authorities to Morrison's Counsel (with translation), # 3. Proposed Order) (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 08/02/2010) 

08/02/2010 221. SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT by USA as to Rodney Morrison ill Judgment,,,,,,, 
(Perlin, Bonni) (Entered: 08/02/2010) 

08/05/2010 .222. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to respectfUlly request until August 9,2010 to 
respond to defendant's motion dated August 2,2010 as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-
Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 08/05/2010) 

08/05/2010 ORDER re .222. : The government's request for an extension to August 9, 2010 to submit a 
written response to defendant's August 2, 2010 aplication is hereby GRANTED. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/5/2010. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 08/05/2010) 

08/09/2010 223. Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 08/09/2010) 

08110/2010 ORDER re 223.: The government's request for a second extension to August 11,2010 to 
submit a written response to defendant's August 2, 2010 application is hereby GRANTED. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 811012010. (Monaco, Laura) (Entered: 
08110/2010) 

0811112010 m: Letter response in opposition to defendant's motion to release fonds as to Rodney Morrison 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 0811112010) 

0811112010 ORDER re m:: Should Defendant wish to submit a reply to the Government's August 11, 
2010 letter, such reply must be filed no later than August 18,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 811112010. (Monaco, Laura) (Entered: 0811112010) 

08118/2010 .225. LETTER Application for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to Order by Rodney 
Morrison. (Levitt, Richard) Modified on 8119/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 08118/2010) 

08118/2010 ORDER re .225. : The defendant's LETTER application for an extension of time to August 20, 
2010 to file a Reply is GRANTED on consent of the government. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 8118/2010. Modified on 8119/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 08118/2010) 

08/20/2010 mi REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion re ml MOTION for Release of Funds (Attachments: # 1 
Exhibit A, # 2 Exhibit B, # 3. Exhibit C, # .4 Exhibit D, #.5. Exhibit E, # Q Exhibit F) (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 08/20/2010) 

08/20/2010 ORDER re mi : Defendant is directed to submit a courtesy copy of his most recent Reply to 
Chambers forthwith. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 812012010. (Entered: 
08/20/20 I 0) 

08/24/2010 221. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to respectfUlly request until September 3,2010 to 
respond to defendant's motion as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) 
(Entered: 08/24/20 I 0) 

08/24/2010 ORDER re 221. : The government's request to file a written response to defendant's August 
20,2010 letter is GRANTED. The government's written response must be filed on or before 
September 3, 2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R Hurley on 8/2412010. (Monaco, Laura) 
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06/0112010 ORDER as to Rodney Morrison re .2.l6. Letter: The Court declines to make the requested 
recommendation. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 61112010. (Best, Patricia) 
(Entered: 06/0112010) 

07/2112010 2.l.2 NOTICE Declaration of Publication for criminal forfeiture as to Rodney Morrison 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 07/2112010) 

08/02/2010 ml MOTION for Release of Funds by Rodney Morrison. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1, Letter 
dated July 8,2010 from DOJ to Swiss Authorities, # 2 Exhibit 2, Letter dated July 13,2010 
from Swiss Authorities to Morrison's Counsel (with translation), # 3. Proposed Order) (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 08/02/2010) 

08/02/2010 221. SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT by USA as to Rodney Morrison ill Judgment,,,,,,, 
(Perlin, Bonni) (Entered: 08/02/2010) 

08/05/2010 .222. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to respectfUlly request until August 9,2010 to 
respond to defendant's motion dated August 2,2010 as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-
Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 08/05/2010) 

08/05/2010 ORDER re .222. : The government's request for an extension to August 9, 2010 to submit a 
written response to defendant's August 2, 2010 aplication is hereby GRANTED. Ordered by 
Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 8/5/2010. (Lanin, Debbie) (Entered: 08/05/2010) 

08/09/2010 223. Letter as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 08/09/2010) 

08110/2010 ORDER re 223.: The government's request for a second extension to August 11,2010 to 
submit a written response to defendant's August 2, 2010 application is hereby GRANTED. 
Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 811012010. (Monaco, Laura) (Entered: 
08110/2010) 

0811112010 m: Letter response in opposition to defendant's motion to release fonds as to Rodney Morrison 
(Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) (Entered: 0811112010) 

0811112010 ORDER re m:: Should Defendant wish to submit a reply to the Government's August 11, 
2010 letter, such reply must be filed no later than August 18,2010. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 811112010. (Monaco, Laura) (Entered: 0811112010) 

08118/2010 .225. LETTER Application for Extension of Time to File ResponselReply as to Order by Rodney 
Morrison. (Levitt, Richard) Modified on 8119/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 08118/2010) 

08118/2010 ORDER re .225. : The defendant's LETTER application for an extension of time to August 20, 
2010 to file a Reply is GRANTED on consent of the government. Ordered by Senior Judge 
Denis R. Hurley on 8118/2010. Modified on 8119/2010 (Fagan, Linda). (Entered: 08118/2010) 

08/20/2010 mi REPLY TO RESPONSE to Motion re ml MOTION for Release of Funds (Attachments: # 1 
Exhibit A, # 2 Exhibit B, # 3. Exhibit C, # .4 Exhibit D, #.5. Exhibit E, # Q Exhibit F) (Levitt, 
Richard) (Entered: 08/20/2010) 

08/20/2010 ORDER re mi : Defendant is directed to submit a courtesy copy of his most recent Reply to 
Chambers forthwith. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R. Hurley on 812012010. (Entered: 
08/20/20 I 0) 

08/24/2010 221. Letter to the Honorable Denis R. Hurley to respectfUlly request until September 3,2010 to 
respond to defendant's motion as to Rodney Morrison (Leonardo-Beckmann, Diane) 
(Entered: 08/24/20 I 0) 

08/24/2010 ORDER re 221. : The government's request to file a written response to defendant's August 
20,2010 letter is GRANTED. The government's written response must be filed on or before 
September 3, 2010. Ordered by Senior Judge Denis R Hurley on 8/2412010. (Monaco, Laura) 
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FILED 

RPD: JMM: jrrun 

IN CLERK'S OFFICE . 
U.S. DISTRICT COURT E.D.N.V 

F. #2004R00494 * JUl 11 2006 * UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

LONG ISLAND OFFICE 
- x 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

- against -

RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

Defendant. 

- - - - - - - - - - - X 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

SUP E R SED I N G 
I N D I C T MEN T 

Cr. No. 04-699 (S-2) (DRH) 
(T. 18, U.S.C., §§ 
844(h)(1),844(i), 
894(a)(2),922(g)(1), 
924 (a) (2), 924 (d), 1958, 
1962(c), 1962(d), 1963, 
2 and 3551 II seq.) 

INTRODUCTION TO ALL COUNTS 

At all times relevant to this Superseding Indictment, 

unless otherwise indicated: 

The Enterprise 

1. Peace Pipe Smoke Shop ("Peace Pipe") was a 

partnership formed under the laws of the State of New York, with 

a principal place of business located at 9 Squaw Lane, Mastic, 

New York. Peace Pipe sold cartons and cases of cigarettes that 

bore no evidence of the payment of applicable New York State 

excise or local sales taxes. Peace Pipe also operated over the 

Internet under the name smokersden.com. 

2. The defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON was a 

managing partner and owner of Peace Pipe and its Internet 

business. MORRISON hired employees of peace Pipe, as well as 
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associates whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, to carry 

out criminal acts for the benefit of Peace Pipe. 

3. Peace Pipe and smokersden.com, including its 

employees and associates, and the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO 

MORRISON (hereinafter the "Enterprise") constituted an 

"enterprise" as that term is defined in Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1961(4), that is, a group of individuals and 

entities associated in fact. The Enterprise, which operated in 

the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, was engaged in, 

and its activities affected, interstate .and foreign commerce. 

The Enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members 

and associates functioned as a continuing unit for the common 

purpose of achieving the objectives of the Enterprise. 

The Purposes, Methods and Means of the Enterprise 

4. The principal purpose of the Enterprise was to 

generate money for the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON and his 

associates. This purpose was implemented by the defendant and 

associates of the Enterprise through various legal and illegal 

activities, including murder, assault, abduction, arson, robbery, 

extortion, and tax evasion. 

5. The members and associates of the Enterprise 

sought, among other things, to: 

-2-
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a. Enrich the defendant and associates of the 

Enterprise through the trafficking of un-taxed contraband 

cigarettes in interstate commerce; 

b. Preserve and protect the power, territory and 

profits of the Enterprise through the use of intimidation, 

violence and threats of violence; and 

c. Keep victims in fear of the Enterprise and its 

members and associates through violence, intimidation, and 

threats of violence. 

6. The defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON and other 

members and associates of the Enterprise participated in the 

conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise by the fallowing means 

and methods: committing and threatening to commit crimes, 

including murder, assault, abduction and arson, to protect and 

expand the Enterprise's operations. 

Role of the Defendant 

7. The defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON participated 

in the leadership, management and operation of the Enterprise by, 

among other things: 

a. Controlling the operations of Peace Pipe and 

smokersden.com; 

b. Controlling the disposition of profits from the 

operation of the Enterprise; 

-3-
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c. Employing other individuals to assist the 

Enterprise in its operations and activities; and 

d. Participating in the commission of various 

criminal acts of the Enterprise. 

COUNT ONE 
(Racketeering) 

B. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are rea11eged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

9. In or about and between October 1996 and September 

2004, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the 

EasLern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY 

ARNOLDO MORRISON, together with others, being a person employed 

by and associated with the Enterprise, an enterprise which 

engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and 

foreign commerce, knowingly and intentionally conducted and 

participated, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the 

affairs of that enterprise through a pattern of racketeering 

activity, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, SecLions 

1961(1) and 1961(5), consisting of the racketeering acts set 

forth below. 

10. for each racketeering act alleged, the commission 

of anyone of the racketeering act's subparts constitutes 

commission of that racketeering act. 
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RACKETEERING ACT ONE 
(Conspiracy to Obstruct Commerce by Robbery/ 

Obstruction of Commerce By Robbery) 

A. Robbery Conspiracy 

11. In or about March 1999, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to 

obstruct, delay and affect commerce and the movement of articles 

and commodities in commerCe by robbery, to wit: the rObbery of 

Monique's Variety Store and Smoke Shop, located in Mastic, New 

York, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1951(a). 

B. Robbery 

12. On or about March 10, 1999, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, did knowingly and intentionally obstruct, 

delay and affect commerce and the movement of articles and 

commodities in commerce by robbery, to wit: the robbery of 

Monique's Variety Store and Smoke Shop, located in Mastic, New 

York, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 

1951(a) and 2. 

-5-
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RACKETEERING ACT TWO 
(Extortionate Punishment For Nonrepayment of Credit/Arson 

Conspiracy/Arson) 

A. Conspiracy To Use Extortionate Means 
To Punish Nonrepayment of Credit 

13. In or about February 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally conspired to 

participate in the use of extortionate means to punish Jane Doe 

#1, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, for 

the nonrepayment of an extension of credit, in violation of Title 

18, United States Code, Section 894 (a) (2) . 

B. Use Of Extortionate Means 
To Punish Nonrepayment of Credit 

14. On or about February 9, 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally participated in 

the use of extortionate means to punish Jane Doe #1 for the 

non repayment of an extension of credit, in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Sections 894(a) (2) and ~. 

C. Arson Conspiracy 

15. In Or about February 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally conspired to 

damage a motor vehicle, to wit: a 1990 Nissan 300ZX owned by Jane 

-6-
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Doe #1, by starting a fire, in violation of New York Penal Law 

Sections 150.10 and 105.10. 

D. Arson 

16. On or about February 9, 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally damaged a motor 

vehicle, to wit: a 1990 Nissan 300ZX owned by Jane Doe #1, by 

starting a fire, in violation of New York Penal Law Sections 

150.10 and 20.00. 

RACKETEERING ACT THREE 
(Ose and Conspiracy to Ose Interstate Facilities In The 
Commission of Murder for Hire/Murder Conspiracy/Murder) 

A. Conspiracy To Ose Interstate Facilities In The 
Commission of Murder for Hire 

17. In or about November 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally 

conspired to travel in interstate and foreign commerce and to use 

and cause another to use a facility in interstate commerce, with 

intent that a murder be committed, in violation of Section 

125.25(1) of the New York Penal Law, as consideration for the 

receipt of, and as consideration for a promise and agreement to 

pay, something of pecuniary value, and the death of Sherwin Henry 

did result, in violation of Title 18, Onited States Code, Section 

1958. 
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B. Use of Int·erstate Facilities In The Corrunission of 
Murder for Hire 

18. In or about November 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally 

traveled in interstate and foreign corrunerce and used and caused 

another to use a facility in interstate commerce, with intent 

that a murder be committed, in violation of Section 125.25(1) of 

the New York Penal Law, as consideration for the receipt of, and 

as consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, something of 

pecuniary value, and the death of Sherwin Henry did result, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1958 and 2. 

C. Murder Conspiracy 

19. In or about November 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally 

conspired to cause the death of Sherwin Henry, in violation of 

New York Penal Law Sections 125.25(1) and 105.15. 

D. Murder 

20. On or about November 13, 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa 

MORRISON, together with others, with intent to cause the death of 

Sherwin Henry, caused his death, in violation of New York Penal 

Law Sections 125.25(1) and 20.00. 
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RACKETEERING ACTS FOUR THROUGH EIGHTY 
(Trafficking In Contraband Cigarettes) 

21. On or about the dates set forth below, within the 

Eastern District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally sold 

and distributed contraband cigarettes, to wit: the approximate 

quantity of cigarettes set forth below, lacking valid New York 

State. tax stamps, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Sections 2342{a) and 2. 

RACKETEERING DATE APPROXIMATE QUANTITY OF 
ACT CIGARETTES SOLD 

FOUR 1/8/97 130,400 

FIVE 5/2/03 102,600 

SIX 5/4/03 90,000 

SEVEN 5/7 /03 94,000 

EIGHT 10/6/03 69,600 

NINE 11/1/03 74,400 

TEN 11/15/03 62,600 

ELEVEN J.2/l/03 93,600 

TWELVE 12/18/03 64,400 

THIRTEEN 12/30/03 77,800 

FOURTEEN 1/15/04 78,800 

FIFTEEN 2/19/04 109,400 

SIXTEEN 3/13/04 133,000 

SEVENTEEN 4/7/04 131,400 

EIGHTEEN 5/2/04 133,000 

NINETEEN 5/20/04 l31,400 

TWENTY 5/24/04 66,000 
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RACKETEERING DATE APPROXIMATE QUANTITY OF 
ACT CIGARETTES SOLD 

TWENTY-ONE 5/25/04 70,000 

TWENTY-TWO 6/7 /04 112,000 

TWENTY-THREE 6/8/04 66,000 

TWENTY-FOUR 6/10/04 125,600 

TWENTY-FIVE 6/10/04 83,000 

TWENTY-SIX 6111/04 63,000 

TWENTY-SEVEN 6/14/04 136,400 

TWENTY-EIGHT 6/14/04 74,000 

TWENTY-NINE 6/17/04 132,000 

THIRTY 6/19/04 114,400 

THIRTY-ONE 6/22/04 120,000 

THIRTY-TWO 6/24/04 70,000 

THIRTY-THREE 6/25/04 120,000 

THIRTY-FOUR 6/25/04 65,000 

THIRTY-FIVE 6/27/04 132,400 

THIRTY-SIX 6/28/04 62,000 

THIRTY-SEVEN 6/29/04 62,000 

THIRTY-EIGHT 6/29/04 142,400 

THIRTY-NINE 6/30/04 126,000 

FORTY 6/30/04 66,000 

FORTY-ONE 7/1/04 116,600 

FORTY-TWO 7/1/04 78,400 

FORTY-THREE 7/2/04 96,000 

FORTY-FOUR 7/3/04 144,000 

FORTY-FIVE 7/5/04 74,000 

FORTY-SIX 7/6/04 85,000 

FORTY-SEVEN 7/6/04 120,000 
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RACKETEERING DATE APPROXIMATE QUANTITY OF 
ACT CIGARETTES SOLD 
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TWENTY-THREE 6/8/04 66,000 
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TWENTY-EIGHT 6/14/04 74,000 

TWENTY-NINE 6/17/04 132,000 

THIRTY 6/19/04 114,400 

THIRTY-ONE 6/22/04 120,000 

THIRTY-TWO 6/24/04 70,000 

THIRTY-THREE 6/25/04 120,000 

THIRTY-FOUR 6/25/04 65,000 

THIRTY-FIVE 6/27/04 132,400 

THIRTY-SIX 6/28/04 62,000 

THIRTY-SEVEN 6/29/04 62,000 

THIRTY-EIGHT 6/29/04 142,400 

THIRTY-NINE 6/30/04 126,000 

FORTY 6/30/04 66,000 

FORTY-ONE 7/1/04 116,600 

FORTY-TWO 7/1/04 78,400 

FORTY-THREE 7/2/04 96,000 

FORTY-FOUR 7/3/04 144,000 

FORTY-FIVE 7/5/04 74,000 

FORTY-SIX 7/6/04 85,000 

FORTY-SEVEN 7/6/04 120,000 
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RACKETEERING DATE APPROXIMATE QUANTITY OF 
ACT CIGARETTES SOLD 

FORTY-EIGHT 7/7 /04 138,000 

FORTY-NINE 7/9/04 168,000 

FIFTY 7/9/04 132,000 

FIFTY-ONE 7/10/04 103,200 

FIFTY-TWO 7/12/04 138,000 

FI FTY-THREE 7/12/04 162,000 

FIFTY-FOUR 7/14/04 102,800 

FIFTY-FIVE 7/14/04 156,400 

FIFTY-SIX 7/15/04 178,000 

FIFTY-SEVEN 7/15/04 132,400 

FIFTY-EIGHT 7/16/04 150,000 

FIFTY-NINE 7/17 /04 131,600 

SIXTY 7/18/04 72,000 
I 

SIXTY-ONE 7/19/04 135,000 

SIXTY-TWO 7/20/04 160,000 

SIXTY-THREE 7/21/04 134,000 

SIXTY-FOUR 7/21/04 128,600 

SIXTY-FIVE 7/22/04 152,000 

SIXTY-SIX 7/23/04 132,200 

SIXTY-SEVEN 7/23/04 164,000 

SIXTY-EIGHT 7/24/04 138,000 

SIXTY-NINE 7/25/04 143,000 

SEVENTY 7/25/04 126,000 

SEVENTY-ONE 7/26/04 124,000 

SEVENTY-TWO 7/28/04 120,000 

SEVENTY-THREE 7/28/04 147,000 

SEVENTY-FOUR 7/29/04 154,200 
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RACKETEERING DATE APPROXIMATE QUANTITY OF 
ACT CIGARETTES SOLD 
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RACKETEERING DATE APPROXIMATE QUANTITY OF 
ACT CIGARETTES SOLD 

SEVENTY-FIVE 7/30/04 125,000 

SEVENTY-SIX 7/30/04 133,800 

SEVENTY-SEVEN 7/31/04 1 72,600 

SEVENTY-EIGHT 8/1/04 248,200 

SEVENTY-NINE 8/1/04 328,400 

EIGHTY 8/2/04 60,400 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1962(c), 1963 

and 3551 II .§..§g.) 

COUNT TWO 
(Racketeering Conspiracy) 

22. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 7 are 

realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

23. In or about and between October 1996 and September 

2004, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the 

Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY 

ARNOLDO MORRISON, together with others, being a person employed 

by and associated with the Enterprise, an enterprise that engaged 

in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign 

commerce, knowingly and intentionally conspired to violate Title 

18, United States Code, Section 1962(c), that is, to conduct and 

participate, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the 

affairs of that enterprise through a pattern of racketeering 
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RACKETEERING DATE APPROXIMATE QUANTITY OF 
ACT CIGARETTES SOLD 
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EIGHTY 8/2/04 60,400 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1962(c), 1963 

and 3551 II .§..§g.) 
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(Racketeering Conspiracy) 

22. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 7 are 

realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

23. In or about and between October 1996 and September 

2004, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the 

Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY 

ARNOLDO MORRISON, together with others, being a person employed 

by and associated with the Enterprise, an enterprise that engaged 

in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign 

commerce, knowingly and intentionally conspired to violate Title 

18, United States Code, Section 1962(c), that is, to conduct and 

participate, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the 

affairs of that enterprise through a pattern of racketeering 
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activity, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 

1961(1) and 1961(5). 

24. The pattern of racketeering activity through which 

the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa MORRISON, together with others, 

agreed to conduct the affairs of the Enterprise consisted of the 

acts set forth in paragraphs 11 through 21 of Count One, as 

racketeering acts one through eighty, which are rea1leged and 

incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph. The 

defendant agreed that a conspirator would commit at least two of 

these acts of racketeering in the conduct of the affairs of the 

enterprise. 

(Title 1B, United States Code, sections 1962(d), 1963 

and 3551 et ~.) 

COUNT THREE 
(Arson Conspiracy) 

25. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

26. In or about February 2000; within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly, intentionally and maliciously 

conspired to damage and destroy by means of a fire a vehicle used 

in an activity which affected interstate commerce, to wit: a 1990 
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and 3551 et ~.) 

COUNT THREE 
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7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 
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Nissan 300ZX, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 844 (i). 

et .§.§.g.) 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections B44(m) and 3551 

COUNT FOUR 
(Arson) 

27. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

28. On or about February 9, 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly, intentionally and maliciously 

damaged and destroyed by means of a fire a vehicle used in an 

activity which affected interstate commerce, to wit: a 1990 

Nissan 300ZX. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 844(i), 2 and 

3551 tl. .§.§.g.) 

COUNT FIVE 
(Conspiracy To Use Extortionate Means 

To Punish Nonrepayment of Credit) 

29. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

30. In or about February 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEYARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally conspired to 
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Nissan 300ZX, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 844 (i). 

et .§.§.g.) 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections B44(m) and 3551 

COUNT FOUR 
(Arson) 

27. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

28. On or about February 9, 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly, intentionally and maliciously 

damaged and destroyed by means of a fire a vehicle used in an 

activity which affected interstate commerce, to wit: a 1990 

Nissan 300ZX. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 844(i), 2 and 

3551 tl. .§.§.g.) 

COUNT FIVE 
(Conspiracy To Use Extortionate Means 

To Punish Nonrepayment of Credit) 

29. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

30. In or about February 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEYARNOLDO MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally conspired to 
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participate in the use of extortionate means to punish Jane Doe 

#1 for the nonrepayment of an extension of credit. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a) (2) and 

3551 II ~.) 

COUNT SIX 
(Extortionate Punishment For Nonrepayrnent of Credit) 

31. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

32. On or about February 9, 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally participated in 

the use of extortionate means to punish Jane Doe #1 for the 

nonrepayment of an extension of credit. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894 (a) (2), 2 

and 3551 et ~,) 

COUNT SEVEN 
(Use Of Fire To Commit A Felony) 

33, The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

34. On or about February 9, 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally used fire to 
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participate in the use of extortionate means to punish Jane Doe 

#1 for the nonrepayment of an extension of credit. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894(a) (2) and 

3551 II ~.) 

COUNT SIX 
(Extortionate Punishment For Nonrepayrnent of Credit) 

31. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 
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District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally participated in 
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nonrepayment of an extension of credit. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 894 (a) (2), 2 

and 3551 et ~,) 

COUNT SEVEN 
(Use Of Fire To Commit A Felony) 

33, The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

34. On or about February 9, 2000, within the Eastern 

District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa MORRISON, 

together with others, knowingly and intentionally used fire to 
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commit a felony, to wit: the crime charged in Count Six of this 

Superseding Indictment. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 844 (h) (1), 2 

and 3551 et rul.f[.) 

COUNT EIGHT 
(Illegal Possession Of A Firearm) 

35. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 throUgh 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

36. On or about and between September 2, 1999 and 

August 4, 2004, both dates being approximate and inclusive, 

within the Eastern District of New York, the defendant RODNEY 

ARNaLDa MORRISON, having previously been convicted in a court of 

a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, 

did knowingly and intentionally possess in and affecting commerce 

a firearm, to wit: a Glock model 26 9mm semi-automatic pistol, 

Serial Number DFC-566US. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922 (g) (1), 

924 (a) (2) and 3551 tl seq.) 

COUNT NINE 
(Illegal Possession Of A Firearm) 

37. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 
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paragraph. 
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a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, 

did knowingly and intentionally possess in and affecting commerce 

a firearm, to wit: a Glock model 26 9mm semi-automatic pistol, 

Serial Number DFC-566US. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922 (g) (1), 

924 (a) (2) and 3551 tl seq.) 
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38. On or about and between September 16, 1999 and 

August 4, 2004, both dates being approximate and inclusive, 

within the Eastern District of New York, the defendant RODNEY 

ARNaLDa MORRISON, having previously been convicted in a court of 

a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, 

did knowingly and intentionally possess in and affecting commerce 

a firearm, to wit: a Glock model 26 9rnm semi-automatic pistol, 

Serial Number DFB-265US. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922 (g) (l), 

924 (a) (2) and 3551 et gg.) 

COUNT TEN 
(Conspiracy To Use Interstate Facilities In The Commission of 

Murder for Hire) 

39. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

40. In or about November 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally 

conspired to travel in interstate and foreign commerce and to use 

and caUse another to use a facility in interstate commerce l with 

intent that a murder be committed, in violation of Section 

125.25(1) of the New York Penal Law, as consideration for the 

receipt of, and as consideration for a promise and agreement to 

pay, something of pecuniary value, and the death of Sherwin Henry 
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38. On or about and between September 16, 1999 and 
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within the Eastern District of New York, the defendant RODNEY 
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924 (a) (2) and 3551 et gg.) 

COUNT TEN 
(Conspiracy To Use Interstate Facilities In The Commission of 
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39. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

40. In or about November 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNaLDa 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally 

conspired to travel in interstate and foreign commerce and to use 

and caUse another to use a facility in interstate commerce l with 

intent that a murder be committed, in violation of Section 

125.25(1) of the New York Penal Law, as consideration for the 

receipt of, and as consideration for a promise and agreement to 

pay, something of pecuniary value, and the death of Sherwin Henry 
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did result. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1958 and 3551 

et ~.) 

COUNT ELEVEN 
(Use Of Interstate Facilities In The Commission Of 

Murder For Hire) 

41. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

42. In or about November 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally 

traveled in interstate and foreign commerce and used and caused 

another to use a facility in interstate commerce, with intent 

that a murder be committed, in violation of Section 125.25(1) of 

the New York Penal Law, as consideration for the receipt of, and 

as consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, something of 

pecuniary value, and the death of Sherwin Henry did result. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1958, 2 and 

3551 et ~.) 

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNTS ONE AND TWO 

43. The United States hereby gives notice to the 

defendant charged in Counts One and Two that, upon his conviction 

of any such offense, the government will seek forfeiture in 

accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963, which 
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did result. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1958 and 3551 

et ~.) 

COUNT ELEVEN 
(Use Of Interstate Facilities In The Commission Of 

Murder For Hire) 

41. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

7 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this 

paragraph. 

42. In or about November 2003, within the Eastern 

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO 

MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and intentionally 

traveled in interstate and foreign commerce and used and caused 

another to use a facility in interstate commerce, with intent 

that a murder be committed, in violation of Section 125.25(1) of 

the New York Penal Law, as consideration for the receipt of, and 

as consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, something of 

pecuniary value, and the death of Sherwin Henry did result. 
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3551 et ~.) 

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNTS ONE AND TWO 

43. The United States hereby gives notice to the 

defendant charged in Counts One and Two that, upon his conviction 
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accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963, which 
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requires any person convicted of such offenses to forfeit any 

property: 

a. the defendant has acquired an interest in and 

maintained in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1962, which interests are subject to forfeiture to the United 

States pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1963(a) (1); 

b. the defendant has an interest in, security of, 

claims against, and property and contractual rights that afford a 

source of influence over the enterprise that the defendant 

established, operated, controlled, conducted, and participated in 

the conduct of, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1962, which interests, securities, claims, and rights are 

subject to forfeiture to the United States pursuant to Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1963 (a) (2); 

c. the defendant derived from proceeds obtained, 

directly and indirectly, from racketeering activity, in violation 

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962, which property is 

subject to forfeiture to the United States pursuant to Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1963(a) (3), including but not limited 

to, the following: 

Money Judgment 

A sum of money equal to at least approximately 

$30 million in United States currency; 
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Specific Property 

(1) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

Banco De Costa Rica account number 3153673 held in the name of 

Rodney Morrison, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(2) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

Banco De Costa Rica account number 230426369 held in the name of 

Carlos Howden Pascal, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(3) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

Banco National account number 200020010079298 held in the name 

Sheron A. Brown, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(4) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

Banco De Costa Rica BCR investment accounts held in the name of 

Carlos H. PascalI, including, but not limited accounts described 

by the defendant as Fondo Internacional, Fondo Crecimiento, Fondo 

Trimestral (maturity date 12/20/06), Letra del Tesoro USA 

(maturity date 2/2/06), Letra del Tesoro USA (maturity 2/2/06), G 

bde08 (maturity date 1/31/08), G bde09 (maturity date 5/15/09), 

bearing Code number 12541-0, Custody Officer Juan Carlos Bolanos 

Azofeifa, and all proceeds traceable thereto: 
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(5) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises known as Reina's Restaurant located in 

Limon, Costa Rica, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(6) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises known as Turtle Relax located in Limon, 

Costa Rica, identification number L-0635609-2000, and all 

proceeds traceable thereto; 

(7) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises known as Riga's Market and Gift Shop 

located in Limon, Costa Rica, identification number L-03l8722-

1978, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(8) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises known as The Cliff located in Limon, Costa 

Rica, identification number L-0862370-l989, and all proceeds 

traceable thereto; 

(9) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises known as Baya Vista located in Limon, Costa 

Rica, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(10) All right, title and interest in the real 

property described as vacant land known as Cabina's Chita located 

in Limon, Costa Rica, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(II) All right, title and interest in the real 

property described as vacant land known as Junito's located in 

Limon, Costa Rica, lot 27 (identification number L-0370435-l979) 
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and lot 28 (identification number L-0370474-1979), and all 

proceeds traceable thereto; 

(12) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

Operadora De fondos Lloyd, S.A. investment account number 114999-

6 held in the name of Rodney Arnoldo Morrison, Sr., and all 

proceeds traceable thereto; 

(13) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises known as Paseo De Las Montanas 369 in the 

condominium complex Club de Golf Santa Anita in the City of 

Tlajomulco de Zuniga, State of Jalisco, Mexico, and all proceeds 

traceable thereto; 

(14) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises known as Villa 24, Condominio Punta Iguana, 

Puerto Vallarta, Jalisco, Mexico, and all proceeds traceable 

thereto; 

(15) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

Credit Suisse Private Banking account number 0835-645186-72 held 

in the name of Rodney Arnoldo Morrison, Sr., and all proceeds 

traceable thereto; 

(16) All right, title and interest in the contents of 

any safe deposit box in the custody of Credit Suisse Private 

Banking in ZUrich, Switzerland, containing personal jewelry, 
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collectible pens, collectible coins, collectible timepieces, and 

all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(17) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

North fork Bank account number 1224011047 held in the name of 

Peace Pipe Shop, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(18) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to Or through, 

North fork Bank account number 1224034072 held in the name of 

Charolette Morrison DBA Peace Pipe Cigarette Shop Operating 

Account, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(19) All right, title and interest in all funds and 

other things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, 

North Fork Bank account number 1221415464 held in the name of 

Charolette Morrison and Rodney Morrison POA, and all proceeds 

traceable thereto; 

(20) All right, title and interest in RCM SR LLC, 

including, but not limited to: (i) all funds and other things of 

value deposited in, or transferred to or through, North Fork Bank 

account number 1224030724 held in the name RCM SR LLC; (ii) an 

approximately $350,000.00 payment deposited into Chase account 

number 171301716 held in the name of Strook, Strook & Lavan LLP, 

as escrow agent, in reference to 205-209 East 57th Street, and 

all proceeds traceable thereto; 
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(21) All right, title and interest in RAM SR Florida 

LLC, including, but not limited to: (i) all funds and other 

things of value deposited in, or transferred to or through, North 

Fork Bank account number 1224034247 held in the name of RAM SR 

Florida LLC, and all proceeds traceable thereto; (ii) two 

$180,000.00 payments deposited into Bank of America account 

number 1233022482 held in the name of Chicago Title Insurance 

Company, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(22) All right, title and interest in TMG Beverly 

Beverly Hills, including, but not limited to Beverly Crescent 

Hotel located at 403 N. Crescent Drive, Beverly Hills, California 

90210, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(23) All right, title and interest in TMG Puerto Rico 

1 LLC, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(24) All right, title and interest in TMG Puerto Rico 

2 LLC, including, but not limited to Plaza del Norte located in 

Hatillo, Puerto Rico; Plaza Fajardo located in Fajardo, Puerto 

Rico; Plaza Vega Baja located in Vega Baja, Puerto Rico; Plaza 

Del Oeste located in San German, Puerto Rico; and Plaza Wal-Mart 

located in Guayama, Puerto Rico, and all proceeds traceable 

thereto; 

(25) All right, title and interest in TMG Puerto Rico 

3 LLC, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 
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(26) All right, title and interest in TMG/RAMSR 

Partners LLC, including, but not limited to: (i) Citibank account 

number 78423345 held in the name of TMG-RAMSR Partners LLC, and 

all proceeds traceable thereto; Iii) LMP #1 LLC; (iii) TMG 

Jacksonville 1 LLC, including, but not limited to The Strand at 

St. Johns, Jacksonville, Florida, and all proceeds traceable 

thereto; 

(27) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 88 Eleanor Avenue, Mastic, New 

York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(28) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 86 Eleanor Avenue, Mastic, New 

York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(29) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 78 Eleanor Avenue, Mastic, New 

York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(30) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 72 Eleanor Avenue, Mastic, New 

York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(31) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 274 Madison St~eet, Mastic 

Beach, New York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 
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(32) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 257 Southhaven Avenue, Medford, 

New York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(33) . All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 693 Sheffield Avenue, Brooklyn, 

New York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(34) All right, title and .interest in the real 

property and premises located at 33 Moody Road, Tupper Lake, New 

York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(35) All right, title and interest in the real 

property and premises located at 12 Briana Court, East Moriches, 

New York, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(36) All right, title and interest in one Girard

Perregaux Opera 3 timepiece in platinum on black strap bearing 

reference number 99790.71.1151, serial number PT3; one Breguet 

Minute Perpetual Calendar timepiece in platinum on black strap, 

bearing number 5447PT IE 9V6, serial number 2976U; one Patek 

Phillipe 5102G Celestial Sky Moon 18 karat timepiece in white 

gold on black strap, bearing number 3328173/4259724; one A. Lange 

& Sohne-Langematik Perpetual timepiece in platinum on strap, 

bearing reference number 310.025; one Vacheron Constantin 18 

karat timepiece in rose gold strap, bearing reference number 

8525/000G-9141; one Hublot Big Bang 18 karat timepiece in rose 
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gold on rubber strap, bearing reference number 301.PB.131.RX, and 

all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(37) All right, title and interest in one 2004 

Mercedes Benz S600V bearing vehicle identification number 

WDBNG76J84A424082, and all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(38) All right. title and interest in one 2004 BMW 

545i bearing vehicle identification number WBANB33584BI09628, and 

all proceeds traceable thereto; 

(39) All right, title and interest in one 2006 Toyota 

Sequoia bearing vehicle identification number 5TDBT44A56S264511, 

and all proceeds traceable thereto; and 

(40) All right, title and interest in approximately 

two hundred and fifty thousand dollars in United States currency 

seized on or about August 3, 2004 from the Peace Pipe Smoke Shop 

located at 9 Squaw Lane, Mastic, New York. 

44. If any of the above-described forfeitable 

property, as a result of any act or omission of the defendant: 

fa) cannot be located upon the exercise of due 

diligence; 

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited 

with, a third party; 

(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the 

court; 

(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or 
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(e) has been commingled with other property which 

cannot be divided without difficulty; 

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title IB, 

United States Code, Section 1963(m), to seek forfeiture of any 

other property of the defendant up to the value of the 

forfeitable property described in this forfeiture allegation. 

(Title IB, United States Code, Section 1963) 

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNTS EIGHT AND NINE 

45. The United States hereby gives notice to the 

defendant charged in Counts Eight and Nine that, upon his 

conviction of any such offense, the government will seek 

forfeiture in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 924(d), of any firearm or ammunition involved in or used 

in any knowing violation of subsection (a) (4), (a) (6), (f), (g), 

(h), (i), (j), or (k) of Section 922 of Title 18, United States 

Code, or knowing violation of Section 924 of Title 18, United 

States Code, including but not limited to, the following: 
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SPECIFIC PROPERTY 

One Glock model 26 9mm semiautomatic pistol, Serial 

Number DFC-S66US, and one Glock model 26 9mm semiautomatic 

pistol, Serial Number DFB-26SUS, seized from the Peace Pipe Smoke 

Shop located at 9 Squaw Lane, Mastic, New York. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(d)) 

~~~_A?~~ 
ROSLyNR. MAUSKOPF 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
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u.s. Department of Justice 

RPD:JMM/jmm 
F. #2004R00494 

The Honorable Denis R. Hurley 
United States District Judge 
Eastern District of New York 
United States Courthouse 
Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, N.Y. 11722 

United States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 

United States Attorney's Office 

610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, New York 11722-4454 

October 9, 2007 

Re: United States v. Rodney Morrison 
Criminal Docket No. 04-699 (S-2) (DRH) 

Dear Judge Hurley: 

The government submits this letter brief in support of a 
motion in limine to preclude the defense from offering evidence or 
arguing at trial that he was affirmatively misled by government 
actors into believing that the conduct charged in Racketeering Acts 
4 through 80 of the Superseding Indictment were legal by virtue of 
a so-called state ·forebearance" against the enforcement of certain 
regulations governing the sale of un-taxed cigarettes to Indian 
retailers. Similarly, anticipated evidence or argument that the 
state failed to enforce cigarette tax laws is: (a) wrong and (b) in 
any event irrelevant pursuant to Fed.R.Evid. 401 and/or so 
minimally probative of any facts to be determined by the jury here, 
compared with its danger of unfair prejudice and confusion, that it 
should be excluded pursuant to Fed.R.Evid. 403. 

I . Background 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2342(a) makes it a 
crime for any person knowingly to ship, transport, receive, 
possess, sell, distribute, or purchase contraband cigarettes. At 
the time of the violations charged in Racketeering Acts 4 through 
80 of the Superseding Indictment, the phrase ·contraband 
cigarettes" was defined as more than 60,000 cigarettes, i.e., 300 
cartons, which bear no evidence of the payment of applicable State 
cigarette taxes in the State where such cigarettes are found, if 
such State requires stamps or other indication of paid taxes to be 
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placed on packages of cigarettes." 18 U.S.C. § 2341(2).' 

.Article 20 of the New York State Tax Law imposes "a tax 
on all cigarettes possessed in the state by any person for sale," 
except for certain sales to the United States. N.Y. Tax Law, § 
471(1). Section 471(1) sets forth the amount·of taxes to be paid 
on certain numbers of cigarettes. The rate of taxation amounts to 
$15 per carton. Id. Additionally, the New York State tax stamp 
includes a pre-paid sales tax of $3.60 per carton of cigarettes. 
The City of New York imposes an additional $15 per carton tax on 
cigarettes sold within its jurisdiction in a taxation program 
administered by the State of New York. 

State law provides that, "It is intended that the 
ultimate incidence of and liability for the tax shall be upon the 
consumer, and that any agent or dealer who shall pay the tax to the 
tax commission shall collect the tax from the purchaser or 
consumer." Id., 471 (2). "The amount of taxes advanced and paid by 
the agent as hereinabove provided shall be added to and collected 
as part of the sales price of the cigarettes." Id., 471(3). 

Agents, who are persons licensed 
commissioner of taxation and finance to purchase 
or meter stamps on packages of cigarettes, id., 

by the state's 
and affix adhesive 
§ 471 (11) : 

shall purchase stamps and affix such stamps in the manner 
prescribed to packages of cigarettes to be sold within 
the state, in which case any dealer subsequently 
receiving such stamped packages of cigarettes will not be 
required to purchase and affix stamps on such packages of 
cigarettes. 

New York Tax Law, § 471(2). 

All cigarettes within New York State are presumed to be 
taxable. Id., 471 (1). Willfully evading cigarette taxes is a 
crime under state law, N.Y. Tax Law, § 1814(a), as is the 
possession and transportation of untaxed cigarettes, id., § 1814(d) 
and (e). In fact, the possession at anyone time of 5,000 or more 
untaxed and un-stamped cigarettes is presumptive evidence of a 
criminal violation of Section 471. Id., § 1814(f). The 
transactions charged in Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 well 

As of March 9, 2006, the USA Patriot Improvement and 
Reauthorization Act of 2005, amended the definition of contraband 
cigarettes to only 10,000 cigaqrettes that did not bear apploicable 
state tax stamps. 
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exceeded this presumption. 

In addition to the statutory proscriptions against the 
sale and possession of un-stamped cigarettes, in 1988 New York's 
Department of Taxation and Finance promulgated regulations that, 
among other things, limited the quantity of untaxed cigarettes that 
wholesalers could sell to Indian tribal retailers. 22 NYCRR §§ 336 
et~. The State temporarily suspended its enforcement of these 
regulations pending the outcome of litigation seeking to enjoin 
enforcement On constitutional grounds. See N.Y. Ass'n. Of 
Convenience Stores .v. Urbach, 92 N.Y.2d. 204, 209-210 (1998). 

New York's regulatory scheme was ultimately upheld by the 
United States Supreme Court as a permissible infringement on the 
sovereignty of Indian nations located within the state. Department 
of Taxation and Finance of N.Y. v. Milhelm Attea & Bros., Inc., 512 
U.S. 61 (1994), However, in April 1998 the Department of Taxation 
and Finance repealed the regulations at issue in Milhelm Attea 
insofar as they imposed limits on the quantity of cigarettes that 
could be sold to Indian retailers. Urbach, at 213-214, citing, 20 
NYS Register, Apr. 29, 1998, Issue 17, Book 1, at 22-24. In doing 
so, the Department noted that ·the repeal does not eliminate the 
statutory liability for taxes as they relate to sales on Indian 
reservations to nonexempt individuals. n Urbach at 214. 

In that regard, N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e provides in relevant 
part that: 

non-Indians making cigarette purchases on an Indian 
reservation shall not be exempt from paying the cigarette 
tax when purchasing cigarettes within this state. 
Accordingly, all cigarettes sold on an Indian reservation 
to non-members of the nation or tribe or to non-Indians 
shall be taxed, and evidence of such tax will be by means 
of an affixed cigarette tax stamp. 

At least one court has interpreted Section 471 and the 
state's criminal tax evasion provisions in Section 1814 in the 
aftermath of Urbach to mean that ·since the State can not reach an 
agreement with [I]ndians to collect taxes on their sales, the State 
is left with collecting them from non-[I]ndian purchasers 
directly.n People v. Tracy, 1 Misc.3d 308, 764 N.Y.S.2d 585, 588 
(2003) . 

In the present case the government will show as to 
Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 that the defendant aided and abetted 
others in the sale and distribution of contraband cigarettes as 
then defined by 18 U.S.C. § 2341(2). Witnesses will say that the 
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purchasers in question returned sometimes on a daily or weekly 
basis to purchase such large quantities of un-stamped cigarettes 
that they could not have been used for personal consumption. 
Purchasers were known to re-sell the un-stamped cigarettes bought 
from Peace Pipe to retail stores in New York City and elsewhere. 
In fact, a witness will testify that at the defendant's direction, 
he distributed fliers to store owners and others in New York City 
to solicit their business to Peace Pipe. 

The government will also offer an internal Peace Pipe 
memo issued by the defendant warning sales associates not to use 
the word "illegal" when speaking to customers or to advise them 
about the customer's obligation to remit taxes to the state on 
purchased cigarettes. Witnesses will also testify about problems 
that Peace Pipe encountered when packages of un-taxed cigarettes 
were being routinely returned by Peace Pipe's shipper, UPS. 

-According to witnesses, UPS began returning un-delivered large 
cigarette packages to Peace Pipe when it took the position that it 
was illegal for the company to facilitate in the shipment of 
untaxed cigarettes. 

The government will call a Department of Taxation and 
Finance official who will testify that notwithstanding the repeal 
of 22 NYCRR §§ 336 et ~, as it related to Indian retailers, the 
possession, sale and distribution of such large quantities of 
cigarettes outside of the Poopatuck Reservation was a crime for 
state enforcement purposes. 

In sum, the evidence will show that the defendant knew 
that the large purchases involved in Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 
made no economic sense absent the purchasers' desire to evade taxes 
due and owing to the state. The defendant aided an abetted these 
unlawful transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2. 

Contrary to assertions by the defense that the defendant 
or others had been led to believe that sales of untaxed and un
stamped cigarettes was perfectly legal, the government would show 
that prosecutions of under the state's criminal tax laws continue. 
At one point, law enforcement officers distributed fliers at the 
entrances to the Poospatuck Reservation warning customers that it 
was illegal to purchase un-taxed cigarettes without remitting taxes 
to the state. In fact, one of the defendant's own relatives and a 
former employee of the defendant's, Alex Pascal, was prosecuted and 
convicted of the unlawful sale of contraband cigarettes and remains 
on federal supervised release supervision in the Eastern District 
of New York. The government does not intend to offer the evidence 
summarized in this paragraph for the very reason that it would be 
irrelevant and/or should be precluded under Fed.R.Evid. 401 and 
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403. The factual proffer is made solely for purpose of objecting 
the to defendant's basis for asserting a defense of entrapment by 
estoppel. 

II. The Entrapment By Estoppel Defense 

In United States v. Pennsylvania Industrial Chemical 
Corp. (PICCO), 411 U.S. 655 (1973), the corporate defendant sought 
to offer at a criminal trial for alleged violations of the Rivers 
and Harbors Act of 1899, that it had relied to its detriment on the 
failure of a federal agency to promulgate regulations proscribing 
the precise conduct at issue as well as prior pronouncements by the 
government that the conduct did not fall within the ambit of the 
Act or the agency's regulatory powers. Id., at 659":660. The 
Supreme Court reversed the conviction on the grounds that the 
district court erred in not allowing PICCO to offer at trial that 
it had been" 'affirmatively misled' into believing that its conduct 
was not criminal." Id., at 670. 

PICCO is thus distinguishable from the present case. In 
PICCO, the defendant could have offered at trial evidence that a 
government agency affirmatively interpreted the relevant conduct in 
a manner that conflicted with the government's prosecution theory 
as well as earlier holdings of the Supreme Court. Id., at 672-674. 
No such affirmative government statement exists here. The 1998 
repeal of regulations limiting sales by wholesalers to Indian 
retailers did not, as the repeal notice made clear, "eliminate the 
statutory liability for taxes as they relate to sales on Indian 
reservations to nonexempt individuals. "N.Y. Ass'n. Of 
Convenience Stores v. Urbach, supra, 92 N. Y. 2d. at 214. Those 
statutes remain un-equivocal that the possession and sale of un
stamped and un-taxed cigarettes in large quantities are 
presumptively illegal. 

The PICCO court ultimately did not rule on whether the 
prosecution was estopped, but rather held more narrowly that 
questions whether there was reliance and if so whether reliance was 
reasonable should have been developed at trial. Id., at 674. 

Under what circumstances estoppel principles may be 
applied against the government was answered in part in Heckler v. 
Community Health Services, 467 U.S. 51 (1980). In that case, a 
heal th care provided sued the Department of Health and Human 
Services ("HHS") to enjoin it from recouping overpayments made 
under medicare reimbursements. The health care provided argued 
that the HHS was estopped from recouping the overpayments because 
of the erroneous advice given by a government agent which led to 
the overpayments in the first place. Id., 56-58. 
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The Supreme Court rejected the argument holding that 
principles of equitable estoppel could not be applied to the 
government on the same terms as it is to private citizens because 
to do so "would frustrate the government's ability to enforce the 
law and undermine the public interest in full enforcement of the 
law." United States v. Buccanfuso, 882 F.2d 666, 669 (2d Cir. 
1989), citing, Community Health Services, 467 U.S. at 60. 

At a minimum, the Second Circuit in Buccanfuso held that 
Communi tv Health Services requires that a party asserting estoppel 
against the government demonstrate first that the "traditional 
elements of an estoppel are present." Buccanfuso, at 670. Those 
elements include "a definite misrepresentation of fact to another 
person" and showing that "the party claiming the estoppel must have 
relied on the adversary's conduct 'in such a manner as to change 
his position for the worse." Community Health Services, 467 U.S. at 
59. 

If at the time when [the party] acted, such party had 
knowledge of the truth, or had the means by which with 
reasonable diligence he could acquire the knowledge so 
that it would be negligence on his part to remain 
ignorant by not using those means, he cannot claim to 
have been misled by relying upon the representation .. 

Id., 674. See also Connecticut Fund for the Environment v. Upjohn, 
660 F.Supp. 1397 (D. Conn. 1987) (holding that agency's failure to 
immediately take enforcement action against defendant's known 
violations of its Clean Water Act permit did not warrant dismissal 
of citizen suit on estoppel grounds pursuant to PICCO or Community 
Heal th Services) . 

Since PICCO and Community Health, every court of appeals 
to have examined the defense has concluded that it requires some 
showing of an affirmative assurance by a government agency or 
official that certain conduct is legal, coupled with reasonable or 
good faith reliance by the defendant on that assurance. United 
States v. West Indies Transport Inc., 127 F.2d 299, 312 (3d Cir. 
1997) (collecting cases). In West Indies, the Third Circuit held 
that the "affirmative defense" of entrapment by estoppel: 

applies where the defendant establishes by a 
preponderance of the evidence that (1) a government 
official (2) told the defendant that certain conduct was 
legal (3) the defendant actually relied on the government 
official's statements, (4) and the defendant's reliance 
was in good faith and reasonable in light of the identity 
of the government official, the point of law represented 
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and the substance of the official's statement. 

Id., at 313. See also, United States v .. Theunick, 2007 WL 2421539 
(E.D.Mich. Slip op. August 27, 2007) (setting forth a jury charge on 
the defense of entrapment by estoppel) . 

III. The defendant Should Be precluded From Offering Evidence Or 
Argument That Perceived Lax Enforcement Of New York's 
Cigarette Tax Laws, Or The Repeal of Regulations Governing 
Sales To Indian Retailers, Encouraged Him To Violate the Law 
As Alleged In Racketeering Act 4 through 80 

As a preliminary matter, it is beyond the capacity of any 
li tigant to predict exactly how an adversary, in this case the 
defendant, will try to introduce an entrapment by estoppel defense 
at trial. Thus, the government requests that this motion be 
construed as a standing objection to any evidence offered by the 
defense that the Court finds is not legally cognizable under the 
entrapment by estoppel defense. 

However, what is clear thus far, is that the defendant 
has offered vague assertions that his conduct, and the alleged 
similar conduct of others was well known by law enforcement and the 
failure to more aggressively enforce the law either against him or 
other retailers on the Poospatuck Reservation was tantamount to an 
affirmative misrepresentation under PICCO. Accordingly, so 
argument goes, evidence on this point should be admitted under the 
guise of an estoppel defendant. 

The failure to enforce, even if true, does not amount to 
a claim cognizable as entrapment by estoppel. See Connecticut Fund 
for the Environment v. Upjohn, supra. The government requests an 
order from the Court precluding the offer of such evidence under 
Fed.R.Evid 401 and 403. Allowing the defense to explore these 
issues through the cross-examination of government witnesses will 
be highly prejudicial to the government. It will inject highly 
sUbjective notions of relative fairness that can only truly be 
defined as an improper nullification defense. 

Assertions, including cross examination of government 
witnesses, about perceived lax enforcement is irrelevant to any 
question of fact to be determined as to Racketeering Acts 4 through 
80. Such testimony would be unfairly prejudicial especially in 
light of evidence that the defendant knew his conduct was illegal 
and made no effort to conform the operation of the Peace Pipe to 
the law. 

Similarly, evidence regarding the repeal of 22 NYCRR §§ 
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Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 193    09/17/2010    108283    314



Case 2:04-cr-00699-DRH-AKT DUIJUII""l352 Filed 10/09/07 Page 8 of 8 

8 

336 et ~. should not be allowed under the guise of an entrapment 
defense. As noted above, the repeal affected only sales between 
cigarette wholesalers and Indian retailers such as Peace Pipe. 
Nothing in that repeal, unlike the agency pronouncements in PICCO, 
gave assurance that the kinds of sales at issue in the Superseding 
Indictment were legal. Moreover, nothing in the repeal or the 
remaining tax laws can reasonably be read to have given assurance 
to a non-Indian, like the defendant, that he could sell large 
quantities of un-stamped and un-taxed cigarettes to other non-tax
exempt customers. 

III. Conclusion 

For the reasons set forth above, the government 
respectfully requests that the motion in limine be granted. 

by: 

Respectfully Submitted, 

ROSLYNN R. MAUSKOPF 
United States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 

/S/ 

Miskiewicz 
Assistant United States Attorney 
(631) 715-7841 

cc: All counsel of record (via ECF only) 
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The Honorable Denis R. Hurley 
United States District Judge 
Eastern District of New York 
United States Courthouse 
Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, NY 11722 

October 15, 2007 

RE: United States v. Rodney Morrison 
Criminal Docket No. 04-699 (S-2) (DRH) 

Dear Judge Hurley: 

The defense submits this letter brief in opposition to the government's motion in limine 
filed on October 9, 2007 (the "Motion"). The government seeks to preclude the defense from 
offering any evidence about the State's forbearance policy towards on-reservation cigarette sales 
by Indian merchants and to preclude the defense from offering an entrapment by estoppel 
defense. The government's motion should be denied for the following reasons. 

1) The government incorrectly summarizes applicable New York law. 

The government states that Article 20 of the New York State Tax law imposes "a tax on 
all cigarettes possessed in the state by any person for sale," except for certain sales to the United 
States. Section 20 also and significantly provides that "no tax shall be imposed on cigarettes sold 
under such circumstances that this state is without power to impose such tax .... " As outlined 
below, the defense contends that during the relevant periods for the offenses charged in the 
Indictment that the state was without such power in the same manner and for the same reasons 
that the provisions of Section 471-e of the Tax Law are currently enjoined by Day Wholesale, 
Inc. v. New York v. State of New York, Index No. 200617668 (2007). 

Next, the government correctly points out that in 1988, New York's Department of Tax 
and Finance (the "Department" or "DTF") promulgated regulations that the government 
describes as limiting the quantity of untaxed cigarettes that wholesalers could sell to Indian 
retailers. In fact, the regulations directed the collection of cigarette taxes on sales made on Indian 
reservations to non-Indians. The regulations provided for the issuance of tax free coupons to 
allow for Indian to Indian sales. The number of tax free coupons was to be based on the probable 
demand of tax exempt Indian consumers. I Tribes and Indian retailers were to be supplied with 

I The regulations provided that the DTP could determine probable demand in two ways: if a tribe regulated the sale 
or distribution of cigarettes on its reservation, the tribe could submit evidence concerning local demand for the 
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tax exempt coupons to be furnished to wholesalers to allow the constitutionally mandated 
purchase of unstamped, tax free cigarettes by the Indians. 

The government also notes that New York's regulatory scheme was upheld by the 
Supreme Court in Dept. of Taxation and Finance of New York v. Milhelm Attea & Bros., Inc., 
512 U.S. 61 (1994), but fails to discuss the Court's reasoning which makes it clear that it is the 
details in the implementing regulations, not the existence of some general language in Section 
471 of the Tax Law, which makes the regulatory scheme (a general statute plus regulations 
relating to sales on Indian territory) constitutional. 

In affirming the regulations, the Supreme Court clearly stated that "New York lacks 
authority to tax cigarettes sold to tribal members for their own consumption." Attea, 512 U.S. at 
64. The Attea Court also noted that the pre-collection scheme should "not require prepayment of 
any tax to which New York is not entitled." Id. at 76. In addition, in approving the New York 
regulations, the Court favorably noted that "if the Department's probable demand calculations 
are adequate, tax-immune Indians will not have to pay New York cigarette taxes and neither 
wholesalers nor retailers will have to pre-collect taxes on cigarettes destined for their 
consumption." Id. at 75. 

In addition, the Court specifically stated that it did not "assess for all purposes each 
featilre of the New York's tax enforcement scheme that might affect tribal self-government or 
federal authority over Indian affairs." Id. at 69. The Supreme Court in Attea cautioned the State 
that an inadequate supply of legitimate tax exempt cigarettes "may provide the basis for a future 
[constitutional] challenge." Id. at 75. In addition, the Court left the door open to future 
challenges if the regulatory regime imposed excessive burdens on the Tribe when it was 
implemented. Finally, the Court also declined to address the issue of whether the regulations 
violated treaty rights. 

Thus, when, as the government points out, the Governor and the Department repealed the 
Attea regulations, the regulatory scheme that was carefully analyzed and ultimately upheld by 
the Supreme Court disappeared. Without the similar provisions provided in a regulation or 
statute and properly implemented to address the types of concerns outlined by the Supreme 
Court, Section 471 of the Tax Law is "on the books" but hardly applicable to sales on Indian 
territory because it not capable of constitutional application without the promUlgation and 
implementation of the rest of the regulatory scheme. 

This fact was not missed by the Court in People v. Tracy, I Misc. 3d 308 (2003), quoted, 
but not completely, by the government in its Motion. The complete quote is as follows: 

cigarettes or absent such tribal information, the DTF would determine the amount of untaxed cigarettes based on 
average consumption rates multiplied by the number of enrolled tribal members. 
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Id. at 312. 

[Section 471] stated that no tax shall be imposed "under such 
circumstances that the state is without power to impose such tax." These 
"circumstances" refer to sales on Indian reservations as explained in 
Matter of New York Assn. of Convenience Stores v Urbach (275 AD2d 
520 [2000], revd 92 NY2d 204 [1998]), which state in effect that since the 
State cannot reach an agreement with Indians to collect the taxes on their 
sales, the State is left with collecting them from non-Indian purchasers 
directly. 

In discussing the repeal of the Attea regulations, the government notes that the 
Department indicated that "the repeal does not eliminate the statutory liability for taxes as they 
relate to sales on Indian reservations to non-exempt individuals ... " The defense agrees that is 
accurate but it is only one part ofthe story. 

A) The Policy of Forbearance. 

For a number of reasons, including violence on certain reservations, Governor Pataki (the 
"Governor") declined to enforce the regulations after the Attea decision. On May 22, 1997, the 
Governor announced, on the steps of the Buffalo l-listorical Society, his decision to repeal these 
tax regulations. The Governor stated that "no issue is more complex than our relationship with 
the sovereign Indian Nations, who have had to overcome discrimination, economic inequities, 
and perhaps worst of all, [whose] calls for help and fairness fell on deaf ears." The Governor 
then proclaimed "a new era of peacefol cooperation" with "the Indian Nations, who, though 
sovereign nations, are our neighbors." "Let me make my message to all Indian Nations clear: It 
is your land, we respect your sovereignty and, if the Legislature acts as I am requestinl, you 
will have the right to sell tax-free gasoline and cigarettes free from interference from New York 
State. " 

B) 1998 Tax and Finance Notice. 

The Department published a Notice on April 14, 1998 (the "Notice") repealing the 
regulations (the regulations dealt with the sale of fuel as well as cigarettes). The Department 
stated "the decision to repeal the regulation was based on the inability of the regulations to 
achieve the purposes of the Tax Law and also the state's respect for the Indian Nation's 
sovereignty." The Notice points out that the state's efforts to enforce the regulations were 
unsuccessful for a number of reasons including adverse decisions related to the ability to seize 
fuel headed for the reservations, questions regarding the authority to enter into and enforce tax 
agreements negotiated with the tribes and the lack of information from the BIA to implement the 
program. The Notice provides that the regulations were not repealed because of Indian violence 
but states it is not in the interest of the citizens of New York to have major disruptions on 

2 The 1998 Tax and Finance Notice, repealing the Attea regulations, notes the Governor sent three pieces of 
complimentary legislation to the Legislature: a tax credit for non -Indian retailers located near Indian Territory, a 
clear declaration that all sales were exempt from tax under those circumstances and a request for authorization to 
negotiate tax compacts with the Indians. Although the legislature failed to enact the provisions, the Policy of 
Forbearance allowed the Indians to sell cigarettes free from interference. 
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primary highways or to have Indians clashing with the State Police protesting the regulations as 
an attack on their sovereignty. 

While the Department states the repeal of the regulations does not eliminate the statutory 
liability for the taxes as they relate to sales on Indian reservations to non-exempt individuals, the 
Notice goes on to say that Tax and Finance is committed to upholding and administering the Tax 
Law but they must do it in a way that is consistent with respecting Indian sovereignty and with 
the general welfare of all the people of New York state. 

The way the Governor and Department decided to implement the law is now called the 
"Longstanding Policy of Forbearance." Stated in a nutshell, the policy is to leave the Indians 
alone, not regulate on reservation cigarette or fuel sales and el!(orce the Tax Law against New 
York non-Native purchasers. This clear policy announcement should also be viewed in the 
context of the prior history of Indian regulation by the state. To the best of the defense's 
information and belief, in the entire history of the state of New York, not one cigarette pack sold 
on an Indian reservation has ever been stamped nor has one cent of excise tax been collected. 
Finally, as the defense has asserted over and over, this Longstanding Policy of Forbearance 
would certainly be totally eviscerated if the Indians were told their sales on Indian Territory 
would not be regulated but that they were subject to a charge for aiding and abetting as the result 
of such sales the moment a purchaser steps off the reservation. 

C) The Urbach Case. 

The government cites to one of the Urbach decisions relating to the temporary 
suspension of the Attea regulations on or after 1995. The government failed to note the 
suspension of those regulations was critical as the Court recognized because "these rules provide 
the only regulatory framework for enforcing the motor fuel and cigarette taxes on Indian 
reservations ... " New York Association of Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 92 N. Y. 2d 204 (1998) 
(emphasis added). In addition, the government fails to acknowledge that the Appellate Division 
clearly spoke and communicated to New York citizens and to the Native Americans on sovereign 
Indian land located within the state's boundaries, the Court's decision that the Governor's and 
the Department's Policy of Forbearance was a rational and proper exercise of executive power. 
New York Association of Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 275 A. D. 2d 520 (2000). 

The Appellate Division stated that the record clearly reflects that the state tax statutes 
cannot be effectively enforced without the cooperation of the Indian tribes. The Court pointed 
out that because of tribal immunity. retailers cannot be sued for their failure to collect the taxes 
and state auditors cannot go on the reservations to examine retailer records. In addition, the 
court noted Tax and Finance cannot compel Indian retailers to attend audits off the Reservations 
and Indians refused to register with the Department of Tax and Finance for any tax purpose. In 
addition, when the state attempted to seize trucks carrying fuel and cigarettes to the reservations, 
the Indians shut down the highways and clashed with the State Police. Thus, the Appellate 
Division concluded that the factors presented by the State in support of the policy provided a 
rational basis for the State's indefinite forbearance in reenacting and enforcing a cigarette tax 
scheme it had repealed. The upholding of the Policy by the New York courts was an unequivocal 
pronouncement affirming the policy and the careful discussion of the basis for the decision 
makes it clear it was not based on a whimsical notion by the executive branch. 
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D) The Tax Statutes Applicable to the Time Period in the Indictment. 

Next, tbe government cites to certain provisions in Section 471-e ofthe Tax Law. As the 
Court is aware, the court in Day Wholesale, Inc. v. State of New York, Index No. 200617668 
(N.Y. 2000), enjoined the State of New York from enforcing the provision of Section 471-e 
which, in part, provided for tbe collection of tax and the stamping of cigarettes for sales to Non
natives. The court, understanding tbe requirements for a valid regulatory scheme such as that 
outlined in the Attea regulations, held tbat tbe statute could only function if it properly exempts 
Indian purchasers and that it was essential for the state to issue the tax free coupons required by 
the statute for the regulatory scheme to be operable. 

The government also fails to note that the Commissioner of Tax and Finance issued an 
Advisory Opinion on tbe petition of Milhelm Attea & Bros, Inc., a licensed stamping agent. 
Attea asked the Commissioner, in light of the passage of the 2005 Tax Amendments, if tbere were 
any changes regarding tbe Forbearance Policy. The Commissioner's Opinion noted tbat the 
Governor and Commissioner believed tbat, to respect Indian sovereignty, changes in the statute 
must be made regarding out of state sales, tribe to tribe sales and negotiated cigarette agreements 
with tribes regarding cigarette taxes. In tbe Advisory Opinion, the Commissioner stated tbat "it 
would be premature to begin enforcement" until deficiencies in the 2005 Tax Amendments "are 
addressed and considered." The Advisory Opinion re-affirmed and again communicated the 
DTF's "long-standing policy" of permitting "untaxed cigarettes to be sold from licensed 
stamping agents to recognized Indian Nations and reservation-based retailers making sales from 
qualified Indian Reservations." 

Section 471-e, of course was enacted in 2005: tbe period covered in the Indictment 
begins in 1997 and ends in August 2, 2004. The charge in 1997 involves conduct that occurred 
while the Attea regulations were temporarily suspended. As such, the regulatory scheme 
approved by the Supreme Court was not in effect and, as pointed out in Tracy, supra, the State 
was without power to enforce Section 471. 

This situation remained in effect, in regards to the charges in the Indictment (including 
those violations in May 2003) until May 15, 2003, when the New York Legislature overrode the 
Governor's vet0 3 and passed a bill that enacted a version of Section 471-e of the Tax law 
authorizing the collection of taxes and stamping of cigarettes sold to Non-Natives. The 2003 
Statute directed the Departtnent to adopt rules and regulations to govern on-reservation sales, 
including the issuance of tax-free coupons for sales of cigarettes for Native-to-Native Sales, to 
complete a constitutionally enforceable regulatory scheme. The State published and 
communicated its proposed regulations in the State Register for public comment in accordance 

3 In Veto Messages issued in 2003, the Governor noted that the bill was passed "with virtually no debate or 
discussion" and advised the State Legislature: that the provision ... would have devastating consequences for the 
State's relationship with Native Americans. Rather than taking actions that would undoubtedly be viewed by Native 
Americans as an assault on their sovereignty, it has been the policy of this Administration to negotiate on a 
government-ta-government basis with the recognized Native American governments to reach agreements which are 
of mutual benefit to all parties. The Governor further stated that "even a two'third vote by the Legislature" to 
override his veto would not U cure its constitutional infinnities." 
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with the New York State Administrative Procedures Act on September 24, 2003 and met 
informally with members of various Tribes on September 26, 2003 in Albany to discuss the 
regulations. These fonnal and informal communications all dealt with future enforcement of tax 
provisions and certainly never contemplated the enforcement of any type without clear notice 
and communication. The 2003 implementing regulations were never adopted. 

In 2004, the State Legislature passed S. 6822-B that essentially sought to codifY the 2003 
Regulations. The Governor vetoed S. 6822-B. The Legislature did not override the Governor's 
veto of the legislation. In his 2004 Veto Message, the Governor again communicated his 
Forbearance Policy throughout New York. He stated: "In seeking to codify draft regulations that 
were a work in progress, the bill unfortunately suffers from a variety of serious flaws. Further, 
the bill would, in its current form, have devastating consequences on the State's relationship with 
Native Americans. For these reasons, I am constrained to disapprove the bill." The Governor 
recognized that tribal governments should be given "a meaningful opportunity to assert their 
federal treaty rights prior to enforcement by the Tax Department." The Governor asserted that 
enforcement of the proposed tax laws would put the State in a position of expending significant 
resources to enforce provisions of state law that may ultimately be determined by the federal 
courts to conflict with federal law or treaties. The actions of the Governor and the Legislature 
were widely reported and, not surprisingly, one of the most important issues discussed by Indian 
cigarette sellers. 

Finally, and critical to this matter, the charges in the indictment in 2004 continue to 
suffer from the same defect as those in 2003 and earlier, i.e. the regulatory scheme validated by 
the Supreme Court remains gone and nothing was put in its place to allow the state to alter its 
position; the State was without power under Section 471 to impose taxes and require stamps for 
Indian sales. 

E) Other issues. 

The government also indicates that it will call an expert from the Department to testify 
that notwithstanding the repeal of the Attea regulations, the sale of large amounts of cigarettes by 
Non-natives off the reservation was a crime for state enforcement purposes. The defense agrees 
with that point. It reflects one half of the Forbearance Policy: leave the Indians alone and go after 
the Non-Native off the reservation. 

In addition, the government asserts that the Alex Pascal's conviction of cigarette charges 
adversely affect defendant's reliance on the Policy of Forbearance. The defense believes that 
Alex Pascal, a fonner Peace Pipe employee, possessed and transported unstamped cigarettes 
from a location off an Indian reservation to other locations off the reservation for sale. The 
defense has never asserted that the forbearance policy would apply to the possession or sale of 
un stamped cigarettes by Natives or non-natives off the reservation. Finally, the government 
mentions certain issues related to the shipment of cigarettes by Peace Pipe. The defense has been 
and remains unaware that any of the charges in the Indictment involve the shipment of cigarettes, 
rather than the sale of cigarettes, by Peace Pipe. 
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informally with members of various Tribes on September 26, 2003 in Albany to discuss the 
regulations. These fonnal and informal communications all dealt with future enforcement of tax 
provisions and certainly never contemplated the enforcement of any type without clear notice 
and communication. The 2003 implementing regulations were never adopted. 

In 2004, the State Legislature passed S. 6822-B that essentially sought to codifY the 2003 
Regulations. The Governor vetoed S. 6822-B. The Legislature did not override the Governor's 
veto of the legislation. In his 2004 Veto Message, the Governor again communicated his 
Forbearance Policy throughout New York. He stated: "In seeking to codify draft regulations that 
were a work in progress, the bill unfortunately suffers from a variety of serious flaws. Further, 
the bill would, in its current form, have devastating consequences on the State's relationship with 
Native Americans. For these reasons, I am constrained to disapprove the bill." The Governor 
recognized that tribal governments should be given "a meaningful opportunity to assert their 
federal treaty rights prior to enforcement by the Tax Department." The Governor asserted that 
enforcement of the proposed tax laws would put the State in a position of expending significant 
resources to enforce provisions of state law that may ultimately be determined by the federal 
courts to conflict with federal law or treaties. The actions of the Governor and the Legislature 
were widely reported and, not surprisingly, one of the most important issues discussed by Indian 
cigarette sellers. 

Finally, and critical to this matter, the charges in the indictment in 2004 continue to 
suffer from the same defect as those in 2003 and earlier, i.e. the regulatory scheme validated by 
the Supreme Court remains gone and nothing was put in its place to allow the state to alter its 
position; the State was without power under Section 471 to impose taxes and require stamps for 
Indian sales. 

E) Other issues. 

The government also indicates that it will call an expert from the Department to testify 
that notwithstanding the repeal of the Attea regulations, the sale of large amounts of cigarettes by 
Non-natives off the reservation was a crime for state enforcement purposes. The defense agrees 
with that point. It reflects one half of the Forbearance Policy: leave the Indians alone and go after 
the Non-Native off the reservation. 

In addition, the government asserts that the Alex Pascal's conviction of cigarette charges 
adversely affect defendant's reliance on the Policy of Forbearance. The defense believes that 
Alex Pascal, a fonner Peace Pipe employee, possessed and transported unstamped cigarettes 
from a location off an Indian reservation to other locations off the reservation for sale. The 
defense has never asserted that the forbearance policy would apply to the possession or sale of 
un stamped cigarettes by Natives or non-natives off the reservation. Finally, the government 
mentions certain issues related to the shipment of cigarettes by Peace Pipe. The defense has been 
and remains unaware that any of the charges in the Indictment involve the shipment of cigarettes, 
rather than the sale of cigarettes, by Peace Pipe. 
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2) The specific "official statements" regarding on-reservation sales. 

From the above discussion, it is apparent that there have been many "official statements" 
assuring on-reservation cigarette merchants that their activities do not violate state tax laws 
regardless of whether or not the cigarettes are taken off the reservation by the purchaser. These 
statements taken individually and collectively communicated clearly that no law enforcement 
actions would be taken against Indian retailers based on the sale of cigarettes on New York 
reservations. 

• The 1995 temporary suspension of the regulations in the Urbach case. 
The court noted that the regulations which were suspended were "the only 
regulatory framework for enforcing the motor foel and cigarette taxes on Indian 
reservations ... " New York Association of Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 92 N.Y. 
2d 204 (1998) (emphasis added). 

• The Governor's announcement of the policy of forbearance on May 22, 1997. 
The governor's statement assured the on-reservation sellers that it was his 
intention that the merchants would have "the right to sell tax-free gasoline and 
cigarettes free from interference from New York State." 

• The April 14, 1998 Tax and Finance Notice. The Department repealed the tax 
regulations which would have applied to on-reservation sales. 

• The Court's pronouncement in the Urbach case. The court held that "the 
Governor's and the Department's policy of forbearance was a rational and proper 
exercise of executive power." 

• The Governor's veto message in 2003. The Governor made clear that his 
approach had been to try and negotiate individual agreements. 

• The proposed regulations published on September 24, 2003. These sought 
public comment on the proposed regulations which would have governed on
reservation cigarette sales. 

• Informal meetings with various tribes on September 26, 2003. These informal 
meetings were to discuss the proposed regulations which would have governed 
future sales. 

• The Governor's veto message in 2004. The legislature again attempted to 
codifY a tax scheme that would have applied to on-reservation sales but the 
Governor vetoed the bill and again expressed his support for the forbearance 
policy. 

3) Mr. Morrison should be allowed to advance an entrapment by estoppel defense. 

Before addressing the government's specific arguments, it is important to understand that 
at this pretrial stage the Court is not in a position to weigh conflicting evidence or determine 
whether the entrapment by estoppel defense will ultimately be successful. In addition, we ask 
the Court to be mindful of Mr. Morrison's well-established Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights to 
present a defense. See Holmes v. South Carolina. 547 U.S. 319,324 (2006) ("Whether rooted 
directly in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment or in the Compulsory Process 
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Governor vetoed the bill and again expressed his support for the forbearance 
policy. 

3) Mr. Morrison should be allowed to advance an entrapment by estoppel defense. 

Before addressing the government's specific arguments, it is important to understand that 
at this pretrial stage the Court is not in a position to weigh conflicting evidence or determine 
whether the entrapment by estoppel defense will ultimately be successful. In addition, we ask 
the Court to be mindful of Mr. Morrison's well-established Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights to 
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or Confrontation clauses of the Sixth Amendment, the Constitution guarantees criminal 
defendants 'a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.")( citations omitted). 
Accordingly, the Court can "preclude an affirmative defense by motion in limine only where the 
court accepts as true the evidence proffered by the defendant and finds that the evidence 
proffered by the defendant, even if believed, would be insufficient as a matter of law to support 
the affirmative defense." United States v. Baker, 438 F.3d 749, 753 (7th Cir. 2006) (citations 
omitted). In United States v. Aquino-Chacon, 109 F.3d 936, 939 n.3 (4th Cir. 1997) the Fourth 
Circuit observed that "we generally disfavor the practice of disposing of affirmative defenses on 
the basis that there is no evidence to support the defense prior to the presentation of any evidence 
at trial," a wise approach to the protection of the paramount constitutional right ofthe accused to 
present his best defense. As set forth below, there is no question that the facts that will be 
established at trial will establish, at the very least, a primafacie case of entrapment by estoppel. 

Although the government relies on a Third Circuit case to set forth the elements of 
entrapment by estoppel, Government Letter at 6, the Second Circuit law is quite similar. In this 
Circuit, "[T]o invoke the entrapment by estoppel defense, the defendant must show that he relied 
on the official's statement and that his reliance was reasonable in that a person sincerely desirous 
of obeying the law would have accepted the information as true." United States v. George, 386 
F.3d 383, 399 (2d Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

Here, Mr. Morrison can easily meet each of these elements: 

A) There was an official statement or representation. 

The first element requires a government representation that the charged conduct was 
lawful. Broken into its component parts, this requires proof (I) that there was a representation 
and (2) that it was made by the government. It is clear that a statements or regulations issued by 
agencies with controlling regulatory authority will satisfy this element of the defense. See 
United States v. Pennsylvania Industrial Chemical Corp, 411 U.S. 655, 675 (1973) ("PICCO"). 
In addition, in this Circuit, "[t]he defense of entrapment by estoppel can be established without 
the defendant having received actual authorization. It depends on the proposition that the 
government is barred from prosecuting a person for his criminal conduct when the government, 
by its own actions, induced him to do those acts and led him to rely reasonably on his belief that 
his actions would be lawful by reason ofthe government's seeming authorization." United States 
v. Giffen, 473 F.3d 30, 41 (2d Cir. 2006). 

Although most cases involve representations by federal employees or agencies, the 
CCTA is an unusual statute in that it incorporates and enforces state tax laws. The term 
"applicable state or local cigarette taxes" and the term "if such state or local government requires 
a stamp to be placed on the packages" are part of the statutory definition of contraband 
cigarettes. If the State of New York does not require the cigarettes possessed or sold on Indian 
reservations to be stamped and the State of New York does not collect taxes in regard to on
reservation sales, then cigarettes sold on Indian reservations are not contraband cigarettes 'under 
the CCTA because, under the plain language of the statute, there are no state taxes applicable and 
the state government does not require stamping. See United States v. Baker, 63 F.3d 1478, 1486 
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(9th Cir. 1995) (noting that "to the extent the states exempt Indians from having to pay cigarettes 
taxes, so does the CCTA"). 

Thus, this is a far cry from the situation where the state official tells a defendant that he 
can own a firearm without violating federal firearms laws; rather, this is a situation where the 
state officials are providing assurances about state laws and regulations, and it just so happens 
that the state laws and regulations are incorporated into the CCTA. As the Court noted, the 
federal statute "really is piggybacked on the state statute." Transcript of October 5, 2007 at page 
51. Under such circumstances, it would be absurd to hold that an individual could not rely on the 
state officials' representations about the state cigarette tax structure. 

Here, as previously noted, Mr. Morrison will be able to prove at trial that the relevant and 
appropriate state officials, agencies and courts all sent the same message to Mr. Morrison: you 
have carte blanche to sell unlimited quantities of cigarettes on the reservation without violating 
the state iax laws. 

B) Reliance by defendant. 

There are obviously a number of ways in which Mr. Morrison might choose to establish 
his reliance. In addition to possibly calling Mr. Morrison, the defense believes that the evidence 
will establish that employees at the Peace Pipe were aware of Mr. Morrison's reliance on these 
state pronouncements; that certain professionals discussed the regulatory scheme with him; that 
the distributors kept him informed of important developments on this front; and Mr. Morrison 
attended numerous conferences where the state's tax enforcement policy was discussed. As the 
Supreme Court suggested in the PICCO case, courts should refrain from resolving issues like 
reliance in this context, but instead should wait until the defense has an opportunity to adduce the 
relevant evidence at trial. See PICCO, 411 U.S. at 675. 

C) Defendant's reliance was reasonable. 

A defendant claiming to have relied on a government representation that certain conduct 
was legal will succeed in asserting entrapment by estoppel only if the reliance was reasonable. 
The reasonableness of a defendant's reliance is determined by an objective - not subjective -
standard. U.S. v. Giffen, 473 F.3d 30, 42 (2d Cir. 2006). 

A number of factors may be considered in determining the reasonableness of a 
defendant's reliance. Some courts, including in the Second Circuit, hold the reliance must be 
reasonable in light of the identity of the government official, the point of law represented, and 
the substance of the misrepresentation. U.s. v. Abcasis, 45 F.3d 39, 43 (2d Cir. 1995). Others, 
also including the Second Circuit, hold that for reliance to be reasonable, the defendant must 
establish that a person sincerely desirous of obeying the law would have accepted the 
information as true, and would not have been put on notice to make further inquiries. U.s. v. Gil, 
297 F.3d 93 (2d Cir. 2002). 
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A number of factors may be considered in determining the reasonableness of a 
defendant's reliance. Some courts, including in the Second Circuit, hold the reliance must be 
reasonable in light of the identity of the government official, the point of law represented, and 
the substance of the misrepresentation. U.s. v. Abcasis, 45 F.3d 39, 43 (2d Cir. 1995). Others, 
also including the Second Circuit, hold that for reliance to be reasonable, the defendant must 
establish that a person sincerely desirous of obeying the law would have accepted the 
information as true, and would not have been put on notice to make further inquiries. U.s. v. Gil, 
297 F.3d 93 (2d Cir. 2002). 
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Here, Mr. Morrison will demonstrate the reasonableness of his reliance not only by 
establishing that the particular representations were made by government officials and agencies 
with apparent authority over cigarette taxing issues but also by the fact that every other Indian 
retailer in the State of New York relied upon the same representations and sold unlimited 
quantities of cigarettes on the reservation and NONE were ever prosecuted for on-reservation 
sales, even where the consumer was arrested off-reservation for being in violation of the state or 
federal laws. Indeed, the reasonableness of his reliance is underscored because the government 
still has not prosecuted any ofthe other retailers on the same reservation when the government is 
aware that they are engaging in the same activities. 

Thus, Mr. Morrison can establish at trial each of the elements of the defense of 
entrapment by estoppel. Given that it is not legally impossible for Mr. Morrison to prevail on 
this defense given the proffered evidence, it would be inappropriate for this Court to preclude 
Mr. Morrison from offering it at trial. 

4) The government fails to provide any reasoned basis to preclude Mr. Morrison 
from offering this defense. 

The government begins its argument by attempting to distinguish PICCO. Government 
Letter at 5. Its attempt fails. In PICCO, the corporate defendant sought to offer as a defense to 
an alleged violation of § 13 of the River and Harbors Act of 1899 that it had relied to its 
detriment on "the consistent, longstanding administrative construction of § 13 (of the River and 
Harbors act of 1899)" which was reflected in the "responsible administrative agency['s]" 
regulations. PICCO, 41 U.S. at 674. The Supreme Court noted that "of course, there can be no 
question that PICCO had a right to look to the Corps of Engineers' regulations for guidance." Id. 
Thus, the district court erred in refusing to permit the defendant to introduce evidence regarding 
its reliance on these regulations because their "designed purpose was to guide persons as to the 
meaning and requirements of the statute." Id. The Supreme Court further held that 

[T]o the extent that the regulations deprived PICCO of fair warning as to 
what conduct the Government intended to make criminal, we think there 
can be no doubt that traditional notions of fairness inherent in our system 
of criminal justice prevent the Government from proceeding with the 
prosecution. 

Id. (emphasis added). 

The Court rejected the government's argument in PICCO, similar to the one made here, 
that when all of the relevant factors are taken into account, the defendant would not have been 
misled about the state of the law. Id. at 675. Instead, as previously noted, the Court noted the 
government's arguments in this regard were premature. Id. 

The government's argument that the instant case does not involve affirmative statements 
of the kind in PICCO could not be more off-base. As set forth in great detail in § § I and 2 of 
this letter, there are a multitude of affirmative government statements that lead to the inexorable 
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Here, Mr. Morrison will demonstrate the reasonableness of his reliance not only by 
establishing that the particular representations were made by government officials and agencies 
with apparent authority over cigarette taxing issues but also by the fact that every other Indian 
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sales, even where the consumer was arrested off-reservation for being in violation of the state or 
federal laws. Indeed, the reasonableness of his reliance is underscored because the government 
still has not prosecuted any ofthe other retailers on the same reservation when the government is 
aware that they are engaging in the same activities. 

Thus, Mr. Morrison can establish at trial each of the elements of the defense of 
entrapment by estoppel. Given that it is not legally impossible for Mr. Morrison to prevail on 
this defense given the proffered evidence, it would be inappropriate for this Court to preclude 
Mr. Morrison from offering it at trial. 

4) The government fails to provide any reasoned basis to preclude Mr. Morrison 
from offering this defense. 

The government begins its argument by attempting to distinguish PICCO. Government 
Letter at 5. Its attempt fails. In PICCO, the corporate defendant sought to offer as a defense to 
an alleged violation of § 13 of the River and Harbors Act of 1899 that it had relied to its 
detriment on "the consistent, longstanding administrative construction of § 13 (of the River and 
Harbors act of 1899)" which was reflected in the "responsible administrative agency['s]" 
regulations. PICCO, 41 U.S. at 674. The Supreme Court noted that "of course, there can be no 
question that PICCO had a right to look to the Corps of Engineers' regulations for guidance." Id. 
Thus, the district court erred in refusing to permit the defendant to introduce evidence regarding 
its reliance on these regulations because their "designed purpose was to guide persons as to the 
meaning and requirements of the statute." Id. The Supreme Court further held that 

[T]o the extent that the regulations deprived PICCO of fair warning as to 
what conduct the Government intended to make criminal, we think there 
can be no doubt that traditional notions of fairness inherent in our system 
of criminal justice prevent the Government from proceeding with the 
prosecution. 

Id. (emphasis added). 

The Court rejected the government's argument in PICCO, similar to the one made here, 
that when all of the relevant factors are taken into account, the defendant would not have been 
misled about the state of the law. Id. at 675. Instead, as previously noted, the Court noted the 
government's arguments in this regard were premature. Id. 

The government's argument that the instant case does not involve affirmative statements 
of the kind in PICCO could not be more off-base. As set forth in great detail in § § I and 2 of 
this letter, there are a multitude of affirmative government statements that lead to the inexorable 
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conclusion that Indian merchants can sell unlimited quantities of cigarettes on the reservation 
without any adverse legal consequence. 

The government also seems to think that Mr. Morrison's defense will be based on the 
government's failure to enforce the CCTA against similarly situated individuals or businesses. 
Government Letter at 7. The government argues that this failure to aggressively enforce the law, 
by itself, does not give rise to the defense of entrapment by estoppel. The defense does not 
contest this point; however, as noted above, the failure to enforce against any other Indian 
merchant certainly supports the objective reasonableness of Mr. Morrison's reliance on the 
state's representations. 

Finally, the government argues that evidence regarding the repeal of22 NYRCRR §§ 336 
et seq. should not be allowed. Government Letter at I, 7. However, in addition to the reasons 
set forth above, the evidence regarding the New York state tax scheme is relevant and admissible 
because the underlying statute and regulations are elements of the CCTA offense. In order to 
constitute a "contraband cigarette," the cigarettes must bear no evidence of payment of 
applicable state or local taxes, "if the State or local government requires a stamp, impression, or 
other indication to be placed on packages or other containers of cigarettes to evidence payment 
of cigarette taxes." 18 U .S.C. § 2341(2) (emphasis added). Thus, the jury will have to determine 
the mixed question of law and fact of whether there are "applicable" state taxes and if the state or 
local government requires a stamp or other impression. As the Supreme Court has made clear, 
the jury must determine every element of the offense and its "constitutional responsibility is not 
merely to determine the facts, but to apply the law to those facts and draw the ultimate 
conclusion of guilt or innocence." United States v. Gaudin, SIS U.S. 506, 514 (1995) (noting the 
"historical and constitutionally guaranteed right of criminal defendants to demand that the jury 
decide guilt or innocence on every issue"). 

Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons, the government's motion in limine to preclude Mr. Morrison 
from offering the defense of entrapment by estoppel should be denied. 

Respectfully submitted, 

lsi 

William H. Murphy, Jr. 
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by itself, does not give rise to the defense of entrapment by estoppel. The defense does not 
contest this point; however, as noted above, the failure to enforce against any other Indian 
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Finally, the government argues that evidence regarding the repeal of22 NYRCRR §§ 336 
et seq. should not be allowed. Government Letter at I, 7. However, in addition to the reasons 
set forth above, the evidence regarding the New York state tax scheme is relevant and admissible 
because the underlying statute and regulations are elements of the CCTA offense. In order to 
constitute a "contraband cigarette," the cigarettes must bear no evidence of payment of 
applicable state or local taxes, "if the State or local government requires a stamp, impression, or 
other indication to be placed on packages or other containers of cigarettes to evidence payment 
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the mixed question of law and fact of whether there are "applicable" state taxes and if the state or 
local government requires a stamp or other impression. As the Supreme Court has made clear, 
the jury must determine every element of the offense and its "constitutional responsibility is not 
merely to determine the facts, but to apply the law to those facts and draw the ultimate 
conclusion of guilt or innocence." United States v. Gaudin, SIS U.S. 506, 514 (1995) (noting the 
"historical and constitutionally guaranteed right of criminal defendants to demand that the jury 
decide guilt or innocence on every issue"). 

Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons, the government's motion in limine to preclude Mr. Morrison 
from offering the defense of entrapment by estoppel should be denied. 
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The Honorable Denis R. Hurley 
United States District Judge 
Eastern District of New York 
United States Courthouse 
Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, N.Y, 11722 

United States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 

United States Attorney's Office 

610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, New York 11722-4454 

October 18, 2007 

Re: United States v. Rodney Morrison 
Criminal Docket No. 04-699 (S-2) (DRH) 

Dear Judge Hurley: 

The government submits this letter in reply to the 
defendant's letter brief in opposition to the government's October 
9, 2007 motion in limine to preclude the introduction of so-called 
entrapment by estoppel evidence at trial. The defendant's response 
in opposition merely highlights the irrelevance of the defense to 
the facts of this case, as well as the dangers of unfair prejudice, 
confusion and un-necessary delay that would result if the defendant 
is permitted to inject this irrelevant material at trial. 

The defendant tries exceedingly hard, despite the 
language in the indictment, to liken the charged activity either to 
the sale of un-taxed cigarettes for Indian consumption or sales 
wholly within the Indian reservation where there is no evidence 
that the retailer knows or otherwise facilitates the re-sale of un
taxed cigarettes, a -taxable event" under New York State law, and 
the resulting evasion of taxes. 

It bears noting that the indictment carefully limits the 
alleged crimes in Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 as follows: 

On or about the dates set forth below, within the Eastern 
District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO 
MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and 
intentionally sold and distributed contraband cigarettes, 
to wit: the approximate quantity of cigarettes set forth 
below, lacking valid New York State tax stamps, in 
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 
2342 (a) and 2. 
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United States Courthouse 
Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, N.Y, 11722 

United States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 

United States Attorney's Office 

610 Federal Plaza 
Central Islip, New York 11722-4454 

October 18, 2007 

Re: United States v. Rodney Morrison 
Criminal Docket No. 04-699 (S-2) (DRH) 

Dear Judge Hurley: 

The government submits this letter in reply to the 
defendant's letter brief in opposition to the government's October 
9, 2007 motion in limine to preclude the introduction of so-called 
entrapment by estoppel evidence at trial. The defendant's response 
in opposition merely highlights the irrelevance of the defense to 
the facts of this case, as well as the dangers of unfair prejudice, 
confusion and un-necessary delay that would result if the defendant 
is permitted to inject this irrelevant material at trial. 

The defendant tries exceedingly hard, despite the 
language in the indictment, to liken the charged activity either to 
the sale of un-taxed cigarettes for Indian consumption or sales 
wholly within the Indian reservation where there is no evidence 
that the retailer knows or otherwise facilitates the re-sale of un
taxed cigarettes, a -taxable event" under New York State law, and 
the resulting evasion of taxes. 

It bears noting that the indictment carefully limits the 
alleged crimes in Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 as follows: 

On or about the dates set forth below, within the Eastern 
District of New York, the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO 
MORRISON, together with others, knowingly and 
intentionally sold and distributed contraband cigarettes, 
to wit: the approximate quantity of cigarettes set forth 
below, lacking valid New York State tax stamps, in 
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 
2342 (a) and 2. 
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Indictment at ~ 21 (emphasis added) 

Specifically omitted from the indictment are other 
operative verbs provided in the contraband cigarette statue, which 
also proscribe transportation, receipt, possession and purchase of 
contraband cigarettes. 18 U.S.C. § 2341(2). Why? Precisely 
because under current New York law, and the forebearance policy, it 
remains technically lawful (although, the government submits, 
economically ridiculous) for an Indian retailer to purchase, have 
transported to and received at his retail shop, and possess, 
contraband cigarettes as defined by the Act. 

Morrison is charged with none of those acts. His 
liability in this case will be determined on evidence that he 
knowingly and intentionally aided and abetted others in sales and 
distribution of untaxed cigarettes off the reservation in violation 
of both New York and federal law. The sale and aiding and abetting 
in the distribution of such cigarettes outside of an Indian 
reservation is unaffected by the repeal of 22 NYCRR §§ 336 et ~ 
and forebearance policy. 

The distinction the defendant seeks to make between the 
charges in the indictment, and the conduct that formed the basis 
for his former employee Alex Pascal's federal conviction, Deft's. 
Memo at 6, simply does not exist. There is no authority that would 
limit Section 2341 (2) and the aiding and abetting statute in 18 
U.S.C. § 2, only to persons who actually drive contraband 
cigarettes off an Indian reservation or personally in re-sell those 
untaxed cigarettes. 

The defendant clearly seeks to nullify any charges that 
Court would give a jury regarding the application of Section 2 to 
these particular racketeering acts by introducing evidence of a 
defense that has no relevance to this case. 

In sum, under the circumstances of this case, the 
defendant can point to no evidence that he was 'affirmatively 
misled' into believing that he could help other cigarette re
sellers to evade New York State taxes. United States v. 
Pennsylvania Industrial Chemical Corp., 411 U.S. 655, 659-660 
(1973) . His self-serving rationalizations aside, this case is 
about assisting others to break the law and reaping millions by 
virtue of that illegal activity. Injecting estoppel-related 
evidence in this case would no nor more than "frustrate the 
government's ability to enforce the law and undermine the public 
interest in full enforcement of the law." United S.tates v. 
Buccanfuso, 882 F.2d 666, 669 (2d Cir. 1989), citing, Heckler v. 
Community Health Services, 467 U.S. 51, 60 (1980). 
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liability in this case will be determined on evidence that he 
knowingly and intentionally aided and abetted others in sales and 
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of both New York and federal law. The sale and aiding and abetting 
in the distribution of such cigarettes outside of an Indian 
reservation is unaffected by the repeal of 22 NYCRR §§ 336 et ~ 
and forebearance policy. 

The distinction the defendant seeks to make between the 
charges in the indictment, and the conduct that formed the basis 
for his former employee Alex Pascal's federal conviction, Deft's. 
Memo at 6, simply does not exist. There is no authority that would 
limit Section 2341 (2) and the aiding and abetting statute in 18 
U.S.C. § 2, only to persons who actually drive contraband 
cigarettes off an Indian reservation or personally in re-sell those 
untaxed cigarettes. 

The defendant clearly seeks to nullify any charges that 
Court would give a jury regarding the application of Section 2 to 
these particular racketeering acts by introducing evidence of a 
defense that has no relevance to this case. 

In sum, under the circumstances of this case, the 
defendant can point to no evidence that he was 'affirmatively 
misled' into believing that he could help other cigarette re
sellers to evade New York State taxes. United States v. 
Pennsylvania Industrial Chemical Corp., 411 U.S. 655, 659-660 
(1973) . His self-serving rationalizations aside, this case is 
about assisting others to break the law and reaping millions by 
virtue of that illegal activity. Injecting estoppel-related 
evidence in this case would no nor more than "frustrate the 
government's ability to enforce the law and undermine the public 
interest in full enforcement of the law." United S.tates v. 
Buccanfuso, 882 F.2d 666, 669 (2d Cir. 1989), citing, Heckler v. 
Community Health Services, 467 U.S. 51, 60 (1980). 
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For the reasons set forth above as well as in the 
government's original submission, the government respectfully 
requests that the motion in limine be granted and that the 
defendant be precluded from raising any evidence regarding the 
regulation of transactions that were the subject of repeal of 22 
NYCRR §§ 336 et ~., or the forebearance policy. 

by: 

Respectfully Submitted, 

ROSLYNN R. MAUSKOPF 
United States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 

/S/ 

_______________ ~_James Mis kiewicz 
Assistant United States Attorney 
(631) 715-7841 

cc: All counsel of record (via ECF only) 
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RACKETEERING ACTS 
# 4 THROUGH #80 

APPROXIMATE RECEIPT 
RACKETEERING QUANTITY OF LOCATED 

ACT GX# DATE CIGARETTES SOLD #OF CARTONS PURCHASER (#) 

4 1/8/97 130,40.0. 652 
5 30 5/2/03 102,600 .. 513 MS TINY 
6 30 5/4/03 90,000 450 MS TINY 
7 30 5/7/03 94,000 470 MSTINY 
8 30 10/6/03 6~,~00 348 . MsTINY 
9 31 11i1ib:j 74,400 372 CHIKE RAMSAY 
10 31 11/15/03 62,600 313 CHIKE RAMSAY 
11 33 12/1 i03 93,600. 468 CHIKE RAMSAY 1697882 
12 31 12/18/03 64,400 322 CHIKE RAMSAY 

34a 1731138 
13 34b 12/30/03 77,800 389 CHIKE RAMSAY 1731164 
14 31 1/15/04 7~,~00 394 CHIKE RAMSAY 
15 31 2/19/04 10~AOO 547 CHIKE RAMSAY 
16 35 3/13/04 133,000 665 CHII(E RAMSAY 11313()[Jil 
17 36 4/7/04 131,400 657 CHIKERAMSAY 1842181 
18 37 5/zio4 133,000 665 CHIKE RAMSAY 1871384 
19 38 5/20/04 1~1,400 657 cHIKE RAMSAY 1892877 
20 39 5/24/04 6~,000 330 ALZALZ 1898396 
21 40 5/25/04 70,000 350 ALZALZ 1899994 

41a 1916832 
22 41b 6/7/04 1.1?,000 560 ALZALZ 1916378 
23 42 6/8/04 66,000 330 ALZALZ 1918144 
24 43a 6/10/04 1?(i,600 . 628 CHIKE RAMSAY 1920002 
25 43b 6/10/04 .8~,000. 415 ALZALZ 1920938 
26 44 6/11/04 63,000 315 ALZALZ ·1922094··· 
27 45a 6/14/04 ... 136,~00 682 MSTiNY 1924404 
28 45b 6/14/04 74,000 370 ALZALZ 1925515 

46a 
.. 

1928854 
46b 1928919 

29 46c 6/17/04 132,.000 660 MS TINY 1928933 
30 47 671gi04 1 ... 1.4,°00 ... 570 MS TiNY 1931305 

',.> ,",-. -,-.'-'-

MsriNY 31 48 6/22/04 1?0,OOO 600 1935977 
32 49 6/24/04 . JO,OOO 350 ALZALZ 1939309 
33 50a ·672571)4 .1?Q,000 600 MS TINY 1939874 
34 50b 6/25i64· 65,000 325 ALZALZ 1940643 
35 51 6/27/04 132,400 662 MS TINY ·1941831) 
36 52 6/28/04 . 62,00Q 310 ALZALZ 1944072 
37 53a 6/29/04 .62,000 .... 310 ALZALZ 1945546 
38 53b 6/29/04 .14?,~00. 712 CHIKE RAMSAY 1945207 
39 54a 6/30/04 126,000 630 MS TINY 1945681 
40 54b 6/30/04 66,000. 330 ALZALZ 1946935 
41 55a 7/1/04 116,600 583 MSTINY 1947390 
42 55b 7/1/04 7§,40g 392 ALZALZ 1948900 
43 56 7/2/04 96,000 480 MS TINY 1950157 
44 30 7/3/04 144,000 720 MS TINY 
45 57 7/5/04 74,000 370 ALZALZ 1952937 
46 58a 7/6/04 85,000 425 ALZALZ 1954752 
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20 39 5/24/04 6~,000 330 ALZALZ 1898396 
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41a 1916832 
22 41b 6/7/04 1.1?,000 560 ALZALZ 1916378 
23 42 6/8/04 66,000 330 ALZALZ 1918144 
24 43a 6/10/04 1?(i,600 . 628 CHIKE RAMSAY 1920002 
25 43b 6/10/04 .8~,000. 415 ALZALZ 1920938 
26 44 6/11/04 63,000 315 ALZALZ ·1922094··· 
27 45a 6/14/04 ... 136,~00 682 MSTiNY 1924404 
28 45b 6/14/04 74,000 370 ALZALZ 1925515 
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39 54a 6/30/04 126,000 630 MS TINY 1945681 
40 54b 6/30/04 66,000. 330 ALZALZ 1946935 
41 55a 7/1/04 116,600 583 MSTINY 1947390 
42 55b 7/1/04 7§,40g 392 ALZALZ 1948900 
43 56 7/2/04 96,000 480 MS TINY 1950157 
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1 .. ,_642 
302 

PURCHASER 
MSTINY 
ALZALZ 

,-""'"---- , , "._' .. 
ALZALZ 
MS TINY 
ALZALZ 
MsriNY 

. ALzALZ 
.-' ... """, .. "._"" ...... , 

MS TINY 
ALZALZ 
ALZALZ 

RECEIPT 
LOCATED 

jift 
1954779 
1956387 
1959184 
1959117 

1961723 
1962720 

, ." - - _._._-
1965403 
1965362·· 
1966240 . 

CHIKE RAMSAY 
ALZALZ 
MS TINY 
ALZALZ 
ALZALZ 
ALZALZ 
MSTINY 

, "" "-_.",,,, .•. ,,,.,._.,"--"---,, 

ALZALZ 
ALZALZ 
MS TINY 
ALZALZ 
ALZALZ 
·ALZACi 
MS TINY 
ALZALZ 

1968235 
1968844 
1969965 
1971654 
1973042 
1973499 
1974526 _.- -"'-" .. '" ..•.•.. 
1975945 
1976869 
1977182 
1978009 
1978996 
1979048 

.... , ... , ._----".-.. '. 
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United States District Court, 
E.D. New York. 

UNITED STATES of America, 
v. 

Rodney Arnoldo MORRlSON, Defendant. 
No. 04-CR-699 (DRH)(S-2). 

Nov. 9, 2007. 

Background: Defendant charged with multiple 
counts of aiding and abetting the selIing and of con
traband cigarettes lacking valid state tax stamps in 
violation of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act (CCTA) moved to dismiss the indictment. The 
United States District Court for the Eastern District 
of New York denied motion. Defendant moved for 
reconsideration and again moved to dismiss the 
charges. 

Holdings: The District Court, Hurley, Senior Dis
trict Judge, held that: 
(I) motion for reconsideration would be denied, and 
(2) the CCTA was not void for vagueness as ap
plied to crime of aiding and abetting the selling of 
untaxed cigarettes off of a Native American reser
vation in New York State. 

Motions denied. 

West Headnotes 

[IJ Taxation 371 €;::;;;>3612 

371 Taxation 
3711X Sales, Use, Service, and Gross Receipts 

Taxes 
3711X(A) In General 

371k3607 Power to Impose 
37Ik3612 k. Indians and Persons Deal

ing with Indians on Indian Lands. Most Cited Cases 
Federal law forbids the colIection of state taxes on 
cigarettes sold on Native American reservations to 

Page 2 of 14 

Page I 

emolled tribal members. 18 U.S.C.A. § 2341 (2). 

[2J Taxation 371 €;::;;;>3612 

371 Taxation 
3711X Sales, Use, Service, and Gross Receipts 

Taxes 
3711X(A) In General 

371k3607 Power to Impose 
371k3612 k. Indians and Persons Deal

ing with Indians on Indian Lands. Most Cited Cases 
When cigarettes are sold on a Native American re
servation to nOll,:"Native American consumers, the 
state cigarette taxes may be collected. 18 U.S.C.A. 
§2341(2). 

131 Criminal Law 110 €;::;;;>633.1 

110 Criminal Law 
110XX Trial 

110XX(B) Course and Conduct of Trial in 
General 

1l0k633.1 k.In General. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 1l0k633(l)) 

Where the federal rules of criminal procedure do 
not speak specificalIy to a matter, a court conduct
ing a criminal case is permitted to draw from and 
mirror a practice that is sanctioned by the federal 
rules of civil procedure. Fed.Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 
57(b), 18 U.S.C.A. 

[4J Criminal Law 110 €;::;;;>632(3.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
Il0XX Trial 

11 OXX(A) Preliminary Proceedings 
II Ok632 Dockets and Pretrial Procedure 

I IOk632(3) Motions 
IIOk632(3.1) k. In General. Most 

Cited Cases 
The standard for a motion for reconsideration is 
strict, and reconsideration will generalIy be denied 
unless the moving party can point to controlling de
cisions or factual data that the court overlooked, 
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United States District Court, 
E.D. New York. 

UNITED STATES of America, 
v. 

Rodney Arnoldo MORRlSON, Defendant. 
No. 04-CR-699 (DRH)(S-2). 

Nov. 9, 2007. 

Background: Defendant charged with multiple 
counts of aiding and abetting the selIing and of con
traband cigarettes lacking valid state tax stamps in 
violation of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act (CCTA) moved to dismiss the indictment. The 
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of New York denied motion. Defendant moved for 
reconsideration and again moved to dismiss the 
charges. 

Holdings: The District Court, Hurley, Senior Dis
trict Judge, held that: 
(I) motion for reconsideration would be denied, and 
(2) the CCTA was not void for vagueness as ap
plied to crime of aiding and abetting the selling of 
untaxed cigarettes off of a Native American reser
vation in New York State. 

Motions denied. 
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state cigarette taxes may be collected. 18 U.S.C.A. 
§2341(2). 
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110XX Trial 

110XX(B) Course and Conduct of Trial in 
General 

1l0k633.1 k.In General. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 1l0k633(l)) 

Where the federal rules of criminal procedure do 
not speak specificalIy to a matter, a court conduct
ing a criminal case is permitted to draw from and 
mirror a practice that is sanctioned by the federal 
rules of civil procedure. Fed.Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 
57(b), 18 U.S.C.A. 

[4J Criminal Law 110 €;::;;;>632(3.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
Il0XX Trial 

11 OXX(A) Preliminary Proceedings 
II Ok632 Dockets and Pretrial Procedure 

I IOk632(3) Motions 
IIOk632(3.1) k. In General. Most 
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The standard for a motion for reconsideration is 
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unless the moving party can point to controlling de
cisions or factual data that the court overlooked, 
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matters, in other words, that might reasonably be 
expected to alter the conclusion reached by the 
court. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 54(b), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[5] Criminal Law 110 €=:>632(3.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
l10XX Trial 

II OXX(A) Preliminary Proceedings 
11 Ok632 Dockets and Pretrial Procedure 

IIOk632(3) Motions 
1l0k632(3.1) k. In General. Most 

Cited Cases 
In a motion for reconsideration, a party may not ad
vance new facts, issues, or arguments not previ
ously presented to the court. Fed.Rules 
Civ.Proc.Rule 54(b), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[6J Indictment and Information 210 €=:>144.2 

210 Indictment and Information 
210IX Motion to Dismiss 

21 Ok 144.2 k. Hearing and Determination. 
Most Cited Cases 
Defendant's motion for reconsideration of the deni
al of his motion to dismiss indictment charging 
multiple counts of selling and distributing contra
band cigarettes lacking valid state tax stamps in vi
olation of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act (CCTA) would be denied, where argument in 
support of reconsideration was explicitly discussed 
at oral argument on the original motion to dismiss, 
and to the extent defendant cited new case author
ity, the cases did not present controlling authority 
which could reasonably be expected to alter the 
conclusion reached by the court. 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 
2341(2), 2342(a); Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 54(b), 
28 U.S.C.A. 

[7J Constitutional Law 92 C=>3905 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(B) Protections Provided and 
Deprivations Prohibited in General 

92k3905 k. Certainty and Definiteness; 

Page 3 of 14 

Page 2 

Vagueness. Most Cited Cases 
A statute may be challenged under the due process 
clause on vagueness grounds either as applied or on 
its face. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[81 Constitutional Law 92 C=>4505 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVIl(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVII(H)2 Nature and Elements of 

Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Definition of 

Offense 
92k4505 k. Certainty and Definite

ness in General. Most Cited Cases 
The Due Process Clause ensures that the individual 
need not speculate as to the meaning of penal stat
utes and is entitled to be informed as to what the 
State commands or forbids. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14. 

[9] Constitntional Law 92 €=:>4506 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVIl(H)2 Nature and Elements of 

Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Definition of 

Offense 
92k4506 k. Vagueness. Most Cited 

Cases 
Although the void for vagueness doctrine pursuant 
to the due process clause does not require meticu
lous specificity from eveI)' statute, as language is 
necessarily marked by a degree of imprecision, 
courts do apply a more stringent analysis when ex
amining laws that impose criminal penalties be
cause the consequences of imprecision are qualitat
ively more severe. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[IOJ Constitutional Law 92 €=:>4506 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 
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matters, in other words, that might reasonably be 
expected to alter the conclusion reached by the 
court. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 54(b), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[5] Criminal Law 110 €=:>632(3.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
l10XX Trial 

II OXX(A) Preliminary Proceedings 
11 Ok632 Dockets and Pretrial Procedure 

IIOk632(3) Motions 
1l0k632(3.1) k. In General. Most 

Cited Cases 
In a motion for reconsideration, a party may not ad
vance new facts, issues, or arguments not previ
ously presented to the court. Fed.Rules 
Civ.Proc.Rule 54(b), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[6J Indictment and Information 210 €=:>144.2 
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210IX Motion to Dismiss 

21 Ok 144.2 k. Hearing and Determination. 
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Defendant's motion for reconsideration of the deni
al of his motion to dismiss indictment charging 
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and to the extent defendant cited new case author
ity, the cases did not present controlling authority 
which could reasonably be expected to alter the 
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2341(2), 2342(a); Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 54(b), 
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Deprivations Prohibited in General 
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A statute may be challenged under the due process 
clause on vagueness grounds either as applied or on 
its face. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[81 Constitutional Law 92 C=>4505 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVIl(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVII(H)2 Nature and Elements of 

Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Definition of 

Offense 
92k4505 k. Certainty and Definite

ness in General. Most Cited Cases 
The Due Process Clause ensures that the individual 
need not speculate as to the meaning of penal stat
utes and is entitled to be informed as to what the 
State commands or forbids. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14. 

[9] Constitntional Law 92 €=:>4506 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVIl(H)2 Nature and Elements of 

Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Definition of 

Offense 
92k4506 k. Vagueness. Most Cited 

Cases 
Although the void for vagueness doctrine pursuant 
to the due process clause does not require meticu
lous specificity from eveI)' statute, as language is 
necessarily marked by a degree of imprecision, 
courts do apply a more stringent analysis when ex
amining laws that impose criminal penalties be
cause the consequences of imprecision are qualitat
ively more severe. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[IOJ Constitutional Law 92 €=:>4506 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 
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92XXVJI(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVJI(H)2 Nature and Elements of 

Crime 
92k4S02 Creation and Definition of 

Offense 
92k4S06 k. Vagueness. Most Cited 

Cases 
As generally stated, the void for vagueness doc
trine~ pursuant to the due process clause, requires 
that a penal statute define the criminal offense with 
sufficient defmiteness that ordinary people can un
derstand what conduct is prohibited and in a man
ner that does not encourage arbitrary and discrimin
atory enforcement. V.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[11] Constitutional Law 92 €:=4506 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVJI Due Process 

92XXVJI(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVJI(H)2 Nature and Elements of 

Crime 
92k4S02 Creation and Definition of 

Offense 
92k4S06 k. Vagueness. Most Cited 

Cases 
A criminal statute fails to provide "fair notice," as 
required to overcome a vagueness challenge under 
the due process clause, if it fails to provide people 
of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to 
understand what conduct it prohibits. V.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14. 

[12] Constitntional Law 92 €:=4509(24) 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVJI Due Process 

92XXVJI(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVJI(H)2 Nature and Elements of 

Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Defmition of 

Offense 
92k4509 Particular Offenses 

92k4S09(24) k. Tax and Internal 
Revenue Offenses. Most Cited Cases 

Page 4 of 14 

Page 3 

Taxation 371 €:=3629 

371 Taxation 
371IX Sales, Vse, Service, and Gross Receipts 

Taxes 
371IX(B) Regulations 

371 k3625 Validity of Acts and Ordin- ances 
371k3629 k. Cigarettes and Tobacco 

Products. Most Cited Cases 
Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking Act (CCTA), 
prohibiting the selling of contraband cigarettes 
lacking valid state tax stamps, if taxes were applic
able and the stamps were required by state law, was 
not void for vagueness, under the due process 
clause, as applied to crime of aiding and abetting 
the selling of untaxed cigarettes off of a Native 
American reservation in New York State, based on 
State's policy of non-enforcement of cigarette taxes 
for sales of cigarettes on Native American reserva
tions to non-Native Americans; the failure of the 
executive branch to enforce state tax law was not 
equivalent to the repeal of the tax, non-enforcement 
did not render the tax not applicable, aiding and 
abetting was specific intent crime, state law ex
pressly required tax and stamp for all cigarettes 
sold off-reservation, and state's non-enforcement 
policy affected only on-reservation sales. V.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14; 18 V.S.C.A. §§ 2, 2341(2), 
2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471-e. 

[13J Constitutional Law 92 €:=3905 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(B) Protections Provided and 
Deprivations Prohibited in General 

92k390S k. Certainty and Defmiteness; 
Vagueness. Most Cited Cases 
In addition to the fair notice requirement, a law is 
unconstitutionally vague under the due process 
clause if it authorizes or even encourages arbitrary 
and discriminatory enforcement. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14. 

[14J Constitutional Law 92 €:=3905 
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The scienter requirement of the aiding and abetting 
statute narrows the scope of the prohibited conduct 
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the context of determining whether a criminal stat
ute is vague, under the due process clause. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14;18 U.S.C.A. § 2. 
*248 Benton J. Campbell, United States Attorney, 
Eastern District of New York, by James M. 
Miskiewicz, A.U.S.A., Brooklyn, NY, for Govern
ment. 

William H. Murphy, Jr. & Associates, by William 
H. Murphy, Jr., Schulman, Treem, Kaminkow, 
Gilden & Ravenell, P.A., Attorneys at Law, by 
Kenneth W. Ravenell, *249 Esq., Baltimore, MD, 
Anthony A. Capetola, Esq., Williston Park, NY, 
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Law Offices of Peter Smith & Associates, by Peter 
Smith, Esq., Huntington, NY, Daniel Nobel, Esq., 
Law Offices of Richard Ware Levitt, by Richard 
Ware Levitt, Esq., New York, NY, William T. Mar
tin & Associates, by William T. Martin, Esq., 
Brooklyn, NY, for Defendant. 

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 

HURLEY, Senior District Judge. 

Presently before the Court are the following two 
motions by defendant Rodney Morrison 
("Defendant" or "Morrison"): (I) Defendant's mo
tion for reconsideration of my October 9, 2007 
bench decision denying his motion to dismiss rack
eteering acts 4 through 80 of the superseding indict
ment (docket no. 367); and (2) Defendant's motion 
to dismiss racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the su
perseding indictment on substantive due process 
grounds (docket no. 392). For the following reas
ons, Defendant's motions are DENIED. 

BACKGROUND 

Familiarity with the facts and procedural back
ground is presumed. Thus, the Court states only 
those facts necessary for disposition of the instant 
motions. 

I. The Superseding Indictment and Relevant Stat
utes 

Racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the superseding 
indictment allege that Morrison. "knowingly and in
tentionally sold and distributed contraband cigar
ettes ... lacking valid New York State tax stamps, in 
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 
2342(a) and 2" from January 8, 1997 to August 2, 
2004.18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) is part of the Contraband 
Cigarettes Trafficking Act ("CCTA"), 18 U.S.C. §§ 
2341 et seq., and provides: 

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to 
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to dismiss racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the su
perseding indictment on substantive due process 
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BACKGROUND 
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ground is presumed. Thus, the Court states only 
those facts necessary for disposition of the instant 
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I. The Superseding Indictment and Relevant Stat
utes 

Racketeering acts 4 through 80 of the superseding 
indictment allege that Morrison. "knowingly and in
tentionally sold and distributed contraband cigar
ettes ... lacking valid New York State tax stamps, in 
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 
2342(a) and 2" from January 8, 1997 to August 2, 
2004.18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) is part of the Contraband 
Cigarettes Trafficking Act ("CCTA"), 18 U.S.C. §§ 
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ship) transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, 
or purchase contraband cigarettes or contraband 
smokeless tobacco. 

18 U.S.C. § 2342(a). Contraband cigarettes are 
defined in section 2341 as follows: 

a quantity in excess of 60,000 FNt cigarettes, 
which bear no evidence of the payment of applic
able State or local cigarette taxes in the State or 
locality where such cigarettes are found, if the 
State or local government requires a stamp, im
pression, or other indication to be placed on 
packages or other containers of cigarettes to evid
ence payment of cigarette taxes, and which are in 
the possession of any person other than [setting 
forth exempted persons] 

FNl. At the time of the acts alleged in the 
superseding indictment, "contraband cigar
ettes" was defined to mean a quantity in 
excess of 60,000 cigarettes which bore no 
evidence of the payment of state cigarette 
taxes. The statute was amended in March 
2006 and the number required to trigger 
the provisions of the CCTA was reduced to 
10,000. 

Id § 2341(2) (emphasis added). 

[1][2] Article 20 of the New York State Tax Law 
imposes ~'a tax on all cigarettes possessed in the 
state by any person for sale, except that no tax shall 
be imposed on cigarettes sold under such circum
stances that this state is without power to impose 
such tax" or on certain sales to the United States. 
N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1). It further provides that 
"[i]t is intended that the ultimate incidence of and 
liability for the tax shall be upon the consumer, and 
that any agent or dealer who shall pay the tax to the 
tax commission shall collect the tax from the pur
chaser or consumer." Id § 471(2). Federal law 
*250 forbids the collection of these taxes on cigar
ettes sold on Native American reservations to en
rolled tribal members. See Moe v. Confederated 
Salish & Kootenai Tribes, 425 U.S. 463, 96 S.C!. 
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1634, 48 L.Ed.2d 96 (1976). However, when cigar
ettes are sold on the reservation to non-Native 
American consumers, the taxes may be collected. 
See Washington v. Confederated Tribes ~r Colville 
Indian Reservation, 447 U.S. 134, 100 S.C!. 2069, 
65 L.Ed.2d 10 (1980). 

Effective May 13, 2003, the New York legislature 
passed N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e which provided: 

Where a non-native American person purchases, 
for such person's own consumption, any cigar
ettes or other tobacco products on or originating 
from native American nation or tribe land recog
nized by the federal government and reservation 
land recognized as such by the state of New 
York, the commissioner shall promulgate rules 
and regulations necessary to implement the col
lection of sales, excise and use taxes on such ci
garettes or other tobacco products. 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e (2003). The regulations 
called for under § 471-e were never adoptedFN2 

FN2. Although § 471-e was amended ef
fective March 2006, the amendment post
dates the acts in the superseding indict
ment and, accordingly, is not relevant for 
present purposes. 

II. The uForbearance Policy" 

In 1988, the New York Department of Taxation and 
Finance (the "DlR") determined that a large 
volume of unstamped cigarettes was being pur
chased by non-Native Americans from reservation 
retailers. Department of Taxation and Finance oj 
N.Y. v. Milhelm Allea & Bros., Inc., 512 U.S. 61, 
64-65, 114 S.Ct. 2028, 129 L.Ed.2d 52 (1994). Be
cause unlawful purchases of unstamped cigarettes 
deprived New York of substantial tax revenues, the 
DTR adopted regulations, 22 NYCRR §§ 336 et 
seq., for the enforcement of the collection of taxes 
from non-Native American purchasers of cigarettes 
from on-reservation retailers. Id at 65, 114 S.C!. 
2028; see also NY, Association «( Convenience 
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chased by non-Native Americans from reservation 
retailers. Department of Taxation and Finance oj 
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Stores v. Urbach, 169 Misc.2d 906. 646 N.Y.S.2d 
918, 921 (3d Dep't 1996). The regulations recog
nized the right of exempt Native American con
sumers to purchase untaxed cigarettes on the reser~ 
vation. However, "[t]o ensure that nonexempt pur
chasers do not likewise escape taxation, the regula
tions limit[ ed] the quantity of untaxed cigarettes 
that wholesalers may sell to tribes and tribal retail
ers." Milhelm, 512 U.S. at 65, 114 S.Ct. 2028. "To 
prevent non-Indians from escaping the tax, [the] 
regulatory scheme ... imposer d] record keeping re
quirements and quantity limitations on cigarette 
wholesalers who sell untaxed cigarettes to reserva
tion Indians." Id at 64, 114 S.Ct. 2028. Under the 
regulations, "[r]etailers were to keep accurate re
cords of those to whom they sold untaxed cigarettes 
and submit these records to the [DTR]." Warren v. 
Pataki, No. 01-CV-0004E, 2002 WL 450056, at *1 
(W.D.N.Y. Jan. 9,2002). 

Following adoption of the regulations, a proceeding 
was commenced by Native American merchants to 
permanently enjoin the DTR from enforcing them 
and, as a result, the DTR suspended implementation 
pending the outcome of that litigation. New York 
Assoc. of Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 275 
A.D.2d 520, 712 N.Y.S.2d 220, 221 (3d Dep't 
2000). Ultimately, the Supreme Court in Milhelm 
held that the regulations were valid and enforce
able. 512 U.S. at 70-78, 114 S.Ct. 2028. Despite 
this outcome, the DTR continued its non-*251 en
forcement or "forbearance" policy. Urbach, 712 
N.Y.S.2d at 221. 

In May 1997, Governor Pataki directed the repeal 
of the regulations and proposed legislation that 
would allow on-reservation stores to sell tax-free 
cigarettes. Santa Fe Natural Tobacco Co. v. Spitzer, 
No. 00 CIV. 7274, 00 CIV. 7750,2001 WL 636441 
(S.D.N.Y. June 8, 2001), rev'd on other grounds, 
320 F.3d 200 (2d Cir.2003). The regulations were 
repealed by the DTR on April 28, 1998. New York 
Assoc. ~r Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 92 N.Y.2d 
204, 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 904 
(1998). In addition, although Governor Pataki sent 
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to the legislature a bill that would amend the State 
Tax Law to allow reservation stores to sell tax-free 
cigarettes, the proposed amendments never .passed. 
Nonetheless, the State's policy of non-enforcement 
continued. 

III. The Court's October 9, 2007 Decision 

On October 9, 2007, the Court denied Defendant's 
motion to dismiss racketeering acts four through 
eighty, finding, inter alia, that New York's failure to 
enforce the Tax Law with regard to on-reservation 
cigarette sales to non-Native Americans did not 
vitiate the statutory obligation to pay the tax (Oct. 
9, 2007 Tr. at 57), and that Morrison could be 
found guilty of aiding and abetting for "sell[ing] a 
quantity of [contraband] cigarettes to an entity 
which he knows intends to resell the cigarettes in a 
taxable transaction" (id at 63), assuming Morrison 
did so for the purpose of aiding the unlawful re
sales. In reaching this decision, the Court relied in 
part on United States v. Kaid, 241 Fed.Appx. 747 
(2d Cil'.2007) (summary order), which though not 
entitled to precedential effect, was helpful.'N3 In 
Kaid, the Circuit rejected defendants' argument that 
the "non-enforcement policy effectively detaxed 
sales of cigarettes to non-Native Americans on re
servation land," finding it to be "meritless." Id. at 
749. The Circuit also noted that "[w]hile it appears 
that New York does not enforce its taxes on small 
quantities of cigarettes purchased on reservations 
for personal use by non-Native Americans, nothing 
in the record supports the conclusion that the state 
does not demand that taxes be paid when, as in this 
case, massive quantities of cigarettes were pur
chased on reservations by non-Native Americans 
for resale." Id 

FN3. The Court is also mindful of the fact 
that the defendants in Kaid were not Nat
ive-American retailers but rather non
Native Americans who purchased large 
quantities of untaxed cigarettes on the re
servation for the purpose of selling them 
off-reservation. 
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DISCUSSION 

I. Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration of the 
Court's October 9, 2007 Decision is Denied 

In support of his motion for reconsideration of the 
Court's October 9, 2007 bench decision, Morrison 
argues that N. Y. Tax Law § 471 is not a self
executing statute as applied to the sale of cigarettes 
on tribal lands and may apply to tribal cigarette 
sales only if implementing regulations are in place. 
He asserts that by repealing the 1998 regulations, 
the State not only announced a "forbearance 
policy" but rather rendered § 471 unenforceable as 
applied to reservation cigarette sales. 

[3] There is no specific rule, either in the Federal 
Rules of Criminal Procedure or in this Court's 
Criminal Local Rules, providing for the reconsider
ation of a ruling on a criminal matter. See, e.g., 
United States v. James, No. 02 CR 0778, 2007 WL 
914242, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 21, 2007). "Where 
the Rules of Criminal Procedure do not speak spe
cifically to a matter, a *252 court conducting a 
criminal case is permitted to draw from and mirror 
a practice that is sanctioned by the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure." ld (citation and internal quota
tion marks omitted). In that regard, Federal Rule of 
Criminal Procedure 57(b), which is entitled 
"Procedure When There Is No Controlling Law", 
provides in part that "[a] judge may regulate prac
tice in any manner consistent with federal law, 
these rules, and the local rules of the district." 
Fed.R.Crim.P. 57(b). "Thus, when deciding mo
tions for reconsideration in criminal matters, courts 
in this district have resolved such motions accord
ing to the same principles that apply in the civil 
context." ld (citations and internal quotation marks 
omitted). 

[4][5] A motion for reconsideration in a civil case 
is governed by Local Civil Rule 6.3 and by Federal 
Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b). FN' The standard 
for a motion for reconsideration "is strict, and re
consideration will generally be denied unless the 
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moving party can point to controlling decisions or 
[factual] data that the court overlooked-matters, in 
other words, that might reasonably be expected to 
alter the conclusion reached by the court." Shrader 
v. CSX Transp., Inc., 70 F.3d 255, 257 (2d 
Cir.1995). "The major grounds justifying reconsid
eration are 'an intervening change of controlling 
law, the availability of new evidence, or the need to 
correct a clear error or prevent manifest injustice.' " 
Virgin Atl. Airways, Ltd v. National Mediation Ed, 
956 F.2d 1245, 1255 (2d Cir.1992) (quoting 18 C. 
Wright, A. Miller & E. Cooper, Federal Practice & 
Procedure § 4478 at 790). Thus, a "party may not 
advance new facts, issues, or arguments not previ-' 
ously presented to the Court." Nat'l Union Fire Ins. 
Co. v. Stroh Cos., 265 F.3d 97, 115 (2d Cir.2001) 
(quoting Polsby v. St. Martin's Press, No. 97 Civ. 
690, 2000 WL 98057, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 18, 
2000». 

FN4. In discussing the appropriate stand
ard for reconsideration, many courts refer 
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e), 
which applies to motions filed after the 
entry of a fmal jUdgment. Here, the more 
applicable civil rule is Federal Rule of 
Civil Procedure 54 (b), which applies to 
motions to reconsider interlocutory orders. 
Nonetheless, the substantive standards un
der both rules are identical. 

[6] Applying the standards enunciated above, the 
Court fmds that Defendant has failed to satisfy his 
burden of showing that this Court overlooked a 
controlling decision or material fact that would al
ter the outcome of its previous decision. The 
ground raised by Defendant in support of his mo
tion for reargument was explicitly discussed at oral 
argument on the original motion. (See Oct. 5, 2007 
Tr. at 144.) To the extent Defendant has cited new 
case authority, the cases do not present controlling 
authority which "might reasonably be expected to 
alter the conclusion reached by the court." Shrader, 
70 F.3d at 257. Accordingly, Defendant's motion 
for reargument is denied. FNS 
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applied to reservation cigarette sales. 
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which applies to motions filed after the 
entry of a fmal jUdgment. Here, the more 
applicable civil rule is Federal Rule of 
Civil Procedure 54 (b), which applies to 
motions to reconsider interlocutory orders. 
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der both rules are identical. 

[6] Applying the standards enunciated above, the 
Court fmds that Defendant has failed to satisfy his 
burden of showing that this Court overlooked a 
controlling decision or material fact that would al
ter the outcome of its previous decision. The 
ground raised by Defendant in support of his mo
tion for reargument was explicitly discussed at oral 
argument on the original motion. (See Oct. 5, 2007 
Tr. at 144.) To the extent Defendant has cited new 
case authority, the cases do not present controlling 
authority which "might reasonably be expected to 
alter the conclusion reached by the court." Shrader, 
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FN5. Parenthetically, the Court notes that 
Defendant's reliance on cases such as 
Pierre v. Gonzales. 502 F.3d 109 (2d 
Cir.2007) and United States v. Belcher, 
927 F.2d 1182, 1185 (lIth Cir.1991), is 
misplaced as the treaty and statute ad
dressed~ respectively, in those cases were 
clearly not self-executing. Here, on the 
other hand, the effect of the repeal of the 
regulations is that cigarette retailers loc
ated on Indian reservations can sell an un
restricted number of untaxed cigarettes 
without keeping records or reporting to the 
DTR but" 'the repeal [of the regulations] 
does not eliminate the statutory liability for 
taxes as they relate to sales on Indian re
servations to nonexempt individuals.' " 
Urbach, 92 N.Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 
280, 699 N.E.2d 904 (quoting the DTRs's 
notice of adoption, 20 N.Y.S. Register, 
Apr. 29, 1998, Issue 17, Book I, at 23). 

*253 II. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Racket
eering Acts 4 through 80 of the Superseding In" 
dictment on Substantive Due Process Grounds is 
Denied 

Upon rendering its bench decision on Defendant's 
motion to dismiss racketeering acts four through 
ninety, the Court noted that it had decided Defend
ant's motion on the issues as framed in the underly
ing \etter briefs and that it would be amenable to re
visiting Defendant's application on new grounds, 
including a potential substantive due process viola
tion. (Oct. 9, 2007 Tr. at 64.) Thereafrer, by letter 
dated October 23, 2007, Defendant filed a second 
motion to dismiss racketeering acts 4 through 80 
"on the grounds that prosecuting Morrison on those 
acts would constitute a violation of his substantive 
due process rights." (Letter by William H. Murphy, 
Ir. ("Murphy Letter"), dated Oct. 23, 2007, at 1.) 
For the reasons that follow, Defendant's motion is 
denied. 

Page 9 of 14 

Page 8 

A. As-Applied Challenge 

[7] "A statute may be challenged on vagueness 
grounds either as applied or on its face." Thibodeau 
v. Portuondo, 486 F.3d 61, 67 (2d Cir.2007). Here, 
Morrison asserts that the statute is vague as applied. 
(See Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 30, 2007, at 1.) 
Racketeering acts 4 through 80 charge Defendant 
with selling and distributing contraband cigarettes 
in violation of the CCTA and 18 U.S.C. § 2, i.e., 
with both substantive violations of the CCTA as 
well as aider and abettor liability. However, al
though the government has espoused various pro
secutorial theories as the case has progressed, the 
government's most recent correspondence limits it
self to a theory of aiding and abetting. (See, e.g., 
Gov't's Oct. 18, 2007 Letter at 2 ("[Morrison's] li
ability in this case will be determined on evidence 
that he knowingly and intentionally aided and abet
ted others in sales and distribution of untaxed cigar
ettes off the reservation in violation of both New 
York and federal law."); Gov't's Oct. 9, 2007 Letter 
at 3 ("In the present case the government will show 
as to Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 that the de
fendant aided and abetted others in the sale and dis
tribution of contraband cigarettes.").) Thus, the 
Court's analysis will be confined to whether the 
CCTA is void for vagueness as applied to Morrison 
in this limited situation, viz. as an aider and abettor 
of off-reservation violations of the CCTA. 

B. Applicable Standards 

[8][9] "It is well-established that the Fourteenth 
Amendment, which guarantees that no state shall 
'deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, 
without due process of law,' U.S. Const. amend. 
XIV, § 1, ensures that the individual need not 
'speculate as to the meaning of penal statutes' and 
is 'entitled to be informed as to what the State com
mands or forbids.' " Thibodeau v. Portuondo, 486 
F.3d 61, 65 (2d Cir.2007) (quoting Lanzetta v. New 
Jersey, 306 U.S. 451, 453, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L.Ed. 
888 (l939)). Although "this doctrine does not re
quire 'meticulous specificity' from every statute," 
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"on the grounds that prosecuting Morrison on those 
acts would constitute a violation of his substantive 
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For the reasons that follow, Defendant's motion is 
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(See Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 30, 2007, at 1.) 
Racketeering acts 4 through 80 charge Defendant 
with selling and distributing contraband cigarettes 
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government's most recent correspondence limits it
self to a theory of aiding and abetting. (See, e.g., 
Gov't's Oct. 18, 2007 Letter at 2 ("[Morrison's] li
ability in this case will be determined on evidence 
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ted others in sales and distribution of untaxed cigar
ettes off the reservation in violation of both New 
York and federal law."); Gov't's Oct. 9, 2007 Letter 
at 3 ("In the present case the government will show 
as to Racketeering Acts 4 through 80 that the de
fendant aided and abetted others in the sale and dis
tribution of contraband cigarettes.").) Thus, the 
Court's analysis will be confined to whether the 
CCTA is void for vagueness as applied to Morrison 
in this limited situation, viz. as an aider and abettor 
of off-reservation violations of the CCTA. 

B. Applicable Standards 

[8][9] "It is well-established that the Fourteenth 
Amendment, which guarantees that no state shall 
'deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, 
without due process of law,' U.S. Const. amend. 
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id at 66 (quoting Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 
U.S. 104, 110, 92 S.C!. 2294, 33 L.Ed.2d 222 
(1972», "as language is necessarily marked by a 
degree of imprecision," id., courts do "apply a more 
stringent analysis when examining laws that impose 
criminal penalties because the consequences of im
precision are qualitatively more severe." Id. 

[10] " 'As generally stated, the void-for-vagueness 
doctrine requires that a penal statute defme the 
criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that or
dinary people can understand what conduct is pro
hibited and in a manner that does not encourage ar
bitrary and discriminatory enforcement.' *254 " 
Gonzales v. Carhart, --- U.S. ----, 127 S.C!. 1610, 
1628, 167 L.Ed.2d 480 (2007) (quoting Kolender v. 
Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 S.C!. 1855, 75 
L.Ed.2d 903 (1983». Here, the CCTA, and the con
comitant New York State Tax Law, satisfy both re
quirements. 

C. Fair Notice 

[11] A criminal ,statute fails to provide fair notice 
"if it fails to provide people of ordinary intelligence 
a reasonable opportunity to understand what con
duct it prohibits." Hill v. Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 
732, 120 S.C!. 2480, 147 L.Ed.2d 597 (2000). Here, 
the CCTA provides that "[i]t shall be unlawful for 
any person to ship, transport, receive, possess, sell, 
distribute, or purchase contraband cigarett:es or COll

traband smokeless tobacco." 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a). 
At the time of the acts alleged in the superseding 
indictment, contraband cigarettes were defmed as 
"a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, which 
bear no evidence of the payment of applicable State 
or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality where 
such cigarettes are found, if the State or local gov
ernment requires a stamp .... " ld § 2341(2) 
(emphasis added). 

[12] Defendant argues that the terms "applicable" 
law and "if the State ... requires a stamp" are 
"clearly ambiguous as applied to Indian cigarette 
sales in New York in all time periods relevant to 
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this prosecution." (Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 30, 
2007, at 3-4.) Alternatively, Defendant contends 
that "there is no basis to conclude that Congress in
tended the[se] terms ... to have a meaning different 
than one that could be understood by an ordinary 
citizen as a reflection of the operational policy of 
the state." (ld. at 3.) In other words, Defendant ar
gues that an ordinary person would believe that 
New York does not "require[ l" a stamp and that 
state taxes are not "applicable" because the State 
does not enforce its tax laws. The Court disagrees. 

In the Court's view, Defendant's interpretation is 
strained because it relies solely on the executive 
branch's enforcement policies rather than the ap
plicable State laws, which clearly provide that Mor
rison's sale of cigarettes to non-native Americans 
on the reservation is a taxable event. Defendant's 
interpretation essentially nullifies the requirements 
of state law as that term is commonly understood 
and reads the legislature right out of the picture. 
Simply stated, states "require" certain conduct via 
duly enacted laws; the failure of the executive 
branch to enforce the law is not the same as saying 
that the legislative branch has repealed it. Compare 
LensCrafiers, Inc. v. Wadley, 248 F.Supp.2d 705, 
737 (M.D.Tenn.2003) ("The court can see no basis 
for fmding that the avowed benefits of a statute 
duly enacted by the legislature may be undermined 
by poor enforcement on the part of the executive 
branch. If such were the case, the executive branch 
would be in a position to invalidate any law with 
which it disagreed."), affd, 403 F.3d 798 (6th 
Cir.2005). In addition, in drafting the CCTA, Con
gress chose the tenn "applicable" taxes, not an 
"enforced" tax or a "collected" tax, to trigger a vi
olation. The term "'applicable" means "capable of 
being applied." City of NY v. Beretta, 40 I 
F.Supp.2d 244, 261 (E.D.N.Y.2005) (noting com
mon dictionary definitions of word "applicable."). 
Defendant's attempt to equate applicability and en
forceability belies the plain meaning of the former 
term and, thus, what an ordinary person would un
derstand the statute to mean.FN6 
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"clearly ambiguous as applied to Indian cigarette 
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that "there is no basis to conclude that Congress in
tended the[se] terms ... to have a meaning different 
than one that could be understood by an ordinary 
citizen as a reflection of the operational policy of 
the state." (ld. at 3.) In other words, Defendant ar
gues that an ordinary person would believe that 
New York does not "require[ l" a stamp and that 
state taxes are not "applicable" because the State 
does not enforce its tax laws. The Court disagrees. 

In the Court's view, Defendant's interpretation is 
strained because it relies solely on the executive 
branch's enforcement policies rather than the ap
plicable State laws, which clearly provide that Mor
rison's sale of cigarettes to non-native Americans 
on the reservation is a taxable event. Defendant's 
interpretation essentially nullifies the requirements 
of state law as that term is commonly understood 
and reads the legislature right out of the picture. 
Simply stated, states "require" certain conduct via 
duly enacted laws; the failure of the executive 
branch to enforce the law is not the same as saying 
that the legislative branch has repealed it. Compare 
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would be in a position to invalidate any law with 
which it disagreed."), affd, 403 F.3d 798 (6th 
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FN6. Indeed, Defendant's position is con
trary to the view taken by courts which 
have addressed the issue. See Kaid, 241 
Fed.Appx. 747, at 750 (2d Cir.2007) 
(summary order) (fmding that State 
"demand[s]" taxes be paid regardless of 
non-enforcement policy); Urbach, 92 
N.Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 
N.E.2d 904 (" '[T]he repeal [of the regula
tions] does not eliminate the statutory liab
ility for taxes as they relate to sales on In
dian reservations to nonexempt individu
als.' ") (quoting 20 N.Y.S. Register, Apr. 
29,1998, Issue 17, Book I, at 23). 

*255 In fact, the two executive pronouncements 
Morrison places great reliance on, when fairly read, 
actually undercut his position. In May 1997, Gov
ernor Pataki directed the DTR to repeal its regula
tions governing the collection of taxes from cigar
ette sales at reservation stores. (Governor Pataki 
Press Release, dated May 22, 1997.) The press re
lease states that the Governor "sent to the State Le
gislature a bill that would amend the State Tax Law 
to allow reservation stores to sell tax-free ... cigar
ettes." (Id) The Governor stated: "Let me make my 
message to all Indian Nations clear: It is your land, 
we respect your sovereignty and, if the Legislature 
acts as I am requesting, you will have the right to 
sell tax-free ... cigarettes free from interference 
from New York State." (Id) The Governor's pro
posed amendments were never passed. Thus, far 
from communicating that Native-American retailers 
such as defendant were exempt from the State Tax 
Law, the Governor's statement was in fact an ac
knowledgment that the executive's policy of for
bearance could not repeal the state law; only the le
gislature could do that, and it did not. 

Similarly, in repealing the regulations on April 28, 
1998, the DTF stated that "[tlhe repeal of the regu
lations does not eliminate the statutory liability for 
the taxes as they relate to sales on Indian reserva
tions to non-exempt individuals." (Murphy Letter, 
dated Oct. 30, 2007, Ex. 1 at 4.) The DTF also 
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noted that it proposed legislation to the legislature 
that would exempt sales of cigarettes made on
reservation, regardless of whether the purchaser 
was a Native-American or non-Native American: ( 
Id) Clearly, then, the DTF also recognized that 
despite its non-enforcement policy, the underlying 
law remained intact. 

Further buttressing the Court's conclusion is the 
fact that the crime Defendant is being prosecuted 
for, viz. aiding and abetting others in the sale and 
distribution of untaxed cigarettes off the reserva
tion, requires the government to prove that Defend
ant acted with specific intent. See United States v. 
Samaria, 239 F.3d 228, 234-35 (2d Cir.2001) 
("[A]iding and abetting is ... a specific intent 
crime."). "The [Supreme] Court has made clear that 
scienter requirements alleviate vagueness con
cerns." Carhart, 127 S.Ct. at 1628; see a/so 
Co/aulti v. Franklin, 439 U.S. 379, 395, 99 S.Ct. 
675, 58 L.Ed.2d 596 (1979) ("This Court has long 
recognized that the constitutionality of a vague stat
utory standard is closely related to whether that 
standard incorporates a requirement of mens rea. "), 
As explained in Screws v. United States, 325 U.S. 
91,65 S.Ct. 1031, 89L.Ed.1495 (1945): 

[T]he requirement of a specific intent to do a pro
hibited act may avoid those consequences to the 
accused which may othenvise render a vague or 
indefinite statute invalid.... The requirement that 
the act must be willful or purposeful may not 
render certain, for all purposes, a statutory defmi
tion of the crime which is in some respects uncer
tain. But it does relieve the statute of the objec
tion that it punishes without warning an offense 
of which the accused was unaware. 

[d at 101-02, 65 S.C!. 1031. Here, the specific in
tent that must be proved to impose*256 liability 
further mitigates statutory vagueness concerns. 

In sum, the Court fmds that the CCTA, read togeth
er with the New York Tax Law, provide an ordin
ary person with sufficient notice of what conduct is 
proscribed. The Court now turns to the second 
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FN6. Indeed, Defendant's position is con
trary to the view taken by courts which 
have addressed the issue. See Kaid, 241 
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sell tax-free ... cigarettes free from interference 
from New York State." (Id) The Governor's pro
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from communicating that Native-American retailers 
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the act must be willful or purposeful may not 
render certain, for all purposes, a statutory defmi
tion of the crime which is in some respects uncer
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of which the accused was unaware. 

[d at 101-02, 65 S.C!. 1031. Here, the specific in
tent that must be proved to impose*256 liability 
further mitigates statutory vagueness concerns. 

In sum, the Court fmds that the CCTA, read togeth
er with the New York Tax Law, provide an ordin
ary person with sufficient notice of what conduct is 
proscribed. The Court now turns to the second 
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prong of the vagueness analysis. 

D. Arbitrary and Discriminatory Enforcement 

[13][14] In addition to the fair notice requirement, a 
law is unconstitutionally vague "if it authorizes or 
even encourages arbitrary and discriminatory en~ 
forcement." Hill, 530 U.S. at 732, 120 S.Ct. 2480. 
"This second ground, which the Supreme Court re
cognizes as 'the more important aspect of the 
vagueness doctrine~' mandates that laws contain 
'minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement.' " 
Thibodeau, 486 F.3d at 66 (quoting Kolender, 461 
U.S. at 358, 103 S.C!. 1855). "[S]tatutes must 
'provide explicit standards for those who apply' 
them to avoid 'resolution on an ad hoc and subject
ive basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary 
and discriminatory application." Id. (quoting 
Grayned, 408 U.S. at 108-09, 92 S.C!. 2294). 

In examining challenges on this ground, the Second 
Circuit has instructed as follows: 

[Clourts undertaking an as-applied challenge may 
determine either (I) that a statute as a general 
matter provides sufficiently clear standards to 
minimize the risk of arbitrary enforcement or (2) 
that, even without such standards, the conduct at 
issue falls within the core of the statute's prohibi
tion, so that the enforcement was not the result of 
the unfettered discretion that law enforcement of
ficers and factfmders might have in other, hypo
thetical applications of the statute. 

Id. at 67-68. 

Here, Defendant argues that because of the " 
'muddled' state law enforcement scheme" (Murphy 
Letter, dated Oct. 23, 2007, at 3), the. CCTA ac
cords unfettered discretion to prosecutors and jur
ies. Stressing what he calls the "inaction" of state 
and federal prosecutors, Defendant asserts that des
pite the fact that New York is given explicit notice 
that "Indian retailers are selling Cigarettes in large 
quantities to individuals who will transport them 
off the reservation" (Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 23, 
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2007, at 7), to the best of Defendant's knowledge, 
"no New York Indian retailer has ever been prosec
uted in connection to on reservation cigarette sales 
in an instance which did not involve off-reservation 
acts by that retailer himself. " (Murphy Letter, dated 
Oct. 30, 2007, at 1) (emphasis in originaL) FN7 In 
this regard, Defendant notes that "[tlhe lack of 
State criminal prosecutions against Indian retailers 
for aiding and abetting by State authorities charged 
with enforcing their own criminal statutes can only 
be attr.ibuted to the lack of guidance that undeniably 
prudent law enforcement officials have perceived to 
be a consequence of the current status of the State 
enforcement scheme relating to Indian retailers." 
(Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 23, 2007, at 6.) Finally, 
Defendant relies on what he characterizes as the 
prosecutor's "inconsistent positions on the CCTA" 
which, according to Defendant, underscore the 
"constitutionally proscribed lack of clarity in apply
ing the CCTA against a New York State Indian re
tailer for the acts alleged in this indictment." 
(Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 30, 2007, at 4.) 

FN7. The government does not contest this 
allegation. 

*257 The Court fmds Defendant's arguments to be 
without merit. As applied to Morrison, the statutory 
language under which he is charged clearly delin
eates what conduct is unlawful. As noted above, the 
government has limited its theory of prosecution to 
one of aiding and abetting off-reservation sales. 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2341, New York State 
clearly "requires" a stamp be placed on all cigar
ettes sold pff-reservation (see supra at 249-50 
(discussing N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1))). To the extent 
the forbearance policy arguably muddied the legal 
waters, it did so only with regard to on-reservation 
sales and Defendant is not being prosecuted for 
such sales per se. 

In that regard, Defendant's reliance on the assertion 
that he is the first Native American retailer to be 
prosecuted for off-reservation acts that he did not 
commit himself is misplaced. In Kaid, the defend
ants were non-Native Americans who purchased 
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the unfettered discretion that law enforcement of
ficers and factfmders might have in other, hypo
thetical applications of the statute. 
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Here, Defendant argues that because of the " 
'muddled' state law enforcement scheme" (Murphy 
Letter, dated Oct. 23, 2007, at 3), the. CCTA ac
cords unfettered discretion to prosecutors and jur
ies. Stressing what he calls the "inaction" of state 
and federal prosecutors, Defendant asserts that des
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that "Indian retailers are selling Cigarettes in large 
quantities to individuals who will transport them 
off the reservation" (Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 23, 
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in an instance which did not involve off-reservation 
acts by that retailer himself. " (Murphy Letter, dated 
Oct. 30, 2007, at 1) (emphasis in originaL) FN7 In 
this regard, Defendant notes that "[tlhe lack of 
State criminal prosecutions against Indian retailers 
for aiding and abetting by State authorities charged 
with enforcing their own criminal statutes can only 
be attr.ibuted to the lack of guidance that undeniably 
prudent law enforcement officials have perceived to 
be a consequence of the current status of the State 
enforcement scheme relating to Indian retailers." 
(Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 23, 2007, at 6.) Finally, 
Defendant relies on what he characterizes as the 
prosecutor's "inconsistent positions on the CCTA" 
which, according to Defendant, underscore the 
"constitutionally proscribed lack of clarity in apply
ing the CCTA against a New York State Indian re
tailer for the acts alleged in this indictment." 
(Murphy Letter, dated Oct. 30, 2007, at 4.) 

FN7. The government does not contest this 
allegation. 

*257 The Court fmds Defendant's arguments to be 
without merit. As applied to Morrison, the statutory 
language under which he is charged clearly delin
eates what conduct is unlawful. As noted above, the 
government has limited its theory of prosecution to 
one of aiding and abetting off-reservation sales. 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2341, New York State 
clearly "requires" a stamp be placed on all cigar
ettes sold pff-reservation (see supra at 249-50 
(discussing N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1))). To the extent 
the forbearance policy arguably muddied the legal 
waters, it did so only with regard to on-reservation 
sales and Defendant is not being prosecuted for 
such sales per se. 

In that regard, Defendant's reliance on the assertion 
that he is the first Native American retailer to be 
prosecuted for off-reservation acts that he did not 
commit himself is misplaced. In Kaid, the defend
ants were non-Native Americans who purchased 
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large quantities of untaxed cigarettes on the reser
vation for the purpose of selling them off
reservation. Kaid, 241 Fed.Appx. 747 (2d Cir.2007) 
(summary order). Here, Defendant is charged with 
aiding and abetting such individuals. The aiding 
and abetting statute, which was rooted in common 
law and enacted in 1909, is nothing new. "It re
moves all doubt that one who puts in motion or as
sists in the illegal enterprise ... is guilty as a prin
cipal even though he intentionally refrained from 
the direct act constituting the completed offense." 
18 U.S.C. § 2 Historical and Statutory Notes. De
fendant cannot viably claim that he is necessarily 
insulated from such liability simply because he be" 
lieved he was authorized to sell unlimited quantities 
of cigarettes on the reservation. By way of analogy, 
if an individual had the right to sell unlimited fire
arms, he could still be held liable as an aider and 
abettor if he sells a firearm to another with know
ledge that the weapon will be used to murder a third 
party and that knowledge is coupled with the intent 
to aid the purchaser in his unlawful endeavor. That 
is not to say that evidence of the forbearance policy 
is not relevant in proving Defendant's intent. 
Rather, the Court merely finds that the decision by 
the DTR not to enforce applicable state law with re
gard to on-reservation sales does not render the 
statutory scheme under which Defendant is being 
prosecuted unconstitutionally vague. 

Defendant also argues that because "[t]he legislat
ive history of the CCTA reflects that the Federal 
role in the fight against cigarette smuggling would 
be to ' assist the states in their law enforcement ef
forts and will be undertaken with the recognition 
that [ ] primary [enforcement] responsibility re
mains with the individual states' " (ld at 3 (quoting 
H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 95-1778, at I (2d Sess.1978), 
reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5535, 5536», and 
because New York is not enforcing its tax law, "the 
federal government has no state law enforcement 
effort to support and the state's citizens are not on 
notice that a foreign jurisdiction will interpose itself 
and initiate an unprecedented criminal action to do 
what the state has demurred from doing." (Murphy 
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Letter, dated Oct. 30, 2007, at 3.) The Court finds 
this logic misguided. 

the CCTA was enacted in 1978. At the time of its 
enactment, the clear intent of Congress was to pass 
legislation to deal with large-scale cigarette boot
legging and the involvement of organized crime 
FNS because the states had theretofore been unable 
*258 to successfully address the problem them
selves. See S. Rep. 95-962 (2d Sess.1978), reprin
ted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5518, 5526. As stated in 
the relevant Senate Report: 

FN8. Defendant does not contend that the 
CCTA does not apply to Native Americ
ans. In fact, this argument has been expli
citly rejected. See, e.g., United States v. 
Baker, 63 F.3d 1478, 1484-86 (9th Cir.1995). 

We continue to believe that many of the states 
most affected have not made serious commit
ments to the enforcement effort in this area .... We 
continue to believe strongly that primary efforts 
to stop cigarette smuggling must be made by the 
states affected. However, we recognize that fed
eral legislation in aid of state enforcement effort 
may be desirable, if not essential, in light of the 
interstate nature of the problem. 
Id Thus, contrary to Defendant's assertions, it 
should of be of no surprise that the federal gov
ernment would utilize the CCTA under these cir
cumstances precisely because of the State's for
bearance policY, i.e., because New York was not 
getting the job done itself, and not in spite of it. 

[15] Finally, the Court notes that the scienter re
quirement of 18 U.S.C. § 2 narrows the scope of the 
prohibited conduct and in so doing, limits prosec~ 
utorial discretion. See Carhart, 127 S.Ct. at 1629. 
Thus, the Court finds that as applied to Morrison, 
the CCTA and 18 U.S.C. § 2 establish the requisite 
minimal guidelines to prevent arbitrary or discrim
inatory enforcement in that they apply only to those 
who act with the specific intent to aid and abet a vi
olation by a non-Native American who purchases 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

htlps:llweb2. westlaw .comlprintlprintstream.aspx?rs= WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H... 9/8/20 I 0 

GA157

521 F.Supp.2d 246 
(Cite as: 521 F.Supp.2d 246) 

large quantities of untaxed cigarettes on the reser
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Rather, the Court merely finds that the decision by 
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legging and the involvement of organized crime 
FNS because the states had theretofore been unable 
*258 to successfully address the problem them
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FN8. Defendant does not contend that the 
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ans. In fact, this argument has been expli
citly rejected. See, e.g., United States v. 
Baker, 63 F.3d 1478, 1484-86 (9th Cir.1995). 

We continue to believe that many of the states 
most affected have not made serious commit
ments to the enforcement effort in this area .... We 
continue to believe strongly that primary efforts 
to stop cigarette smuggling must be made by the 
states affected. However, we recognize that fed
eral legislation in aid of state enforcement effort 
may be desirable, if not essential, in light of the 
interstate nature of the problem. 
Id Thus, contrary to Defendant's assertions, it 
should of be of no surprise that the federal gov
ernment would utilize the CCTA under these cir
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bearance policY, i.e., because New York was not 
getting the job done itself, and not in spite of it. 
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quirement of 18 U.S.C. § 2 narrows the scope of the 
prohibited conduct and in so doing, limits prosec~ 
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Thus, the Court finds that as applied to Morrison, 
the CCTA and 18 U.S.C. § 2 establish the requisite 
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un-stamped cigarettes on the reservation for the 
purpose of selling them off-reservation. 

Even assuming, arguendo, that the CCTA did not 
provide sufficient explicit criteria to prevent arbit
rary enforcement, the statute as applied to Morrison 
would not be unconstitutionally vague because the 
conduct to which the statute was applied clearly 
falls within the "core meaning" of the statute. 
Thibodeau. 486 F.3d at 69. Racketeering Acts 4 
through 80 allege that Defendant aided and abetted 
others in the sale and distribution of contraband ci
garettes off the reservation. It is undisputed that 
New York State "requires a stamp" on the sale of 
such cigarettes and, accordingly, it cannot be said 
that the CCTA is vague as applied to these circum
stances. See Farrell v. Burke. 449 F.3d 470, 494 
(2d Cir.2006) (noting that relevant "inquiry ... in
volve[s] determining whether the conduct at issue 
falls so squarely in the core of what is prohibited by 
the law that there is no substantial concern about 
arbitrary enforcement because no reasonable enfor~ 
cing officer could doubt the law's application in the 
circumstances."). 

The Court has considered the parties' remaining ar
guments and [mds them to be without merit. Ac
cordingly, the Court [mds that the CCTA as applied 
to Morrison is not unconstitutionally vague. 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the above reasons, Defendant's motions 
for reconsideration of my October 9, 2007 bench 
decision (docket no. 367) and to dismiss racketeer
ing acts 4 through 80 of the superseding indictment 
on substantive due process grounds (docket no. 
392) are DENIED. 

SO ORDERED. 

E.D.N.Y.,2007. 
U.S. v. Morrison 
521 F.Supp.2d 246 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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Vnited States District Court, 
E.D. New York. 

UNITED STATES of America, 
v. 

Rodney Arnoldo MORRISON, Defendant. 
No. 04-CR-699 (DRH)(S-2). 

Feb. 6, 2009. 
As Amended Feb. 26, 2009. 

Background: After jury found defendant guilty of 
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 
(RICO) conspiracy and being a felon in possession of a 
firearm, defendant med motion to dismiss or for new trial. 

Holdings: The District Court, Hurley, Senior District 
Judge, held that: 
(I) defendant's alleged violations of the Contraband Ci
garettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) in connection with his 
alleged sale of cigarettes lacking valid New York State 
tax stamps while operating retail cigarette business on 
Indian reservation could serve as predicate acts under 
RICO; 
(2) government was not barred from changing its theory 
of case for RICO conspiracy counts by arguing that pre
dicate acts were on-reservation sale of unstamped cigar
ettes; 
(3) CCTA provision barring sale of cigarettes lacking 
tax stamp required by state law was not unconstitution
ally vague; 
(4) application of the CCTA provision to defendant was 
not arbitrary, in violation of substantive due process; 
(5) application of CCTA provision to defendant was not 
result of selective enforcement, in violation of equal 
protection; 
(6) lack of scienter requirement the CCTA provision did 
not make the statute unconstitutionally vague; 
(7) tax attorney who advised defendant was not the 
equivalent of an authorized state official for purposes of 
entrapment by estoppel; and 
(8) evidence was sufficient to support the felon ·in pos-

session conviction. 

Motion denied. 

West Headnotes 

[1] Conspiracy 91 ~28(3) 

91 Conspiracy 
91lI Criminal Responsibility 

91II(A) Offenses 

Page 2 of60 

Page I 

91 k28 Conspiracy to Commit Crime 
91k28(3) k. Particular crimes. Most Cited 

Cases 
Defendant's alleged violations of the Contraband Cigar
ettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) in connection with his al
leged sale of cigarettes lacking valid New York State 
tax stamps while operating a retail cigarette business on 
an Indian reservation could serve as predicate acts in 
federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations 
Act (RICO) conspiracy prosecution, although regula
tions implementing New York cigarette tax stamp stat
ute with respect to the collection of taxes on cigarettes 
sold to non-Indians on Indian reservations had not been 
adopted at time of the alleged racketeering acts. 18 
V.S.C.A. §§ 1 962(d), 2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax 
Law § 471(1). 

[2] Taxation 371 ~3612 

371 Taxation 
371IX Sales, Vse, Service, and Gross Receipts Taxes 

371IX(A) In General 
371k3607 Power to Impose 

371k3612 k. Indians and persons dealing 
with Indians on Indian lands. Most Cited Cases 
Federal law forbids the collection of New York state ci
garette taxes on cigarettes sold on Native American re
servations to emolled tribal members for their personal 
consumption, but taxes may be collected on cigarette 
sales made on the reservation to non-Native American 
consumers. N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471(1). 

(3] Statntes 361 ~173 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. VS Gov. Works. 

https://web2.westlaw.com/print/printstream.aspx?rs=WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H... 9/8/2010 

GA159

Westlaw. 
596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

Vnited States District Court, 
E.D. New York. 

UNITED STATES of America, 
v. 

Rodney Arnoldo MORRISON, Defendant. 
No. 04-CR-699 (DRH)(S-2). 

Feb. 6, 2009. 
As Amended Feb. 26, 2009. 

Background: After jury found defendant guilty of 
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 
(RICO) conspiracy and being a felon in possession of a 
firearm, defendant med motion to dismiss or for new trial. 

Holdings: The District Court, Hurley, Senior District 
Judge, held that: 
(I) defendant's alleged violations of the Contraband Ci
garettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) in connection with his 
alleged sale of cigarettes lacking valid New York State 
tax stamps while operating retail cigarette business on 
Indian reservation could serve as predicate acts under 
RICO; 
(2) government was not barred from changing its theory 
of case for RICO conspiracy counts by arguing that pre
dicate acts were on-reservation sale of unstamped cigar
ettes; 
(3) CCTA provision barring sale of cigarettes lacking 
tax stamp required by state law was not unconstitution
ally vague; 
(4) application of the CCTA provision to defendant was 
not arbitrary, in violation of substantive due process; 
(5) application of CCTA provision to defendant was not 
result of selective enforcement, in violation of equal 
protection; 
(6) lack of scienter requirement the CCTA provision did 
not make the statute unconstitutionally vague; 
(7) tax attorney who advised defendant was not the 
equivalent of an authorized state official for purposes of 
entrapment by estoppel; and 
(8) evidence was sufficient to support the felon ·in pos-

session conviction. 

Motion denied. 
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Federal law forbids the collection of New York state ci
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361 Statutes 
361V Repeal, Suspension, Expiration, and Revival 

361k 173 k. Removal of reason of law and no
nuser or other causes rendering statutes obsolete. Most 
Cited Cases 
The failure of the executive branch to enforce the law 
cannot undermine the viability of a statute duly enacted 
by the legislature. 

[4] Conspiracy 91 €=43(12) 

91 Conspiracy 
91J1 Criminal Responsibility 

91II(B) Prosecution 
91k43 Indictment or Information 

91k43(12) k. Issues, proof, and variance. 
Most Cited Cases 
Following dismissal of substantive Racketeer Influ
enced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) counts 
based on defendant's alleged aiding and abetting off
reservation sales of unstamped cigarettes while operat
ing a retail cigarette business on an Indian reservation, 
government was not barred from changing its theory of 
case for RICO conspiracy counts by arguing thai predic
ate acts were on~reservation sale of unstamped cigar~ 

ettes; indictment charged defendant with substantive vi
olations of Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking Act 
(CCTA), along with corresponding conspiracy count, 
both involving on-reservation sales, evidence of defend
ant's guilt under on-reservation theory was overwheim
ing, and defendant was not prejudiced by the change in 
theory. 18 U.S.C.A. §§ I 962(c, d), 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471. 

[5] Constitutional Law 92 €=4509(24) 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 

fense 

92XXVII(H)2 Nature and Elements of Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Defmition of Of-

92k4509 Particular Offenses 
92k4509(24) k. Tax and internal rev

enue offenses. Most Cited Cases 
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Taxation 371 €=3629 

371 Taxation 
3711X Sales, Use, Service, and Gross Receipts Taxes 

371IX(B) Regulations 
371k3625 Validity of Acts and Ordinances 

371k3629 k. Cigarettes and tobacco 
products. Most Cited Cases 
Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) provi
sion barring the sale of cigarettes lacking tax stamp re
quired by state law was not unconstitutionally vague in 
violation of substantive due process as applied to de
fendant who allegedly sold cigarettes lacking valid New 
York State tax stamps while operating a retail cigarette 
business on an Indian reservation, although the New 
York cigarette stamp statute had not previously been en
forced by state with regard to on-reservation sales. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14; 18 U.S.C.A. § 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471 (I). 

[61 Constitutional Law 92 €=4505 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVIl(H) Criminal Law 

fense 

92XXVIl(H)2 Nature and Elements of Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Definition of Of-

92k4505 k. Certainty and definiteness in 
general. Most Cited Cases 
Due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment en
sures that the individual need not speculate as to the 
meaning of penal statutes and is entitled to be informed 
as to what the State commands or forbids. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14. 

[7] Criminal Law 110 €=13.1 

110 Criminal Law 
1101 Nature and Elements of Crime 

110kl2 Statutory Provisions 
IIOk13.1 k. Certainty and defmiteness. Most 

Cited Cases 
Although the void-far-vagueness doctrine does not re
quire meticulous specificity' [rom every statute, as lan
guage is necessarily marked by a degree of imprecision, 
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(CCTA), along with corresponding conspiracy count, 
both involving on-reservation sales, evidence of defend
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371k3629 k. Cigarettes and tobacco 
products. Most Cited Cases 
Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) provi
sion barring the sale of cigarettes lacking tax stamp re
quired by state law was not unconstitutionally vague in 
violation of substantive due process as applied to de
fendant who allegedly sold cigarettes lacking valid New 
York State tax stamps while operating a retail cigarette 
business on an Indian reservation, although the New 
York cigarette stamp statute had not previously been en
forced by state with regard to on-reservation sales. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14; 18 U.S.C.A. § 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471 (I). 
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92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVIl(H) Criminal Law 

fense 

92XXVIl(H)2 Nature and Elements of Crime 
92k4502 Creation and Definition of Of-

92k4505 k. Certainty and definiteness in 
general. Most Cited Cases 
Due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment en
sures that the individual need not speculate as to the 
meaning of penal statutes and is entitled to be informed 
as to what the State commands or forbids. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14. 

[7] Criminal Law 110 €=13.1 

110 Criminal Law 
1101 Nature and Elements of Crime 

110kl2 Statutory Provisions 
IIOk13.1 k. Certainty and defmiteness. Most 

Cited Cases 
Although the void-far-vagueness doctrine does not re
quire meticulous specificity' [rom every statute, as lan
guage is necessarily marked by a degree of imprecision, 
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courts apply a more stringent analysis when examining 
laws that impose criminal penalties because the con
sequences of imprecision are quaHtatively more severe. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

IS] Criminal Law 110 <£=13.1 

110 Criminal Law 
Ilor Nature and Elements of Crime 

IIOkl2 Statutory Provisions 
IIOk13.1 k. Certainty and definiteness. Most 

Cited Cases 
Generally, the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that 
a penal statute define the criminal offense with suffi
cient definiteness that ordinary people can understand 
what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does 
not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[9] Criminal Law 110 <£=13.1 

110 Criminal Law 
1101 Nature and Elements of Crime 

UOkl2 Statutory Provisions 
IIOk13.1 k. Certainty and definiteness. Most 

Cited Cases 
A criminal statute fails to provide fair notice if it fails to 
provide people of ordinary intelligence a reasonable op
portunity to understand what conduct it prohibits. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[1O] Constitutional Law 92 <£=3905 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(B) Protections Provided and Depriva
tions Prohibited in General 

92k3905 k. Certainty and definiteness; vague
ness. Most Cited Cases 
A law is unconstitutionally vague in violation of sub
stantive due process if it authorizes or even encourages 
arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14. 

[11] Constitutional Law 92 <£=3905 

92 Constitutional Law 
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92XXVII Due Process 
92XXVII(B) Protections Provided and Depriva

tions Prohibited in General 
92k3905 k. Certainty and defmiteness; vague

ness. Most Cited Cases 
Statutes must provide explicit standards for those who 
apply them to avoid resolution on an ad hoc and sub
jective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and 
discriminatory application in violation of substantive 
due process. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

[UI Constitutional Law 92 <£=4527(2) 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVlI(H)3 Law Enforcement 

92k452 I Conduct of Police and Prosec
utors in General 

92k4527 Charging Decisions; Prosec
utorial Discretion 

92k4527(2) k. Misuse or abuse. Most 
Cited Cases 

Criminal Law llO <£=37.10(2) 

110 Criminal Law 
11011 Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

11 Ok3 7.10 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
ution 

110k37.10(2) k. Particular cases. Most 
Cited Cases 
Application of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes 
lacking tax stamp required by state law to defendant 
who allegedly conspired to sell cigarettes lacking valid 
New York State tax stamps while operating a retail ci
garette business on an Indian reservation was not arbit
rary, in violation of substantive due process, although 
defendant was the first Native American retailer prosec
uted under the CCTA for on-reservation cigarette sales; 
CCTA clearly prohibited the sale of unstamped cigar
ettes if stamp was required by state law, and gave law 
enforcement officials clear standards on prosecutable 
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11 Ok3 7.10 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
ution 

110k37.10(2) k. Particular cases. Most 
Cited Cases 
Application of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes 
lacking tax stamp required by state law to defendant 
who allegedly conspired to sell cigarettes lacking valid 
New York State tax stamps while operating a retail ci
garette business on an Indian reservation was not arbit
rary, in violation of substantive due process, although 
defendant was the first Native American retailer prosec
uted under the CCTA for on-reservation cigarette sales; 
CCTA clearly prohibited the sale of unstamped cigar
ettes if stamp was required by state law, and gave law 
enforcement officials clear standards on prosecutable 
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conduct. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14; 18 U.S.CA § 
2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471(1). 

[13] Statutes 361 €:=173 

361 Statutes 
361V Repeal, Suspension, Expiration, and Revival 

36 Ikl 73 k. Removal of reason of law and no
nuser or other causes rendering statutes obsolete. Most 
Cited Cases 
"Desuetude" is the obscure doctrine by which a legislat
ive enactment is judicially abrogated following a long 
period of nonenforcement. 

[l4] Indians 209 €:=264 

209 Indians 
209VII Offenses and Prosecutions 

209VII(A) In General 
209k264 k. Crimes by Indians in Indian coun

try or on reservation. Most Cited Cases 

Taxation 371 €:=3712 

371 Taxation 
371IX Sales, Use, Service, and Gross Receipts Taxes 

371IX(I) Collection and Enforcement 
371k37I2 k. Offenses and prosecutions. Most 

Cited Cases 
Even if defense of desuetude was viable in the Second 
Circuit, it did not apply to defendant's alleged violations 
of Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) pro
vision barring the sale of cigarettes lacking tax stamp 
required by state law, although defendant was the fIrst 
Native American retailer prosecuted under the CCTA 
for on~reservation cigarette sales; sales of unstamped ci~ 
garettes by Native American retailers continued to be a 
signifIcant problem in New York, and New York's fail
ure to enforce its tax laws was not due to neglect. 18 
U.S.C.A. § 2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471 (I). 

[ISJ Statutes 361 €:=173 

36 I Statutes 
36 I V Repeal, Suspension, Expiration, and Revival 

36lkl73 k. Removal of reason of law and no-
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Page 4 

nuser or other causes rendering statutes obsolete. Most 
Cited Cases 
Desuetude is primarily rooted in eliminating laws which 
due to a lack of enforcement have essentially become 
obsolete or serve no modern purpose. 

[16] Attorney General 46 €:=6 

46 Attorney General 
46k5 Powers and Duties 

46k6 k. In general. Most Cited Cases 

District and Prosecuting Attorneys 131 €:=8(S) 

131 District and Prosecuting Attorneys 
13 Ik8 Powers and Proceedings in General 

13Ik8(5) k. Discretion in general. Most Cited 
Cases 
Although United States Attorneys enjoy broad discre
tion to enforce criminal laws, their discretion is subject 
to constitutional constraints. 

(17] Constitutional Law 92 €:=3789 

92 Constitutional Law 
. 92XXVI Equal Protection 

92XXVI(F) Criminal Law 
92k3789 k. Decision to prosecute; discretion. 

Most Cited Cases 

Constitutional Law 92 €:=4S27(2) 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(H) Criminal Law 
92XXVII(H)3 Law Enforcement 

92k4521 Conduct of Police and Prosec
utors in General 

92k4527 Charging Decisions; Prosec
utorial Discretion 

92k4527(2) k. Misuse or abuse. Most 
Cited Cases 
Constraint imposed on United States Attorneys by the 
equal protection component of the Due Process Clause 
of the Fifth Amendment is that the decision whether to 
prosecute may not be based on an unjustifIable standard 
such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification. 
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V.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 5. 

[18] Criminal Law 110 <€=37.1O(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
1 lOll Defenses in General 

110k36.5 OffIcial Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

1l0k37.10 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
utian 

II Ok3 7 .10(1) k. In general. Most Cited 
Cases 
To make out a claim for selective enforcement of a fed
eral criminal statute, a defendant must provide clear 
evidence that the prosecutorial decision had a discrimin
atory effect and that it was motivated by a discriminat
ory purpose. 

[19] Criminal Law 110 <€=37.1O(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
11011 Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 OffIcial Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

IIOk37.l0 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
utian 

1l0k37.10(1) k. In general. Most Cited 
Cases 
Discriminatory effect prong of the federal selective en
forcement test requires a showing that similarly situated 
individuals of a different classification were not prosec
uted; to establish discriminatory purpose, a defendant 
must establish that such differential treatment was based 
on impennissible considerations such as race, religion, 
intent to inhibit or punish the exercise of constitutional 
rights, or malicious or bad faith intent to injure a per- son. 

]20] Criminal Law 110 <€=37.10(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
I lOll Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 OffIcial Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

IIOk37.10 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
utian 
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II Ok3 7.10(1) k. In general. Most Cited 
Cases 
The mere fact of selective prosecution-absent evidence 
of intentional and purposeful discrimination on the part 
of the government-is not a defense to prosecution. 

[21] Criminal Law 110 <€=13.1 

110 Criminal Law 
IIOJ Nature and Elements of Crime 

II Ok 12 Statutory Provisions 
IIOkI3.1 k. Certainty and definiteness. Most 

Cited Cases 
Even if a statute does not provide sufficiently clear 
standards to minimize the risk of arbitrary enforcement, 
it is not unconstitutionally vague if the conduct at issue 
falls within the core of the statute's prohibition. 

[22] Constitutional Law 92 <€=3298 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVI Equal Protection 

92XXVI(B) Particular Classes 
92XXVI(B)8 Race, National Origin, or Ethni-

city 
92k3296 Criminal Law 

92k3298 k. Selective prosecution in 
general. Most Cited Cases 

Criminal Law 110 <€=37.10(2) 

110 Criminal Law 
11011 Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 OffIcial Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

II Ok3 7.10 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
utian 

IIOk37.10(2) k. Particular cases. Most 
Cited Cases 
Application of the Contraband Cigarettes TraffIcking 
Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes 
lacking tax stamp required by state law to defendant 
who allegedly conspired to sell cigarettes lacking valid 
New York State tax stamps while operating a retail ci
garette business on an Indian reservation was not result 
of selective enforcement, in violation of equal protec-
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V.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 5. 

[18] Criminal Law 110 <€=37.1O(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
1 lOll Defenses in General 

110k36.5 OffIcial Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

1l0k37.10 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
utian 

II Ok3 7 .10(1) k. In general. Most Cited 
Cases 
To make out a claim for selective enforcement of a fed
eral criminal statute, a defendant must provide clear 
evidence that the prosecutorial decision had a discrimin
atory effect and that it was motivated by a discriminat
ory purpose. 
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Discriminatory effect prong of the federal selective en
forcement test requires a showing that similarly situated 
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rights, or malicious or bad faith intent to injure a per- son. 
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110 Criminal Law 
IIOJ Nature and Elements of Crime 

II Ok 12 Statutory Provisions 
IIOkI3.1 k. Certainty and definiteness. Most 

Cited Cases 
Even if a statute does not provide sufficiently clear 
standards to minimize the risk of arbitrary enforcement, 
it is not unconstitutionally vague if the conduct at issue 
falls within the core of the statute's prohibition. 

[22] Constitutional Law 92 <€=3298 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVI Equal Protection 

92XXVI(B) Particular Classes 
92XXVI(B)8 Race, National Origin, or Ethni-

city 
92k3296 Criminal Law 

92k3298 k. Selective prosecution in 
general. Most Cited Cases 

Criminal Law 110 <€=37.10(2) 

110 Criminal Law 
11011 Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 OffIcial Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

II Ok3 7.10 Discriminatory or Selective Prosec-
utian 

IIOk37.10(2) k. Particular cases. Most 
Cited Cases 
Application of the Contraband Cigarettes TraffIcking 
Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes 
lacking tax stamp required by state law to defendant 
who allegedly conspired to sell cigarettes lacking valid 
New York State tax stamps while operating a retail ci
garette business on an Indian reservation was not result 
of selective enforcement, in violation of equal protec-
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tion, although defendant was the fIrst Native American 
retailer prosecuted under the CCTA for on-reservation 
cigarette sales, and prosecution may have been unex
pected by him and others similarly situated. V.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 5; 18 V.S.C.A. § 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471(1). 

[23) Constitutional Law 92 <£=4509(24) 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII(E) Criminal Law 

fense 

92XXVII(E)2 Nature and Elements of Crime 
92k4502 Creation and DefInition of Of-

92k4509 Particular Offenses 
92k4509(24) k. Tax and internal rev

enue offenses. Most Cited Cases 

Taxation 371 <£=3629 

371 Taxation 
371IX Sales, Vse, Service, and Gross Receipts Taxes 

371IX(B) Regulations 
37lk3625 Validity of Acts and Ordinances 

37lk3629 k. Cigarettes and tobacco 
products. Most Cited Cases 
Lack of scienter requirement in Contraband Cigarettes 
Trafficking Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of 
cigarettes lacking tax stamp required by state law did 
not make the statute unconstitutionally vague as applied 
to defendant who allegedly conspired to sell cigarettes 
lacking valid New York State tax stamps while operat
ing a retail cigarette business on an Indian reservation; 
language of the CCTA was clear and unambiguous, and 
thus, there were no vagueness concerns and no need to 
examine the statute's scienter. V.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 
14; 18 V.S.C.A. § 2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 
471(1). 

124) Conspiracy 91 <£=28(3) 

91 Conspiracy 
9111 Criminal Responsibility 

9111(A) Offenses 
91 k28 Conspiracy to Commit Crime 

Page 7 of60 
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9Ik28(3) k. Particular crimes. Most Cited 
Cases 
Government was not required to establish that defend
ant had at least a general understanding of the wrongful
ness of the conspiratorial goal to convict defendant of 
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 
(RlCO) conspiracy based on alleged predicate viola
tions of the Contraband Cigarettes TraffIcking Act 
(CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes lacking 
tax stamp required by state law; it was not the govern
ment's burden to prove that defendant knew that the 
goal of the conspiracy was "unlawful" or "wrong." 18 
U.S.C.A. §§ I 962(d), 2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax 
Law § 471. 

125) Constitutional Law 92 <£=4694 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII (E) Criminal Law 
92XXVlICE)5 Evidence and Witnesses 

92k4694 k. Degree of proof; reasonable 
doubt. Most Cited Cases 

Criminal Law 110 <£=561(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
IIOXVII Evidence 

II0XVlI(V) Weight and Sufficiency 
IlOk561 Reasonable Doubt 

II Ok561 (1) k. In general. Most Cited Cases 

Jury 230 <£=34(2) 

230 Jury 
2301I Right to Trial by Jury 

230k30 Denial or Infringement of Right 
230k34 Restriction or Invasion of Functions of 

Jury 
230k34(2) k. Weight and sufficiency of 

evidence. Most Cited Cases 
Fifth and Sixth Amendments require that criminal con
victions rest upon a jury determination that defendant is 
guilty of every element of the crime with which he is 
charged, beyond a reasonable doubt. V.S.C.A. 
Const.Amends. 5, 6. 
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tion, although defendant was the fIrst Native American 
retailer prosecuted under the CCTA for on-reservation 
cigarette sales, and prosecution may have been unex
pected by him and others similarly situated. V.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 5; 18 V.S.C.A. § 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471(1). 
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92XXVII(E) Criminal Law 
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92k4509 Particular Offenses 
92k4509(24) k. Tax and internal rev

enue offenses. Most Cited Cases 

Taxation 371 <£=3629 

371 Taxation 
371IX Sales, Vse, Service, and Gross Receipts Taxes 

371IX(B) Regulations 
37lk3625 Validity of Acts and Ordinances 

37lk3629 k. Cigarettes and tobacco 
products. Most Cited Cases 
Lack of scienter requirement in Contraband Cigarettes 
Trafficking Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of 
cigarettes lacking tax stamp required by state law did 
not make the statute unconstitutionally vague as applied 
to defendant who allegedly conspired to sell cigarettes 
lacking valid New York State tax stamps while operat
ing a retail cigarette business on an Indian reservation; 
language of the CCTA was clear and unambiguous, and 
thus, there were no vagueness concerns and no need to 
examine the statute's scienter. V.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 
14; 18 V.S.C.A. § 2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 
471(1). 

124) Conspiracy 91 <£=28(3) 

91 Conspiracy 
9111 Criminal Responsibility 

9111(A) Offenses 
91 k28 Conspiracy to Commit Crime 
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9Ik28(3) k. Particular crimes. Most Cited 
Cases 
Government was not required to establish that defend
ant had at least a general understanding of the wrongful
ness of the conspiratorial goal to convict defendant of 
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 
(RlCO) conspiracy based on alleged predicate viola
tions of the Contraband Cigarettes TraffIcking Act 
(CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes lacking 
tax stamp required by state law; it was not the govern
ment's burden to prove that defendant knew that the 
goal of the conspiracy was "unlawful" or "wrong." 18 
U.S.C.A. §§ I 962(d), 2342(a); N.Y.McKinney's Tax 
Law § 471. 

125) Constitutional Law 92 <£=4694 

92 Constitutional Law 
92XXVII Due Process 

92XXVII (E) Criminal Law 
92XXVlICE)5 Evidence and Witnesses 

92k4694 k. Degree of proof; reasonable 
doubt. Most Cited Cases 

Criminal Law 110 <£=561(1) 

110 Criminal Law 
IIOXVII Evidence 

II0XVlI(V) Weight and Sufficiency 
IlOk561 Reasonable Doubt 

II Ok561 (1) k. In general. Most Cited Cases 

Jury 230 <£=34(2) 

230 Jury 
2301I Right to Trial by Jury 

230k30 Denial or Infringement of Right 
230k34 Restriction or Invasion of Functions of 

Jury 
230k34(2) k. Weight and sufficiency of 

evidence. Most Cited Cases 
Fifth and Sixth Amendments require that criminal con
victions rest upon a jury determination that defendant is 
guilty of every element of the crime with which he is 
charged, beyond a reasonable doubt. V.S.C.A. 
Const.Amends. 5, 6. 
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[26] Conspiracy 91 <£=48.1(2.1) 

91 Conspiracy 
9111 Criminal Responsibility 

911I(B) Prosecution 
91k48 Trial 

91k48.1 Questions for Jury 

Cited Cases 

91k48.1 (2) Particular Conspiracies 
91k48.1 (2.1) k. In general. Most 

Whether New York's cigarette tax stamp statute re
quired tax stamps to be affixed to cigarettes sold by re
tail cigarette business on an Indian reservation was a 
question of law for the court, rather than a mixed ques
tion of law and fact that jury was required to determine 
in Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 
(RICO) conspiracy prosecution based on alleged predic
ate violations of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes 
lacking tax stamp required by state law. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amends. 5,6; 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 1 962(d), 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471. 

[27] Criminal Law 110 <£=769 

110 Criminal Law 
1I0XX Trial 

1I0XX(G) Instructions: Necessity, Requisites, 
and Sufficiency 

IIOk769 k. Duty of judge in general. Most 
Cited Cases 
In criminal cases, the judge must be permitted to in
struct the jury on the law and to insist that the jury fol
low his insttuctions. 

[28) Conspiracy 91 <£=38 

91 Conspiracy 
91II Criminal Responsibility 

91II(A) Offenses 
91k38 k. Defenses. Most Cited Cases 

Statutory exemption for on-reservation sales of un
stamped cigarettes to Native Americans for personal 
consumption, as permitted by New York law, was af
firmative defense in Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 
Organizations Act (RICO) conspiracy prosecution based 
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Page 7 

on alleged predicate violations of the Contraband Cigar
ettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale 
of cigarettes lacking tax stamp required by state law; 
sales to exempt individuals was not an element of the 
charged crime that goverrunent was required to dis
prove. 18 U.S.C.A. §§ I 962(d), 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinneys Tax Law § 471. 

[29) Criminal Law 110 <£=37(2.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
I lOll Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

Cases 

IlOk37 Entrapment 
IIOk37(2) What Constitutes Entrapment 

IIOk37(2.1) k. In general. Most Cited 

"Entrapment by estoppel" applies when an authorized 
government official tells the defendant that certain con
duct is legal and the defendant believes the official. 

(30) Criminal Law 110 <£=37(2.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
I lOll Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

1 IOk37 Entrapment 
I IOk37(2) What Constitutes Entrapment 

110k37(2.1) k. In general. Most Cited 
Cases 
To invoke the entrapment by estoppel defense, defend
ant must show that he relied on government official's 
statement that certain conduct is legal and that his reli
ance was reasonable in that a person sincerely desirous 
of obeying the law would have accepted the information 
as true and would not have been put on notice to make 
further inquiries; great caution should be exercised 
when it comes to the application of the defense. 

[31] Criminal Law 110 <£=37(6.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
I lOll Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa-
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[26] Conspiracy 91 <£=48.1(2.1) 

91 Conspiracy 
9111 Criminal Responsibility 

911I(B) Prosecution 
91k48 Trial 

91k48.1 Questions for Jury 

Cited Cases 

91k48.1 (2) Particular Conspiracies 
91k48.1 (2.1) k. In general. Most 

Whether New York's cigarette tax stamp statute re
quired tax stamps to be affixed to cigarettes sold by re
tail cigarette business on an Indian reservation was a 
question of law for the court, rather than a mixed ques
tion of law and fact that jury was required to determine 
in Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 
(RICO) conspiracy prosecution based on alleged predic
ate violations of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of cigarettes 
lacking tax stamp required by state law. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amends. 5,6; 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 1 962(d), 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471. 

[27] Criminal Law 110 <£=769 

110 Criminal Law 
1I0XX Trial 

1I0XX(G) Instructions: Necessity, Requisites, 
and Sufficiency 

IIOk769 k. Duty of judge in general. Most 
Cited Cases 
In criminal cases, the judge must be permitted to in
struct the jury on the law and to insist that the jury fol
low his insttuctions. 

[28) Conspiracy 91 <£=38 

91 Conspiracy 
91II Criminal Responsibility 

91II(A) Offenses 
91k38 k. Defenses. Most Cited Cases 

Statutory exemption for on-reservation sales of un
stamped cigarettes to Native Americans for personal 
consumption, as permitted by New York law, was af
firmative defense in Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 
Organizations Act (RICO) conspiracy prosecution based 
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on alleged predicate violations of the Contraband Cigar
ettes Trafficking Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale 
of cigarettes lacking tax stamp required by state law; 
sales to exempt individuals was not an element of the 
charged crime that goverrunent was required to dis
prove. 18 U.S.C.A. §§ I 962(d), 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinneys Tax Law § 471. 

[29) Criminal Law 110 <£=37(2.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
I lOll Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

Cases 

IlOk37 Entrapment 
IIOk37(2) What Constitutes Entrapment 

IIOk37(2.1) k. In general. Most Cited 

"Entrapment by estoppel" applies when an authorized 
government official tells the defendant that certain con
duct is legal and the defendant believes the official. 

(30) Criminal Law 110 <£=37(2.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
I lOll Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

1 IOk37 Entrapment 
I IOk37(2) What Constitutes Entrapment 

110k37(2.1) k. In general. Most Cited 
Cases 
To invoke the entrapment by estoppel defense, defend
ant must show that he relied on government official's 
statement that certain conduct is legal and that his reli
ance was reasonable in that a person sincerely desirous 
of obeying the law would have accepted the information 
as true and would not have been put on notice to make 
further inquiries; great caution should be exercised 
when it comes to the application of the defense. 

[31] Criminal Law 110 <£=37(6.1) 

110 Criminal Law 
I lOll Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa-
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tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 
1l0k37 Entrapment 

110k37(6) Particular Cases and Offenses 
1l0k37(6.1) k. In general. Most Cited 

Cases 
Tax attorney who advised Native American cigarette re
tailers, including defendant, about Governor of New 
York's statement about sales of unstamped cigarettes to 
non-Indians could not be deemed the equivalent of an 
authorized state official for the purposes of entrapment 
by estoppel under a conduit theory in prosecution based 
on defendant's alleged sale of cigarettes lacking tax 
stamp required by state law; attorney had not told de
fendant about material portion of Governor's statement, 
indicating that unlimited on-reservation sales of un
stamped cigarettes would remain illegal until state tax 
stamp statute was amended. 18 U.S.C.A. § 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471. 

[32J Criminal Law 1I0 <£=;>36.6 

110 Criminal Law 
IIOII Defenses in General 

IIOk36.5 Official Action, Inaction, Representa
tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 

II Ok36.6 k. In general. Most Cited Cases 
Under Second Circuit law, an actual public authority 
defense exists where a defendant has in fact been au
thorized by the government to engage in what would 
otherwise be illegal activity; that is, the defendant's con
duct was, in fact, legitimized by government action. 

[33J Weapons 406 <£=;>293(3) 

406 Weapons 
406V Prosecution 

406V(E) Weight and Sufficiency of Evidence 
406k289 Possession, Use, Carrying 
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406k293 Possession After Conviction of 
Crime 

406k293(3) k. Possession. Most Cited 
Cases 

(Formerly 406kI7(4» 
Evidence was sufficient to establish that defendant con
structively possessed pistol identified by serial number 
in indictment, supporting conviction of being a felon in 
possession of a firearm; witness testified that she pur
chased the pistol in her name, but for defendant at his 
expense and at his direction, police found pistol in safe 
during search of defendant's business, and defendant es
sentially admitted to constructively possessing the pistol 
during consensually recorded conversation with the wit
ness. 18 U.S.C.A. § 922(g)(1). 
*666 Benton J. Canlpbell, United States Attorney, East
ern District of New York, Central Islip, NY, by James 
M. Miskiewicz, A.U.S.A., John Joseph Durham, 
A.U.S.A., Diane C. Leonardo-Beckman, A.U.S.A., for 
the Government. 

William H. Murphy, Jr. & Associates, Baltimore, MD, 
by William H. Murphy, Jr., Esq., Kenneth W. Ravenell, 
Esq., Law Offices of Peter Smith & Associates, North
port, NY, by Peter Smith, Esq., Daniel Nobel, Esq., 
New York, NY, Levitt & Kaizer, Esqs., New York, NY, 
by Richard Levitt, Esq., for Defendant. 

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 

HURLEY, Senior District Judge: 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

BACKGROUND 668 

I. The Indictment 668 

II. Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty-Contraband Cigarettes 669 

III. New York Tax Law 669 

IV. Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty Charged Morrison with Violations of the CCTA Under Both 670 
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tion, Misconduct, or Bad Faith 
1l0k37 Entrapment 
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Cases 
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18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) and 18 U.S.C. § 2 

V. The "Forbearance Policy" 

VI. Defendant's Pre-Trial Motion to Dismiss Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty is Denied 

VII. The Verdict 

VlII. The Instant Motion 

DISCUSSION 

I. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Count Two (RICO Conspiracy) is Denied 
A. The Absence of Regulations Under New York Tax Law § 471 Does not Preclude Prosecution 

Under the CCTA 

B. 

C. 

I. The Court Will Address Defendant's Argument Concerning the Regulations Even 
Though it was Previously Addressed by the Court 

2. The CCTA and the New York Tax Law 
3. 
4. 
5. 

The Day Wholesale Case 
Defendant's Reliance on Day Wholesale is Misplaced 
The Milhelm Altea Case 
a. Milhelm Altea 
b. Defendant's Argument 

6. Conclusions as to Defendant's Regulatory Arguments 
Change in Theory 
1. Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty 
2. During its Case-in-Chief, the Government Confmed its Theory of Prosecution Regard

ing the CCTA Racketeering Acts to 18 U.S.C. § 2 and Off-Reservation Sales 
3. The Court Dismisses the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to Count One 
4. The Court Reserves Decision on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the CCTA Racketeer

ing Acts as to Count Two 
5. The Parties' Arguments 
6. No Prejudice to Defendant Shown From Government's Change in Theory, and Over-

whelming Evidence Supports Jury's Verdict as to Count Two 
Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Count Two on Substantive Due Process Grounds is Denied 
1. Procedural Posture for Motion 
2. Applicable Standards 
3. Fair Notice 

4. 

a. Standard of Review 
b. The Court's November 9, 2007 Decision 
c. Defendant's Arguments as to the Changed Landscape do not Alter the Court's Previ

ous Conclusion that Morrison was not Deprived of Substantive Due Process 
Arbitrary Enforcement 
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18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) and 18 U.S.C. § 2 

V. The "Forbearance Policy" 

VI. Defendant's Pre-Trial Motion to Dismiss Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty is Denied 

VII. The Verdict 

VlII. The Instant Motion 

DISCUSSION 

I. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Count Two (RICO Conspiracy) is Denied 
A. The Absence of Regulations Under New York Tax Law § 471 Does not Preclude Prosecution 

Under the CCTA 

B. 

C. 

I. The Court Will Address Defendant's Argument Concerning the Regulations Even 
Though it was Previously Addressed by the Court 

2. The CCTA and the New York Tax Law 
3. 
4. 
5. 

The Day Wholesale Case 
Defendant's Reliance on Day Wholesale is Misplaced 
The Milhelm Altea Case 
a. Milhelm Altea 
b. Defendant's Argument 

6. Conclusions as to Defendant's Regulatory Arguments 
Change in Theory 
1. Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty 
2. During its Case-in-Chief, the Government Confmed its Theory of Prosecution Regard

ing the CCTA Racketeering Acts to 18 U.S.C. § 2 and Off-Reservation Sales 
3. The Court Dismisses the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to Count One 
4. The Court Reserves Decision on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the CCTA Racketeer

ing Acts as to Count Two 
5. The Parties' Arguments 
6. No Prejudice to Defendant Shown From Government's Change in Theory, and Over-

whelming Evidence Supports Jury's Verdict as to Count Two 
Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Count Two on Substantive Due Process Grounds is Denied 
1. Procedural Posture for Motion 
2. Applicable Standards 
3. Fair Notice 

4. 

a. Standard of Review 
b. The Court's November 9, 2007 Decision 
c. Defendant's Arguments as to the Changed Landscape do not Alter the Court's Previ

ous Conclusion that Morrison was not Deprived of Substantive Due Process 
Arbitrary Enforcement 
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a. Applicable Law 
b. The CCTA Provides Sufficiently Clear Standards 
c. Lack of Scienter 

5. Conclusion as to Defendant's Substantive Due Process Claim 

II. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial as to Count Two (RlCO Conspiracy) is Denied 
A. Defendant's Application for a New Trial Based Upon the Court's Response to the Deliberating 

Jury's Note Marked as Court's Exhibit 35 
1. Jury's Inquiry; Defendant's Proposed Response; and Response Provided by Court 
2. Court's Bench Decision Regarding Response to Court Exhibit 35 
3. Instructing the Jury That the Government Must Prove That the Defendant, Inter Alia, 

Understood That the Goal of the Conspiracy was "Wrong" Would Have Been Both 
Non-Responsive to the Jury's Inquiry, as Well as an Incorrect Statement of the Law 

4. Conclusion Regarding Response Given to Court Exhibit 35 
B. The Court Properly Charged the Elements of the CCTA to the Jury 

1. The Court's Instruction as to Section 471 was Appropriate 
2. The Government was not Required to Prove That the Persons or Entities That Pur

chased the Cigarettes Referenced in Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty Were Non
Native Americans or Otherwise Exempt From the CCTA 

C. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial on Count Two Based on Court's Refusal to Instruct the 
Jury on the Defenses of Entrapment by Estoppel and Public Authority, and on Specific Intent, 
is Denied 
1. Entrapment by Estoppel 

2. 

a. Applicable Law 
b. Evidence Defendant Sought to Place Before the Jury as a Factual Predicate for the 

Entrapment by Estoppel Defense 
c. Government's Objections to Defendant's Proffer 
d. Court Held That Defense Could Try to Establish the Defense Under a Conduit The

ory Whereby the Purported Misrepresentations of Law by the Governor or Other 
Public Offieials Could be Relayed Through Facer 

e. Facer's Trial Testimony 
i. Meetings and Conference Calls in 1996 and Early 1997 Regarding Gov

ernor's Intention to Enforce the Milhelm Attea Regulations, i.e. to Attempt to 
Collect Taxes Due for On-Reservation Sales to Non-Native Americans 

ii. Governor's May 22, 1997 Press Release Indicating he was not Going to En
force the Milhehn Attea Regulations 

f. Facer did not Serve as a Conduit for the Governor's May 22, 1997 Statement for 
Purposes of the Entrapment by Estoppel Defense 

Public Authority Defense 

III. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss or for a New Trial as to Count Eight (Felon In Possession Count) is 
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a. Applicable Law 
b. The CCTA Provides Sufficiently Clear Standards 
c. Lack of Scienter 

5. Conclusion as to Defendant's Substantive Due Process Claim 

II. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial as to Count Two (RlCO Conspiracy) is Denied 
A. Defendant's Application for a New Trial Based Upon the Court's Response to the Deliberating 

Jury's Note Marked as Court's Exhibit 35 
1. Jury's Inquiry; Defendant's Proposed Response; and Response Provided by Court 
2. Court's Bench Decision Regarding Response to Court Exhibit 35 
3. Instructing the Jury That the Government Must Prove That the Defendant, Inter Alia, 

Understood That the Goal of the Conspiracy was "Wrong" Would Have Been Both 
Non-Responsive to the Jury's Inquiry, as Well as an Incorrect Statement of the Law 

4. Conclusion Regarding Response Given to Court Exhibit 35 
B. The Court Properly Charged the Elements of the CCTA to the Jury 

1. The Court's Instruction as to Section 471 was Appropriate 
2. The Government was not Required to Prove That the Persons or Entities That Pur

chased the Cigarettes Referenced in Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty Were Non
Native Americans or Otherwise Exempt From the CCTA 

C. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial on Count Two Based on Court's Refusal to Instruct the 
Jury on the Defenses of Entrapment by Estoppel and Public Authority, and on Specific Intent, 
is Denied 
1. Entrapment by Estoppel 

2. 

a. Applicable Law 
b. Evidence Defendant Sought to Place Before the Jury as a Factual Predicate for the 

Entrapment by Estoppel Defense 
c. Government's Objections to Defendant's Proffer 
d. Court Held That Defense Could Try to Establish the Defense Under a Conduit The

ory Whereby the Purported Misrepresentations of Law by the Governor or Other 
Public Offieials Could be Relayed Through Facer 

e. Facer's Trial Testimony 
i. Meetings and Conference Calls in 1996 and Early 1997 Regarding Gov

ernor's Intention to Enforce the Milhelm Attea Regulations, i.e. to Attempt to 
Collect Taxes Due for On-Reservation Sales to Non-Native Americans 

ii. Governor's May 22, 1997 Press Release Indicating he was not Going to En
force the Milhehn Attea Regulations 

f. Facer did not Serve as a Conduit for the Governor's May 22, 1997 Statement for 
Purposes of the Entrapment by Estoppel Defense 

Public Authority Defense 

III. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss or for a New Trial as to Count Eight (Felon In Possession Count) is 
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Denied 

A. 
B. 
C. 
D. 

Testimony of AlJison Stewart ("Allison" or "Stewart") 
Testimony of Wynette Randall ("Randall") 

721 
721 
721 
722 

Testimony of Suffolk County Police Detective George Herring ("Herring") 
Defendant's September 18, 2003 Telephone Conversation With Stew",1 Regarding the two 
G10cks 

CONCLUSION 
*668 Presently before the Court is the motion by de
fendant Rodney Morrison ("defendant" or "Morrison") 
to dismiss Counts Two and Eight of the second super
seding indicttnent (hereinafter "indicttnent") under Fed
eral Rule of Criminal Procedure ("Rule") 29 or for a 
new trial pursuant to Rule 33. For the following reas
ons, defendant's motion is DENIED. 

BACKGROUND 

Familiarity witb the facts and procedural background is 
presumed. Thus, the Court states only tbose facts neces
sary for disposition of tbe instant motion. 

l. The Indictment 

On July 11, 2006, the government filed the indicttnent 
charging defendant, a cigarette on-reservation retailer, 
FN! witb eleven counts, to wit: (1) Count One 
(conducting and participating in tbe affairs of an enter
prise in violation of tbe Racketeer Influenced and Cor
rupt Organizations Act ("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) 
("substantive RICO count")); (2) Count Two 
(racketeering conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1962(d) ("RICO conspiracy")); (3) Count Three (arson 
conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 844(i)); (4) 
Count Four (arson in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 844(i) 
and 2); (5) Count Five (conspiracy to use extortionate 
means to punish nonrepayment of credit in violation of 
18 U.S.C. § 894(a)(2)); (6) Count Six (extortionate pun
ishment for nonrepayment of credit in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §§ 894(a)(2) and 2); (7) Count Seven (use of fIre 
to commit a felony in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
844(h)(I) and 2); (8) Count Eight (illegal possession of 
a fIrearm by a convicted felon in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

723 
§ 922(g)(1)); (9) Count Nine (illegal possession of a 
fIrearm by a convicted felon in violation of 18 U.S.c. § 
922(g)(1)); (10) Count Ten (conspiracy to use interstate 
facilities in the commission of murder for hire in viola
tion of 18 U.S.C. § 1958); and (II) Count Eleven (use 
of interstate facilities in the commission of murder for 
hire in violation of 18 U.S.c. §§ 1958 and 2). 

FNI. For ease of identifIcation, 'defendant is 
refereed to as a reservation retailer although his 
business also included a signifIcant wholesale 
component. 

The indictment charged eighty separate predicate acts, 
viz. (I) Racketeering Act One (robbery conspiracy in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) and robbery in viola
tion of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1951(a) and 2); (2) Racketeering 
Act Two (conspiracy to use extortionate means to pun
ish nonrepayment of *669 credit in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 894(a)(2); use of extortionate means to punish 
nonrepayment of credit in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
894(a)(2) and 2; arson conspiracy in violation of N.Y. 
Penal Law §§ 150.10 and 105.10; and arson in violation 
ofN.¥. Penal Law §§ 150.10 and 20.00); (3) Racketeer
ing Act Three (conspiracy to use interstate facilities in 
tbe commission of murder for hire in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § '1958; use of interstate facilities in the commis
sion of murder for hire in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
1958 and 2; murder conspiracy in violation of N.Y. 
Penal Law §§ 125.25(1) and 105.15; and murder in viol
ation of N.Y. Penal Law §§ 125.25(1) and 20.00); and 
(4) Racketeering Acts Four tbrough Eighty (trafflcking 
in contraband cigarettes in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
2342(a) and 2). 

II. Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty-Contraband 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.com/printiprintstream.aspx?rs=WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H... 9/8/2010 

GA169 Page 12 of60 

Page 11 
596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

Denied 

A. 
B. 
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Testimony of AlJison Stewart ("Allison" or "Stewart") 
Testimony of Wynette Randall ("Randall") 

721 
721 
721 
722 

Testimony of Suffolk County Police Detective George Herring ("Herring") 
Defendant's September 18, 2003 Telephone Conversation With Stew",1 Regarding the two 
G10cks 

CONCLUSION 
*668 Presently before the Court is the motion by de
fendant Rodney Morrison ("defendant" or "Morrison") 
to dismiss Counts Two and Eight of the second super
seding indicttnent (hereinafter "indicttnent") under Fed
eral Rule of Criminal Procedure ("Rule") 29 or for a 
new trial pursuant to Rule 33. For the following reas
ons, defendant's motion is DENIED. 

BACKGROUND 

Familiarity witb the facts and procedural background is 
presumed. Thus, the Court states only tbose facts neces
sary for disposition of tbe instant motion. 

l. The Indictment 

On July 11, 2006, the government filed the indicttnent 
charging defendant, a cigarette on-reservation retailer, 
FN! witb eleven counts, to wit: (1) Count One 
(conducting and participating in tbe affairs of an enter
prise in violation of tbe Racketeer Influenced and Cor
rupt Organizations Act ("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) 
("substantive RICO count")); (2) Count Two 
(racketeering conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1962(d) ("RICO conspiracy")); (3) Count Three (arson 
conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 844(i)); (4) 
Count Four (arson in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 844(i) 
and 2); (5) Count Five (conspiracy to use extortionate 
means to punish nonrepayment of credit in violation of 
18 U.S.C. § 894(a)(2)); (6) Count Six (extortionate pun
ishment for nonrepayment of credit in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §§ 894(a)(2) and 2); (7) Count Seven (use of fIre 
to commit a felony in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
844(h)(I) and 2); (8) Count Eight (illegal possession of 
a fIrearm by a convicted felon in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

723 
§ 922(g)(1)); (9) Count Nine (illegal possession of a 
fIrearm by a convicted felon in violation of 18 U.S.c. § 
922(g)(1)); (10) Count Ten (conspiracy to use interstate 
facilities in the commission of murder for hire in viola
tion of 18 U.S.C. § 1958); and (II) Count Eleven (use 
of interstate facilities in the commission of murder for 
hire in violation of 18 U.S.c. §§ 1958 and 2). 

FNI. For ease of identifIcation, 'defendant is 
refereed to as a reservation retailer although his 
business also included a signifIcant wholesale 
component. 

The indictment charged eighty separate predicate acts, 
viz. (I) Racketeering Act One (robbery conspiracy in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) and robbery in viola
tion of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1951(a) and 2); (2) Racketeering 
Act Two (conspiracy to use extortionate means to pun
ish nonrepayment of *669 credit in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 894(a)(2); use of extortionate means to punish 
nonrepayment of credit in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
894(a)(2) and 2; arson conspiracy in violation of N.Y. 
Penal Law §§ 150.10 and 105.10; and arson in violation 
ofN.¥. Penal Law §§ 150.10 and 20.00); (3) Racketeer
ing Act Three (conspiracy to use interstate facilities in 
tbe commission of murder for hire in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § '1958; use of interstate facilities in the commis
sion of murder for hire in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
1958 and 2; murder conspiracy in violation of N.Y. 
Penal Law §§ 125.25(1) and 105.15; and murder in viol
ation of N.Y. Penal Law §§ 125.25(1) and 20.00); and 
(4) Racketeering Acts Four tbrough Eighty (trafflcking 
in contraband cigarettes in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
2342(a) and 2). 

II. Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty-Contraband 
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Cigarettes 

Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty of the indict
ment alleged that Morrison "knowingly and intention
ally sold and distributed contraband cigarettes ... lack
ing valid New York State tax stamps, in violation of 
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2342(a) and 2" 
from January 8, 1997 to August 2, 2004. 18 U.S.C. § 
2342(a) is part of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act ("CCTA"), 18 U.S.C. §§ 2341 et seq., and provides: 

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to ship, 
transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, or pur~ 
chase contraband cigarettes or contraband smokeless 
tobacco. 

18 U.S.C. § 2342(a). Contraband cigarettes are defIned 
in § 2341 as follows: 

a quantity in excess of 60,000[ FNZ] cigarettes, which 
bear no evidence of the payment of applicable State 
or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality where 
such cigarettes are found, if the State or local govern
ment requires a stamp, impression, or other indication 
to be placed on packages or other containers of cigar
ettes to evidence payment of cigarette taxes, and 
which are in the possession of any person other than 
[setting forth exempted persons] 

FN2. At the time of the acts alleged in the in
dictment, "contraband cigarettes" was defined 
to mean a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigar
ettes which bore no evidence of the payment of 
state cigarette taxes. The statute was amended 
in March 2006 and the number required to trig
ger the provisions of the CCTA was reduced to 
10,000. 

Id § 2341(2) (emphasis added). 

Ill. New York Tax Law 

Article 20 of the New York State Tax Law imposes "a 
tax on all cigarettes possessed in the state by any person 
for sale, except that no tax shall be imposed on cigar
ettes sold under such circumstances that this state is 

Page 13 of60 
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without power to impose such tax" or on certain sales to 
the United States. N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1). Federal law 
forbids the collection of these taxes on cigarettes sold 
on Native American reservations to enrolled tribal 
members for their personal consumption. See Moe v. 
Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Re
servation, 425 U.S. 463, 96 S.C!. 1634, 48 L.Ed.2d 96 
(1976). However, when cigarettes are sold on the reser
vation to non~Native Americans, the taxes may be colw 

lected. See Washington v. Confederated Tribes oj 
Colville Indian Reservation, 447 U.S. 134, 100 S.C!. 
2069,65 L.Ed.2d 10 (1980). 

With regard to all cigarettes the state has power to tax, 
including cigarettes sold on-reservation to non-Native 
Americans, § 471 (2) sets forth a mechanism for the col
lection of the tax whereby a state licensed stamping 
agent is required to advance*670 the amount of the tax 
by purchasing adhesive stamps from the state and affix
ing them to each package of cigarettes. N.Y. Tax Law § 
471(2).F~3 The stamping agent then adds the amount 
of the tax to the price of the cigarettes sold to its cus
tomers, which is passed along the chain of distribution 
to the consumer. Thus, § 471(2) provides that "the ulti
mate incidence of and liability for the tax shall be upon 
the consumer." Id § 471(2). 

FN3. Wholesalers may be licensed by New 
York as stamping agents pursuant to New York 
Tax Law § 472(1). 

Although § 471(2) provides that "the tax commIsSIOn 
may by regulation provide that the tax on cigarettes im
posed by this article shall be collected without the use 
of stamps," id § 471 (2), no such regulation has been 
passed. Thus, pursuant to § 471, all cigarettes that the 
state has the power to tax are required to be stamped. 

IV. Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty Charged 
Morrison with Violations of the CCTA Under Both 18 
U.S.c. § 2342 (a) and 18 u.s.c. § 2 

Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty charged Morris
on with selling and distributing contraband cigarettes in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) and 18 U.S.C. § 2. For 
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Cigarettes 

Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty of the indict
ment alleged that Morrison "knowingly and intention
ally sold and distributed contraband cigarettes ... lack
ing valid New York State tax stamps, in violation of 
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2342(a) and 2" 
from January 8, 1997 to August 2, 2004. 18 U.S.C. § 
2342(a) is part of the Contraband Cigarettes Trafficking 
Act ("CCTA"), 18 U.S.C. §§ 2341 et seq., and provides: 

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to ship, 
transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, or pur~ 
chase contraband cigarettes or contraband smokeless 
tobacco. 

18 U.S.C. § 2342(a). Contraband cigarettes are defIned 
in § 2341 as follows: 

a quantity in excess of 60,000[ FNZ] cigarettes, which 
bear no evidence of the payment of applicable State 
or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality where 
such cigarettes are found, if the State or local govern
ment requires a stamp, impression, or other indication 
to be placed on packages or other containers of cigar
ettes to evidence payment of cigarette taxes, and 
which are in the possession of any person other than 
[setting forth exempted persons] 

FN2. At the time of the acts alleged in the in
dictment, "contraband cigarettes" was defined 
to mean a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigar
ettes which bore no evidence of the payment of 
state cigarette taxes. The statute was amended 
in March 2006 and the number required to trig
ger the provisions of the CCTA was reduced to 
10,000. 

Id § 2341(2) (emphasis added). 

Ill. New York Tax Law 

Article 20 of the New York State Tax Law imposes "a 
tax on all cigarettes possessed in the state by any person 
for sale, except that no tax shall be imposed on cigar
ettes sold under such circumstances that this state is 
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without power to impose such tax" or on certain sales to 
the United States. N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1). Federal law 
forbids the collection of these taxes on cigarettes sold 
on Native American reservations to enrolled tribal 
members for their personal consumption. See Moe v. 
Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Re
servation, 425 U.S. 463, 96 S.C!. 1634, 48 L.Ed.2d 96 
(1976). However, when cigarettes are sold on the reser
vation to non~Native Americans, the taxes may be colw 

lected. See Washington v. Confederated Tribes oj 
Colville Indian Reservation, 447 U.S. 134, 100 S.C!. 
2069,65 L.Ed.2d 10 (1980). 

With regard to all cigarettes the state has power to tax, 
including cigarettes sold on-reservation to non-Native 
Americans, § 471 (2) sets forth a mechanism for the col
lection of the tax whereby a state licensed stamping 
agent is required to advance*670 the amount of the tax 
by purchasing adhesive stamps from the state and affix
ing them to each package of cigarettes. N.Y. Tax Law § 
471(2).F~3 The stamping agent then adds the amount 
of the tax to the price of the cigarettes sold to its cus
tomers, which is passed along the chain of distribution 
to the consumer. Thus, § 471(2) provides that "the ulti
mate incidence of and liability for the tax shall be upon 
the consumer." Id § 471(2). 

FN3. Wholesalers may be licensed by New 
York as stamping agents pursuant to New York 
Tax Law § 472(1). 

Although § 471(2) provides that "the tax commIsSIOn 
may by regulation provide that the tax on cigarettes im
posed by this article shall be collected without the use 
of stamps," id § 471 (2), no such regulation has been 
passed. Thus, pursuant to § 471, all cigarettes that the 
state has the power to tax are required to be stamped. 

IV. Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty Charged 
Morrison with Violations of the CCTA Under Both 18 
U.S.c. § 2342 (a) and 18 u.s.c. § 2 

Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty charged Morris
on with selling and distributing contraband cigarettes in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) and 18 U.S.C. § 2. For 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.comlprintiprintstream.aspx?rs=WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H... 9/8/20 I 0 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 235    09/17/2010    108283    314



596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

each Racketeering Act Four through Eighty, the indict
ment sets forth the approximate quantity of contraband 
cigarettes sold by defendant on the reservation and sets 
forth a specific date per act. 

V. The "Forbearance Policy" 

In 1988, the New York Department of Taxation and 
Finance (the "DTF") determined that large volumes of 
unstarnped cigarettes were being purchased by non
Native Americans from reservation retailers. Depart
ment of Taxation and Finance of N. Y. v. Milhelm Attea 
& Bros., Inc., 512 U.S. 61, 64-65, 114 S.Ct. 2028, 129 
L.Ed.2d 52 (1994). Because unlawful purchases of un
stamped cigarettes deprived New York of substantial 
tax revenues, the DTF adopted regulations, 20 NYCRR 
§§ 336 et seq., for the enforcement of the collection of 
taxes from non-Native American purchasers of cigar
ettes from on-reservation retailers. Id at 65, 114 S.Ct. 
2028; see also N. Y. Assoc. of Convenience Stores v. 
Urbach, 169 Misc.2d 906, 646 N.Y.S.2d 918, 921 
(Sup.Ct. Albany County 1996). The regulations recog
nized the right of exempt Native American consumers 
to purchase untaxed cigarettes on the reservation. 
However, "[t]o ensure that nonexempt purchasers do 
not likewise escape taxation, the regulations limit[ ed] 
the quantity of untaxed cigarettes that wholesalers may 
sell to tribes and tribal retailers." Milhelm, 512 U.S. at 
65, 114 S.Ct. 2028. "To prevent non-Indians from es
caping the tax, [the] regulatory scheme ... imposer d] re
cord keeping requirements and quantity limitations on 
cigarette wholesalers who sell untaxed cigarettes to re
servation Indians." /d, at 64, 114 S.Ct. 2028. Under the 
regulations, "[r]etailers were to keep accurate records of 
those to whom they sold untaxed cigarettes and submit 
these records to the [DTF]." Warren v. Pataki, No. 
Ol-CY-0004E, 2002 WL 450056, at *1 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 
9,2002). 

Following adoption of the regulations, a proceeding was 
commenced by Native American merchants to perman
ently enjoin the D:rF from enforcing them and, as a res
ult, the DTF suspended implementation pending the 
outcome of that litigation. N. Y. Assoc. of Convenience 
Stores v. Urbach, 275 A.D.2d 520, 712 N.Y.S.2d 220, 
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221 (3d Dep't 2000) (discussing the Milhelm case). Ulti
mately, the Supreme Court in Milhelm held that the reg
ulations *671 were valid and enforceable. 512 U.S. at 
78, 114 S.Ct. 2028; see id at 75, 114 S.Ct. 2028 ("[W]e 
now hold that Indian traders are not wholly immune 
from state regulation that is reasonably necessary to the 
assessment or collection of lawful state taxes."). Despite 
this outcome, the DTF continued its nonenforcement or 
"forbearance" policy. Urbach, 712 N.Y.S.2d at 221. 

According to evidence adduced at trial, in February 
1996, Governor Pataki announced his intention to begin 
enforcement of the regUlations and formally notified the 
tribes that they had 120 days to comply, or prepare to 
comply, with the regulations. (Tr. at 11087.) FN4 

However, the following year, in May 1997, Governor 
Pataki did an about-face and directed the repeal of the 
regulations and proposed legislation that would allow 
on-reservation stores to sell tax-free cigarettes. Santa Fe 
Natural Tobacco Co. v. Spitzer, No. 00 CIV. 7274, 00 
CIY. 7750, 2001 WL 636441 (S.D.N.Y. June 8, 2001), 
rev'd on other grounds, 320 F.3d 200 (2d Cir.2003). 
The regulations were repealed by the DTF on April 28, 
1998. New York Assoc. of Convenience Stores v. 
Urbach, 92 N.Y.2d 204, 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 
N.E.2d 904 (1998). Although Governor Pataki sent to 
the legislature a biJI that would amend the State Tax 
Law to allow reservation stores to sell tax-free cigar
ettes, the proposed amendments never passed. Nonethe
less, the State's policy of non-enforcement or 
"forbearance" continued. 

FN4. References to "Tr." are to the trial tran
script in this case. 

In July 1998, the New York Court of Appeals held that 
convenience stores in direct competition with Native 
American reservation retailers had standing to bring an 
equal protection challenge to the DTF's forbearance 
policy based on a "differential enforcement of the tax 
laws," id at 212, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 904, 
and that the applicable standard was whether there was 
a rational basis for the DTF's forbearance policy, id at 
213, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 904. Because the 
regulations had been repealed prior to the court's de
cision, the matter was remanded to the New York Su-
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In 1988, the New York Department of Taxation and 
Finance (the "DTF") determined that large volumes of 
unstarnped cigarettes were being purchased by non
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ment of Taxation and Finance of N. Y. v. Milhelm Attea 
& Bros., Inc., 512 U.S. 61, 64-65, 114 S.Ct. 2028, 129 
L.Ed.2d 52 (1994). Because unlawful purchases of un
stamped cigarettes deprived New York of substantial 
tax revenues, the DTF adopted regulations, 20 NYCRR 
§§ 336 et seq., for the enforcement of the collection of 
taxes from non-Native American purchasers of cigar
ettes from on-reservation retailers. Id at 65, 114 S.Ct. 
2028; see also N. Y. Assoc. of Convenience Stores v. 
Urbach, 169 Misc.2d 906, 646 N.Y.S.2d 918, 921 
(Sup.Ct. Albany County 1996). The regulations recog
nized the right of exempt Native American consumers 
to purchase untaxed cigarettes on the reservation. 
However, "[t]o ensure that nonexempt purchasers do 
not likewise escape taxation, the regulations limit[ ed] 
the quantity of untaxed cigarettes that wholesalers may 
sell to tribes and tribal retailers." Milhelm, 512 U.S. at 
65, 114 S.Ct. 2028. "To prevent non-Indians from es
caping the tax, [the] regulatory scheme ... imposer d] re
cord keeping requirements and quantity limitations on 
cigarette wholesalers who sell untaxed cigarettes to re
servation Indians." /d, at 64, 114 S.Ct. 2028. Under the 
regulations, "[r]etailers were to keep accurate records of 
those to whom they sold untaxed cigarettes and submit 
these records to the [DTF]." Warren v. Pataki, No. 
Ol-CY-0004E, 2002 WL 450056, at *1 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 
9,2002). 

Following adoption of the regulations, a proceeding was 
commenced by Native American merchants to perman
ently enjoin the D:rF from enforcing them and, as a res
ult, the DTF suspended implementation pending the 
outcome of that litigation. N. Y. Assoc. of Convenience 
Stores v. Urbach, 275 A.D.2d 520, 712 N.Y.S.2d 220, 
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221 (3d Dep't 2000) (discussing the Milhelm case). Ulti
mately, the Supreme Court in Milhelm held that the reg
ulations *671 were valid and enforceable. 512 U.S. at 
78, 114 S.Ct. 2028; see id at 75, 114 S.Ct. 2028 ("[W]e 
now hold that Indian traders are not wholly immune 
from state regulation that is reasonably necessary to the 
assessment or collection of lawful state taxes."). Despite 
this outcome, the DTF continued its nonenforcement or 
"forbearance" policy. Urbach, 712 N.Y.S.2d at 221. 

According to evidence adduced at trial, in February 
1996, Governor Pataki announced his intention to begin 
enforcement of the regUlations and formally notified the 
tribes that they had 120 days to comply, or prepare to 
comply, with the regulations. (Tr. at 11087.) FN4 

However, the following year, in May 1997, Governor 
Pataki did an about-face and directed the repeal of the 
regulations and proposed legislation that would allow 
on-reservation stores to sell tax-free cigarettes. Santa Fe 
Natural Tobacco Co. v. Spitzer, No. 00 CIV. 7274, 00 
CIY. 7750, 2001 WL 636441 (S.D.N.Y. June 8, 2001), 
rev'd on other grounds, 320 F.3d 200 (2d Cir.2003). 
The regulations were repealed by the DTF on April 28, 
1998. New York Assoc. of Convenience Stores v. 
Urbach, 92 N.Y.2d 204, 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 
N.E.2d 904 (1998). Although Governor Pataki sent to 
the legislature a biJI that would amend the State Tax 
Law to allow reservation stores to sell tax-free cigar
ettes, the proposed amendments never passed. Nonethe
less, the State's policy of non-enforcement or 
"forbearance" continued. 

FN4. References to "Tr." are to the trial tran
script in this case. 

In July 1998, the New York Court of Appeals held that 
convenience stores in direct competition with Native 
American reservation retailers had standing to bring an 
equal protection challenge to the DTF's forbearance 
policy based on a "differential enforcement of the tax 
laws," id at 212, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 904, 
and that the applicable standard was whether there was 
a rational basis for the DTF's forbearance policy, id at 
213, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 904. Because the 
regulations had been repealed prior to the court's de
cision, the matter was remanded to the New York Su-
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preme Court so that "the court can reconsider the dis
pute in light of the Tax Department's newly minted 
long-term policy of abstaining from taking active meas
ures to enforce the legislatively mandated excise and 
sales taxes on motor fuel and cigarettes destined for sale 
on Indian reservations." Id. at 215, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 
699 N.E.2d 904 (emphasis in original). 

Upon remand, the New York Supreme Court found, and 
the Third Department affIrmed, that there was "a ration
al basis for [the DTF's] indefinite forbearance." Urbach, 
712 N.Y.S.2d at 222. Explaining that" 'the rational 
basis test' has been characterized as 'the lowest level of 
judicial review,' "the court found: 

Because of tribal immuoity, the retailers cannot be 
sued for their failure to collect the taxes in question, 
and State auditors cannot go on the reservations to ex
amine the retailers' records. 

Additionally, the [DTF] cannot compel the retailers to 
attend audits off the reservations or compel produc
tion of their books and r.ecords for the purpose of as
sessing taxes. In that regard, representatives of the 
[DTF] engaged in extensive negotiations with the 
tribes in an effort to arrive at an acceptable agree
ment. Those efforts were largely unsuccessful and the 
vast majority of the Indian retailers refused to register 
with the [DTF]. In further efforts to enforce the stat
ute, the State attempted interdiction, i.e., interception 
of tobacco and motor fuel shipments and seizure of 
those shipments that were found to be in *672 non
compliance with the Tax Law. That strategy resulted 
in civil unrest, personal injuries and significant inter
ference with public transportation on the State high
ways. In our view, all of these factors provide a ra
tional basis for the differential treatment of the parties .... 

Id. at 222. 

VI. Defendant'S Pre-Trial Motion to Dismiss Racketeer
ing Acts Four through Eighty is Denied 

By motion filed September 11, 2007 (docket no. 332), 
defendant moved to dismiss Racketeering Acts Four 
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through Eighty pursuant to Rule 12. Defendant argued, 
infer alia, that because New York State was not enfor
cing its tax law with regard to on-reservation cigarette 
sales, New York did not "require[ ] a stamp" on cigar
ettes sold on reservation under § 2341(2) of the CCTA. 

By bench decision dated October 9, 2007, the Court 
denied defendant's motion, finding, inter alia, that "what 
the state requires[ ] is determined by the statutes en
acted by the legislative body." (Oct. 9, 2007 Tr. at 57.) 
FN5 In denying defendant's motion, the Court indicated 
that it had decided the motion "on the issues as framed 
in the motion papers" and that it. would be amenable to 
revisiting defendant's application on new grounds, in
cluding a potential substantive due process violation. 
(Oct. 9,2007 Tr. at 63.) 

FN5. In reaching this decision, the Court relied 
in part on United States v. Kaid, 241 Fed.Appx. 
747 (2d Cir.2007) (summary order), where the 
Second Circuit rejected defendants' argument 
that the "non-enforcement policy effectively 
de-taxed sales of cigarettes to non-Native 
Americans on reservation land," finding it to be 
"meritless." Jd at 750 (internal quotation 
marks omitted). The Kaid case is discussed in 
more detail in the text infra. 

VII. The Verdict 

On May I, 2008, the jury found that the government 
had proved Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty (the 
"CCTA Racketeering Acts") FN6 and fouod defendant 
gUilty of Couot Two, RlCO conspiracy based on the 
CCTA Racketeering Acts.FN? The jury also fouod de
fendant guilty of illegal possession of the firearm as al
leged in Count Eight. During the second part of the bi
furcated trial as to that charge, the jury found that de
fendant waS a prior felon on May 5, 2008. Defendant 
was found not guilty on all remaining counts, as well as 
on Racketeering Acts One through Three. 

FN6. Racketeering Act Four was dismissed at 
the conclusion of the govemment's case
in-chief given that no evidence was adduced as 
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basis test' has been characterized as 'the lowest level of 
judicial review,' "the court found: 
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and State auditors cannot go on the reservations to ex
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Additionally, the [DTF] cannot compel the retailers to 
attend audits off the reservations or compel produc
tion of their books and r.ecords for the purpose of as
sessing taxes. In that regard, representatives of the 
[DTF] engaged in extensive negotiations with the 
tribes in an effort to arrive at an acceptable agree
ment. Those efforts were largely unsuccessful and the 
vast majority of the Indian retailers refused to register 
with the [DTF]. In further efforts to enforce the stat
ute, the State attempted interdiction, i.e., interception 
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ways. In our view, all of these factors provide a ra
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infer alia, that because New York State was not enfor
cing its tax law with regard to on-reservation cigarette 
sales, New York did not "require[ ] a stamp" on cigar
ettes sold on reservation under § 2341(2) of the CCTA. 

By bench decision dated October 9, 2007, the Court 
denied defendant's motion, finding, inter alia, that "what 
the state requires[ ] is determined by the statutes en
acted by the legislative body." (Oct. 9, 2007 Tr. at 57.) 
FN5 In denying defendant's motion, the Court indicated 
that it had decided the motion "on the issues as framed 
in the motion papers" and that it. would be amenable to 
revisiting defendant's application on new grounds, in
cluding a potential substantive due process violation. 
(Oct. 9,2007 Tr. at 63.) 

FN5. In reaching this decision, the Court relied 
in part on United States v. Kaid, 241 Fed.Appx. 
747 (2d Cir.2007) (summary order), where the 
Second Circuit rejected defendants' argument 
that the "non-enforcement policy effectively 
de-taxed sales of cigarettes to non-Native 
Americans on reservation land," finding it to be 
"meritless." Jd at 750 (internal quotation 
marks omitted). The Kaid case is discussed in 
more detail in the text infra. 

VII. The Verdict 

On May I, 2008, the jury found that the government 
had proved Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty (the 
"CCTA Racketeering Acts") FN6 and fouod defendant 
gUilty of Couot Two, RlCO conspiracy based on the 
CCTA Racketeering Acts.FN? The jury also fouod de
fendant guilty of illegal possession of the firearm as al
leged in Count Eight. During the second part of the bi
furcated trial as to that charge, the jury found that de
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the conclusion of the govemment's case
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to that act. 

FN7. As will be discussed infra, the Court dis
missed Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty 
as to Count One after the government rested. 

VIll. The Instant Motion 

By instant motion, defendant seeks to dismiss Counts 
Two and Eight under Rule 29, or for a new trial under 
Rule 33. For the reasons stated below, the motion is 
denied. 

DISCUSSION 

l. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Count Two (RICO 
Conspiracy) is Denied 

Upon finding that the government had proved that de
fendant conspired to commit Racketeering Acts Five 
through Eighty under the Count Two RlCO conspiracy 
charge, the jury returned a guilty verdict as to that 
count. Defendant advances three primary arguments in 
support of his motion to dismiss Count Two: (1) "[New 
York] Tax Law § 471 neither authorizes, requires, [n]or 
permits the collection of *673 taxes on cigarettes sold 
on Indian reservations absent implementing regulations, 
and § 471 therefore cannot support a CCTA prosecu
tion"; (2) "[t]his criminal RlCO conspiracy prosecution 
of a New York Indian retailer under the CCTA for on
reservation sales deprived ... Morrison of substantive 
due process"; and (3) "[t]he CCTA racketeering acts in
corporated into Count Two-and therefore Count Two it
self-should be dismissed for the sarne reason the Court 
dismissed these sarne acts as charged in Count One, I.e. 
insufficient evidence to prove the government's theory 
of prosecution, that ... Morrison aided and abetted off
reservation cigarette sales in violation of the CCTA." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at i-iLl The Court will ad
dress defendant's arguments seriatim. 

A. The Absence of Regulations Under New York Tax 
Law § 471 Does not Preclude Prosecution Under the 
CCTA 

Page 16 0[60 

Page 15 

[1] Defendant argues that the CCTA Racketeering Acts 
should be dismissed because" New York Tax Law § 
471 is not self-executing with respect to the collection 
of taxes on cigarettes sold on Indian reservations, but 
rather may be enforced against Indian retailers only in 
tandem with implementing regulations, which, at a min
imum, must outline a system providing a certain quant
ity of tax free cigarettes for sales to Native Americans." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 6.) For the reasons that 
follow, the Court finds this argument unpersuasive. 

1. The Court Will Address Defendant's Argument Con
cerning the Regulations Even Though it was Previously 

Addressed by the Court 

Before the trial began, defendant moved to dismiss 
Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty. During oral ar
gument, the Court asked defense counsel whether the 
New York Tax Law could function absent the regula
tions. (Oct. 5, 2007 Tr. at 144.) Citing Warren v. Pataki, 
No. 01-CV-0004E, 2002 WL 450056 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 9, 
2002) and Day Wholesale v. State of N.Y., No. 06-7688 
(N.Y.Sup.Ct. Jan. 2, 2007), defense counsel argued that 
it could not. (Id at 144-46.) 

Oral argument continued on October 9, 2007, and de
fense counsel again argued that absent the regulations, 
Native American retailers were permitted to sell unlim
ited quantities of unstamped cigarettes on the reserva
tions. (Oct. 9, 2007 Tr. at 19, 25, 44-45.) The govern
ment, on the other hand, asserted that the repeal of the 
regulations was a "red herring" as it "did not eviscerate 
the existing statute." (Id at 38; see also id at 40-41.) 
Ultimately, the Court rejected defendant's arguments 
and denied his motion to dismiss Racketeering Acts 
Four through Eighty. (ld at 51-66.) 

Thereafter, by letter dated October 16, 2007 (docket no. 
367), defendant moved for reconsideration of the 
Court's October 9th decision, arguing that New York 
Tax Law § 471 was not a self-executing statute as ap
plied to the sale of cigarettes on tribal lands absent im
plementing regulations. Defendant again relied on the 
Day Wholesale case. By Memorandum and Order dated 
November 9, 2007, the Court denied defendant's mo-
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Upon finding that the government had proved that de
fendant conspired to commit Racketeering Acts Five 
through Eighty under the Count Two RlCO conspiracy 
charge, the jury returned a guilty verdict as to that 
count. Defendant advances three primary arguments in 
support of his motion to dismiss Count Two: (1) "[New 
York] Tax Law § 471 neither authorizes, requires, [n]or 
permits the collection of *673 taxes on cigarettes sold 
on Indian reservations absent implementing regulations, 
and § 471 therefore cannot support a CCTA prosecu
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should be dismissed because" New York Tax Law § 
471 is not self-executing with respect to the collection 
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rather may be enforced against Indian retailers only in 
tandem with implementing regulations, which, at a min
imum, must outline a system providing a certain quant
ity of tax free cigarettes for sales to Native Americans." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 6.) For the reasons that 
follow, the Court finds this argument unpersuasive. 

1. The Court Will Address Defendant's Argument Con
cerning the Regulations Even Though it was Previously 

Addressed by the Court 

Before the trial began, defendant moved to dismiss 
Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty. During oral ar
gument, the Court asked defense counsel whether the 
New York Tax Law could function absent the regula
tions. (Oct. 5, 2007 Tr. at 144.) Citing Warren v. Pataki, 
No. 01-CV-0004E, 2002 WL 450056 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 9, 
2002) and Day Wholesale v. State of N.Y., No. 06-7688 
(N.Y.Sup.Ct. Jan. 2, 2007), defense counsel argued that 
it could not. (Id at 144-46.) 

Oral argument continued on October 9, 2007, and de
fense counsel again argued that absent the regulations, 
Native American retailers were permitted to sell unlim
ited quantities of unstamped cigarettes on the reserva
tions. (Oct. 9, 2007 Tr. at 19, 25, 44-45.) The govern
ment, on the other hand, asserted that the repeal of the 
regulations was a "red herring" as it "did not eviscerate 
the existing statute." (Id at 38; see also id at 40-41.) 
Ultimately, the Court rejected defendant's arguments 
and denied his motion to dismiss Racketeering Acts 
Four through Eighty. (ld at 51-66.) 

Thereafter, by letter dated October 16, 2007 (docket no. 
367), defendant moved for reconsideration of the 
Court's October 9th decision, arguing that New York 
Tax Law § 471 was not a self-executing statute as ap
plied to the sale of cigarettes on tribal lands absent im
plementing regulations. Defendant again relied on the 
Day Wholesale case. By Memorandum and Order dated 
November 9, 2007, the Court denied defendant's mo-
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tion, finding that this issue was explicitly discussed at 
oral argument on the original motion (see Oct. 5, 2007 
Tr. at 144) and that defendant failed to satisfy his bur
den of showing that the Court overlooked a controlling 
decision or material fact that would alter the outcome of 
its previous decision. United States v. Morrison, 521 
F.Supp.2d 246, 252 (E.D.N.Y.2007). The Court also 
stated: 

Parenthetically, the Court notes that Defendant's reli
ance on cases such as *674 Pierre v. Gonzales, 502 
F.3d 109 (2d Cir.2007) and United States v. Belcher, 
927 F.2d 1182, 1185 (11th Cir.1991), is misplaced as 
the treaty and statute addressed, respectively, in those 
cases were clearly not self-executing. Here, on the 
other hand, the effect of the repeal of the regulations 
is that cigarette retailers located on Indian reserva
tions can sell an unrestricted number of untaxed ci
garettes without keeping records or reporting to the 
DTF but "the repeal [of the regulations] does not 
eliminate the statutory liability for taxes as they relate 
to sales on Indian reservations to nonexempt indi
viduals." Urbach, 92 N.Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 
280, 699 N.E.2d 904 [citation and internal quotation 
marks omitted]. 

Id at 252 n. 5. 

By instant motion, defendant attempts yet once again to 
have another bite at the apple, arguing that the recent 
decision of the Fourth Department affirming the lower 
court's holding in Day WholesaleFNs "lends substantial 
support to [his] argument and demonstrates that absent 
the necessary implementing regulations there simply are 
no 'applicable' taxes-Le., taxes that are 'capable of be
ing applied'~conceming on-reservation cigarette sales." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 7.) Defendant also re
lies on Milhelm Aftea, 512 U.S. 61, 114 S.C!. 2028, a 
case also previously addressed by the Court, albeit 
briefly. In response, the government simply indicates 
that "there is nothing 'new' about th[ e Day Wholesale] 
decision or any legal opinion that would alter this 
Court's previous rulings." (Gov't's Mem. in Opp'n at 22.) 

FN8. Day Wholesale, Inc. v. State of N.Y., 51 
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A.D.3d 383, 856 N.Y.S.2d 808 (4th Dep't 2008). 

Although the Court has already rejected defendant's ar
gument in this regard, given the emphasis defendant 
places on Day Wholesale and Milhelm Attea coupled 
with the fact that the Court's decision on this point was 
not as expansive as it might have otherwise been, the 
Court will address defendant's arguments. 

2. The CCTA and the New York Tax Law 

Before examining Day Wholesale and Milhelm Attea, it 
is helpful to briefly review the general framework of the 
CCTA and the New York State Tax Law. It is also help
ful to note that the racketeering acts at issue occurred 
from May 2, 2003 to August 2, 2004. 

Morrison was charged with selling and distributing con
traband cigarettes under the CCTA, which provides: 

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to ship, 
transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, or pur
chase contraband cigarettes or contraband smokeless 
tobacco. 

18 U.S.C. § 2342(a). Contraband cigarettes are defined 
by reference to state law as: 

a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, which bear 
no evidence of the payment of applicable State or loc
al cigarette taxes in the State or locality where such 
cigarettes are found, if the State or local government 
requires a stamp, impression, or other indication to be 
placed on packages or other containers of cigarettes to 
evidence payment of cigarette taxes, and which are in 
the possession of any person other than [setting forth 
exempted persons] 

Id § 2341(2) (emphasis added). 

[2] Section 471(1) of the New York Tax Law provides 
that "[t]here is hereby imposed and shall be paid a tax 
on all cigarettes*675 possessed in the state by any per
son for sale, except that no tax shall be imposed on ci
garettes sold under such circumstances that this state is 
without power to impose such tax .... " N.Y. Tax Law § 
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471(1). It is undisputed that federal law forbids the col
lection of these taxes on cigarettes sold on Native 
American reservations to enrolled tribal members for 
their personal consumption, see Moe, 425 U.S. 463, 96 
S.Ct. 1634, but that taxes may be collected on cigarette 
sales made on the reservation to non-Native American 
consumers, see Confederated Tribes of Colville Indian 
Reservation, 447 U.S. 134, 100 S.Ct. 2069. 

Section 471(2) sets up a mechanism whereby state li
censed stamping agents, including wholesalers, are re
quired to prepay the amount of the tax by purchasing 
tax stamps from the state and affixing them to each 
package of cigarettes. N.Y. Tax Law § 471(2) ("Agents 
... shall purchase stamps and affix such stamps in the 
manner prescribed to packages of cigarettes to be sold 
within the state .... "). These taxes are passed along the 
distribution chain to the consumer. Id ("It is intended 
that the ultimate incidence of and liability for the tax 
shall be upon the consumer, and that any agent or dealer 
who shall pay the tax to the tax commission shall col
lect the tax from the purchaser or consumer."). There is 
no dispute that this statute was in effect and governed 
all of the racketeering acts alleged in this case. 

Effective May 13, 2003, the New York State Legis
lature enacted § 471-e, which provided as follows: 

Where a non-native American person purchases, for 
such person's own consumption, any cigarettes or oth
er tobacco products on or originating from native 
American nation or tribe land recognized by the fed
eral government and reservation land recognized as 
such by the state of New York, the commissioner 
shall promulgate rules and regulations necessary to 
implement the collection of sales, excise and use 
taxes on such cigarettes or other tobacco products. 

Id § 471-e (2003). This version of § 471-e, which was 
effective until February 28, 2006, was contemporan
eously in effect with all but three of the CCTA Racket
eering Acts presented to the jury in this case 
(Racketeering Acts Eight through Eighty). The other 
three, Racketeering Acts Five through Seven, occurred 
prior to the enactment of § 471-e. However, neither 
party claims that this version of § 471-e, which pertains 
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solely to non-Native American purchasers acquiring ci
garettes for their "own consumption/' governs the in
stant CCTA prosecution.FN' 

FN9. As defendant notes" § 471 [, as distinct 
from 471(e), either in its original or amended 
state,] is the applicable state statute" vis-a-vis 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty. (Def.'s 
Reply at 4.) 

Section 471-e was later amended. The Notes to the stat
ute provide that the amendment "shall take effect March 
1, 2006 provided that any actions, rules and regulations 
necessary to implement the provisions of [the statute] 
on its effective date are authorized and directed to be 
completed on or before such date." Id § 471-e 
(Historical and Statutory Notes 2006). This amendment 
post-dates all of the CCTA Racketeering Acts charged 
in the indictment. 

The amended version of § 471-e provides that "all ci
garettes sold on an Indian reservation to non-members 
of the nation or tribe or to non-Indians shall be taxed, 
and evidence of such tax will be by means of an affixed 
tax stamp." Id § 471-e(l)(a) *676 (2006). It further 
provides that "[ qJualified Indians may purchase cigar
ettes from a reservation cigarette seller exempt from the 
cigarette tax even though such cigarettes will have an 
affixed cigarette tax stamp." Id § 471-e(l)(b). This is 
achieved through a tax exemption coupon system, 
spelled out in the amended version of the statute, which 
is discussed in more detail below. 

3. The Day Wholesale Case 

In arguing that § 471 is inoperative as applied to the 
collection of taxes on cigarettes sold on-reservation ab
sent implementing regulations prescribing a scheme f6r 
such collection, defendant places great reliance on the 
Day Wholesale case, which involved the viability of the 
amended version of New York Tax Law § 471-e. Al
though this statute is not applicable to the instant pro
secution as the earliest date it could have taken effect is 
March I, 2006-which postdates all of the racketeering 
acts charged in the indictment-for purposes of dispelling 
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all of the racketeering acts alleged in this case. 

Effective May 13, 2003, the New York State Legis
lature enacted § 471-e, which provided as follows: 

Where a non-native American person purchases, for 
such person's own consumption, any cigarettes or oth
er tobacco products on or originating from native 
American nation or tribe land recognized by the fed
eral government and reservation land recognized as 
such by the state of New York, the commissioner 
shall promulgate rules and regulations necessary to 
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Id § 471-e (2003). This version of § 471-e, which was 
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eously in effect with all but three of the CCTA Racket
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(Racketeering Acts Eight through Eighty). The other 
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prior to the enactment of § 471-e. However, neither 
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FN9. As defendant notes" § 471 [, as distinct 
from 471(e), either in its original or amended 
state,] is the applicable state statute" vis-a-vis 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty. (Def.'s 
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Section 471-e was later amended. The Notes to the stat
ute provide that the amendment "shall take effect March 
1, 2006 provided that any actions, rules and regulations 
necessary to implement the provisions of [the statute] 
on its effective date are authorized and directed to be 
completed on or before such date." Id § 471-e 
(Historical and Statutory Notes 2006). This amendment 
post-dates all of the CCTA Racketeering Acts charged 
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The amended version of § 471-e provides that "all ci
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of the nation or tribe or to non-Indians shall be taxed, 
and evidence of such tax will be by means of an affixed 
tax stamp." Id § 471-e(l)(a) *676 (2006). It further 
provides that "[ qJualified Indians may purchase cigar
ettes from a reservation cigarette seller exempt from the 
cigarette tax even though such cigarettes will have an 
affixed cigarette tax stamp." Id § 471-e(l)(b). This is 
achieved through a tax exemption coupon system, 
spelled out in the amended version of the statute, which 
is discussed in more detail below. 

3. The Day Wholesale Case 

In arguing that § 471 is inoperative as applied to the 
collection of taxes on cigarettes sold on-reservation ab
sent implementing regulations prescribing a scheme f6r 
such collection, defendant places great reliance on the 
Day Wholesale case, which involved the viability of the 
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defendant's argument, the Court addresses this decision 
below. 

In Day Wholesale, plaintiffs Day Wholesale, Inc. 
("Day"), a cigarette wholesaler, and Scott Maybee 
("Maybee"), a reservation owner, sued New York State 
and the New York Attorney Genera~ among others, 
seeking an injunction to prevent the enforcement of the 
amended version of § 471-e. As explained by the Fourth 
Department, pursuant to § 471(2), "the ultimate liability 
for the cigarette tax falls on the consumer, but the cigar
ette tax is advanced and paid by agents such as Day 
through the. use of tax stamps." 856 N.Y.S.2d at 808. 
Recognizing that not all cigarettes sold by reservation 
retailers are subject to taxation, viz. those sold to Native 
American Indians on their own reservation, the 
amended version of § 471-e was "designed to serve dual 
goals, i.e., providing for the collection at the wholesale 
level of cigarette tax from non-Indians or Indians pur
chasing cigarettes off of their own reservation and ex
empting from the cigarette tax purchases made by quali
fied Indian consumers." Id at 809. Thus, the amended 
version of § 471-e sets forth a scheme by which whole
salers are required to stamp all cigarettes to be sold on a 
reservation but reservation retailers are pennitted to 
purchase a limited amount of stamped cigarettes tax
free upon the presenttnent to the wholesaler of tax ex
emption coupons. The statute provides that the DTF 
"shall" provide these coupons to the tribes based upon 
"probable demand." N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e(2) (2006). 
"Qualified Indians may [then] purchase cigarettes from 
a reservation cigarette seller exempt from the cigarette 
tax even though such cigarettes will have an affixed ci
garette tax stamp." Id § 471-e(1)(b). A cigarette whole
saler can then redeem the coupons and obtain a refund 
"with respect to any cigarette tax previously paid on ci
garettes it sold without collecting the tax because it ac
cepted an Indian tax exemption coupon from its pur
chaser. ... " Id § 471-e(4). 

Section 471-e provides that it "shall take effect March 
I, 2006, provided that any actions, rules and regulations 
necessary to implement the provisions of [the statute] 
on its effective date are authorized and directed to be 
completed on or before such date." !d. § 471-e 
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(Historical and Statutory Notes 2006). However, the 
DTF "did not take any action or promulgate any rules or 
regulations necessary to implement the statute on or be
fore March 1, 2006." Day Wholesale, 856 N.Y.S.2d at 
809. In that regard, the DTF failed to issue tax exemp
tion coupons for qualified Native Americans. Instead, 
the DTF issued an advisory opinion stating that it would 
not begin enforcement of the statute on March 1, 2006 
due to its forbearance policy. Id The New York Attor
ney *677 General, however, concluded that the statute 
was effective and subject to enforcement as of March I, 
2006 and sent a letter to "Philip Morris and other cigar
ette manufacturers advising them that Day and other 
wholesale cigarette dealers were continuing to sell un
stamped cigarettes to Indian reservations 'in direct viol
ation' of the amended version of Tax Law § 471-e, and 
warning them that such sales were a matter of 
'significant concern' to the Attorney General." ld at 
809-10. As a result, Philip Morris suspended sales to 
Day until Day provided assurances that it would not sell 
unstamped cigarettes to the reservations or New York 
State indicated that such sales were not illegal. Id at 
810. Day and Maybee thereafter commenced suit 
against the State of New York and its then Attorney 
General Elliot Spitzer. 

The Fourth Department initially focused its analysis on 
the statute's "effective date clause" which explicitly 
provided that "the amended version of Tax Law § 471-e 
would become effective only in the event that 'any ac
tions, rules and regulations necessary to implement' its 
provision were complete on or before March I, 2006 .... 
At a minimum, the actions, rules and regulations neces
sary for the implementation of the statutory scheme in
clude the issuance of Indian tax exemption coupons." 
Id Given that no such coupons were issued, which 
coupons were both a condition precedent to the statute 
becoming effective and an integral part of the statute's 
specific collection scheme, the Court concluded that the 
statute was not "presently in effect." Id at 808. 

4. Defendant's Reliance on Day Wholesale is Misplaced 

Acknowledging that the amended version of § 471-e 
does not apply to the racketeering acts alleged in the in-
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becoming effective and an integral part of the statute's 
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dictment, defendant nonetheless argues that the Day 
Wholesale case is relevant because "[i]f (as Day holds) 
§ 471-e is non-enforceable absent implementing regula
tions with respect to the very specific conduct § 471-e 
targets (i.e., on-reservation sales) then surely the far 
broader language of § 471 cannot be enforced with re
spect to the narrow (and politically sensitive) category 
of on-reservation sales absent like implementing regula
tions." (Def.'s Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 13-14.) Defend
ant's argument is without merit. 

The very first sentence of the Day Wholesale decision 
emphasizes that the amended version of § 471-e is a 
collection mechanism: " Tax Law § 471-e ... embodies 
the Legislature'S most recent effort to collect taxes on 
cigarettes sold on Indian reservations." 856 N.Y.S.2d at 
808 (emphasis added). The Appellate Division then de
scribes the collection mechanism that the amended ver
sion of § 471-e creates: All cigarettes sold on
reservation must be stamped but refund coupons distrib
uted by the DTF pennit Native Americans to purchase 
cigarettes for their personal use free of tax and the ci
garette wholesaler can later redeem the coupons to ob
tain a refund. Because the DTF failed to issue the re
fund coupons, the Appellate Division found that the 
statute did not take effect. If all cigarettes on the reser
valion were to be stamped, then refund coupons had to 
be available so that exempt sales to qUlilified purchasers 
could occur. 

The conclusion reached by the Fourth Department is 
fully understandable and follows given the specific· stat
utory scheme set forth in the amended version of § 
471-e. The detailed collection mechanism set forth in 
the statute simply cannot take effect absent the issuance 
of the tax exemption coupons. This is confinned by the 
Notes following § 471-e which provide that the statute 
"shall take effect March 1, *678 2006, provided that 
any actions, rules and regulations necessary to imple
ment the provisions of [the statute] on its effective date 
are authorized and directed to be completed on or be
fore such date." N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e (Historical and 
Statutory Notes 2006). 

Day Wholesale and its analysis of the amended version 
of § 471-e are distinguishable from the instant case, 
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which is governed by § 471. "The plain, mandatory 
phrasing of [ § 471] sets forth a requirement that stamp
ing agents affIx tax stamps to all cigarettes the state has 
the power to tax, which includes those sold by reserva
tion retailers for re-sale to the public." City of N. Y. v. 
Milhelm Attea & Bros., Inc., 550 F.Supp.2d 332, 346 
(ED.NY.2008) (Amon, J.). There is nothing in the lan
guage of § 471 which even remotely suggests that the 
statutory liability set forth therein does not attach absent 
regulations designed to facilitate collection of these 
taxes on the reservation. Cf Cayuga Indian Nation oj 
N. Y. v. Gould, No. 2008-16350, 21 Misc.3d 1142(A), 
2008WL 5158093, at *5 (Sup.Ct. Monroe County Dec. 
9, 2008) ("Inasmuch as the tax liability referred to in § 
1814 FNlO springs from § 471, the fact that recently en
acted § 471-e has been judicially declared by Day 
Wholesale to be 'not in effect' is of no moment."). De
fendant concedes as much when he states that " 
[ajlthough the State Legislature did not state in haec 
verba that regulations must be implemented in order for 
reservation retailers to be obliged, under § 47 J, to sell 
only tax-stamped cigarettes to non-exempt persons, the 
absence of any purely statutory mechanism to achieve 
this end within this narrow and politically sensitive area 
confmns that the promUlgation of regulations was es
sential-rather than merely expedient-for taxes to be im
posed on sales at Indian smoke shops." (Def.'s Mem. of 
Law in Supp. at 13 (emphasis added).) 

FN10. New York Tax Law § 1814 makes it a 
crime to evade payment of cigarette taxes. 

The Historical and Statutory Notes to § 471 further un
dennine defendant's argument: 

This act shall take effect April 1, 2002; provided, 
however, if this act shall become a law after such date 
it shall take effect immediately and shall be deemed 
to have been in full force and effect on and after April 
1, 2002; ... provided further that sections thirty, 
thirty-one and thirty-three of this act[ FNIl]shall take 
effect April 3, 2002 and shall apply to all cigarettes 
possessed in the state by any person for sale and use 
in the state by any person on and after April 3, 2002 
and to taxes, interest and penalties collected or re
ceived by the commissioner of taxation and fmance 
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dictment, defendant nonetheless argues that the Day 
Wholesale case is relevant because "[i]f (as Day holds) 
§ 471-e is non-enforceable absent implementing regula
tions with respect to the very specific conduct § 471-e 
targets (i.e., on-reservation sales) then surely the far 
broader language of § 471 cannot be enforced with re
spect to the narrow (and politically sensitive) category 
of on-reservation sales absent like implementing regula
tions." (Def.'s Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 13-14.) Defend
ant's argument is without merit. 

The very first sentence of the Day Wholesale decision 
emphasizes that the amended version of § 471-e is a 
collection mechanism: " Tax Law § 471-e ... embodies 
the Legislature'S most recent effort to collect taxes on 
cigarettes sold on Indian reservations." 856 N.Y.S.2d at 
808 (emphasis added). The Appellate Division then de
scribes the collection mechanism that the amended ver
sion of § 471-e creates: All cigarettes sold on
reservation must be stamped but refund coupons distrib
uted by the DTF pennit Native Americans to purchase 
cigarettes for their personal use free of tax and the ci
garette wholesaler can later redeem the coupons to ob
tain a refund. Because the DTF failed to issue the re
fund coupons, the Appellate Division found that the 
statute did not take effect. If all cigarettes on the reser
valion were to be stamped, then refund coupons had to 
be available so that exempt sales to qUlilified purchasers 
could occur. 

The conclusion reached by the Fourth Department is 
fully understandable and follows given the specific· stat
utory scheme set forth in the amended version of § 
471-e. The detailed collection mechanism set forth in 
the statute simply cannot take effect absent the issuance 
of the tax exemption coupons. This is confinned by the 
Notes following § 471-e which provide that the statute 
"shall take effect March 1, *678 2006, provided that 
any actions, rules and regulations necessary to imple
ment the provisions of [the statute] on its effective date 
are authorized and directed to be completed on or be
fore such date." N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e (Historical and 
Statutory Notes 2006). 

Day Wholesale and its analysis of the amended version 
of § 471-e are distinguishable from the instant case, 
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which is governed by § 471. "The plain, mandatory 
phrasing of [ § 471] sets forth a requirement that stamp
ing agents affIx tax stamps to all cigarettes the state has 
the power to tax, which includes those sold by reserva
tion retailers for re-sale to the public." City of N. Y. v. 
Milhelm Attea & Bros., Inc., 550 F.Supp.2d 332, 346 
(ED.NY.2008) (Amon, J.). There is nothing in the lan
guage of § 471 which even remotely suggests that the 
statutory liability set forth therein does not attach absent 
regulations designed to facilitate collection of these 
taxes on the reservation. Cf Cayuga Indian Nation oj 
N. Y. v. Gould, No. 2008-16350, 21 Misc.3d 1142(A), 
2008WL 5158093, at *5 (Sup.Ct. Monroe County Dec. 
9, 2008) ("Inasmuch as the tax liability referred to in § 
1814 FNlO springs from § 471, the fact that recently en
acted § 471-e has been judicially declared by Day 
Wholesale to be 'not in effect' is of no moment."). De
fendant concedes as much when he states that " 
[ajlthough the State Legislature did not state in haec 
verba that regulations must be implemented in order for 
reservation retailers to be obliged, under § 47 J, to sell 
only tax-stamped cigarettes to non-exempt persons, the 
absence of any purely statutory mechanism to achieve 
this end within this narrow and politically sensitive area 
confmns that the promUlgation of regulations was es
sential-rather than merely expedient-for taxes to be im
posed on sales at Indian smoke shops." (Def.'s Mem. of 
Law in Supp. at 13 (emphasis added).) 

FN10. New York Tax Law § 1814 makes it a 
crime to evade payment of cigarette taxes. 

The Historical and Statutory Notes to § 471 further un
dennine defendant's argument: 

This act shall take effect April 1, 2002; provided, 
however, if this act shall become a law after such date 
it shall take effect immediately and shall be deemed 
to have been in full force and effect on and after April 
1, 2002; ... provided further that sections thirty, 
thirty-one and thirty-three of this act[ FNIl]shall take 
effect April 3, 2002 and shall apply to all cigarettes 
possessed in the state by any person for sale and use 
in the state by any person on and after April 3, 2002 
and to taxes, interest and penalties collected or re
ceived by the commissioner of taxation and fmance 
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under sections 471 and 471-a of the tax law on and 
after such date; provided, however, that the commis
sioner of taxation and finance shall be authorized on 
and after this act shall have become a law to take 
steps necessary to implement these provisions on 
their effective date .... 

FNII. Sections thirty, thirty-one and thirty
three refer to sections of the Public Health, So
cial Services, Tax-Health Care Reform Act of 
2000 which amended New York Tax Law § 471. 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471 (Historical and Statutory Notes 
2002). The Notes clearly provide that § 471 "shall take 
effect" in April 2002 and do not suggest that the statute 
is inoperative pending the possible promulgation of re
lated regulations. Instead, it explicitly provides to the 
contrary. 

Moreover, the fact that the Notes authorize the DTF to 
"'take steps necessary to implement" this section "on 
and after *679 this act shall have become a law" does 
not warrant a different conclusion. Although there were 
no regulations in place to enforce the collection of the 
taxes due for on-reservation cigarette sales at the time 
of the racketeering acts alleged in the indictment, de
fendant could have easily complied with § 471 by 
simply purchasing stamped cigarettes from a state li
censed wholesaler/stamping agent in the amount neces
sary to cover his reservation sales to'Don-Native Amer
k.aIls. FNI~ At the same time, defendant could have 
purchased unstamped cigarettes consistent with his 
standard practice, but in such lesser amount as he 
deemed necessary to serve the needs of Native Americ
ans on the reservation for their own personal consump
tion. The lack of implementing regulations does not 
negate the obligation of individuals such as Morrison to 
sell only stamped cigarettes to non-Native American 
purchasers but rather implicates the ability of the state 
to collect the tax from Native American tribes, which 
have repeatedly flouted state attempts at collection. As 
explained by the Third Department in Urbach and as 
noted earlier: 
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FNI2. Defendant attempts to avoid this result 
by summarily asserting that "tax-stamped ci
garettes had never been made available to re
servation retailers by cigarette wholesalers .... " 
(DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 2.) Typically 
on important cites, defendant provides the 
Court with a corresponding citation to the trial 
record, which is well over 10,000 pages. No 
such reference is offered here. Moreover, the 
Court has no independent recollection of any 
testimony, or other evidence, being elicited 
during the course of the trial which would sup
port this contention. To the extent the implica
tion is that defendant was unable to purchase 
stamped cigarettes-unlike his off-reservation 
cigarette seller counterparts throughout the 
state-, such suggestion is clearly frivolous and 
contrary to the mechanism set forth in § 471, 
which provides for the purchase of stamped ci
garettes from a state licensed wholesaler/stamp
ing agent. 

The record here clearly reflects ... that the [New York 
Tax] statutes cannot effectively be enforced without 
the cooperation of the Indian tribes. Because of tribal 
immunity, the retailers cannot be sued for their failure 
to collect the taxes in question, and State auditors 
cannot go on the reservations to examine the retailers' 
records. 

Additionally, the [DTF] cannot compel the retailers to 
attend audits off the reservations or compel produc
tion of their books and records for the purpose of as
sessing taxes. In that regard, representatives of the 
[DTF] engaged in extensive negotiations with the 
tribes in an effort to arrive at an acceptable agree
ment. Those efforts were largely unsuccessful and the 
vast majority of the Indian retailers refused to register 
with the [DTF]. In further efforts to enforce the stat
ute, the State attempted interdiction, i.e., interception 
of tobacco and motor fuel shipments and seizure of 
those shipments that were found to be in noncompli
ance with the Tax Law. That strategy resulted in civil 
unrest, personal injuries and significant interference 
with public transportation on the State highways. 
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under sections 471 and 471-a of the tax law on and 
after such date; provided, however, that the commis
sioner of taxation and finance shall be authorized on 
and after this act shall have become a law to take 
steps necessary to implement these provisions on 
their effective date .... 

FNII. Sections thirty, thirty-one and thirty
three refer to sections of the Public Health, So
cial Services, Tax-Health Care Reform Act of 
2000 which amended New York Tax Law § 471. 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471 (Historical and Statutory Notes 
2002). The Notes clearly provide that § 471 "shall take 
effect" in April 2002 and do not suggest that the statute 
is inoperative pending the possible promulgation of re
lated regulations. Instead, it explicitly provides to the 
contrary. 

Moreover, the fact that the Notes authorize the DTF to 
"'take steps necessary to implement" this section "on 
and after *679 this act shall have become a law" does 
not warrant a different conclusion. Although there were 
no regulations in place to enforce the collection of the 
taxes due for on-reservation cigarette sales at the time 
of the racketeering acts alleged in the indictment, de
fendant could have easily complied with § 471 by 
simply purchasing stamped cigarettes from a state li
censed wholesaler/stamping agent in the amount neces
sary to cover his reservation sales to'Don-Native Amer
k.aIls. FNI~ At the same time, defendant could have 
purchased unstamped cigarettes consistent with his 
standard practice, but in such lesser amount as he 
deemed necessary to serve the needs of Native Americ
ans on the reservation for their own personal consump
tion. The lack of implementing regulations does not 
negate the obligation of individuals such as Morrison to 
sell only stamped cigarettes to non-Native American 
purchasers but rather implicates the ability of the state 
to collect the tax from Native American tribes, which 
have repeatedly flouted state attempts at collection. As 
explained by the Third Department in Urbach and as 
noted earlier: 
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FNI2. Defendant attempts to avoid this result 
by summarily asserting that "tax-stamped ci
garettes had never been made available to re
servation retailers by cigarette wholesalers .... " 
(DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 2.) Typically 
on important cites, defendant provides the 
Court with a corresponding citation to the trial 
record, which is well over 10,000 pages. No 
such reference is offered here. Moreover, the 
Court has no independent recollection of any 
testimony, or other evidence, being elicited 
during the course of the trial which would sup
port this contention. To the extent the implica
tion is that defendant was unable to purchase 
stamped cigarettes-unlike his off-reservation 
cigarette seller counterparts throughout the 
state-, such suggestion is clearly frivolous and 
contrary to the mechanism set forth in § 471, 
which provides for the purchase of stamped ci
garettes from a state licensed wholesaler/stamp
ing agent. 

The record here clearly reflects ... that the [New York 
Tax] statutes cannot effectively be enforced without 
the cooperation of the Indian tribes. Because of tribal 
immunity, the retailers cannot be sued for their failure 
to collect the taxes in question, and State auditors 
cannot go on the reservations to examine the retailers' 
records. 

Additionally, the [DTF] cannot compel the retailers to 
attend audits off the reservations or compel produc
tion of their books and records for the purpose of as
sessing taxes. In that regard, representatives of the 
[DTF] engaged in extensive negotiations with the 
tribes in an effort to arrive at an acceptable agree
ment. Those efforts were largely unsuccessful and the 
vast majority of the Indian retailers refused to register 
with the [DTF]. In further efforts to enforce the stat
ute, the State attempted interdiction, i.e., interception 
of tobacco and motor fuel shipments and seizure of 
those shipments that were found to be in noncompli
ance with the Tax Law. That strategy resulted in civil 
unrest, personal injuries and significant interference 
with public transportation on the State highways. 
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712 N.Y.S.2d at 222. Essentially, defendant's argu
ment boils down to the claim that because Native 
Americans have successfully thwarted enforcement of 
§ 471, the statute is inoperative until the DTF can fig
ure out a way to compel compliance. The Court re
jects this proposition. 

Although the facts in the Second Circuit's decision in 
Kaid are distinguishable,'N13 the following passage is 
instructive for present purposes: 

FNI3. The defendants in Kaid were not Native
American retailers but rather non-Native Amer
icans who purchased large quantities of un
taxed cigarettes on the reservation for the pur
pose of selling them off-reservation. 

*680 Federal law prohibits the states from taxing 
cigarettes sold on Native American reservations to 
Native Americans, but allows state taxes to be im
posed on non-Native American consumers on reserva
tions. New York law provides for taxes on non-Native 
Americans purchasing cigarettes in stores on reserva
tions, but New York has a policy of non-enforcement 
of this tax. [Defendants] assert that this non
enforcement policy effectively de-taxed sales of ci
garettes to non-Native Americans on reservation land, 
thereby negating the element of contraband necessary 
to a conviction for trafficking in contraband cigarettes 
under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2341-42. This argument is merit
less. While it appears that New York does not enforce 
its taxes on small quantities of cigarettes purchased 
on reservations for personal use by non-Native Amer
icans, nothing in the record supports the conclusion 
that the state does not demand that taxes be paid 
when, as in this case, massive quantities of cigarettes 
were purchased on reservations by non-Native Amer
icans for resale .... 

Kaid, 241 Fed.Appx. at 750. 

In sum, the Day Wholesale decision only addressed 
whether or not the specific collection mechanism set 
forth in the amended version of § 471-e, which statute 
does not even apply to the present prosecution, could 
operate absent the issuance of refund coupons,FN14 
The fact that the court found that version of § 471-e in-
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effective does not vitiate the statutory liability set forth 
in § 471 and does not support a fmding that the latter 
statute cannot operate absent regulations designed to fa
cilitate its enforcement. See Cayuga Indian Nation. 
2008 WL 5158093, at *4 (" Section 471-e was merely 
designed to facilitate the state's collection of cigarette 
taxes arising from Indian sales to non-Indian consumers 
.... § 471-e does not create the tax obligation itself, al
though it refers to it. The tax obligation itself long ago 
was established by the legislature .... "). 

FN14. Defendant makes brief reference to the 
2003 version of § 471-e by asserting that its 
very enactment demonstrates an acknowledg
ment by the legislature that "regulations were 
indispensable to on-reservation sales." (Def.'s 
Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 13.). As noted in note 
9 supra, he does not contend that that statute is 
otherwise relevant for present purposes. In any 
event, there is nothing in the statute to indicate 
that its enactment was designed to somehow 
override the statutory liability prescribed in § 
471 or foreclose liability under that section ab
sent the promulgation of implementing regula
tions. 

5. The Milhelm Attea Case 

In a separate but related argument, defendant contends 
that "[i]f § 471-e could not be implemented and applied 
to Indian retailers without [corresponding] regulations, 
§ 471 could not be implemented without the [Milhelm] 
Attea regulations." (DeC's Mem. of Law in Supp. at 10.) 
As with defendant's other regulatory claims, this argu
ment is unavailing. 

a. Milhelm Attea 

Milhelm Attea. a case decided by the Supreme Court in 
1994, arose in response to the DTF regulations adopted 
in 1988.FNI5 Noting that "[0 ]n-reservation cigarette 
sales to persons other than reservation Indians ... [we]re 
legitimately subject to state taxation" 512 U.S. at 64, 
114 S.C!. 2028, and that the DTF detennined that 
"unlawful purchases of unstarnped cigarettes [by non-
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712 N.Y.S.2d at 222. Essentially, defendant's argu
ment boils down to the claim that because Native 
Americans have successfully thwarted enforcement of 
§ 471, the statute is inoperative until the DTF can fig
ure out a way to compel compliance. The Court re
jects this proposition. 

Although the facts in the Second Circuit's decision in 
Kaid are distinguishable,'N13 the following passage is 
instructive for present purposes: 

FNI3. The defendants in Kaid were not Native
American retailers but rather non-Native Amer
icans who purchased large quantities of un
taxed cigarettes on the reservation for the pur
pose of selling them off-reservation. 

*680 Federal law prohibits the states from taxing 
cigarettes sold on Native American reservations to 
Native Americans, but allows state taxes to be im
posed on non-Native American consumers on reserva
tions. New York law provides for taxes on non-Native 
Americans purchasing cigarettes in stores on reserva
tions, but New York has a policy of non-enforcement 
of this tax. [Defendants] assert that this non
enforcement policy effectively de-taxed sales of ci
garettes to non-Native Americans on reservation land, 
thereby negating the element of contraband necessary 
to a conviction for trafficking in contraband cigarettes 
under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2341-42. This argument is merit
less. While it appears that New York does not enforce 
its taxes on small quantities of cigarettes purchased 
on reservations for personal use by non-Native Amer
icans, nothing in the record supports the conclusion 
that the state does not demand that taxes be paid 
when, as in this case, massive quantities of cigarettes 
were purchased on reservations by non-Native Amer
icans for resale .... 

Kaid, 241 Fed.Appx. at 750. 

In sum, the Day Wholesale decision only addressed 
whether or not the specific collection mechanism set 
forth in the amended version of § 471-e, which statute 
does not even apply to the present prosecution, could 
operate absent the issuance of refund coupons,FN14 
The fact that the court found that version of § 471-e in-
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effective does not vitiate the statutory liability set forth 
in § 471 and does not support a fmding that the latter 
statute cannot operate absent regulations designed to fa
cilitate its enforcement. See Cayuga Indian Nation. 
2008 WL 5158093, at *4 (" Section 471-e was merely 
designed to facilitate the state's collection of cigarette 
taxes arising from Indian sales to non-Indian consumers 
.... § 471-e does not create the tax obligation itself, al
though it refers to it. The tax obligation itself long ago 
was established by the legislature .... "). 

FN14. Defendant makes brief reference to the 
2003 version of § 471-e by asserting that its 
very enactment demonstrates an acknowledg
ment by the legislature that "regulations were 
indispensable to on-reservation sales." (Def.'s 
Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 13.). As noted in note 
9 supra, he does not contend that that statute is 
otherwise relevant for present purposes. In any 
event, there is nothing in the statute to indicate 
that its enactment was designed to somehow 
override the statutory liability prescribed in § 
471 or foreclose liability under that section ab
sent the promulgation of implementing regula
tions. 

5. The Milhelm Attea Case 

In a separate but related argument, defendant contends 
that "[i]f § 471-e could not be implemented and applied 
to Indian retailers without [corresponding] regulations, 
§ 471 could not be implemented without the [Milhelm] 
Attea regulations." (DeC's Mem. of Law in Supp. at 10.) 
As with defendant's other regulatory claims, this argu
ment is unavailing. 

a. Milhelm Attea 

Milhelm Attea. a case decided by the Supreme Court in 
1994, arose in response to the DTF regulations adopted 
in 1988.FNI5 Noting that "[0 ]n-reservation cigarette 
sales to persons other than reservation Indians ... [we]re 
legitimately subject to state taxation" 512 U.S. at 64, 
114 S.C!. 2028, and that the DTF detennined that 
"unlawful purchases of unstarnped cigarettes [by non-
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Native Americans from reservation retailers] deprived 
New York of substantial tax revenues ... estimated at 
$65 million per year," the Court explained *681 that in 
1988, the DTF adopted regulations "[t]o ensure that 
nonexempt purchasers do not ... escape taxation." ld. at 
65, 114 S.C!. 2028. These regulations limited the num
ber of untaxed cigarettes that wholesalers could sell to 
tribal retailers, id., and imposed recordkeeping require
ments, [d. at 64, 114 S.C!. 2028. 

FN15, As noted above, the regulations were re
pealed by the DTF on April 28, 1998, see 
Urbach, 92 N,Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 
699 N ,E.2d 904. 

The plaintiffs in Milhelm Attea were wholesalers doing 
business on Native American reservations who sued to 
enjoin enforcement of the regulations, arguing that they 
violated the Indian Trader Statutes. These statutes 
provide, inter alia, as follows: 

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs shall have the 
sole power and authority to appoint traders to the In
dian tribes and to make such rules and regulations as 
he may deem just and proper specifying the kind and 
quantity of goods and the prices at which such goods 
shall be sold to the Indians. 

25 U,S,C, § 261. These statutes have been interpreted as 
evidencing a Congressional desire to comprehensively 
regulate the field of Indian trading such that there is no 
room for additional regulation by the states. See, e.g., 
Warren Trading Post Co. v. Az. Tax Comm'n, 380 U.S. 
685,690,85 S,C!. 1242, 14 L.Ed.2d 165 (1965). 

In finding that the 1988 DTF regulations did not violate 
the Indian Trader statutes, the Court distinguished the 
Warren Trading Post case, decided by the Court in 
1965, In Warren Trading Post, Arizona State attempted 
to tax the gross proceeds of a licensed Native American 
trader who was located on the reservation and conduc
ted business with other Native Americans. The Court 
found that the state tax was preempted by the Indian 
Trader Statutes: 

We think the assessment and collection of this tax 
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would to a substantial extent frustrate the evident 
congressional purpose of ensuring that no burden 
shall be imposed upon Indian traders for trading with 
Indians on reservations except as authorized by Acts 
of Congress or by valid regulations promulgated un
der those Acts, This state tax on gross income would 
put financial burdens on appellant or the Indians with 
whom it deals in addition to those Congress or the 
tribes have prescribed, and could thereby disturb and 
disarrange the statutory plan Congress set up in order 
to protect Indians against prices deemed unfair or un
reasonable by the Indian Commissioner. 

Warren Trading Post, 380 U.S. at 690-91,85 S.C!. 1242. 

"The state law", found pre-empted in Warren Trading 
Post was a tax directly 'imposed upon Indian traders for 
trading with Indians.' " Milhelm Attea. 512 U,S. at 74, 
114 S.C!. 2028 (quoting Warren Trading Post, 380 U.S. 
at 691, 85 S.C!. 1242), "That characterization[, the 
Court found,] does not apply to regulations designed to 
prevent circumvention of 'concededly lawful' taxes 
owed by non-Indians," !d. at 74-75 (quoting Moe, 425 
U.S. at 482-83, 96 S.C!. 1634). 

Moe, FNl6 Colville, FNI7 and PotawatomiFN1S make 
clear that the States have a valid interest in ensuring 
compliance with lawful taxes that might easily be 
evaded *682 through purchases of tax-exempt cigar
ettes on reservations; that interest outweighs tribes! 
modest interest in offering a tax exemption to custom
ers who would ordinarily shop elsewhere. The bal
ance of state, federal, and tribal interests ". in this 
area thus leaves more room for state regulation than 
in others. In particular, these cases have decided that 
States may impose on reservation retailers minimal 
burdens reasonably tailored to the collection of valid 
taxes from non-Indians. 

FN 16. Moe v. Confederated Salish and 
Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Reservation, 425 
U.S. 463, 96 S.C!. 1634,48 L.Ed.2d 96 (1976). 

FN17. Washington v. Confederated Tribes oj 
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Native Americans from reservation retailers] deprived 
New York of substantial tax revenues ... estimated at 
$65 million per year," the Court explained *681 that in 
1988, the DTF adopted regulations "[t]o ensure that 
nonexempt purchasers do not ... escape taxation." ld. at 
65, 114 S.C!. 2028. These regulations limited the num
ber of untaxed cigarettes that wholesalers could sell to 
tribal retailers, id., and imposed recordkeeping require
ments, [d. at 64, 114 S.C!. 2028. 

FN15, As noted above, the regulations were re
pealed by the DTF on April 28, 1998, see 
Urbach, 92 N,Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 
699 N ,E.2d 904. 

The plaintiffs in Milhelm Attea were wholesalers doing 
business on Native American reservations who sued to 
enjoin enforcement of the regulations, arguing that they 
violated the Indian Trader Statutes. These statutes 
provide, inter alia, as follows: 

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs shall have the 
sole power and authority to appoint traders to the In
dian tribes and to make such rules and regulations as 
he may deem just and proper specifying the kind and 
quantity of goods and the prices at which such goods 
shall be sold to the Indians. 

25 U,S,C, § 261. These statutes have been interpreted as 
evidencing a Congressional desire to comprehensively 
regulate the field of Indian trading such that there is no 
room for additional regulation by the states. See, e.g., 
Warren Trading Post Co. v. Az. Tax Comm'n, 380 U.S. 
685,690,85 S,C!. 1242, 14 L.Ed.2d 165 (1965). 

In finding that the 1988 DTF regulations did not violate 
the Indian Trader statutes, the Court distinguished the 
Warren Trading Post case, decided by the Court in 
1965, In Warren Trading Post, Arizona State attempted 
to tax the gross proceeds of a licensed Native American 
trader who was located on the reservation and conduc
ted business with other Native Americans. The Court 
found that the state tax was preempted by the Indian 
Trader Statutes: 

We think the assessment and collection of this tax 
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would to a substantial extent frustrate the evident 
congressional purpose of ensuring that no burden 
shall be imposed upon Indian traders for trading with 
Indians on reservations except as authorized by Acts 
of Congress or by valid regulations promulgated un
der those Acts, This state tax on gross income would 
put financial burdens on appellant or the Indians with 
whom it deals in addition to those Congress or the 
tribes have prescribed, and could thereby disturb and 
disarrange the statutory plan Congress set up in order 
to protect Indians against prices deemed unfair or un
reasonable by the Indian Commissioner. 

Warren Trading Post, 380 U.S. at 690-91,85 S.C!. 1242. 

"The state law", found pre-empted in Warren Trading 
Post was a tax directly 'imposed upon Indian traders for 
trading with Indians.' " Milhelm Attea. 512 U,S. at 74, 
114 S.C!. 2028 (quoting Warren Trading Post, 380 U.S. 
at 691, 85 S.C!. 1242), "That characterization[, the 
Court found,] does not apply to regulations designed to 
prevent circumvention of 'concededly lawful' taxes 
owed by non-Indians," !d. at 74-75 (quoting Moe, 425 
U.S. at 482-83, 96 S.C!. 1634). 

Moe, FNl6 Colville, FNI7 and PotawatomiFN1S make 
clear that the States have a valid interest in ensuring 
compliance with lawful taxes that might easily be 
evaded *682 through purchases of tax-exempt cigar
ettes on reservations; that interest outweighs tribes! 
modest interest in offering a tax exemption to custom
ers who would ordinarily shop elsewhere. The bal
ance of state, federal, and tribal interests ". in this 
area thus leaves more room for state regulation than 
in others. In particular, these cases have decided that 
States may impose on reservation retailers minimal 
burdens reasonably tailored to the collection of valid 
taxes from non-Indians. 

FN 16. Moe v. Confederated Salish and 
Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Reservation, 425 
U.S. 463, 96 S.C!. 1634,48 L.Ed.2d 96 (1976). 

FN17. Washington v. Confederated Tribes oj 
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Colville Indian Reservation. 447 U.S. 134, 100 
S.C!. 2069, 65 L.Ed.2d 10(1980). 

FNI8. Ok. Tax Comm'n v. Citizen Band Pot
mvatomi Indian Tribe of Ok., 498 U.S. 505, 
III S.Ct. 905,112 L.Ed.2d 1112 (1991). 

Id. at 73, 114 S.Ct. 2028 (internal citation and quotation 
marks omitted). Thus, the Court "h[ e ]ld that Indian 
traders are not wholly immune from state regulation that 
is reasonably necessary to the assessment or collection 
of lawful state taxes." Id. at 75, 114 S.Ct. 2028. After 
reviewing the 1988 DTF regulations, the Court found 
that they did not impose excessive burdens on Indian 
traders. See id. at 75, 114 S.C!. 2028 ("We are per
suaded, however, that New York's decision to stanch the 
illicit flow of tax-free cigarettes early in the distribution 
stream is a reasonably necessary method of preventing 
fraudulent transactions, one that polices against who lew 
sale evasion of [New York's] own valid taxes without 
unnecessarily intruding on core tribal interests.") 
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, 
the Court held that the "regulations d[id] not, on their 
face, violate the Indian Trader Statutes." Id. at 61, 114 
S.Ct. 2028. 

b. Defendant's Argument 

Defendant argues that "[t]he Supreme Court in [Milhelm 
] Attea recognized that the regulations were key to the 
constitutional application of § 471 to cigarette sales on 
reservations" (Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 12) and 
that "the Legislature's requirement that regulations be 
enacted to implement § 471-e simply reflected the Le
gislature's recognition that the Supreme Court upheld § 
471 because of its accompanying regulations .... " (Def.'s 
Reply at 6.) Defendant's argument mischaracterizes the 
Court's [mdings. 

The Milhelm Attea case involved a facial challenge to 
New York's regulatory scheme, not a challenge to the 
underlying statutory liability. In fact, the Court began 
its discussion by explicitly noting that pursuant to New 
York law, non-Native Americans purchasing cigarettes 
on-reservation "must pay" the tax. 512 U.S. at 64, 114 
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S.Ct. 2028 ("Cigarette consumers in New York are sub
ject to a state tax of 56 cents per pack. Enrolled tribal 
members who purchase cigarettes on Indian reserva
tions are exempt from this tax, but non-Indians making 
purchases on reservations must pay it. ~') (emphasis ad~ 
ded). Because the State had the power to tax non-native 
Americans purchasing cigarettes on the reservation, id 
at 71, 74, 114 S.Ct. 2028, the Court held that the 
plaintiff wholesalers were "not wholly immune from 
state regulation that [wa]s reasonably necessary to the 
assessment or collection of lawful state taxes." Id. at 75, 
114 S.C!. 2028. Thus, contrary to defendant's conten
tions, the Court did not uphold the statutory liability 
prescribed in § 471 because of its accompanying regula
tions. Rather, the Court held that the state could impose 
regulations reasonably necessary to facilitate the collec
tion of the legal tax and that the 1988 DTF regulations 
were sufficient in this regard. There is nothing in the 
Milhelm Attea case which even suggests that liability 
under § 471 is not operative absent regulations. 

Moreover, it is significant to note that if the compre
hensive 1988 DTF regulations were found by the Su
preme Court to not impose an excessive burden on Nat~ 
ive American traders, then surely Morrison's ability to 
simply purchase stamped cigarettes from licensed 
wholesaler/stamping *683 agents for resale to non
Native Americans on the reservation, and unstamped ci
garettes for resale to qualified Native Americans, can
not be deemed excessive. 

6. Conclusions as to Defendant's Regulatory Arguments 

[3] In sum, the Court rejects defendant's arguments that 
the absence of implementing regulations under § 471 
precludes prosecution under the CCT A. The 1988 regu
lations, which were later repealed, and the enactment of, 
and later amendment to, § 471-e, were attempts by New 
York State to solve its problem of enforcement. But as 
the Court has stated many times in this case, the failure 
of the executive branch to enforce the law cannot under
mine the viability of a statute duly enacted by the legis
lature. Moreover, the absence of any language in the 
relevant New York Tax Law requiring the DTF to pre
scribe regulations as a condition precedent to statutory 
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Colville Indian Reservation. 447 U.S. 134, 100 
S.C!. 2069, 65 L.Ed.2d 10(1980). 

FNI8. Ok. Tax Comm'n v. Citizen Band Pot
mvatomi Indian Tribe of Ok., 498 U.S. 505, 
III S.Ct. 905,112 L.Ed.2d 1112 (1991). 

Id. at 73, 114 S.Ct. 2028 (internal citation and quotation 
marks omitted). Thus, the Court "h[ e ]ld that Indian 
traders are not wholly immune from state regulation that 
is reasonably necessary to the assessment or collection 
of lawful state taxes." Id. at 75, 114 S.Ct. 2028. After 
reviewing the 1988 DTF regulations, the Court found 
that they did not impose excessive burdens on Indian 
traders. See id. at 75, 114 S.C!. 2028 ("We are per
suaded, however, that New York's decision to stanch the 
illicit flow of tax-free cigarettes early in the distribution 
stream is a reasonably necessary method of preventing 
fraudulent transactions, one that polices against who lew 
sale evasion of [New York's] own valid taxes without 
unnecessarily intruding on core tribal interests.") 
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, 
the Court held that the "regulations d[id] not, on their 
face, violate the Indian Trader Statutes." Id. at 61, 114 
S.Ct. 2028. 

b. Defendant's Argument 

Defendant argues that "[t]he Supreme Court in [Milhelm 
] Attea recognized that the regulations were key to the 
constitutional application of § 471 to cigarette sales on 
reservations" (Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 12) and 
that "the Legislature's requirement that regulations be 
enacted to implement § 471-e simply reflected the Le
gislature's recognition that the Supreme Court upheld § 
471 because of its accompanying regulations .... " (Def.'s 
Reply at 6.) Defendant's argument mischaracterizes the 
Court's [mdings. 

The Milhelm Attea case involved a facial challenge to 
New York's regulatory scheme, not a challenge to the 
underlying statutory liability. In fact, the Court began 
its discussion by explicitly noting that pursuant to New 
York law, non-Native Americans purchasing cigarettes 
on-reservation "must pay" the tax. 512 U.S. at 64, 114 
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S.Ct. 2028 ("Cigarette consumers in New York are sub
ject to a state tax of 56 cents per pack. Enrolled tribal 
members who purchase cigarettes on Indian reserva
tions are exempt from this tax, but non-Indians making 
purchases on reservations must pay it. ~') (emphasis ad~ 
ded). Because the State had the power to tax non-native 
Americans purchasing cigarettes on the reservation, id 
at 71, 74, 114 S.Ct. 2028, the Court held that the 
plaintiff wholesalers were "not wholly immune from 
state regulation that [wa]s reasonably necessary to the 
assessment or collection of lawful state taxes." Id. at 75, 
114 S.C!. 2028. Thus, contrary to defendant's conten
tions, the Court did not uphold the statutory liability 
prescribed in § 471 because of its accompanying regula
tions. Rather, the Court held that the state could impose 
regulations reasonably necessary to facilitate the collec
tion of the legal tax and that the 1988 DTF regulations 
were sufficient in this regard. There is nothing in the 
Milhelm Attea case which even suggests that liability 
under § 471 is not operative absent regulations. 

Moreover, it is significant to note that if the compre
hensive 1988 DTF regulations were found by the Su
preme Court to not impose an excessive burden on Nat~ 
ive American traders, then surely Morrison's ability to 
simply purchase stamped cigarettes from licensed 
wholesaler/stamping *683 agents for resale to non
Native Americans on the reservation, and unstamped ci
garettes for resale to qualified Native Americans, can
not be deemed excessive. 

6. Conclusions as to Defendant's Regulatory Arguments 

[3] In sum, the Court rejects defendant's arguments that 
the absence of implementing regulations under § 471 
precludes prosecution under the CCT A. The 1988 regu
lations, which were later repealed, and the enactment of, 
and later amendment to, § 471-e, were attempts by New 
York State to solve its problem of enforcement. But as 
the Court has stated many times in this case, the failure 
of the executive branch to enforce the law cannot under
mine the viability of a statute duly enacted by the legis
lature. Moreover, the absence of any language in the 
relevant New York Tax Law requiring the DTF to pre
scribe regulations as a condition precedent to statutory 
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liability precludes any fmding that § 471 is not operat
ive absent the implementation of a formal regulatory 
program. 

B. Change in Theory FNI9 

FNI9. For purposes of discussion, the Court 
addresses defendant's change of theory argu
ment before it reaches defendant's substantive 
due process claim, although these arguments 
are addressed in reverse order in defendant's brief. 

[4] Defendant argues that Count Two should be dis
missed because (I) the government relied solely on an 
"off-reservation" theory of prosecution until the Court 
granted defendant's Rule 29 motion as to Count One's 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty, and (2) the 
Court erred when it permitted the government to change 
its theory mid-trial and present Count Two to the jury 
under a new theory of "on-reservation" sales. 

The government's response to defendant's change of 
theory claim is as follows: 

In the context of opposing defendant's entrapment
by-estoppel and due process claims, the government 
consistently argued that § 471-e had no applicability 
to this case. Notwithstanding the obvious miscommu
nication that led to the dismissal of Racketeering Acts 
("RAs") 5 to 80 for purposes of Count One [discussed 
infra ], the government never asserted, as claimed by 
the defense here, that the defendant's criminal liability 
rested upon proof that, in addition to selling un-taxed 
cigarettes to Peace Pipe customers, the defendant sub
sequently performed additional conduct to aid and 
abet in the re-sale of those same cigarettes off the re
servation. To the contrary, the government sought to 
prevent the defendant's attempts to conflate, and 
thereby confuse for the jury, the regulatory history of 
Tax Law § 471-e with evidence of the defendant's 
aiding and abetting the evasion of the state's cigarette 
tax requirements by selling untaxed cigarettes to 
Peace Pipe customers whom he knew were re-selling 
to consumers. 

Page 250[60 

Page 24 

(Gov't's Mem. in Opp' n at 7.) 

The threshold question, then, is whether the government 
did change its theory. However, before addressing that 
issue, a brief overview of the relevant portions of the in
dictment will be provided. 

1. Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty 

Defendant's change of theory argument pertains to 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty which charge 
the defendant with selling contraband cigarettes. Spe
cifically, the indictment alleges: 

On or about the dates set forth below, within the 
Eastern District of New York, the defendant ROD
NEY ARNOLDO*684 MORRISON, together with 
others, knowingly and intentionally sold and distrib
uted contraband cigarettes, to wit: the approximate 
quantity of cigarettes set forth below, lacking valid 
New York State tax stamps, in violation of Title 18, 
United States Code, Sections 2342( a) and 2 [; the 
foregoing language is followed by a table with three 
columns setting forth the number of each of the rack
eteering acts, the date of each transaction, and the ap
proximate quantity of the cigarettes sold at the Peace 
Pipe on that date-which ranged from 60,400 cigarettes 
for Racketeering Act 80 to 328,400 cigarettes for 
Racketeering Act 79. FN20] 

FN20. 60,000 cigarettes corresponds to about 
300 cartons. 

(Indictment 1f 21, at 9, docket no. 95.) 

The Court views the gravamen of paragraph 21, when 
read in conjunction with other portions of the indict
ment inc1uding the "Enterprise" allegations, as being 
that defendant, either personally and/or (under § 2 of 
Title 18 U.S.C.) as an "aider and abettor" in the sense 
that he "command[ ed], inducer d] or procurer dl" certain 
actions by Peace Pipe employees and others, violated § 
2342(a) by the on-reservation salesFN2I Indeed, al
though the issue has not been broached by either party, 
it appears that had a conviction been returned on the 
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liability precludes any fmding that § 471 is not operat
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FNI9. For purposes of discussion, the Court 
addresses defendant's change of theory argu
ment before it reaches defendant's substantive 
due process claim, although these arguments 
are addressed in reverse order in defendant's brief. 
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missed because (I) the government relied solely on an 
"off-reservation" theory of prosecution until the Court 
granted defendant's Rule 29 motion as to Count One's 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty, and (2) the 
Court erred when it permitted the government to change 
its theory mid-trial and present Count Two to the jury 
under a new theory of "on-reservation" sales. 

The government's response to defendant's change of 
theory claim is as follows: 

In the context of opposing defendant's entrapment
by-estoppel and due process claims, the government 
consistently argued that § 471-e had no applicability 
to this case. Notwithstanding the obvious miscommu
nication that led to the dismissal of Racketeering Acts 
("RAs") 5 to 80 for purposes of Count One [discussed 
infra ], the government never asserted, as claimed by 
the defense here, that the defendant's criminal liability 
rested upon proof that, in addition to selling un-taxed 
cigarettes to Peace Pipe customers, the defendant sub
sequently performed additional conduct to aid and 
abet in the re-sale of those same cigarettes off the re
servation. To the contrary, the government sought to 
prevent the defendant's attempts to conflate, and 
thereby confuse for the jury, the regulatory history of 
Tax Law § 471-e with evidence of the defendant's 
aiding and abetting the evasion of the state's cigarette 
tax requirements by selling untaxed cigarettes to 
Peace Pipe customers whom he knew were re-selling 
to consumers. 
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(Gov't's Mem. in Opp' n at 7.) 

The threshold question, then, is whether the government 
did change its theory. However, before addressing that 
issue, a brief overview of the relevant portions of the in
dictment will be provided. 

1. Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty 

Defendant's change of theory argument pertains to 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty which charge 
the defendant with selling contraband cigarettes. Spe
cifically, the indictment alleges: 

On or about the dates set forth below, within the 
Eastern District of New York, the defendant ROD
NEY ARNOLDO*684 MORRISON, together with 
others, knowingly and intentionally sold and distrib
uted contraband cigarettes, to wit: the approximate 
quantity of cigarettes set forth below, lacking valid 
New York State tax stamps, in violation of Title 18, 
United States Code, Sections 2342( a) and 2 [; the 
foregoing language is followed by a table with three 
columns setting forth the number of each of the rack
eteering acts, the date of each transaction, and the ap
proximate quantity of the cigarettes sold at the Peace 
Pipe on that date-which ranged from 60,400 cigarettes 
for Racketeering Act 80 to 328,400 cigarettes for 
Racketeering Act 79. FN20] 

FN20. 60,000 cigarettes corresponds to about 
300 cartons. 

(Indictment 1f 21, at 9, docket no. 95.) 

The Court views the gravamen of paragraph 21, when 
read in conjunction with other portions of the indict
ment inc1uding the "Enterprise" allegations, as being 
that defendant, either personally and/or (under § 2 of 
Title 18 U.S.C.) as an "aider and abettor" in the sense 
that he "command[ ed], inducer d] or procurer dl" certain 
actions by Peace Pipe employees and others, violated § 
2342(a) by the on-reservation salesFN2I Indeed, al
though the issue has not been broached by either party, 
it appears that had a conviction been returned on the 
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theory and concomitant proof that defendant aided and 
abetted the cigarette purchasers listed in Racketeering 
Acts Five through Eighty to violate the CCTA by re
selling unstamped cigarettes to third parties-either by 
simply furnishing the product,FN2Z or by providing ad
ditional assistance vis-a-vis such resales-that conviction 
would be subject to vacatur as a constructive amend
ment to the CCTA charge in the indictment. 

FN2l. Defendant, as his counsel explained dur
ing his opening statement, also viewed the in
dictment as charging on-reservation sales. (Tr. 
at 409 ("This is the actual allegation against 
Mr. Morrison, that he knowingly and intention
ally sold and distributed contraband cigarettes, 
to wit: The approximate quantity of the cigar
ettes set forth below [referring to chart in para
graph 21 of the indictment], lacking valid New 
York State tax stamps.... In the indictment ... 
you will see what you have is that these 
[referring to Racketeering Acts 4 through 80] 
are alleged sales of cigarettes by Peace Pipe on 
these particular dates in question.").) 

FN22. Assuming that such conduct, arguendo 
and contrary to the fact (see note 27 infra ), 
standing alone, would render Morrison an aider 
and abettor under § 2(a). 

2. During its Case-in-Chief the Government Confined 
its Theory of Prosecution Regarding the CCTA Racket
eering Acts to 18 u.s. C. § 2 and Off-Reservation Sales 

Simply put, defendant has the better side of the argu
ment based on what occurred prior to the Rule 29 mo
tion being granted as to Racketeering Acts Five through 
Eighty of Count One. Thus, in the government's Octo
ber 18, 2007 letter brief pertaining to entrapment by es
toppel, the COU1l was advised that "[Morrison's] liabil
ity in this case will be determined on evidence that he 
knowingly and intentionally aided and abetted others in 
sales and distribution of untaxed cigarettes off the reser
vation." (Gov't's Oct. 18, 2007 Letter at 2, docket no. 
372.) 
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On November 14, 2007, before opening statements, the 
Court provided its understanding of the government's 
theory of prosecution: "In the decision FN23 I said, in 
essence, that the government's theory of this case is, un
der *685Section 2 of Title 18 United States Code, that 
Mr. Morrison aided and abetted individuals who bought 
product on the reservation and sold the product off the 
reservation." (Tr. at 122.) The government did not ob
ject to this characterization of its theory and consistent 
therewith, appeared to define its theory of prosecution 
in its opening statement as aiding and abetting off
reservation sales. (ld. at 215-18.) 

FN23. United Statesv. Morrison, 2007 WL 
3274697 (E.D.N.Y. November 5, 2007), va
cated on other grounds by bench decision dated 
February 27, 2008. (Tr. at 9491-9502.) 

The Court represented this understanding of the govern
ment's theory during defense counsel's opening state
ment by instructing the jury that the government alleged 
that defendant had the "specific intent of aiding the ... 
non-Indian who bought the cigarettes on the reservation, 
to then sell them off the reservation without the appro
priate taxes .... " (Id. at 434.) 

The Court distributed its draft, and ultimately unused 
charge on the CCTA acts on February 27, 2008 (id. at 
9459), wherein I described the government's theory 
thusly: 

[T]he government maintains that the defendant is 
criminally responsible for violations of CCTA be
cause he aided and abetted others to commit viola
tions of CCTA. Those others, it is alleged, consist of 
individuals who purchased contraband cigarettes at 
Peace Pipe, or Smokersden.com for resale to third 
parties off reservation. The government is not, and the 
word not here is underscored, the government is not 
claiming that the sales made by Peace Pipe and 
Smokersden.com to such parties violated CCTA. 

(ld. at 10536-37.) 

The government agreed that the above language accur
ately depicted its position. (ld. at 9480 ("And I think 
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theory and concomitant proof that defendant aided and 
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you will see what you have is that these 
[referring to Racketeering Acts 4 through 80] 
are alleged sales of cigarettes by Peace Pipe on 
these particular dates in question.").) 

FN22. Assuming that such conduct, arguendo 
and contrary to the fact (see note 27 infra ), 
standing alone, would render Morrison an aider 
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On November 14, 2007, before opening statements, the 
Court provided its understanding of the government's 
theory of prosecution: "In the decision FN23 I said, in 
essence, that the government's theory of this case is, un
der *685Section 2 of Title 18 United States Code, that 
Mr. Morrison aided and abetted individuals who bought 
product on the reservation and sold the product off the 
reservation." (Tr. at 122.) The government did not ob
ject to this characterization of its theory and consistent 
therewith, appeared to define its theory of prosecution 
in its opening statement as aiding and abetting off
reservation sales. (ld. at 215-18.) 

FN23. United Statesv. Morrison, 2007 WL 
3274697 (E.D.N.Y. November 5, 2007), va
cated on other grounds by bench decision dated 
February 27, 2008. (Tr. at 9491-9502.) 

The Court represented this understanding of the govern
ment's theory during defense counsel's opening state
ment by instructing the jury that the government alleged 
that defendant had the "specific intent of aiding the ... 
non-Indian who bought the cigarettes on the reservation, 
to then sell them off the reservation without the appro
priate taxes .... " (Id. at 434.) 

The Court distributed its draft, and ultimately unused 
charge on the CCTA acts on February 27, 2008 (id. at 
9459), wherein I described the government's theory 
thusly: 

[T]he government maintains that the defendant is 
criminally responsible for violations of CCTA be
cause he aided and abetted others to commit viola
tions of CCTA. Those others, it is alleged, consist of 
individuals who purchased contraband cigarettes at 
Peace Pipe, or Smokersden.com for resale to third 
parties off reservation. The government is not, and the 
word not here is underscored, the government is not 
claiming that the sales made by Peace Pipe and 
Smokersden.com to such parties violated CCTA. 
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The government agreed that the above language accur
ately depicted its position. (ld. at 9480 ("And I think 
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your Honor has correctly phrased the government's pos
ition here.").) In fact, the government, while still pursu
ing its off-reservation theory, made a suggestion, out of 
the presence of the jury, that the Court include within 
its charge an instruction that on-reservation sales did 
not violate the CCTA, apparently referring to sales not 
only to Native Americans but also to non-Native Amer
icans.ld. at 9482. 

Based on the above, all of which occurred before I ruled 
on defendant's Rule 29 motion directed at the CCTA 
Racketeering Acts in Count One, I concluded then, as I 
do now, that the government was proceeding exclus
ively on the theory that defendant aided and abetted big 
customers-by selling to them huge amounts of product 
FN24-which defendant understood would be resold to 
third parties in an unstamped condition.'"" 

FN24. No evidence was presented to the jury 
suggesting that defendant was involved in the 
resale of those cigarettes to third parties. 

FN25. Parenthetically, before the defendant in
terjected the forbearance policy and the defense 
of entrapment by estoppel into the pretrial pro
ceedings, the government's position focused on 
on-reservation sales. (See Gov't's letter dated 
May 25, 2007 but filed September 19, 2007 at 
1, docket no. 337, referring to exhibits later ad
mitted at trial evidencing on-reservation sales 
and the government's intent to rely on such 
documents "in support of the charges".) That 
the defendant understood the government's then 
position is evident from the defendant's Octo
ber 16, 2007 letter brief in which it was argued 
that notwithstanding this Court's conclusion 
that the forbearance policy did not render on
reservation sales non-taxable events, the 
"policy of 'forbearance' ... rendered § 471 un
enforceable as applied to reservation cigarette 
sales." (Def.'s Oct. 16, 2007 Letter at 1, docket 
no. 367 (emphasis in original).) 

3. The Court Dismisses the CCTA Racketeering Acts as 
to Count One 
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After the government rested, and by motion filed Febru
ary28, 2008 (docket no. 636), defendant moved for 
judgment of acquittal on, inter alia, Racketeering Acts 
*686 Four through Eighty under Rule 29(a) as to Count 
One. By bench decision dated March 4, 2008, the Court 
reiterated that since October 2007, the government had 
indicated that it was' relying solely on an aiding and 
abetting theory of liability under 18 U.S.C. § 2 with re
gard to Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty, viz. that 
Morrison aided and abetted the individuals who pur
chased his cigarettes on the reservation in committing 
violations of the CCTA when they resold the cigarettes 
off-reservation. In order to prove that Morrison was 
guilty of aiding and abetting the purchasers in their re
sale of contraband cigarettes, the Court held, the gov
ernment was required to prove, inter alia, that the pur
chasers violated the CCTA.FN26 (Tr. at 9925.) Because 
there was no evidence in the record from which a reas
onable trier of fact could so conclude, as explained in 
the March 4, 2008 bench decision (id. at 9925-32),FN27 
the Court granted defendant's motion to dismiss Racket
eering Acts Five through Eighty with regard to Count 
One, the substantive RICO count.FN28 (ld. at 9942-43.) 

FN26. See, e.g., United States v. Frampton, 
382 F.3d 213, 223 (2d Cir.2004) ("In order to 
secure a conviction for aiding and abetting un
der 18 U.S.C. § 2(a), the Government must 
prove: (I) that the underlying crime was com
mitted by someone other than the defendant; 
and (2) that the defendant either acted or failed 
to act with the specific intent of enabling its 
commission.") (emphasis added). 

FN27. With respect to the government's initial 
off-reservation theory, it is, of course, highly 
probable that the purchasers of the cigarettes 
sold by Peace Pipe as alleged in Racketeering 
Acts Five tluough Eighty resold the product 
given the large quantities involved. That does 
not necessarily mean, however, that those pur
chasers violated the CCTA because, e.g., the 
resales may not have involved over 60,000 ci
garettes per transaction or the sales may have 
occurred overseas or in jurisdictions in the 
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mitted at trial evidencing on-reservation sales 
and the government's intent to rely on such 
documents "in support of the charges".) That 
the defendant understood the government's then 
position is evident from the defendant's Octo
ber 16, 2007 letter brief in which it was argued 
that notwithstanding this Court's conclusion 
that the forbearance policy did not render on
reservation sales non-taxable events, the 
"policy of 'forbearance' ... rendered § 471 un
enforceable as applied to reservation cigarette 
sales." (Def.'s Oct. 16, 2007 Letter at 1, docket 
no. 367 (emphasis in original).) 

3. The Court Dismisses the CCTA Racketeering Acts as 
to Count One 
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*686 Four through Eighty under Rule 29(a) as to Count 
One. By bench decision dated March 4, 2008, the Court 
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indicated that it was' relying solely on an aiding and 
abetting theory of liability under 18 U.S.C. § 2 with re
gard to Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty, viz. that 
Morrison aided and abetted the individuals who pur
chased his cigarettes on the reservation in committing 
violations of the CCTA when they resold the cigarettes 
off-reservation. In order to prove that Morrison was 
guilty of aiding and abetting the purchasers in their re
sale of contraband cigarettes, the Court held, the gov
ernment was required to prove, inter alia, that the pur
chasers violated the CCTA.FN26 (Tr. at 9925.) Because 
there was no evidence in the record from which a reas
onable trier of fact could so conclude, as explained in 
the March 4, 2008 bench decision (id. at 9925-32),FN27 
the Court granted defendant's motion to dismiss Racket
eering Acts Five through Eighty with regard to Count 
One, the substantive RICO count.FN28 (ld. at 9942-43.) 

FN26. See, e.g., United States v. Frampton, 
382 F.3d 213, 223 (2d Cir.2004) ("In order to 
secure a conviction for aiding and abetting un
der 18 U.S.C. § 2(a), the Government must 
prove: (I) that the underlying crime was com
mitted by someone other than the defendant; 
and (2) that the defendant either acted or failed 
to act with the specific intent of enabling its 
commission.") (emphasis added). 

FN27. With respect to the government's initial 
off-reservation theory, it is, of course, highly 
probable that the purchasers of the cigarettes 
sold by Peace Pipe as alleged in Racketeering 
Acts Five tluough Eighty resold the product 
given the large quantities involved. That does 
not necessarily mean, however, that those pur
chasers violated the CCTA because, e.g., the 
resales may not have involved over 60,000 ci
garettes per transaction or the sales may have 
occurred overseas or in jurisdictions in the 
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United States that do not require stamps to be 
affixed. 

FN28. With respect to the constructive amend
ment question, the Court, by way of a prefatory 
statement during its bench decision dismissing 
Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty of 
Count One stated: "I'm assuming that that the
ory [i.e. the off-reservation theory] is not in
consistent with what the grand jury has 
charged. In other words, it's not some type of, 
in effect, amendment as to the charges faced by 
the defendant. I take no position on that matter, 
and it has nothing to do with my decision in 
this regard." (Tr. at 9926-27.) 

The dismissal was granted because the government's 
off-reservation theory was not supported by the proof.· 
In fact, no resale evidence was before the jury. 
However, I noted then (id. at 10696-697), as I do now, 
that there was abundant evidence in the record consist
ent with the on-reservation charge returned by the grand 
jury to deny defendant's motion to dismiss the CCTA 
Racketeering Acts as to Count One had the government 
not relied exclusively on its off-reservation theory. Be 
that as it may, however, the Court was barred from re
visiting its ruling as to Count One upon the govern
ment's request in its letter brief of March 10, 2008 that I 
do so because the bench decision of March 4th was im
mediately entered upon its issuance, thus becoming a fi
nal order. (Id. at 10768) (citing Smith v. Massachusetts. 
543 U.S. 462, 473, 125 S.Ct. 1129, 160 L.Ed.2d 914 
(2005).) 

4. The Court Reserves Decision on Defendant'S Motion 
to Dismiss the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to Count Two 

By motion filed March 6, 2008, defendant moved to dis
miss the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to Count Two, 
RICO conspiracy, arguing that the Court's prior de
cision as to Count One "inflict[ ed] a fatal blow to 
[Racketeering Acts] 4-80 in Count Two." (Docket no. 
652 at 2.) During oral argument on the motion, the gov
ernment stated that it had never been *687 "its position 
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that the resale by a purchaser constituted the CCTA act 
transaction." (Tr. at 10526.) Rather, according to the 
government, the CCTA violation occurred at the time 
defendant sold contraband cigarettes on the reservation. 
(Id. at 10534.) When asked by the Court about its appar
ent change of position, the government responded that it 
had misunderstood the Court's characterization of its 
theory. (Id. at 10527-30; see also id. at 10792 where 
government proffers that the "indictment speaks for it
self," that the government's proof pertained to "sale[ s] 
from the Peace Pipe," and that "it was never the govem~ 
ment's contention that the resale [by the Peace Pipe's 
big customers] formed the basis of the aiding and abet
ting [under Count One] or for that matter the conspiracy 
liability [under Count Two]".) 

On March 11, 2008, the Court reserved decision on de
fendant's Rule 29(b) motion to dismiss the CCTA Rack
eteering Acts from Count Two. (Id. at 10779; see also 
id. at 10791.) Noting that the RICO conspiracy charge 
was a separate charge from the substantive RICO 
charge, the Court provided its preliminary view that it 
was not bound by collateral estoppel or the law of the 
case doctrine to dismiss the CCTA Racketeering Acts 
from Count Two merely because it had dismissed them 
from Count One. (Id. at 10780-81.) The Court also 
stated, following oral argument, that it did not appear 
that the defendant would be prejudiced should the case 
go forward on an on-reservation sales theory. (Id. at 
10781.) Thus, the CCTA Racketeering Acts were 
presented to the jury under Count Two, RICO conspir
acy. 

5. The Parties' Arguments 

Defendant argues that "[t]he CCTA Racketeering Acts 
incorporated into Count Two-and therefore Count Two 
itself-should be dismissed for the same reason the Court 
dismissed these same acts as charged in Count One, i.e., 
insufficient evidence to prove the government's theory 
of prosecution that Mr. Morrison aided and abetted off
reservation cigarette sales in violation of the CCTA." 
(DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 36.) Essentially, de
fendant contends that "there is no question that the gov
ernment not only committed exclusively to an 'aiding 
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United States that do not require stamps to be 
affixed. 

FN28. With respect to the constructive amend
ment question, the Court, by way of a prefatory 
statement during its bench decision dismissing 
Racketeering Acts Four through Eighty of 
Count One stated: "I'm assuming that that the
ory [i.e. the off-reservation theory] is not in
consistent with what the grand jury has 
charged. In other words, it's not some type of, 
in effect, amendment as to the charges faced by 
the defendant. I take no position on that matter, 
and it has nothing to do with my decision in 
this regard." (Tr. at 9926-27.) 

The dismissal was granted because the government's 
off-reservation theory was not supported by the proof.· 
In fact, no resale evidence was before the jury. 
However, I noted then (id. at 10696-697), as I do now, 
that there was abundant evidence in the record consist
ent with the on-reservation charge returned by the grand 
jury to deny defendant's motion to dismiss the CCTA 
Racketeering Acts as to Count One had the government 
not relied exclusively on its off-reservation theory. Be 
that as it may, however, the Court was barred from re
visiting its ruling as to Count One upon the govern
ment's request in its letter brief of March 10, 2008 that I 
do so because the bench decision of March 4th was im
mediately entered upon its issuance, thus becoming a fi
nal order. (Id. at 10768) (citing Smith v. Massachusetts. 
543 U.S. 462, 473, 125 S.Ct. 1129, 160 L.Ed.2d 914 
(2005).) 

4. The Court Reserves Decision on Defendant'S Motion 
to Dismiss the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to Count Two 

By motion filed March 6, 2008, defendant moved to dis
miss the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to Count Two, 
RICO conspiracy, arguing that the Court's prior de
cision as to Count One "inflict[ ed] a fatal blow to 
[Racketeering Acts] 4-80 in Count Two." (Docket no. 
652 at 2.) During oral argument on the motion, the gov
ernment stated that it had never been *687 "its position 
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that the resale by a purchaser constituted the CCTA act 
transaction." (Tr. at 10526.) Rather, according to the 
government, the CCTA violation occurred at the time 
defendant sold contraband cigarettes on the reservation. 
(Id. at 10534.) When asked by the Court about its appar
ent change of position, the government responded that it 
had misunderstood the Court's characterization of its 
theory. (Id. at 10527-30; see also id. at 10792 where 
government proffers that the "indictment speaks for it
self," that the government's proof pertained to "sale[ s] 
from the Peace Pipe," and that "it was never the govem~ 
ment's contention that the resale [by the Peace Pipe's 
big customers] formed the basis of the aiding and abet
ting [under Count One] or for that matter the conspiracy 
liability [under Count Two]".) 

On March 11, 2008, the Court reserved decision on de
fendant's Rule 29(b) motion to dismiss the CCTA Rack
eteering Acts from Count Two. (Id. at 10779; see also 
id. at 10791.) Noting that the RICO conspiracy charge 
was a separate charge from the substantive RICO 
charge, the Court provided its preliminary view that it 
was not bound by collateral estoppel or the law of the 
case doctrine to dismiss the CCTA Racketeering Acts 
from Count Two merely because it had dismissed them 
from Count One. (Id. at 10780-81.) The Court also 
stated, following oral argument, that it did not appear 
that the defendant would be prejudiced should the case 
go forward on an on-reservation sales theory. (Id. at 
10781.) Thus, the CCTA Racketeering Acts were 
presented to the jury under Count Two, RICO conspir
acy. 

5. The Parties' Arguments 

Defendant argues that "[t]he CCTA Racketeering Acts 
incorporated into Count Two-and therefore Count Two 
itself-should be dismissed for the same reason the Court 
dismissed these same acts as charged in Count One, i.e., 
insufficient evidence to prove the government's theory 
of prosecution that Mr. Morrison aided and abetted off
reservation cigarette sales in violation of the CCTA." 
(DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 36.) Essentially, de
fendant contends that "there is no question that the gov
ernment not only committed exclusively to an 'aiding 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https://web2.westlaw.comiprintiprintstream.aspx?rs=WLW 1 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H... 9/8/2010 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 250    09/17/2010    108283    314



596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

and abetting off-reservation sales' theory in its case
in-chief, but also explicitly disavowed (and therefore 
waived) any reliance on an on-reservation sales theory." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 37 (emphasis in origin
al).) Citing various cases dealing with bill of particulars 
and changes in theory, defendant maintains that the 
Court erred in permitting the government to change its 
theory after defendant had filed his Rule 29 motion. 

The government's response is limited to arguing that de
fendant's conviction under Count Two for racketeering 
conspiracy is supported by sufficient evidence and cites 
no case law, nor attempts to distinguish defendantls 
cases, relating to its change of position. Nevertheless, 
defendant's motion is denied because: (1) the indictment 
charged defendant with substantive violations of the 
CCTA, along with a corresponding conspiracy count, 
both involving on-reservation sales; (2) the evidence at 
trial overwhehningly supported the jury's verdict as to 
Count Two under the on-reservation theory articulated 
by the government before conunencement of defend
ant's case; and (3) defendant has pointed out no preju
dice resulting from the government's change of theory. 
Point (1) has already been discussed. Points (2) and (3) 
will be addressed now. 

6. No Prejudice to Defendant Shown From Govern
ment's Change in Theory, and Overwhelming Evidence 

Supports Jury's Verdict as to Count Two 

The outcome of defendant's attack on Count Two under 
discussion turns on *688 whether he was prejudiced by 
the government's change of theory. 

The relationship between a conviction which is the 
product of the government's change of theory during tri
al and resulting prejudice, or lack thereof, is addressed 
in United States v. Mapp, 170 F.3d 328 (2d Cir.1999). 
In Mapp, defendant Kevin Moore ("Moore") was con
victed, inter alia, of murder in aid of racketeering in vi
olation of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(1). Id. at 330. As a pre
dicate for its prosecution under § 1959, the government 
contended that Moore murdered the victim in violation 
of New York Penal Law § 125.25(3), New York's 
felony murder statute. [d. at 335. The district court in-
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structed the jury that it could [md Moore guilty of hav
ing violated § 1959 if it concluded, inter alia, that 
Moore had murdered the victim in violation of § 125.25 
(3).Id. 

After it began deliberating, the jury sent the district 
court a note asking whether Moore could be found 
guilty of violating § 1959 if he did not either carry or 
use the gun involved in the murder. Id. at 337. The 
court initially responded by reminding the jury of the 
court's charge under § 1959, including the requirement 
that the government prove that Moore murdered the vic
tim in violation of N.Y. Penal Law § 125.25(3). Id. The 
court then supplemented its original charge by inform
ing the jury that it could find Moore guilty of violating 
that statute if it found that Moore or another participant 
in the robbery caused the victim's death. Id. Before giv
ing its supplemental instruction, Moore was given the 
opportunity to offer additional argument andIor evid
ence but declined. Id. 

In rejecting Moore's argument that the district court vi
olated his Fifth Amendment right to due process by 
charging the supplemental instruction, the Second Cir
cuit stated as follows: 

In these circumstances, we believe that Moore's 
challenge to the district court's decision to give this 
supplemental jury instruction lacks merit. Notably, 
Moore does not claim that the supplemental jury in
struction deviated from the charges contained in the 
indictment. Nor does he maintain that there was any 
legal error in the content of the instruction. Instead, 
Moore argues only that the instruction "changed the 
government's theory of liability" on the section 1959 
charge and that he might have asserted additional de
fenses at trial if he had known that such an instruction 
would be given. But this contention is unpersuasive 
because, even now, Moore is silent as to what those 
defenses might be. Finally, by giving him the oppor
tunity to respond by presenting additional evidence or 
argument to the jury, the district court carefully 
avoided causing Moore any arguable prejudice in the 
giving of the supplemental instruction. 

Id. 
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and abetting off-reservation sales' theory in its case
in-chief, but also explicitly disavowed (and therefore 
waived) any reliance on an on-reservation sales theory." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 37 (emphasis in origin
al).) Citing various cases dealing with bill of particulars 
and changes in theory, defendant maintains that the 
Court erred in permitting the government to change its 
theory after defendant had filed his Rule 29 motion. 

The government's response is limited to arguing that de
fendant's conviction under Count Two for racketeering 
conspiracy is supported by sufficient evidence and cites 
no case law, nor attempts to distinguish defendantls 
cases, relating to its change of position. Nevertheless, 
defendant's motion is denied because: (1) the indictment 
charged defendant with substantive violations of the 
CCTA, along with a corresponding conspiracy count, 
both involving on-reservation sales; (2) the evidence at 
trial overwhehningly supported the jury's verdict as to 
Count Two under the on-reservation theory articulated 
by the government before conunencement of defend
ant's case; and (3) defendant has pointed out no preju
dice resulting from the government's change of theory. 
Point (1) has already been discussed. Points (2) and (3) 
will be addressed now. 

6. No Prejudice to Defendant Shown From Govern
ment's Change in Theory, and Overwhelming Evidence 

Supports Jury's Verdict as to Count Two 

The outcome of defendant's attack on Count Two under 
discussion turns on *688 whether he was prejudiced by 
the government's change of theory. 

The relationship between a conviction which is the 
product of the government's change of theory during tri
al and resulting prejudice, or lack thereof, is addressed 
in United States v. Mapp, 170 F.3d 328 (2d Cir.1999). 
In Mapp, defendant Kevin Moore ("Moore") was con
victed, inter alia, of murder in aid of racketeering in vi
olation of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(1). Id. at 330. As a pre
dicate for its prosecution under § 1959, the government 
contended that Moore murdered the victim in violation 
of New York Penal Law § 125.25(3), New York's 
felony murder statute. [d. at 335. The district court in-
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structed the jury that it could [md Moore guilty of hav
ing violated § 1959 if it concluded, inter alia, that 
Moore had murdered the victim in violation of § 125.25 
(3).Id. 

After it began deliberating, the jury sent the district 
court a note asking whether Moore could be found 
guilty of violating § 1959 if he did not either carry or 
use the gun involved in the murder. Id. at 337. The 
court initially responded by reminding the jury of the 
court's charge under § 1959, including the requirement 
that the government prove that Moore murdered the vic
tim in violation of N.Y. Penal Law § 125.25(3). Id. The 
court then supplemented its original charge by inform
ing the jury that it could find Moore guilty of violating 
that statute if it found that Moore or another participant 
in the robbery caused the victim's death. Id. Before giv
ing its supplemental instruction, Moore was given the 
opportunity to offer additional argument andIor evid
ence but declined. Id. 

In rejecting Moore's argument that the district court vi
olated his Fifth Amendment right to due process by 
charging the supplemental instruction, the Second Cir
cuit stated as follows: 

In these circumstances, we believe that Moore's 
challenge to the district court's decision to give this 
supplemental jury instruction lacks merit. Notably, 
Moore does not claim that the supplemental jury in
struction deviated from the charges contained in the 
indictment. Nor does he maintain that there was any 
legal error in the content of the instruction. Instead, 
Moore argues only that the instruction "changed the 
government's theory of liability" on the section 1959 
charge and that he might have asserted additional de
fenses at trial if he had known that such an instruction 
would be given. But this contention is unpersuasive 
because, even now, Moore is silent as to what those 
defenses might be. Finally, by giving him the oppor
tunity to respond by presenting additional evidence or 
argument to the jury, the district court carefully 
avoided causing Moore any arguable prejudice in the 
giving of the supplemental instruction. 
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Here, as in Mapp, the government's changed theory that 
the CCTA violation occurred when Morrison sold con
traband cigarettes on-reservation is consistent with the 
language of the indictment. As noted, the CCTA Rack
eteering Acts charge Morrison with selling and distrib
uting contraband cigarettes. Each racketeering act has a 
corresponding date and number representing the ap
proximate quantity of cigarettes sold by Peace Pipe on 
that particular date. The evidence at trial revealed that 
these sales occurred on-reservation. 

Moreover, the evidence at trial overwhehningly suppor
ted Morrison1s conviction on this charge, to wit, that 
Morrison entered into a conspiracy in which the goal 
was to sell and distribute contraband cigarettes on
reservation. Defendant does not dispute the sufficiency 
of the evidence in this regard. Instead, he argues solely 
that *689 there was insufficient evidence to prove the 
government's theory that defendant aided and abetted 
off-reservation sales and that the govemment should not 
have been permitted to change its theory so late in the 
game. But, as noted, that argument is directly at odds 
with the holding in Mapp. 

Defendant also fails to demonstrate in a persuasive 
fashion how he was prejudiced by having the on
reservation theory presented to the jury. Citing to Rule 
29, defendant argues that he has been prejudiced be
cause, even though "the Court suggested that any preju
dice encountered as a result of counsel's failure to ask 
certain questions of govemment witnesses when they 
were fIrst called could be remedied by calling them 
anew, and an adjournment might be granted to mitigate 
any additional prejudice, Mr. Morrison is entitled to 
have his Rule 29(a) motion decided based on the gov
ernment's proof and theory of prosecution espoused dur
ing its case-in-chief, rather than being required to rely 
on a renewed Rule 29 motion at the close of all the 
evidence." (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 47.) Rule 
29(b) provides that "[i]f the court reserves decision, it 
must decide the motion on the basis of the evidence at 
the time the ruling was reserved." Fed.R.Crim.P. 29(b), 
(emphasis added to indicate that operative word for 
present purposes is "evidence"). The Court did that; 
Morrison's Rule 29 motion, with respect to which the 
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Court reserved decision, is being denied based on the 
evidence as it existed at the conclusion of the govem
ment's case-in-chief. Absent from Rule 29 is language 
which would preclude the Court from making its de
tennination consistent with the on-reservation charging 
language in the indictment even though the govemment 
did not initially espouse that theory. Defendant provides 
no authority to the contrary. 

Defendant also attempts to demonstrate prejudice by as
serting that the change in theory prejudiced his ability 
to effectively cross-examine particular witnesses: 

Had we known during the government's case that its 
theory of liability would shift back to on-reservation 
sales we would have questioned several of the gov
ernment's witnesses more thoroughly regarding Mr. 
Morrison'S day-to-day involvement in the Peace Pipe 
generally, and his involvement in the charged sales in 
particular. We would have questioned Allison Stew
art, Thomasina Mack, Wynette Randall and Tony 
Phillips fully and forcefully about Mr. Morrison's 
semiretired statns, his frequent trips, his often absent
ee status, his lack of knowledge regarding particular 
sales, and related matters, to distance himself from 
[Racketeering Acts] 4-80. Our failure to do so will in
evitably be viewed by the jury as a tacit admission 
that Mr. Morrison in fact is liable for these sales. Try
ing to undue that impression by recalling these wit
nesses on the defense case will serve only to re
enforce our failure to have addressed these issues pre
viously. It would also require the defense to call wit
nesses whose credibility, for the most part we have 
destroyed, to now suggest they are worthy of belief. It 
will, as well, infringe on our right to rely solely on 
the government's proof, or lack of proof during its 
presentation of the evidence and to refrain from call
ing particular witnesses during the defense case. And 
it violates on our Sixth Amendment right to confront
in an appropriate and timely fashion-the government's 
witnesses with an understanding of the theory of pro
secution. 

(Def.'s Mar. 11, 2008 Letter at 7, docket no 660, incor
porated by reference in DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 
47.) 
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Here, as in Mapp, the government's changed theory that 
the CCTA violation occurred when Morrison sold con
traband cigarettes on-reservation is consistent with the 
language of the indictment. As noted, the CCTA Rack
eteering Acts charge Morrison with selling and distrib
uting contraband cigarettes. Each racketeering act has a 
corresponding date and number representing the ap
proximate quantity of cigarettes sold by Peace Pipe on 
that particular date. The evidence at trial revealed that 
these sales occurred on-reservation. 

Moreover, the evidence at trial overwhehningly suppor
ted Morrison1s conviction on this charge, to wit, that 
Morrison entered into a conspiracy in which the goal 
was to sell and distribute contraband cigarettes on
reservation. Defendant does not dispute the sufficiency 
of the evidence in this regard. Instead, he argues solely 
that *689 there was insufficient evidence to prove the 
government's theory that defendant aided and abetted 
off-reservation sales and that the govemment should not 
have been permitted to change its theory so late in the 
game. But, as noted, that argument is directly at odds 
with the holding in Mapp. 

Defendant also fails to demonstrate in a persuasive 
fashion how he was prejudiced by having the on
reservation theory presented to the jury. Citing to Rule 
29, defendant argues that he has been prejudiced be
cause, even though "the Court suggested that any preju
dice encountered as a result of counsel's failure to ask 
certain questions of govemment witnesses when they 
were fIrst called could be remedied by calling them 
anew, and an adjournment might be granted to mitigate 
any additional prejudice, Mr. Morrison is entitled to 
have his Rule 29(a) motion decided based on the gov
ernment's proof and theory of prosecution espoused dur
ing its case-in-chief, rather than being required to rely 
on a renewed Rule 29 motion at the close of all the 
evidence." (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 47.) Rule 
29(b) provides that "[i]f the court reserves decision, it 
must decide the motion on the basis of the evidence at 
the time the ruling was reserved." Fed.R.Crim.P. 29(b), 
(emphasis added to indicate that operative word for 
present purposes is "evidence"). The Court did that; 
Morrison's Rule 29 motion, with respect to which the 
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Court reserved decision, is being denied based on the 
evidence as it existed at the conclusion of the govem
ment's case-in-chief. Absent from Rule 29 is language 
which would preclude the Court from making its de
tennination consistent with the on-reservation charging 
language in the indictment even though the govemment 
did not initially espouse that theory. Defendant provides 
no authority to the contrary. 

Defendant also attempts to demonstrate prejudice by as
serting that the change in theory prejudiced his ability 
to effectively cross-examine particular witnesses: 

Had we known during the government's case that its 
theory of liability would shift back to on-reservation 
sales we would have questioned several of the gov
ernment's witnesses more thoroughly regarding Mr. 
Morrison'S day-to-day involvement in the Peace Pipe 
generally, and his involvement in the charged sales in 
particular. We would have questioned Allison Stew
art, Thomasina Mack, Wynette Randall and Tony 
Phillips fully and forcefully about Mr. Morrison's 
semiretired statns, his frequent trips, his often absent
ee status, his lack of knowledge regarding particular 
sales, and related matters, to distance himself from 
[Racketeering Acts] 4-80. Our failure to do so will in
evitably be viewed by the jury as a tacit admission 
that Mr. Morrison in fact is liable for these sales. Try
ing to undue that impression by recalling these wit
nesses on the defense case will serve only to re
enforce our failure to have addressed these issues pre
viously. It would also require the defense to call wit
nesses whose credibility, for the most part we have 
destroyed, to now suggest they are worthy of belief. It 
will, as well, infringe on our right to rely solely on 
the government's proof, or lack of proof during its 
presentation of the evidence and to refrain from call
ing particular witnesses during the defense case. And 
it violates on our Sixth Amendment right to confront
in an appropriate and timely fashion-the government's 
witnesses with an understanding of the theory of pro
secution. 

(Def.'s Mar. 11, 2008 Letter at 7, docket no 660, incor
porated by reference in DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 
47.) 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.comlprintiprintstream.aspx?rs=WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H ... 9/8/2010 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 252    09/17/2010    108283    314



596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

*690 Morrison, unlike the defendant in Mapp, does in
dicate what he would have done differently during the 
trial but for the government's change in theory. As in
dicated in the above excerpt from his letter brief, cross
examination of several government witnesses would 
have been more expansive "regarding Mr. Morrison's 
day-to-day involvement in the Peace Pipe generally, and 
his involvement in the charged sales in particular." (Id.) 
That claim does not ring true. Firstly, it is unclear why 
the non-pursued line of inquiry would not be germane 
under both the on-reservation and off-reservation theor
ies if the point sought to be made was that defendant's 
absence from Peace Pipe created the likelihood that the 
charged Racketeering Act sales were made without his 
knowledge and complicity. But beyond that, this is 
simply a non-issue under either an on-reservation or 
off-reservation theory. 

Defendant does not suggest that further cross-ex
amination of goverrunent witnesses would have in
cluded an effort to show that the sales listed in Racket
eering Acts Five through Eighty never occurred. In that 
regard, the defendant was careful to underscore for the 
jury during his closing argument that the goverrunent's 
documentary proof regarding those sales consisted of 
the thorough and meticulously maintained documents 
kept by the Peace Pipe, FN29 which documents were 
recovered during the search of the premises. Indeed, the 
fact that defendant kept such records was proffered by 
the defense as evidence that he believed such sales were 
lawful,FNJO which was essentially the sole defense to 
the CCTA charges advanced during the evidentiary por
tion of the trial and emphasized during defendant's 
opening and closing arguments.'"" 

FN29. (See defendant's closing argument, Tr. at 
12068-69 ("Mr. Morrison demanded that de
tailed records be kept.... And Mr. Morrison de
manded that all of these records that were be
ing generated at Peace Pipe, the cashier's rew 
ceipts, he demanded they be kept, and kept for 
a period of three years. Now, we know that the 
government has now taken those same docu
ments and used them to prosecute Mr. Morris
on.... You know the documents they are using 
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to prosecute Mr. Morrison for these CCTA vi
olations, other than the documents-that they are 
the documents that came from his business.").) 

FN30. (See Tr. at 12069 ("[D]oes it [i.e. 
someone who maintained such thorough sales 
records] sound like someone who was out to 
commit [a] crime .... ").) . 

FN31. (See, e.g., defendant's opening statement 
at Tr. at 409 ("Indian retailers sell untaxed ci
garettes on the Indian reservation[ s]. It's what 
they are allowed to do."); id. at 495 ("[W]e 
think the evidence is going to show that Mr. 
Morrison had the belief that he had every right 
to sell untaxed cigarettes to ... non-Native 
Americans and Native Americans whenever 
they came to his business, and that to do it was, 
in fact, not a violation of the law, and that the 
goverrunent will have to prove otherwise."); id. 
at 496 ("[H]e [Morrison] felt that what he was 
doing was absolutely legal .... "), and his clos
ing argument, id. at 12081 ("He [Morrison] 
sold cigarettes on the reservation."); id. at 
12068 (referring to defendant's carefully pre
pared and maintained Peace Pipe sales records 
constituting the goverrunent's documentary 
proof regarding Racketeering Acts Five 
through Eighty).) 

The notion that the sales might have been made by 
some errant employee of the Peace Pipe is at odds with 
what the defendant told the jury during opening and 
closing statements. The tenor of those statementS was 
that defendant was an excellent businessman who, aided 
by employees he selected, trained, and whose activities 
he assiduously monitored, transformed a modest opera
tion (which he founded in 1994) into a highly efficient, 
extremely profitable establishment. FN" Simply put, 
*691 Morrison, consistent with the defendant's unflag
ging theory throughout the trial, was the man-in-charge 
of the Peace Pipe, the business of which was selling un
stamped cigarettes, purportedly under the belief that 
such sales were lawful. Which is to say, whether the de
fendant personally, or one or more of his employees, 
handled the subject, essentially uncontested sales is a 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.comlprint/printstream.aspx?rs=WLW1 0.0 8&destination=atp&prft= H. .. 9/8/2010 

GA188

596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

*690 Morrison, unlike the defendant in Mapp, does in
dicate what he would have done differently during the 
trial but for the government's change in theory. As in
dicated in the above excerpt from his letter brief, cross
examination of several government witnesses would 
have been more expansive "regarding Mr. Morrison's 
day-to-day involvement in the Peace Pipe generally, and 
his involvement in the charged sales in particular." (Id.) 
That claim does not ring true. Firstly, it is unclear why 
the non-pursued line of inquiry would not be germane 
under both the on-reservation and off-reservation theor
ies if the point sought to be made was that defendant's 
absence from Peace Pipe created the likelihood that the 
charged Racketeering Act sales were made without his 
knowledge and complicity. But beyond that, this is 
simply a non-issue under either an on-reservation or 
off-reservation theory. 

Defendant does not suggest that further cross-ex
amination of goverrunent witnesses would have in
cluded an effort to show that the sales listed in Racket
eering Acts Five through Eighty never occurred. In that 
regard, the defendant was careful to underscore for the 
jury during his closing argument that the goverrunent's 
documentary proof regarding those sales consisted of 
the thorough and meticulously maintained documents 
kept by the Peace Pipe, FN29 which documents were 
recovered during the search of the premises. Indeed, the 
fact that defendant kept such records was proffered by 
the defense as evidence that he believed such sales were 
lawful,FNJO which was essentially the sole defense to 
the CCTA charges advanced during the evidentiary por
tion of the trial and emphasized during defendant's 
opening and closing arguments.'"" 

FN29. (See defendant's closing argument, Tr. at 
12068-69 ("Mr. Morrison demanded that de
tailed records be kept.... And Mr. Morrison de
manded that all of these records that were be
ing generated at Peace Pipe, the cashier's rew 
ceipts, he demanded they be kept, and kept for 
a period of three years. Now, we know that the 
government has now taken those same docu
ments and used them to prosecute Mr. Morris
on.... You know the documents they are using 
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to prosecute Mr. Morrison for these CCTA vi
olations, other than the documents-that they are 
the documents that came from his business.").) 

FN30. (See Tr. at 12069 ("[D]oes it [i.e. 
someone who maintained such thorough sales 
records] sound like someone who was out to 
commit [a] crime .... ").) . 

FN31. (See, e.g., defendant's opening statement 
at Tr. at 409 ("Indian retailers sell untaxed ci
garettes on the Indian reservation[ s]. It's what 
they are allowed to do."); id. at 495 ("[W]e 
think the evidence is going to show that Mr. 
Morrison had the belief that he had every right 
to sell untaxed cigarettes to ... non-Native 
Americans and Native Americans whenever 
they came to his business, and that to do it was, 
in fact, not a violation of the law, and that the 
goverrunent will have to prove otherwise."); id. 
at 496 ("[H]e [Morrison] felt that what he was 
doing was absolutely legal .... "), and his clos
ing argument, id. at 12081 ("He [Morrison] 
sold cigarettes on the reservation."); id. at 
12068 (referring to defendant's carefully pre
pared and maintained Peace Pipe sales records 
constituting the goverrunent's documentary 
proof regarding Racketeering Acts Five 
through Eighty).) 

The notion that the sales might have been made by 
some errant employee of the Peace Pipe is at odds with 
what the defendant told the jury during opening and 
closing statements. The tenor of those statementS was 
that defendant was an excellent businessman who, aided 
by employees he selected, trained, and whose activities 
he assiduously monitored, transformed a modest opera
tion (which he founded in 1994) into a highly efficient, 
extremely profitable establishment. FN" Simply put, 
*691 Morrison, consistent with the defendant's unflag
ging theory throughout the trial, was the man-in-charge 
of the Peace Pipe, the business of which was selling un
stamped cigarettes, purportedly under the belief that 
such sales were lawful. Which is to say, whether the de
fendant personally, or one or more of his employees, 
handled the subject, essentially uncontested sales is a 
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non-issue. 

FN32. (See defendant's opening statement, Tr. 
at 390 ("Rodney had a great head for business, 
and Rodney [ran] the business for Charlotte."); 
id. at 403 ("That's what the building [the Peace 
Pipe] looked like before Rodney turned it into 
an extraordinarily well-run lucrative busi
ness."); and his closing argument, id. at 11914 
("First of all, he [defendant] is filthy rich. And 
that has been made into a sin in this conrtroom. 
He had lots of money. And he worked hard to 
get it, too. You saw videotape of his operation, 
spotless, well-organized, high-tech, absolutely 
a pinpoint in every business way, bar coding, 
absolutely spotless record-keeping.... Worked 
hard, all hours of the morning, had a code of 
conduct he believed ought to be followed, 
made everybody dress well, made them punctu
al, made them do their jobs, inspected whether 
they did it or not.").) 

Moreover, defense co~sers representations as to Mor
rison's tight control over the operations of Peace Pipe, 
made both during defendant's opening and closing argu
ments, dovetail with the evidence at trial. (See generally 
Gov't's Mem. in Opp'n at 10-12 which provides an ac
curate synopsis of the evidence concerning defendant's 
largely uncontested micro-management of the Peace 
Pipe.) Under the circumstances, the claimed prejudice 
to the defendant attributable to the government's change 
in theory is out of sync with the trial record, including 
the trial record after it was clear that the government 
was proceeding based on an on-reservation sales theory. 
Accordingly, the claim of prejudice is found to be 
without merit. 

Even if, contrary to the fact, the defendant was preju
diced by the government's change in theory, such preju
dice could have been obviated by the defense utilizing 
the opportunity to recall witnesses and to have the mat
ter adjourned, if necessary, for that purpose. See Mapp, 
170 F.3d at 337 ("Finally, by giving him the opportun
ity to respond by presenting additional evidence or ar
gument to the jury, the district court carefully avoided 
causing Moore any arguable prejudice in the giving of 
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the supplemental instruction."); cf. the following be
lated disclosure cases which discuss claims of prejudice 
and the ability to recall witnesses: United States v. Hou
lihan, 92 F.3d 1271, 1291 (1st Cir.1996) ("The rule is 
clear that a defendant's failure to recall a witness, des
pite permission to do so, undermines a claim of preju
dice based on a disclosure that materialized after the 
witness finished testifying (but before the trial 
ended)."); United States v. Gordon, 844 F.2d 1397, 
1403 (9th Cir.1988) (fmding that where defendant was 
allowed to recall witnesses and re-examine them regard
ing belatedly disclosed evidence, defendant "had sub
stantial opportunity to use the [evidence] and to cure 
any prejudice caused by the delayed disclosure"); 
United States v. Mourad, 729 F.2d 195, 199 (2d 
Cir.1984) (reversal not warranted notwithstanding gov
ernment's failure to timely produce evidence favorable 
to defendants given defendants did not request a con
tinuance, recall witnesses for further examination, or in
troduce rebuttal evidence, in an effort to neutralize the 
claimed prejudice). 

Defendant also claims that "[r]egardless of whether col
lateral estoppel or law of the case applies, the govern
ment's commitment to a particular theory of prosecu
tion, repeated ad nauseam and for strategic advantage, 
FN33 certainly was no less binding *692 on the govern
ment (and probably more so) than would be a formal 
bill of particulars, to which the government is strictly 
held." (Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 43.) For that 
pivotal threshold proposition-Leo essentially equating a 
stated theory of prosecution to information furnished in 
a bill of particulars-one case is cited, United States V. 

Hickey, 16 F.Supp.2d 223 (E.D.N.Y.1998). Therein, as 
defendant accurately notes, 1 said: "The government's 
explanation of its theory of this prosecution-which will 
be treated as the equivalent of a bill of particulars
provides further specificity." Id. at 233. 

FN33. With respect to the government's change 
in theory, its initial reliance on an off
reservation theory was to its detriment, not its 
benefit. Thus, defendant's motion to dismiss 
the CCTA Racketeering Acts in Count One was 
granted based on the government's adherence 
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non-issue. 

FN32. (See defendant's opening statement, Tr. 
at 390 ("Rodney had a great head for business, 
and Rodney [ran] the business for Charlotte."); 
id. at 403 ("That's what the building [the Peace 
Pipe] looked like before Rodney turned it into 
an extraordinarily well-run lucrative busi
ness."); and his closing argument, id. at 11914 
("First of all, he [defendant] is filthy rich. And 
that has been made into a sin in this conrtroom. 
He had lots of money. And he worked hard to 
get it, too. You saw videotape of his operation, 
spotless, well-organized, high-tech, absolutely 
a pinpoint in every business way, bar coding, 
absolutely spotless record-keeping.... Worked 
hard, all hours of the morning, had a code of 
conduct he believed ought to be followed, 
made everybody dress well, made them punctu
al, made them do their jobs, inspected whether 
they did it or not.").) 

Moreover, defense co~sers representations as to Mor
rison's tight control over the operations of Peace Pipe, 
made both during defendant's opening and closing argu
ments, dovetail with the evidence at trial. (See generally 
Gov't's Mem. in Opp'n at 10-12 which provides an ac
curate synopsis of the evidence concerning defendant's 
largely uncontested micro-management of the Peace 
Pipe.) Under the circumstances, the claimed prejudice 
to the defendant attributable to the government's change 
in theory is out of sync with the trial record, including 
the trial record after it was clear that the government 
was proceeding based on an on-reservation sales theory. 
Accordingly, the claim of prejudice is found to be 
without merit. 

Even if, contrary to the fact, the defendant was preju
diced by the government's change in theory, such preju
dice could have been obviated by the defense utilizing 
the opportunity to recall witnesses and to have the mat
ter adjourned, if necessary, for that purpose. See Mapp, 
170 F.3d at 337 ("Finally, by giving him the opportun
ity to respond by presenting additional evidence or ar
gument to the jury, the district court carefully avoided 
causing Moore any arguable prejudice in the giving of 
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the supplemental instruction."); cf. the following be
lated disclosure cases which discuss claims of prejudice 
and the ability to recall witnesses: United States v. Hou
lihan, 92 F.3d 1271, 1291 (1st Cir.1996) ("The rule is 
clear that a defendant's failure to recall a witness, des
pite permission to do so, undermines a claim of preju
dice based on a disclosure that materialized after the 
witness finished testifying (but before the trial 
ended)."); United States v. Gordon, 844 F.2d 1397, 
1403 (9th Cir.1988) (fmding that where defendant was 
allowed to recall witnesses and re-examine them regard
ing belatedly disclosed evidence, defendant "had sub
stantial opportunity to use the [evidence] and to cure 
any prejudice caused by the delayed disclosure"); 
United States v. Mourad, 729 F.2d 195, 199 (2d 
Cir.1984) (reversal not warranted notwithstanding gov
ernment's failure to timely produce evidence favorable 
to defendants given defendants did not request a con
tinuance, recall witnesses for further examination, or in
troduce rebuttal evidence, in an effort to neutralize the 
claimed prejudice). 

Defendant also claims that "[r]egardless of whether col
lateral estoppel or law of the case applies, the govern
ment's commitment to a particular theory of prosecu
tion, repeated ad nauseam and for strategic advantage, 
FN33 certainly was no less binding *692 on the govern
ment (and probably more so) than would be a formal 
bill of particulars, to which the government is strictly 
held." (Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 43.) For that 
pivotal threshold proposition-Leo essentially equating a 
stated theory of prosecution to information furnished in 
a bill of particulars-one case is cited, United States V. 

Hickey, 16 F.Supp.2d 223 (E.D.N.Y.1998). Therein, as 
defendant accurately notes, 1 said: "The government's 
explanation of its theory of this prosecution-which will 
be treated as the equivalent of a bill of particulars
provides further specificity." Id. at 233. 

FN33. With respect to the government's change 
in theory, its initial reliance on an off
reservation theory was to its detriment, not its 
benefit. Thus, defendant's motion to dismiss 
the CCTA Racketeering Acts in Count One was 
granted based on the government's adherence 
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to the off·reservation theory even though the 
evidence adduced overwhehningly established 
the on-reservation charges alleged in the indict
ment. 

The off-reservation theory initially advanced 
by the government appears to be a misguided 
effort to remove the issue of the forbearance 
policy and concomitant entrapment by estop· 
pel defense from being placed before the 
jury. However, the end result of that process 
was that such evidence was placed before the 
jury, although ultimately, as explained in the 
text infra, the defense of entrapment by es
toppel was not included in the Court's charge. 

In Hickey, defendants attacked the legal sufficiency of a 
mail fraud racketeering act and corresponding substant
ive count (Racketeering Act One(C) and Count Six), 
claiming, inter alia, that the indictment "fail[ ed] to 
provide adequate notice concerning the nature of the 
charge." Id. at 232. In rejecting that claim, I indicated: 
"Racketeering Act One(C) and Count Six, when read in 
conjunction with the introductory paragraphs of the In
dictment, provide sufficient notice of the charges." Id 
at 233. In addition, I made reference to the govern
ment's response to the motion to dismiss which included 
a Hsynopsis ... of relevant provisions in the Indictment," 
which synopsis included the conclusory statement that 
"[t]he government intends to prove at trial that these 
false pretenses were material to customers, and that the 
customers were deprived of money thereby." Id. It was 
within that context that the cited statement was made. It 
was not meant to indicate that a theory of prosecution 
espoused by the government is as immutably fIxed in 
the proceeding as defendant contends is the case for a 
bill of particulars. In fact, Mapp, by obvious implica
tion, instructs to the contrary. 

Finally, for the reasons that follow, none of the cases 
cited by defendant compels a different result. For ex
ample, in United States v, Chase. No. 2:04-CR-135, 
2005 WL 3288731 (D.V!. Nov. 30, 2005), the govern
ment was precluded from proceeding under a theory 
that was "not contained in the Indictment" and which 
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would have "constitute[ d] an improper constructive 
amendment." Id at *4; see also id at *5-7. In United 
States v. Mittelstaedt. 31 F.3d 1208 (2d Cir.1994), the 
Second Circuit "refuse[ d] to affirm" a conviction based 
on a theory that was ~'nowhere mentioned in the indict
ment, was not argued to the jury, and was not addressed 
in the jury charge." Id at 1220. Because the govern
ment's changed theory in the instant case to on
reservation sales was both explicitly alleged in the in
dictment, and presented to the jury both via evidence 
and the Court's charge, these cases are inapposite. 

In Marine Midland Bank, N.A. v. United States, Nos. 93 
Civ. 0307, 93 Civ. 0357, 1993 WL 248796 (S.D.N.Y. 
June 28, 1993), ajj'd in relevant part and remanded, 11 
F.3d 1119 (2d Cir.1993), a civil forfeiture case, the gov
ernment seized funds from an interbank account at Mar
ine Midland Bank, N.A. ("Marine Midland") under 18 
U.S,C. § 981. 1993 WL 248796, at *1-2. That statute 
subjects money or property to forfeiture that is 
"involved on" or *693' "traceable to" certain specified 
transactions. The government's civil forfeiture com
plaint alleged both theories. Id at *2. 

After Marine Midland moved for return of the seized 
funds, the government argued in both its opposition pa
pers and at oral argument that it had probable cause to 
seize the account based on a theory that it was 
"involved in" the unauthorized transactions and ex
pressly disavowed a "traceable to" theory. Id. at *4. 
Thereafter, the district court granted Marine Midland's 
motion for release of the funds to the extent it found the 
funds were not "involved in" the specified transactions. 
ld at *3. The government then moved for reconsidera
tion, arguing that it had probable cause to seize the en
tirety of the account under a "traceable" theory. Id at *4. 

In adhering to its original decision, the court explained 
that after the initial motion had been fully submitted and 
argued but before the court issued its original decision, 
the government asserted for the frrst time, via letter "as 
well as in other subsequent submissions and representa
tions," that it was proceeding under a "traceable pro~ 
ceeds" theory. Id. The corrrt found, however, that "[t]he 
Government's last-minute change of tactic, although ad-
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to the off·reservation theory even though the 
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the on-reservation charges alleged in the indict
ment. 
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by the government appears to be a misguided 
effort to remove the issue of the forbearance 
policy and concomitant entrapment by estop· 
pel defense from being placed before the 
jury. However, the end result of that process 
was that such evidence was placed before the 
jury, although ultimately, as explained in the 
text infra, the defense of entrapment by es
toppel was not included in the Court's charge. 

In Hickey, defendants attacked the legal sufficiency of a 
mail fraud racketeering act and corresponding substant
ive count (Racketeering Act One(C) and Count Six), 
claiming, inter alia, that the indictment "fail[ ed] to 
provide adequate notice concerning the nature of the 
charge." Id. at 232. In rejecting that claim, I indicated: 
"Racketeering Act One(C) and Count Six, when read in 
conjunction with the introductory paragraphs of the In
dictment, provide sufficient notice of the charges." Id 
at 233. In addition, I made reference to the govern
ment's response to the motion to dismiss which included 
a Hsynopsis ... of relevant provisions in the Indictment," 
which synopsis included the conclusory statement that 
"[t]he government intends to prove at trial that these 
false pretenses were material to customers, and that the 
customers were deprived of money thereby." Id. It was 
within that context that the cited statement was made. It 
was not meant to indicate that a theory of prosecution 
espoused by the government is as immutably fIxed in 
the proceeding as defendant contends is the case for a 
bill of particulars. In fact, Mapp, by obvious implica
tion, instructs to the contrary. 

Finally, for the reasons that follow, none of the cases 
cited by defendant compels a different result. For ex
ample, in United States v, Chase. No. 2:04-CR-135, 
2005 WL 3288731 (D.V!. Nov. 30, 2005), the govern
ment was precluded from proceeding under a theory 
that was "not contained in the Indictment" and which 
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would have "constitute[ d] an improper constructive 
amendment." Id at *4; see also id at *5-7. In United 
States v. Mittelstaedt. 31 F.3d 1208 (2d Cir.1994), the 
Second Circuit "refuse[ d] to affirm" a conviction based 
on a theory that was ~'nowhere mentioned in the indict
ment, was not argued to the jury, and was not addressed 
in the jury charge." Id at 1220. Because the govern
ment's changed theory in the instant case to on
reservation sales was both explicitly alleged in the in
dictment, and presented to the jury both via evidence 
and the Court's charge, these cases are inapposite. 

In Marine Midland Bank, N.A. v. United States, Nos. 93 
Civ. 0307, 93 Civ. 0357, 1993 WL 248796 (S.D.N.Y. 
June 28, 1993), ajj'd in relevant part and remanded, 11 
F.3d 1119 (2d Cir.1993), a civil forfeiture case, the gov
ernment seized funds from an interbank account at Mar
ine Midland Bank, N.A. ("Marine Midland") under 18 
U.S,C. § 981. 1993 WL 248796, at *1-2. That statute 
subjects money or property to forfeiture that is 
"involved on" or *693' "traceable to" certain specified 
transactions. The government's civil forfeiture com
plaint alleged both theories. Id at *2. 

After Marine Midland moved for return of the seized 
funds, the government argued in both its opposition pa
pers and at oral argument that it had probable cause to 
seize the account based on a theory that it was 
"involved in" the unauthorized transactions and ex
pressly disavowed a "traceable to" theory. Id. at *4. 
Thereafter, the district court granted Marine Midland's 
motion for release of the funds to the extent it found the 
funds were not "involved in" the specified transactions. 
ld at *3. The government then moved for reconsidera
tion, arguing that it had probable cause to seize the en
tirety of the account under a "traceable" theory. Id at *4. 

In adhering to its original decision, the court explained 
that after the initial motion had been fully submitted and 
argued but before the court issued its original decision, 
the government asserted for the frrst time, via letter "as 
well as in other subsequent submissions and representa
tions," that it was proceeding under a "traceable pro~ 
ceeds" theory. Id. The corrrt found, however, that "[t]he 
Government's last-minute change of tactic, although ad-
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vanced prior to the issuance of the Court's Opinion, was 
too late .... " Id. It followed, therefore, that the govern
ment's new theory could not "in fairness be regarded as 
an appropriate ground for reconsideration of th[ e] 
Court's prior decision." Id. 

In affirming the lower court's fmding of waiver, the 
Second Circuit stated: 

Under these circumstances, we believe that the court 
acted within its discretion in fmding that the govern
ment raised the "traceable proceeds" theory too late to 
be considered by the court. Ruiz v. Commissioner of 
Dep't of Transp. of the City of New York, 858 F.2d 
898, 902 (2d Cir.1988) (holding that the district court 
has discretion to reject a claim raised on a motion for 
reargument). Our review of the record satisfied us 
that the court was not clearly erroneous in relying on 
the government's own statements. 

II F.3d at 1123. 

In the instant case, defendant argues that as in Marine 
Midland, the government's change of theory "came too 
late in the day." (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at46.) 

However, absent from Marine Midland is any sugges
tion by the Circuit that had the district court ruled dif
ferently by fmding non-waiver, such a determination 
would have been an abuse of discretion. Plus, it war
rants mention that the change in theory in the instant 
case occurred considerably earlier in the case, i.e. be
fore the defendant started his Case as distinct from after 
all submissions and accompanying arguments had been 
completed. Simply put, Marine Midland does not war
rant the conclusion that the government should have 
been barred from pursuing its on-reservation sales the
ory under the circumstances of this case,FN34 

FN34. Although not cited in the briefs, defend
ant placed much emphasis at trial on United 
States v. San Juan, 545 F.2d 314 (2d Cir.1976). 
(See DeCs Mar. 12, 2008 Letter at 1-2, docket 
no 662.) In that case, the indictment charged 
San Juan with failing to report money transpor
ted into the United States but did not specifY 
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whether the failure occurred on the bus or at 
the customs house. Id. at 315-16. At trial, both 
the government and San Juan proceeded under 
a theory that the crime occurred on the bus. Id. 
at 318. The court's charge, however, left room 
for the jury to convict her even if it found that 
the crime occurred at the customs house. Id. at 
319. The Second Circuit reversed her convic
tion, fmding that the manner in which the case 
was tried was "manifestly unfair to defendant" 
because San Juan was effectively denied an op
portunity to address the accusation that the 
crime occurred in the customs house. Id. In San 
Juan, the changed theory was incorporated into 
the jury charge and the defendant was never 
given the opportunity to present additional 
evidence or argument to the jury. Here, the 
government changed its theory after its case
in-chief and defendant had a chance to respond 
to the new theory. 

*694 In sum, the Court fmds that its dismissal of the 
CCTA Racketeering Acts under Count One (substantive 
RICO) did not mandate dismissal of these acts under 
Count Two (RICO conspiracy) on the ground that the 
government was prevented from changing its theory of 
prosecution, 

C. Defendant'S Motion to Dismiss Count Two on Sub
stantive Due Process Grounds is Denied 

[5] Defendant argues that his conviction under Count 
Two (RICO conspiracy) was a violation of his substant
ive due process rights. Though stated in different ways 
throughout his briefs, defendant's argument essentially 
boils down to this one claim: Because of the long
standing state policy of forbearance, an ordinary Native 
American retailer would not have understood that New 
York law "require[d]" a stamp on on-reservation cigar
ette sales. See 18 U.S.c. § 2341(2) (defming contraband 
cigarettes as cigarettes "which bear no evidence of the 
payment of applicable State or local cigarette taxes ... if 
the State or local government requires a stamp .... ") 
(emphasis added). For the reasons set forth below, the 
Court rejects defendant's claim that a plainly worded 
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vanced prior to the issuance of the Court's Opinion, was 
too late .... " Id. It followed, therefore, that the govern
ment's new theory could not "in fairness be regarded as 
an appropriate ground for reconsideration of th[ e] 
Court's prior decision." Id. 

In affirming the lower court's fmding of waiver, the 
Second Circuit stated: 

Under these circumstances, we believe that the court 
acted within its discretion in fmding that the govern
ment raised the "traceable proceeds" theory too late to 
be considered by the court. Ruiz v. Commissioner of 
Dep't of Transp. of the City of New York, 858 F.2d 
898, 902 (2d Cir.1988) (holding that the district court 
has discretion to reject a claim raised on a motion for 
reargument). Our review of the record satisfied us 
that the court was not clearly erroneous in relying on 
the government's own statements. 

II F.3d at 1123. 

In the instant case, defendant argues that as in Marine 
Midland, the government's change of theory "came too 
late in the day." (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at46.) 

However, absent from Marine Midland is any sugges
tion by the Circuit that had the district court ruled dif
ferently by fmding non-waiver, such a determination 
would have been an abuse of discretion. Plus, it war
rants mention that the change in theory in the instant 
case occurred considerably earlier in the case, i.e. be
fore the defendant started his Case as distinct from after 
all submissions and accompanying arguments had been 
completed. Simply put, Marine Midland does not war
rant the conclusion that the government should have 
been barred from pursuing its on-reservation sales the
ory under the circumstances of this case,FN34 

FN34. Although not cited in the briefs, defend
ant placed much emphasis at trial on United 
States v. San Juan, 545 F.2d 314 (2d Cir.1976). 
(See DeCs Mar. 12, 2008 Letter at 1-2, docket 
no 662.) In that case, the indictment charged 
San Juan with failing to report money transpor
ted into the United States but did not specifY 
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whether the failure occurred on the bus or at 
the customs house. Id. at 315-16. At trial, both 
the government and San Juan proceeded under 
a theory that the crime occurred on the bus. Id. 
at 318. The court's charge, however, left room 
for the jury to convict her even if it found that 
the crime occurred at the customs house. Id. at 
319. The Second Circuit reversed her convic
tion, fmding that the manner in which the case 
was tried was "manifestly unfair to defendant" 
because San Juan was effectively denied an op
portunity to address the accusation that the 
crime occurred in the customs house. Id. In San 
Juan, the changed theory was incorporated into 
the jury charge and the defendant was never 
given the opportunity to present additional 
evidence or argument to the jury. Here, the 
government changed its theory after its case
in-chief and defendant had a chance to respond 
to the new theory. 

*694 In sum, the Court fmds that its dismissal of the 
CCTA Racketeering Acts under Count One (substantive 
RICO) did not mandate dismissal of these acts under 
Count Two (RICO conspiracy) on the ground that the 
government was prevented from changing its theory of 
prosecution, 

C. Defendant'S Motion to Dismiss Count Two on Sub
stantive Due Process Grounds is Denied 

[5] Defendant argues that his conviction under Count 
Two (RICO conspiracy) was a violation of his substant
ive due process rights. Though stated in different ways 
throughout his briefs, defendant's argument essentially 
boils down to this one claim: Because of the long
standing state policy of forbearance, an ordinary Native 
American retailer would not have understood that New 
York law "require[d]" a stamp on on-reservation cigar
ette sales. See 18 U.S.c. § 2341(2) (defming contraband 
cigarettes as cigarettes "which bear no evidence of the 
payment of applicable State or local cigarette taxes ... if 
the State or local government requires a stamp .... ") 
(emphasis added). For the reasons set forth below, the 
Court rejects defendant's claim that a plainly worded 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https://web2.westlaw.comlprint/printstream.aspx?rs=WLWl 0.0 8&destination=atp&prfi= H. .. 9/8/2010 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 256    09/17/2010    108283    314



596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

statute can be rendered unconstitutionally vague due to 
the failure of the executive branch to enforce what the 
law clearly proscribes. Accordingly, defendant's motion 
is denied. 

l. Procedural Posture for Motion 

The government does not address the substance of de
fendant's due process claim. Instead, the government ar
gues that defendant's alleged due process violation is 
beyond the purview of a Rule 29 or Rule 33 motion as it 
has already been ruled on. The government also con
tends that to the extent defendant's motion is a motion 
for reconsideration (see docket no. 662), it is untimely 
and does "not raise any additional or new infonnation 
such that the Court would reverse its earlier ruling." 
(Gov't's Mem. in Opp'n at 20.) The government is mis
taken. 

Defendant moved pre-trial to dismiss the CCTA Racket
eering Acts based on substantive due process grounds. 
That motion was denied by Memorandum and Order 
dated November 9, 2007,FN35 with the attendant ana
lysis of defendant's void for vagueness challenge con
fmed solely to the government's then theory that Mor
rison was an aider and abettor of off-reservation contra
band cigarette sales. After fmding that the statutes un
derlying the CCTA charges provided fair notice of the 
prohibited conduct in the November 9th decision, the 
Court added, via dicta, that even if, arguendo such were 
not the case, the heightened scienter requirement for § 2 
culpability would cure the deficiency. Embraced within 
that heightened scienter requirement, I believed, was the 
need for the government to establish that the defendant 
(1) acted with the specific intent of enabling the crime's 
commission and (2) with knowledge of its illegality. 
Upon further reflection, I recognized, sua sponte, that 
the latter requirement, i.e. knowledge of illegality, was 
incorrect and so advised counsel on February 27, 2008. 
(Tr. at 9496-97.) 

FN35. United States v. Morrison, 521 
F.Supp.2d 246, which is hereby incorporated 
herein by reference. 
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*695 Thereafter on March 4, 2008, as discussed supra, 
the Court dismissed the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to 
Count One, fmding that there was no evidence in the re
cord to support the government's theory that Morrison 
aided and abetted off-reservations sales. After the Court 
then permitted the government to change its theory to 
on-reservation sales with respect to Count Two, defend
ant moved for reconsideration of its due process motion, 
arguing that "[t]he factual premise of the Court's 
[November 9, 2007] decision [Le. off-reservation theory 
and knowledge of illegality] hard] been drastically 
altered." (Def.'s Mar. 12, 2008 Letter, docket no. 662 at 
11.) The Court reserved decision. (Tr. at 11538.) 

Accordingly, contrary to the government's position, "the 
issue is ripe for review and the Court will therefore ana
lyze Morrison's due process claim anew vis-a-vis the 
charge as returned by the grand jury and presented to 
the petit jury, viz. that Morrison knowingly conspired 
with others to sell unstamped cigarettes on-reservation. 
However, for the reasons stated below, the Court con
cludes that even given the changed circumstances, the 
CCTA, as applied to Morrison, did not resnlt in a viola
tion of his snbstantive due process rights in large meas
ure for the reasons articulated in the November 9, 2007 
decision minus the pruned dicta. 

2. Applicable Standards 

[6][7] "It is well-established that the Fourteenth 
Amendment, which guarantees that no state shall 
'deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without 
due process of law,' U.S. Cons!. amend. XIV, § 1, en
sures that the individual need not 'specnlate as to the 
meaning of penal statutes' and is 'entitled to be in
formed as to what the State commands or forbids.' " 
Thibodeau v. Portuondo, 486 F.3d 61, 65 (2d Cir.2007) 
(qnoting Lanzetta v. New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451, 453, 59 
S.C!. 618, 83 L.Ed. 888 (1939». Although "this doc
trine does not require 'meticulous specificity' from 
every statute," id. at 66 (quoting Grayned v. City oj 
Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 110, 92 S.C!. 2294, 33 L.Ed.2d 
222 (1972», "as language is necessarily marked by a 
degree of imprecision," id., courts do "apply a more 
stringent analysis when examining laws that impose 
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statute can be rendered unconstitutionally vague due to 
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l. Procedural Posture for Motion 
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gues that defendant's alleged due process violation is 
beyond the purview of a Rule 29 or Rule 33 motion as it 
has already been ruled on. The government also con
tends that to the extent defendant's motion is a motion 
for reconsideration (see docket no. 662), it is untimely 
and does "not raise any additional or new infonnation 
such that the Court would reverse its earlier ruling." 
(Gov't's Mem. in Opp'n at 20.) The government is mis
taken. 

Defendant moved pre-trial to dismiss the CCTA Racket
eering Acts based on substantive due process grounds. 
That motion was denied by Memorandum and Order 
dated November 9, 2007,FN35 with the attendant ana
lysis of defendant's void for vagueness challenge con
fmed solely to the government's then theory that Mor
rison was an aider and abettor of off-reservation contra
band cigarette sales. After fmding that the statutes un
derlying the CCTA charges provided fair notice of the 
prohibited conduct in the November 9th decision, the 
Court added, via dicta, that even if, arguendo such were 
not the case, the heightened scienter requirement for § 2 
culpability would cure the deficiency. Embraced within 
that heightened scienter requirement, I believed, was the 
need for the government to establish that the defendant 
(1) acted with the specific intent of enabling the crime's 
commission and (2) with knowledge of its illegality. 
Upon further reflection, I recognized, sua sponte, that 
the latter requirement, i.e. knowledge of illegality, was 
incorrect and so advised counsel on February 27, 2008. 
(Tr. at 9496-97.) 

FN35. United States v. Morrison, 521 
F.Supp.2d 246, which is hereby incorporated 
herein by reference. 
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*695 Thereafter on March 4, 2008, as discussed supra, 
the Court dismissed the CCTA Racketeering Acts as to 
Count One, fmding that there was no evidence in the re
cord to support the government's theory that Morrison 
aided and abetted off-reservations sales. After the Court 
then permitted the government to change its theory to 
on-reservation sales with respect to Count Two, defend
ant moved for reconsideration of its due process motion, 
arguing that "[t]he factual premise of the Court's 
[November 9, 2007] decision [Le. off-reservation theory 
and knowledge of illegality] hard] been drastically 
altered." (Def.'s Mar. 12, 2008 Letter, docket no. 662 at 
11.) The Court reserved decision. (Tr. at 11538.) 

Accordingly, contrary to the government's position, "the 
issue is ripe for review and the Court will therefore ana
lyze Morrison's due process claim anew vis-a-vis the 
charge as returned by the grand jury and presented to 
the petit jury, viz. that Morrison knowingly conspired 
with others to sell unstamped cigarettes on-reservation. 
However, for the reasons stated below, the Court con
cludes that even given the changed circumstances, the 
CCTA, as applied to Morrison, did not resnlt in a viola
tion of his snbstantive due process rights in large meas
ure for the reasons articulated in the November 9, 2007 
decision minus the pruned dicta. 
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[6][7] "It is well-established that the Fourteenth 
Amendment, which guarantees that no state shall 
'deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without 
due process of law,' U.S. Cons!. amend. XIV, § 1, en
sures that the individual need not 'specnlate as to the 
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formed as to what the State commands or forbids.' " 
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criminal penalties because the consequences of impreci
sion are qualitatively more severe." fd. 

[8] " 'As generally stated, the void-for-vagueness doc· 
trine requires that a penal statute defme the criminal of
fense with sufficient defmiteness that ordinary people 
can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a 
manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discrimin
atory enforcement.' " Gonzales v. Carhart, 550 U.S. 
124, 127 S.Ct. 1610, 1628, 167 L.Ed.2d 480 (2007) 
(quoting Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 
S.Ct. 1855, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983». Here, the CCTA, 
and the concomitant New York State Tax Law, satisfY 
both requirements. 

3. Fair Notice 

a. Standard of Review 

[9] A criminal statute fails to provide fair notice "if it 
fails to provide people of ordinary intelligence a reason
able opportunity to understand what conduct it prohib
its." Hill v. Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 732, 120 S.C!. 
2480, 147 L.Ed.2d 597 (2000). 

b. The Court's November 9, 2007 Decision 

In the November 9, 2007 decision, the Court summar
ized defendant's position as follows: "Defendant argues 
that an ordinary person would believe that New York 
does not 'require[ ]' a stamp and that state taxes are not 
'applicable' because the State does not enforce its tax 
laws." *696Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d at 254. The Court 
rejected defendant's argument: 

In the Court's view, Defendant's interpretation is 
strained because it relies solely on the executive 
branch's enforcement policies rather than the applic
able State laws, which clearly provide that Morrison's 
sale of cigarettes to non-native Americans on the re~ 
servation is a taxable event. Defendant's interpretation 
essentially nullifies the requirements of state law as 
that term is commonly understood and reads the legis
lature right out of the picture. Simply stated, states 

Page 36 0[60 

Page 35 

"require" certain conduct via duly enacted laws; the 
failure of the executive branch to enforce the law is 
not the same as saying that the legislative branch has 
repealed it. Compare LensCrafiers, Inc. v. Wadley, 
248 F.Supp.2d 705, 737 (M.D.Tenn.2003) ("The 
court can see no basis for finding that the avowed be
nefits of a statute duly enacted by the legislature may 
be undermined by poor enforcement on the part of the 
executive branch. If such were the case, the executive 
branch would be in a position to invalidate any law 
with which it disagreed."), affd, 403 F.3d 798 (6th 
Cir.2005). In addition, in drafting the CCTA, Con
gress chose the tenn "applicable" taxes, not an 
"enforced" tax or a "collected" tax, to trigger a viola
tion. The term "applicable" means "capable of being 
applied." City of N Y. v. Beretta, 401 F.Supp.2d 244, 
261 (E.D.N.Y.2005) (noting common dictionary 
definitions of word "applicable.").[ FN"] Defend· 
ant's attempt to equate applicability and enforceability 
belies the plain meaning of the former term and, thus, 
what an ordinary person would understand the statute 
to mean.[ FN"] 

Id. 

FN36. " Section 471 is capable of being applied 
to the transactions at issue in this case. Wheth
er the Department chooses to enforce it in a 
particular instance does not nullify the siatute's 
requirements." Milhelm Attea, 550 F.Supp.2d 
at 347. 

FN3 7. The Court noted that defendant's posi
tion was contrary to the view taken by courts 
which have addressed the issue. See Kaid, 241 
Fed.Appx. at 750 (summary order) (fmding 
that State "demand[ s]" taxes be paid regardless 
of non-enforcement policy); Urbach, 92 
N.Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 
904 (" '[T]he repeal [of the regulations] does 
not eliminate the statutory liability for taxes as 
they relate to sales on Indian reservations to 
nonexempt individuals.' ") (quoting 20 N.Y.S. 
Register, Apr. 29, 1998, Issue 17, Book 1, at 23). 
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fails to provide people of ordinary intelligence a reason
able opportunity to understand what conduct it prohib
its." Hill v. Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 732, 120 S.C!. 
2480, 147 L.Ed.2d 597 (2000). 
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In the November 9, 2007 decision, the Court summar
ized defendant's position as follows: "Defendant argues 
that an ordinary person would believe that New York 
does not 'require[ ]' a stamp and that state taxes are not 
'applicable' because the State does not enforce its tax 
laws." *696Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d at 254. The Court 
rejected defendant's argument: 

In the Court's view, Defendant's interpretation is 
strained because it relies solely on the executive 
branch's enforcement policies rather than the applic
able State laws, which clearly provide that Morrison's 
sale of cigarettes to non-native Americans on the re~ 
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essentially nullifies the requirements of state law as 
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"require" certain conduct via duly enacted laws; the 
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not the same as saying that the legislative branch has 
repealed it. Compare LensCrafiers, Inc. v. Wadley, 
248 F.Supp.2d 705, 737 (M.D.Tenn.2003) ("The 
court can see no basis for finding that the avowed be
nefits of a statute duly enacted by the legislature may 
be undermined by poor enforcement on the part of the 
executive branch. If such were the case, the executive 
branch would be in a position to invalidate any law 
with which it disagreed."), affd, 403 F.3d 798 (6th 
Cir.2005). In addition, in drafting the CCTA, Con
gress chose the tenn "applicable" taxes, not an 
"enforced" tax or a "collected" tax, to trigger a viola
tion. The term "applicable" means "capable of being 
applied." City of N Y. v. Beretta, 401 F.Supp.2d 244, 
261 (E.D.N.Y.2005) (noting common dictionary 
definitions of word "applicable.").[ FN"] Defend· 
ant's attempt to equate applicability and enforceability 
belies the plain meaning of the former term and, thus, 
what an ordinary person would understand the statute 
to mean.[ FN"] 

Id. 

FN36. " Section 471 is capable of being applied 
to the transactions at issue in this case. Wheth
er the Department chooses to enforce it in a 
particular instance does not nullify the siatute's 
requirements." Milhelm Attea, 550 F.Supp.2d 
at 347. 

FN3 7. The Court noted that defendant's posi
tion was contrary to the view taken by courts 
which have addressed the issue. See Kaid, 241 
Fed.Appx. at 750 (summary order) (fmding 
that State "demand[ s]" taxes be paid regardless 
of non-enforcement policy); Urbach, 92 
N.Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 
904 (" '[T]he repeal [of the regulations] does 
not eliminate the statutory liability for taxes as 
they relate to sales on Indian reservations to 
nonexempt individuals.' ") (quoting 20 N.Y.S. 
Register, Apr. 29, 1998, Issue 17, Book 1, at 23). 
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The Court also noted that the two executive pronounce
ments Morrison placed great reliance on, to wit, a May 
1997 press release by Governor Pataki and an April 
1998 statement by the DTF, actually undercut defend
ant's position, in that they both suggested that the exec
utive's policy of forbearance could not repeal the state 
law; only the legislature could do that, and it did not ld 
at 255. 

c. Defendant's Arguments as to the Changed Landscape 
do not Alter the Court's Previous Conclusion that Mor

rison was not Deprived a/Substantive Due Process 

Defendant proffers several arguments as to why the 
changed landscape, Le., the fact that defendant was con
victed of knowingly conspiring with others to sell un
stamped cigarettes on~reservation, a general intent 
crime, warrants a different result on his post-verdict due 
process motion. For the reasons stated below, the Court 
finds defendant's arguments unavailing. 

Regardless of whether we are talking about on
reservation sales of unstamped cigarettes or off
reservation sales, the result*697 is the same. The CCTA 
provides that "[i]t shall be unlawful for any person to 
ship, transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, or pur~ 
chase contraband cigarettes or contraband smokeless to
bacco." 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a). At the time of the acts al
leged in the indictment, contraband cigarettes were 
defined as "a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, 
which bear no evidence of the payment of applicable 
State or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality 
where such cigarettes are found, if the State or local 
government requires a stamp.... " Id § 2341 (2) 
(emphasis added). 

New York Tax Law § 471(1) explicitly provides that all 
cigarettes possessed in the state are subject to taxation 
except where the state is "without power to impose such 
tax." N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1). It is undisputed that New 
York State has the power to tax cigarettes sold by Nat
ive American retailers to, non~Native Americans on the 
reservation. With regard to these cigarettes, viz. those 
that the State has the power to tax, § 471 (2) provides 
the mechanism for the collection of the tax whereby a 
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state licensed stamping agent is required to advance the 
amount of the tax by purchasing adhesive stamps from 
the state and affIxing them to each package of cigar
ettes. Id § 471(2). The stamping agent then adds the 
amount of the tax to the price of the cigarettes sold to its 
customers, which is passed along the chain of distribu
tion to the consumer. Thus, by its plain language, Mor
rison's on~reservation sales of cigarettes were 
"require[d]" to be stamped under the CCTA. 

This case, however, does not present the typical vague
ness challenge because Morrison does not assert that the 
language of the CCTA or New York Tax Law § 471 is 
unconstitutionally vague. In fact, he concedes that "at 
first blush" the " 'plain English' interpretation of § 471 " 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 25) is that New York 
State requires that cigarettes sold on reservations to 
non-Native Americans be stamped. Rather, defendant 
contends that the forbearance policy suffIciently mud
died the waters so that a typical retailer on the reserva
tion who had read the subject law would not have un
derstood that selling unstamped cigarettes on
reservation was a violation of the CCTA. The Court dis
agrees. 

As noted by the Court in its November 9, 2007 decision, 
the failure to enforce by the executive branch cannot 
obviate, on a constitutional basis or otherwise, plainly 
worded state legislation. See Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d 
at 254; see also Milhelm Attea, 550 F.Supp.2d at 347 
("The Court rejects defendants' arguments that [the for
bearance policy] ... nullifies the requirements of a stat
ute passed by a state's legislature and signed by its gov
emor."); Cayuga Indian Nation, 2008 WL 5158093, at 
• 5 ("Nor does the Tax Department's apparent paralysis 
in this area, which has been styled a permanent forbear
ance policy, rewrite or erase legislative enactments' .... ") 
(internal citation omitted); Urbach, 646 N.Y.S.2d at 925 
("Neither difficulty of execution nor fear of violence 
can elevate the power of [the Commissioner] over the 
Legislature with respect to the substantive mandates of 
the statute, nor enhance the authority of the Department 
of Taxation and Finance by inaction to grant additional 
exemptions."). "If such were the case, the executive 
branch would be in a position to invalidate any law with 
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The Court also noted that the two executive pronounce
ments Morrison placed great reliance on, to wit, a May 
1997 press release by Governor Pataki and an April 
1998 statement by the DTF, actually undercut defend
ant's position, in that they both suggested that the exec
utive's policy of forbearance could not repeal the state 
law; only the legislature could do that, and it did not ld 
at 255. 

c. Defendant's Arguments as to the Changed Landscape 
do not Alter the Court's Previous Conclusion that Mor

rison was not Deprived a/Substantive Due Process 

Defendant proffers several arguments as to why the 
changed landscape, Le., the fact that defendant was con
victed of knowingly conspiring with others to sell un
stamped cigarettes on~reservation, a general intent 
crime, warrants a different result on his post-verdict due 
process motion. For the reasons stated below, the Court 
finds defendant's arguments unavailing. 

Regardless of whether we are talking about on
reservation sales of unstamped cigarettes or off
reservation sales, the result*697 is the same. The CCTA 
provides that "[i]t shall be unlawful for any person to 
ship, transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, or pur~ 
chase contraband cigarettes or contraband smokeless to
bacco." 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a). At the time of the acts al
leged in the indictment, contraband cigarettes were 
defined as "a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, 
which bear no evidence of the payment of applicable 
State or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality 
where such cigarettes are found, if the State or local 
government requires a stamp.... " Id § 2341 (2) 
(emphasis added). 

New York Tax Law § 471(1) explicitly provides that all 
cigarettes possessed in the state are subject to taxation 
except where the state is "without power to impose such 
tax." N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1). It is undisputed that New 
York State has the power to tax cigarettes sold by Nat
ive American retailers to, non~Native Americans on the 
reservation. With regard to these cigarettes, viz. those 
that the State has the power to tax, § 471 (2) provides 
the mechanism for the collection of the tax whereby a 
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state licensed stamping agent is required to advance the 
amount of the tax by purchasing adhesive stamps from 
the state and affIxing them to each package of cigar
ettes. Id § 471(2). The stamping agent then adds the 
amount of the tax to the price of the cigarettes sold to its 
customers, which is passed along the chain of distribu
tion to the consumer. Thus, by its plain language, Mor
rison's on~reservation sales of cigarettes were 
"require[d]" to be stamped under the CCTA. 

This case, however, does not present the typical vague
ness challenge because Morrison does not assert that the 
language of the CCTA or New York Tax Law § 471 is 
unconstitutionally vague. In fact, he concedes that "at 
first blush" the " 'plain English' interpretation of § 471 " 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 25) is that New York 
State requires that cigarettes sold on reservations to 
non-Native Americans be stamped. Rather, defendant 
contends that the forbearance policy suffIciently mud
died the waters so that a typical retailer on the reserva
tion who had read the subject law would not have un
derstood that selling unstamped cigarettes on
reservation was a violation of the CCTA. The Court dis
agrees. 

As noted by the Court in its November 9, 2007 decision, 
the failure to enforce by the executive branch cannot 
obviate, on a constitutional basis or otherwise, plainly 
worded state legislation. See Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d 
at 254; see also Milhelm Attea, 550 F.Supp.2d at 347 
("The Court rejects defendants' arguments that [the for
bearance policy] ... nullifies the requirements of a stat
ute passed by a state's legislature and signed by its gov
emor."); Cayuga Indian Nation, 2008 WL 5158093, at 
• 5 ("Nor does the Tax Department's apparent paralysis 
in this area, which has been styled a permanent forbear
ance policy, rewrite or erase legislative enactments' .... ") 
(internal citation omitted); Urbach, 646 N.Y.S.2d at 925 
("Neither difficulty of execution nor fear of violence 
can elevate the power of [the Commissioner] over the 
Legislature with respect to the substantive mandates of 
the statute, nor enhance the authority of the Department 
of Taxation and Finance by inaction to grant additional 
exemptions."). "If such were the case, the executive 
branch would be in a position to invalidate any law with 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.com!printiprintstream.aspx?rs=WL W1 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H ... 9/812010 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 259    09/17/2010    108283    314



596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

which it disagreed." LensCrafters, Inc., 248 F.Supp.2d 
at 737. Because there is no ambiguity in the language of 
the statutes, nor in what conduct is proscribed, the Court 
[mds that the CCTA, as applied to Morrison, is not im
permissibly vague. 

Absent any citation to the record or otherwise, defend
ant states that "the Governor*698 of the State of New 
York announced that persons such as Mr. Morrison 
would not be prosecuted for [selling unstamped cigar
ettes on the reservation]." (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. 
at 2 (emphasis in original).) The Court's independent re
collection of the over 10,000 page trial transcript does 
not point to any evidence consistent with this assertion. 
The Court assumes that defendant is referring to a May 
1997 press release by then-Governor Pataki, which was 
discussed in the Court's November 9, 2007 decision. 
The Court noted in that decision as foUows: 

In May 1997, Governor Pataki directed the DTF to re
peal its regulations governing the coUection of taxes 
from cigarette sales at reservation stores. (Governor 
Pataki Press Release, dated May 22, 1997.) The press 
release states that the Governor "sent to the State Le
gislature a bill that would amend the State Tax Law to 
allow reservation stores to sell tax-free ... cigarettes." 
(Id) The Governor stated: "Let me make my message 
to aU Indian Nations clear: It is your land, we respect 
your sovereignty and, if the Legislature acts as I am 
requesting, you will have the right to seU tax-free ... 
cigarettes free from interference from New York 
State." (Id) The Governor's proposed amendments 
were never passed. Thus, far from communicating 
that Native-American retailers such as defendant were 
exempt from the State Tax Law, the Governor's state
ment was in fact an acknowledgment that the execut
ive's policy of forbearance could not repeal the state 
law; only the legislature could do that, and it did not. 

Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d at 255. There is nothing in 
this press release which indicates that Native Americans 
would not be prosecuted for seUing unstamped cigar
ettes on-reservation. Moreover, contrary to defendant's 
contention, the Court did not then, and does not now, 
place "undue reliance" (Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 
29) on the press release in concluding that the acts of 
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the executive branch cannot eviscerate duly enacted 
law. Rather, the Court merely points out that the press 
release does not support defendant's assertions. 

Defendant attempts to expand the scope of the forbear
ance policy to the other branches of government by ar
guing that the forbearance policy "has been widely per
ceived as the policy of the' state,' as the term is used in 
18 U.S.C. § 2341(2), by all of the branches of the State 
government" (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 27 
(emphasis deleted)) and argues that "any imposition of 
criminal liability for on-reservation cigarette sales is in
consistent with the many years and sheer volume of ex
ecutive, judicial and legislative[ FN"J actions commu
nicating exactly the opposite-that Indian retailers will 
not be subject to criminal liability for such on
reservation sales." Id at 25. Defendant contends that an 
ordinary Native American retailer would not have reas
on to believe, and according to the several on
reservation retailers who testified at trial did not in fact 
believe,'N39 that the State of New York required cigar
ettes*699 sold by Native American retailers on
reservation to be stamped. 

FN38. "[The lone such legislative action 
[proffered by defendant in support of the above 
argumentJ is the requirement for implementing 
regulations in § 471-e, the principal attempt by 
the Legislature subsequent to Attea to modifY § 
471 as applied to sales by Indian retailers." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 25, n. 15.) 

FN39. Assuming the accuracy of this state
ment, it does not answer the critical question 
for surely the ability of Native Americans to 
thwart enforcement of the law and then act as if 
it does not apply to them is not the same thing 
as saying that what the law requires is unclear. 

Despite defendant's attempts to blur the lines between 
the three branches of government, the forbearance 
policy is a policy by the executive branch not to enforce 
what is clearly prescribed statutory liability enacted by 
the legislature. Defendant tries to extend the forbear
ance policy to the judicial branch by arguing that "[aJt 
least one state court has reviewed the state statutory and 
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at 737. Because there is no ambiguity in the language of 
the statutes, nor in what conduct is proscribed, the Court 
[mds that the CCTA, as applied to Morrison, is not im
permissibly vague. 

Absent any citation to the record or otherwise, defend
ant states that "the Governor*698 of the State of New 
York announced that persons such as Mr. Morrison 
would not be prosecuted for [selling unstamped cigar
ettes on the reservation]." (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. 
at 2 (emphasis in original).) The Court's independent re
collection of the over 10,000 page trial transcript does 
not point to any evidence consistent with this assertion. 
The Court assumes that defendant is referring to a May 
1997 press release by then-Governor Pataki, which was 
discussed in the Court's November 9, 2007 decision. 
The Court noted in that decision as foUows: 

In May 1997, Governor Pataki directed the DTF to re
peal its regulations governing the coUection of taxes 
from cigarette sales at reservation stores. (Governor 
Pataki Press Release, dated May 22, 1997.) The press 
release states that the Governor "sent to the State Le
gislature a bill that would amend the State Tax Law to 
allow reservation stores to sell tax-free ... cigarettes." 
(Id) The Governor stated: "Let me make my message 
to aU Indian Nations clear: It is your land, we respect 
your sovereignty and, if the Legislature acts as I am 
requesting, you will have the right to seU tax-free ... 
cigarettes free from interference from New York 
State." (Id) The Governor's proposed amendments 
were never passed. Thus, far from communicating 
that Native-American retailers such as defendant were 
exempt from the State Tax Law, the Governor's state
ment was in fact an acknowledgment that the execut
ive's policy of forbearance could not repeal the state 
law; only the legislature could do that, and it did not. 

Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d at 255. There is nothing in 
this press release which indicates that Native Americans 
would not be prosecuted for seUing unstamped cigar
ettes on-reservation. Moreover, contrary to defendant's 
contention, the Court did not then, and does not now, 
place "undue reliance" (Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 
29) on the press release in concluding that the acts of 
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the executive branch cannot eviscerate duly enacted 
law. Rather, the Court merely points out that the press 
release does not support defendant's assertions. 

Defendant attempts to expand the scope of the forbear
ance policy to the other branches of government by ar
guing that the forbearance policy "has been widely per
ceived as the policy of the' state,' as the term is used in 
18 U.S.C. § 2341(2), by all of the branches of the State 
government" (DeCs Mem. of Law in Supp. at 27 
(emphasis deleted)) and argues that "any imposition of 
criminal liability for on-reservation cigarette sales is in
consistent with the many years and sheer volume of ex
ecutive, judicial and legislative[ FN"J actions commu
nicating exactly the opposite-that Indian retailers will 
not be subject to criminal liability for such on
reservation sales." Id at 25. Defendant contends that an 
ordinary Native American retailer would not have reas
on to believe, and according to the several on
reservation retailers who testified at trial did not in fact 
believe,'N39 that the State of New York required cigar
ettes*699 sold by Native American retailers on
reservation to be stamped. 

FN38. "[The lone such legislative action 
[proffered by defendant in support of the above 
argumentJ is the requirement for implementing 
regulations in § 471-e, the principal attempt by 
the Legislature subsequent to Attea to modifY § 
471 as applied to sales by Indian retailers." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 25, n. 15.) 

FN39. Assuming the accuracy of this state
ment, it does not answer the critical question 
for surely the ability of Native Americans to 
thwart enforcement of the law and then act as if 
it does not apply to them is not the same thing 
as saying that what the law requires is unclear. 

Despite defendant's attempts to blur the lines between 
the three branches of government, the forbearance 
policy is a policy by the executive branch not to enforce 
what is clearly prescribed statutory liability enacted by 
the legislature. Defendant tries to extend the forbear
ance policy to the judicial branch by arguing that "[aJt 
least one state court has reviewed the state statutory and 
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regulatory scheme pertaining to 'state' requirements on 
Indian retailers and reached a conclusion that is diamet
rically opposed to the one reached by this Court:' 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 28) (citing People v. 
Tracy, I Misc.3d 308, 764 N.Y.S.2d 585, 588 
(Watertown City Ct.2003) ("The Court finds that indi
ans can sell cigarettes or tobacco products to indians 
and non-indian customers without collecting the taxes 
due upon such at the time of the sale."»!N40 In reach
ing this conclusion~ the Tracy court, citing the New 
York Supreme Court's decision in Urbach, reasoned 
that "since the State can not reach an agreement with in
dians to collect the taxes on their sales [of cigarettes on
reservation], the State is left with collecting them from 
non-indian purchasers directly," referencing New York 
Tax Law §§ 471-a and 471-c. Tracy, 764 N.Y.S.2d at 
588. What the Tracy court failed to recognize, however, 
is that although the Urbach court did state that 
"Non-Indian purchasers of cigarettes from on
reservation Indian retailers are required to pay the ex
cise and sales taxes," Urbach, 646 N.y.s.2d at 921, it 
never said that on-reservation retailers were pennitted 
to sell unstamped cigarettes to these purchasers. In fact, 
it indicated that just the opposite was true. See id. 
("There is currently no legal impediment whatsoever to 
the determination, assessment, collection and enforce
ment of cigarette ... sales tax on sales to non-Indian pur
chasers by on-reservation Indian retailers. Yet, contrary 
to the New York tax laws and regulations, wholesale 
distributors continue to sell tax-free cigarettes to on
reservation Indian retailers in excess of the amount per
mitted by law and on-reservation Indian retailers contin
ue to advertise and sell tax-free cigarettes and tobacco 
products to non-Indians at retail in violation of the tax 
laws and regulations.") Similarly, the New York Court 
of Appeals in a later decision in Urbach noted that " 
'the repeal [of the regulations] does not eliminate the 
statutory liability for taxes as they relate to sales on In
dian reservations to nonexempt individuals.' " Urbach, 
92 N.Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 904 
(quoting DTR Notice, 20 N.Y.S. Register, Apr. 29, 
1998, Issue 17, Book I, at 23). Accordingly, the Water
town City case, viewed singularly or in conjunction 
with the other cited State decisions addressing the on
reservation collection problem, hardly supports the no-
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tion that the judiciary's acknowledgment of the policy is 
evidence that the on-reservation retailers have not been 
provided fair notice of what the law requires. And, 
again, the stamping requirement may easily be satisfied 
by on-reservation retailers doing exactly what their off
reservation counterparts have done all along, viz. order~ 
ing stamped cigarettes from a state licensed wholesalerl 
stamping agent. 

FN40. The defendant in Tracy was accused of 
evading New York's cigarette use tax by allow
ing his credit card to be used to order cigarettes 
from a Native American retailer online. 

With regard to the legislative branch, defendant asserts 
that "[t]he Legislature has, whatever its opinion of the 
policy, incorporated its existence into its official *700 
deliberations." (Def.'s Mem, of Law in SUpp. at 27.) 
Defendant posits: 

With regard to the proposed legislation in 2003 for a 
new § 471-e, the Tax Commissioner submitted an 
evaluation of the then pending bill. The Commission
er's lengthy and detailed comments to Governor Pa
taki regarding the bill were included in the 'bill jack
et.' Those comments describe the underlying justific
ation for why the forbearance policy was necessary: 

This Part of the Budget Bill seeks to amend the Tax 
Law to require the Commissioner to promulgate 
rules and regulations necessary to implement the 
collection of sales and use taxes for sales made to 
non~native Americans on recognized reservations. 

The State has no regulatory jurisdiction on Indian 
reservations, and the Tribes are not inclined to as
sist the State in the collection of state taxes. This 
Part proposes no new approach or solutions to this 
tax collection dilemma, but, instead, mandates the 
adoption of regulations "necessary to implement 
the collections of sales and use taxes." Nothing has 
changed that would permit the effective enforce
ment of the statutes without the cooperation of the 
tribes. 

(Id. at 27-28) (quoting Bill lacket to 2003 A.B. 2106, 
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regulatory scheme pertaining to 'state' requirements on 
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rically opposed to the one reached by this Court:' 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 28) (citing People v. 
Tracy, I Misc.3d 308, 764 N.Y.S.2d 585, 588 
(Watertown City Ct.2003) ("The Court finds that indi
ans can sell cigarettes or tobacco products to indians 
and non-indian customers without collecting the taxes 
due upon such at the time of the sale."»!N40 In reach
ing this conclusion~ the Tracy court, citing the New 
York Supreme Court's decision in Urbach, reasoned 
that "since the State can not reach an agreement with in
dians to collect the taxes on their sales [of cigarettes on
reservation], the State is left with collecting them from 
non-indian purchasers directly," referencing New York 
Tax Law §§ 471-a and 471-c. Tracy, 764 N.Y.S.2d at 
588. What the Tracy court failed to recognize, however, 
is that although the Urbach court did state that 
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cise and sales taxes," Urbach, 646 N.y.s.2d at 921, it 
never said that on-reservation retailers were pennitted 
to sell unstamped cigarettes to these purchasers. In fact, 
it indicated that just the opposite was true. See id. 
("There is currently no legal impediment whatsoever to 
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chasers by on-reservation Indian retailers. Yet, contrary 
to the New York tax laws and regulations, wholesale 
distributors continue to sell tax-free cigarettes to on
reservation Indian retailers in excess of the amount per
mitted by law and on-reservation Indian retailers contin
ue to advertise and sell tax-free cigarettes and tobacco 
products to non-Indians at retail in violation of the tax 
laws and regulations.") Similarly, the New York Court 
of Appeals in a later decision in Urbach noted that " 
'the repeal [of the regulations] does not eliminate the 
statutory liability for taxes as they relate to sales on In
dian reservations to nonexempt individuals.' " Urbach, 
92 N.Y.2d at 214, 677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 N.E.2d 904 
(quoting DTR Notice, 20 N.Y.S. Register, Apr. 29, 
1998, Issue 17, Book I, at 23). Accordingly, the Water
town City case, viewed singularly or in conjunction 
with the other cited State decisions addressing the on
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tion that the judiciary's acknowledgment of the policy is 
evidence that the on-reservation retailers have not been 
provided fair notice of what the law requires. And, 
again, the stamping requirement may easily be satisfied 
by on-reservation retailers doing exactly what their off
reservation counterparts have done all along, viz. order~ 
ing stamped cigarettes from a state licensed wholesalerl 
stamping agent. 

FN40. The defendant in Tracy was accused of 
evading New York's cigarette use tax by allow
ing his credit card to be used to order cigarettes 
from a Native American retailer online. 

With regard to the legislative branch, defendant asserts 
that "[t]he Legislature has, whatever its opinion of the 
policy, incorporated its existence into its official *700 
deliberations." (Def.'s Mem, of Law in SUpp. at 27.) 
Defendant posits: 

With regard to the proposed legislation in 2003 for a 
new § 471-e, the Tax Commissioner submitted an 
evaluation of the then pending bill. The Commission
er's lengthy and detailed comments to Governor Pa
taki regarding the bill were included in the 'bill jack
et.' Those comments describe the underlying justific
ation for why the forbearance policy was necessary: 

This Part of the Budget Bill seeks to amend the Tax 
Law to require the Commissioner to promulgate 
rules and regulations necessary to implement the 
collection of sales and use taxes for sales made to 
non~native Americans on recognized reservations. 

The State has no regulatory jurisdiction on Indian 
reservations, and the Tribes are not inclined to as
sist the State in the collection of state taxes. This 
Part proposes no new approach or solutions to this 
tax collection dilemma, but, instead, mandates the 
adoption of regulations "necessary to implement 
the collections of sales and use taxes." Nothing has 
changed that would permit the effective enforce
ment of the statutes without the cooperation of the 
tribes. 

(Id. at 27-28) (quoting Bill lacket to 2003 A.B. 2106, 
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Ch. 62, Part T3 (entitled "Taxes on Sales Made to Non
Indians on Recognized Reservations") at 37 (emphasis 
supplied by defendant).) 

The legislature, of course, is aware of the forbearance 
policy and necessarily factors its existence into its ef
forts to somehow compel Native American on
reservation retailers to conduct their business in con
formity with the clear tax and stamping requirements of 
§ 471. The Court rejects the defendant's position that 
the existence of the forbearance policy, and the legis
lature's acknowledgment of its existence, somehow trig
gers or supports a viable substantive due process claim. 
To the contrary, the hypothetical Native American on
reservation retailer of ordinary intelligence who read the 
applicable statutes, and was familiar with the forbear
ance policy, could be expected to conclude (1) that he, 
like his off-reservation counterparts, was required to 
sell only stamped cigarettes to non-Native Americans, 
and (2) that the forbearance policy does not obliterate 
that obligation as is evident from, e.g., Governor Pa
taki's May 22, 1997 Press Release in which he ex
plained that if the Legislature followed his recommend
ation, Native American on-reservation retailers would 
then "have the right to sell tax-free ... cigarettes free 
from interference from New York State"; ergo, since 
that recommendation was not followed, they did not 
have the right to sell unstamped cigarettes, i.e. such 
sales remained unlawful. Indeed, absent from the volu
minous materials provided or referenced by the defense 
on this subject is any information suggesting that an ar
chitect or implementer of New York's forbearance 
policy ever conveyed a message to the Native American 
community that forbearance equals an exemption for 
purposes of § 471 or the CCTA. 

Finally, contrary to defendant's contentions, the fact that 
defendant was convicted under Count Two absent a re
quirement that the government prove that he acted with 
the specific intent to violate the law, does not warrant a 
fmding that the statutory scheme is unconstitutional. 
Because the Court has already found that the relevant 
language as applied to Morrison's on-reservation cigar
ette sales is patently clear, there are no vagueness con
cerns and thus no need to examine the statute's mens rea 
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for due process purposes. Compare Gonzales, 127 S.C!. 
at 1628 ("The [Supreme]*701 Court has made clear that 
scienter requirements alleviate vagueness concerns. ") 
(emphasis added). 

Defendant's citation to United States v. Hassan, 542 
F.3d 968 (2d Cir.2008) for the proposition that the 
CCTA as applied to Morrison is unconstitutionally 
vague absent an elevated scienter requirement is unen
lightening. In Hassan, the defendant was convicted of 
controlled substance and money laundering offenses in
volving cathinone, a Schedule I controlled substance. 
Id at 972. The defendant had imported and distributed 
khat, a plant commonly chewed or brewed in tea in 
West Africa. Id Although khat is not a controlled sub
stance under United States law, it may sometimes con
tain the controlled substance cathinone. Id The defend
ant argued that the Controlled Substance Act ("CSA") 
failed to provide fair waming that the importation or 
distribution of khat, as opposed to its regulated ingredi
ent cathinone, was unlawful. Id at 978. The Second 
Circuit held that the CSA was not unconstitutionally 
vague, although it expressed concern that "the statutory 
scheme, as it relates to khat, is troubling." FN41 Id at 
979. Nonetheless, despite the statute's "serious constitu
tional concerns," id at 980, the court found that "what 
saves the ... CSA as it relates to khat ... from constitu
tional trouble is the fact that scienter is required for a 
conviction." Id at 979. 

FN41. The court noted that "the term 
'cathinone' is sufficiently obscure that persons 
of ordinary intelligence reading the controlled 
substances schedules probably would not dis
cern that possession of khat containing cath
inone ". constitutes possession of a controlled 
substance." 542 FJd at 980 (citation and in
ternal quotation marks omitted). 

Here, as opposed to the statute at issue in Hassan, no 
due process fair-warning concerns are implicated, In
stead, the CCTA and concomitant New York Tax Law 
are quite simple: All cigarettes sold on a reservation to 
non-Native Americans must be stamped. Thus, the con
duct proscribed, unstamped cigarettes, is clearly delin
eated. As discussed above, New York State's failure to 
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that recommendation was not followed, they did not 
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policy ever conveyed a message to the Native American 
community that forbearance equals an exemption for 
purposes of § 471 or the CCTA. 

Finally, contrary to defendant's contentions, the fact that 
defendant was convicted under Count Two absent a re
quirement that the government prove that he acted with 
the specific intent to violate the law, does not warrant a 
fmding that the statutory scheme is unconstitutional. 
Because the Court has already found that the relevant 
language as applied to Morrison's on-reservation cigar
ette sales is patently clear, there are no vagueness con
cerns and thus no need to examine the statute's mens rea 
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at 1628 ("The [Supreme]*701 Court has made clear that 
scienter requirements alleviate vagueness concerns. ") 
(emphasis added). 
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F.3d 968 (2d Cir.2008) for the proposition that the 
CCTA as applied to Morrison is unconstitutionally 
vague absent an elevated scienter requirement is unen
lightening. In Hassan, the defendant was convicted of 
controlled substance and money laundering offenses in
volving cathinone, a Schedule I controlled substance. 
Id at 972. The defendant had imported and distributed 
khat, a plant commonly chewed or brewed in tea in 
West Africa. Id Although khat is not a controlled sub
stance under United States law, it may sometimes con
tain the controlled substance cathinone. Id The defend
ant argued that the Controlled Substance Act ("CSA") 
failed to provide fair waming that the importation or 
distribution of khat, as opposed to its regulated ingredi
ent cathinone, was unlawful. Id at 978. The Second 
Circuit held that the CSA was not unconstitutionally 
vague, although it expressed concern that "the statutory 
scheme, as it relates to khat, is troubling." FN41 Id at 
979. Nonetheless, despite the statute's "serious constitu
tional concerns," id at 980, the court found that "what 
saves the ... CSA as it relates to khat ... from constitu
tional trouble is the fact that scienter is required for a 
conviction." Id at 979. 

FN41. The court noted that "the term 
'cathinone' is sufficiently obscure that persons 
of ordinary intelligence reading the controlled 
substances schedules probably would not dis
cern that possession of khat containing cath
inone ". constitutes possession of a controlled 
substance." 542 FJd at 980 (citation and in
ternal quotation marks omitted). 
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enforce the law with regard to on-reservation sales does 
not invalidate the law itself nor render it unconstitution
ally vague. Accordingly, Hassan is inapposite to the in
stant prosecution. 

In sutn, the Court fmds that the statutory language of 
both the CCTA and § 471 was sufficiently clear, even 
when viewed in conjunction with the forbearance 
policy, to alert Morrison that the conduct he was con
victed of was prohibited. 

4. Arbitrary Enforcement 

In the November 9, 2007 decision, the Court rejected 
defendant's argument that the CCTA as applied to Mor
rison was an arbitrary application of the law in violation 
of substantive due process. Much of the Court's analysis 
in this regard was dependent On the goverrunent's then 
theory of prosecution, aiding and abetting off
reservation sales. Given that this theory was not the one 
presented to the jury, the Court revisits defendant's ar
gument as it applies to the count he was convicted of, 
viz. knowingly and intentionally becoming a member of 
a conspiracy the intended goal of which was to sell con
traband cigarettes on-reservation. 

a. Applicable Law 

[10][IIJ A law is unconstitutionally vague "if it author
izes or even encourages arbitrary and discriminatory en
forcement." Hill, 530 U.S. at 732, 120 S.C!. 2480. "This 
second ground, which the Supreme Court recognizes as 
'the more important aspect of the vagueness doctrine,' 
mandates that laws contain 'minimal guidelines to gov
ern law enforcement.' " *702Thibodeau, 486 F.3d at 66 
(quoting Kolender, 461 U.S. at 358, 103 S.Ct. 1855). 
"[S]tatutes must 'provide explicit standards for those 
who apply' them to avoid 'resolution on an ad hoc and 
subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary 
and discriminatory application.' " ld. (quoting Grayned, 
408 U.S. at 108-09,92 S.Ct. 2294). 

In examining challenges on this ground, the Second Cir
cuit has instructed as follows: 
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[C]ourts undertaking an as-applied challenge may de
termine either (1) that a statute as a general matter 
provides sufficiently clear standards to minimize the 
risk of arbitralY enforcement or (2) that, even without 
such standards, the conduct at issue falls within the 
core of the statute's prohibition, so that the enforce
ment was not the result of the unfettered discretion 
that law enforcement officers and factfmders might 
have in other, hypothetical applications of the statute. 

'ld. at 67-68. 

b. The CCTA Provides Sufficiently Clear Standards 

[12] In arguing that the CCTA was arbitrarily applied to 
him, Morrison relies primarily on the fact that he is the 
first on-reservation retailer who has been prosecuted UD

der the CCTA for on-reservation cigarette sales. FN42 

Noting that "[t]he state and federal statutory schemes on 
which this prosecution was based have existed in essen
tially their present form for over a decade" (Def.'s Mem. 
of Law in Supp. at 30-31), defendant asserts: 

FN42. The government does not contest this al
legation. 

We recognize that there always has to be a fIrst pro
secution, and it is within a prosecutor's discretion to 
determine when that will be. But, the more prosecut
ing authorities there are with the requisite jurisdiction 
who defer [ ] initiating a prosecution over a longer 
period of time, and the larger the potential target class 
is, the less likely it is that a single prosecution is other 
than a product of arbitrary enforcement. At a minim
um these circumstances compel the closest possible 
scrutiny for arbitrariness. 
(Jd. at 30.) 

The Court accepts defendant's assertion that the circum
stances of this case call for careful examination. But 
beyond that, defendant's argument is unconvincing. 

[13J First, although defendant does not reference the 
specific term, the defense of desuetude comes to mind. 
Desuetude is the "obscure doctrine by which a legislat
ive enactment is judicially abrogated following a long 
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enforce the law with regard to on-reservation sales does 
not invalidate the law itself nor render it unconstitution
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victed of was prohibited. 
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rison was an arbitrary application of the law in violation 
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in this regard was dependent On the goverrunent's then 
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reservation sales. Given that this theory was not the one 
presented to the jury, the Court revisits defendant's ar
gument as it applies to the count he was convicted of, 
viz. knowingly and intentionally becoming a member of 
a conspiracy the intended goal of which was to sell con
traband cigarettes on-reservation. 

a. Applicable Law 

[10][IIJ A law is unconstitutionally vague "if it author
izes or even encourages arbitrary and discriminatory en
forcement." Hill, 530 U.S. at 732, 120 S.C!. 2480. "This 
second ground, which the Supreme Court recognizes as 
'the more important aspect of the vagueness doctrine,' 
mandates that laws contain 'minimal guidelines to gov
ern law enforcement.' " *702Thibodeau, 486 F.3d at 66 
(quoting Kolender, 461 U.S. at 358, 103 S.Ct. 1855). 
"[S]tatutes must 'provide explicit standards for those 
who apply' them to avoid 'resolution on an ad hoc and 
subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary 
and discriminatory application.' " ld. (quoting Grayned, 
408 U.S. at 108-09,92 S.Ct. 2294). 

In examining challenges on this ground, the Second Cir
cuit has instructed as follows: 
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[C]ourts undertaking an as-applied challenge may de
termine either (1) that a statute as a general matter 
provides sufficiently clear standards to minimize the 
risk of arbitralY enforcement or (2) that, even without 
such standards, the conduct at issue falls within the 
core of the statute's prohibition, so that the enforce
ment was not the result of the unfettered discretion 
that law enforcement officers and factfmders might 
have in other, hypothetical applications of the statute. 

'ld. at 67-68. 

b. The CCTA Provides Sufficiently Clear Standards 

[12] In arguing that the CCTA was arbitrarily applied to 
him, Morrison relies primarily on the fact that he is the 
first on-reservation retailer who has been prosecuted UD

der the CCTA for on-reservation cigarette sales. FN42 

Noting that "[t]he state and federal statutory schemes on 
which this prosecution was based have existed in essen
tially their present form for over a decade" (Def.'s Mem. 
of Law in Supp. at 30-31), defendant asserts: 

FN42. The government does not contest this al
legation. 

We recognize that there always has to be a fIrst pro
secution, and it is within a prosecutor's discretion to 
determine when that will be. But, the more prosecut
ing authorities there are with the requisite jurisdiction 
who defer [ ] initiating a prosecution over a longer 
period of time, and the larger the potential target class 
is, the less likely it is that a single prosecution is other 
than a product of arbitrary enforcement. At a minim
um these circumstances compel the closest possible 
scrutiny for arbitrariness. 
(Jd. at 30.) 

The Court accepts defendant's assertion that the circum
stances of this case call for careful examination. But 
beyond that, defendant's argument is unconvincing. 

[13J First, although defendant does not reference the 
specific term, the defense of desuetude comes to mind. 
Desuetude is the "obscure doctrine by which a legislat
ive enactment is judicially abrogated following a long 
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period of nonenforcement." Note, Desuetude, 119 Harv. 
L. Rev. 2209 (2006). As of the date of this Note, May 
2006, only one jurisdiction, the State of West Virginia, 
had embraced this concept as a valid defense. Id. at 
2209,2211. 

[14] Putting aside for the moment the fact that no court 
outside of West Virginia even recognizes the defense, 
the Court nonetheless notes that even assuming its gen
eral viability in this Circuit, the doctrine would be inap
plicable to the facts of this case. 

[15] Desuetude is primarily rooted in eliminating laws 
which due to a lack of enforcement have essentially be
come "obsolete" or "serve no modem pmpose." Desuet
ude, 119 Harv. L.Rev. at 2210. Neither § 471 of the 
New York Tax Law nor §§ 2341 and 2342 of the CCTA 
may be so categorized. Section 471 has governed cigar
ette sales in New York since its enactment. Its impot
ency, as distinct from its continuing applicability, per
tains solely *703 to on-reservation retailers. And, as ex
plained in more detail below, the CCTA was enacted in 
1978 to combat large-scale cigarette bootlegging. It 
carmot be said that the original basis for enacting the 
statute has ceased to apply or that the statute is other
wise out of date. In fact, tax evasion by Native Americ
an retailers continues to be a significant problem, result
ing in a tremendous loss of income for New York. See 
Milhelm AUea, 512 U.S. at 65, 114 S.Ct. 2028 (noting 
that in 1988 "unlawful purchases of unstamped cigar
ettes [by non-Native Americans from reservation retail
ers] deprived New York of substantial tax revenues ... 
estimated at $65 million per year"); Urbach, 646 
N.Y.S.2d at 921 ("Indeed, former Tax Commissioner 
Wetzler in 1992 stated that the failure to collect taxes 
on the sale of cigarettes ... to non-Indians "is the largest 
single fonn of tax evasion we're aware of ... " ") 
(quoting Wall Street Journal, July 20,1992). 

Moreover, as discussed above, New York's failure to 
enforce its tax laws is not due to neglect; rather, it is 
due in large part to the ability of Native Americans to 
thwart enforcement. Attempts to enforce the New York 
tax law have been met with civil unrest and legislative 
frustration. See discussion supra at 679-80. 
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Finally, this is not a case where a "statute's obsoles
cence is indicative of a shift in public morality." 119 
Harv. L. Rev. at 2212. To the contrary, there is nothing 
to indicate any shift in public opinion as presumably the 
pUblic would not be receptive to a scheme that permits 
Native Americans to evade taxes in such a large-scale 
fashion. 

Accordingly, to the extent the doctrine of desuetude 
breathes any life in this Circuit, it does not apply to the 
instant prosecution. 

The second flaw in defendant's argument is that it can
not be said that the law at issue here is so vague that it 
accords law enforcement and juries unfettered discre
tion. The CCTA makes it a crime to sell or distribute 
"contraband cigarettes," 18 U.S.c. § 2342(a), which are 
defmed as "a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, 
which bear no evidence of the payment of applicable 
State or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality 
where such cigarettes are found, if the State or local 
government requires a stamp .... " Id. § 2341(2). The 
CCTA's standards are sufficiently clear because a state 
requires that cigarettes be stamped if state law so 
provides. Here, as discussed above, New York Tax Law 
§ 471 provides that all cigarettes sold on-reservation to 
non-Native Americans are taxable under subdivision (1) 
and must be stamped under subdivision (2). The fact 
that the executive branch of New York State is not en
forcing § 471 to on-reservation sales does not mean that 
it is unclear when a violation of that statute occurs. in
deed, as the Second Circuit found in Thibodeau, this 
statutory scheme 

does not resemble the standardless laws the Supreme 
Court has found unconstitutionally vague-laws that, 
for example, required an individual to provide 
'credible and reliable' identification at the request of 
the police officer without explaining how the police 
officer was to determine the credibility of an identi
fication, [ Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 353, 
103 S.C!. 1855, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983) ], or that re
quired "[t]hose generally implicated by the imprecise 
terms of the ordinance ... to comport themselves ac
cording to the lifestyle deemed appropriate by the 
Jacksonville police and the courts," Papachristou v. 
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outside of West Virginia even recognizes the defense, 
the Court nonetheless notes that even assuming its gen
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plicable to the facts of this case. 
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ude, 119 Harv. L.Rev. at 2210. Neither § 471 of the 
New York Tax Law nor §§ 2341 and 2342 of the CCTA 
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ency, as distinct from its continuing applicability, per
tains solely *703 to on-reservation retailers. And, as ex
plained in more detail below, the CCTA was enacted in 
1978 to combat large-scale cigarette bootlegging. It 
carmot be said that the original basis for enacting the 
statute has ceased to apply or that the statute is other
wise out of date. In fact, tax evasion by Native Americ
an retailers continues to be a significant problem, result
ing in a tremendous loss of income for New York. See 
Milhelm AUea, 512 U.S. at 65, 114 S.Ct. 2028 (noting 
that in 1988 "unlawful purchases of unstamped cigar
ettes [by non-Native Americans from reservation retail
ers] deprived New York of substantial tax revenues ... 
estimated at $65 million per year"); Urbach, 646 
N.Y.S.2d at 921 ("Indeed, former Tax Commissioner 
Wetzler in 1992 stated that the failure to collect taxes 
on the sale of cigarettes ... to non-Indians "is the largest 
single fonn of tax evasion we're aware of ... " ") 
(quoting Wall Street Journal, July 20,1992). 

Moreover, as discussed above, New York's failure to 
enforce its tax laws is not due to neglect; rather, it is 
due in large part to the ability of Native Americans to 
thwart enforcement. Attempts to enforce the New York 
tax law have been met with civil unrest and legislative 
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Page 42 of60 

Page 41 

Finally, this is not a case where a "statute's obsoles
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to indicate any shift in public opinion as presumably the 
pUblic would not be receptive to a scheme that permits 
Native Americans to evade taxes in such a large-scale 
fashion. 

Accordingly, to the extent the doctrine of desuetude 
breathes any life in this Circuit, it does not apply to the 
instant prosecution. 

The second flaw in defendant's argument is that it can
not be said that the law at issue here is so vague that it 
accords law enforcement and juries unfettered discre
tion. The CCTA makes it a crime to sell or distribute 
"contraband cigarettes," 18 U.S.c. § 2342(a), which are 
defmed as "a quantity in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, 
which bear no evidence of the payment of applicable 
State or local cigarette taxes in the State or locality 
where such cigarettes are found, if the State or local 
government requires a stamp .... " Id. § 2341(2). The 
CCTA's standards are sufficiently clear because a state 
requires that cigarettes be stamped if state law so 
provides. Here, as discussed above, New York Tax Law 
§ 471 provides that all cigarettes sold on-reservation to 
non-Native Americans are taxable under subdivision (1) 
and must be stamped under subdivision (2). The fact 
that the executive branch of New York State is not en
forcing § 471 to on-reservation sales does not mean that 
it is unclear when a violation of that statute occurs. in
deed, as the Second Circuit found in Thibodeau, this 
statutory scheme 

does not resemble the standardless laws the Supreme 
Court has found unconstitutionally vague-laws that, 
for example, required an individual to provide 
'credible and reliable' identification at the request of 
the police officer without explaining how the police 
officer was to determine the credibility of an identi
fication, [ Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 353, 
103 S.C!. 1855, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983) ], or that re
quired "[t]hose generally implicated by the imprecise 
terms of the ordinance ... to comport themselves ac
cording to the lifestyle deemed appropriate by the 
Jacksonville police and the courts," Papachristou v. 
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City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 170, 92 S.Ct. 839, 
31 L.Ed.2d 11 0 (1972). See also Smith [v. Goguen ], 
415 U.S. [566], 578, 94 S.C!. 1242 [39 L.Ed.2d 605 
(1974) ] ("The *704 language at issue is void for 
vagueness as applied to Goguen because it subjected 
him to criminal liability under a standard so indefinite 
that police, court, and jury were free to react to noth
ing more than their own preferences for treatment of 
the flag."). 

486 F.3d at 68. Instead, the CCTA and § 471 give law 
enforcement officials clear standards on prosecutable 
conduct. 

Moreover, as noted in the Court's November 9, 2007 de
cision, 

The CCTA was enacted in 1978. At the time of its en
actment, the clear intent of Congress was to pass le
gislation to deal with large-scale cigarette bootleg
ging and the involvement of organized crime because 
the states had theretofore been unable to successfully 
address the problem themselves. See S. Rep. 95-962 
(2d Sess. 1978), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.CAN. 
5518,5526. As stated in the relevant Senate Report: 

We continue to believe that many of the states most 
affected have not made serious commitments to the 
enforcement effort in this area .... We continue to 
believe strongly that primary efforts to stop cigar
ette smuggling must be made by the states affected. 
However, we recognize that federal legislation in 
aid of state enforcement effort may be desirable, if 
not essential, in light of the interstate nature of the 
problem. 

Id Thus, contrary to Defendant's assertions, "it 
should of be of no surprise that the federal govern
ment would utilize the CCTA under these circum
stances precisely because of the State's forbearance 
policy, Le., because New York was not getting the job 
done itself, and not in spite of it." 

Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d at 257-58. 

[16][17][18][19] The final flaw in defendant's argument 
is that his claim that the federal government arbitrarily 
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chose to prosecute him alone sounds more in selective 
prosecution, rather than arbitrary enforcement. Al
though United States Attorneys enjoy broad discretion 
to enforce criminal laws, their discretion is subject to 
constitutional constraints. United States v. Armstrong, 
517 U.S. 456, 464, 116 S.Ct. 1480, 134 L.Ed.2d 687 
(1996). "One of these constraints, imposed by the equal 
protection component of the Due Process Clause of the 
Fifth Amendment, is that the decision whether to pro
secute may not be based on an unjustifiable standard 
such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification." 
!d (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). To 
make out a claim for selective enforcement, a defendant 
must provide "clear evidence" that the prosecutorial de
cision "had a discriminatory effect and that it was mo
tivated by a discriminatory purpose." [do at 465, 116 
S.Ct. 1480 (citations and internal quotation marks omit
ted). The discriminatory effect prong requires a showing 
that "similarly situated individuals of a different 
[classification] were not prosecuted." [do To establish 
discriminatory purpose, a defendant must establish that 
"such differential treatment was based on impermissible 
considerations such as race, religion, intent to inhibit or 
punish the exercise of constitutional rights, or malicious 
or bad faith intent to injure a person." Cobb v. POZZi, 
363 F.3d 89,110 (2d Cir.2004). 

[20][21][22] Here, Morrison did not raise a selective 
prosecution claim at any point during his trial, nor did 
he adduce any evidence that the government's prosecu
tion was based on bad faith or any other impermissible 
considerations. It is well established that the mere fact 
of selective prosecution-absent evidence of intentional 
and purposeful discrimination on the part of the govern
ment-is not a defense to prosecution. See *705Oyler v. 
Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 456, 82 S.C!. 501, 7 L.Ed.2d 446 
(1962) ("[T]he conscious exercise of some selectivity in 
enforcement is not in itself a federal constitutional viol
ation."); United States v. Rice, 659 F.2d 524, 527 (5th 
Cir.1981) ("[S]elective enforcement of the law is not in 
itself a constitutional violation, in the absence of invidi
ous purpose .... [S]election of cases for close investiga
tion and for prosecution (only if illegal conduct is dis
covered) is not impermissible simply because focused 
upon those most vocal in a concerted effort to encour-
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City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 170, 92 S.Ct. 839, 
31 L.Ed.2d 11 0 (1972). See also Smith [v. Goguen ], 
415 U.S. [566], 578, 94 S.C!. 1242 [39 L.Ed.2d 605 
(1974) ] ("The *704 language at issue is void for 
vagueness as applied to Goguen because it subjected 
him to criminal liability under a standard so indefinite 
that police, court, and jury were free to react to noth
ing more than their own preferences for treatment of 
the flag."). 

486 F.3d at 68. Instead, the CCTA and § 471 give law 
enforcement officials clear standards on prosecutable 
conduct. 

Moreover, as noted in the Court's November 9, 2007 de
cision, 

The CCTA was enacted in 1978. At the time of its en
actment, the clear intent of Congress was to pass le
gislation to deal with large-scale cigarette bootleg
ging and the involvement of organized crime because 
the states had theretofore been unable to successfully 
address the problem themselves. See S. Rep. 95-962 
(2d Sess. 1978), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.CAN. 
5518,5526. As stated in the relevant Senate Report: 

We continue to believe that many of the states most 
affected have not made serious commitments to the 
enforcement effort in this area .... We continue to 
believe strongly that primary efforts to stop cigar
ette smuggling must be made by the states affected. 
However, we recognize that federal legislation in 
aid of state enforcement effort may be desirable, if 
not essential, in light of the interstate nature of the 
problem. 

Id Thus, contrary to Defendant's assertions, "it 
should of be of no surprise that the federal govern
ment would utilize the CCTA under these circum
stances precisely because of the State's forbearance 
policy, Le., because New York was not getting the job 
done itself, and not in spite of it." 

Morrison, 521 F.Supp.2d at 257-58. 

[16][17][18][19] The final flaw in defendant's argument 
is that his claim that the federal government arbitrarily 
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chose to prosecute him alone sounds more in selective 
prosecution, rather than arbitrary enforcement. Al
though United States Attorneys enjoy broad discretion 
to enforce criminal laws, their discretion is subject to 
constitutional constraints. United States v. Armstrong, 
517 U.S. 456, 464, 116 S.Ct. 1480, 134 L.Ed.2d 687 
(1996). "One of these constraints, imposed by the equal 
protection component of the Due Process Clause of the 
Fifth Amendment, is that the decision whether to pro
secute may not be based on an unjustifiable standard 
such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification." 
!d (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). To 
make out a claim for selective enforcement, a defendant 
must provide "clear evidence" that the prosecutorial de
cision "had a discriminatory effect and that it was mo
tivated by a discriminatory purpose." [do at 465, 116 
S.Ct. 1480 (citations and internal quotation marks omit
ted). The discriminatory effect prong requires a showing 
that "similarly situated individuals of a different 
[classification] were not prosecuted." [do To establish 
discriminatory purpose, a defendant must establish that 
"such differential treatment was based on impermissible 
considerations such as race, religion, intent to inhibit or 
punish the exercise of constitutional rights, or malicious 
or bad faith intent to injure a person." Cobb v. POZZi, 
363 F.3d 89,110 (2d Cir.2004). 

[20][21][22] Here, Morrison did not raise a selective 
prosecution claim at any point during his trial, nor did 
he adduce any evidence that the government's prosecu
tion was based on bad faith or any other impermissible 
considerations. It is well established that the mere fact 
of selective prosecution-absent evidence of intentional 
and purposeful discrimination on the part of the govern
ment-is not a defense to prosecution. See *705Oyler v. 
Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 456, 82 S.C!. 501, 7 L.Ed.2d 446 
(1962) ("[T]he conscious exercise of some selectivity in 
enforcement is not in itself a federal constitutional viol
ation."); United States v. Rice, 659 F.2d 524, 527 (5th 
Cir.1981) ("[S]elective enforcement of the law is not in 
itself a constitutional violation, in the absence of invidi
ous purpose .... [S]election of cases for close investiga
tion and for prosecution (only if illegal conduct is dis
covered) is not impermissible simply because focused 
upon those most vocal in a concerted effort to encour-
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age violation of the nation's tax laws"); United States v. 
Catlett, 584 F.2d 864, 868 (8th Cir. 1 978) ( "[S]election 
for prosecution based in part upon the potential de
terrent effect on others serves a legitimate interest in 
promoting more general compliance with the tax laws. 
Since the government lacks the means to investigate 
every suspected violation of the tax laws, it makes good 
sense to prosecute those who will receive, or are likely 
to receive, the attention of the media."); Cruz v. Town of 
Cicero, Ill., No. 99 C 3286, 1999 WL 560989, at * 12 
(N.D.Ill. July 28, 1999) ("[A]s long as a law or regula
tion is rationally based, the mere failure of those who 
administer it to treat all persons who have violated it 
with complete equality does not of itself infringe the 
constitutional principle of equal protection. Many ac
tions resulting in unequal enforcement are wholly unre
lated to the kind that are actionable under equal protec
tion law. The failure to enforce against all may be ran
dom, or may result from lack of resources, or an effort 
by the authorities to get the most 'bang for their buck' 
by concentrating on the most notable lawbreakers.") 
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Simil
arly, although it may very well be that Morrison's pro
secution was unexpected by him and others similarly 
situated based on the forbearance policy, that does not 
render his prosecution constitutionally invalid.FN" 
Accordingly, to the extent Morrison's challenge to his 
conviction may be characterized as a claim for selective 
prosecution, his claim fails,fN44 

FN43. Cf Cqyuga Indian Nation, 2008 WL 
5158093 at *11 ("The discretionary considera
tions which animate the Tax Department's 
policy of forbearance under Tax Law § 471-e 
cannot dictate or circumscribe the exercise of 
discretion vouchsafed by statute to other gov
ernmental actors, here the elected district attor
neys in Seneca and Cayuga counties, under 
County Law § 700 to determine whether crim
inal charges should be brought under plainly 
applicable penal statutes such as Tax Law § 
1814."). As noted earlier, New York Tax Law 
§ 1814 criminalizes tax evasion under § 471. 

FN44. Alternatively, the Second Circuit has in-
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structed that even if a statute does not provide 
sufficiently clear standards to minimize the risk 
of arbitrary enforcement, it is not unconstitu
tionally vague if "the conduct at issue falls 
within the core of the statute's prohibition." 
Thibodeau, 486 F.3d at 67-68. That is the case 
here as New York Tax Law § 471 "requires" 
that all cigarettes sold to non-Native Americans 
on-reservation be stamped and thus defendant's 
conduct was a clear violation of the CCTA. See 
18 U.S.c. § 2341(2). 

c. Lack a/Scienter 

[23] As indicated above in the fair notice analysis, there 
is no ambiguity in the language of the CCTA and what 
it proscribes. Thus, there are no vagueness concerns and 
the lack of an elevated mens rea, in and of itself, does 
not render the statute unconstitutional. 

In this regard, defendant's citation to Colautti v. Frank
lin, 439 U.S. 379, 99 S.Ct. 675, 58 L.Ed.2d 596 (1979) 
is inapposite. In Colautti, plaintiffs challenged the con
stitutionality of a state statute which required a physi
cian to determine, prior to perfOlIDing an abortion, 
whether a fetus was or might be viable. The Supreme 
*706 Court found that the statute was plagued with am
biguity, including that it was unclear whether in determ
ining if a fetus may be viable, the statute called for an 
exclusively subjective standard (based on experience 
and judgment) or a mixed SUbjective and objective 
standard (based on the perspective of a cross section of 
the medical cornmunity). Id. at 391, 99 S.Ct. 675. The 
Court also noted that the vagueness of the statute was 
"compounded by the fact that the Act subjects the phys
ician to potential criminal liability without regard to 
fault." Id at 394, 99 S.Ct. 675; see also id at 395, 99 
S.Ct. 675 ("Because of the absence of a scienter re
quirement in the provision directing the physician to de
termine whether the fetus is or may be viable, the stat
ute is little more than 'a trap for those who act in good 
faith.' "). 

Defendant argues that the CCTA suffers the same in
flITDities as the statute in Colautti because the Court's 
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age violation of the nation's tax laws"); United States v. 
Catlett, 584 F.2d 864, 868 (8th Cir. 1 978) ( "[S]election 
for prosecution based in part upon the potential de
terrent effect on others serves a legitimate interest in 
promoting more general compliance with the tax laws. 
Since the government lacks the means to investigate 
every suspected violation of the tax laws, it makes good 
sense to prosecute those who will receive, or are likely 
to receive, the attention of the media."); Cruz v. Town of 
Cicero, Ill., No. 99 C 3286, 1999 WL 560989, at * 12 
(N.D.Ill. July 28, 1999) ("[A]s long as a law or regula
tion is rationally based, the mere failure of those who 
administer it to treat all persons who have violated it 
with complete equality does not of itself infringe the 
constitutional principle of equal protection. Many ac
tions resulting in unequal enforcement are wholly unre
lated to the kind that are actionable under equal protec
tion law. The failure to enforce against all may be ran
dom, or may result from lack of resources, or an effort 
by the authorities to get the most 'bang for their buck' 
by concentrating on the most notable lawbreakers.") 
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Simil
arly, although it may very well be that Morrison's pro
secution was unexpected by him and others similarly 
situated based on the forbearance policy, that does not 
render his prosecution constitutionally invalid.FN" 
Accordingly, to the extent Morrison's challenge to his 
conviction may be characterized as a claim for selective 
prosecution, his claim fails,fN44 

FN43. Cf Cqyuga Indian Nation, 2008 WL 
5158093 at *11 ("The discretionary considera
tions which animate the Tax Department's 
policy of forbearance under Tax Law § 471-e 
cannot dictate or circumscribe the exercise of 
discretion vouchsafed by statute to other gov
ernmental actors, here the elected district attor
neys in Seneca and Cayuga counties, under 
County Law § 700 to determine whether crim
inal charges should be brought under plainly 
applicable penal statutes such as Tax Law § 
1814."). As noted earlier, New York Tax Law 
§ 1814 criminalizes tax evasion under § 471. 

FN44. Alternatively, the Second Circuit has in-
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structed that even if a statute does not provide 
sufficiently clear standards to minimize the risk 
of arbitrary enforcement, it is not unconstitu
tionally vague if "the conduct at issue falls 
within the core of the statute's prohibition." 
Thibodeau, 486 F.3d at 67-68. That is the case 
here as New York Tax Law § 471 "requires" 
that all cigarettes sold to non-Native Americans 
on-reservation be stamped and thus defendant's 
conduct was a clear violation of the CCTA. See 
18 U.S.c. § 2341(2). 

c. Lack a/Scienter 

[23] As indicated above in the fair notice analysis, there 
is no ambiguity in the language of the CCTA and what 
it proscribes. Thus, there are no vagueness concerns and 
the lack of an elevated mens rea, in and of itself, does 
not render the statute unconstitutional. 

In this regard, defendant's citation to Colautti v. Frank
lin, 439 U.S. 379, 99 S.Ct. 675, 58 L.Ed.2d 596 (1979) 
is inapposite. In Colautti, plaintiffs challenged the con
stitutionality of a state statute which required a physi
cian to determine, prior to perfOlIDing an abortion, 
whether a fetus was or might be viable. The Supreme 
*706 Court found that the statute was plagued with am
biguity, including that it was unclear whether in determ
ining if a fetus may be viable, the statute called for an 
exclusively subjective standard (based on experience 
and judgment) or a mixed SUbjective and objective 
standard (based on the perspective of a cross section of 
the medical cornmunity). Id. at 391, 99 S.Ct. 675. The 
Court also noted that the vagueness of the statute was 
"compounded by the fact that the Act subjects the phys
ician to potential criminal liability without regard to 
fault." Id at 394, 99 S.Ct. 675; see also id at 395, 99 
S.Ct. 675 ("Because of the absence of a scienter re
quirement in the provision directing the physician to de
termine whether the fetus is or may be viable, the stat
ute is little more than 'a trap for those who act in good 
faith.' "). 

Defendant argues that the CCTA suffers the same in
flITDities as the statute in Colautti because the Court's 
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jury charge on the CCTA Racketeering Acts only re
quired the jury to find that defendant "knowingly and 
intentionally" conspired with others to sell unstamped 
cigarettes in violation of the CCTA. Defendant's ana
logy is flawed. Here, unlike in Colautti, the language of 
the CCTA is clear and unambiguous. Thus, there are no 
vagueness concerns and no need to examine the statute's 
scienter. See id. ("This Court has long recognized that 
the constitutionality of a vague statutory standard is 
closely related to whether that standard incorporates a 
requirement of mens rea. ") (emphasis added). To the 
extent defendant argues that the CCT A is similarly 
vague due to the forbearance policy, that argument has 
already been rejected. 

5. Conclusion as to Defendant's Substantive Due Pro
cess Claim 

The Court finds that the CCTAas applied to Morrison 
is not unconstitutionally vague. 

II. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial as to Count Two 
(RICO Conspiracy) is Denied 

In support of defendant's motion for a new trial on 
Count Two, RICO Conspiracy, defendant proffers three 
primary arguments. The Court will address each in turn. 

A. Defendant's Application for a New Trial Based Upon 
the Court's Response to the Deliberating Jury's Note 
Marked as Court's Exhibit 35 

1. Jury's Inquiry; Defendant's Proposed Response; and 
Response Provided by Court 

On April 8 and 9, 2008, the deliberating jury sent two 
notes concerning the same subject. The first inquiry, 
marked Court Exhibit 27, reads: "Does the defendant 
need to know the acts he intends to commit are criminal 
in nature to be considered entering into a conspiracy as 
far as Count 2?" The next day, before the Court respon
ded to this inquiry, alternate number I was substituted 
for one of the first twelve jurors, thereby causing delib
erations to begin aneW. That same day, i.e. on April 9th, 
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the newly constituted jury asked, as reflected in Court 
Exhibit 35, essentially the same question: "As it relates 
to Count 2, [i]f 2 [a]cts are proven[, d]oes the defendant 
have to know the acts that are committed are illegal or 
criminal in nature[ a]s the definition of conspiracy as 
charged on page 42 is a partnership for criminal pur
poses." 

The defendant submitted a letter memorandum, proffer
ing that the Court should instruct the jury "that it may 
convict Mr. Morrison under Count Two (RICO Conspir
acy) if and only if it [mds, beyond a reasonable doubt 
that [he], with an understanding of the unlawful charac
ter of the *707 conspiracy ... intentionally engaged, ad
vised or assisted in it for the purpose of furthering the 
illegal undertaking," citing Sand and Sijfert, Instruction 
19-6 (emphasis in the original). (See Apr. 8, 2008 Mem. 
of Law in SUpp. of Suggested Instruction in Resp. to 
Court Ex. 27, docket no. 724, at 1.) FN" 

FN45. As noted in the text, Court Exhibits 27 
and 35 are essentially the same. Accordingly, it 
is undisputed that defendant's proposed re
sponse to Court Exhibit 27 pertains to Court 
Exhibit 35 aswell. 

The question was not whether there is some type of er
ror in the portion of the Sand's charge incorporated in 
the defendant's proposed response but rather whether 
the subject language would be likely to answer the 
jury's inquiry. A fair reading of Court Exhibit 35 indic
ated that the jury sought clarification regarding the 
mens rea required under Count Two; more specifically, 
did the term in the Court's instruction "a partnership for 
criminal purposes" indicate that the defendant had to 
know that the charged goal of the conspiracy was un
lawful, or would it be sufficient if the proof established 
that the defendant was aware of the goal of the conspir
acy (which goal was, in fact, illegal), and armed with 
knowledge, he knowingly and intentionally joined the 
conspiracy with the specific intent to advance that goal. 
Simply adopting the language proposed by defendant, 
or repeating the Court's language regarding conspirators 
being involved in a "partnership for criminal purposes" 
would not have been responsive to the jury's expressed 
concern. 
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jury charge on the CCTA Racketeering Acts only re
quired the jury to find that defendant "knowingly and 
intentionally" conspired with others to sell unstamped 
cigarettes in violation of the CCTA. Defendant's ana
logy is flawed. Here, unlike in Colautti, the language of 
the CCTA is clear and unambiguous. Thus, there are no 
vagueness concerns and no need to examine the statute's 
scienter. See id. ("This Court has long recognized that 
the constitutionality of a vague statutory standard is 
closely related to whether that standard incorporates a 
requirement of mens rea. ") (emphasis added). To the 
extent defendant argues that the CCT A is similarly 
vague due to the forbearance policy, that argument has 
already been rejected. 

5. Conclusion as to Defendant's Substantive Due Pro
cess Claim 

The Court finds that the CCTAas applied to Morrison 
is not unconstitutionally vague. 

II. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial as to Count Two 
(RICO Conspiracy) is Denied 

In support of defendant's motion for a new trial on 
Count Two, RICO Conspiracy, defendant proffers three 
primary arguments. The Court will address each in turn. 

A. Defendant's Application for a New Trial Based Upon 
the Court's Response to the Deliberating Jury's Note 
Marked as Court's Exhibit 35 

1. Jury's Inquiry; Defendant's Proposed Response; and 
Response Provided by Court 

On April 8 and 9, 2008, the deliberating jury sent two 
notes concerning the same subject. The first inquiry, 
marked Court Exhibit 27, reads: "Does the defendant 
need to know the acts he intends to commit are criminal 
in nature to be considered entering into a conspiracy as 
far as Count 2?" The next day, before the Court respon
ded to this inquiry, alternate number I was substituted 
for one of the first twelve jurors, thereby causing delib
erations to begin aneW. That same day, i.e. on April 9th, 
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the newly constituted jury asked, as reflected in Court 
Exhibit 35, essentially the same question: "As it relates 
to Count 2, [i]f 2 [a]cts are proven[, d]oes the defendant 
have to know the acts that are committed are illegal or 
criminal in nature[ a]s the definition of conspiracy as 
charged on page 42 is a partnership for criminal pur
poses." 

The defendant submitted a letter memorandum, proffer
ing that the Court should instruct the jury "that it may 
convict Mr. Morrison under Count Two (RICO Conspir
acy) if and only if it [mds, beyond a reasonable doubt 
that [he], with an understanding of the unlawful charac
ter of the *707 conspiracy ... intentionally engaged, ad
vised or assisted in it for the purpose of furthering the 
illegal undertaking," citing Sand and Sijfert, Instruction 
19-6 (emphasis in the original). (See Apr. 8, 2008 Mem. 
of Law in SUpp. of Suggested Instruction in Resp. to 
Court Ex. 27, docket no. 724, at 1.) FN" 

FN45. As noted in the text, Court Exhibits 27 
and 35 are essentially the same. Accordingly, it 
is undisputed that defendant's proposed re
sponse to Court Exhibit 27 pertains to Court 
Exhibit 35 aswell. 

The question was not whether there is some type of er
ror in the portion of the Sand's charge incorporated in 
the defendant's proposed response but rather whether 
the subject language would be likely to answer the 
jury's inquiry. A fair reading of Court Exhibit 35 indic
ated that the jury sought clarification regarding the 
mens rea required under Count Two; more specifically, 
did the term in the Court's instruction "a partnership for 
criminal purposes" indicate that the defendant had to 
know that the charged goal of the conspiracy was un
lawful, or would it be sufficient if the proof established 
that the defendant was aware of the goal of the conspir
acy (which goal was, in fact, illegal), and armed with 
knowledge, he knowingly and intentionally joined the 
conspiracy with the specific intent to advance that goal. 
Simply adopting the language proposed by defendant, 
or repeating the Court's language regarding conspirators 
being involved in a "partnership for criminal purposes" 
would not have been responsive to the jury's expressed 
concern. 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.comlprintiprintstream.aspx?rs=WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prfi=H... 9/8/2010 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 267    09/17/2010    108283    314



596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

For the reason just noted. together with the reasons 
provided infra, the Court concluded that defendant's 
proposed response was incorrect, and instructed the jury 
thusly: 

To refresh your recollection, [your] note ... reads as 
follows: 

["lAs it relates to count two, if two acts are proven, 
does the defendant have to know the acts that are 
committed are illegal or criminal in nature as the 
defmition of conspiracy as charged on page 42 is a 
partnership for criminal purposes.["] 

Since you do reference that item on page 42, just to 
refresh your recollection, let me read that paragraph 
for you. 

It reads: ["]The crime of conspiracy is an independ
ent crime. 

Conspiracy is an offense separate from the commis
sion of any offense or offenses that may have been 
committed pursuant to the conspiracy. 

The formation of a conspiracy or as it's frequently 
described a partnership for ... criminal purposes is in 
and of itself a crime.["] 

With respect to count two, I have instructed you as 
you know on the law of conspiracy generally and 
that's numbered paragraph 28 in part one and specific
ally as to count two, see pages 114 through 124 [of 
the Charge, a copy of which has been provided to 
each of you]. 

Now, honing in more on your particular question, 
the government need not prove that the defendant 
knew that the goals of the conspiracy as intended or 
even if accomplished were criminal in nature. 

That is, that the subject conduct violated state or 
federal law. 

The same is true as referenced in the Court's in
sttnctions regarding the fourth element that the gov
ernment must prove beyond a reasonable doubt as to 
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the count two charge which is to say the government 
must prove, among other things, with respect to count 
two that *708 the defendant knowingly and intention
ally joined the charged conspiracy and in so doing 
agreed to join forces with at least one other person to 
achieve one or more of the unlawful goals of the con
spiracy. 

However, unlawful in this context means that the 
intended acts of the conspirators are in fact against 
the law, not that a defendant/conspirator necessarily 
was aware of the illegality. 

Simply put, the government is not required to prove 
among the many elements that they must prove bey
ond a reasonable doubt, they are not required to prove 
that the defendant knew that the charged conspiratori
al goals or the intended racketeering acts violated 
state or federal law. That is, referring back to your 
note, that they were, quotes, illegal, close quotes, or 
quotes, criminal in nature, close quotes. 

So, simply put, the answer to your specific inquiry 
is no, that's not something that the government has to 
prove. 

(Tr. at 13047-49.) 

2. Court's Bench Decision Regarding Response to Court 
Exhibit 35 

As noted, the jury asked whether the defendant had to 
know that the goals of the conspiracy were "illegal or 
criminal in nature" for purposes of Count Two, Le. 
whether such knowledge was an element of the crime 
required to be proven by the government beyond a reas
onable doubt. After receiving considerable input from 
counsel, I gave a bench decision explaining the ra
tionale for the response that was later given to the jury, 
which bench decision is hereby incorporated by refer
ence. (Tr. at 13005-13.) In the process, I cited a number 
of cases including United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 
686,95 S.Ct. 1255,43 L.Ed.2d 541 (1975)(Court rejec
ted Feola's argument that "Government must show a de
gree of criminal intent in the conspiracy count [under 
Title 18 U.S.C. § 371] greater than is necessary to con-
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For the reason just noted. together with the reasons 
provided infra, the Court concluded that defendant's 
proposed response was incorrect, and instructed the jury 
thusly: 

To refresh your recollection, [your] note ... reads as 
follows: 

["lAs it relates to count two, if two acts are proven, 
does the defendant have to know the acts that are 
committed are illegal or criminal in nature as the 
defmition of conspiracy as charged on page 42 is a 
partnership for criminal purposes.["] 

Since you do reference that item on page 42, just to 
refresh your recollection, let me read that paragraph 
for you. 

It reads: ["]The crime of conspiracy is an independ
ent crime. 

Conspiracy is an offense separate from the commis
sion of any offense or offenses that may have been 
committed pursuant to the conspiracy. 

The formation of a conspiracy or as it's frequently 
described a partnership for ... criminal purposes is in 
and of itself a crime.["] 

With respect to count two, I have instructed you as 
you know on the law of conspiracy generally and 
that's numbered paragraph 28 in part one and specific
ally as to count two, see pages 114 through 124 [of 
the Charge, a copy of which has been provided to 
each of you]. 

Now, honing in more on your particular question, 
the government need not prove that the defendant 
knew that the goals of the conspiracy as intended or 
even if accomplished were criminal in nature. 

That is, that the subject conduct violated state or 
federal law. 

The same is true as referenced in the Court's in
sttnctions regarding the fourth element that the gov
ernment must prove beyond a reasonable doubt as to 
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the count two charge which is to say the government 
must prove, among other things, with respect to count 
two that *708 the defendant knowingly and intention
ally joined the charged conspiracy and in so doing 
agreed to join forces with at least one other person to 
achieve one or more of the unlawful goals of the con
spiracy. 

However, unlawful in this context means that the 
intended acts of the conspirators are in fact against 
the law, not that a defendant/conspirator necessarily 
was aware of the illegality. 

Simply put, the government is not required to prove 
among the many elements that they must prove bey
ond a reasonable doubt, they are not required to prove 
that the defendant knew that the charged conspiratori
al goals or the intended racketeering acts violated 
state or federal law. That is, referring back to your 
note, that they were, quotes, illegal, close quotes, or 
quotes, criminal in nature, close quotes. 

So, simply put, the answer to your specific inquiry 
is no, that's not something that the government has to 
prove. 

(Tr. at 13047-49.) 

2. Court's Bench Decision Regarding Response to Court 
Exhibit 35 

As noted, the jury asked whether the defendant had to 
know that the goals of the conspiracy were "illegal or 
criminal in nature" for purposes of Count Two, Le. 
whether such knowledge was an element of the crime 
required to be proven by the government beyond a reas
onable doubt. After receiving considerable input from 
counsel, I gave a bench decision explaining the ra
tionale for the response that was later given to the jury, 
which bench decision is hereby incorporated by refer
ence. (Tr. at 13005-13.) In the process, I cited a number 
of cases including United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 
686,95 S.Ct. 1255,43 L.Ed.2d 541 (1975)(Court rejec
ted Feola's argument that "Government must show a de
gree of criminal intent in the conspiracy count [under 
Title 18 U.S.C. § 371] greater than is necessary to con-
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vict for the substantive offense"); United States v. An
saldi, 372 F.3d 118, 127-28 (2d Cir.2004)(in rejecting 
appellants' argument that their various conspiracy con
victions could not stand because '~there was evidence in 
the record that they believed they were breaking no 
law," the Second Circuit noted: "[i]gnorance or mistake 
of law is not a defense to all criminal charges. For the 
most part, the prosecution need not show that the de
fendant knew the illegality of the conduct with which he 
is charged. It is true that some crimes require proof of 
knowledge of a legal requirement, and, in proving those 
crimes, the prosecution must prove the requisite legal 
knowledge. [Appellants] were not convicted of such a 
crime"); United States v. Baker, 63 F.3d 1478, 1493 
(9th Cir.1995)( "[B]ecause the CCTA does not require 
proof of intent to violate the law, the defendants can be 
guilty of conspiring to violate RICO even if they were 
not aWare their actions were illegal."); United States v. 
Scotto, 641 F.2d 47, 56 (2d Cir.1980)(Circuit explained 
that the trial judge erroneously charged the jury that the 
government was required to prove that defendant " 
'participated in the [RICO] conspiracy with a specific 
and criminal intent, that is, a purpose to violate the 
law,' " (quoting charge) pointing out that "the quantum 
of mens rea required for a RICO conspiracy conviction 
[is no] different from or greater than required for a sub
stantive RICO offense"), overruled on other grounds, 
Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 113 S.C!. 1163, 
122 L.Ed.2d 525 (1993); United States v. Schafer, No. 
CR. S-05-238, 2007 WL 2121734, at *3 (E.D.Cal. July 
24, 2007) ("[T]he government is required only to prove 
that defendants agreed to commit the acts which make 
up the objects of the conspiracy, which here, are not 
specific intent *709 crimes-i.e., they do not require 
proof of an intent to violate the law. Defendants' beliefs 
concerning the legality of the use of 'medicinal 
marijuana' are not a proper defense and evidence of 
their beliefs, or their reasons for those beliefs, are irrel
evant to the charges."). 

However, upon completion of my bench decision detail
ing the authority for my intended response to the jury's 
note, I was advised by defense counsel that I had 
answered the wrong question, coupled with the com
ment "r am aware of no circuit court decision in modern 
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history that has disputed the basic notion that regardless 
[of] whether or not a conspirator must know he's violat
ing federal law, he still must have a general understand
ing that what he is doing is wrong." (Tr. at 13014-15.) 

In other words, defendant argues, the appropriate ques
tion is whether the government must prove, in addition 
to the other elements under the RICO conspiracy, that 
defendant was, at the very least, generally aware that 
the goal of the conspiracy was "wrongful." 

3. Instructing the Jury That the Government Must Prove 
That the Defendant, Inter Alia, Understood That the 
Goal of the Conspiracy was "Wrong" Would Have 
Been Both Non-Responsive to the Jury's Inquiry, as 

Well as an Incorrect Statement of the Law 

[24] In the defendant's April 8, 2008 proposed response 
to the jury's inquiry, he speaks of the government being 
required to prove that he had "an understanding of the 
unlawful character of the conspiracy." After the Court's 
bench decision, the defense shifted gears. No longer 
was the operative word "unlawful," perhaps given that 
the cases cited in the bench decision indicate that the 
mens rea for a conspiracy to commit a particular sub
stantive crime is no greater than that required for the 
commission of the substantive crime. FN46 

FN46. Here, the goal of the RICO conspiracy, 
i.e. the commission of Racketeering Acts 5 
though 80, did not require a mens rea beyond 
the knowing and intentional commission of the 
charged conduct. Accordingly, absent from the 
government's burden as to the corresponding 
CCTA-based RICO conspiracy count was a re
quirement to show that the defendant knew that 
such conduct was prohibited. Baker. 63 F.3d at 
1493. 

Instead, the focus of defendant's current mens rea sub
mission is upon the government's purported need to es
tablish that "Mr. Morrison had ... a general understand
ing that his alleged conspiratorial conduct was wrong
ful." (Def.'s Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 48.) However, left 
unaddressed by the defense is the standard to be utilized 
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vict for the substantive offense"); United States v. An
saldi, 372 F.3d 118, 127-28 (2d Cir.2004)(in rejecting 
appellants' argument that their various conspiracy con
victions could not stand because '~there was evidence in 
the record that they believed they were breaking no 
law," the Second Circuit noted: "[i]gnorance or mistake 
of law is not a defense to all criminal charges. For the 
most part, the prosecution need not show that the de
fendant knew the illegality of the conduct with which he 
is charged. It is true that some crimes require proof of 
knowledge of a legal requirement, and, in proving those 
crimes, the prosecution must prove the requisite legal 
knowledge. [Appellants] were not convicted of such a 
crime"); United States v. Baker, 63 F.3d 1478, 1493 
(9th Cir.1995)( "[B]ecause the CCTA does not require 
proof of intent to violate the law, the defendants can be 
guilty of conspiring to violate RICO even if they were 
not aWare their actions were illegal."); United States v. 
Scotto, 641 F.2d 47, 56 (2d Cir.1980)(Circuit explained 
that the trial judge erroneously charged the jury that the 
government was required to prove that defendant " 
'participated in the [RICO] conspiracy with a specific 
and criminal intent, that is, a purpose to violate the 
law,' " (quoting charge) pointing out that "the quantum 
of mens rea required for a RICO conspiracy conviction 
[is no] different from or greater than required for a sub
stantive RICO offense"), overruled on other grounds, 
Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 113 S.C!. 1163, 
122 L.Ed.2d 525 (1993); United States v. Schafer, No. 
CR. S-05-238, 2007 WL 2121734, at *3 (E.D.Cal. July 
24, 2007) ("[T]he government is required only to prove 
that defendants agreed to commit the acts which make 
up the objects of the conspiracy, which here, are not 
specific intent *709 crimes-i.e., they do not require 
proof of an intent to violate the law. Defendants' beliefs 
concerning the legality of the use of 'medicinal 
marijuana' are not a proper defense and evidence of 
their beliefs, or their reasons for those beliefs, are irrel
evant to the charges."). 

However, upon completion of my bench decision detail
ing the authority for my intended response to the jury's 
note, I was advised by defense counsel that I had 
answered the wrong question, coupled with the com
ment "r am aware of no circuit court decision in modern 
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history that has disputed the basic notion that regardless 
[of] whether or not a conspirator must know he's violat
ing federal law, he still must have a general understand
ing that what he is doing is wrong." (Tr. at 13014-15.) 

In other words, defendant argues, the appropriate ques
tion is whether the government must prove, in addition 
to the other elements under the RICO conspiracy, that 
defendant was, at the very least, generally aware that 
the goal of the conspiracy was "wrongful." 

3. Instructing the Jury That the Government Must Prove 
That the Defendant, Inter Alia, Understood That the 
Goal of the Conspiracy was "Wrong" Would Have 
Been Both Non-Responsive to the Jury's Inquiry, as 

Well as an Incorrect Statement of the Law 

[24] In the defendant's April 8, 2008 proposed response 
to the jury's inquiry, he speaks of the government being 
required to prove that he had "an understanding of the 
unlawful character of the conspiracy." After the Court's 
bench decision, the defense shifted gears. No longer 
was the operative word "unlawful," perhaps given that 
the cases cited in the bench decision indicate that the 
mens rea for a conspiracy to commit a particular sub
stantive crime is no greater than that required for the 
commission of the substantive crime. FN46 

FN46. Here, the goal of the RICO conspiracy, 
i.e. the commission of Racketeering Acts 5 
though 80, did not require a mens rea beyond 
the knowing and intentional commission of the 
charged conduct. Accordingly, absent from the 
government's burden as to the corresponding 
CCTA-based RICO conspiracy count was a re
quirement to show that the defendant knew that 
such conduct was prohibited. Baker. 63 F.3d at 
1493. 

Instead, the focus of defendant's current mens rea sub
mission is upon the government's purported need to es
tablish that "Mr. Morrison had ... a general understand
ing that his alleged conspiratorial conduct was wrong
ful." (Def.'s Mem. of Law in SUpp. at 48.) However, left 
unaddressed by the defense is the standard to be utilized 
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in gauging wrongfulness in the present context. Should 
I have instructed the jury in responding to Court Exhibit 
35 that the operative standard was some type of societal 
norm independent of society's criminal laws, the de
fendant's personal view of right and wrong, or perhaps 
some other measure? Surely that question, as to each of 
the possible alternative responses, must be answered in 
the negative. For the Court to have asked the jury to 
make such a determination untethered to the law would 
have been nonsensical. The appropriate reference point 
for determining whether an accused had a general 
awareness of the "wrongful[ness]" of a conspiratorial 
goal would be, of necessity, the laws which pertain to 
the subject. Simply put, the semantical shift by the de
fens e from "unlawfu1" to "wrongful" is not meaningful. 
Accordingly, the authorities cited in my bench decision 
and earlier in this decision are equally applicable to de
fendant's post-bench decision reconfigured argument. 

The above conclusion is reinforced by reference to 
United States v. Cohen, 260 FJd 68 (2d Cir.2001), a 
decision not cited *710 in my bench decision. Cohen 
addressed and rejected the notion that a person may not 
legitimately be found to be a conspirator unless it is 
shown that he, at the very least, appreciated "that what 
he is doing is wrong." (Tr. at 13015.) Cohen was 
charged under an eight count indictment with conspir
acy and substantive offenses in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1084. That Section prohibits a person engaged in the 
business of wagering from knowingly using a wire com
munication for the transmission in interstate or foreign 
commerce of bets, wagers or certain infonnation related 
thereto, subject to certain exceptions which are not 
presently relevant. 

Following his conviction, Cohen presented mUltiple is
sues to the Second Circuit, including "whether the Gov
ernment was required to prove a 'corrupt motive' in 
connection with the conspiracy in [his] case." 260 F.3d 
at 71. In that regard, Cohen maintained at trial that he 
did not know that the goal of the charged conspiracy 
constituted illegal conduct. However, the "district court 
instructed the jurors that to convict, they needed only to 
fmd that Cohen 'knew that the deeds described in the 
statute as being prohibited were being done,' and that a 
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misinterpretation of the law, like ignorance of the law, 
was no excuse." ld at 75-76. This, Cohen insisted, COllw 

stituted error because it improperly eviscerated "his al
leged good-faith belief about the legality of his con
duct," citing People v. Powell, 63 N.Y. 88 (1875). 260 
F.3d at 71. 

In finding that the challenged portion of the charge was 
not erroneous, the Circuit: (1) specifically rejected the 
holding in People v. Powell, to wit that" '[p]ersons 
who agree to do an act innocent in itself, in good faith 
and without the use of criminal means, are not conver~ 
ted into conspirators [ ] because it tums out that the 
contemplated act was prohibited by statute,' " id. at 72 
(quoting Powell, 63 N.Y. at 92); and (2) in doing so, the 
Cohen Court, inter alia, Ca) explained that the 
"American Law Institute has expressly rejected Powell, 
[by stating that the 1 'melodramatic and sinister view of 
conspiracy' upon which Powell was premised is no 
longer valid," id. at 72, and (b) cited Feola, 420 U.S. 
671, 95 S.Ct. 1255, in which, the Circuit explained, "the 
Supreme Court, in another context, rejected the notion 
that a federal conspiracy conviction required proof of 
scienter." fd. at 73. The concept of corrupt motive, spe
cifically rejected by the Second Circuit in Cohen, is 
fundamentally akin to the defendant's argument that he 
had to possess knowledge that the goal of the conspir
acy was unlawful or, under his alternate theory, gener
ally "wrongfuL" 

Reference to Cohen, and to the other cases discussed 
supra, compel the conclusion that defendant's argument 
that the government was required to establish that he 
had at least a general understanding of the wrongfulness 
of the conspiratorial goal is simply incorrect. 

4. Conclusion Regarding Response Given to Court Ex
hibit 35 

For the reasons provided, defendant's application for a 
new trial as to Count Two based on the Court's response 
to Court Exhibit 3 5 is denied. As to that Count, it was 
not the government's burden to prove that defendant 
knew that the goal of the conspiracy was "unlawful" or 
"wrong." FN47 
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in gauging wrongfulness in the present context. Should 
I have instructed the jury in responding to Court Exhibit 
35 that the operative standard was some type of societal 
norm independent of society's criminal laws, the de
fendant's personal view of right and wrong, or perhaps 
some other measure? Surely that question, as to each of 
the possible alternative responses, must be answered in 
the negative. For the Court to have asked the jury to 
make such a determination untethered to the law would 
have been nonsensical. The appropriate reference point 
for determining whether an accused had a general 
awareness of the "wrongful[ness]" of a conspiratorial 
goal would be, of necessity, the laws which pertain to 
the subject. Simply put, the semantical shift by the de
fens e from "unlawfu1" to "wrongful" is not meaningful. 
Accordingly, the authorities cited in my bench decision 
and earlier in this decision are equally applicable to de
fendant's post-bench decision reconfigured argument. 

The above conclusion is reinforced by reference to 
United States v. Cohen, 260 FJd 68 (2d Cir.2001), a 
decision not cited *710 in my bench decision. Cohen 
addressed and rejected the notion that a person may not 
legitimately be found to be a conspirator unless it is 
shown that he, at the very least, appreciated "that what 
he is doing is wrong." (Tr. at 13015.) Cohen was 
charged under an eight count indictment with conspir
acy and substantive offenses in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1084. That Section prohibits a person engaged in the 
business of wagering from knowingly using a wire com
munication for the transmission in interstate or foreign 
commerce of bets, wagers or certain infonnation related 
thereto, subject to certain exceptions which are not 
presently relevant. 

Following his conviction, Cohen presented mUltiple is
sues to the Second Circuit, including "whether the Gov
ernment was required to prove a 'corrupt motive' in 
connection with the conspiracy in [his] case." 260 F.3d 
at 71. In that regard, Cohen maintained at trial that he 
did not know that the goal of the charged conspiracy 
constituted illegal conduct. However, the "district court 
instructed the jurors that to convict, they needed only to 
fmd that Cohen 'knew that the deeds described in the 
statute as being prohibited were being done,' and that a 
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misinterpretation of the law, like ignorance of the law, 
was no excuse." ld at 75-76. This, Cohen insisted, COllw 

stituted error because it improperly eviscerated "his al
leged good-faith belief about the legality of his con
duct," citing People v. Powell, 63 N.Y. 88 (1875). 260 
F.3d at 71. 

In finding that the challenged portion of the charge was 
not erroneous, the Circuit: (1) specifically rejected the 
holding in People v. Powell, to wit that" '[p]ersons 
who agree to do an act innocent in itself, in good faith 
and without the use of criminal means, are not conver~ 
ted into conspirators [ ] because it tums out that the 
contemplated act was prohibited by statute,' " id. at 72 
(quoting Powell, 63 N.Y. at 92); and (2) in doing so, the 
Cohen Court, inter alia, Ca) explained that the 
"American Law Institute has expressly rejected Powell, 
[by stating that the 1 'melodramatic and sinister view of 
conspiracy' upon which Powell was premised is no 
longer valid," id. at 72, and (b) cited Feola, 420 U.S. 
671, 95 S.Ct. 1255, in which, the Circuit explained, "the 
Supreme Court, in another context, rejected the notion 
that a federal conspiracy conviction required proof of 
scienter." fd. at 73. The concept of corrupt motive, spe
cifically rejected by the Second Circuit in Cohen, is 
fundamentally akin to the defendant's argument that he 
had to possess knowledge that the goal of the conspir
acy was unlawful or, under his alternate theory, gener
ally "wrongfuL" 

Reference to Cohen, and to the other cases discussed 
supra, compel the conclusion that defendant's argument 
that the government was required to establish that he 
had at least a general understanding of the wrongfulness 
of the conspiratorial goal is simply incorrect. 

4. Conclusion Regarding Response Given to Court Ex
hibit 35 

For the reasons provided, defendant's application for a 
new trial as to Count Two based on the Court's response 
to Court Exhibit 3 5 is denied. As to that Count, it was 
not the government's burden to prove that defendant 
knew that the goal of the conspiracy was "unlawful" or 
"wrong." FN47 
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FN47. None of the cases cited by defendant, in
cluding Hassan, 542 F.3d 968 and United 
States v. Jackson, 180 F.3d 55 (2d Cir. I 999), 
supports a contrary conclusion. A perusal of 
Hassan indicates that it is sui generis to khat 
prosecutions, given the largely unintelligible 
statutory scheme and concomitant due process 
concems implicated in such prosecutions. Ab
sent from the holding in Hassan is anything 
which casts into doubt the well established 
principles of law earlier explained in this opin
ion. 

Jackson is similarly unavailing to the de
fense. Jackson claimed to be the illegitimate 
daughter of the comedian Bill Cosby. She 
told him that, absent a payment of forty mil
lion dollars, she would report to the media 
that Cosby was her father and that he left her 
destitute. As a result, Jackson was charged 
with threatening to injure his reputation with 
the intent to extort money in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 875(d) and a related conspiracy count. 

Section 875(d) does not defme "intent to ex
tort." Jackson asked the district court to in
struct the jury-apparently properly, as de
termined on appeal-that a demand must be 
"wrongful" to violate the statute in the sense 
that the government must prove that the ac
cused was not entitled to payment from the 
victim, nor did she believe that she was so 
entitled. That request was denied, with the 
jury being told that "it makes no difference 
whether the defendant was actually owed any 
money by Bill Cosby or thought ... she was." 
Jackson, 180 F.3d at 66. In finding the dis
trict court's instruction to be erroneous and 
remanding the case for a new trial, the Cir
cuit explained that not all demands for 
money, even if coupled with a threat to dam
age the person's reputation in the absence of 
compliance, constitute extortion. That hold
ing is not inconsistent with the Supreme 
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Court and Circuit authority provided earlier 
in the text in this decision, nor, apart from 
that authority, does it even suggest that a de
fendant charged under the CCTA with selling 
unstamped cigarettes, or conspiring to do so, 
must know that his conduct is illegal or 
wrongful in nature. 

*711 B. The Court Properly Charged the Elements oj 
the CCTA to the Jury 

Defendant contends that the Court erred in its charge by 
removing from the jury's consideration two elements of 
proof vis-a-vis the Count Two CCTA conspiracy, to wit 
(1) whether New York State law required tax stamps to 
be affixed to the cigarettes sold by Peace Pipe and/or 
Smokersden.com as alleged in paragraph 21 of the in
dicttnent, and (2) "whether the specific on-reservation 
sales identified in [those] racketeering acts involved 
Native American purchasers or other exempt persons." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 54.) 

To place the argument in context, the following ex
cerpts from the instructions to the jury are provided: 

The tenn ~~contraband cigarettes" mearis a quantity 
in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, which bears no evid
ence of the payment of applicable state cigarette taxes 
in the state where such cigarettes are found, if such 
state requires a stamp, impression, or other indica
tion to be placed on packages or other containers oj 
cigarettes to evidence payment of cigarette taxes. 
[footnote 10 omitted]. 

C. Applicable New York Law 

At this point, we will discuss the following two 
clauses found in the previously provided definition of 
contraband cigarettes: "applicable state cigarette 
taxes" and "if such state requires a stamp." These 
clauses are significant because a CCTA violation may 
not OCCUr unless the unstamped cigarettes were re
quired to be stamped under New York Law. 

Under New York Law Section 471, insofar as 
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FN47. None of the cases cited by defendant, in
cluding Hassan, 542 F.3d 968 and United 
States v. Jackson, 180 F.3d 55 (2d Cir. I 999), 
supports a contrary conclusion. A perusal of 
Hassan indicates that it is sui generis to khat 
prosecutions, given the largely unintelligible 
statutory scheme and concomitant due process 
concems implicated in such prosecutions. Ab
sent from the holding in Hassan is anything 
which casts into doubt the well established 
principles of law earlier explained in this opin
ion. 

Jackson is similarly unavailing to the de
fense. Jackson claimed to be the illegitimate 
daughter of the comedian Bill Cosby. She 
told him that, absent a payment of forty mil
lion dollars, she would report to the media 
that Cosby was her father and that he left her 
destitute. As a result, Jackson was charged 
with threatening to injure his reputation with 
the intent to extort money in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 875(d) and a related conspiracy count. 

Section 875(d) does not defme "intent to ex
tort." Jackson asked the district court to in
struct the jury-apparently properly, as de
termined on appeal-that a demand must be 
"wrongful" to violate the statute in the sense 
that the government must prove that the ac
cused was not entitled to payment from the 
victim, nor did she believe that she was so 
entitled. That request was denied, with the 
jury being told that "it makes no difference 
whether the defendant was actually owed any 
money by Bill Cosby or thought ... she was." 
Jackson, 180 F.3d at 66. In finding the dis
trict court's instruction to be erroneous and 
remanding the case for a new trial, the Cir
cuit explained that not all demands for 
money, even if coupled with a threat to dam
age the person's reputation in the absence of 
compliance, constitute extortion. That hold
ing is not inconsistent with the Supreme 
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Court and Circuit authority provided earlier 
in the text in this decision, nor, apart from 
that authority, does it even suggest that a de
fendant charged under the CCTA with selling 
unstamped cigarettes, or conspiring to do so, 
must know that his conduct is illegal or 
wrongful in nature. 

*711 B. The Court Properly Charged the Elements oj 
the CCTA to the Jury 

Defendant contends that the Court erred in its charge by 
removing from the jury's consideration two elements of 
proof vis-a-vis the Count Two CCTA conspiracy, to wit 
(1) whether New York State law required tax stamps to 
be affixed to the cigarettes sold by Peace Pipe and/or 
Smokersden.com as alleged in paragraph 21 of the in
dicttnent, and (2) "whether the specific on-reservation 
sales identified in [those] racketeering acts involved 
Native American purchasers or other exempt persons." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 54.) 

To place the argument in context, the following ex
cerpts from the instructions to the jury are provided: 

The tenn ~~contraband cigarettes" mearis a quantity 
in excess of 60,000 cigarettes, which bears no evid
ence of the payment of applicable state cigarette taxes 
in the state where such cigarettes are found, if such 
state requires a stamp, impression, or other indica
tion to be placed on packages or other containers oj 
cigarettes to evidence payment of cigarette taxes. 
[footnote 10 omitted]. 

C. Applicable New York Law 

At this point, we will discuss the following two 
clauses found in the previously provided definition of 
contraband cigarettes: "applicable state cigarette 
taxes" and "if such state requires a stamp." These 
clauses are significant because a CCTA violation may 
not OCCUr unless the unstamped cigarettes were re
quired to be stamped under New York Law. 

Under New York Law Section 471, insofar as 
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presently relevant and as it existed during the time 
period alleged in Racketeering Acts Five through 
Eighty, tax stamps were required to be affixed to ci
garettes sold by Peace Pipe andlor smokersden.com 
as alleged in paragraph 21 of the indictment. 
[footnote 11] [footnote II reads as follows:] 

A sale by Peace Pipe or smokersden.com of what 
otherwise would be contraband cigarettes to Native 
American(s) is not illegal. However, you are not be
ing called upon to determine whether the claimed 
conspiracy to make *712 the sales listed in Racketeer
ing Acts Four through Eighty were to be made to Nat
ive Americans or non-Native Americans [end of foot
note 11]. 

Section 471(2) provides that a state licensed whole
saler/stamping agent, in effect, advances the amount 
of the tax by buying cigarette stamps from the state 
and affixing the stamp to the cigarette packages. The 
stamping agent then adds the amount of the tax to the 
price of the cigarettes sold to its customers, with the 
same procedure being followed down the chain of 
distribution so that, ultimately, the burden of the tax 
falls on the consumer. 

(Docket no. 769-3 at 121-23.) 

Defendant's two arguments will be addressed seriatim 
beginning with whether the Court committed error by 
informing the jury that New York Tax Law § 471 re
quired tax stamps to be affixed to the cigarettes al
legedly sold by Peace Pipe and/or Smokers.com as lis
ted in paragraph 21 of the indictment. 

I. The Court's Instruction as to Section 471 was Appro
priate 

[25] It is well established that the Fifth and Sixth 
Amendments require that criminal convictions rest 
"upon a jury determination that the Defendant is guilty 
of every element of the crime with which he is charged, 
beyond a reasonable doubt." United States v. Gaudin, 
515 U.S. 506, 509-510, 115 S.Ct. 2310, 132 L.Ed.2d 
444 (1995); see also Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 
275, 277-78, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). 
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Such is the case not only as to purely factual matters but 
also regarding mixed questions of law and fact. Gaudin, 
515 U.S. at 512-13,115 S.C!. 2310. 

[26][27] The above principles, however, did not, as de
fendant contends, citing Gaudin and United States v. 
Parkes, 497 F.3d 220, 227 (2d Cir.2007), preclude the 
Court from instructing the jury that New York Tax Law 
§ 471 "required [tax stamps] to be affixed to cigarettes 
sold by Peace Pipe andlor Smokersden.com as alleged 
in paragraph 21 of the Indictment." (Docket no. 769-3 
at 122.) That instruction solely involved an issue of law 
and did not interfere with the jury's responsibility to de
termine factual as well as mixed questions of law and 
fact, nor did it impinge upon the jury's ultimate role "to 
apply the law to [the] facts and draw the ultimate con
clusion of guilt or innocence." Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 514, 
115 S.C!. 2310. Indeed, the historically imbedded fimc
tions of court and jury would be impermissibly blurred 
beyond recognition had I asked the jury to determine 
the applicability of § 471 to the case at hand. As ex
plained in Gaudin, "[i]n criminal cases ... the judge 
must be permitted to instruct the jury on the law and to 
insist that the jury follow his instructions." Id. at 513, 
115 S:Ct. 2310. 

United States v. Clements, 588 F.2d 1030, 1037 (5th 
Cir.1979) is instructive. Clements was convicted under 
18 U.S.C. § 1955 of engaging in a business involving 
five or more persons who violated state gambling laws. 
In seeking to set aside that conviction, defendants ad
vanced numerous grounds including that the govern
ment failed to prove that the charged gambling business 
violated state law. Relatively short shrift was devoted to 
this ground with the Fifth Circuit simply noting that 
"[t]here is no question that there was a violation of 
Texas law" and that the court properly so charged the 
jury, coupled with the unremarkable but presently ger
mane observation that "[t]he determination of the ap
plicable state law is a question of law to be determined 
by the Court." Id.; see also United States v. Dedman, 
527 F.3d 577, 587 (6th Cir.2008)("[J]udges are still en
titled-and indeed required-to determine the applicable 
*713 law, even if that law is the law of other states" and 
jurors are duty bound to accept "the courtls detennina-
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presently relevant and as it existed during the time 
period alleged in Racketeering Acts Five through 
Eighty, tax stamps were required to be affixed to ci
garettes sold by Peace Pipe andlor smokersden.com 
as alleged in paragraph 21 of the indictment. 
[footnote 11] [footnote II reads as follows:] 

A sale by Peace Pipe or smokersden.com of what 
otherwise would be contraband cigarettes to Native 
American(s) is not illegal. However, you are not be
ing called upon to determine whether the claimed 
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ing Acts Four through Eighty were to be made to Nat
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Section 471(2) provides that a state licensed whole
saler/stamping agent, in effect, advances the amount 
of the tax by buying cigarette stamps from the state 
and affixing the stamp to the cigarette packages. The 
stamping agent then adds the amount of the tax to the 
price of the cigarettes sold to its customers, with the 
same procedure being followed down the chain of 
distribution so that, ultimately, the burden of the tax 
falls on the consumer. 

(Docket no. 769-3 at 121-23.) 

Defendant's two arguments will be addressed seriatim 
beginning with whether the Court committed error by 
informing the jury that New York Tax Law § 471 re
quired tax stamps to be affixed to the cigarettes al
legedly sold by Peace Pipe and/or Smokers.com as lis
ted in paragraph 21 of the indictment. 

I. The Court's Instruction as to Section 471 was Appro
priate 

[25] It is well established that the Fifth and Sixth 
Amendments require that criminal convictions rest 
"upon a jury determination that the Defendant is guilty 
of every element of the crime with which he is charged, 
beyond a reasonable doubt." United States v. Gaudin, 
515 U.S. 506, 509-510, 115 S.Ct. 2310, 132 L.Ed.2d 
444 (1995); see also Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 
275, 277-78, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). 
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Such is the case not only as to purely factual matters but 
also regarding mixed questions of law and fact. Gaudin, 
515 U.S. at 512-13,115 S.C!. 2310. 

[26][27] The above principles, however, did not, as de
fendant contends, citing Gaudin and United States v. 
Parkes, 497 F.3d 220, 227 (2d Cir.2007), preclude the 
Court from instructing the jury that New York Tax Law 
§ 471 "required [tax stamps] to be affixed to cigarettes 
sold by Peace Pipe andlor Smokersden.com as alleged 
in paragraph 21 of the Indictment." (Docket no. 769-3 
at 122.) That instruction solely involved an issue of law 
and did not interfere with the jury's responsibility to de
termine factual as well as mixed questions of law and 
fact, nor did it impinge upon the jury's ultimate role "to 
apply the law to [the] facts and draw the ultimate con
clusion of guilt or innocence." Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 514, 
115 S.C!. 2310. Indeed, the historically imbedded fimc
tions of court and jury would be impermissibly blurred 
beyond recognition had I asked the jury to determine 
the applicability of § 471 to the case at hand. As ex
plained in Gaudin, "[i]n criminal cases ... the judge 
must be permitted to instruct the jury on the law and to 
insist that the jury follow his instructions." Id. at 513, 
115 S:Ct. 2310. 

United States v. Clements, 588 F.2d 1030, 1037 (5th 
Cir.1979) is instructive. Clements was convicted under 
18 U.S.C. § 1955 of engaging in a business involving 
five or more persons who violated state gambling laws. 
In seeking to set aside that conviction, defendants ad
vanced numerous grounds including that the govern
ment failed to prove that the charged gambling business 
violated state law. Relatively short shrift was devoted to 
this ground with the Fifth Circuit simply noting that 
"[t]here is no question that there was a violation of 
Texas law" and that the court properly so charged the 
jury, coupled with the unremarkable but presently ger
mane observation that "[t]he determination of the ap
plicable state law is a question of law to be determined 
by the Court." Id.; see also United States v. Dedman, 
527 F.3d 577, 587 (6th Cir.2008)("[J]udges are still en
titled-and indeed required-to determine the applicable 
*713 law, even if that law is the law of other states" and 
jurors are duty bound to accept "the courtls detennina-
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tion of the applicable law"); United States v. Wynn, 987 
F.2d 354, 357-58 (6th Cir.1993) (where defendant was 
convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1958 of causing another to 
use a telephone "with intent that a murder be committed 
in violation of the laws of [Tennessee]," § 1958(a), 
"district court ... properly refused to direct a verdict for 
the defendant and did not commit error when it instruc
ted the jury that murder violates Tennessee law"; "[o]ur 
judicial system requires the prosecution to prove facts, 
not laws .... In contrast [to factual elements of a crime], 
legal elements, even when required for culpability, may 
properly be part of the district court's statement of the 
law when it instructs the jury."). In the present case, the 
applicability of New York law to Racketeering Acts 
Five to Eighty was for the Court to decide, not the jury. 

In urging a contrary conclusion, defendant relies on 
Gaudin and Parkes. That reliance, however, is mis
placed for both of those cases implicated mixed ques
tions of law and fact, whereas here no such inextricabil
ity exists. Gaudin was convicted of making false state
ments on federal loan documents in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 1001. Section Ibol provides, in essence, that 
whoever knowingly and willfully makes a materially 
false statement to a goverrunent official or entity is 
guilty of a crime. Justice Scalia, writing for the Gaudin 
Cowt, explained that "whether a statement is 'material' 
requires the determination of at least two subsidiary 
questions of purely historical fact: (a) 'what statement 
was made?' and (b) 'what decision was the agency try
ing to make?' The ultimate question: (c) 'whether the 
statement was material to the decision,' requires apply
ing the legal standard of materiality ... to these historic
al facts." 515 U.S. at 512,115 S.Ct. 2310. As such, it 
presents a mixed question of law and fact for the jury, 
not the judge, to decide. 

The defendant in Parkes was charged with a Hobbs Act 
violation under 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a). That section 
provides in pertinent part that "[ w ]hoever in any way or 
degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce ... by rob
bery ... shall be [guilty of a crime]." The goverrunent 
took the position that since the properties targeted by 
the robbery were controlled substances and related pro
ceeds, and given that the relevant legislative history 
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demonstrates that drug transactions invariably impact 
interstate or foreign corrunerce, that the judge should 
have instructed the jury that the interstate commerce re
quirement was satisfied as a matter of law. The judge 
ultimately-as did the Circuit upon appellate review 
based primarily on Gaudin-rejected that argument. In 
doing so, the Circuit held that the fact finding process 
vis-a-vis the robbery's affect on interstate commerce 
could not be constitutionally bypassed due to the pur
ported obviousness of the answer as seemingly 
proffered by the government. Again, like in Gaudin, the 
jury, not the judge was required to determine the issue. 

In the present case, the issue of the applicability of New 
York Tax Law § 471 is not a mixed question of law and 
fact, unlike the "materiality" issue in Gaudin and the 
"interstate commerce" element in Parkes. Instead, it is 
simply a question of law. To the extent defendant seeks 
to create subsidiary factual issues akin to those articu
lated in Gaudin based on the decision of the executive 
branch to forego efforts to collect monies due under § 
471 for on-reservation sales to non-Native Americans, 
defendant, not surprisingly, provides no authority for 
the proposition that such forbearance changes the law or 
creates a faclual issue as to the applicability*714 of the 
law. See generally United States v. Cohen, 260 F.3d 68, 
77 (2d Cir.200 l)( ["I]t is clear to lawyer and layman 
alike that an act must be permitted by law in order for it 
to be legal. ... Whete a state's statute declares an act to 
be 'unlawful,' ... that act is not' legal.' "). 

In sum, the Court believes that its statement to the jury 
about § 471 was appropriate for the reasons provided. 

Attention will now be directed to the second claimed 
flaw in the Court's CCTA conspiracy charge, to wit that 
the goverrunent should have been required to prove bey
ond a reasonable doubt, as part of its burden of proof, 
that the purchasers listed in Racketeering Acts Five 
through Eighty were not Native Americans or otherwise 
exempt from the prohibitions contained in the CCTA. 

2. The Government was not Required to Prove That the 
Persons or Entities That Purchased the Cigarettes Ref
erenced in Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty Were 
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tion of the applicable law"); United States v. Wynn, 987 
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properly be part of the district court's statement of the 
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U.S.C. § 1001. Section Ibol provides, in essence, that 
whoever knowingly and willfully makes a materially 
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Cowt, explained that "whether a statement is 'material' 
requires the determination of at least two subsidiary 
questions of purely historical fact: (a) 'what statement 
was made?' and (b) 'what decision was the agency try
ing to make?' The ultimate question: (c) 'whether the 
statement was material to the decision,' requires apply
ing the legal standard of materiality ... to these historic
al facts." 515 U.S. at 512,115 S.Ct. 2310. As such, it 
presents a mixed question of law and fact for the jury, 
not the judge, to decide. 

The defendant in Parkes was charged with a Hobbs Act 
violation under 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a). That section 
provides in pertinent part that "[ w ]hoever in any way or 
degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce ... by rob
bery ... shall be [guilty of a crime]." The goverrunent 
took the position that since the properties targeted by 
the robbery were controlled substances and related pro
ceeds, and given that the relevant legislative history 
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demonstrates that drug transactions invariably impact 
interstate or foreign corrunerce, that the judge should 
have instructed the jury that the interstate commerce re
quirement was satisfied as a matter of law. The judge 
ultimately-as did the Circuit upon appellate review 
based primarily on Gaudin-rejected that argument. In 
doing so, the Circuit held that the fact finding process 
vis-a-vis the robbery's affect on interstate commerce 
could not be constitutionally bypassed due to the pur
ported obviousness of the answer as seemingly 
proffered by the government. Again, like in Gaudin, the 
jury, not the judge was required to determine the issue. 

In the present case, the issue of the applicability of New 
York Tax Law § 471 is not a mixed question of law and 
fact, unlike the "materiality" issue in Gaudin and the 
"interstate commerce" element in Parkes. Instead, it is 
simply a question of law. To the extent defendant seeks 
to create subsidiary factual issues akin to those articu
lated in Gaudin based on the decision of the executive 
branch to forego efforts to collect monies due under § 
471 for on-reservation sales to non-Native Americans, 
defendant, not surprisingly, provides no authority for 
the proposition that such forbearance changes the law or 
creates a faclual issue as to the applicability*714 of the 
law. See generally United States v. Cohen, 260 F.3d 68, 
77 (2d Cir.200 l)( ["I]t is clear to lawyer and layman 
alike that an act must be permitted by law in order for it 
to be legal. ... Whete a state's statute declares an act to 
be 'unlawful,' ... that act is not' legal.' "). 

In sum, the Court believes that its statement to the jury 
about § 471 was appropriate for the reasons provided. 

Attention will now be directed to the second claimed 
flaw in the Court's CCTA conspiracy charge, to wit that 
the goverrunent should have been required to prove bey
ond a reasonable doubt, as part of its burden of proof, 
that the purchasers listed in Racketeering Acts Five 
through Eighty were not Native Americans or otherwise 
exempt from the prohibitions contained in the CCTA. 

2. The Government was not Required to Prove That the 
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erenced in Racketeering Acts Five Through Eighty Were 
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Non-Native Americans or Otherwise Exempt From the 
CCTA 

[28] The jury was instructed: 

A sale by Peace Pipe or Smokersden.com of what oth
erwise would be contraband cigarettes to Native 
American(s) is not illegal. However, you are not be
ing called upon to determine whether the claimed 
conspiracy to make the sales listed in Racketeering 
Acts F[ive] through Eighty were to be made to Native 
Americans or non~Native Americans. 

(Docket no. 769-3 at 122 n. 11.) 

In so instructing the jury, defendant argues the Court 
erred. The validity of that argument hinges on whether 
sales to exempt individuals is a element of the crime 
charged, or an affirmative defense. See generally United 
States v. Mayo, 705 F.2d 62, 74 (2d Cir.1983) 
("Resolution of this issue [Le. whether government's 
proof sufficient to sustain conviction of various firearm 
offenses] turns on whether the final sentence of 18 
U.S.C. § 921(a)(3) [excluding 'antique frrearm[s]' from 
the definition of prohibited frrearms] establishes an af
frrmative defense or an additional element that the gov
ernment must prove to establish the crime."), overruled 
on other grounds, Mathews v. United States, 485 U.S. 
58, 108 S.Ct. 883, 99 L.Ed.2d 54 (1988). 

During the charge conference, the Court's view and that 
of the defense on this issue was framed thusly: 

THE COURT: That leads us to th[e] question as to 
whether the government is required to prove as part 
of their case the exemptions or whether that's an af
firmative defense, which would require the defense to 
come forward with the evidence in the first instance, 
although the ultimate burden of proof would rest with 
the government? That's the question, isn't it? FN48 

FN48. Defendant's statement that the Court ul
timately "found that it was the defendant's bur
den to establish that any of the purchasers 
[listed in paragraph 21] were Native American" 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 59) is mislead-

Page 52 of60 
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ing as is evident from a review of his accompa
nying citation to "Tr. 11626-28." Instead, my 
position was, and remains for the reasons de
tailed infra, that the onus or burden of coming 
forward with information suggesting that the 
purchasers are either statutorily or, via judicial 
decisions, exempt rests with the defendant, and 
that, once the matter has been so placed in con
troversy, the burden of proof rests solely and 
exclusively with the government. (Tr. at 
11626-28.) 

MR. LEVITT: No, I don't think it is, your Honor. 

*715 I think there is a question with regard to the 
exemptions, although, we, of course, believe that 
those exemptions have to be disproven by the govern
ment beyond a reasonable doubt. 

(Tr. at 11562.) 

By way of frrrther background, it is undisputed that (1) 
neither party endeavored to place evidence before the 
jury as to the exempt or non-exempt status of any pur
chasers; and (2) the state may not tax on-reservation ci
garette sales to Native Americans for their personal 
consumption. Milhelm Aftea, 512 U.S. at 64, 114 S.Ct. 
2028 (citing Moe, 425 U.S. at 475-83, 96 S.Ct. 1634). 

The previously given statutory defmition of "contraband 
cigarettes" concludes with the language "which are in 
the possession of any person other than" (emphasis ad
ded), followed by a listing of exempt individuals and 
entities such as "a person holding a permit issued pursu
ant to Chapter 52 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 
as a manufacturer of tobacco products," 18 U.S.C. § 
2341(2)(A), and a common carrier transporting the ci
garettes involved "under a proper bill of lading or 
freight bill which states the quantity, source, and destin
ation" of such cigarettes. Id § 2341(2)(B). As to such 
statutory exemptions, the Supreme Court explained in 
McKelvey v. United States that "it has come to be a 
settled rule in this jurisdiction that an indictment or oth
er pleading founded on a general provision defining the 
elements of an offense ... need not negative the matter 
of an exception made by a proviso or other distinct 
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ing as is evident from a review of his accompa
nying citation to "Tr. 11626-28." Instead, my 
position was, and remains for the reasons de
tailed infra, that the onus or burden of coming 
forward with information suggesting that the 
purchasers are either statutorily or, via judicial 
decisions, exempt rests with the defendant, and 
that, once the matter has been so placed in con
troversy, the burden of proof rests solely and 
exclusively with the government. (Tr. at 
11626-28.) 

MR. LEVITT: No, I don't think it is, your Honor. 

*715 I think there is a question with regard to the 
exemptions, although, we, of course, believe that 
those exemptions have to be disproven by the govern
ment beyond a reasonable doubt. 

(Tr. at 11562.) 

By way of frrrther background, it is undisputed that (1) 
neither party endeavored to place evidence before the 
jury as to the exempt or non-exempt status of any pur
chasers; and (2) the state may not tax on-reservation ci
garette sales to Native Americans for their personal 
consumption. Milhelm Aftea, 512 U.S. at 64, 114 S.Ct. 
2028 (citing Moe, 425 U.S. at 475-83, 96 S.Ct. 1634). 

The previously given statutory defmition of "contraband 
cigarettes" concludes with the language "which are in 
the possession of any person other than" (emphasis ad
ded), followed by a listing of exempt individuals and 
entities such as "a person holding a permit issued pursu
ant to Chapter 52 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 
as a manufacturer of tobacco products," 18 U.S.C. § 
2341(2)(A), and a common carrier transporting the ci
garettes involved "under a proper bill of lading or 
freight bill which states the quantity, source, and destin
ation" of such cigarettes. Id § 2341(2)(B). As to such 
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clause, whether in the same section or elsewhere, and 
that it is incumbent on one who relies on such an excep
tion to set it up and establish it." 260 U.S. 353, 357, 43 
S.Ct. 132, 67 L.Ed. 301 (1922). See also United States 
v. Hill, 935 F.2d 196, 199 (11th Cir.1991)("[T]he bur
den of going forward to prove a statutory exception is 
on the defendant. Once the defendant has produced 
clear and convincing evidence that the conduct fits 
within an exception, the burden of persuasion is on the 
government."); United States v. Murray, 618 F.2d 892, 
901 (2d Cir.1980)("[T]he government bears the burden 
of proving non-registration or non-entitlement once the 
defendant ·introduces evidence that he falls within one 
of the statutory exemptions or exceptions."). Indeed, the 
defendant does not strenuously contend otherwise. 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 59 ("While the cases 
relied upon by the Court might provide authority for the 
proposition that the enumerated exemptions in § 
2341(2) are not elements of the offense ... ").) 

In defendant's view, however, the rule governing stat
utory exceptions such as those found in § 2341(2) is in
applicable to the exemption under discussion for Native 
Americans. (Id. ("[T]he Court mistakenly grouped the 
Native American purchasers with the other exempt per
sons set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 2341(2).") (emphasis ad
ded).) 

Specifically, as to this point the defendant argues: 

[T]he . cases relied upon by the Court ... are inap
plicable to the issue presented here regarding Native 
American purchasers, as this group is not among the 
statutory exempt categories [under § 2341 (2) ]. In
stead, pursuant to § 471 (I), they are permitted to pos
sess cigarettes "Which bear no evidence of payment of 
applicable State or local taxes." Thus, the Court's in
struction simply eliminated an essential element of 
the crime of sale of, or conspiracy to sell, "contraband 
cigarettes"-contained in the body of the definition it
self and not in the list of exempt persons or entities
that mandates a finding that "applicable" *716 law re
quired evidence of the payment of cigarette taxes. 

(Id. at 59-60.) 
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Presumably, defendant's use of the prefatory phrase 
"pursuant to § 471 (I )," and the accompanying reference 
to § 2341 (2)'s definition of "contraband cigarettes" is 
not meant to imply that the term "Native American" ap
pears in either statute for, of course, it does not. Yet, § 
471(1) does "except" from its tax mandate those trans
actions over which the "state is without power to im
pose such tax" (New York Tax Law § 471(1)), appar
ently referring to on-reservation sales to Native Americ
ans for personal consumption consistent with Supreme 
Court authority. The argument being advanced by de
fendant, while not a model of clarity, seems to be along 
the following lines: (I) Supreme Court precedent estab
lishes, and the aforementioned provision in § 471(1) re
cognizes, that the state may not tax on-reservation sales 
to Native Americans for personal consumption, (2) that 
exception should be read into § 2341(2)'s defmition of 
contraband cigarettes which reads "if the State or local 
government requires a stamp," and (3) so read, the ex
emption, in effect, is found, albeit indirectly, in the 
definition of contraband cigarettes, rather than in the 
statutory listing of exempt persons and entities, thus 
rendering the exemption status of purchasers an element 
of the crime charged rather than an affirmative defense. 
But does the determination of an exempt transaction as 
either an element of the crime charged or as an affirmat
ive defense turn upon the statutory placement of the 
subject language? 

It is undisputed that both (a) on-reservation sales to 
Native Americans for their own consumption, and (b) 
possession, for instance, by a "common carrier" ( § 
2341(2)(B)) represent "exempt[ions]." (Def.'s Mem. of 
Law in Supp. at 59.) Placing the onus on a defendant to 
come forward in the first instance, thereby putting the 
exemption issue in play, "does not offend due process." 
Murray, 618 F.2d at 901. Moreover, treating the exemp
tion as an affIrmative defense dovetails with the lan
guage of § 471(1) which provides in relevant part that 
"[i]t shall be presumed that all cigarettes within the 
state are subject to tax until the contrary is established, 
and the burden of proof that any cigarettes are not tax
able hereunder shall be upon the person in possession 
thereof." And finally, McKelvey instructs that exempt
ing language gives rise to an affirmative defense wheth-
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clause, whether in the same section or elsewhere, and 
that it is incumbent on one who relies on such an excep
tion to set it up and establish it." 260 U.S. 353, 357, 43 
S.Ct. 132, 67 L.Ed. 301 (1922). See also United States 
v. Hill, 935 F.2d 196, 199 (11th Cir.1991)("[T]he bur
den of going forward to prove a statutory exception is 
on the defendant. Once the defendant has produced 
clear and convincing evidence that the conduct fits 
within an exception, the burden of persuasion is on the 
government."); United States v. Murray, 618 F.2d 892, 
901 (2d Cir.1980)("[T]he government bears the burden 
of proving non-registration or non-entitlement once the 
defendant ·introduces evidence that he falls within one 
of the statutory exemptions or exceptions."). Indeed, the 
defendant does not strenuously contend otherwise. 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 59 ("While the cases 
relied upon by the Court might provide authority for the 
proposition that the enumerated exemptions in § 
2341(2) are not elements of the offense ... ").) 

In defendant's view, however, the rule governing stat
utory exceptions such as those found in § 2341(2) is in
applicable to the exemption under discussion for Native 
Americans. (Id. ("[T]he Court mistakenly grouped the 
Native American purchasers with the other exempt per
sons set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 2341(2).") (emphasis ad
ded).) 

Specifically, as to this point the defendant argues: 

[T]he . cases relied upon by the Court ... are inap
plicable to the issue presented here regarding Native 
American purchasers, as this group is not among the 
statutory exempt categories [under § 2341 (2) ]. In
stead, pursuant to § 471 (I), they are permitted to pos
sess cigarettes "Which bear no evidence of payment of 
applicable State or local taxes." Thus, the Court's in
struction simply eliminated an essential element of 
the crime of sale of, or conspiracy to sell, "contraband 
cigarettes"-contained in the body of the definition it
self and not in the list of exempt persons or entities
that mandates a finding that "applicable" *716 law re
quired evidence of the payment of cigarette taxes. 

(Id. at 59-60.) 
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Presumably, defendant's use of the prefatory phrase 
"pursuant to § 471 (I )," and the accompanying reference 
to § 2341 (2)'s definition of "contraband cigarettes" is 
not meant to imply that the term "Native American" ap
pears in either statute for, of course, it does not. Yet, § 
471(1) does "except" from its tax mandate those trans
actions over which the "state is without power to im
pose such tax" (New York Tax Law § 471(1)), appar
ently referring to on-reservation sales to Native Americ
ans for personal consumption consistent with Supreme 
Court authority. The argument being advanced by de
fendant, while not a model of clarity, seems to be along 
the following lines: (I) Supreme Court precedent estab
lishes, and the aforementioned provision in § 471(1) re
cognizes, that the state may not tax on-reservation sales 
to Native Americans for personal consumption, (2) that 
exception should be read into § 2341(2)'s defmition of 
contraband cigarettes which reads "if the State or local 
government requires a stamp," and (3) so read, the ex
emption, in effect, is found, albeit indirectly, in the 
definition of contraband cigarettes, rather than in the 
statutory listing of exempt persons and entities, thus 
rendering the exemption status of purchasers an element 
of the crime charged rather than an affirmative defense. 
But does the determination of an exempt transaction as 
either an element of the crime charged or as an affirmat
ive defense turn upon the statutory placement of the 
subject language? 

It is undisputed that both (a) on-reservation sales to 
Native Americans for their own consumption, and (b) 
possession, for instance, by a "common carrier" ( § 
2341(2)(B)) represent "exempt[ions]." (Def.'s Mem. of 
Law in Supp. at 59.) Placing the onus on a defendant to 
come forward in the first instance, thereby putting the 
exemption issue in play, "does not offend due process." 
Murray, 618 F.2d at 901. Moreover, treating the exemp
tion as an affIrmative defense dovetails with the lan
guage of § 471(1) which provides in relevant part that 
"[i]t shall be presumed that all cigarettes within the 
state are subject to tax until the contrary is established, 
and the burden of proof that any cigarettes are not tax
able hereunder shall be upon the person in possession 
thereof." And finally, McKelvey instructs that exempt
ing language gives rise to an affirmative defense wheth-
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er found in "a proviso or other distinct clause whether 
in the same section or elsewhere." McKelvey. 260 U.S. 
at 357,43 S.Ct. 132. 

In sum, since there was no evidence placed before the 
jury to suggest that any of the purchasers may have 
been Native Americans, and given that the onus of at 
least initially broaching the subject to the jury rested 
with defendant for the reasons indicated, the Court con
cludes that it properly instructed the jury concerning the 
CCTA portion of the charge. Defendant has furnished 
no authority suggesting a contrary conclusion. Defend
ant's motion to vacate the conviction on Count Two on 
this ground is denied. 

C. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial on Count Two 
Based on Court's Refusal to Instruct the Jury on the De
fenses of Entrapment by Estoppel and Public Authority, 
and on Specific Intent, is Denied 

Defendant maintains that the Court erred in "declin[ing] 
to instruct the jury regarding the defenses of entrapm ent 
by estoppel, public authority, or lack of specific intent." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 60.) . 

Proceeding in reverse order, the issue of "specific in~ 
tent" was addressed by the *717 Court earlier in this 
opinion. By way of a recapitulation, the Court did 
charge the jury that the government was required to 
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 
knowingly and intentionally joined the RICO conspir
acy alleged, with knowledge of its goals and with the 
specific intent to advance those goals; the Court, 
however, declined, for the reasons indicated previously, 
to graft onto the government's burden of proof an addi
tional element to the effect that the government must 
prove either that the defendant knew the goal of the 
conspiracy was unlawful or, at the very least, had a 
Hgeneral understanding" that the goal was "wrongfur'. 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 48.) 

With respect to proffered defenses of entrapment by es
toppel and public authority, I provided a bench decision 
on those subjects during the trial, which decision is 
hereby incorporated by reference. (Tr. at 11701-28.) 
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With the hope of not being unduly repetitive, I will ex
plain briefly, but in a more structured format, the reas
ons that the jury was not instructed as to either of the 
subject defenses. Before doing so, reference is made to 
the following prefatory statement made during the 
bench decision: 

Firstly, I recognize that if there is any evidence in the 
record, inferentially [or] otherwise, and construing all 
the evidence most favorably to the defendant to sup
port a defense, then the defense must be presented to 
the jury for their determination. 

(Id. at 11702.) 

1. Entrapment by Estoppel 

a. Applicable Law 

[29][30] As explained by the Second Circuit in United 
States v. Corso: 

Entrapment by estoppel applies when an authorized 
government official tells the defendant that certain 
conduct is legal and the defendant believes the offi
cial. To invoke the entrapment by estoppel defense, 
the defendant must show that he relied on the offi
ciars statement and that his reliance was reasonable 
in that a person sincerely desirous of obeying the law 
would have accepted the information as true and 
would not have been put on notice to make further in
quiries. . ... Iudicial decisions indicate great caution 
should be exercised when it comes to the application 
of the defense. 

20 F.3d 521, 528 (2d Cir.1994)(internal quotation marks 
and citations deleted). 

b. Evidence Defendant Sought to Place Before the Jury 
as a Factual Predicate for the Entrapment by Estoppel 

Defense 

The defendant sought to lay a factual predicate for an 
entrapment by estoppel defense througb testimony of 
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er found in "a proviso or other distinct clause whether 
in the same section or elsewhere." McKelvey. 260 U.S. 
at 357,43 S.Ct. 132. 

In sum, since there was no evidence placed before the 
jury to suggest that any of the purchasers may have 
been Native Americans, and given that the onus of at 
least initially broaching the subject to the jury rested 
with defendant for the reasons indicated, the Court con
cludes that it properly instructed the jury concerning the 
CCTA portion of the charge. Defendant has furnished 
no authority suggesting a contrary conclusion. Defend
ant's motion to vacate the conviction on Count Two on 
this ground is denied. 

C. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial on Count Two 
Based on Court's Refusal to Instruct the Jury on the De
fenses of Entrapment by Estoppel and Public Authority, 
and on Specific Intent, is Denied 

Defendant maintains that the Court erred in "declin[ing] 
to instruct the jury regarding the defenses of entrapm ent 
by estoppel, public authority, or lack of specific intent." 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 60.) . 

Proceeding in reverse order, the issue of "specific in~ 
tent" was addressed by the *717 Court earlier in this 
opinion. By way of a recapitulation, the Court did 
charge the jury that the government was required to 
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 
knowingly and intentionally joined the RICO conspir
acy alleged, with knowledge of its goals and with the 
specific intent to advance those goals; the Court, 
however, declined, for the reasons indicated previously, 
to graft onto the government's burden of proof an addi
tional element to the effect that the government must 
prove either that the defendant knew the goal of the 
conspiracy was unlawful or, at the very least, had a 
Hgeneral understanding" that the goal was "wrongfur'. 
(Def.'s Mem. of Law in Supp. at 48.) 

With respect to proffered defenses of entrapment by es
toppel and public authority, I provided a bench decision 
on those subjects during the trial, which decision is 
hereby incorporated by reference. (Tr. at 11701-28.) 
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With the hope of not being unduly repetitive, I will ex
plain briefly, but in a more structured format, the reas
ons that the jury was not instructed as to either of the 
subject defenses. Before doing so, reference is made to 
the following prefatory statement made during the 
bench decision: 

Firstly, I recognize that if there is any evidence in the 
record, inferentially [or] otherwise, and construing all 
the evidence most favorably to the defendant to sup
port a defense, then the defense must be presented to 
the jury for their determination. 

(Id. at 11702.) 

1. Entrapment by Estoppel 

a. Applicable Law 

[29][30] As explained by the Second Circuit in United 
States v. Corso: 

Entrapment by estoppel applies when an authorized 
government official tells the defendant that certain 
conduct is legal and the defendant believes the offi
cial. To invoke the entrapment by estoppel defense, 
the defendant must show that he relied on the offi
ciars statement and that his reliance was reasonable 
in that a person sincerely desirous of obeying the law 
would have accepted the information as true and 
would not have been put on notice to make further in
quiries. . ... Iudicial decisions indicate great caution 
should be exercised when it comes to the application 
of the defense. 

20 F.3d 521, 528 (2d Cir.1994)(internal quotation marks 
and citations deleted). 

b. Evidence Defendant Sought to Place Before the Jury 
as a Factual Predicate for the Entrapment by Estoppel 

Defense 

The defendant sought to lay a factual predicate for an 
entrapment by estoppel defense througb testimony of 
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Eric Facer ("Facer"). 

c. Government's Objections to Defendant's Proffer 

When the government was advised that the defense 
sought to call a tax attorney for various Native Americ
an tribes, viz. Facer, to establish the defense of entrap
ment by estoppel, it understandably objected on a num
ber of grounds, including that the proposed witness was 
not a government official. Since the subject defense re
quires that the clairued misrepresentation of law be 
made by such an official directly to the defendant, the 
prosecution insisted that testimony from Facer necessar
ily could not satisfY that standard. 

d. Court Held That Defense Could Try to Establish the 
Defense Under a Conduit Theory Whereby the Purpor
ted Misrepresentations of Law by the Governor or Oth-

er Public Officials Could be Relayed Through Facer 

I declined to grant the government's request to preclude 
the defense from endeavoring*718 to present evidence 
in support of the subject defense. Instead, I took the po
sition that it was "appropriate that the defense have an 
opportunity to try to develop [the] point," noting that 
"[t]hey mayor may not be successful." (Tr. at 11133.) 
The rule governing their efforts, however, was clearly 
established at the outset: 

THE COURT [addressing defense counsel] 

You know as well as I do what entrapment by es
toppel is, and you know it is a very liruited defense. 
And I have never seen a case in which anyone has 
permitted what I'm permitting hereFN49 

FN49. In the sentence about "what I'm permit
ting here," my reference point was I L. Sand, J. 
Siffert, W. Loughlin & S. Reiss, Modern Fed
eral Jury Instructions (Criminal), Introduction 
8-7.1 and authorities cited in the accompanying 
Comment. A juxtapositioning of defendant's 
proffer vis-:awvis Facer's anticipated testimony 
with the Sand Instruction indicates the lack of a 
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precise fit. Nonetheless, I concluded it was im
portant to provide defendant with an opportun
ity to lay a foundation for the entrapment by 
estoppel defense and, accordingly, leeway was 
provided. 

The only reason I'm doing it is because this is an 
unusual situation. FN50 SO I'm pennitting you basic
ally to have this witness relay without editorial com
ment what the governor said about these different is
sues. 

FN50. "Unusual" in the sense that to the extent 
decisions typically speak of direct communica
tions between a government official and an ac
cused, it was highly unlikely that the Governor 
would have had personal contact with the de
fendant. Under the circumstances, it seemed to 
me that the Governor's statement could be com~ 
municated in other ways, including through an 
intermediary, even if the intermediary was un
authorized, if the statement, as relayed, was 
shown to be accurate and materially complete. 

(Id at 11095; see also id at 11096.) Defense counsel 
seemingly understood the ground rules. (Id at 11093.) 

e. Facer's Trial Testimony 

i. Meetings and Coriference Calls in 1996 and Early 
1997 Regarding Governor's Intention to Enforce the 
Milhehn Attea Regulations, i. e. to Attempt to Collect 
Taxes Duefor On-Reservation Sales to Non-Native 

Americans 

Eric Facer is a tax attorney with professed expertise in 
matters pertaining to on-reservation cigarette sales. His 
experience included past service as a "lobbyist" for the 
Oneida Nation (Tr. at 11189), as well as being that 
tribe's counsel "concern[ing] cigarette taxation in the 
State of New York." (Id at Il087.) Additional tax cli
ents included "other Indian tribes outside of the State of 
New York." (Id at 11190.) 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Clairu to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.com/printiprintstream.aspx?rs=WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H. .. 9/8/2010 

GA212

596 F.Supp.2d 661 
(Cite as: 596 F.Supp.2d 661) 

Eric Facer ("Facer"). 

c. Government's Objections to Defendant's Proffer 

When the government was advised that the defense 
sought to call a tax attorney for various Native Americ
an tribes, viz. Facer, to establish the defense of entrap
ment by estoppel, it understandably objected on a num
ber of grounds, including that the proposed witness was 
not a government official. Since the subject defense re
quires that the clairued misrepresentation of law be 
made by such an official directly to the defendant, the 
prosecution insisted that testimony from Facer necessar
ily could not satisfY that standard. 

d. Court Held That Defense Could Try to Establish the 
Defense Under a Conduit Theory Whereby the Purpor
ted Misrepresentations of Law by the Governor or Oth-

er Public Officials Could be Relayed Through Facer 

I declined to grant the government's request to preclude 
the defense from endeavoring*718 to present evidence 
in support of the subject defense. Instead, I took the po
sition that it was "appropriate that the defense have an 
opportunity to try to develop [the] point," noting that 
"[t]hey mayor may not be successful." (Tr. at 11133.) 
The rule governing their efforts, however, was clearly 
established at the outset: 

THE COURT [addressing defense counsel] 

You know as well as I do what entrapment by es
toppel is, and you know it is a very liruited defense. 
And I have never seen a case in which anyone has 
permitted what I'm permitting hereFN49 

FN49. In the sentence about "what I'm permit
ting here," my reference point was I L. Sand, J. 
Siffert, W. Loughlin & S. Reiss, Modern Fed
eral Jury Instructions (Criminal), Introduction 
8-7.1 and authorities cited in the accompanying 
Comment. A juxtapositioning of defendant's 
proffer vis-:awvis Facer's anticipated testimony 
with the Sand Instruction indicates the lack of a 
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precise fit. Nonetheless, I concluded it was im
portant to provide defendant with an opportun
ity to lay a foundation for the entrapment by 
estoppel defense and, accordingly, leeway was 
provided. 

The only reason I'm doing it is because this is an 
unusual situation. FN50 SO I'm pennitting you basic
ally to have this witness relay without editorial com
ment what the governor said about these different is
sues. 

FN50. "Unusual" in the sense that to the extent 
decisions typically speak of direct communica
tions between a government official and an ac
cused, it was highly unlikely that the Governor 
would have had personal contact with the de
fendant. Under the circumstances, it seemed to 
me that the Governor's statement could be com~ 
municated in other ways, including through an 
intermediary, even if the intermediary was un
authorized, if the statement, as relayed, was 
shown to be accurate and materially complete. 

(Id at 11095; see also id at 11096.) Defense counsel 
seemingly understood the ground rules. (Id at 11093.) 

e. Facer's Trial Testimony 

i. Meetings and Coriference Calls in 1996 and Early 
1997 Regarding Governor's Intention to Enforce the 
Milhehn Attea Regulations, i. e. to Attempt to Collect 
Taxes Duefor On-Reservation Sales to Non-Native 

Americans 

Eric Facer is a tax attorney with professed expertise in 
matters pertaining to on-reservation cigarette sales. His 
experience included past service as a "lobbyist" for the 
Oneida Nation (Tr. at 11189), as well as being that 
tribe's counsel "concern[ing] cigarette taxation in the 
State of New York." (Id at Il087.) Additional tax cli
ents included "other Indian tribes outside of the State of 
New York." (Id at 11190.) 
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In late February 1996, while traveling with "leaders of 
the Oneida Indian Nation" to a meeting scheduled to be 
held on "February 23rd [and] 24th, in Buffalo, New 
York," Facer met the defendant. (Id. at 1I097.) Those 
invited to the Buffalo meeting were "virtually everyone 
in Indian country in the State of New York with an in
terest" in then-Governor Patakils recent announcement 
that he intended to abandon the forbearance policy and 
implement the Milhelm Attea regulations to collect the 
cigarette taxes due for on-reservation cigarette sales to 
non-Native Americans. (Id.) Approximately "150" 
people attended the meeting, one of whom was the de
fendant. (I d. at 11100.) 

Facer was one of "several [tax] attorneys" who spoke 
about the Governor's stated intentions (id. at 11101), 
along with possible responsive "[p]olitical ... and busi
ness strategies" to be utilized by on-reservation retail
ers. (Id. at 1 1I 04.) 

"[T]he Long Island Shinnecocks and the 
Poospalucks," with defendant as one of *719 the hosts, 
held a meeting on Long Island on March 2, 1996 with 
"virtually" the same agenda as the "meeting [in Buffalo] 
... one week earlier." (Id. at 11105.) 

ii. Governor's May 22, 1997 Press Release Indicating 
he was not Going to Enforce the Milheim Attea Regula

tions 

Facer testified that on May 22, 1997, the Governor: (I) 
"announced his intention to abandon the efforts to re
voke the forbearance policy" and (2) "indicated [that] 
the regulations of the Tax Department [which the De
partment] had been attempt[ing] to implement for pur
poses of collecting cigarettes taxes on reservations, 
would be repealed." (Tr. at 11146.) That information, 
Facer indicated, was relayed to Mr. Morrison along with 
"many others." (Id.) On April 29, 1998, consistent with 
the statement Governor Pataki issued on May 22, 1997, 
the Milhelm Attea Regulations were repealed by the De
partment of Taxation and Finance. (Id. at 11153.) 

Facer acknowledged that the Governor had said during 
the course of his statement on May 22, 1997 that he was 
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going to recommend to the state legislature "that cigar
ettes sold by Native American retailers could be sold in 
unlimited quantities without collection of taxes by the 
state" (id. 1I219) and that he "imagine[ d]" that he "did 
not" relay that information to defendant "because [he] 
did not consider that the most important statement in the 
governor's press release." (Id. at 11223.) 

After the Milhelm Attea regulations were repealed on 
April 29, 1998 (consistent with the Governor's repres
entation on May 22, 1997), Facer explained the mean
ing of the repeal to defendant. (Id. at 11167.) Incident
ally, Facer was not asked, however, whether part of that 
explanation included the fact, as per Facer, that the DTF 
indicated that, notwithstanding the repeal, on
reservation sales to non-Native Americans remained 
taxable events. (Id.) 

f. Facer did not Serve as a Conduit for the Governor's 
May 22, 1997 Statementfor Purposes of the Entrapment 

by Estoppel Defense 

[311 It is undisputed that the Governor's statement of 
May 22, 1997 had three major parts: (I) he was forgo
ing his efforts to enforce the Milhelm Allea regulations, 
thus continuing the policy of forbearance (2) he would 
seek the repeal of those regulations, which did come 
about on April 29, 1998, and (3) he would seek an 
amendment to § 471 of the Tax Law so that, if enacted, 
on-reservation retailers could sell unlimited quantities 
of unstamped cigarettes to non-Native Americans. The 
last of those three items was obviously important. It 
meant that, absent the amendment, such on-reservation 
sales remained illegal. However that significant pOltion 
of the announcement was not relayed. Accordingly, 
Facer could not be deemed the equivalent of an author
ized state official for the purposes of entrapment by es
toppel under a conduit theory given that what he told 
defendant about the Governor's statement was materi
ally incomplete. And, given that Facer failed in that 
conduit function, the question of whether the defendant 
reasonably relied on the Governor's statement is not 
reached.FNS1 

FN51. Parenthetically on the non-issue of reas-
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In late February 1996, while traveling with "leaders of 
the Oneida Indian Nation" to a meeting scheduled to be 
held on "February 23rd [and] 24th, in Buffalo, New 
York," Facer met the defendant. (Id. at 1I097.) Those 
invited to the Buffalo meeting were "virtually everyone 
in Indian country in the State of New York with an in
terest" in then-Governor Patakils recent announcement 
that he intended to abandon the forbearance policy and 
implement the Milhelm Attea regulations to collect the 
cigarette taxes due for on-reservation cigarette sales to 
non-Native Americans. (Id.) Approximately "150" 
people attended the meeting, one of whom was the de
fendant. (I d. at 11100.) 

Facer was one of "several [tax] attorneys" who spoke 
about the Governor's stated intentions (id. at 11101), 
along with possible responsive "[p]olitical ... and busi
ness strategies" to be utilized by on-reservation retail
ers. (Id. at 1 1I 04.) 

"[T]he Long Island Shinnecocks and the 
Poospalucks," with defendant as one of *719 the hosts, 
held a meeting on Long Island on March 2, 1996 with 
"virtually" the same agenda as the "meeting [in Buffalo] 
... one week earlier." (Id. at 11105.) 

ii. Governor's May 22, 1997 Press Release Indicating 
he was not Going to Enforce the Milheim Attea Regula

tions 

Facer testified that on May 22, 1997, the Governor: (I) 
"announced his intention to abandon the efforts to re
voke the forbearance policy" and (2) "indicated [that] 
the regulations of the Tax Department [which the De
partment] had been attempt[ing] to implement for pur
poses of collecting cigarettes taxes on reservations, 
would be repealed." (Tr. at 11146.) That information, 
Facer indicated, was relayed to Mr. Morrison along with 
"many others." (Id.) On April 29, 1998, consistent with 
the statement Governor Pataki issued on May 22, 1997, 
the Milhelm Attea Regulations were repealed by the De
partment of Taxation and Finance. (Id. at 11153.) 

Facer acknowledged that the Governor had said during 
the course of his statement on May 22, 1997 that he was 
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going to recommend to the state legislature "that cigar
ettes sold by Native American retailers could be sold in 
unlimited quantities without collection of taxes by the 
state" (id. 1I219) and that he "imagine[ d]" that he "did 
not" relay that information to defendant "because [he] 
did not consider that the most important statement in the 
governor's press release." (Id. at 11223.) 

After the Milhelm Attea regulations were repealed on 
April 29, 1998 (consistent with the Governor's repres
entation on May 22, 1997), Facer explained the mean
ing of the repeal to defendant. (Id. at 11167.) Incident
ally, Facer was not asked, however, whether part of that 
explanation included the fact, as per Facer, that the DTF 
indicated that, notwithstanding the repeal, on
reservation sales to non-Native Americans remained 
taxable events. (Id.) 

f. Facer did not Serve as a Conduit for the Governor's 
May 22, 1997 Statementfor Purposes of the Entrapment 

by Estoppel Defense 

[311 It is undisputed that the Governor's statement of 
May 22, 1997 had three major parts: (I) he was forgo
ing his efforts to enforce the Milhelm Allea regulations, 
thus continuing the policy of forbearance (2) he would 
seek the repeal of those regulations, which did come 
about on April 29, 1998, and (3) he would seek an 
amendment to § 471 of the Tax Law so that, if enacted, 
on-reservation retailers could sell unlimited quantities 
of unstamped cigarettes to non-Native Americans. The 
last of those three items was obviously important. It 
meant that, absent the amendment, such on-reservation 
sales remained illegal. However that significant pOltion 
of the announcement was not relayed. Accordingly, 
Facer could not be deemed the equivalent of an author
ized state official for the purposes of entrapment by es
toppel under a conduit theory given that what he told 
defendant about the Governor's statement was materi
ally incomplete. And, given that Facer failed in that 
conduit function, the question of whether the defendant 
reasonably relied on the Governor's statement is not 
reached.FNS1 

FN51. Parenthetically on the non-issue of reas-
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onable reliance, defendant claims the Court 
said that "nobody could reasonably rely on the 
Governor's decision not to collect taxes which 
were due under the tax law." (Def.'s Mem. of 
Law in Supp. at 62)(emphasis in original). That 
statement is not presently germane for the reas
on indicated in the text, but beyond that, it is 
incomplete to the extent that were it relevant, it 
would fundamentally alter-notwithstanding the 
reference to § 471-the import of what was said. 
The full statement as reflected at page 11726 of 
the transcript reads as follows: 

As a matter of law, nobody can reasonably 
rely on the governor's decision not to collect 
taxes which were due under the tax law, and 
conclude from that that the obligation wasn't 
due. As a matter of fact, what the governor 
said indicates to the contrary. He said if I can 
get the legislature to do this, quotes, you will 
have the right to sell tax-free gasoline and ci
garettes free from interference from New 
York State (emphasis added, indicating por
tion of sentence quoted by the defense that 
was omitted). 

And as a fmal aside on the non-issue of reas
onable reliance, the undisputed evidence 
shows that defendant was making on
reservation sales of unstamped cigarettes to 
non-Native Americans well before he met 
Facer, thus-if the issue was reached-pre
sumably triggering the question of how Mor
rison's conduct was induced by purported 
later misrepresentations of the law by the 
Governor. 

It also warrants mention that absent from 
Facer's testimony was any indication that the 
Governor misrepresented the law which is 
the essence of the entrapment by estoppel de
fense. 

*720 For the reasons stated, the entrapment by estoppel 
defense was not charged to the jury. 
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Attention will now be directed to the public authority 
defense. 

2. Public Authority Defense 

[32] The following excerpt from Unites States v. Giffen 
explains the public authority defense: 

Under Second Circuit law, an actual public authority 
defense exists where a defendant has in fact been au
thorized by the government to engage in what would 
otherwise be illegal activity. That is, the defendant's 
conduct was, in fact, legitimized by government ac
tion. 

473 F.3d 30,39 (2d Cir.2006). 

A juxtapositioning of the requirements to establish a 
public authority defense with the facts at hand indicates 
that it would have been inappropriate for the Court to 
charge the public authority defense as requested by de
fendant. Simply put, there is no factual predicate, con
struing all the evidence most favorably to the defense, 
which would permit a reasonable trier of fact to con
clude that the defendant was in fact authorized by a 
state official to sell unstamped cigarettes at Peace Pipe 
and via Smokers.com to non-Native Americans in con
travention of § 471 of the New York Tax Law. 

III. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss or for a New Trial as 
to Count Eight (Felon In Possession Count) is Denied 

[33] Defendant was convicted under Count Eight of be
ing a felon in possession of a flrearm in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 922(g)(l), to wit a Glock model 26 9mrn semi
automatic pistol, bearing Serial Number DFC-566US. 
He was acquitted, however, of the same charge under 
Count Nine pertaining to another Glock model 26 9mm 
semi-automatic pistol with Serial Number DFB-265US. 

Defendant maintains that "[w]hatever the jury's reason 
for convicting under Count Eight and not under Count 
Nine, there was no evidence from which the jury could 
fmd that the gun which the jury concluded Mr. Morris
on possessed under whatever factual scenario it accep-
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onable reliance, defendant claims the Court 
said that "nobody could reasonably rely on the 
Governor's decision not to collect taxes which 
were due under the tax law." (Def.'s Mem. of 
Law in Supp. at 62)(emphasis in original). That 
statement is not presently germane for the reas
on indicated in the text, but beyond that, it is 
incomplete to the extent that were it relevant, it 
would fundamentally alter-notwithstanding the 
reference to § 471-the import of what was said. 
The full statement as reflected at page 11726 of 
the transcript reads as follows: 

As a matter of law, nobody can reasonably 
rely on the governor's decision not to collect 
taxes which were due under the tax law, and 
conclude from that that the obligation wasn't 
due. As a matter of fact, what the governor 
said indicates to the contrary. He said if I can 
get the legislature to do this, quotes, you will 
have the right to sell tax-free gasoline and ci
garettes free from interference from New 
York State (emphasis added, indicating por
tion of sentence quoted by the defense that 
was omitted). 

And as a fmal aside on the non-issue of reas
onable reliance, the undisputed evidence 
shows that defendant was making on
reservation sales of unstamped cigarettes to 
non-Native Americans well before he met 
Facer, thus-if the issue was reached-pre
sumably triggering the question of how Mor
rison's conduct was induced by purported 
later misrepresentations of the law by the 
Governor. 

It also warrants mention that absent from 
Facer's testimony was any indication that the 
Governor misrepresented the law which is 
the essence of the entrapment by estoppel de
fense. 

*720 For the reasons stated, the entrapment by estoppel 
defense was not charged to the jury. 
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Attention will now be directed to the public authority 
defense. 

2. Public Authority Defense 

[32] The following excerpt from Unites States v. Giffen 
explains the public authority defense: 

Under Second Circuit law, an actual public authority 
defense exists where a defendant has in fact been au
thorized by the government to engage in what would 
otherwise be illegal activity. That is, the defendant's 
conduct was, in fact, legitimized by government ac
tion. 

473 F.3d 30,39 (2d Cir.2006). 

A juxtapositioning of the requirements to establish a 
public authority defense with the facts at hand indicates 
that it would have been inappropriate for the Court to 
charge the public authority defense as requested by de
fendant. Simply put, there is no factual predicate, con
struing all the evidence most favorably to the defense, 
which would permit a reasonable trier of fact to con
clude that the defendant was in fact authorized by a 
state official to sell unstamped cigarettes at Peace Pipe 
and via Smokers.com to non-Native Americans in con
travention of § 471 of the New York Tax Law. 

III. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss or for a New Trial as 
to Count Eight (Felon In Possession Count) is Denied 

[33] Defendant was convicted under Count Eight of be
ing a felon in possession of a flrearm in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 922(g)(l), to wit a Glock model 26 9mrn semi
automatic pistol, bearing Serial Number DFC-566US. 
He was acquitted, however, of the same charge under 
Count Nine pertaining to another Glock model 26 9mm 
semi-automatic pistol with Serial Number DFB-265US. 

Defendant maintains that "[w]hatever the jury's reason 
for convicting under Count Eight and not under Count 
Nine, there was no evidence from which the jury could 
fmd that the gun which the jury concluded Mr. Morris
on possessed under whatever factual scenario it accep-
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ted in fact was the gun with this serial number." (Def.'s 
Mem. of Law in Supp. at 65.) The government's re
sponse is twofold: (1) that abundant evidence was 
presented to the jury to support its conclusion that de
fendant possessed the weapon charged in Count Eight, 
and (2) that the cases cited by defendant in support of 
the relief requested are irrelevant. 

Notwithstanding protestations by defendant to the con
trary, the evidence presented to the jury was more than 
sufficient to satisfy the prosecution's burden of proof 
*721 with respect to the specific weapon listed in Count 
Eight, particularly when viewed, as it must be, in the 
light most favorable to the government. United States v. 
Autuori, 212 F.3d 105, 114 (2d Cir.2000). Included 
within that body of evidence are the following: 

A. Testimony of Allison Stewart ("Allison" or "Stewart") 

Stewart purchased the specific firearm identified in 
Count Eight on September 2, 1999 in her name, but for 
the defendant at his expense and at his direction. (See, 
e.g., Tr. at 3251, 3259-62; see also Gov't's Ex. ["Gx"] 
284(a) and Gx 306.) After Stewart purchased that Glock 
for defendant, it was brought back to the Peace Pipe and 
was placed in defendant's desk drawer. (Tr. at 3260-62.) 
Thereafter she saw a Glock in defendant's desk drawer 
many times. FNS2(ld at 3281-83.) 

FN52. Stewart testified that she also purchased 
the Glock charged in Count Nine for defendant 
at his direction and expense several weeks after 
the acquisition of the Glock charged in Count 
Eight. (Tr. at 3275-79.) These were the only 
two weapons Stewart purchased for defendant. 
(Id at 3277.) 

B. Testimony ofWynette Randall ("Randall") 

Randall testified that, at the defendant's direction, she 
typed a letter to Stewart (Gx 306B-I) and placed the let
ter, dated September 9, 2003, in an envelope upon 
which she wrote "Allison" (Gx 306B-2). (Tr. at 
7497-98.) In that letter, defendant states in pertinent 
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part: "Thank you very much for all that you have done 
for me, I do appreciate it. I am returning these items to 
you, I have made other pr[ 0 ]visions and I am no longer 
in need of them." (Gx 306B-1.) 

The items referenced by the defendant in Gx 306B-I, 
Randall explained, were the two handguns which she, at 
defendant's direction, retrieved, one from a Peace Pipe 
safe and the other apparently-although her testimony as 
to where she found the second weapon is somewhat 
muddled-from an office desk draw. (Tr. at 7499-7501.) 
Those weapons, together with gun boxes (Gx 307) were 
placed in a UPS Box (Gx 306A), which box was ad
dressed by Randall to Stewart, sealed, and placed in a 
Peace Pipe safe, all at the direction of defendant. (ld at 
7499-7503.) 

C. Testimony of Suffolk County Police Detective George 
Herring ("Herring") 

Herring was a member of the team which executed the 
search warrant at the Peace Pipe on August 4, 2004, 
which team included other members of his departtnent 
as well as FBI and IRS Agents. (ld at 4261-62.) In that 
capacity, he took "custody of two .9 millimeter Glock 
pistols and some paperwork associated with the pistols, 
a FedEx box [later identified by the witness as the UPS 
box, id at 4293] and some stationary." (ld at 4261.) 
One of the two weapons was the Glock which is the 
subject of Count Nine, (id at 4262-63) and the other the 
subject of Count Eight, that being the Glock bearing 
Serial Number DFC-566US received into evidence as 
government's exhibit 306. (Id at 4265-67.) 

The UPS box, Gx 306A,-containing the gun boxes 
which, in tum, housed the two Glocks, Exs 306 and 
308-were found in a Peace Pipe safe (Tr. at, e.g., 4289, 
4293, 4310; see also Gx 140 (a photo of the safe's in
terior», consistent with the testimony of Randall. Also 
recovered during the search of the Peace Pipe was the 
letter to Allison Stewart, Gx 306B-I, and accompanying 
envelope, Gx 306B-2, again consistent with Randall's 
testimony. Moreover, *722 as is evident from a perusal 
of Stewart's and Herring's testimony as previously out
lined, "the serial nwnbers from the two weapons seized 
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ted in fact was the gun with this serial number." (Def.'s 
Mem. of Law in Supp. at 65.) The government's re
sponse is twofold: (1) that abundant evidence was 
presented to the jury to support its conclusion that de
fendant possessed the weapon charged in Count Eight, 
and (2) that the cases cited by defendant in support of 
the relief requested are irrelevant. 

Notwithstanding protestations by defendant to the con
trary, the evidence presented to the jury was more than 
sufficient to satisfy the prosecution's burden of proof 
*721 with respect to the specific weapon listed in Count 
Eight, particularly when viewed, as it must be, in the 
light most favorable to the government. United States v. 
Autuori, 212 F.3d 105, 114 (2d Cir.2000). Included 
within that body of evidence are the following: 

A. Testimony of Allison Stewart ("Allison" or "Stewart") 

Stewart purchased the specific firearm identified in 
Count Eight on September 2, 1999 in her name, but for 
the defendant at his expense and at his direction. (See, 
e.g., Tr. at 3251, 3259-62; see also Gov't's Ex. ["Gx"] 
284(a) and Gx 306.) After Stewart purchased that Glock 
for defendant, it was brought back to the Peace Pipe and 
was placed in defendant's desk drawer. (Tr. at 3260-62.) 
Thereafter she saw a Glock in defendant's desk drawer 
many times. FNS2(ld at 3281-83.) 

FN52. Stewart testified that she also purchased 
the Glock charged in Count Nine for defendant 
at his direction and expense several weeks after 
the acquisition of the Glock charged in Count 
Eight. (Tr. at 3275-79.) These were the only 
two weapons Stewart purchased for defendant. 
(Id at 3277.) 

B. Testimony ofWynette Randall ("Randall") 

Randall testified that, at the defendant's direction, she 
typed a letter to Stewart (Gx 306B-I) and placed the let
ter, dated September 9, 2003, in an envelope upon 
which she wrote "Allison" (Gx 306B-2). (Tr. at 
7497-98.) In that letter, defendant states in pertinent 
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part: "Thank you very much for all that you have done 
for me, I do appreciate it. I am returning these items to 
you, I have made other pr[ 0 ]visions and I am no longer 
in need of them." (Gx 306B-1.) 

The items referenced by the defendant in Gx 306B-I, 
Randall explained, were the two handguns which she, at 
defendant's direction, retrieved, one from a Peace Pipe 
safe and the other apparently-although her testimony as 
to where she found the second weapon is somewhat 
muddled-from an office desk draw. (Tr. at 7499-7501.) 
Those weapons, together with gun boxes (Gx 307) were 
placed in a UPS Box (Gx 306A), which box was ad
dressed by Randall to Stewart, sealed, and placed in a 
Peace Pipe safe, all at the direction of defendant. (ld at 
7499-7503.) 

C. Testimony of Suffolk County Police Detective George 
Herring ("Herring") 

Herring was a member of the team which executed the 
search warrant at the Peace Pipe on August 4, 2004, 
which team included other members of his departtnent 
as well as FBI and IRS Agents. (ld at 4261-62.) In that 
capacity, he took "custody of two .9 millimeter Glock 
pistols and some paperwork associated with the pistols, 
a FedEx box [later identified by the witness as the UPS 
box, id at 4293] and some stationary." (ld at 4261.) 
One of the two weapons was the Glock which is the 
subject of Count Nine, (id at 4262-63) and the other the 
subject of Count Eight, that being the Glock bearing 
Serial Number DFC-566US received into evidence as 
government's exhibit 306. (Id at 4265-67.) 

The UPS box, Gx 306A,-containing the gun boxes 
which, in tum, housed the two Glocks, Exs 306 and 
308-were found in a Peace Pipe safe (Tr. at, e.g., 4289, 
4293, 4310; see also Gx 140 (a photo of the safe's in
terior», consistent with the testimony of Randall. Also 
recovered during the search of the Peace Pipe was the 
letter to Allison Stewart, Gx 306B-I, and accompanying 
envelope, Gx 306B-2, again consistent with Randall's 
testimony. Moreover, *722 as is evident from a perusal 
of Stewart's and Herring's testimony as previously out
lined, "the serial nwnbers from the two weapons seized 
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frDm Peace Pipe .on [that date 1 by Detective Herring and 
.others, Gxs 306 and 308, matched the serial numbers 
frDm the twD GlDck semi-autDmatic handguns purchased 
by AllisDn Stewart frDm the Tee-Dee Gun ShDP .on 
September 2 and 16, 1999." (GDV't'S Mem. in Opp' n at 
32.) 

D. Defendant'S September 18, 2003 Telephone Conver
sation With St~art Regarding the two Glock 

The gDvernment intrDduced a cDnsensually recorded 
cDnversatiDn between the defendant and Stewart, which 
tDDk place .on September 18, 2003, wherein the defend
ant again admitted, in essence, constructive possession 
.of the twD GlDcks. Defendant's language during that 
cDnversatiDn largely tracks the letter Randall typed fDr 
him approximately a week earlier, i.e. .on September 
9th. Specifically, the defendant explains tD Stewart .on 
September 18th: "I'm trying tD return these twD black 
things back tD yDU, I've made .other provisiDns if YDU 
cDuld just get these as SDDn as pDssible." (Gx 309b at 3.) 
During that same cDnversatiDn, defendant suggested 
that he return "these tWD black things back" tD Stewart 
by leaving them at her "mom's house," explaining, 
again cDnsistent with Randall's testimDny, that he has 
them "all taped up ... in a UPS bDx." (Id at 3.) 

Based .on the abDve evidence, the jury cDuld, as it did, 
legitimately cDnclude that the defendant had CDnstruct
ive pDssessiDn .of the specific weapDn charged in CDunt 
Eight. In urging a cDntrary cDnclusiDn, the defense cites 
twD cases, United States v. Wozniak, 126 F.3d 105 (2d 
Cir.1997) and United States v. Leichtnam, 948 F.2d 370 
(7th Cir.1991). Neither case, hDwever, is germane for 
present purpDses. 

The defendant in Wozniak was indicted fDr cDnspiracy 
tD pDssess with intent tD distribute a cDntrDlled sub
stance containing cocaine and methamphetamine, pos~ 
sessiDn with intent tD distribute a cDntrDlled substance 
containing cocaine, and using communication devices to 
facilitate cDmmissiDn .of the cDnspiracy tD distribute CD
caine and methamphetamine. At the trial, hDwever, the 
gDvernment's prDDf included evidence invDlving 
WDzniak's distributiDn and use .of marijuana and the tri-
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al CDUrt instructed the jury that "it cDuld find guilt .on 
the basis .of transactiDns invDlving any cDntrolled sub
stance regardless .of which illegal substance was in
vDlved." United States v. Wozniak, 126 F.3d at 106. 
WDzniak cDntended .on appeal that he was the victim .of 
a cDnstructive amendment .of the indictment in that he 
was required tD stand trial, nDt .only with respect tD CD
caine and methamphetamine transactiDns as charged by 
the grand jury, but alsD .on uncharged cDnduct regarding 
marijuana. The Circuit agreed, resulting in the vacatur 
.of the cDnvictiDn and a remand fDr a new trial. 

In Leichtnam, the defendant's hDme was searched at 
which time drugs, alDng with a rifle and twD handguns 
were seized. In the resulting indictment, he was charged 
with variDus drug .offenses as well as knDwingly pos
sessing the rifle during and in relatiDn tD drug traffick
ing in viDlatiDn .of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c). NDnetheless, 
evidence was placed befDre the jury cDncerning all three 
.of the weapDns that were seized during the cDurse .of the 
search. CDnsistent with the testimDny, the CDurt charged 
that the pDssessiDn .of either the rifle as alleged in the 
indictment Dr .of either .of the handguns discDvered dur
ing the search wDuld be sufficient fDr cDnvictiDn, as
suming the .other elements .of the *723 § 924( c) CDunt 
were established by the gDvernment beYDnd a reasDn
able dDUbt. This brDadening .of the indictment was 
fDund tD be reversible errDr. 

As explained in Leichtnam, "[tlhe grand jury clause .of 
the CDnstitutiDn requires that proDf and jury instructiDns 
must be fDr crimes that were 'clearly and fully set .out in 
the indictment' as returned by the grand jury." Leicht
nom, 948 F.2d at 379. Yet WDzniak and Leichtnam 
StDDd trial fDr bDth charged and uncharged crimes as 
victims .of impermissible cDnstructive amendments. As 
a result, their convictions 'Yere set aside given the inab
ility tD determine the predicate cDnduct fDr thDse CDn
victions. Here, in contrast to Wozniak and Leichtnam, 
nD cDnstructive amendment .of the accusatDry instru
ment .occurred. Instead, CDuntS Eight and Nine each 
charged defendant with the illegal pDssessiDn .of a spe
cific firearm, thus precluding the pDssibility . .of a CDn
victiDn fDr a nDn-charged .offense. And it is axiDmatic 
that the cDnvictiDn under CDunt Eight is nDt invalidated 
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frDm Peace Pipe .on [that date 1 by Detective Herring and 
.others, Gxs 306 and 308, matched the serial numbers 
frDm the twD GlDck semi-autDmatic handguns purchased 
by AllisDn Stewart frDm the Tee-Dee Gun ShDP .on 
September 2 and 16, 1999." (GDV't'S Mem. in Opp' n at 
32.) 

D. Defendant'S September 18, 2003 Telephone Conver
sation With St~art Regarding the two Glock 

The gDvernment intrDduced a cDnsensually recorded 
cDnversatiDn between the defendant and Stewart, which 
tDDk place .on September 18, 2003, wherein the defend
ant again admitted, in essence, constructive possession 
.of the twD GlDcks. Defendant's language during that 
cDnversatiDn largely tracks the letter Randall typed fDr 
him approximately a week earlier, i.e. .on September 
9th. Specifically, the defendant explains tD Stewart .on 
September 18th: "I'm trying tD return these twD black 
things back tD yDU, I've made .other provisiDns if YDU 
cDuld just get these as SDDn as pDssible." (Gx 309b at 3.) 
During that same cDnversatiDn, defendant suggested 
that he return "these tWD black things back" tD Stewart 
by leaving them at her "mom's house," explaining, 
again cDnsistent with Randall's testimDny, that he has 
them "all taped up ... in a UPS bDx." (Id at 3.) 

Based .on the abDve evidence, the jury cDuld, as it did, 
legitimately cDnclude that the defendant had CDnstruct
ive pDssessiDn .of the specific weapDn charged in CDunt 
Eight. In urging a cDntrary cDnclusiDn, the defense cites 
twD cases, United States v. Wozniak, 126 F.3d 105 (2d 
Cir.1997) and United States v. Leichtnam, 948 F.2d 370 
(7th Cir.1991). Neither case, hDwever, is germane for 
present purpDses. 

The defendant in Wozniak was indicted fDr cDnspiracy 
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via the jury's verdict of not guilty with respect to Count 
Nine. See United States v. Powell, 469 U.S. 57, 62-69, 
105 S.Ct. 471, 83 L.Ed.2d 461 (1984); United States v. 
Acosta, 17 F.3d 538, 545 (2d Cir.1994). 

In sum, for the reasons indicated, defendant's Rule 29 
motion is denied as to Count Eight. 

Although the caption to Point III in the Table of Con
tents portion of the defendant's brief refers to the Court 
granting a new trial pursuant to Rule 33 should defend
ant's dismissal motion be denied, that point is not other
wise mentioned in his submissions. In any event, a jux~ 
tapositioning of the evidence in this case against the 
standard for granting a new trial FN53 indicates that 
such relief clearly would not be appropriate with respect 
to Count Eight. Accordingly, to the extent a new trial is 
being sought as an alternative form of relief, it is denied. 

FN53. See United States v. Sanchez, 969 F.2d 
1409, 1414 (2d Cir.1992)("The test is whether 
it would be a manifest injustice to let the guilty 
verdict stand.") (internal quotation marks and 
citation omitted). 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the above reasons, defendant's motion to dis
miss Counts Two and Eight of the indictment or for a 
new trial is DENIED. 

SO ORDERED. 

E.D.N.Y.,2009. 
U.S. v. Morrison 
596 F.Supp.2d 661 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
-- - ----------------------------x 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

-against-

RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON, 

Defendant. 
----------------------------X 

A P PEA RAN C E S: 

For the Government: 
Benton J. Campbell 
united States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 
610 Federal Plaza 
central Islip, New York 11722 

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 
04-CR-699 (DRH) (S 2) 

By: James M. Miskiewicz, A.U.S.A. 
John Joseph Durham, A.U.S.A. 
Diane C. Leonardo-Beckman, A.U.S.A. 

For Defendant: 
William H. Murphy, Jr. & Associates 
12 West Madison Street 
Baltimore, MD 21201 

By: William H. Murphy, Jr., Esq. 
Kenneth W. Ravenell, Esq. 

Law Offices of Peter Smith & Associates 
389 Fort Salonga Road 
Northport, New York 11768 

By: Peter Smith, Esq. 

Daniel Nobel, Esq. 
401 Broadway - 25 th Floor 
New York, New York 10013 

Levitt & Kaizer, Esqs. 
148 E. 78 th Street 
New York, New York 10075 

By: Richard Levitt, Esq. 

HURLEY, Senior District Judge: 

By letter motion dated September 4, 2009, Rodney 

Morrison ("Morrison" or "defendant") seeks reconsideration of my 
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August 11, 2009 bench decision which denied reconsideration of 

the Court's February 26, 2009 denial of defendant's motion for 

judgment of acquittal pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal 

Procedure 29(b) as to defendant's RICO conspiracy conviction.' 

The basis for the current reconsideration application, as 

explained by defendant: 

The Cayuga' majority's ruling that Tax Law 
§ 471, standing alone, cannot be applied to 
reservation retailers is stated in 
unequivocal terms. Yet in Your Honor's oral 
opinion it was stated that "The Fourth 
Department did not say that 471 as it existed 
in the time frame that's relevant in the case 
at bar did not impose the tax." Tr. of 
8/11/09 at 26. Your Honor's incorrect 
interpretation of that ruling introduced a 
novel limitation founded on the chronology of 
the Legislature's consideration of § 471-e. 
That interpretation, in turn, led to this 
Court's denial of Mr. Morrison's due process 
claim that he was not provided with "fair 
notice" of an alleged obligation to sell only 
stamped cigarettes to non-tribal members. 

(Sept 4, 2009 Letter Br. of Daniel Nobel, Esq. at 1.) 

The following excerpt from the August 11, 2009 bench 

decision places the above quoted snippet provided by the defense 

in context: 

1 Both the Court's February 26, 2009 Amended Memorandum and 
Order (denying defendant's post-trial motion to dismiss Count 
Two) and the Court's August 11, 2009 bench decision (denying 
defendant's motion for reconsideration), familiarity with which 
are presumed, are hereby incorporated herein by reference. 

2 Cayuga Indian Nation v. Gould, 884 N.Y.S.2d 510 (4th Dep't 
2009) . 

-2-
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The [question] before the Fourth 
Department was whether the legislature in 
enacting 471-e intended to reconfigure the 
statutory scheme so that there would be no 
tax due until the necessary coupons were 
granted so that Native Americans purchasing 
product for their personal consumption on
reservation could be adequately dealt with. 

[In answering that question in the 
affirmative] they did not say that 471 as it 
existed during the time frame that's relevant 
in the case at bar did not impose a tax. 

The obvious response to that by the 
defense is -- and it's enunciated in their 
papers at least implicitly -- is that if you 
look at Cayuga Nation carefully, you will 
note that the Fourth Department clearly 
indicated that 471 in and of itself was not 
sufficient to impose a tax. And I do 
recognize that. 

However, as I indicated, that statement 
was made in the context of 471 and 471-e 
being considered together. 

(Aug. 11, 2009 Tr. at 26.) 

The thought meant to be conveyed by me on August 11th 

was even though the Fourth Department "indicated that 471 in and 

of itself was not sufficient to impose a tax," (id.), that 

conclusion was made under a significantly different statutory 

scheme than the one in effect when defendant committed the 

Contraband Cigarette Trafficking Act ("CCTA") Racketeering Acts 

charged in Count Two. During the period alleged in the 

indictment, from May 2, 2003 until August 2, 2004, the sole 

-3-

GA220
Case 2:04-cr-00699-DRH -AKT Documern 838 Filed 12/04/09 Page 3 of 10 

The [question] before the Fourth 
Department was whether the legislature in 
enacting 471-e intended to reconfigure the 
statutory scheme so that there would be no 
tax due until the necessary coupons were 
granted so that Native Americans purchasing 
product for their personal consumption on
reservation could be adequately dealt with. 

[In answering that question in the 
affirmative] they did not say that 471 as it 
existed during the time frame that's relevant 
in the case at bar did not impose a tax. 

The obvious response to that by the 
defense is -- and it's enunciated in their 
papers at least implicitly -- is that if you 
look at Cayuga Nation carefully, you will 
note that the Fourth Department clearly 
indicated that 471 in and of itself was not 
sufficient to impose a tax. And I do 
recognize that. 

However, as I indicated, that statement 
was made in the context of 471 and 471-e 
being considered together. 

(Aug. 11, 2009 Tr. at 26.) 

The thought meant to be conveyed by me on August 11th 

was even though the Fourth Department "indicated that 471 in and 

of itself was not sufficient to impose a tax," (id.), that 

conclusion was made under a significantly different statutory 

scheme than the one in effect when defendant committed the 

Contraband Cigarette Trafficking Act ("CCTA") Racketeering Acts 

charged in Count Two. During the period alleged in the 

indictment, from May 2, 2003 until August 2, 2004, the sole 

-3-

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 285    09/17/2010    108283    314



Case .2:04-cr-00699-DRH -AKT DGvY" 'u'" 838 Filed 12/04/09 Page 4 of 1 0 

relevant cigarette taxing statute was § 471.3 In contrast, the 

version of § 471-e implicated in Cayuga post-dates all of the 

CCTA Racketeering Acts charged in the Morrison indictment. In 

concluding that § 471-e "exclusively governs the imposition of 

sales and excise taxes on cigarettes sold on a qualified 

reservation," Cayuga, 884 N.Y.S.2d at 518, the Fourth Department 

relied on what it discerned to be the "the legislative purpose, 

context, and history of Tax Law § 471-e," id., namely 

"to overhaul the statutory scheme and . . provide a single 

statutory basis for taxing cigarette sales on qualified 

reservations." Id. at 516 (emphasis added).4 Thus, the majority 

3 Neither party claims that a prior version of § 471-e, in 
effect from May 13, 2003 until February 28, 2006, is relevant for 
present purposes. (See Aug. 11, 2009 Tr. at 18; Am. Mem. & Order 
dated Feb. 26, 2009 at 19.) 

4 The Fourth Department also considered its earlier decision 
in Day Wholesale, Inc. v. State, 856 N.Y.S.2d 808 (4th Dep't 
2008), where it found that the amended version of § 471-e was not 
in effect "based on the failure of the Department of Taxation and 
Finance . . . to take action to implement that statute by issuing 
necessary coupons." Cayuga, 884 N.Y.S.2d at 512. By its terms, 
the amended version of § 471-e was not to go into "effect [until] 
March 1, 2006, provided that any actions, rules and regulations 
necessary to implement the provisions of [the statute] on its 
effective date [we]re completed on or before such date." N.Y. 
Tax Law § 471-e (Historical and Statutory Notes 2006) (emphasis 
added). In contrast, § 471 contained no condition precedent to 
its effective date of April 1, 2002. Indeed, to the contrary, 
reference to the Historical and Statutory Notes to § 471 
indicates that "the commissioner of taxation and finance shall be 
authorized on and after this act shall have become a law to take 
steps necessary to implement these provisions [i.e. to assure 
payment of the taxes imposed] on their effective date." Id. § 

471 (Historical and Statutory Notes 2002). (See also Am. Mem. & 

Order dated Feb. 26, 2009 at 26-29.) 

-4-
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in Cayuga considered §§ 471 and 471-e together in fashioning 

their holding and, accordingly, they did not address the issue 

that is before this Court, i.e. whether § 471 standing alone 

prior to the enactment of § 471-e -- imposed a tax on on

reservation cigarette sales to non-Native Americans. 

However, to the extent Cayuga held not only that § 471-

e never went into effect but also that § 471 alone did not 

provide an independent basis for imposing the subject tax, that 

conclusion may not be squared, as noted in the August 11, 2009 

bench decision, with the plain text of § 471 or with such pre-§ 

471-e decisions as N.Y. Ass'n of Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 92 

N.Y.2d 204, 214 (1998) and Milhelm Attea & Bros .. Inc. v. Dep't 

of Taxation and Fin., 81 N.Y.2d 417, 422 (1993), rev'd on other 

grounds, 512 U.S. 61 (1994), which found that § 471 establishes 

statutory liability for on-reservation sales to non-Native 

Americans, as well as to Native Americans other than for their 

personal consumption. Which is to say, there is "persuasive 

evidence that suggests to me that the Court of Appeals [will not 

adopt] the Fourth Department's conclusion." (Aug. 11, 2009 Tr. 

at 23.) See also City of N.Y. v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop. Inc., 

2009 WL 2612345, at *29 (E.D.N.Y. Aug, 25, 2009) (finding "that 

the New York Court of Appeals would reject the majority's 

reasoning in Cayuga and conclude that § 471 imposes a tax on 

-5-
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reservation sales of cigarettes to non-Tribe members") . 

Now to proceed to the gravamen of the September 4, 2009 

reconsideration application, viz. given that the majority of 

appellate judges in cayuga concluded that § 471 standing alone is 

"inapplicable to reservation retailers," it is evident that § 471 

"does not serve to provide \fair notice' to an 'ordinary' man." 

(Sept. 4, 2009 Letter Br. of Daniel Nobel, Esq. at 8.) If those 

appellate judges viewed the current situation as it existed 

during the time frame embraced by the indictment, that argument 

would carry greater weight. However such is not the case. As 

noted previouslY, their view of the statutory scheme was 

perceived through the prism of §§ 471 and 471-e together, and the 

"the intention of the Legislature to overhaul the statutory 

scheme [in enacting § 471-e to] . provide a single statutory 

basis for taxing cigarette sales on qualified reservations." 

cayuga, 884 N.Y.S.2d at 516. In contrast, the hypothetical 

person of ordinary intelligence in a situation akin to Morrison's 

during 2003 and 2004 would be deemed to have focused solely on § 

471 as the then applicable statute and its provision that: 

There is hereby imposed and shall be paid a 
tax on all cigarettes possessed in the state 
by any person for sale, except that no tax 
shall be imposed on cigarettes sold under 
such circumstances that this state is without 
power to impose such tax5 • • It shall be 

5 No one has suggested that the "except[ing]" language of 
the statute renders the law unclear and, in any event, the 
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presumed that all cigarettes within the state 
are subject to tax until the contrary is 
established, and the burden of proof that any 
cigarettes are not taxable hereunder shall be 
upon the person in possession thereof. 

N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1). 

This distinction is particularly apt here where 

defendant's due process challenge has all along relied on his 

claim that the forbearance policy has so muddied the waters that 

an ordinary Native American retailer would not have understood 

that selling unstamped cigarettes on-reservation was violative of 

§ 471. Indeed, defendant heretofore has not claimed that § 471 

does not impose a tax on on-reservation cigarette sales. Rather, 

he claimed that "[njotwithstanding what might appear to be a 

'plain English' interpretation of § 471, any imposition of 

criminal liability for on-reservation cigarette sales is 

inconsistent with [the forbearance policy]." (Def. 's June 4, 

2008 Mem. of Law in Supp. at 25.) Now that four appellate 

justices have found that in the wake of § 471-e, § 471 does not 

impose a tax on on-reservation cigarette sales, Morrison is 

attempting to use Cayuga to support his previously voiced due 

process argument and seemingly to reconfigure that argument. 

hypothetical person of ordinary intelligence is presumed to know 
that it has been long established that states are imbued with the 
power to tax on-reservation cigarette sales to non-Native 
Americans. See Washington v. Confederated Tribes of Colville 
Indian ReservaEion, 447 U.S. 134 (1980). 
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Cayuga, however, did not address the forbearance policy and 

therefore does not support Morrison's initial challenge and, to 

the extent the gravamen of that challenge has been altered, his 

reliance on Cayuga, for the reasons provided supra, is 

unavailing. 

To step back for a moment and revisit defendant's pre

Cayuga due process argument, he has unsuccessfully endeavored 

since early on in the proceedings to inject uncertainty into the 

plain meaning of § 471 via reference to the forbearance policy. 

But the fact that the executive branch has a forbearance policy, 

viewed objectively, signals to a person like Morrison that, 

although § 471 clearly imposes a tax, it is unlikely that he will 

be prosecuted for its violation. However, there is no evidence 

nor other information in the pretrial, trial, or post-trial 

record to indicate that a member of the state executive branch, 

notwithstanding the existence of the forbearance policy, ever 

communicated to on-reservation retailers that the sale of 

unstamped cigarettes to non-Native Americans was legal. In fact, 

the only evidence furnished by Morrison speaking to that issue, a 

May 1997 press release issued by then-Governor Pataki, indicates 

precisely the contrary. In the press release, Governor Pataki 

referenced his efforts to change the New York Tax Law so that 

Native American retailers would no longer be required to pay the 

tax. (See Governor Pataki Press Release dated May 22, 1997 ("Let 
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me make my message to all Indian Nations clear: It is your land, 

we respect your sovereignty and, if the Legislature acts as I am 

requesting, you will have the right to sell tax-free .. 

cigarettes free from interference from New York State.").) The 

Governor's proposed amendments were never passed. 

The state's forbearance policy, whether perpetuated at 

least in part by the violence which accompanied an earlier effort 

to enforce § 471 against reservation retailers or otherwise, may 

not be equated with a repeal of the statute by implication, nor 

could any person reasonably so conclude. (See generally Am. Mem. 

& Order dated Feb. 26, 2009 at 82-85 (discussing the sua sponte 

explored doctrine of desuetude, that being "the obscure doctrine 

by which a legislative enactment is judicially abrogated 

following a long period of nonenforcement" and its 

inapplicability to the case at hand) (internal quotation marks 

and citation omitted).) In the final analysis, the undisputed 

evidence establishes that the defendant sold millions of dollars 

of unstamped cigarettes as alleged in the Racketeering Acts in 

count Two. That conduct was contrary to the taxing obligation 

imposed under § 471. The forbearance policy does not obliterate 

that transgression. Nor, addressing defendant's re configured 

due process argument premised on Cayuga, does that decision, for 

the reasons provided, provide a ground for this Court to alter 

its denial of the defendant's post-trial Rule 29(b) motion based 
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on a denial of due process. 

In sum, the Court has reconsidered the targeted portion 

of its bench decision of August 11, 2009 but, having done so, it 

adheres to its earlier decision. 

SO ORDERED. 

Dated: December 4, 2009 
Central Islip, N.Y. 11722 

DENIS R. HURLEY, U.S.D.J. 
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ment with Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Or
ganizations Act (RICO) conspiracy and mUltiple 
other crimes. Following denial of defendant's mo
tion to dismiss the indictment, 521 F.Supp.2d 246, 
and jury verdict finding defendant guilty of RICO 
conspiracy and being a felon in possession of a fire
arm, defendant moved to dismiss RICO charge or 
for new trial. The District Court, Hurley, Senior 
District Judge, 596 F .Supp.2d 661, denied motion. 
Defendant moved for reconsideration. 

Holding: The District Court, Hurley, Senior Dis
trict Judge, held that defendant's RICO conspiracy 
conviction violated due process. 

Motion granted. 

See also 597 F.3d 115. 
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utes is more exacting than in noncriminal statutes; 
this is simply because it would be unthinkable to 
convict a man for violating a law he could not un
derstand. 
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361 Statutes 
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361k47 k. Certainty and Defmiteness. 
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on-reservation sale of unstamped cigarettes to non
Native Americans, statute did not adequately con
vey that obligation to those subject to it, such that 
statute did not provide sufficient notice required by 
the Due Process Clause, and thus defendant's con
viction for Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Or
ganizations Act (RICO) conspiracy based on pre
dicate violations of the Contraband Cigarettes Traf
ficking Act (CCTA) provision barring the sale of 
cigarettes lacking tax stamp required by state law 
violated due process; following defendant's convic
tion, Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit found 
a sufficient lack of clarity in New York's statutory 
scheme to call for certification, in a civil context, to 
the New York Court of Appeals as to whether New 
York cigarette tax statute applied to cigarettes sold 
on Native American reservations. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 5; 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 1962(d), 2342(a); 
N.Y.McKinney's Tax Law § 471. 
Benton J. Campbell, United States Attorney, East
ern District of New York, by: James M. 
Miskiewicz, A.U.S.A., John Joseph Durham, 
A.U.S.A., Diane C. Leonardo-Beckmarm, 
A.U.S.A., Central Islip, NY, for the Government. 

William H. Murphy, Jr. & Associates, by: William 
H. Murphy, Jr., Esq., Kenneth W. Ravenell, Esq., 
Baltimore, MD, Law Offices of Peter Smith & As
sociates, by: Peter Smith, Esq., Northport, NY, 
Daniel Nobel, Esq., Levitt & Kaizer, by: Richard 
Ware Levitt, Esq., New York, NY, for Defendant. 
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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 

HURLEY, Senior District Judge. 

*1 By letter motion dated March 17, 2010, Rodney 
Morrison ("Morrison" or "defendant") "request[ s] 
reconsideration of this Court's rulings denying Mr. 
Morrison's previous motions seeking dismissal of 
Count Two on the ground that it was a violation of 
due process to prosecute him under a federal statute 
that incorporated a violation of New York Tax Law 
§ 471 as a necessary element." (Def.'s Mar. 17, 
2010 Letter at 1.) For the reasons provided infra, 
defendant's motion for reconsideration is granted 
and, upon reconsideration, Count Two of the indict
ment is dismissed. 

BACKGROUND 

Familiarity with the facts and procedural back
ground is presumed. Thus, the Court states only 
those facts necessary for disposition of .the instant 
motion. 

By indictment filed on July II, 2006, defendant 
was accused of multiple crimes, but was found 
guilty of only two by a jury verdict returned on 
May I, 2008, to wit, Count Two, a RICO conspir
acy charge under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) with the goal 
of the conspiracy being to sell cigarettes lacking 
valid New York State tax stamps as alleged in 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty in violation 
of N.Y. Tax Law § 471 and 18 U.S.c. § 2342(a), 
FNl and Count Eight charging defendant with the 
illegal possession of a fIrearm as a felon in viola
tion of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(l). 

Count Two, the RICO conspiracy Count, is the sub
ject of the current motion for reconsideration, as it 
has been for the numerous earlier reconsideration 
motions,FN2 

STANDARD FOR RECONSIDERATION 

[1][2] "The standard for a motion for reconsidera-

Page 4 of 11 

Page 3 

tion is strict, and reconsideration will generally be 
denied unless the moving party can point to con
trolling decisions or [factual] data that the court 
overlooked-matters, in other words, that might reas
onably be expected to alter the conclusion reached 
by the court. The major grounds justifYing recon
sideration are an intervening change of controlling 
law, the availability of new evidence, or the need to 
correct a clear error or prevent manifest injustice." 
United States v. Morrison, 2007 WL 4326796, at * 1 
(E.D.N.Y. Dec. 7,2007) (citations and internal quo
tation marks omitted). See also United States v. 
Matos, 2009 WL 2883054, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 3, 
2009); United States v. Basciano, 2008 WL 
905867, at *1 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2008). 

BASIS FOR CURRENT RECONSIDERATION MO
TION, AND POSITIONS OF PARTIES 

As proffered by defense counsel: 

The changed circumstance that occasions the in
stant application is that a newly issued decision 
of the United States Court of Appeals for the 
Second Circuit ("Second Circuit") rejects key 
fIndings made by this Court in the denial of the 
earlier motions. That decision is now controlling 
authority. In City of New York v. Golden Feather 
Smoke Shop, Inc., [597] F.3d [115] (2010) (" 
Golden Feather ") ... the Second Circuit certifIed 
questions regarding New York Tax Law §§ 471 
and 471-e to the New York State Court of Ap
peals ("Court of Appeals"). The Second Circuit's 
published opinion is grounded on the conclusion 
that the applicability of the. State's cigarette taxa

_ tion scheme to reservation cigarette sellers is 
"unsettled" pending a defmitive ruling by the 
Court of Appeals. That holding, and the support
ing analysis of the Second Circuit, negate the 
central conclusions, and thus the fInal result, of 
this Court's determination that Mr. Morrison's 
due process rights were not violated because Tax 
Law § 471 gave him "fair notice" of the illegality 
of his conduct. As a result, upon reconsideration 
we seek dismissal of Count Two. 
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guilty of only two by a jury verdict returned on 
May I, 2008, to wit, Count Two, a RICO conspir
acy charge under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) with the goal 
of the conspiracy being to sell cigarettes lacking 
valid New York State tax stamps as alleged in 
Racketeering Acts Five through Eighty in violation 
of N.Y. Tax Law § 471 and 18 U.S.c. § 2342(a), 
FNl and Count Eight charging defendant with the 
illegal possession of a fIrearm as a felon in viola
tion of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(l). 

Count Two, the RICO conspiracy Count, is the sub
ject of the current motion for reconsideration, as it 
has been for the numerous earlier reconsideration 
motions,FN2 

STANDARD FOR RECONSIDERATION 

[1][2] "The standard for a motion for reconsidera-
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tion is strict, and reconsideration will generally be 
denied unless the moving party can point to con
trolling decisions or [factual] data that the court 
overlooked-matters, in other words, that might reas
onably be expected to alter the conclusion reached 
by the court. The major grounds justifYing recon
sideration are an intervening change of controlling 
law, the availability of new evidence, or the need to 
correct a clear error or prevent manifest injustice." 
United States v. Morrison, 2007 WL 4326796, at * 1 
(E.D.N.Y. Dec. 7,2007) (citations and internal quo
tation marks omitted). See also United States v. 
Matos, 2009 WL 2883054, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 3, 
2009); United States v. Basciano, 2008 WL 
905867, at *1 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2008). 

BASIS FOR CURRENT RECONSIDERATION MO
TION, AND POSITIONS OF PARTIES 

As proffered by defense counsel: 

The changed circumstance that occasions the in
stant application is that a newly issued decision 
of the United States Court of Appeals for the 
Second Circuit ("Second Circuit") rejects key 
fIndings made by this Court in the denial of the 
earlier motions. That decision is now controlling 
authority. In City of New York v. Golden Feather 
Smoke Shop, Inc., [597] F.3d [115] (2010) (" 
Golden Feather ") ... the Second Circuit certifIed 
questions regarding New York Tax Law §§ 471 
and 471-e to the New York State Court of Ap
peals ("Court of Appeals"). The Second Circuit's 
published opinion is grounded on the conclusion 
that the applicability of the. State's cigarette taxa

_ tion scheme to reservation cigarette sellers is 
"unsettled" pending a defmitive ruling by the 
Court of Appeals. That holding, and the support
ing analysis of the Second Circuit, negate the 
central conclusions, and thus the fInal result, of 
this Court's determination that Mr. Morrison's 
due process rights were not violated because Tax 
Law § 471 gave him "fair notice" of the illegality 
of his conduct. As a result, upon reconsideration 
we seek dismissal of Count Two. 
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*2 (Def.'s Mar. 17,2010 Letter at 1 (footnote omit
ted).) 

In opposing defendant's application, the govern
ment notes that" N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e, at issue in 
Cayuga [Indian Nation of New York v. Gould, 66 
ADJd 100, 884 N.Y.S.2d 510 (4th Dep't 2009) ] 
and to some extent in Golden Feather, has never 
been relied upon in the criminal matter before this 
Court, where the defendant has been found guilty of 
violations of the CCTA [the Contraband Cigarette 
Trafficking Act] and N.Y. Tax Law § 471 up 
through 2004." (Gov't's Mar. 26, 2010 Letter in 
Opp'n at 1-2.) The government also argues that 

[a]s for the Second Circuit's recent decision to 
certify a question about N.Y. Tax Law § 471, that 
order is not, as the defendant desperately claims, 
a "holding" or other judicial detennination of the 
Court-let alone a holding in conflict with this 
Court's previous rejections of the defendant's dis
missal motions. As the Second Circuit said, at 
page 18 of its order, certification of questions of 
law is possible pursuant to its Local Rule 27.2 
and a complimentary rule of the New York Stater 
] Court of Appeals, 22 N.Y.C.R.R. § 500.27(a) 
allowing for the certification of questions of law 
to the latter court, "[w]henever it appears ... that 
detenninative questions of New York law are in
volved in a case pending before [a federal appel
late court or the U.S. Supreme Court] for which 
no controlling precedent of the· Court of Appeals 
exists .... " 

(Id at 2 (quoting 22 N.Y.C.R.R. § 500.27(a».) 

DISCUSSION 

I. Relevant Statutes 

As noted, defendant was convicted of a RICO con
spiracy under Count Two, the goal of which was to 
sell the contraband cigarettes listed in Racketeering 
Acts Five through Eighty in violation of N.Y. Tax 
Law § 471 and 18 U.S.C. § 2342. 

Page 5 of 11 

Page 4 

Section 18 U.S.C. § 2342(a) is part of the Contra
band Cigarette Trafficking Act ("CCTA"), 18 
U.S.c. §§ 2341 et seq., and provides: 

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to 
ship, transport, receive, possess, sell, distribute, 
or purchase contraband cigarettes or contraband 
smokeless tobacco. 

18 U.S.c. § 2342(a). Contraband cigarettes are 
defined in § 2341 as follows: 

a quantity in excess of 60,000[ FN3] cigarettes, 
which bear no evidence of the payment of applic
able State or local cigarette taxes in the State or 
locality where such cigarettes are found,if the 
State or local government requires a stamp, im
pression, or other indication to be placed on 
packages or other containers of cigarettes to evid
ence payment of cigarette taxes, and which are in 
the possession of any person other than [setting 
forth exempted persons] 

Id § 2341(2) (emphasis added). 

At the time of the Racketeering Acts of which de
fendant was convicted, N.Y. Tax Law § 471(1), en
titled "Imposition of cigarette tax," provided: 

There is hereby imposed and shall be paid a tax 
on all cigarettes possessed in the state by any per
son for sale, except that no tax shall be imposed 
on cigarettes sold under such circumstances that 
this state is without power to impose such tax .... 
It shall be presumed that all cigarettes within the 
state are subject to tax until the contrary is estab
lished, and the burden of proof that any cigarettes 
are not taxable hereunder shall be upon the per
son in possession thereof. 

*3 N.Y. Tax law § 471(1) (effective Apr. 3, 2002 to 
June 2, 2008). 

[3] Federal law forbids the collection of these taxes 
on cigarettes sold on Native American reservations 
to enrolled tribal members for their personal con
sumption. See Moe v. Confederated Salish & 
Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Reservation, 425 U.S. 
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on all cigarettes possessed in the state by any per
son for sale, except that no tax shall be imposed 
on cigarettes sold under such circumstances that 
this state is without power to impose such tax .... 
It shall be presumed that all cigarettes within the 
state are subject to tax until the contrary is estab
lished, and the burden of proof that any cigarettes 
are not taxable hereunder shall be upon the per
son in possession thereof. 

*3 N.Y. Tax law § 471(1) (effective Apr. 3, 2002 to 
June 2, 2008). 

[3] Federal law forbids the collection of these taxes 
on cigarettes sold on Native American reservations 
to enrolled tribal members for their personal con
sumption. See Moe v. Confederated Salish & 
Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Reservation, 425 U.S. 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.comlprintiprintstream.aspx?rs=WL WI O. 08&destination=atp&prfi=H... 9/8120 I 0 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 296    09/17/2010    108283    314



--- F.Supp.2d ----, 2010 WL 1539756 (E.D.N.Y.) 
(Cite as: 2010 WL 1539756 (E.D.N.Y.» 

463, 96 S.C!. 1634, 48 L.Ed.2d 96 (1976). 
However, when cigarettes are sold on the reserva~ 
tion to non-Native Americans, the taxes may be 
collected. See Washington v. Confederated Tribes 
of Colville Indian Reservation, 447 U.S. 134, 100 
S.C!. 2069, 65 L.Ed.2d 10 (1980). 

2. This Court's Earlier Decisions Denying Defend
ant's Substantive Due Process Claims 

This Court has repeatedly found in the decisions 
listed in footnote 2, supra, that § 471 (which was 
the sole applicable state statute in effect vis-a-vis 
the on-reservation sales by defendant of unstamped 
cigarettes to non-Native Americans during the rel
evant time frame) FN4 provided more than ad
equate notice to Morrison, and others similarly situ
ated, that such sales are illegaL (See, e.g., Am. 
Mem. and Order dated Feb. 26, 2009 at 62-80.) In 
reaching that conclusion, I considered both the for
bearance policy (i.e. the decision of the New York 
State Department of Taxation and Finance not to 
enforce § 471 as to on-reservation sales of un
stamped cigarettes to non-Native Americans), as 
well as the absence of regulations geared towards 
the collection of the taxes due from such sales. 
Neither, in my judgment as expressed in my prior 
decisions, served to eradicate or obscure the man
date of § 471 (1). Among the authorities and other 
sources I relied upon are: 

(1) Dep't of Taxation and Fin. of N.Y. v. Milhelm 
Allea & Bros., Inc., 512 U.S. 61, 64 [114 S.C!. 
2028, 129 L.Ed.2d 52J (1994) ("Cigarette con
sumers in New York are subject to a state tax of 
56 cents per pack. Enrolled tribal members who 
purchase cigarettes on Indian reservations are ex
empt from this tax, but non-Indians making pur
chases on reservations must pay it."); 

(2) United States v. Kaid, 241 Fed.Appx. 747, 
750 (2d Cir.2007) (unpublished) ("New York law 
provides for taxes on non-Native Americans pur
chasing cigarettes in stores on resetvations, but 
New York has a policy of non-enforcement of 
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this tax. [Defendants J assert that this non
enforcement policy effectively de-taxed sales of 
cigarettes to non-Native Americans on reserva
tion land, thereby negating the element of contra
band necessary to a conviction for trafficking in 
contraband cigarettes under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2341-
42. This argument is meritless.") (internal quota
tion marks and citation omitted); 

(3) N. Y. Ass'n of Convenience Stores v. Urbach, 
92 N.Y.2d 204, 214 [677 N.Y.S.2d 280, 699 
N.E.2d 904] (1998) (" '[T]he repeal [of the regu
lations] does not eliminate the statutory liability 
for taxes as they relate to sales on Indian reserva
tions to nonexempt individuals.' ") (quoting 20 
N.Y.S. Register, Apr. 29, 1998, Issue 17, Book 1, 
at 23); 

(4) Milhelm Attea & Bros., Inc. v. Dep't ~f Taxa
tion and Fin. of N.Y., 81 N.Y.2d 417,422 [599 
N.Y.S.2d 510, 615 N.E.2d 994J (1993) ("[M]any 
non-Indians travel to Indian reservations to buy 
unstamped cigarettes and avoid the sales tax 
which should attach to all sales to non-Indians."), 
rev'd on other grounds, 512 U.S. 61 [114 S.C!. 
2028, 129 L.Ed.2d 52] (1994); 

*4 (5) The Text of, and Concomitant Historical 
and Statutory Notes to §§ 471-e and 471. By its 
terms, the amended version of § 471-e was not to 
go into "effect [until] March 1, 2006, provided 
that any actions, rules and regulations necessary 
to implement the provisions of [the statute] on its 
effective date are authorized and directed to be 
completed on or before such date." N.Y. Tax Law 
§ 471-e (Historical and Statutory Notes 2006) 
(emphasis added). In contrast, § 471 contained no 
condition precedent to its effective date of April 
1, 2002. Indeed, to the contrary, reference to the 
Historical and Statutory Notes to § 471 indicates 
that "the commissioner of taxation and fmance 
shall be authorized on and after this act shall 
have become a law to take steps necessary to im
plement these provisions [i.e. to assure payment 
of the taxes imposed] on their effective date." Id 
§ 471 (Historical and Statutory Notes 2002). (See 
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also Am. Mem. and Order dated Feb. 26, 2009 at 
26-29; Mem. and Order dated Dec. 4, 2009 at 4, 
n. 4.); and 

(6) Absence of Evidence That a Member of the 
Executive Branch Ever told on-Reservation Re
tailers That the Forbearance Policy Overrode the 
Tax Obligation Imposed by § 471. "[T]here is no 
evidence nor other information in the pretrial, tri
al, or post-trial record to indicate that a member 
of the state executive branch, notwithstanding the 
existence of the forbearance policy, ever commu
nicated to on-reservation retailers that the sale of 
unstamped cigarettes to non-Native Americans 
was legal. In fact, the only evidence furnished by 
Morrison speaking to that issue, a May 1997 
press release issued by then-Governor Pataki, in
dicates precisely the contrary. In the press re
lease, Governor Pataki referenced his efforts to 
change the New York Tax Law so that Native 
American retailers would no longer be required 
to pay the tax. (See Governor Pataki Press Re
lease dated May 22, 1997 (' Let me make my 
message to all Indian Nations clear: It is your 
land, we respect your sovereignty and, if the Le
gislature acts as I am requesting, you will have 
the right to sell tax-free ... cigarettes free from in
terference from New York State.'). The Gov
ernor's proposed amendments were never passed 
[, ergo, § 471's tax obligation remained operat
ive]." (Mem. and Order dated Dec. 4, 2009 at 8-9.) 

In addition, I denied defendant's motions for recon
sideration based on the Fourth Department's de
cision in Cayuga Indian Nation v. Gould, 66 
A.D.3d 100, 884 N.Y.S.2d 510 (4th Dep't 2009). In 
Cayuga, the majority found that" section 471~e is 
the exclusive statute governing the imposition of 
sales and excise taxes on cigarettes sold on reserva
tions," id at 513, and that" § 471 alone [is] insuffi
cient to impose the tax." Id at 517. Given the 
Fourth Department's prior decision in Day Whole
sale, Inc. v. State of New York, 51 A.D.3d 383, 856 
N.Y.S.2d 808 (4th Dep't 2008) that § 471-e was not 
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in effect based on the absence of implementing reg
ulations which were a condition precedent to the 
statute's effective date, the Cayuga court concluded 
that "there is no statutory basis for the imposition 
of a cigarette tax on a qualified reservation." 884 
N.Y.S.2d at 517. 

*5 By bench decision dated August 11, 2009 and 
Memorandum and Order dated December 4, 2009, I 
rejected defendant's argument that the majority's 
decision in Cayuga was binding on the Court, and, 
thus, essentially eviscerated my prior fair notice de
tenninations; instead, I found "persuasive evid
ence" that the New York Court of Appeals would 
reach a different conclusion. (Mem. and Order 
dated Dec. 4, 2009 at 5. See also Bench Decision 
dated August II, 2009.) I explained that the major
ity's "conclusion was made under a significantly 
different statutory scheme than the one in effect 
when defendant committed the [CCTA] Racketeer
ing Acts charged in Count Two." (Mem. and Order 
dated Dec. 4, 2009 at 3.) The Cayuga court's "view 
of the statutory scheme was perceived through the 
prism of §§ 471 and 471-e together, and 'the inten
tion of the Legislature to overhaul the statutory 
scheme [in enacting § 471-e to] ... provide a single 
statutory basis for taxing cigarette sales on quali
fied reservations.' " (ld. at 6 (quoting Cayuga, 884 
N.Y.S.2d at 516).) "In contrast, [I further opined 
that] the hypothetical person of ordinary inteIli
gence in a situation akin to Morrison'S during 2003 
and 2004 would be deemed to have focused solely 
on § 471 as the then applicable statute and its" clear 
statutory mandate. (ld) 

3. Second Circuit's March 4, 2010 Decision in City 
of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 
597 F.3d 115 ("Golden Feather") Requires Recon
sideration of my Earlier Determinations That NY. 
Tax Law § 471 Provided Clear Notice That on
Reservation Sales of Unstamped Cigarettes to non
Native Americans is Illegal 

A. Issue to be Decided 
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dated August II, 2009.) I explained that the major
ity's "conclusion was made under a significantly 
different statutory scheme than the one in effect 
when defendant committed the [CCTA] Racketeer
ing Acts charged in Count Two." (Mem. and Order 
dated Dec. 4, 2009 at 3.) The Cayuga court's "view 
of the statutory scheme was perceived through the 
prism of §§ 471 and 471-e together, and 'the inten
tion of the Legislature to overhaul the statutory 
scheme [in enacting § 471-e to] ... provide a single 
statutory basis for taxing cigarette sales on quali
fied reservations.' " (ld. at 6 (quoting Cayuga, 884 
N.Y.S.2d at 516).) "In contrast, [I further opined 
that] the hypothetical person of ordinary inteIli
gence in a situation akin to Morrison'S during 2003 
and 2004 would be deemed to have focused solely 
on § 471 as the then applicable statute and its" clear 
statutory mandate. (ld) 

3. Second Circuit's March 4, 2010 Decision in City 
of New York v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 
597 F.3d 115 ("Golden Feather") Requires Recon
sideration of my Earlier Determinations That NY. 
Tax Law § 471 Provided Clear Notice That on
Reservation Sales of Unstamped Cigarettes to non
Native Americans is Illegal 

A. Issue to be Decided 
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[4][5][6] The core issue framed by the current mo
tion for reconsideration is not whether Morrison 
and others similarly situated were prohibited from 
selling unstamped cigarettes on reservation to non
Native Americans during the time frame embraced 
in the subject indictment. Rather, the questiou is " 
'whether the language [of § 471] conveys suffi
ciently definite warning as to the proscribed con
duct when measured by common understanding and 
practices.' " Arriaga v. Mukasey, 521 F.3d 219, 224 
(2d Cir.2008) (quoting Jordan v. De George, 341 
U.S. 223, 231, 71 S.Ct. 703, 95 L.Ed. 886 (1951». 
If it does not, a resulting conviction is invalid under 
the Due Process Clause. Rubin v. Garvin, 544 F.3d 
461, 467 (2d Cir.2008). "For obvious reasons, the 
standard of certainty required in criminal statutes is 
more exacting than in noncriminal statutes.[ FN'] 
This is simply because it would be unthinkable to 
convict a man for violating a law he could not un
derstand." Barenblatt v. United States, 360 U.S. 
109,137,79 S.Ct. 1081,3 L.Ed.2d 1115 (1959). 

B. Synopsis of Second Circuit's March 4, 2010 De
cision in Golden Feather 

By complaint filed on September 29, 2008, the City 
of New York alleged that defendants, reservation 
retailers on the Poospatuck Reservation in Mastic, 
New York, sold untaxed cigarettes in bulk to non
members of the Unkechauge Indian Nation who 
then resold them in the City, causing a significant 
loss of tax revenue to both the City and New York 
State. The Complaint alleged that such sales viol
ated the CCTA as well as the Cigarette Marketing 
Standards Act ("CMSA"), N.Y. Tax Law § 483 et 
seq. By decision dated August 25, 2009, the Honor
able Carol Bagley Amon, United States District 
Judge for the Eastern District of New York ("Judge 
Amon"), granted the City's motion for a prelimin
ary injunction and enjoined defendants from selling 
nnstamped cigarettes other than to members of the 
Unkechauge Nation for their personal use. City oj 
N.Y. v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 2009 WL 
2612345 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2009). In reaching this 
decision, Judge Amon found, inter alia, that "the 
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New York Court of Appeals would reject the ma
jority's reasoning in Cayuga and conclude that § 
471 imposes a tax on reservation sales of cigarettes 
to non-Tribe members." ld at *29. 

*6 Defendants then moved before the Second Cir
cuit for a stay of Judge Amon's decision pending 
appeal and for an interim stay pending resolution of 
their application for a permanent stay. In their mo
tion, defendants argued that a stay should be gran
ted to preserve the status quo until a fmal determin
ation by the New York Court of Appeals could be 
obtained. In this regard, defendants asserted that 
they would seek certification of the "determinative 
issues of State law" in their appeal papers. (Defs.' 
Mem. of Law in Supp. of a Mot. for an Interim and 
a Permanent Stay at 4, Second Circuit docket nos. 
09-3942-CV, 09-3997-CV.) After holding "a hear
ing on [defendants'] emergency motion to lift the 
preliminary injunction," Golden Feather, 597 F.3d 
at 118, the Circuit, by Order dated October 14, 
2009, denied defendants' motion, expedited the ap
peal process and directed the parties to address 
whether the following two questions should be cer
tified to the New York Court of Appeals: 

(1) is N.Y. Tax. Law § 471-e in effect and does 
Tax Law §§ 471 and 471-e, or both, impose re
sponsibility upon Native American vendors to 
collect taxes on sales to non-Native Americans? 

(2) Can Native American vendors' sales of un
stamped cigarettes to non-Native American con
sumers open them to criminal or other liability? 

City of N. Y. v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 
Nos. 09-3942-CV, 09-3997-CV (2d Cir. Oct. 14, 
2009). 

By decision dated March 4, 2010, the Circuit fur
ther addressed defendants' appeal from Judge 
Amon's preliminary injunction order. Golden 
Feather, 597 F.3d 115. The Circuit noted that in de
termining whether the City had demonstrated a 
likelihood of success on the merits of its claims, 
viz. a violation of the CCTA and/or the CMSA and 
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[4][5][6] The core issue framed by the current mo
tion for reconsideration is not whether Morrison 
and others similarly situated were prohibited from 
selling unstamped cigarettes on reservation to non
Native Americans during the time frame embraced 
in the subject indictment. Rather, the questiou is " 
'whether the language [of § 471] conveys suffi
ciently definite warning as to the proscribed con
duct when measured by common understanding and 
practices.' " Arriaga v. Mukasey, 521 F.3d 219, 224 
(2d Cir.2008) (quoting Jordan v. De George, 341 
U.S. 223, 231, 71 S.Ct. 703, 95 L.Ed. 886 (1951». 
If it does not, a resulting conviction is invalid under 
the Due Process Clause. Rubin v. Garvin, 544 F.3d 
461, 467 (2d Cir.2008). "For obvious reasons, the 
standard of certainty required in criminal statutes is 
more exacting than in noncriminal statutes.[ FN'] 
This is simply because it would be unthinkable to 
convict a man for violating a law he could not un
derstand." Barenblatt v. United States, 360 U.S. 
109,137,79 S.Ct. 1081,3 L.Ed.2d 1115 (1959). 

B. Synopsis of Second Circuit's March 4, 2010 De
cision in Golden Feather 

By complaint filed on September 29, 2008, the City 
of New York alleged that defendants, reservation 
retailers on the Poospatuck Reservation in Mastic, 
New York, sold untaxed cigarettes in bulk to non
members of the Unkechauge Indian Nation who 
then resold them in the City, causing a significant 
loss of tax revenue to both the City and New York 
State. The Complaint alleged that such sales viol
ated the CCTA as well as the Cigarette Marketing 
Standards Act ("CMSA"), N.Y. Tax Law § 483 et 
seq. By decision dated August 25, 2009, the Honor
able Carol Bagley Amon, United States District 
Judge for the Eastern District of New York ("Judge 
Amon"), granted the City's motion for a prelimin
ary injunction and enjoined defendants from selling 
nnstamped cigarettes other than to members of the 
Unkechauge Nation for their personal use. City oj 
N.Y. v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 2009 WL 
2612345 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2009). In reaching this 
decision, Judge Amon found, inter alia, that "the 
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New York Court of Appeals would reject the ma
jority's reasoning in Cayuga and conclude that § 
471 imposes a tax on reservation sales of cigarettes 
to non-Tribe members." ld at *29. 

*6 Defendants then moved before the Second Cir
cuit for a stay of Judge Amon's decision pending 
appeal and for an interim stay pending resolution of 
their application for a permanent stay. In their mo
tion, defendants argued that a stay should be gran
ted to preserve the status quo until a fmal determin
ation by the New York Court of Appeals could be 
obtained. In this regard, defendants asserted that 
they would seek certification of the "determinative 
issues of State law" in their appeal papers. (Defs.' 
Mem. of Law in Supp. of a Mot. for an Interim and 
a Permanent Stay at 4, Second Circuit docket nos. 
09-3942-CV, 09-3997-CV.) After holding "a hear
ing on [defendants'] emergency motion to lift the 
preliminary injunction," Golden Feather, 597 F.3d 
at 118, the Circuit, by Order dated October 14, 
2009, denied defendants' motion, expedited the ap
peal process and directed the parties to address 
whether the following two questions should be cer
tified to the New York Court of Appeals: 

(1) is N.Y. Tax. Law § 471-e in effect and does 
Tax Law §§ 471 and 471-e, or both, impose re
sponsibility upon Native American vendors to 
collect taxes on sales to non-Native Americans? 

(2) Can Native American vendors' sales of un
stamped cigarettes to non-Native American con
sumers open them to criminal or other liability? 

City of N. Y. v. Golden Feather Smoke Shop, Inc., 
Nos. 09-3942-CV, 09-3997-CV (2d Cir. Oct. 14, 
2009). 

By decision dated March 4, 2010, the Circuit fur
ther addressed defendants' appeal from Judge 
Amon's preliminary injunction order. Golden 
Feather, 597 F.3d 115. The Circuit noted that in de
termining whether the City had demonstrated a 
likelihood of success on the merits of its claims, 
viz. a violation of the CCTA and/or the CMSA and 

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 

https:llweb2.westlaw.comiprintiprintstrearp.aspx?rs=WL WI 0.08&destination=atp&prft=H... 9/8/2010 

Case: 10-1926   Document: 27   Page: 299    09/17/2010    108283    314



--- F.Supp.2d ----, 2010 WL 1539756 (B.D.N.Y.) 
(Cite as: 2010 WL 1539756 (E.D.N.Y.» 

a risk of recurrence, "there must be an underlying 
tax provision that requires the reservation vendors 
to purchase stamped cigarettes for resale" to nOll

Tribe members. Id at 122. After reviewing New 
York's cigarette taxing framework, the court set 
forth the parties' opposing positions. The City ar
gued that § 471-e merely set up a system to collect 
the tax that was unambiguously imposed by the 
plain language of § 471. Id at 124-25. The defend
ants, on the other hand, urged the Circuit to, inter 
alia, adopt the m'\iority decisions in both Cayuga 
and Day Wholesale that § 471-e is not in effect giv
en the absence of implementing regulations as well 
as Cayuga's holding that § 471 alone is insufficient 
to impose the tax. Id at 125. The Circuit found that 
both "interpretations of §§ 471 and 471-e [were] 
supported by cogent arguments and prior judicial 
analysis," and posed the following question: "Given 
this state of affairs, does the absence of any such 
mechanism applicable to taxes imposed on cigarette 
sales on reservations give rise to 'circumstances 
that [render New York] without power to impose 
such tax'?" Id (quoting N.Y. Tax Law § 471). Be
cause resolution of this issue required the Circuit to 
interpret New York statutes, the court examined 
whether certification to the New York Court of Ap
peals was appropriate. 

*7 The Circuit began its analysis by noting the gen
eral rule that certification should be done 
"sparingly, mindful that it is [the Circuit's] job to 
predict how the New York Court of Appeals would 
decide the issues." Id at 126. Finding that (I) New 
York case law on this issue was unsettled, (2) 
"certification on this issue [would] address an im
portant issue of state law that to this point remains 
uruesolved," and (3) an answer from the Court of 
Appeals on this purely legal question would resolve 
the litigation, the court concluded that certification 
was warranted. Id at 126-27. The following two 
questions were certified to the New York Court of 
Appeals: 

(1) Does N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e, either by itself 
or in combination with the provisions of § 471, 
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impose a tax on cigarettes sold on Native Amer
ican reservations when some or all of those cigar
ettes may be sold to persons other than members 
of the reservation's nation or tribe? 

(2) If the answer to Question 1 is "no," does N.Y. 
Tax Law § 471 alone impose a tax on cigarettes 
sold on Native American reservations when some 
or all of those cigarettes may be sold to persons 
other than members of the reservation's nation or 
tribe? 

Id at 128. 

C. Application of the Second Circuit's Golden 
Feather Decision to Defendant's Current Motion 
for Reconsideration 

[7] The Seeond Circuit's decision requires that I re
visit my prior due process determinations. In saying 
that, I am mindful that (I) the Circuit declined to 
stay the preliminary injunction granted to the City 
of New York, (2) in certifying the two aforemen
tioned questions to the New York Court of Appeals, 
the Circuit was asking, rather than endeavoring to 
answer those questions, (3) the decision to certify 
those questions-as requested by the appellants in 
that case, one of whom, Morrison, is the defendant 
in the criminal case under discussion-is readily un
derstandable given that the core issues relate solely 
to state law, and (4) the statutory scheme involved 
in Golden Feather significantly differs from the one 
in the instant case given the post-indictment enact
ment of the current § 471-e in 2006. Nonetheless, 
the detailed analysis provided by the Circuit in 
Golden Feather is at odds with my conclusion that 
a fair reading of § 471, unencumbered by the con
fusion arguably interjected into the analysis via the 
enactment of § 471-e, provided more than adequate 
notice that on-reservation sales of unstamped cigar
ettes to non-Native Americans is illegal. Tellingly 
the Circuit, in framing the second question for cer
tification, asked whether" § 471 alone imposer s] a 
tax on cigarettes sold on Native American reserva
tions when some or all of those cigarettes may be 
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a risk of recurrence, "there must be an underlying 
tax provision that requires the reservation vendors 
to purchase stamped cigarettes for resale" to nOll

Tribe members. Id at 122. After reviewing New 
York's cigarette taxing framework, the court set 
forth the parties' opposing positions. The City ar
gued that § 471-e merely set up a system to collect 
the tax that was unambiguously imposed by the 
plain language of § 471. Id at 124-25. The defend
ants, on the other hand, urged the Circuit to, inter 
alia, adopt the m'\iority decisions in both Cayuga 
and Day Wholesale that § 471-e is not in effect giv
en the absence of implementing regulations as well 
as Cayuga's holding that § 471 alone is insufficient 
to impose the tax. Id at 125. The Circuit found that 
both "interpretations of §§ 471 and 471-e [were] 
supported by cogent arguments and prior judicial 
analysis," and posed the following question: "Given 
this state of affairs, does the absence of any such 
mechanism applicable to taxes imposed on cigarette 
sales on reservations give rise to 'circumstances 
that [render New York] without power to impose 
such tax'?" Id (quoting N.Y. Tax Law § 471). Be
cause resolution of this issue required the Circuit to 
interpret New York statutes, the court examined 
whether certification to the New York Court of Ap
peals was appropriate. 

*7 The Circuit began its analysis by noting the gen
eral rule that certification should be done 
"sparingly, mindful that it is [the Circuit's] job to 
predict how the New York Court of Appeals would 
decide the issues." Id at 126. Finding that (I) New 
York case law on this issue was unsettled, (2) 
"certification on this issue [would] address an im
portant issue of state law that to this point remains 
uruesolved," and (3) an answer from the Court of 
Appeals on this purely legal question would resolve 
the litigation, the court concluded that certification 
was warranted. Id at 126-27. The following two 
questions were certified to the New York Court of 
Appeals: 

(1) Does N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e, either by itself 
or in combination with the provisions of § 471, 
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impose a tax on cigarettes sold on Native Amer
ican reservations when some or all of those cigar
ettes may be sold to persons other than members 
of the reservation's nation or tribe? 

(2) If the answer to Question 1 is "no," does N.Y. 
Tax Law § 471 alone impose a tax on cigarettes 
sold on Native American reservations when some 
or all of those cigarettes may be sold to persons 
other than members of the reservation's nation or 
tribe? 

Id at 128. 

C. Application of the Second Circuit's Golden 
Feather Decision to Defendant's Current Motion 
for Reconsideration 

[7] The Seeond Circuit's decision requires that I re
visit my prior due process determinations. In saying 
that, I am mindful that (I) the Circuit declined to 
stay the preliminary injunction granted to the City 
of New York, (2) in certifying the two aforemen
tioned questions to the New York Court of Appeals, 
the Circuit was asking, rather than endeavoring to 
answer those questions, (3) the decision to certify 
those questions-as requested by the appellants in 
that case, one of whom, Morrison, is the defendant 
in the criminal case under discussion-is readily un
derstandable given that the core issues relate solely 
to state law, and (4) the statutory scheme involved 
in Golden Feather significantly differs from the one 
in the instant case given the post-indictment enact
ment of the current § 471-e in 2006. Nonetheless, 
the detailed analysis provided by the Circuit in 
Golden Feather is at odds with my conclusion that 
a fair reading of § 471, unencumbered by the con
fusion arguably interjected into the analysis via the 
enactment of § 471-e, provided more than adequate 
notice that on-reservation sales of unstamped cigar
ettes to non-Native Americans is illegal. Tellingly 
the Circuit, in framing the second question for cer
tification, asked whether" § 471 alone imposer s] a 
tax on cigarettes sold on Native American reserva
tions when some or all of those cigarettes may be 
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sold to persons other than members of the reserva
tion's nation or tribe?" 597 F.3d at 128. That ques
tion, when viewed in conjunction with the explana
tion that "[c]ertification .. ' should be done spar
ingly, mindful that it is our job to predict how the 
New York Court of Appeals would decide the is
sues before us/' id. at 126, compels the conclusion 
that the Circuit perceives the applicability of § 471 
to on-reservation sales as unsettled and ambiguous, 
i.e. not self-evident nor predictable from a simple 
reading of the section. Also significant is the Cir
cuit's query whether the absence of regulations set
ting forth a collection mechanism may be equated 
with " 'circumstances that [render New York] 
without power to impose such tax,' " referencing 
the excepting language found in § 471. Id. at 125 
(quoting N.Y. Tax Law § 471). 

*8 Given that the Circuit has found a sufficient lack 
of clarity in the statutory scheme to call for certific
ation in a civil context, my conclusion that the text 
of § 471 satisfies constitutional notice requirements 
in a criminal context may not stand. Accordingly, 
defendant's conviction under Count Two is vacated 
and the Count dismissed.FN' 

4. Effect of Vacatur of the Conviction Under Count 
Two on the Sentencing Determinations Already 
Made as to That Count 

Prior to defendant's current reconsideration motion 
being made, hearings were held, pursuant to 
U.S.S.G. § lB1.3 (the so called "relevant conduct" 
guideline), to assist the Court in detennining an ap
propriate sentence for the then two counts of con
viction. Those hearings caused me to conclude, by 
a fair preponderance of the credible evidence, that 
Morrison, although acquitted of the murder and 
robbery racketeering acts and substantive crimes al
leged in the indictment, committed such acts in fur
therance of, and to protect his interest in the RlCO 
Enterprise. In that those acts, however, were 
tethered to Count Two, now vacated, those hearing 
detenninations are no longer gennane except to the 
extent I may consider them under 18 U.S.C. § 
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3553(a) as bearing on the "history and characterist
ics of the defendant" when imposing sentence on 
the remaining count of conviction, Count Eight. 
And fmally, this Court's prior forfeiture and restitu
tion orders are hereby vacated in that they too were 
predicated on the Count Two conviction. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the Second Circuit's March 4, 2010 de
cision in City of New York v. Golden Feather 
Smoke Shop, Inc., 597 F.3d 115 (2d Cir.2010), I 
have reconsidered, and changed my earlier detenn
inations that defendant's motions to dismiss Count 
Two on substantive due process grounds lacked 
merit. As a result, the conviction under Count Two 
is vacated, and the Count is dismissed. 

SO ORDERED. 

FNJ. The grand jury in Racketeering Acts 
Five through Eighty charged defendant, 
acting either directly andIor through em
ployees and associates, with making sales 
of unstamped cigarettes to non-Native 
Americans in specific amounts on specific 
dates. The chart, provided in paragraph 21 
of the indictment, which lists those 
amounts and dates, was prepared from re
cords seized from defendant's place of 
business, the Peace Pipe Smoke Shop, and 
reflects that all of the subject sales were 
made on-reservation. 

FN2. As explained by defense counsel, 
"[ w]e specifically request reconsideration 
of the Court's pre-trial decisions dated 
November 9, 2007, now published at 521 
F.Supp.2d 246 (E.D.N.Y.2007), the de
cision on defendant's Rule 29 motions 
dated February 6, 2009, now published at 
596 F.Supp.2d 661 [this decision was 
amended for non-substantive reasons via 
Amended Memorandum and Order dated 
February 26, 2009], and the decisions 
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sold to persons other than members of the reserva
tion's nation or tribe?" 597 F.3d at 128. That ques
tion, when viewed in conjunction with the explana
tion that "[c]ertification .. ' should be done spar
ingly, mindful that it is our job to predict how the 
New York Court of Appeals would decide the is
sues before us/' id. at 126, compels the conclusion 
that the Circuit perceives the applicability of § 471 
to on-reservation sales as unsettled and ambiguous, 
i.e. not self-evident nor predictable from a simple 
reading of the section. Also significant is the Cir
cuit's query whether the absence of regulations set
ting forth a collection mechanism may be equated 
with " 'circumstances that [render New York] 
without power to impose such tax,' " referencing 
the excepting language found in § 471. Id. at 125 
(quoting N.Y. Tax Law § 471). 

*8 Given that the Circuit has found a sufficient lack 
of clarity in the statutory scheme to call for certific
ation in a civil context, my conclusion that the text 
of § 471 satisfies constitutional notice requirements 
in a criminal context may not stand. Accordingly, 
defendant's conviction under Count Two is vacated 
and the Count dismissed.FN' 

4. Effect of Vacatur of the Conviction Under Count 
Two on the Sentencing Determinations Already 
Made as to That Count 

Prior to defendant's current reconsideration motion 
being made, hearings were held, pursuant to 
U.S.S.G. § lB1.3 (the so called "relevant conduct" 
guideline), to assist the Court in detennining an ap
propriate sentence for the then two counts of con
viction. Those hearings caused me to conclude, by 
a fair preponderance of the credible evidence, that 
Morrison, although acquitted of the murder and 
robbery racketeering acts and substantive crimes al
leged in the indictment, committed such acts in fur
therance of, and to protect his interest in the RlCO 
Enterprise. In that those acts, however, were 
tethered to Count Two, now vacated, those hearing 
detenninations are no longer gennane except to the 
extent I may consider them under 18 U.S.C. § 
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3553(a) as bearing on the "history and characterist
ics of the defendant" when imposing sentence on 
the remaining count of conviction, Count Eight. 
And fmally, this Court's prior forfeiture and restitu
tion orders are hereby vacated in that they too were 
predicated on the Count Two conviction. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the Second Circuit's March 4, 2010 de
cision in City of New York v. Golden Feather 
Smoke Shop, Inc., 597 F.3d 115 (2d Cir.2010), I 
have reconsidered, and changed my earlier detenn
inations that defendant's motions to dismiss Count 
Two on substantive due process grounds lacked 
merit. As a result, the conviction under Count Two 
is vacated, and the Count is dismissed. 

SO ORDERED. 

FNJ. The grand jury in Racketeering Acts 
Five through Eighty charged defendant, 
acting either directly andIor through em
ployees and associates, with making sales 
of unstamped cigarettes to non-Native 
Americans in specific amounts on specific 
dates. The chart, provided in paragraph 21 
of the indictment, which lists those 
amounts and dates, was prepared from re
cords seized from defendant's place of 
business, the Peace Pipe Smoke Shop, and 
reflects that all of the subject sales were 
made on-reservation. 

FN2. As explained by defense counsel, 
"[ w]e specifically request reconsideration 
of the Court's pre-trial decisions dated 
November 9, 2007, now published at 521 
F.Supp.2d 246 (E.D.N.Y.2007), the de
cision on defendant's Rule 29 motions 
dated February 6, 2009, now published at 
596 F.Supp.2d 661 [this decision was 
amended for non-substantive reasons via 
Amended Memorandum and Order dated 
February 26, 2009], and the decisions 
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made following publication of Cayuga In
dian Nation v. Gould, 66 A.D.3d 100, 884 
N.Y.S.2d 510 (2009), dated August II, 
2009 (oral decision) and December 4, 2009 
(Document # 838). Mr. Morrison's motions 
addressing his due process arguments, 
sometimes in conjunction with other is
sues, that were decided in the referenced 
decisions were filed as Documents Nos. 
367, 392, (pre-trial); 773 (Memo in support 
of Rule 29 motion); 817, 827 (motions for 
reconsideration following Cayuga ). " 
(Def.'s Mar. 17,2010 Letter at I n. I.) 

FN3. At the time of the acts alleged in the 
indictment, "contraband cigarettes" was 
defined to mean a quantity in excess of 
60,000 cigarettes which bore no evidence 
of the payment of state cigarette taxes. The 
statute was amended in March 2006 and 
the number required to trigger the provi
sions of the CCTA was reduced to 10,000. 

FN4. Neither party has claimed that the 
original version of N.Y. Tax Law § 471-e, 
effective May 13, 2003 to February 28, 
2006, which pertained solely to non-Native 
American purchasers acquiring cigarettes 
for their "own conswnption," is applicable 
to the instant CCTA prosecution. (See Am. 
Mem. and Order dated Feb. 26, 2009 at 
18-19.) 

FN5. "The degree of vagueness tolerated 
in a statute varies with its type." Rubin. 
544 F.3d at 467. "A civil statute is gener
ally deemed unconstitutionally vague only 
if it commands compliance in terms so 
vague and indefmite as really to be no rule 
or standard at all." Advance Pharm., Inc. v. 
United States, 391 F.3d 377, 396 (2d 
Cir.2004) (citations and internal quotation 
marks omitted). 

FN6. In reaching the above conclusion, I 
considered whether the Circuit's decision 
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in Golden Feather represents "controlling 
authority," as contended by defendant 
(Def.'s Mar. 17,2010 Letter at I), or is not 
"a 'holding' or other judicial determination 
of the Court," as contended by the govern
ment. (Gov'fs Mar. 26, 2010 Letter at 2.) 
That issue need not be resolved, however, 
because the result is the same under either 
scenario. If the Circuit's conclusion of am
biguity constitutes controlling authority, 
my earlier conclusion to the contrary must 
be set aside. But even if, arguendo, the 
government is correct in maintaining that 
Golden Feather is neither "a holding" nor 
"other judicial determination," adherence 
to my earlier determinations as to notice 
would create a manifest injustice in that 
three Circuit judges, in a thoughtful and 
thorough opinion, found ambiguity. Again, 
the question before me is not whether § 
471 imposes a tax on the subject sales, but 
instead, assuming it does, whether that ob
ligation is adequately conveyed to those 
subject to the obligation to pass muster in a 
criminal context under the Due Process 
Clause. As to that pivotal issue, the an
swer, in view of the Circuit's decision in 
Golden Feather, must be in the negative 
whether that decision is viewed as con
trolling authority or otherwise. 

E.D.NY.,2010. 
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U.S. Department of Justice
United States Attorney
Eastern District of New York

RPD:JMM/jmm
United States Attorney’s Office

F. #2004R00494

610 Federal Plaza
Central Islip, New York 11722-4454

March 10, 2008

The Honorable Denis R. Hurley
United States District Judge
Eastern District of New York
934 Federal Plaza
Central Islip, N.Y. 11722

Re: United States v. Rodney Morrison
Criminal Docket No. 04-699(S-2)(DRH)

Dear Judge Hurley:

The government respectfully submits this letter to (a)
request that the Court reconsider its dismissal of Racketeering
Acts 4 through 80 of Count One (the “CCTA Acts”), and (b) deny the
defendant’s motion of March 6, 2008 to dismiss Counts One and Two
outright.  For the reasons set forth below, and in response to the
Court’s Order of March 7, 2008, Double Jeopardy would not be
violated by the government’s requested reversal of the dismissal of
the CCTA Acts.

Dismissal of the CCTA Acts
Should Be Reversed        

From the proceedings of March 6, 2008, and a review of
the transcript of the pre-Rule 29 hearing, when the Court
questioned the government about a proposed jury charge articulating
the government’s theory as to the CCTA Acts, it is evident that the
government failed to clearly explain its theory to the Court.  In
that regard, the record is not “debatable,” and the fault is
clearly the government’s.  

That said, the government respectfully submits that the
defendant can claim no confusion that as to the government’s theory
of aiding and abetting liability.  As early as May 2007, in
response to the defendant’s motion for a bill of particulars, the
government noted that as to the CCTA Acts, the government had
already provided through discovery “excerpts and summaries of the
exact transactions and documents to be offered at trial in support
of the charges.”  Government’s Letter of 5/25/2007, p 1 (emphasis
added).  These items have been admitted at trial as, among others,
Government’s Exhibits 30-74(b), 264-272(e).  
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As to the defendant’s bill of particulars claim that it
required additional specificity as to the government’s evidence as
to the CCTA Acts, the government responded that the exhibits now
admitted into evidence “already provide the defense with the ‘date,
time and specific’ locations of the various sales that the
Indictment alleges constitute violations of the CCTA.”  Id.  Those
dates, times and locations, sought by the defendant referred back
to the sales from Peace Pipe to various “Big Customers,” as the
transactions that, as charged by the Grand Jury, formed the bases
for the CCTA violations.  The government did not claim that it was
the “Big Customer’s” subsequent re-sale of cigarettes in lots of
60,000 or more that formed the government’s theory of prosecution
or bases for the Grand Jury’s indictment.

The matter of customers’ re-sale and its effect on the
CCTA Acts arose only in connection with the government’s motion in
limine to preclude the defense from using New York State’s
“forebearance” policy as the basis for an entrapment by estoppel
defense, as well as in opposition to the defense pre-trial motion
to dismiss the CCTA Acts.  Gov’t. Memo, 10/9/07.  

In that context, the defendant first argued that he was
misled, in fact encouraged, into believing that Indian retailers
could sell unlimited amounts of untaxed, unstamped cigarettes to
others. See Deft’s. Memos of 10/3/07 and 10/15/07.  The defendant’s
central argument made plain that he understood that the critical
transaction for purposes of the CCTA Acts was the sale from Peace
Pipe to so-called big customers.  On October 3, 2007, the defendant
appended documents from a parallel civil matter before the
Honorable Carol Bagley Amon for the purpose of arguing that on-
reservation sales were not taxable under New York law.  In his
second submission, the defendant wrote: “If the State of New York
does not require the cigarettes possessed or sold on Indian
reservations to be stamped, . . . then cigarettes sold on Indian
reservations are not contraband. . ..”  Id., at 8.  From this, the
defense reasoned, the cigarettes sold by Peace Pipe could not
satisfy the definition of contraband as defined by 18 U.S.C. §
2341.  Id.  

In response, the government argued that the state’s
alleged lax enforcement or failure to promulgate separate
regulations for on-reservation sales referenced in NY Tax Law 471-e
was immaterial to any issue to be decided by the jury in this case.

All cigarettes within New York State are presumed to be
taxable [N.Y. Tax Law] § 471(1).  Willfully evading
cigarette taxes is a crime under state law, N.Y. Tax Law,
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 The government has ordered the transcript of this conference and requests permission to1

submit it as supplementary evidence in support of its motion for re-consideration of the dismissal
of the CCTA Acts.

§ 1814(a), as is the possession and transportation of
untaxed cigarettes, id., § 1814(d) and (e).  In fact, the
possession at any one time of 5,000 or more untaxed and
un-stamped cigarettes is presumptive evidence of a
criminal violation of Section 471.  Id., 1814(f).  The
transactions charged in Racketeering Acts 4 through 80
well exceeded this presumption. 

Govt’s. Memo, 10/9/07 at 2-3 (emphasis added).

The government’s motion in limine concluded that nothing
within New York’s tax laws or the manner of enforcement of those
laws gave assurance to the defendant that he could sell large
quantities of un-stamped and un-taxed cigarettes to other non-tax-
exempt customers and that accordingly evidence of the repeal of the
so-called Attea regulations or other pronouncements by the Pataki
Administration could be excluded.  Id., at 8.

The defendant’s clear understanding that the CCTA Acts
were premised upon his sales to big customers, not the customers’
re-sale to others, is further evidenced by his memorandum of
October 16, 2007 arguing that notwithstanding this Court’s finding
that such transactions constituted a “taxable event,”  the “policy1

of ‘forebearance’ [] rendered § 471 unenforceable as applied to
reservation cigarette sales.”  Deft’s Memo, 10/16/07 at 1 (emphasis
in the original).  It was clear to the defense that the transaction
at issue was the sale from Peace Pipe to non-Indian customers.

Similarly, the government’s reply to the October 18, 2007
submission again raised the matter of Peace Pipe’s customers solely
for the purpose of rebutting the assertion that cigarettes sold by
the Peace Pipe could not legally fall within the definition of
“contraband.”  The government argued that the lack of implementing
regulations for purpose of Section 471-e was of no moment.  

[The] CCTA must be predicated upon a violation of
applicable state law.  However, in this case, the
applicable law is New York State Tax Law § 471(1), which
provides for “a tax on all cigarettes possessed in the
state by any person for sale, . . ..” 
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 This reply memo was mis-dated 10/9/07 but in fact filed on 10/23/07.  See Dkt No. 388.2

Govt’s Memo, 10/9/07  at 2.2

That the forebearance policy has usurped a portion
of Section 471-e directing the Department of Taxation and
Finance to issue tax-exempt coupons “to ensure an
adequate quantity of cigarettes on Indian reservations
which may be purchased by qualified Indians exempt from
the cigarette tax,” does not change that portion of
Section 471-e, which provides that “all cigarettes sold
on an Indian reservation to non-members of the nation or
tribe or to non-Indians shall be taxed,” Id., 471-
e(1)(a).  

* * * 

The defendant’s construction of the forebearance
policy would swallow up the entire tax scheme with absurd
results.  If, as the defendant’s claim, it is lawful for
non-Indians intending to re-sell cigarettes without the
remission of taxes, to merely evade the state’s cigarette
tax regime by buying cigarettes through an Indian
retailer, (and equally legal for a retailer such as
Morrison to aid and abet such transactions), it would
mean that every cigarette sale in New York State could be
untaxed so long as it was funneled through one or another
Indian retailer.  

This is clearly contrary to the statutory
presumption that all cigarettes within New York State are
taxable.  Id., 471(1).  By ignoring the application of 18
U.S.C. § 2 under the facts of this case, the defendant
would similarly obliterate the statutory intention “that
the ultimate incidence of and liability for the
[cigarette] tax shall be upon the consumer.” § 471(2).
Such a construction would also render inoperable state
criminal provisions for willful evasion of taxes, N.Y.
Tax Law, § 1814(a), or the possession and transportation
of untaxed cigarettes. Id., § 1814(d) and (e). 

Govt’s Memo, 10/9/07 at 3.

Following this, the government argued that despite the
fact that the sales at issue in this case originated on an Indian
reservation, Peace Pipe’s sales nonetheless violated New York law
and thus sales of 60,000 or more un-taxed cigarettes violated the
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CCTA notwithstanding the defendant’s claim that such transactions
were exempt and therefore beyond the scope of the CCTA.

In this case, the CCTA racketeering acts will be
established by evidence that the defendant caused
employees of the Peace Pipe to solicit certain customers,
whom he designated “Big Customers,” to buy un-taxed
cigarettes from the enterprise so that these customers
could re-sell them to others.  Witnesses will testify
that Morrison knew that these “Big Customers” made
profits, despite Peace Pipe’s mark-up, precisely because
they would evade New York State taxes when they re-sold
the cigarettes to consumers. 

* * *

Here, assuming the jury finds the government meets
its burden of proof given the facts laid out above, a
jury may legally find the defendant guilty of the CCTA
crimes alleged in the indictment because Morrison aided
others i.e., the “Big Customers” to evade N.Y. Tax Law §
471.

Govt’s Memo at 4-5 (emphasis added).

In sum, the government sought to exclude from trial
evidence of the so-called “forebearance” policy which it viewed as
irrelevant.  In highlighting the fact that the defendant sold to
others engaged in trafficking, the government argued that such
sales were within the scope of N. Y. Tax Law §471 and, therefore,
the CCTA, in rebuttal to the defendant’s claim that only sales off
the reservation were enforceable.  Although the government failed
to object to the Court’s propose jury instruction, which placed the
critical transaction at the point of re-sale off the reservation,
the exact argument made by the defense and previously objected to
by the government, the government respectfully submits that the
failure was not intended to retreat from its previously-stated
position that such sales were within the scope of the CCTA.
    
Double Jeopardy Does Not Preclude
Reversal of the Rule 29 As To
The CCTA Acts in Count One       

Opposing any reconsideration of the Court’s dismissal of
the CCTA Acts, the defense relies on United States v. Washington,
48 F.3d 73 (2d Cir. 1995).  The reliance is misplaced and in fact
the Court is not barred at this point from re-considering the
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dismissal of the CCTA Acts.

 In Washington, the Court of Appeals considered appellant
Jerome’s claim that double jeopardy prevented the district court
from reversing its Rule 29 dismissal at the conclusion of the
government’s case and re-instating a dismissed count. Id., 28 F.3d
at 79.   As in the present case, the dismissal had not been
announced to the jury, no judgment had been entered, and the
reversal occurred after commencement of the defendant’s case.  Id.
In affirming the district court, the Second Circuit held:

An oral grant of a motion for acquittal is “no more than
an interlocutory order,” which the court has “inherent
power to reconsider and modify ... prior to the entry of
judgment.” United States v. LoRusso, 695 F.2d 45, 52-53
(2d Cir.1982), cert. denied, 460 U.S. 1070 (1983); see
also United States v. Baker, 419 F.2d 83, 89 (2d Cir.
1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S. 976, (1970). Such was the
nature of the court's ruling here; the court exercised
the earliest available opportunity-the adjournment for
lunch-to reconsider and modify its order. Unlike the
district court in United States v. Blount, 34 F.3d 865,
868-69 (9th Cir. 1994), which improperly reinstated a
lesser-included misdemeanor charge after previously
announcing its unqualified dismissal of a felony charge
to the jury, the court here reversed its own ruling
outside the jury's presence and in a timely fashion. Such
conduct did not subject Jerome to a “second trial” or
“successive prosecution.” See LoRusso, 695 F.2d at 53-54.

Washington, supra.

In LoRusso, supra, the Court of Appeals held:

Where no judgment has been entered, however, and there
has been no dismissal of the jury (nor any indication to
the jury of a ruling that could prejudice the defendant
on such counts as are eventually submitted), there
appears to be no constitutional impediment to the court's
modification of its oral decision to dismiss. . .. 

LoRusso, 695 F.2d at 54.

Under the circumstances of this case, and particularly in
light of the Court’s withholding of a final decision as to the CCTA
Acts as incorporated into Count Two, the Court may re-consider its
dismissal of the CCTA Acts as to Count One.
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The Motions to Dismiss Counts 
One and Two Should Be Denied 

As a preliminary matter, the defendant’s motion to
dismiss Counts Pone and Two in their entirety is premised on the
mis-identification of the enterprise in the indictment.  Upon this
false premise, the motion goes on that dismissal of the CCTA Acts
is fatal to the remainder of the counts.  The defendant is wrong.

In fact, the indictment identified the enterprise as
follows:

Peace Pipe Smoke Shop (“Peace Pipe”) was a partnership
formed under the laws of the State of New York, with a
principal place of business located at 9 Squaw Lane,
Mastic, New York.  Peace Pipe sold cartons and cases of
cigarettes that bore no evidence of the payment of
applicable New York State excise or local sales taxes.
Peace Pipe also operated over the Internet under the name
smokersden.com. 

Indictment at ¶ 1

The “Enterprise” portion of the indictment thereafter
identifies the defendant’s connection to the Peace Pipe,
smokersden.com.  Ultimately, the indictment defines the enterprise
as follows:

Peace Pipe and smokersden.com, including its employees
and associates, and the defendant RODNEY ARNOLDO MORRISON

(hereinafter the “Enterprise”) constituted an "enterprise" as that
term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961(4),
that is, a group of individuals and entities associated in fact. 

Indictment at ¶3.

In other words, the enterprise was never identified
exclusively as a “criminal enterprise” or one that engaged in
solely in the trafficking of contraband cigarettes.

The purpose of Peace Pipe and smokersden.com, the
enterprise, was to generate money for the defendant and his
associates.  Indictment at ¶ 4.  This purpose was in turn
implemented through the various crimes, “including” the murder of
Sherwin Henry, the assault of Jesse Watkins and robbery of
Monique’s, the arson of a vehicle and related extortion of
Thomassina Mack “and tax evasion.”  Indictment at ¶ 4-5.
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The government’s case-in-chief has established that the
defendant was enriched through the sale of untaxed contraband
cigarettes.  Id., at ¶ 5a.  Tony Phillips, Allison Stewart,
Thomassina Mack and Wynette Randall all established that Peace Pipe
engaged in the sale of  testimony of competing untaxed cigarette
smoke shop owner and robbery victim Jesse Watkins.  Moreover, for
purposes of the motion to dismiss Counts One and Two, the
government submits that there is sufficient evidence for a jury to
find that the defendant and his associates committed various
alleged acts to “[p]reserve and protect the power” of the
enterprise through the actual and threatened use of violence and
intimidation.  Id, at ¶ 5b-5c. 

The defendant’s motion to dismiss fails to point to any
authority from which a court has concluded that dismissal of
certain racketeering acts must be construed as a constructive
amendment of the indictment requiring dismissal of the RICO count
in its entirety.  The defendant’s reliance on United States v.
Zingaro, 858 F.2d 94 (2d Cir. 1988) is unavailing.  There, the jury
convicted a defendant on the basis of evidence of an extortionate
loan not among those charged as a racketeering acts.  Under those
circumstances, which are not present here even absent the CCTA
Acts, the Second Circuit reversed finding a constructive amendment
of the indictment.  Id, 97-103.  

Defendant’s reliance on the “oft-cited” dicta in Sedima,
S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479 (1985) similarly misses
the point regarding the proof necessary to establish the continuity
and relatedness of the remaining racketeering acts.  It bears
noting that the dicta in Sedima was subsequently held not to mean
that multiple acts of racketeering must be all related to a single
scheme or criminal episode.  H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell
Telephone Co., 829 F.2d 648 (8  Cir. 1988), rev’d, 492 U.S. 229th

(1989).   The in H.J. Inc. The Supreme Court held that a
prosecutor must prove “continuity of racketeering activity, or its
threat, simpilciter.”  Id., 490 U.S. at 241.  Although the Court
declined to formulate in the abstract a general test of continuity,
it provided the following guidance:

“Continuity” is both a closed and opened-ended concept,
referring either to a closed period of repeated conduct
or to past conduct that by its nature projects into the
future with a threat or repetition.  It is, in either
case, centrally a temporal concept– and particularly so
in the RICO context, where what must be continuous,
RICO’s predicate acts or offenses, and the relationship
these predicates must bear to another, are distinct
requirements.  A party alleging a RICO violation may
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demonstrate continuity over a substantial period of time.
* * * In other cases, the threat of continuity may be
established by showing that the predicate acts or
offenses are part of an ongoing entity’s regular way of
doing business.  The threat of continuity is sufficiently
established where the predicates can be attributed to a
defendant operating as part of a long-term association
that exists for criminal purposes.

Id, 492 U.S. at 241-43 (citations omitted).

Accordingly, the dispositive issue is not the length of
time between acts or even the number of predicate acts alleged.  

The remaining racketeering acts are not “sporadic”
crimes.  The evidence adduced showed that each of the acts of
violence-- the robbery of Monique’s, arson of Mack’s car and murder
of Henry-- arose out of the defendant’s “regular way of doing
business” with competitor’s, perceived or actual. Resolving
inference in favor of the government, the jury may rationally find
that each act fulfilled the continuity and relationship alleged in
the indictment, namely, to preserve the enterprise through the use
of intimidation and violence and threats of violence.”  Indictment
at ¶5.  Each of these acts directly related to the enterprise and
served as a basis for finding a continuing threat of future
racketeering activity.

The argument that dismissal of the CCTA Acts necessarily
leads to dismissal of both RICO counts fails because evidence of
continuity and relationship of the predicate acts applies to the
pattern-of-racketeering-activity element, not the enterprise
element, of RICO. See United States v. Church, 955 F.2d 688, 699
(11th Cir.1992).  Evidence that the defendant met with Jesse
Watkins after the robbery to implicitly take credit for the
robbery, or that the Mack arson coincided closely with the
formation of a competing cigarette distribution business, or
indeed, that the contract to kill Henry coincided with the
defendant’s various inquiries into Henry’s “Golden Feather”
business, all provide ample bases to permit the jury to infer that
these acts were part of a RICO pattern.  United States v. Simmons,
923 F.2d 934, 951 (2d Cir. 1991)(RICO murders formed pattern,
noting that they were intended chiefly to maintain discipline
within a narcotics trafficking enterprise, "by their very nature
these acts threatened repetition and thereby satisfied the
continuity prong of the pattern requirement.") Here, the fact that
one of the motives for each act arose out of the continued
operation of the Peace Pipe clearly establishes that the acts, by
their very nature, threaten repetition.
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For the reasons set forth above, the government
respectfully requests that the defendant’s motion to dismiss be
denied and that the CCTA Acts be re-instated.

Respectfully Submitted,

BENTON J. CAMPBELL
United States Attorney
Eastern District of New York

/S/
 by:                                 

James Miskiewicz
Assistant United States Attorney
(631) 715-7841

cc: All counsel of record (via ECF only)
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